Visit www.dynamicscrmbible.com to access code samples, planning tools, sample reports, templates and utilities.

**Matthew Wittemann, Geoff Ables** 

# Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Dynamics CRM 2011 Administration

Track crucial customer relationships with CRM

Manage your Dynamics CRM 2011 installation

Scale a solution to meet your business needs

The book you need to succeed!

# Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Dynamics CRM 2011 Administration Bible

# Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Dynamics CRM 2011 Administration Bible

**Matthew Wittemann and Geoff Ables** 



#### Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Dynamics CRM 2011 Administration Bible

Published by Wiley Publishing, Inc. 10475 Crosspoint Boulevard Indianapolis, IN 46256 www.wiley.com

Copyright © 2011 by Wiley Publishing, Inc., Indianapolis, Indiana

Published by Wiley Publishing, Inc., Indianapolis, Indiana

Published simultaneously in Canada

ISBN: 978-0-470-56814-9

Manufactured in the United States of America

 $10\ 9\ 8\ 7\ 6\ 5\ 4\ 3\ 2\ 1$ 

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without either the prior written permission of the Publisher, or authorization through payment of the appropriate per-copy fee to the Copyright Clearance Center, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, (978) 750-8400, fax (978) 646-8600. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748-6011, fax (201) 748-6008, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY/DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: THE PUBLISHER AND THE AUTHOR MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. NO WARRANTY MAY BE CREATED OR EXTENDED BY SALES OR PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS. THE ADVICE AND STRATEGIES CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE SUITABLE FOR EVERY SITUATION. THIS WORK IS SOLD WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE PUBLISHER IS NOT ENGAGED IN RENDERING LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. IF PROFESSIONAL ASSISTANCE IS REQUIRED, THE SERVICES OF A COMPETENT PROFESSIONAL PERSON SHOULD BE SOUGHT. NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR THE AUTHOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR DAMAGES ARISING HEREFROM. THE FACT THAT AN ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE IS REFERRED TO IN THIS WORK AS A CITATION AND/OR A POTENTIAL SOURCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION DOES NOT MEAN THAT THE AUTHOR OR THE PUBLISHER ENDORSES THE INFORMATION THE ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE MAY PROVIDE OR RECOMMENDATIONS IT MAY MAKE. FURTHER, READERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT INTERNET WEBSITES LISTED IN THIS WORK MAY HAVE CHANGED OR DISAPPEARED BETWEEN WHEN THIS WORK WAS WRITTEN AND WHEN IT IS READ.

For general information on our other products and services or to obtain technical support, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at (877) 762-2974, outside the U.S. at (317) 572-3993 or fax (317) 572-4002.

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data is available from the Publisher upon request

**Trademarks:** Wiley, the Wiley logo, and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and/or its affiliates, in the United States and other countries, and may not be used without written permission. Microsoft is a registered trademark of Microsoft Corporation. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. Wiley Publishing, Inc., is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic books.

### About the Authors

#### **Matthew Wittemann**

Five-time Microsoft MVP award recipient Matthew Wittemann is the CRM practice director at C5 Insight, a CRM and SharePoint consultancy that has been helping companies improve their use of technology in sales, marketing, and service since 2001. Matthew is a frequent contributor to CRM industry publications and user communities. Since 2004 he has authored the ICU-MSCRM blog, a website dedicated to Microsoft Dynamics CRM, for which he was recently ranked 22nd among the top 100 most influential figures in the Microsoft Dynamics industry. With a diverse background in web technologies, he has led the development of numerous complex and award-winning CRM deployments, and has recently turned much of his focus towards using Microsoft CRM and SharePoint technologies as a rapid application development platform.

#### **Geoff Ables**

Geoff Ables is a speaker, author, and Managing Partner of C5 Insight, a Microsoft Dynamics CRM, SharePoint and Salesforce.com consulting company. He has more than 20 years of experience consulting with businesses in process design, customer relationship management, database marketing, business intelligence, and collaboration. Geoff also founded or cofounded two additional startups and launched new business divisions for two organizations. Geoff's insights have been seen and heard through many international venues, including: *BusinessWeek*, National Public Radio, *USA Today*, The International Journal of CRM, EuroForum, and The New Zealand Direct Marketing Journal. Mr. Ables was named as one of Charlotte, North Carolina's prestigious "40 Under 40" in recognition of his business accomplishments and commitment to the community.

#### For Elizabeth and June

### Credits

Senior Acquisitions Editor Stephanie McComb

**Project Editor** Beth Taylor

Technical Editor Ronald Lemmen and Sander Bockting

**Copy Editor** Beth Taylor

Editorial Manager Rosemarie Graham

Editorial Director Robyn Siesky

Business Manager Amy Knies

Senior Marketing Manager Sandy Smith

**Vice President and Executive Group Publisher** Richard Swadley

Vice President and Executive Group Publisher Bob Ipsen

Vice President and Executive Publisher Barry Pruett **Project Coordinator** Patrick Redmond

**Graphics and Production Specialists** Andrea Hornberger Julie Trippetti

**Quality Control Technicians** John Greenough Lauren Mandelbaum

**Proofreading and Indexing** Christine Sabooni BIM Indexing & Proofreading Services

# Foreword

There is no question about two things. CRM and Social CRM are here to stay as both a burgeoning industry that has measurable and direct benefits for companies and something that companies have decided they need as a necessity of their business strategies and programs. That's the first.

The second is that Matt Wittemann is not only eminently qualified to write a significant guidebook to Microsoft Dynamics CRM; he also knows CRM inside and out.

That combination is why I'm writing the foreword to this book.

Over the past couple of decades, customer relationship management (CRM) and its evolutionary sibling social customer relationship management (SCRM) have, after a very rocky start, shown substantial positive benefits when it comes to the operational effectiveness of the customer facing departments, like sales, marketing, and customer service. Most companies, according to recent Gartner Group, Forrester Research and IDC studies, are at least somewhat satisfied, and at times, wildly enthused by the results of their CRM deployments. Minimally, they recognize they need CRM systems to enable their customer programs and they get what are generally pretty solid technology systems for their agility and their operational effectiveness. The standard median response in these studies is that the CRM implementation met enough of each respondent's objectives that it was worth the company's investment. The number that keeps appearing is approximately 70 percent of the goals and objectives were met and a roughly 70 percent satisfaction rate. This is a far cry from the 2002 Gartner Group study of CRM satisfaction — a report that is now somewhat iconic — that found that 55 to 70 percent of CRM implementations failed. In contract , the recent studies show that 70 percent of implementations succeed to the satisfaction of the owners of the initiative.

What might be the reasons that 30 percent still don't succeed? That's a legitimate question because after all, you're buying a book on Microsoft Dynamics CRM — a great book, I might add — for any number of possible reasons:

- 1. You're already implementing Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 and want some useful practical tips and hints.
- 2. You're considering an implementation of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 and want to see what it does either on its own or in comparison to some other package you might be contemplating.
- 3. You are thinking long term and just want to see what Microsoft is offering in their new package.
- 4. Something else I doubt I can even fathom or want to.

#### vii

There are a myriad of reasons that CRM implementations fail that range from the failure to get the users' buy-in from the beginning to poor planning and underfunding, to ignoring the cultural and organizational change necessary to succeed at using the CRM system. Also, it can be simply because the organizations didn't understand what the applications and services they were buying truly did and didn't do.

Which is where Matt Wittemann comes in.

See, if there's one thing that Matt knows its what Microsoft Dynamics CRM does and doesn't do. Not only that, the man is ruthlessly honest about it so that even though you'll be reading a handbook that can walk you through the basics of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, you aren't buying a bit of marketing fluff when it comes to what the products are capable of.

Let me explain.

I met Matt in 2008, when I had challenged Microsoft and salesforce.com to a shootout over the claim that Steve Ballmer had made about the simplicity of the Microsoft development platform. This was going to be a contest to see whether Microsoft or salesforce.com met the claims being made and who did it better. There would be a winner and a loser. Blood sport. Matt wrote me and told me that he would be happy to help because his firm implements both salesforce.com and Microsoft Dynamics CRM. I was so taken by his obvious knowledge and his confidence, that I made him a judge in the contest. He worked tirelessly and came up with a set of technical specs and requirements for the contestants that were just THAT good.

The contest, due to varying reasons, didn't happen, but my appreciation for what Matt brings to the table did. Matt is an expert at his craft. He knows Microsoft Dynamics CRM. He's studied it, played with it, planned it, and implemented it. Simply put, the man is a star when it comes to Microsoft Dynamics CRM and there is no better person to write this book.

We've reached a real nodal point when it comes to the maturity of CRM. When I wrote the first edition of CRM at the Speed of Light released back in 2001 (it's now in its 4th edition, released in early 2010), CRM was not that mature and was something that was seen as a useful option. Many of the applications were clunky, overly difficult to implement, expensive and even harder to deliver. Microsoft didn't even have a CRM offering. Now as we get to 2011, most of the significant vendors have applications that are quite good and do what they are expected to do. Microsoft is going through its 5th iteration of CRM. Additionally, we have seen a real evolution of CRM to a far more social format that takes into account not just customer transactions and operations, but customer interactions and measurable experiences. The vendors providing CRM solutions are now beginning to provide the functionality to support the social inputs and outputs that are required by these more demanding, newly empowered social customers.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is a big leap forward for Microsoft and its partners, its customers and future prospects. It takes a team like Matt and Geoff to navigate you through it. But, with these two being thorough and engaging, the ride will actually be fun. So hop on if

you've bought the book and get ready to roll. If you're reading this to decide to buy the book, just do it. It's SO worth it.

Paul Greenberg

Author, CRM at the Speed of Light, 4th Edition

## Acknowledgments

project of this scope is always the result of the efforts of many, many people — and this book was no exception. We are grateful to have played the role of the authors on this particular project. Many others supported that role by covering our responsibilities at home or in the office; and others contributed time and knowledge to this project.

#### Matt Wittemann's Acknowledgments

When I was approached by Wiley about writing this book I called Paul Nielsen, author of the SQL Server Bible to get his advice. Like some of the other authors I've spoken to, he warned me about the amount of work, time, and commitment a book of this magnitude would require. He also shared some great insight about how to organize the book's contents and start to tackle the subject matter.

In spite of this helpful advice, as I started this endeavor I didn't give enough consideration to the amount of work, time, and commitment that would be required of my family, co-workers, and friends in order to make this book possible. So I'd like to rectify this oversight in some small measure by thanking the following very supportive people:

My fantastic, loving, patient, beautiful, and patient (did I say that already?) wife, Elizabeth: Thank you. Aleksandr and Sofia: Thanks for being glad to see me when I made my infrequent and fleeting re-emergences into your lives, and for not driving your mother too crazy while I was writing.

Brian Goddard, thank you for suggesting that I look into this new-fangled CRM thing that Microsoft was introducing back in 2003.

Paul Greenberg, author of *CRM at the Speed of Light*: Thanks for the super foreword, and for your helpful insights into the CRM marketplace and social CRM.

My fellow MVPs and CRM industry insiders, especially Jerry Weinstock of CRM Innovation, Jeffry van de Vuurst at CWR Mobility, Aaron Zupancic of Experlogix: Thanks to all of you.

I'd also like to thank my friends at Microsoft, particularly Jim Glass, as well as the many other members of the CRM product group who helped us out in so many ways.

#### **Geoff Ables' Acknowledgments**

First of all, thanks to Matt Wittemann for asking me to be your co-author for this book (I think).

Thanks to my wife June for patiently enduring many weekends and evenings with no husband during this effort. I promise, no more books . . . for a while. And to my beautiful, brilliant and wonderful daughters Mallorie and Lauren — you always make me proud to be your Dad. The three of you make all the work worthwhile.

Thanks to Mom and Dad. You guys are my inspiration for always trying to do everything with excellence and integrity. Thank you.

#### **Our Collective Acknowledgments**

Throughout this project, a number of individuals worked with both of us in different capacities. Our collective thanks go out to these individuals.

Curtis Hughes, for contributing the SharePoint integration appendix to this book, and to our other co-workers at C5 Insight, for encouraging us and picking up our slack around the office: Thank you.

Stephanie McComb at Wiley, and Beth Taylor our tenacious editor: Thanks for making sure everything came together and met your high standards. Ronald Lemmen and his colleague Sander Bockting: Thanks for the technical editing and suggestions.

And there were many other individuals at Microsoft who helped us with technical questions, suggestions and pointers to help fine-tune the content of the book. We'd particularly like to thank Steve Blazevich, Andrew Bybee, Corey Hanson, Mike Ming-Shen Lin, Ravindra Upadhya, and Tarry Wang.

# Untroduction

This is an exciting time to be working in the CRM industry, and in particular, to be working with Microsoft Dynamics CRM. The pace of change and the scope of business challenges have never been greater. With innovations like cloud hosting, declarative design and platform development, Dynamics CRM is an ideal medium for creative technologists to employ as they tackle these challenges.

Dynamics CRM, like few other software products, offers a limitless variety of solutions to these challenges. Implementing Dynamics CRM, however, can demand a full spectrum of technical skill levels and familiarity with a wide range of technologies. From simple drag-and-drop form design to deep .NET development, from Word mail merges to SQL Server Reporting Services, and from mobile device management to integration with ERP systems, you will have no shortage of interesting challenges as you plan, implement, and maintain Dynamics CRM.

While we made every attempt to ensure accuracy and completeness, this book was written based on pre-release versions of the software. Our goal for this book is to equip you, the reader, with the broadest range of tools and knowledge so you can make the most of Dynamics CRM for your organization or your customers.

## Contents at a Glance

Foreword	vii
Acknowledgments	X
Introduction	xii
Part I: Laying a Solid Foundation	1
Chapter 1: Familiarizing Yourself with CRM	
Chapter 2: Taking a Tour of Dynamics CRM	35
Part II: Installing Dynamics CRM	61
Chapter 3: Architecting Your CRM System	
Chapter 4: Installing Other Components for Dynamics CRM	
Part III: Administering Dynamics CRM	121
Chapter 5: Post-Installation System Settings	
Chapter 6: Managing Users in Dynamics CRM	
Chapter 7: Using the Deployment Manager	
Chapter 8: Managing Data	
Chapter 9: Maintaining, Optimizing, and Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM	
Part IV: Using Microsoft Dynamics CRM	243
Chapter 10: Getting to Know the CRM Application	
Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook	
Chapter 12: Using the Sales Functions	
Chapter 13: Using the Marketing Functions	
Chapter 14: Using the Service Functions	
Part V: Customizing Dynamics CRM Through the User	
Interface	349
Chapter 15: Realizing the Benefits of Office and SharePoint Integration	
Chapter 16: Tailoring CRM to Your Organization	

Part VI: Customizing Dynamics CRM with Custom Code.	481
Chapter 19: Understanding the Other Customization Options	
Chapter 20: Understanding the Development Options	
Chapter 21: Working with Client-Side Customizations	
Chapter 22: Working with Server-Side Customizations	561
Part VII: Visualizing Your Dynamics CRM Data with Chart	s,
Reports, and Dashboards.	599
Chapter 23: Using the Built-in Reporting Tools	
Chapter 24: Working with Visualizations: Charts and Dashboards	
Chapter 25: Custom Reporting for Dynamics CRM	639
Part VIII: Extending and Integrating Dynamics CRM	665
uith Dynamics CPM	667
Chapter 27: XRM: Going Beyond Traditional CRM	
Part IX: Appendixes	733
Annendix A: Advanced Integration with SharePoint 2010	735
Appendix B: Accessing and Using Online Resources	
Index	

# Contents

Foreword	<b>. vi</b> i
Acknowledgments	<b>.</b> X
Introduction	xii
Part I: Laying a Solid Foundation	1
Chapter 1: Familiarizing Yourself with CRM	3
Managing Customers with CRM	
Understanding complex customer relationships	
Understanding where CRM ends and ERP begins	5
Getting Acquainted with CRM: Concepts and Terminology	6
Understanding basic terminology	7
Users	7
Accounts and contacts	7
Customers	7
Activities and history	7
Understanding sales terminology	9
Leads	9
Opportunities	9
Understanding service and call center terminology	9
Cases	10
Knowledge Base	10
Understanding marketing terminology	10
Campaigns	10
Marketing lists	11
Sales literature	12
Understanding What Makes Microsoft Dynamics CRM Unique	12
Using CRM with Microsoft Office	
Microsoft Outlook	12
Microsoft Excel	
Microsoft Word	
Other Microsoft product integration	
Customízing Dynamics CRM	
Supporting Dynamics CRM	
Dynamics CRM administration	
Dynamics CRM server management	

Scaling CRM to different organizations	16
Choosing how to use CRM	16
User choice	16
Hosting choice	16
Leveraging the Microsoft connection	17
XRM: Extending CRM	17
Understanding why Dynamics CRM is a good choice for development	18
Development foundation	19
Customer centricity	19
Business agility	19
The Microsoft ecosystem	20
Dynamics CRM, SharePoint, SQL Server, and .NET	
as a development framework	20
SharePoint and Dynamics CRM	20
SQL Server and Visual Studio	22
Cloud computing with Dynamics CRM	22
Developing business applications with the Dynamics CRM framework	23
Plan	24
Pilot	25
Production	25
Perfection	26
Planning a Successful CRM Project	26
Implementing CRM: A sample methodology	27
1: Select the team	27
2: Develop a plan	28
3: Implement	31
4: Validate	32
5: Manage Change	32
Avoiding common mistakes	32
Summary	33
Chapter 2: Taking a Tour of Dynamics CRM	35
Looking at What's New in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011	
64-bit only architecture	
Sandbox service	
Enhanced pipeline framework	
Solutions and publishers	
Web resources	
Option sets	
Cutting-edge development platform	
Changes to the User Experience	40
Wider international availability of Dynamics CRM Online	40
Getting Started panes	40

Dashboards41Enhanced data management tools41Ribbon menus41Navigational improvements42Filterable columns in views43Role-based forms44Form customization and layout44Team ownership of records44Field-level security44Field changes45Recurring appointments45Custom activities45Dialogs45Auditing45SharePoint integration46Outlook integration47Choosing a Deployment Option47Choosing a Deployment Option47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48On-premises48Partner-hosted49Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets51Integration plans51Integration plans51Integration plans51Integration plans51Integration plans51Integration plans51Integration plans51Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56System Requirements51Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56 <td< th=""><th>Charts</th><th>41</th></td<>	Charts	41
Enhanced data management tools41Ribbon menus41Navigational improvements42Filterable columns in views43Role-based forms44Form customization and layout44Team ownership of records44Field-level security44Field changes45Recurring appointments45Custom activities45Dialogs45Auditing45SharePoint integration46Connections46Outlook integration47Changes to queues47Choosing a Deployment Option47Choosing a Deployment Option47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48On-premises48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Cost50System Requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements51Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Sustemes56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56 <td>Dashboards</td> <td>41</td>	Dashboards	41
Ribbon menus41Navigational improvements42Filterable columns in views43Role-based forms44Form customization and layout44Form customization and layout44Fedd-level security44Field-level security44Field-level security45Recurring appointments45Custom activities45Dialogs45Auditing45SharePoint integration46Connections46Outlook integration47Choosing a Deployment Option47Understanding the differences among online, on-premise,48and partner-hosted options47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets51Integration plans51Integration plans51Internet Explorer52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Sutting the power of Outlook integration56Sutting the power of Outlook integration56System Requirements56Sutting the power of Outlook integration	Enhanced data management tools	41
Navigational improvements.42Filterable columns in views43Role-based forms.44Form customization and layout.44Team ownership of records44Field-level security.44Field-level security.44Field-level security.44Field-level security.44Field-level security.45Recurring appointments.45Custom activities.45Dialogs45Auditing.45SharePoint integration46Connections.46Outlook integration47Choosing a Deployment Option47Understanding the differences among online, on-premise,48and partner-hosted options.47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization.50Cost50Long-term strategy.50Company culture and skillsets.50Business requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM.54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Summary.59	Ribbon menus	41
Filterable columns in views43Role-based forms44Form customization and layout.44Form ownership of records44Field-level security44Field changes45Recurring appointments45Custom activities45Dialogs45Auditing45SharePoint integration46Connections46Outlook integration47Changes to queues47Understanding the differences among online, on-premise,48On-premises48Partner-hosted options47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48On-premises48Partner-hosted48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Summary59	Navigational improvements	42
Role-based forms44Form customization and layout44Form customization and layout44Team ownership of records44Field-level security44Field changes45Recurring appointments45Oution activities45Dialogs45Auditing45SharePoint integration46Outlook integration47Choosing a Deployment Option47Understanding the differences among online, on-premise,47and partner-hosted options47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48On-premises48Partner-hosted48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Summary59	Filterable columns in views	43
Form customization and layout	Role-based forms	44
Team ownership of records44Field-level security44Field changes45Recurring appointments45Custom activities45Dialogs45Auditing45SharePoint integration46Connections46Outlook integration47Changes to queues47Choosing a Deployment Option47Understanding the differences among online, on-premise,48and partner-hosted options47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Compart option plans51Integration plans51Integration plans51Integration plans52System Requirements52Dynamics CRM Online56On-Premises56Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56And perfecting Deployment56Northered Stillsets50System Requirements51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements56Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Summary59	Form customization and layout	44
Field-level security44Field changes45Recurring appointments45Custom activities45Dialogs45Auditing45SharePoint integration46Outlook integration46Outlook integration47Changes to queues47Choosing a Deployment Option47Understanding the differences among online, on-premise,48and partner-hosted options47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48On-premises48Partner-hosted48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Dynamics CRM Online54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Sustement Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Summary59	Team ownership of records	44
Field changes45Recurring appointments.45Custom activities45Dialogs45Auditing45SharePoint integration46Connections.46Outlook integration47Changes to queues47Choosing a Deployment Option47Understanding the differences among online, on-premise,and partner-hosted options47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48On-premises48Partner-hosted48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans51Integration plans52System Requirements52Dynamics CRM Online56On-Premises56Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Appreciating Deployment56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Summary59	Field-level security	44
Recurring appointments	Field changes	45
Custom activities45Dialogs45Auditing45SharePoint integration46Connections46Outlook integration47Changes to queues47Choosing a Deployment Option47Understanding the differences among online, on-premise,47and partner-hosted options47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48On-premises48Partner-hosted48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Summary59	Recurring appointments	45
Dialogs45Auditing45SharePoint integration46Connections46Outlook integration47Changes to queues47Choosing a Deployment Option47Understanding the differences among online, on-premise,47and partner-hosted options47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48On-premises48Partner-hosted48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56The outlook interface57Going mobile58Summary59	Custom activities	45
Auditing	Dialogs	45
SharePoint integration46Connections	Auditing	45
Connections	SharePoint integration	46
Outlook integration47Changes to queues47Choosing a Deployment Option47Understanding the differences among online, on-premise,47and partner-hosted options47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48On-premises48Partner-hosted48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56On-Premises56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56The Outlook interface57Going mobile58Summary59	Connections	46
Changes to queues	Outlook integration	47
Choosing a Deployment Option     47       Understanding the differences among online, on-premise,     47       and partner-hosted options     47       Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online     48       On-premises     48       Partner-hosted     48       Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization     50       Cost     50       Long-term strategy     50       Company culture and skillsets     50       Business requirements     51       Integration plans     51       The appeal of on-demand software     52       System Requirements     52       Accessing CRM     54       Internet Explorer     55       Dynamics CRM Online     56       On-Premises     56       Internet Facing Deployment     56       Appreciating the power of Outlook integration     56       The Outlook interface     57       Going mobile     58       Summary     59	Changes to queues	47
Understanding the differences among online, on-premise, and partner-hosted options47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48On-premises48Partner-hosted48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56On-Premises56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56The Outlook interface57Going mobile58Summary.59	Choosing a Deployment Option	47
and partner-hosted options47Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48On-premises48Partner-hosted48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer56On-Premises56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56The Outlook interface57Going mobile58Summary59	Understanding the differences among online, on-premise,	
Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online48On-premises48Partner-hosted48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56The Outlook interface57Going mobile58Summary59	and partner-hosted options	47
On-premises48Partner-hosted48Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56On-Premises56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56The Outlook interface57Going mobile58Summary59	Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online	48
Partner-hosted	On-premises	48
Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization50Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56On-Premises56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Summary59	Partner-hosted	48
Cost50Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56On-Premises56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56The Outlook interface57Going mobile58Summary59	Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization	50
Long-term strategy50Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56On-Premises56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56Summary59	Cost	50
Company culture and skillsets50Business requirements51Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56On-Premises56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56The Outlook interface57Going mobile58Summary59	Long-term strategy	50
Business requirements     51       Integration plans     51       The appeal of on-demand software     52       System Requirements     52       Accessing CRM     54       Internet Explorer     55       Dynamics CRM Online     56       On-Premises     56       Internet Facing Deployment     56       Appreciating the power of Outlook integration     56       The Outlook interface     57       Going mobile     58       Summary     59	Company culture and skillsets	50
Integration plans51The appeal of on-demand software52System Requirements52Accessing CRM54Internet Explorer55Dynamics CRM Online56On-Premises56Internet Facing Deployment56Appreciating the power of Outlook integration56The Outlook interface57Going mobile58Summary59	Business requirements	51
The appeal of on-demand software	Integration plans	51
System Requirements     52       Accessing CRM     54       Internet Explorer     55       Dynamics CRM Online     56       On-Premises     56       Internet Facing Deployment     56       Appreciating the power of Outlook integration     56       The Outlook interface     57       Going mobile     58       Summary     59	The appeal of on-demand software	52
Accessing CRM	System Requirements	52
Internet Explorer	Accessing CRM	54
Dynamics CRM Online	Internet Explorer	55
On-Premises	Dynamics CRM Online	56
Internet Facing Deployment	On-Premises	56
Appreciating the power of Outlook integration	Internet Facing Deployment	56
The Outlook interface	Appreciating the power of Outlook integration	56
Going mobile58 Summary	The Outlook interface	57
Summary	Going mobile	58
	Summary	59

### Part II: Installing Dynamics CRM

Chapter 3: Architecting Your CRM System	63
Planning Your Installation Strategy	
Considering your goals for Dynamics CRM	
Other important considerations	
Breaking Out Server Roles	
Understanding server roles and role groups	
Front End Server	
Back End Server	
Deployment Administration Server	
Other server roles	
Server configurations	69
Single-server deployment	69
Small Business Server	70
Multiple server deployment	70
Installing the Dynamics CRM Server	72
Installing with installation media versus command line installs	73
Running the setup	74
Completing the installation	80
Installing the SRS Data Connector Extensions	80
Configuring relying parties for claims-based authentication	80
Installing other server roles	80
Upgrading the Dynamics CRM Server	80
Planning your upgrade	80
Checking your current system	81
Moving to 64-bit hardware	81
Going virtual	81
Upgrading Outlook clients	82
Running the upgrade	82
Migrating a Version 4.0 organization database	82
Performing an in-place upgrade	84
Installing a new deployment that connects to an existing database	86
Testing the upgrade	87
Summary	
Chapter 4: Installing Other Components for Dynamics CRM	89
Installing Ancillary Server Components	90
Connecting Dynamics CRM to SOL Reporting Services	90
Installing and setting up the SharePoint Grid integration	
Preparing SharePoint for the Dynamics CRM integration	
Installing the SharePoint Grid for Dynamics CRM	
Configuring Document Management Settings	96

Configuring Dynamics CRM for External Access	97
Understanding claims-based authentication	98
Configuring IFD	98
Integrating E-mail with Dynamics CRM	102
Installing the E-Mail Router	103
Configuring the E-mail Router	105
Configuring incoming and outgoing profiles	
for use with POP3 e-mail accounts	105
Associating profiles with deployments	107
Specifying users for the deployed profiles	109
Configuring the E-mail Router for use with a forwarding mailbox	109
Using the Rule Deployment Wizard	110
Installing the Outlook Client	111
Manually installing the Outlook client	115
Configuring the Outlook client	116
Installing and Configuring the Outlook client from the command line	117
Upgrading the Outlook client	119
Summary	120

### Part III: Administering Dynamics CRM

121

Putting Your Dynamics CRM House in Order	124
Creating a backup administrator	124
Running the Registration Wizard (on-premises installations only)	126
Designating a partner (Dynamics CRM Online customers)	126
Downloading and installing the latest update rollup	127
Setting system settings	128
The System Settings dialog	128
Other administration settings	133
Business management settings	134
Taking Your Network and Domain Policies into Consideration	137
Settings for Internet Explorer	137
Configuring Internet-Facing Deployment	138
Making a backup of Dynamics CRM	139
Planning and Implementing Your Organization's Structure	140
Options for security model	141
Open organization	141
Balanced organization	141
Closed organization	141
Custom sharing rules	141
Understanding business units	142
Configuring security roles	143
Working with field security profiles	145
Setting up teams for your users	146

Preparing for Your First User	147
Installing sample data	
Installing language packs	
Testing user connectivity and security	
Summary	
Chapter 6: Managing Users in Dynamics CRM	151
Understanding Licensing Options	
Understanding user licensing	152
Acquiring CRM Online licenses	
Acquiring CRM On-Premise licenses	
Understanding External Connector licensing	
Understanding other licensing components	
Authenticating Users	
Managing Users	156
Creating users	156
Creating new users	
Approving e-mail	
Setting the default queue and team	
Working with existing user records	
Disabling users and reassigning records	
Changing the manager or business unit	
The user summary report	
Summary	
Chapter 7: Using the Deployment Manager	165
Using the Deployment Manager Console	
Managing your deployment product key	
Changing deployment properties	
Adding Deployment Administrators	
Managing organizations	
Creating a new organization	
Importing an organization	
Editing an organization	
Deleting an organization	
Setting the default organization	
Viewing servers and server roles in Deployment Manager	
Understanding server roles	
Disabling servers	
Deleting servers	
Configuring Claims-Based Authentication	
Configuring Internet-Facing Deployment	
Summary	

Chapter of Managing Data	18/
Importing Data with the Import Data Wizard	
Data maps	
Preparing your source files	191
Use the data import templates	191
Make column headings match display names	192
Add necessary options to picklists	192
Import lookup references first	192
Validate and format fields	192
Dealing with floats and decimal precision	192
Remove carriage returns and line breaks	193
Enriching (updating) existing data	193
Reviewing the import job	194
Using the Import Contacts Wizard from Outlook	195
Detecting Duplicates	195
Duplicate detection settings	196
Creating duplicate detection rules	196
Scheduling duplicate detection jobs	197
Handling duplicate records	200
Cleaning Up Your Data with the Bulk Deletion Wizard	201
Summary	202
Chapter 9: Maintaining, Optimizing, and	
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM	203
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM	<b>203</b>
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM	<b>203</b> 
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM	<b>203</b> 203 204 205
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM	203 
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM	203 
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM	203 203 204 205 205 205 209 211
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM	203 203 204 205 205 205 209 209 211 212
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability	203 203 204 205 205 205 209 211 212
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability       and Performance Monitor	203 203 204 205 205 209 209 211 212 212
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability       and Performance Monitor       Becoming familiar with the Dynamics CRM counters	203 203 204 205 205 209 209 211 212 212 213 213 215
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability       and Performance Monitor       Becoming familiar with the Dynamics CRM counters       Optimizing Dynamics CRM	203 203 204 205 205 209 211 212 212 213 213 215 217
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability       and Performance Monitor       Becoming familiar with the Dynamics CRM counters       Optimizing Dynamics CRM       Optimizing the database	203 203 204 205 205 209 211 212 213 213 213 215 217 218
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability       and Performance Monitor       Becoming familiar with the Dynamics CRM counters       Optimizing Dynamics CRM       Optimizing the database       Identifying performance problems in the database	203 203 204 205 205 209 211 212 212 213 213 215 217 218 218
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability       and Performance Monitor       Becoming familiar with the Dynamics CRM counters       Optimizing Dynamics CRM       Optimizing the database       Identifying performance problems in the database       Implementing basic SQL Server optimizations	203 203 204 205 205 209 211 212 212 213 213 215 217 218 218 218 220
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability       and Performance Monitor       Becoming familiar with the Dynamics CRM counters       Optimizing Dynamics CRM       Optimizing the database       Identifying performance problems in the database       Implementing basic SQL Server optimizations       Optimizing the Web server	203 203 204 205 205 209 211 212 212 213 213 215 217 218 218 218 218 220 224
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability       and Performance Monitor       Becoming familiar with the Dynamics CRM counters       Optimizing Dynamics CRM       Optimizing the database       Identifying performance problems in the database       Implementing basic SQL Server optimizations       Optimizing the Web server       Identifying potential problem areas with the Web server	203 203 204 205 205 209 211 212 212 213 215 217 218 217 218 218 218 218 218 220 224 225
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability       and Performance Monitor       Becoming familiar with the Dynamics CRM counters       Optimizing Dynamics CRM       Optimizing the database       Identifying performance problems in the database       Implementing basic SQL Server optimizations       Optimizing the Web server       Identifying potential problem areas with the Web server       Making recommended changes to the Web server	203 203 204 205 205 209 211 212 213 213 215 217 218 218 218 218 220 224 225 225
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability       and Performance Monitor       Becoming familiar with the Dynamics CRM counters       Optimizing Dynamics CRM       Optimizing the database       Identifying performance problems in the database       Implementing basic SQL Server optimizations       Optimizing the Web server       Identifying potential problem areas with the Web server       Making recommended changes to the Web server       Optimizing the platform server	203 203 204 205 205 209 211 212 213 213 215 217 218 218 218 218 218 220 224 225 225 225 226
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM       Maintaining Dynamics CRM       Simplifying updates       Backing up the server and server components       Setting up a database maintenance plan       Backing up the Dynamics CRM application       Backing up other server components       Monitoring Dynamics CRM       Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability       and Performance Monitor       Becoming familiar with the Dynamics CRM counters       Optimizing Dynamics CRM       Optimizing the database       Identifying performance problems in the database       Implementing basic SQL Server optimizations       Optimizing the Web server       Identifying potential problem areas with the Web server       Maing recommended changes to the Web server       Optimizing the platform server	203 203 204 205 205 209 211 212 213 213 213 215 217 218 218 218 218 220 224 225 225 225 226 226

Optimizing the client	27
Identifying potential problem areas with the client	27
Implementing recommended changes to improve client performance 22	27
Troubleshooting Errors and Performance Problems	29
Using built-in, free, and included resources	29
Getting good information from Dynamics CRM errors	30
Examining event logs	31
Turning on developer errors23	32
Enabling tracing	36
Summary24	40

### Part IV: Using Microsoft Dynamics CRM

Chapter 10: Getting to Know the CRM Application	
Navigating the Dynamics CRM Interface	
Understanding the Ribbon menu	
Ribbon menu tabs	
Context-sensitive Ribbon menu tabs and buttons	
Collapsing the Ribbon menu	
Using the navigation pane	
Areas, groups, and subareas	
Shortcut menus	251
Homepage	251
Recently visited and favorites	251
Navigating CRM lists	251
Views	252
Creating Personal Views with Advanced Find	252
Using the search bar	253
Sorting	254
Filtering	254
Charts	254
Getting Started pane	255
Using CRM forms to view and update records	255
Navigating forms	255
Navigating records	257
Entering data	257
Editing multiple records	257
Record Ownership	258
Organization ownership	258
User or team ownership	259
Sharing records	259
Connections and Customer Relationships	
Managing Activities with Dynamics CRM	
Understanding activity types	263

Creating activities     265       Viewing activities     266       Activity alerts     268       Completing activities     268       Using Queues     269       Working items in a queue     269       Working on items     271       Releasing items you are working on     271       Releasing items you are working on     271       Releasing items you are working on     272       Deleting queue records     272       Using e-mail templates     272       Using e-mail templates     273       Merging Duplicate Records     275       Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM.     276       Outlook synchronization     277       Mobile Express.     277       Summary.     277       Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook     281       Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views     281       Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views     281       Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views     282       Using the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM     284       Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook     284       W	υ ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο	
Viewing activities     266       Activity alerts     268       Completing activities     268       Using Queues     269       Working items in a queue     269       Working on items     271       Releasing items you are working on     271       Releasing items you are working on     271       Releasing items you are working on     271       Removing items from a queue     272       Deleting queue records     272       Using e-mail templates     272       Using e-mail templates     273       Merging Duplicate Records     276       Outlook synchronization     277       Mobile Express     277       Third-party options     277       Summary     277       Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM     281       Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views     281       Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views     281       Using tabs as views     284 </td <td>Creating activities</td> <td>265</td>	Creating activities	265
Activity alerts     268       Completing activities     268       Sending records to queues     269       Viewing queues     269       Working items in a queue     269       Routing queue items     269       Working items ou are working on     271       Releasing items you are working on     271       Releasing items from a queue     272       Deleting queue records     272       Creating e-mail templates     272       Using e-mail templates     273       Using vour Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM     276       Outlook synchronization     277       Mobile Express     277       Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM     279       Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM     281       Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views     281       Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry     281       Using the Outlook navigation pane     284       Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook     284       Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook     284       Viewing with Screeds     284       Formatting views     284	Viewing activities	
Completing activities268Using Queues269Viewing queues269Working terms in a queue269Routing queue items269Working on items271Releasing items you are working on271Releasing items from a queue272Deleting queue records272Working on items272Working on items272Deleting queue records272Working on items272Creating e-mail templates272Using e-mail templates273Using e-mail templates275Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM276Outlook synchronization277Third-party options277Summary277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Using tabs as views284Filtering views284Vorking tabs as views284Formatting views284Formatting views284Formatting views284Formatting views284Formatting outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287On Dynamics CRM records287The reading pane288Taking Dynamics CRM for Outlook289Going offline and online289Conobil panamics CRM for Outlook289Toubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook289	Activity alerts	
Using Queues.268Sending records to queues269Viewing queues.269Working items in a queue269Routing queue items269Working on items270Releasing items you are working on271Renoving items from a queue272Deleting queue records272Working with E-mail Templates.272Creating e-mail templates.272Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM276Outlook synchronization277Mobile Express.277Summary.277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook279Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Filtering views284Formatting tig views284Formatting views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287The reading pane288The reading pane288The reading pane288Taking Dynamics CRM for Outlook289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Chooking the Autok categories, follow-ups, and reminders281The reading pane288The prople pane289Choosing data for offline usa	Completing activities	268
Sending records to queues     269       Viewing queues     269       Working items in a queue     269       Routing queue items     269       Working on items     271       Releasing items you are working on     271       Releasing items from a queue     272       Deleting queue records     272       Vorking with E-mail Templates     272       Using e-mail templates     273       Merging Duplicate Records     275       Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM     276       Outlook synchronization     277       Mobile Express     277       Summary     277       Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook     279       Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM     281       Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry     281       Using the Outlook navigation pane     284       Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook     284       Using tabs as views     284       Filtering views     284       Going offline and online     289       O Dynamics CRM views in Outlook     284       Using tabs as views     284 <td>Using Queues</td> <td>268</td>	Using Queues	268
Viewing queues.269Working items in a queue269Routing queue items269Working on items271Releasing items you are working on271Removing items from a queue272Deleting queue records272Working with E-mail Templates.272Using e-mail templates273Merging Duplicate Records275Using e-mail templates276Outlook synchronization277Mobile Express277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook277Summary277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook	Sending records to queues	269
Working items in a queue     269       Routing queue items     269       Working on items     271       Releasing items you are working on     271       Removing items from a queue     272       Deleting queue records     272       Creating e-mail templates     272       Using e-mail templates     273       Merging Duplicate Records     275       Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM     276       Outlook synchronization     277       Mobile Express     277       Third-party options     277       Summary.     277       Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook     279       Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM     281       Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views     281       Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry     281       Using the Outlook navigation pane     284       Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook     284       Using tabe as views     284       Formatting views     285       Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders     286       On Dynamics CRM records     287	Viewing queues	269
Routing queue items269Working on items271Releasing items you are working on271Removing items from a queue272Deleting queue records272Working with E-mail Templates272Using e-mail templates273Using e-mail templates273Merging Duplicate Records275Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM276Outlook synchronization277Mobile Express277Third-party options277Summary277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Using bynamics CRM views in Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Using bynamics CRM records284Formatting views284Formatting views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287on Dynamics CRM offline288The people pane288The people pane288The people pane288The people pane289Consig data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook records in Dynamics CRM or Outlook291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding29	Working items in a queue	269
Working on items271Releasing items you are working on271Removing items from a queue272Deleting queue records272Working with E-mail Templates272Creating e-mail templates273Merging Duplicate Records275Using e-mail templates275Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM276Outlook synchronization277Mobile Express277Third-party options277Summary277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook279Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using bynamics CRM views in Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM records284Formatting views284Filtering views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287The reading pane288The people pane288The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offine289Going offline and online289Cools offline and online289Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook records in Dynamics CRM for Outlook291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads291	Routing queue items	269
Releasing items you are working on     271       Removing items from a queue     272       Deleting queue records     272       Working with E-mail Templates     272       Creating e-mail templates     273       Merging Duplicate Records     275       Using e-mail templates     273       Merging Duplicate Records     276       Outlook synchronization     277       Mobile Express     277       Third-party options     277       Summary     277       Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM     281       Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views     281       Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views     281       Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook     282       Using the Outlook navigation pane     284       Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook     284       Working with Dynamics CRM records     284       Filtering views     285       Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders     0       on Dynamics CRM records     287       The reading pane     288       The reading pane     288       The people	Working on items	271
Removing items from a queue272Deleting queue records272Working with E-mail Templates272Creating e-mail templates273Using e-mail templates273Merging Duplicate Records275Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM276Outlook synchronization277Mobile Express277Third-party options277Summary277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook279Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Formatting views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287on Dynamics CRM records287The reading pane288The people pane288The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM290Using the Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Releasing items you are working on	271
Deleting queue records272Working with E-mail Templates272Creating e-mail templates273Using e-mail templates273Merging Duplicate Records275Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM276Outlook synchronization277Mobile Express277Third-party options277Summary277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook279Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using bynamics CRM views in Outlook284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Formatting views285Setting upone284Formatting views285Setting upone287The reading pane288The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking e-mail threads292	Removing items from a queue	272
Working with E-mail Templates272Creating e-mail templates273Using e-mail templates273Merging Duplicate Records275Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM276Outlook synchronization277Mobile Express277Third-party options277Summary277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook279Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Using Dynamics CRM views in Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Using tabs as views284Filtering views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders285on Dynamics CRM records287The reading pane288The people pane288The people pane289Choosing data for offline289Choosing data for offline usage289Tracking Outlook Extensions291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291	Deleting queue records	272
Creating e-mail templates272Using e-mail templates273Merging Duplicate Records275Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM276Outlook synchronization277Mobile Express277Third-party options277Summary277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook279Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Filtering views284Filtering views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287on Dynamics CRM records287The reading pane288The people pane288The people pane289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291	Working with E-mail Templates	272
Using e-mail templates273Merging Duplicate Records275Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM276Outlook synchronization277Mobile Express277Third-party options277Summary277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook	Creating e-mail templates	272
Merging Duplicate Records275Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM.276Outlook synchronization277Mobile Express277Third-party options277Summary.277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for OutlookUnderstanding the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Formatting views284Formatting views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287on Dynamics CRM records287The reading pane288The people pane288The people pane289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook zecords in Dynamics CRM291Tracking outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Using e-mail templates	273
Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM.276Outlook synchronization277Mobile Express277Third-party options277Summary.277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for OutlookUnderstanding the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Using tabs as views284Filtering views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders285on Dynamics CRM records287The reading pane288The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook291Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM.291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291	Merging Duplicate Records	275
Outlook synchronization277Mobile Express277Third-party options277Summary277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook279Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Filtering views284Formatting views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287The reading pane288The people pane288The people pane289Going offline and online289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM	276
Mobile Express.277Third-party options277Summary.277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook279Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Filtering views284Formatting views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287The reading pane288The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Outlook synchronization	277
Third-party options277Summary277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook279Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Using tabs as views284Filtering views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287on Dynamics CRM records287The reading pane288The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Mobile Express	277
Summary277Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook279Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Using tabs as views284Filtering views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287The reading pane288The pople pane289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook factoris in Dynamics CRM291Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Third-party options	277
Chapter 11: Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook279Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Using tabs as views284Filtering views284Formatting views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminderson Dynamics CRM records287The reading pane288The people pane289Going offline and online289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Summary	277
Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM281Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Using tabs as views284Filtering views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287The reading pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Chapter 11, Using Dynamics CDM for Outlook	0.00
Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views281Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Using tabs as views284Filtering views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287The reading pane288The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM.291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292		
Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry281Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Using tabs as views284Filtering views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287The reading pane288The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking outlook records in Dynamics CRM.291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM	
Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook282Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Using tabs as views284Filtering views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287The reading pane288The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views	
Using the Outlook navigation pane284Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Using tabs as views284Filtering views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287The reading pane288The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry	
Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook284Using tabs as views284Filtering views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287The reading pane288The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook	
Using tabs as views	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane	
Filtering views284Formatting views285Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders287on Dynamics CRM records287The reading pane288The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook	
Formatting views	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views	
Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminderson Dynamics CRM recordsThe reading pane288The people pane289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding292	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views	
on Dynamics CRM records	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views	
The reading pane	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views Formatting views Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders	
The people pane288Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views Formatting views Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders on Dynamics CRM records	
Taking Dynamics CRM offline289Going offline and online289Choosing data for offline usage289Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook290Using the Outlook Extensions291Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM291Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291Tracking e-mail threads292	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders on Dynamics CRM records The reading pane	
Going offline and online	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views Formatting views Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders on Dynamics CRM records The reading pane The people pane	
Choosing data for offline usage	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views Formatting views Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders on Dynamics CRM records The reading pane The people pane Taking Dynamics CRM offline	
Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views Formatting views Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders on Dynamics CRM records The reading pane Taking Dynamics CRM offline Going offline and online	
Using the Outlook Extensions	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views Formatting views Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders on Dynamics CRM records The reading pane The people pane Taking Dynamics CRM offline Going offline and online Choosing data for offline usage	
Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views Formatting views Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders on Dynamics CRM records The reading pane The reading pane Taking Dynamics CRM offline Going offline and online Choosing data for offline usage Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook	
Tracking in CRM and setting regarding291 Tracking e-mail threads	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views Formatting views Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders on Dynamics CRM records The reading pane The people pane Taking Dynamics CRM offline Going offline and online Choosing data for offline usage Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook	
Tracking e-mail threads292	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views Formatting views Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders on Dynamics CRM records The reading pane The people pane Taking Dynamics CRM offline Going offline and online Choosing data for offline usage Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook Using the Outlook Extensions Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM	
	Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook Using the Outlook navigation pane Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook Using tabs as views Filtering views Formatting views Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders on Dynamics CRM records The reading pane The people pane Taking Dynamics CRM offline Going offline and online Choosing data for offline usage Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook Using the Outlook Extensions Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM Tracking in CRM and setting regarding	

Untracking and re-regarding Outlook records	
Setting connections	
Navigating to Dynamics CRM records from Outlook	
Converting an Outlook record to a Dynamics CRM opportunity,	
lead or case	
Synchronizing from Dynamics CRM to Outlook	295
Choosing records for automatic synchronization	
Updating synchronized records	
Manual and automatic synchronization	
Using Dynamics CRM e-mail features within Outlook	
Sending Dynamics CRM templates, articles, and	
sales literature from Outlook	297
Creating new leads and contacts	
Summary	
Chapter 12: Using the Sales Functions	299
Understanding the Sales Lifecycle	
Managing Leads	
Creating leads	
Working leads	
Qualifying Leads	
Managing Opportunities	
Important opportunity fields	
Adding products to an opportunity	
Write-in and existing products	
Units	
Recalculating opportunities	
Adding competitors to an opportunity	
Closing opportunities	
Setting goals	
Forecasting sales	
Custom opportunity processes	
Working with the Product Catalog	
Working with Quotes, Orders, and Invoices	
Managing quotes	
Creating a quote	
Revising a quote	
Converting a quote	
Understanding orders and invoices	
Closing orders	315
Closing invoices	315
Summary	315

Chapter 13: Using the Marketing Functions	
Managing Campaigns	
Creating campaigns	
Creating your first campaign	
Working with campaign templates	
Working with planning activities	
Working with campaign activities	
Using campaign activities	
Distributing campaign activities	
Working with campaign responses	
Creating campaign responses	
Working with campaign response records	
Adding products and sales literature to campaigns	
Using Quick Campaigns	
Working with Marketing Lists	
Managing list members manually	
Managing list members dynamically	
Using mail merge documents with marketing lists	
Other Marketing Functions	
Sales literature	
Internet marketing	
Third party add-ons	
Summary	
Chapter 14: Using the Service Functions	
Managing Cases	331
Creating and tracking cases	332
Tracking time	333
Closing cases	333
Setting un subjects	334
Ilsing knowledge base articles	336
Creating article templates	336
Creating and approving articles	337
Using articles	
Working with contracts	338
Contract templates	338
Contracts	
Contract lines	
The contract process	
Scheduling Service	
Setting up CRM for service management	
Setting up sites	
Setting up facilities/equipment	
Setting up resource groups	

Setting up business closures	
Setting up working hours for users	
Setting up services	
Scheduling services	
Summary	
Part V: Customizing Dynamics CRM	
Through the User Interface	349
Chapter 15: Realizing the Benefits of Office and	
SharePoint Integration	351
Exporting and Importing Data with Microsoft Excel	
Exporting data to Microsoft Excel	352
Updating existing records from Microsoft Excel	354
Mail Merging with Microsoft Word	357
Creating a Word mail merge template	357
Using a Word mail merge template	
Working with SharePoint Integration	
Storing documents in SharePoint	
Activating document management for a CRM entity	
Associating a SharePoint location to a Dynamics CRM record	
Working with SharePoint documents	
Publishing Excel pivot tables as SharePoint dashboards	
Using SharePoint 2010 tags and notes	
Summary	
Chapter 16: Tailoring CRM to Your Organization	
Understanding Customization and Configuration	
Understanding customization terminology	
Understanding model driven development	374
Documenting and designing	374
Design and code: Identifying the gaps	374
Working with a development sandbox	375
Accessing the customizations area	
Working with Solutions	
Understanding the steps of solution management	
Understanding solutions and publishers	
Using the default solution	
Creating a publisher and editing the default publisher	
Editing the default publisher	
Creating a new publisher	
Other publishers	382 202
Greating a solution	

	Adding components to a solution	
	Layering: Building on existing solutions	
	Working with managed properties	
	Understanding dependencies	
	Sharing solutions with import and export	
	Exporting a solution	
	Importing a solution	
	Deleting a solution	
	The Solutions Marketplace	
	Summary	
Cha	apter 17: Working with CRM Entities	
	Understanding Entities	
	Understanding entity types	
	Understanding relational databases	
	Understanding the steps of entity customization.	400
	Accessing the entity customization area	
	Publishing customizations	
	Importing and exporting customizations	
	Creating Custom Entities	
	General entity settings and the primary field	
	Entity definition	
	Activity entity types	
	Notes	
	Activities	
	Sending E-mail	
	Oueues	
	Auditing	
	Other settings on the general tab	
	Primary field	
	Understanding the default fields	
	Status (or activity status) and status reason	
	Created and modified fields	
	Owner, Owning Team	
	Other default elements	
	Updating icons	
	Customizing Entities	
	Customizing fields	
	Display name	
	Name	
	Field security	
	Auditing	
	Requirement level	
	Searchable	

Description	
Type and format	
Creating new option sets (picklists)	
IME mode	
Working with relationships	
Understanding relationship types	
Understanding relationship behavior	
Viewing, creating, and customizing relationships	
Mapping fields between relationships	
Working with forms	
Understanding form types	
Understanding form layout	
Using the form designer	
Working with role-based forms	
Deleting fields	
Customizing views	
Understanding view types	
Creating and modifying views	
Editing filter criteria	
Customizing charts	
Renaming entities	
Summary	452
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes	453
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes	
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding	
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation	
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation	
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions	
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions Working with Workflows	
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions Working with Workflows Creating workflows	453 454 454 454 455 457 457 457 459
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions Working with Workflows Creating workflows Workflow scope	
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions Working with Workflows Creating workflows Workflow scope Workflow triggers	453 454 454 454 455 457 457 457 459 459 460 461
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions Working with Workflows Creating workflows Workflow scope Workflow triggers Adding workflow steps	<b>453</b> 454 454 454 455 457 457 457 459 460 461 462
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions Working with Workflows Creating workflows scope Workflow triggers Adding workflow steps Workflow conditions	453 454 454 454 455 457 457 457 459 460 461 462 462
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions Working with Workflows Creating workflows Workflow scope Workflow triggers Adding workflow steps Workflow conditions Wait conditions	453 454 454 454 455 457 457 457 459 461 462 462 464
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions Working with Workflows Creating workflows Workflow scope Workflow triggers Adding workflow steps Workflow conditions Wait conditions Workflow actions	453 454 454 454 455 457 457 459 460 461 462 462 464 464
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions Working with Workflows Creating workflows Workflow scope Workflow triggers Adding workflow steps Workflow conditions Wait conditions Workflow actions Workflow actions Workflow actions Workflow actions Workflow actions	453 454 454 454 455 457 457 457 459 460 461 462 462 464 465 465
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions Working with Workflows Creating workflows Workflow scope Workflow triggers Adding workflow steps Workflow conditions Workflow actions Workflow actions Workflow actions Workflow stages	453 454 454 454 455 457 457 457 459 460 461 462 462 464 465 466 466
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions Working with Workflows Creating workflows Workflow scope Workflow triggers Adding workflow steps Workflow conditions Workflow conditions Workflow actions Workflow actions Workflow stages Workflow stages Undating existing workflows	453 454 454 454 455 457 457 457 459 460 461 462 462 465 465 466 467 469
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM Programming without coding Understanding business process automation Designing and diagramming processes Processes and solutions Working with Workflows Creating workflows Workflow scope Workflow triggers Adding workflow steps Workflow conditions Workflow conditions Workflow actions Workflow actions Workflow stages Workflow stages Updating existing workflows	453       454       454       454       455       457       457       457       459       460       461       462       464       465       466       467       469       470
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM	453       454       454       454       455       457       457       457       459       460       461       462       464       465       466       467       469       470       471
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM	453       454       454       454       455       457       460       461       462       462       462       464       465       466       467       469       470       471       471
Chapter 18: Automating Your Organization with Processes Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM	453       454       454       454       455       457       459       460       461       462       462       464       465       466       467       469       470       471       472

	Adding dialog steps	
	Stages, conditions, and dynamic values	
	Pages, prompts, and responses	
	Dialog actions	
I	Inderstanding Other Process Concepts	
	Running on demand processes	
	Administration, notes, and attachments	
	Documenting your processes	
	Deleting completed workflow jobs	
	Creating and using process templates	
	Monitoring processes	
	Running processes using JScript	
	Process extensions	
	Using .NET and the Windows Workflow Foundation	
	to extend your processes	
	Plug-ins: Using custom code for added process flexibility	
	Process examples	
5	Summary	

### Part VI: Customizing Dynamics CRM with Custom Code 481

Chapter 19: Understanding the Other Customization Options	483
Customizing Option Sets	483
Setting Up Queues	
Creating and customizing a queue	
Automating queues	
Approving queue e-mail	
Customizing Mobile Express	
Managing Connection Roles and Relationship Roles	490
Adding connections to entities	491
Configuring connection roles	
Working with CRM Extensions	
Extending forms	
Extending dashboards	495
Extending processes	495
Summary	496
Chapter 20: Understanding the Development Options	497
Understanding Development Options	
Envisioning the possibilities	
Understanding the fundamentals	502
Client-side and server-side customization	502
Dynamics CRM development terminology	503
Using the Software Development Kit (SDK)	507

Making smart development decisions	507
Avoiding unsupported customizations	508
Developing for CRM Online usage	508
Setting Up Development and Testing Environments	509
Establishing processes, procedures, and governance	511
Using the right development tools	512
Planning and configuring your environment	513
Configuring an entry level development environment	514
Configuring a mid-tier development environment	516
Configuring an enterprise class development environment	517
Configuring a CRM Online development environment	520
Summary	
Chapter 21: Working with Client-Side Customizations	523
Getting Started with Coding in CRM	
Understanding Web resources	
Understanding events	
Form onLoad and onSave events	
Field onChange event	
Tab TabStateChange event	
Iframe OnReadyStateComplete Event	
Ribbon control events	
Database events	
Writing JScript	
Understanding JScript libraries	
Hello world	527
How the JScript code works	531
Options for loading your JScript code	532
Additional JScript code examples	532
Testing your JScript code	539
Converting your Dynamics CRM 4.0 JScript	540
Supported and unsupported JScript	541
Working with Web pages	541
Using HTML Web resources	541
Hello world	542
Creating mash-ups with Iframes	543
Other Customizations	547
Calling CRM functions with URLs	547
Copying or sending a URL link	547
Launching dialog processes with a URL	548
Creating links in JScript or processes	548
Modifying XML files	549
Modifying the site map	549
Customizing the getting started pane	552
Modifying the Ribbon menu	554

Updating process XAML557Summary558 <b>Chapter 22: Working with Server-Side Customizations</b> 561Becoming Familiar with Dynamics CRM's Architecture and Development Model562Exploring the Extensibility Architecture563Developing Server-Side Extensions for Different Deployment Scenarios566Deciding where to store your custom server-side code567Comparing the sandbox service to non-isolated mode568Creating plug-ins for the sandbox568Setting up users to deploy plug-ins569Interfacing with Dynamics CRM570Understanding the Web services571Plugging-in to the Platform572Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Message support for plug-ins573Event pipeline stages573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Walking through a sample plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM's Obata service583Using the Obata endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure-enabled solution590Extending to revices589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM workflow rules593Creating or modifying a complete workflow rules594Creating or modifying a	Updating chart XML	556
Summary.558Chapter 22: Working with Server-Side CustomizationsBecoming Familiar with Dynamics CRM's Architecture and Development Model562Exploring the Extensibility Architecture563Developing Server-Side Extensions for Different Deployment Scenarios566Deciding where to store your custom server-side code566Deploying code for offline use.567Comparing the sandbox service to non-isolated mode568Creating plug-ins for the sandbox568Setting up users to deploy plug-ins569Interfacing with Dynamics CRM570Understanding the Web services571Plugging-in to the Platform572Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Message support for plug-ins573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Walking through a sample plug-in574Deploying a plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM.583Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting up your AppFabric services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting Started with an Azure-enabled solution599Extending Dynamics CRM WorkflowSummarySummarySummary	Updating process XAML	557
Chapter 22: Working with Server-Side Customizations     561       Becoming Familiar with Dynamics CRM's Architecture and Development Model     562       Exploring the Extensibility Architecture     563       Developing Server-Side Extensions for Different Deployment Scenarios     566       Deciding where to store your custom server-side code     566       Deploying code for offline use.     567       Comparing the sandbox service to non-isolated mode     568       Creating plug-ins for the sandbox     569       Interfacing with Dynamics CRM     570       Understanding the Web services     571       Plugging-in to the Platform     572       Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins     573       Message support for plug-ins     573       Event pipeline stages     573       Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes     574       Deploying a plug-in     578       RESTing with Dynamics CRM.     583       Querying Dynamics CRM.     583       Querying Dynamics CRM.     583       Querying Dynamics CRM.     583       Genta endpoint in Visual Studio     585       Connecting to the Cloud with Azure     586       Signing up for Azure servi	Summary	558
Becoming Familiar with Dynamics CRM's Architecture and Development Model	Chapter 22: Working with Server-Side Customizations	561
Exploring the Extensibility Architecture563Developing Server-Side Extensions for Different Deployment Scenarios566Deciding where to store your custom server-side code566Deploying code for offline use567Comparing the sandbox service to non-isolated mode568Creating plug-ins for the sandbox568Setting up users to deploy plug-ins569Interfacing with Dynamics CRM570Understanding the Web services570Accessing the Web services571Plugging-in to the Platform572Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Walking through a sample plug-in573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting Started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM workflow593Creating or modifying a complete workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary597	Becoming Familiar with Dynamics CRM's Architecture and Development Model	562
Developing Server-Side Extensions for Different Deployment Scenarios566Deciding where to store your custom server-side code566Deploying code for offline use567Comparing the sandbox service to non-isolated mode568Creating plug-ins for the sandbox569Interfacing with Dynamics CRM570Understanding the Web services570Accessing the Web services571Plugging-in to the Platform572Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Message support for plug-ins573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Deploying a plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM583Sting the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure588Setting up your AppFabric services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting to the Azure-enabled solution590Extending to the number of use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary597	Exploring the Extensibility Architecture	563
Deciding where to store your custom server-side code566Deploying code for offline use567Comparing the sandbox service to non-isolated mode568Creating plug-ins for the sandbox568Setting up users to deploy plug-ins569Interfacing with Dynamics CRM570Understanding the Web services571Plugging-in to the Platform572Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Message support for plug-ins573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Walking through a sample plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM so Data service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting with a nazure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary597	Developing Server-Side Extensions for Different Deployment Scenarios	566
Deploying code for offline use567Comparing the sandbox service to non-isolated mode568Creating plug-ins for the sandbox568Setting up users to deploy plug-ins569Interfacing with Dynamics CRM570Understanding the Web services570Accessing the Web services571Plugging-in to the Platform572Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Message support for plug-ins573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Walking through a sample plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM's OData service583Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary597	Deciding where to store your custom server-side code	566
Comparing the sandbox service to non-isolated mode568Creating plug-ins for the sandbox568Setting up users to deploy plug-ins569Interfacing with Dynamics CRM570Understanding the Web services570Accessing the Web services571Plugging-in to the Platform572Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Message support for plug-ins573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Walking through a sample plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM 's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure588Signing up for Azure services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary597	Deploying code for offline use	567
Creating plug-ins for the sandbox568Setting up users to deploy plug-ins569Interfacing with Dynamics CRM570Understanding the Web services570Accessing the Web services571Plugging-in to the Platform572Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Message support for plug-ins573Event pipeline stages573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Walking through a sample plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary597	Comparing the sandbox service to non-isolated mode	568
Setting up users to deploy plug-ins569Interfacing with Dynamics CRM570Understanding the Web services570Accessing the Web services571Plugging-in to the Platform572Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Message support for plug-ins573Event pipeline stages573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Walking through a sample plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary597	Creating plug-ins for the sandbox	568
Interfacing with Dynamics CRM570Understanding the Web services570Accessing the Web services571Plugging-in to the Platform572Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Message support for plug-ins573Event pipeline stages573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Deploying a plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution593Creating CRM workflow593Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary.597	Setting up users to deploy plug-ins	569
Understanding the Web services570Accessing the Web services571Plugging-in to the Platform572Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Message support for plug-ins573Event pipeline stages573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Walking through a sample plug-in574Deploying a plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary597	Interfacing with Dynamics CRM	570
Accessing the Web services571Plugging-in to the Platform572Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Message support for plug-ins573Event pipeline stages573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Walking through a sample plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary597	Understanding the Web services	570
Plugging-in to the Platform	Accessing the Web services	571
Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins573Message support for plug-ins573Event pipeline stages573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Walking through a sample plug-in574Deploying a plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule597	Plugging-in to the Platform	572
Message support for plug-ins	Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins	573
Event pipeline stages573Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes574Walking through a sample plug-in574Deploying a plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary597	Message support for plug-ins	573
Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes	Event pipeline stages	573
Walking through a sample plug-in574Deploying a plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule597	Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes	574
Deploying a plug-in578RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule597Summary597	Walking through a sample plug-in	574
RESTing with Dynamics CRM583Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule597Summary597	Deploying a plug-in	578
Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service583Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio585Connecting to the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary597	RESTing with Dynamics CRM	583
Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio	Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service	583
Connecting to the Cloud with Azure586Signing up for Azure services588Setting up your AppFabric services589Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution590Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow593Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules594Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595Summary597	Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio	585
Signing up for Azure services     588       Setting up your AppFabric services     589       Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution     590       Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow     593       Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules     594       Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule     595       Summary     597	Connecting to the Cloud with Azure	586
Setting up your AppFabric services	Signing up for Azure services	588
Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution	Setting up your AppFabric services	589
Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow	Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution	590
Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules	Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow	593
Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule595 Summary	Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules	594
Summary	Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule	595
	Summary	597

## Part VII: Visualizing Your Dynamics CRM Data with Charts, Reports, and Dashboards

Chapter 23: Using the Built-in Reporting Tools	601
Leveraging Dynamics CRM's Business Intelligence Capabilities	
Using Advanced Find as a reporting tool	602
Example 1: Creating a view of important customers	
in a salesperson's territory	603
Example 2: An advanced Advanced Find view	604

Getting the most from the included reports	606
Administrative reports	607
Marketing reports	608
Sales reports	609
Service reports	611
Using the Report Wizard	612
Creating your first report with the wizard	612
Setting default filters and report options	616
Using Excel as a BI Tool	616
Exporting data to Excel	616
Creating useful reports with Excel	617
Making the pivot table available to other users	620
Summary	621
Chapter 24: Working with Visualizations: Charts and Dashboards	623
Working with Charts	624
Using charts	624
Viewing charts	624
Interacting with charts	625
Managing charts	
Creating charts	
Using charts on forms	
Importing and exporting charts	
Modifying charts with the software development kit (SDK)	632
Working with Dashboards	
Using dashboards	634
Viewing dashboards	
Interacting with dashboards	635
Managing dashboards	636
Creating dashboards	636
Understanding iframes and Web resources	637
Summary	638
Chapter 25: Custom Reporting for Dynamics CRM	639
Examining the Anatomy of Dynamics CPM Penerting	640
Taking a look at how Dynamics CRM hepoting	
Serving a report through Dynamics CRM	
Report file format	
Working with the report	643
Selecting the records to report on	643
Filtering a report	644
Using report controls	
Selecting the Right Report Development Tools	
Business Intelligence Development Studio (BIDS)	
SQL Server 2008 R2 Report Builder 3.0	
Designing Professional Reports	651
-------------------------------------	-----
Starting at the beginning	651
Using filtered views	651
Empowering users	651
Enabling prefiltering	651
Creating user-selectable parameters	652
Configuring dynamic sorting	652
Localizing a report	653
Using global values	653
Formatting for print layout	654
Refer to the SDK	654
Developing Your First Custom Report	654
Sharing Custom Reports	659
Publishing a report to Dynamics CRM	659
Setting other report options	660
Adding report categories	661
Making reports context-sensitive	662
Summary	

# Part VIII: Extending and Integrating Dynamics CRM

#### 665

# 

e ,	
Preparing for Integration	
Looking at the benefits of integration	
Considering the challenges of integration	670
Defining Migration and Integration Scenarios	671
Integrating data	
Integrating services	
Migration and integration techniques	
Migrating data	
Presentation-layer integration	674
Batch integration	675
Real-time or near real-time integration	677
Selecting an integration model	677
Point-to-point	677
Data hub	678
Enterprise service bus	679
Adhering to Best Practices for Migration and Integration	
Selecting Tools for Migration and Integration	
Developing a custom SDK import solution	
Microsoft integration tools	
SQL Server Integration Services	
SQL Server replication	

Microsoft BizTalk Server	
Dynamics CRM Adapter for Dynamics GP	
Scribe Insight	
Scribe Insight architecture	
Pervasive Data Integrator	
Pervasive Data Integrator architecture	
Integrating Dynamics CRM with a Web Site	
Web site form integration	
Web portals	
Adding Functionality with Integrated ISV Solutions	
Finding ISV solutions	
Some notable examples of ISV solutions	
Data2CRM from CRM Innovation	
CWR Mobility	
Experlogix	694
Summary	696
Chapter 27: XRM: Going Beyond Traditional CRM	697
Exploring XRM	
Defining XRM	
Understanding why Dynamics CRM is a good platform	
Understanding the value of platform development	
Walking Through a Typical XRM Scenario	
Setting up the scenario	
The original process for managing the employee lifecycle	
The XRM solution	
Imagining the possibilities: Other XRM scenarios	730
Summary	732
Part IX: Appendixes	733
Appendix A: Advanced Integration with SharePoint 2010	
Appendix B: Accessing and Using Online Resources	751

Index	••	••	••	•		•	•	• •	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	• •		•	•	•		•	•	•	• •	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	• •		•	• •	7	52	7
-------	----	----	----	---	--	---	---	-----	---	---	---	---	---	--	---	---	---	-----	--	---	---	---	--	---	---	---	-----	---	---	---	---	--	---	---	---	-----	--	---	-----	---	----	---

# Part I

# Laying a Solid Foundation

hat is CRM and why is it cropping up in more and more businesses? CRM systems have been around for a couple of decades now, starting in large corporations like banks and insurance companies that needed a simple way to store and retrieve large volumes of customer information.

As software technologies have evolved during that time, CRM systems have evolved along with them, and along the way they've started to find their way into the center of more and more types of organizations. From small non-profits to government service departments, and everything in between, CRM software is a growing part of the IT landscape.

Microsoft entered the marketplace several years ago, and with its release of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, the company is making a big splash in the industry. And because of the ubiquitous nature of Microsoft's software, more and more technology professionals are finding themselves involved in one way or another with Dynamics CRM implementations.

Perhaps you are one of these technologists who is being exposed for the first time to both the generic concepts surrounding customer relationship management and the specific Microsoft flavor of CRM software. Or perhaps you're a seasoned CRM professional looking for an inside path to mastering Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.

# **IN THIS PART**

**Chapter 1** Familiarizing Yourself with CRM

**Chapter 2** Taking a Tour of Dynamics CRM

www.allitebooks.com

# CHAPTER

# Familiarizing Yourself with CRM

Pelcome to the world of CRM! This chapter introduces you to the concepts of customer relationship management (CRM) without getting into many of the specifics about Dynamics CRM. If you are a long-time Dynamics CRM administrator, then you can focus on the XRM section of this chapter. If you have administered or used other CRM systems, but not Dynamics CRM, then you may want to skim the entire chapter, focusing on the areas that are new to you. On the other hand, if Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is your first significant CRM project, then plan to invest some time into reading this chapter doing so can give you a strong foundation for understanding the remainder of the content in this book.

# Managing Customers with CRM

To define CRM (or customer relationship management), first think about how a one-person company might manage customer relationships. For example, think of a fictitious personal fitness training company called Able Body Solutions (ABS) as an example. The owner of ABS is oldfashioned and keeps a list of customers and prospects in a handwritten address book. She listens carefully, keeping a journal of conversations, and prides herself on giving personal attention to the individuals with whom she does business. With prospects, she asks about training goals (they vary from losing weight to dropping clothing sizes to improving how they feel) and she helps them understand how her services can help them realize those goals. For customers, she crafts a personalized fitness program based on their specific situation and goals and helps them to track progress. Over time, she has fine-tuned her sales and her training services based on what has and has not worked.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Managing customers with CRM

XRM: Extending CRM

Planning for a successful CRM project

# Do You Need CRM?\_

Some signs that a business should get serious about their CRM strategy include:

- Leads that submit their names on your Web site don't hear back from you for hours (or even days).
- Sales and service reps have no visibility into each other's activities.
- Customers complain that their issues are not resolved in a timely manner.
- Marketing cannot track the bottom line return on investment for their campaigns.
- Management has a difficult time improving sales and service processes because existing processes are not tracked and are inconsistent.
- Employees are spending too much time searching for customer information.
- Executives cannot see more than 30–90 days into the sales pipeline.

Without touching a computer, the owner of ABS has done a perfectly acceptable job of practicing the core tenets of customer relationship management! Specifically, she has done the following:

- Captured customer data (into an address book and a personal journal)
- · Analyzed the information to better understand her customers and prospects
- Engaged with customers in a dialog that is relevant to their needs
- Tracked her results and made improvements based on what she has learned

# Understanding complex customer relationships

The concept of CRM is simple, but in companies with even just a few employees it can be difficult to pull off. Many businesses frequently "drop the ball" with seemingly simplistic customer management challenges. Figure 1.1 illustrates how complex managing customer relationships can become when many employees interact with many customers across many communication channels regarding a diverse range of products and services.

Managing all of these complexities requires a clearly defined set of processes and the appropriate technology to manage and automate them. Tools like Dynamics CRM provide a database of customer (and prospect) information, the ability to view and analyze that information across the organization, activity management for engaging in relevant dialog, and reporting tools (often becoming known as dashboards or business intelligence) to track results. Moreover, Dynamics CRM provides powerful workflow rules that enable businesses to ensure that consistent processes and best practices are being applied across all customer relationships.

### FIGURE 1.1

The complexities of managing customer interactions



A practical definition for CRM is the processes, and supporting technologies, that a business uses to capture information about customers (and prospects), analyze the information, make the information available to others in the business, engage with customers, and measure results.

# Understanding where CRM ends and ERP begins

Traditionally, CRM systems were designed to handle the sales process up until an opportunity was won. After an opportunity had been won, the enterprise resource planning (ERP) system would be used to handle processing orders, sending invoices, tracking accounts receivable, and so on. In recent years, however, the line between ERP and CRM has become increasingly blurred.

Businesses began to realize that they needed to reengineer many of their processes to work the way their customers wanted to work — and CRM systems were well positioned to handle this challenge. ERP systems are optimized to handle *business facing* activities such as processing transactions, not *customer facing* activities such as tracking activities. ERP systems are complex to work with and require far more training and expertise than do most CRM systems. Finally, the flexibility of Dynamics CRM (see the XRM section, below) has made it possible to move even more functions that are typically found in ERP systems into Dynamics CRM. As a result, many businesses are handling customer transactions all the way up to sending the invoice in their CRM system.

Where should CRM end and ERP begin? The answer to that question varies for every organization. The following questions can help you make an informed decision for your business. For each step of your process, ask:

- Is the customer directly involved with this step or impacted by this step?
- Are the individuals involved in this step typically interacting with customers?

- Will the customer want to have visibility into the information that is generated during this step?
- By getting the customer more involved with this step of the process, could we improve our competitive position in the market?

# Getting Acquainted with CRM: Concepts and Terminology

If you're new to the concept of CRM, the first step is to understand some of the basic concepts and terminology that are used in all CRM applications and in particular in Dynamics CRM. These concepts are used throughout this book, so it's a good idea to carefully read this section if you are new to CRM in general and to at least scan this section if you already know the fundamentals of CRM, but Dynamics CRM is new to you.

Figure 1.2 shows the functional areas that make up a CRM system. In this chapter, we focus only on the basic terminology that is used extensively within CRM. Subsequent chapters define additional terms as needed.

#### FIGURE 1.2

The core components of a CRM system



Copyright © 2010, C5 Insight, Inc. Used with permission.

# Understanding basic terminology

These basic terms are used across all functional areas of CRM. Getting comfortable with these terms can help you to work more efficiently everywhere within the CRM application.

### Users

Users are individuals that have permission to log into CRM. Users can "own" various records (for example, if a user owns an activity record, then it is that user's responsibility to complete the activity). A user can be assigned to a business unit and to one or more security roles to govern which functionality he is allowed to access and what information that he is allowed to create, read, update, or delete.

### Accounts and contacts

Accounts and contacts are organizations or individuals (respectively) that are involved with your organization. Note that their involvement with your organization can vary widely. For example, they may be customers, prospects, vendors, competitors, partners, distributors, or any of a number of roles related to your business.

Accounts and contacts are typically related to one another, enabling you to see all of the organizations that are involved with your organization and all of the contacts that work in those organizations. This is known as a one-to-many relationship (one account is related to many contacts). The concept of a one-to-many relationship is illustrated in Figure 1.3.

## Customers

In Dynamics CRM customers can be either an account or a contact. As noted above, an account or contact may not really be a customer, but a partner, prospect, or other role. If your organization generally sells directly to consumers, then customers will usually be contacts. On the other hand if your organization typically sells to other organizations, then customers will usually be accounts.

# Note

A customer is typically thought of as someone who is actively engaged in transacting with a business. However, in Dynamics CRM, a customer can be any person (contact) or organization (account) that is involved with your organization. This can include customers, prospective customers, partners, suppliers, distributors, media contacts, or any number of others. When we use the term customer in this book, we are referring to this broader definition of a customer.

## **Activities and history**

Activities are actions that a user plans to take. If you are already using Microsoft Outlook, then you are probably familiar with activities that appear in your Inbox (e-mails), calendar (appointments), and to do list (tasks). Activities in Dynamics CRM are very similar to Outlook activities, but Dynamics CRM includes additional activity types such as phone calls, letters, faxes, and others. In fact, Dynamics CRM activities can synchronize with your Outlook activities — more on that in future chapters.

#### FIGURE 1.3

One account record associated with many contact records

	One account record
Account: AAA Photog	aphy Specialists - Microsoft Dynamics CFM - Windows Internet Explorer
A http://em:	555/Contoso1/main.aspx?etn=account&extraqs=_gridType%3d1%26etc%3d1%26id%3d%257bE 🗸 🍫 🔀 Bing
😭 Favorites 🛛 💀 🗐 🗸	ccounts: My Active Account 🔐 Account: AAA Phetograp 🗙 👘 🗸 🔯 👘 👻 Page 🗸 Safety 🗸 Tools 🛪 🔞 🗸 👋
File Account Create	Related Customize Contosion Contosion
Save and Close	Delete Deadtivate Assign Add Connecton - Up Report Send Shortcut Characteria
	Account: AAA Photography Specialists
Details:	Information (6)
	✓ General
General Phone and Contact	Account Name * AAA Photography Specialists Relationship Type Customer
Details Administration	Account Number Accounting Firm
Notes	Parent Arcount
More Addresses	
Closed Activities	▼ Phone and Contact Info
Sub-Accounts	Contacts Quick Contact Info
島目 Contacts 	Full Name 🔺 Job Title 🖉 Primary Contact 🛐 Mallorie Haase 🗔
B Connections	June Harrington Assistant Photo Main Phone (704) 555-1212
🕼 Workflows	Geo
Sales: 🖈	Mallorie Haase Marketing Direc
Opportunities	Pax
Orders	Web Site http://www.CRMExtensions.com
Invoices	1-3 of 3 (0 selected) M 4 Page 1 M
Service:	
Cases	▼ Details
Contracts	Address
Marketing: A	Street 1 State/Province NY
Campaigns	
Done	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I

...related to many contact records

In Dynamics CRM, activities can be linked to other records, such as accounts and contacts. For example, you can schedule a phone call activity regarding a contact that you met at a trade show. When you open the phone call activity, you can immediately see the link to the contact so you will know the context for this activity.

Activities appear under the records that they are regarding. So, for example, if you navigate to an account, you can see all of the activities that are regarding that account. This feature gives business people the ability to see the full communication history with a customer because all of the activities for all users are visible under each account record.

Activities in Dynamics CRM typically appear in two buckets. Activities that are not yet completed appear in the list of activities. Activities that have been marked complete appear in the list of history.

# Understanding sales terminology

CRM solutions provide a diverse range of sales functionality. Sales people use this functionality to ensure that important contacts don't slip through the cracks. Management leverages the sales functions in CRM to coach their sales people and manage the sales pipeline. Central to the sales functions in CRM is the concept of managing leads and opportunities.

# Leads

Leads are records that you have not yet qualified as desirable prospects for your organization. For example, if someone visits your Web site and submits a "contact us" form, your organization may want to follow up and qualify them. Once qualified, a lead is converted into an account, a contact, and possibly an opportunity. Leads that are disqualified are kept in the database for reporting purposes but are otherwise hidden from standard views.

Depending on your situation, you may find that your organization makes heavy usage of leads or does not need to use leads at all. Organizations that spend a lot of time trying to filter out unqualified leads (those that they do not wish to do business with) typically find that leads are an important part of CRM. Organizations that have a captive audience of qualified leads and customers (such as a public utility) may not need to use leads at all.

# **Opportunities**

Opportunities are potential transactions that your organization may engage in with a targeted customer. They are linked to the customer (an account or contact) to which they are related.

Organizations often struggle with understanding the difference between a lead and an opportunity. Leads are a way to track prospects that you are not yet sure if you have an interest in pursuing. Some businesses generate a large number of leads through acquiring lists, attending trade shows, and so forth. These organizations don't want to clutter up their list of qualified prospects and active customers with these unqualified leads. Leads also lend themselves to business processes designed specifically for the purpose of lead qualification and nurturing. Opportunities, on the other hand, are typically used to represent active sales deals that are being considered by the prospect and that can be reliably included in a sales forecast.

# Understanding service and call center terminology

Included with most CRM solutions is functionality to support the service and/or call center. These functions are designed to improve the quality and timeliness of customer service interactions. Organizations that use these functions also experience an improvement in the quality of communication between their sales and service groups. Internal helpdesks often use this functionality to support employees as well.

#### Cases

Cases are service requests that have been received from clients. Other CRM systems sometimes refer to these as *trouble tickets* or *issues*. In Dynamics CRM cases are very flexible and can be used for a variety of different purposes. You can think of them as mini-projects that may require multiple steps and activities to complete.

Cases are designed to ensure that customers receive a response to every request that they make. In addition, cases can be combined with other functionality built into CRM to:

- **Create service queues:** Cases can be assigned to a queue that is visible to all service representatives. The first available representative can check the queue and claim the highest priority case.
- Auto-assign cases: Workflow rules can be developed to automatically assign cases to specific representatives. For example, high-priority customers can be assigned to a senior service representative.
- **Escalate cases:** Managers can be alerted to cases that have not been worked within a designated period of time.

### **Knowledge Base**

The Knowledge Base is a list of articles that can solve frequent problems that your customers experience. Think of the Knowledge Base as a dynamic library that expands and changes to meet the needs of your customers. Knowledge Base articles can be used to handle phone-based support, can be sent to customers via e-mail, and can be made available via your corporate Web site. This speeds up the process of resolving customer issues, delivers a more consistent customer experience, and enables organizations to track which articles are the most useful in resolving customer issues.

# Understanding marketing terminology

A properly implemented CRM system can aid in bridging the gap that often exists between sales and marketing business units. Marketers often complain that Sales does not work their leads, use their collateral, or provide them with useful feedback on how they can improve. Similarly, sales people often complain that leads and collateral from Marketing are not useful for their sales process. Marketing functionality empowers businesses to connect the dots between marketing activities and sales results.

### Campaigns

Campaigns are marketing programs executed by your organization. Dynamics CRM provides the capability to manage the information, planning tasks and campaign activities associated with all of your marketing campaigns. Campaigns also include the ability to track campaign responses (individuals who have responded to a campaign) and convert them into opportunities. By using the campaign functionality built into CRM, you can generate financial reports and dashboards to link marketing campaigns to bottom-line profits.

# Terminology Review: A Day in the Life of a Customer

Walk through a day (or, more realistically, a few months) in the life of a customer so that you can put the terms into context. Doing this gives you an overview of how Dynamics CRM works and the kind of benefits that it can provide to your organization.

Note: The changes to the list below aren't mine

- 1. A prospective customer visits your Web site and completes the contact us form.
- 2. The information captured on the Web site is automatically pushed into CRM as a lead.
- **3.** A rule setup in CRM automatically assigns the lead to a user based on their address information.
- **4.** CRM also automatically creates an activity to remind the user to call the lead within the next 24 hours.
- 5. The user makes the call and finds that this individual is qualified to do business with your organization and has requested a quote, so the user converts the lead into an account, a contact and, an opportunity.
- **6.** The user find some sales literature that may be of interest to the contact so they create an e-mail activity, attach the sales literature to it, and send it to the contact.
- **7.** Two weeks later, the client signs the quote and places an order with you. The sales rep sets the opportunity to won.
- **8.** Shortly after that, the customer experiences an issue with your product and calls your service department who creates a case to track the issue.
- **9.** The service rep finds an answer to the issue in the knowledge base and creates an e-mail activity with the knowledge base article attached to it and sends it to the customer.
- **10.** A few months later, while on your Web site, the customer opts into a list to receive special offers by e-mail. The customer is automatically added to a marketing list called "special offers" and later that month is added to an e-mail campaign advertising a special discount.
- **11.** Any user who has permission to see this customer record in CRM can see all of the interactions that the organization has had with the customer including activities, cases, marketing lists, campaigns, opportunities, and so on. Any manager can view all the activities of the users who report to them.

## **Marketing lists**

Marketing lists are sets of leads, accounts or contacts that are filtered by criteria specified by the user. Marketing lists are dynamic in that they allow additional records to be added as members of the list over time. So, for example, you can maintain a list of individuals subscribed to a company newsletter as a marketing list.

Marketing lists can also be associated with campaigns, can be exported for direct mail or e-mailing purposes, or can be used to create quick campaigns. Marketing lists also include a very flexible approach for adding and removing members. This capability is important for multi-wave campaigns in which you may want to remove responders in one wave from receiving contact in subsequent waves.

#### Sales literature

Sales literature is a library of documents that can be used to enable the sales process. In most organizations, it is the job of the marketing department to create and manage the literature that the sales group requires for customer interactions. Dynamics CRM provides a means to store sales literature electronically, manage the lifecycle of each piece of literature, and make it easy to search for literature and to make the literature available for sales to attach to outgoing e-mails.

# Understanding What Makes Microsoft Dynamics CRM Unique

Many options are on the market for a CRM solution. Microsoft has made a number of decisions in the development of Dynamics CRM that have differentiated it from most other available solutions today. As a result, Dynamics CRM has enjoyed rapidly growing market share and since Version 3.0 has consistently been identified by industry analysts among the top available options for businesses of all sizes.

# Using CRM with Microsoft Office

One of the biggest challenges facing CRM projects is user adoption — that is, the willingness of users to change their work habits and to become disciplined users of the CRM system. During the development of Dynamics CRM, Microsoft placed a heavy amount of emphasis on the ease of use. As one may expect, Microsoft also did a superlative job of integrating Dynamics CRM with the Microsoft Office product line including Outlook, Excel, and Word. As a result, Dynamics CRM is consistently rated as one of the top CRM solutions in terms of ease of use.

### **Microsoft Outlook**

Microsoft Outlook has become the communications hub for business people everywhere. It is the first thing that people look at in the morning, what they monitor throughout the day, and what they check on their wireless devices when away from the office. As unified communications and social media continue to evolve, it appears that Outlook may emerge as the application that is used to unify those communication channels as well. As a result, every serious CRM solution provider puts a tremendous amount of effort into synchronizing data from their CRM application with Microsoft Outlook. Microsoft has taken this one step further and has completely integrated Microsoft Outlook with Dynamics CRM in the following three areas:

• **Synchronization:** Data created in Outlook can be tracked in Dynamics CRM and data created in Dynamics CRM can be automatically pushed to Outlook. Once data between the applications is linked, it is automatically kept in sync regardless of where changes are made. Because Outlook syncs with mobile devices, CRM data is visible (and can be updated) on these devices as well. Synchronization can be utilized with e-mail messages, tasks, activities, and contacts.

## www.allitebooks.com

- **Integration:** Dynamics CRM is available fully integrated with Microsoft Outlook. What this means to the user is that they can fully utilize Dynamics CRM without ever having to leave the native Outlook application. Learning a new application can be an intimidating and time-consuming experience. Making Dynamics CRM available directly within Outlook reduces the learning curve. Many businesses select Dynamics CRM based on this factor alone — its team uses Outlook so heavily that this integration with Dynamics CRM is a must-have capability.
- Offline Availability: For users who travel and need to have access to CRM data while on the road, Microsoft has built an offline version of Dynamics CRM directly into Outlook. Using Dynamics CRM offline is very similar to using Outlook offline. Users can still access their Dynamics CRM data inside of Outlook while offline, and changes that they make are synchronized when they reconnect to their office network. Most other CRM systems that provide an offline version require users to access it by using a different application. Microsoft has made the offline experience seamless, so there is no learning curve between the offline and online versions.

## **Microsoft Excel**

The No. 1 tool in the world for data analysis is Microsoft Excel. Dynamics CRM is designed to make it easy for users to extract their data into Excel for reporting and analysis. Moreover, Dynamics CRM allows users to save their Excel files back to CRM as reports that can be rerun with up-to-date data whenever needed.

In most CRM applications, reporting and data analysis is a complex task that requires a power user (or even IT expert) to get involved. The integration between Microsoft Excel and Dynamics CRM puts reporting and data analysis within the reach of everyday CRM users.

## **Microsoft Word**

If you've ever handled a mail merge using Microsoft Word, you find that there is almost no learning curve using Dynamics CRM to handle mail-merge activities. The integration between Dynamics CRM and Microsoft Word means that you can set up a template and launch mail-merge project without having to go through complex data export steps.

Mail-merge templates can be made easily available to all Dynamics CRM users. So one individual can set up them, and the whole team can use them. Mail-merge templates can also be used in marketing campaigns to create bulk correspondence out of Dynamics CRM.

Users of many CRM systems complain that they spend a great deal of time rekeying information that has already been keyed into CRM into letters, quotes, proposals, or other correspondence. Integration with Microsoft Word is one way that Dynamics CRM reduces this burden.

## **Other Microsoft product integration**

Dynamics CRM integrates with a broad range of other products from Microsoft to make it an even more flexible and easy-to use-solution. The tools listed below form a framework to extend Dynamics CRM:

- SharePoint: SharePoint is a Web portal development, collaboration, document management, and business intelligence framework developed by Microsoft. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 includes the ability to integrate CRM with SharePoint document libraries. Using this functionality, businesses can easily create document management functionality for customers, opportunities, proposals or a variety of other CRM processes and these document libraries can be shared with customers or partners through the SharePoint Web site. Custom integration to SharePoint can also be developed to further enhance CRM functionality for searching, collaborating, social media, and providing corporate business intelligence dashboards. Microsoft has made the entry level version of SharePoint (called SharePoint Foundation 2010) freely available.
- **SQL Server**: Microsoft SQL Server is the database that holds all of the information for Dynamics CRM. Built into SQL Server is a powerful reporting engine called SQL Server Reporting Services (SSRS), and a powerful report design tool called Business Intelligence Design Studio (BIDS). These tools give organizations using Dynamics CRM the ability to develop an unlimited range of reports and dashboards that can enhance the usefulness of the application. SQL Server is required in order to install Dynamics CRM on-premise and is included with Dynamics CRM Online. So you have access to the SQL Server reporting tools at no additional cost as a part of your investment in Dynamics CRM.
- Visual Studio: Dynamics CRM was built using Visual Studio .NET programming languages, and Microsoft has created an interface that allows it to be extended using .NET code. What this means is that, if there is a specific function not available in the application, it can be created by writing .NET code that is linked to the Dynamics CRM application. This also means that an active community of developers has been releasing add-ons that can provide more extensions to the Dynamics CRM environment. Although .NET coding is not for everyone, it delivers the ability to create any breadth or depth of customization that an organization may need. Entry level versions of Visual Studio are available for download at no cost from the Microsoft Web site.

# **Customizing Dynamics CRM**

It is the goal of every business to differentiate itself from competitors. In the pursuit of differentiation, organizations have found that customer-facing processes are one of the most visible areas to focus on. Therefore, CRM solutions must provide a flexible framework that can be changed to work the way the business does — rather than forcing the business to change the way that it works to fit with a one-size-fits-all CRM process.

Dynamics CRM delivers a broad range of tools that enable organizations to customize features. Virtually every portion of the application can be customized. Forms can be changed to capture unique data. Entirely new entities (also known as tables or lists) can be created to capture other business information. Workflows can be triggered to ensure that users are following consistent practices across the organization. Security roles can ensure that users can see only the data that they have permission to view. And this is just a sample of the customization toolkit included with Dynamics CRM. In fact, Microsoft CRM is so flexible that many organizations are using it as a framework for creating entirely new applications. This topic is covered in more detail in the XRM section.

# Caution

Having so much flexibility comes with some risk. Some organizations have added so much new functionality that they make it more difficult for users to adopt the application. When users are overwhelmed by many menu options or fields on a page, they have no idea where to start. To mitigate this risk, it is important for organizations to develop an initial plan, focus on simplifying the application initially, and have a strong governance process to make sure the application does not quickly devolve into a confusing set of fields and functions.

One interesting area of flexibility in Dynamics CRM is the ability to seamlessly handle both business and consumer relationships. Most CRM solutions were created for either business relationships (account management) or consumer relationships (contact management). However, Dynamics CRM does an equally good job of handling either type of relationship. Moreover, Dynamics CRM can handle both types of relationships at the same time.

Much of this book is dedicated to familiarizing you with the tools that deliver this flexibility to administrators of Dynamics CRM. As you reference other chapters in this book, you will become familiar with the many options open to you to make CRM work the way your organization works.

# **Supporting Dynamics CRM**

Dynamics CRM delivers a framework that is easy to support. This is important for organizations because it lowers the cost of the IT personnel required to support the application and reduces the amount of time required to configure changes to the system.

## **Dynamics CRM administration**

Although other CRM solutions are capable of being customized, most of them require significant technical knowledge in order to make even simple changes. When using Dynamics CRM, most of the configuration changes that any organization will need to make are built right into the user interface. This includes a drag-and-drop form editor, visual workflow designer, interactive query builder, and a range of other tools.

## **Dynamics CRM server management**

Organizations that are already supporting other servers using Microsoft products (such as Windows Server, Exchange, SQL Server, or SharePoint) will find that Dynamics CRM fits in well with their corporate architecture. Microsoft CRM leverages components of the Microsoft networking architecture (such as Active Directory) and uses standard SQL Server databases to handle data. Therefore, routine server maintenance for Dynamics CRM can be easily folded into existing IT maintenance procedures for your network administrators.

For organizations that are not supporting servers, Microsoft offers other hosting options (described in the section "User choice") that eliminate the need for server management entirely.

# Scaling CRM to different organizations

Scalability is the ability for an application to support the ever-growing number of records and increasingly complex workflows that are the result of an expanding organization. Dynamics CRM has been used in organizations ranging from just a few users and a small amount of data, up to large organizations with many thousands of users, millions of records, and complex workflow processes. Implementations of Dynamics CRM can be found from small family businesses to many of the Fortune 500.

In addition to providing scalability, Dynamics CRM provides full functionality to businesses of all sizes. Because Dynamics CRM is sold as a single package (rather than a range of versions or modules), a small business has access to the same level of functionality that a large enterprise does.

# Choosing how to use CRM

Different organizations have different models for how they purchase software. Different users have different preferences for how they access their software. Microsoft has focused on giving businesses and users the ability to choose the right arrangement for their needs.

## **User choice**

Users can choose the way that they access Dynamics CRM and update their data. On the desktop, Dynamics CRM can be accessed from within Outlook, via Internet Explorer, or both. Users can also access Dynamics CRM via their mobile device by using Mobile Express (included with Dynamics CRM). Because Dynamics CRM integrates with Outlook and Outlook integrates with most mobile devices, users can also access much of their data via their standard mobile device.

## **Hosting choice**

Dynamics CRM is available through a variety of hosting options:

- **Microsoft hosted:** Dynamics CRM can be hosted by Microsoft (this offering is called Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online and is also often referred to as "cloud hosted" or "software as a service"). For more on cloud computing, see the section "Cloud Computing and CRM" later in this chapter.
- **On-premise hosted:** Dynamics CRM can be hosted on-premise at the location of the organization using it. For organizations that maintain their own computer servers, this option can offer a cost savings, more diverse customization options, and more control over the IT environment.
- **Partner hosted:** Dynamics CRM can be hosted by a third-party Microsoft partner. This option provides more customization options than the CRM Online option but without requiring the cost of internal IT support required for the on-premise option.

# Leveraging the Microsoft connection

Because Dynamics CRM is backed by Microsoft, organizations can expect ongoing improvements and strong product support.

Since soon after the release of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4, Microsoft established a cycle of releasing Update Rollups to the software every two months. These Update Rollups included both bug fixes as well as new functionality. Microsoft also released an increasingly robust set of support tools through the CRM software development kit (SDK). Expect to see the rhythm of these releases continue with Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.

In addition to the Update Rollups, Microsoft has also been releasing an ongoing set of Solution Accelerators. Solution Accelerators are open-source projects that can be freely downloaded from http://crmaccelerators.codeplex.com. Solution Accelerators provide a framework for functionality that can be customized and expanded to meet the specific needs of businesses. A few of the Solution Accelerators that Microsoft has released include Social Networking Accelerator, Customer Portal Accelerator, Partner Relationship Management Accelerator, and Analytics Accelerator.

Microsoft has chosen to develop a community of partners to aid in implementing and extending their software solutions. There are a large number of specialized and local Dynamics CRM implementation partners around the globe. Independent software vendors have developed an ever-growing set of add-on tools that extend the functionality of Dynamics CRM. With the new solution management framework introduced in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, expect to see even more expansion in the number of third-party add-ons available for Dynamics CRM.

# **XRM: Extending CRM**

Nothing in a business changes faster than customers. As a result, CRM software needs to be adaptable to change. To keep up with user demands Microsoft has made Dynamics CRM more flexible with each subsequent release of the software. It is now so flexible that organizations have started to develop a variety of applications that go far beyond the scope of traditional CRM projects.

# Note

This concept of developing entirely new applications built on the Dynamics CRM framework has frequently been called extended relationship management (or XRM). It is also being called platform development and is even being rolled into the term cloud computing or cloud platform development in some cases. Throughout this book, we refer to this simply as XRM.

Figure 1.4 illustrates Microsoft's shift in their marketing strategy for CRM. It appears that they are increasingly positioning it as the XRM development framework with the tagline "xRM: One Platform. Many Applications. Infinite Possibilities." For those of you who dive into writing code to extend Dynamics CRM, you will note that the coding framework is now referred to as the XRM framework or the XRM model.



Dozens of applications have emerged built on the Dynamics CRM foundation. The list below provides a sense of the variety of applications that can be developed but is by no means comprehensive:

- **Expense Management:** To capture employee expense reports, auto-submit reports to managers for approval and route to accounting for reimbursement.
- Asset Tracking: To track assets (such as equipment) from the production line, to shipping, to acceptance by the customer, to service history and resale to subsequent owners.
- Human Resources and Recruiting: To manage employee and applicant information, administer paid time off and other benefits, store policy documents, track personnel complaints, and ensure legal compliance.
- **R&D:** To create R&D projects, track granular project findings, submit results to project managers for review and approval, and report findings in Word documents for presentation.
- **Project Management:** To auto-create projects after winning an opportunity, manage alerts and project steps, and track time spent on each project activity.
- Appraisal and Environmental Risk Assessment: For bankers to request appraisals via Web portals, manage project acceptance and alerts for deliverable dates, and track historical projects for future usage.

# Understanding why Dynamics CRM is a good choice for development

Using a Dynamics CRM as a framework can reduce the need for technical expertise, provide faster response to changing customer demands, shorten the time required to develop new applications, lower maintenance costs, and produce applications that are more in alignment

with business goals. Note that Dynamics CRM is not (and may never be) a complete replacement for custom application development — but it is replacing much of what used to require custom application development.

# **Development foundation**

Many development projects require rebuilding the same elements such as login routines, security roles, form design standards, and so on. The Dynamics CRM platform already includes most of the "plumbing" that has to go into developing any new application.

Additionally, many of the other elements built into Dynamics CRM are highly desirable for most business applications. Items such as Outlook integration, contact management, task tracking, and appointment setting are needed in a large number of business applications. Each of these areas of functionality can require a significant amount of time to re-create if they were to be built from scratch.

Some functionality in Dynamics CRM lends itself to be repurposed for other business applications. For example: cases can be used to track legal cases, leads can be used to track candidate inquiries, and campaigns can be used to track events.

## **Customer centricity**

To remain competitive, businesses have had to become increasingly "customer-centric." This has been a challenge because most business systems tend to be "transaction-centric." Dynamics CRM has been designed to keep the customer at the center of every piece of information that is tracked. Creating new applications that link information to customer records is relatively straightforward in Dynamics CRM.

## **Business agility**

The pace of business continues to increase. Using Dynamics CRM as a development framework significantly shortens the amount of time that it takes to go from concept to functioning application. It also enables businesses to learn faster and adapt their applications to a changing marketplace more quickly.

Although it is a subtle advantage, business agility may be the most important reason to consider Dynamics CRM as a development framework. Consider a business that can only roll out one update to an application in a given year versus a company that can move faster and roll out three updates to the same application in a year. The business that can roll out three updates is moving three times faster than their competitor. In three years, they will have made nine updates to their application while their competitor will have made only three. The more agile business will outmaneuver their competitor on an increasingly frequent basis, eventually stealing most of their market share. Empower developers to developIn most businesses the demand for application development exceeds the supply of developers. Dynamics CRM delivers two benefits to mitigate this situation:

- Because Dynamics CRM is so easy to customize, much of the development effort does not require a developer at all. By having a "power user" or Business Analyst handle much of the customization, the work can be done by someone who has a deep understanding of the project requirements but little development skill. This delivers a completed solution, faster.
- Because developers don't have to work on projects that can be handled by others, they can spend more time focusing on a smaller number of development projects requiring their specific expertise. Developers are able to focus on the highest and best use of their time.

### The Microsoft ecosystem

Microsoft products are supported by millions of developers and product experts around the world. Organizations that are using Dynamics CRM can tap into the global community of talent that is available to support their projects.

# Dynamics CRM, SharePoint, SQL Server, and .NET as a development framework

The Dynamics CRM platform includes a diverse set of tools. When combined with other tools available from Microsoft, as illustrated in Figure 1.5, it is an even more powerful solution for developing custom applications. Microsoft recognizes this and has begun to position Dynamics CRM as part of a larger application development framework that includes SharePoint, Visual Studio .NET, and SQL Server. Each of these tools is available either as a part of Dynamics CRM, as entry level versions that are freely distributed by Microsoft, or as paid versions with enhanced functionality.

## SharePoint and Dynamics CRM

SharePoint is another product from Microsoft that delivers a framework that can be customized to handle many different needs. SharePoint excels at managing unstructured data and business processes such as document management, collaboration (including social networking), and Web portals. Dynamics CRM excels at managing highly structured data and business processes. So the two applications are quite complimentary to one another.

SharePoint and CRM can be integrated in a variety of ways to provide a richer user experience. By integrating these two applications, a business will have a framework that will typically meet 90 percent or more of their application development needs without having to write code. Table 1.1 illustrates the complementary nature of Dynamics CRM and SharePoint as development tools.

### FIGURE 1.5

The Microsoft development "stack"



### TABLE 1.1

# **Dynamics CRM and SharePoint: Complementary Development Tools**

SharePoint	Unstructured & Semi- Structured Data	Social Engagement & Collaboration	Information Evolution & Storage	Information Rules	Enterprise Search	Across Teams & Domains
Dynamics CRM (XRM)	Structured Relational Data	Interactions, Activities, & Tasks	Information Generation & Analytics	Formalized Processes	Data Query & Filter	Within Teams & Domains

#### **SQL Server and Visual Studio**

As strong as the Dynamics CRM and SharePoint frameworks are, they won't be able meet every potential need that a business experiences. For those cases, Microsoft has integrated these tools with their other development tools including Visual Studio .NET and SQL Server. SQL Server provides a set of tools for reporting, data visualization, and data integration. Visual Studio .NET provides a comprehensive development environment to develop a limitless set of extensions to SharePoint and Dynamics CRM.

# **Cloud computing with Dynamics CRM**

Applications available over the Internet are now being defined as cloud applications. You are probably already using cloud applications for things like personal e-mail (Gmail and Hotmail), file sharing (SkyDrive), or even accounting (QuickBooks online). Two of the highest demand cloud applications are both from Microsoft — Windows Update and Xbox Live. Businesses can choose to have other businesses host their applications in the cloud (commonly referred to as the *public cloud*) or they can choose to host them in their own data center (commonly called the *private cloud*).

Experts are predicting that cloud computing (in particular the public cloud) will grow at an accelerated rate in the coming years. This is because businesses are realizing that cloud computing can bring them many benefits, including:

- **Cost management:** Businesses that host their own applications must manage the costs of the personnel and hardware required to maintain their applications, including hardware support, backups, and other administrative maintenance. They must also manage the risk of bringing in outside experts if their applications go down and their internal teams are not able to bring them back online. These costs are even higher for desktop applications. Cloud computing gives businesses a smooth and predictable monthly payment structure for their applications, something that CFOs like to see.
- Focus on core business value: Although most businesses need IT to function, they do not consider IT to be the value that they deliver to their customers. In fact, most businesses find that managing IT functions can be a time-consuming distraction. Cloud computing enables businesses to eliminate computer hardware and IT personnel that do not contribute to the core mission of the business.
- **Maintaining software:** Computer applications that are maintained in the cloud can be updated more frequently and cost effectively. When a new desktop application is introduced, it can be quite time consuming for a business to roll out the update to all users. Similarly, upgrading server-based applications can be complex, time-consuming, and expensive. Cloud applications are updated by their manufacturers, and the upgrades are built into the monthly pricing agreements without adding any incremental cost. Users log in one morning and a new version of the software is available.

### www.allitebooks.com

• **Ease of delivering add-ons:** Applications that are hosted in the cloud are easier to extend than applications hosted internally. Every business has a unique IT architecture and security protocols. Add-on applications installed on business servers need to be tailored to the unique situation of each individual business. Because cloud applications use a consistent architecture across all users, it is less costly to develop add-on applications for these applications, and it is faster to deploy them into a business.

Think of cloud computing as electricity. Businesses could choose to purchase their own generators to provide a source of power for their operations. However, it is much more practical for businesses to purchase their electricity from other providers. This keeps their costs predictable, enables them to focus on their core business, removes the distraction of having to maintain their electrical equipment, and gives them a foundation where they can literally just plug in new add-ons. Outsourcing application hosting to the cloud brings similar benefits to businesses as outsourcing electricity generation does.

From the very beginning, Dynamics CRM has been an Internet application that organizations could host in their own data centers. Microsoft began to offer hosted Dynamics CRM under the name "CRM Online" beginning with Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4 Online, but it included some functional limitations. With Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 Online, organizations have access to the full range of CRM functionality in the cloud. Microsoft has also introduced a range of other hosted offerings including SharePoint, Exchange, and Azure (hosted Microsoft .NET applications).

# Developing business applications with the Dynamics CRM framework

Just because it is easy to develop custom applications in Dynamics CRM does not mean that you should jump right in and start developing an application right away. In fact, starting to develop an application without a road map can lead to a lot of frustration.

There are a number of standardized approaches for developing applications. If your organization already uses a specific approach, then you should review it and decide how it should be adapted to work with Dynamics CRM. Figure 1.6 represents a simple "Four P" process you can use if this is your first development project.

# **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 27 for example application development walk-through scenarios to get familiar with developing applications in Dynamics CRM.

#### FIGURE 1.6

A simple process for developing business applications in CRM



### Plan

Every development project should begin with a plan. This step helps you to define exactly where you want to be at the conclusion of your project. An application plan can be as short as a few pages or as long as a few hundred pages. Regardless of the length, there are some consistent items that should be included in your plan:

- **Goals.** Having a written overview of what your application should accomplish is always helpful. Start by writing this section first and then come back and refine it after you are done with the rest of the plan.
- **Inputs.** Define the information that will be required as inputs in order to achieve your targeted goal.
- **Process and Stages.** Use flowcharting tools to diagram exactly how your business will use this application to get work done. In addition, define the different stages of the process. Almost every record in a database goes through various stages in its lifetime (for example, a quote may be in a draft, active, approved, and won/lost stage during its lifetime). Define the stages that you expect your records to go through. For each stage, define the process steps and the data that must be gathered.
- **Outputs.** Capture the outputs of your process. What information or results will be delivered as a final result of the process, and to whom? If reports will be required, then use Excel to develop a draft of what they will look like.

• **Data.** Review the plan to determine exactly what data will be required for your application and how it should be organized. Document the data that will be needed in your plan.

# On the Web Site

We have included a sample planning document in the Planning folder. Use this as a starting point to create your own version of this tool.

# Caution

When planning a Dynamics CRM project, your goal should be to maximize what you develop using the user interface and minimize what you have to write custom code for. This results in an application that is less costly to maintain. Business users who are communicating requirements will often insist that the way they do things now must be emulated exactly in Dynamics CRM — but there are often better ways to accomplish the same goals by using functionality natively available in CRM. For this reason, it is a good idea to work with an individual who has deep insight into the capabilities of CRM and the leadership to negotiate with business users on the best possible way to implement their requirements.

## Pilot

After you get started developing your custom application, you should plan to review it with users prior to making it available in production. Dynamics CRM includes a number of tools that enable you to develop customizations prior to publishing them for all users to access. For larger organizations, you can also set up complete development and test environments for your applications.

During the pilot phase, you should plan meetings with a group of users to review the work you have done and solicit their feedback prior to going live. Repeat this process as many times as it takes to get an application that you and the users are comfortable will deliver on the goals you set for the project. Remember that your goal is not perfection but a first step that will deliver value to your business — fine-tuning comes later.

# **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 16 for information on setting up Dynamics CRM with solutions and publishers to manage your custom solution. See Chapter 17 for information on testing your customizations prior to publishing them for all users. See Chapter 22 for information on using the sandbox service to test your application before rolling it out to all users.

# Production

After you have finished gathering feedback and adjusting your application, you are ready to go live and put it into production. Depending on what kind of customizations you have made, this may be as easy as clicking a button to publish your application. More complex applications may involve custom entities, reports, dashboards, workflows, and .NET applications. Remember to build time into this step of the process to train your new users on the application.

# A Failed XRM Application.

We were asked to evaluate a custom application developed in CRM that had started out working well, but users had slowly stopped using the application. We reviewed the application with the client and noticed that there were dozens of fields on the custom form that they had developed. When asking about the fields, we were told that various different users had asked for the fields over a period of time. We then interviewed some of the users and found that many of the fields were requested only by a single user, and in some cases we could not find any users who remembered what some fields were used for.

The ultimate problem was that the form was so intimidating and time consuming to fill out that users simply stopped using the application. In the spirit of providing good service, the implementation team had been highly responsive to user requests. Unfortunately, this led to the ultimate demise of the application.

This situation can be avoided by establishing governance procedures to ensure that all user requests are reviewed, accepted or rejected, and prioritized prior to implementation. This needs to be balanced with clear communication procedures to make sure that users do not feel that their requests are vanishing into a black hole.

### Perfection

Perfection is a goal that you should continuously pursue but will never attain with an application. The good news is that applications developed with Dynamics CRM are easy to fine-tune. Expect to spend some intensive time soliciting feedback from users and implementing their requests in the first few weeks after you launch into production. Over time, the requests for changes will subside, but don't be surprised if your users continue to suggest other ways to improve the application even years after you have put it into production.

# Caution

You may be tempted to add every request made by users into your application. Although this level of responsiveness may feel helpful, it can also lead to over complicating your applications. See the "A Failed XRM Application" sidebar for a real-life example of a custom application that did not work out.

# **Planning a Successful CRM Project**

The experts tell us that somewhere between 33 percent and 70 percent of customer relationship management projects fail regardless of which CRM technology a business selects. The high rate of failure is a sobering reality for businesses that are considering making a significant investment into a CRM project for their organization. The success or failure of a CRM project is most often determined in the earliest stages of the project — selecting a team and developing a plan. Frequently organizational leaders have lofty expectations for CRM, but jump in with little or no planning while delegating responsibility to individuals who have little knowledge of how the sales, service, and marketing groups work. Think of your goals for CRM as a house. Think of Dynamics CRM as a toolbox and the raw materials for building a house. When you are building a house, you need more than just tools and raw materials (no matter how good your tools might be). You need a seasoned architect to listen to your expectations and draw up a plan that you agree to prior to starting work. You need skilled masons, electricians, carpenters, and plumbers to build the house. If it's a large project, you might need a general contractor to manage the team.

CRM is no different. Every organization should work with someone who has expertise in CRM strategies to aid them with drawing up a plan. And every organization should do a diligent job of selecting a team that represents all of the expertise required to deliver a solid result. Few people would risk building a new home on their own or even putting it into the hands of a trusted general handyman — you shouldn't make the same mistake with your CRM project.

# Implementing CRM: A sample methodology

In this section, we provide a simple five-step methodology you can use to guide your CRM project. There are many good project methodologies being used today, and, depending on who you select to lead your team, you may determine to use a different methodology. Microsoft has developed an implementation methodology known as Sure Step that many Microsoft partners use in their CRM implementations. In any event, you should be certain to use a methodology that takes into account the structure and subtleties of a CRM project. A full discussion on the intricacies of project management is beyond the scope of this book, but this section will give you a gentle push in the right direction.

# **Cross-Reference**

Though similar, there are subtle differences between a CRM project and an XRM project. See the section in this chapter titled "Developing business applications with the Dynamics CRM framework" for a general overview of extending CRM with custom applications. In some cases you may have a CRM project that includes some elements of XRM. In those cases, you should be sure to blend these approaches, using the best approach at each step of the project.

## 1: Select the team

One of the first steps of the project should be to select the right team. Your team should be structured to include a Project Sponsor, Project Manager (possibly from both your business and from any outside partner you are working with), as well as the project participants, outlined below.

- **Business Users:** A sampling of the individuals who will be using the CRM solution to get their job done once it is in production. Users from each line of business involved with the project (typically sales, service, and marketing) should be included in the project team. Selected individuals should be those who have deep insight into how the business engages with customers in these processes.
- **Managers:** A sampling of individuals who manage the business users (above). Selected individuals should be those who are motivated to better manage the business through reports and dashboards available in CRM, and in empowering their teams with tools that provide greater efficiency and visibility into customer information.

# Lessons from Failed CRM Projects \_\_\_\_

When businesses begin considering a CRM project for the first time, the first decision that they typically try to make is the software. Factors that they evaluate include:

- Does it have the functions they want?
- How much does it cost?
- How easy is it to use?

Much farther down the list of priorities is their decision about the partner that they will work with to review their processes and get the software implemented in their organization. Businesses that have an unsuccessful initial CRM project and come back to restart their project take a different approach. While questions about the software are still important, their top priorities are questions about their partner:

- What is their performance track record?
- What kind of support can they count on from them?

Learn a lesson from the second timers. The software is important, but a tool doesn't get the job done unless it is in the hands of a skilled craftsman. Find the right partner to make your project a success.

- **Information Technology:** Individuals from the IT department who will be responsible for maintaining the CRM system. Selected individuals should be those who understand the technology architecture and security standards for the organization. If your CRM solution will be integrated with other IT systems, then individuals who understand the inner workings of these other systems should also be included on the team.
- Voice of Customer: Remember to keep the "C" in CRM. Make sure that the voice of the customer is heard as a part of your project. Although your goals may be to improve sales, service, or marketing, none of those can be accomplished without the cooperation of your customers. You can get the customer's voice involved in your project by conducting won/lost sales interviews, measuring customer satisfaction, providing marketing performance metrics, and conducting primary research with existing customers.
- **CRM Subject Matter Experts:** Make sure that your team includes individuals who have both a strategic and technical understanding of CRM. These should be individuals who will understand the best practices in CRM processes and the technical aspects of Dynamics CRM.

### 2: Develop a plan

Take the time to develop your blueprint for how CRM will work in your organization. The time you spend on this step will vary widely depending upon the size of your organization and the complexity of your project. Small businesses with simple needs may require only a half-day session. Large enterprises with complex processes may spend a number of months developing their plan.

### Planning workshops

To develop a solid plan, you need to meet with your project team. You can do this as a single meeting with the entire team, or as a series of meetings with different members participating in different meetings. Regardless of how your meetings are structured, we have outlined some goals and best practices that you should follow below (note that they are in the pre-ferred sequence, but this is not a hard and fast rule).

- 1. Start with Objectives: In every project, it is always a best practice to know where you want to go before you start mapping out how to get there. Executive input is important to ensure business leader's vision for CRM is captured. Remember that the more measurable you can make your objectives, the better your chances will be of meeting them.
- 2. Map Current Processes: The workshops should include ample time to fully document your current processes. This is where you may want to break the meeting up into separate groups to cover different processes. You can use some of the questions posed in the "Don't Think You Need a Plan?" sidebar to help you with these meetings. Have whiteboards handy so participants can visually map out their processes. Users should be very involved in these workshops management is often disconnected with the processes that are being used on the front lines and some of the best ideas come from the individuals who work directly with customers.
- **3. Review a Proof-of-Concept Demo:** We have found that it is very difficult for participants to envision how their process can be improved with Dynamics CRM until they've gotten a close look at exactly how it works. After you have mapped current processes, a demo can be provided that is tailored to show some concepts of how your business processes can work inside of CRM. This gives the group a good framework to begin to brainstorm on the next item for your workshops.
- **4. Envision Improved Processes:** Most businesses implement a CRM solution with a vision of "paving the cow paths" (automating the same processes they have always used). Dynamics CRM can certainly help you automate existing processes. Perhaps more importantly, however, it also delivers the capability to improve processes that may boost customer satisfaction, revenues, or business planning. Take the time to discuss ideas for improvement with the team.
- **5. Review Current Data:** You will also need to evaluate the data that will be associated with CRM. Data that is in other systems that you will need to migrate in to CRM should be reviewed in detail, with mappings of exactly where the data will be moved and which records will be retained. Most businesses also want CRM to share data with their accounting system and sometimes with other systems (such as their Web site) this is a process called systems integration. This can be a tedious step that will be tempting to gloss over, but incomplete planning here is a key source of cost overruns and missed expectations.

# Don't Think You Need a Plan?.

Many business leaders say that their process is simple, and a formalized planning workshop is not necessary for their CRM project. Here is a simple test to help you understand the importance of scheduling ample time for planning. Put three people who will be involved with the CRM project into a room together. Ask them to agree upon answers to the following five groups of questions. See the variety of answers you get and the amount of discussion required. These are a small subset of the questions you should cover in your planning.

## **Sales Questions**

- List the stages of the sales process.
- For each stage define tasks that must be completed, data that must be gathered, who owns the step, and performance metrics for tracking results.
- What is the organization's definition for a customer, a prospect, an opportunity, and a lost customer?

# **Service Questions**

- What types of service inquiries do we receive?
- Do you need to capture every inquiry in CRM, or just some? How will service reps know which ones to track?
- Who handles which inquiries under which circumstances? What do we do if an issue is not resolved quickly enough?

## **Marketing Questions**

- What tools (collateral, etc.) does the marketing department provide to sales?
- How do these tools relate to the various stages of the sales process?
- What is the role of marketing in lead generation, and when should leads get handed off to sales?

# **Data Visualization Questions**

- What decisions does management want to make by pulling reports out of CRM? Include specific details about the content of reports. Does management understand the implications of asking users to key in the data required to produce the reports that they wish to see?
- Under what circumstances should users receive alerts via e-mail (such as when a lead has not been worked for a certain amount of time)? Does the group understand how many of these alerts may be generated and how this may impact the productivity of users?
- What reports are important for users to see in order to know that they are meeting expectations and to ensure that no opportunities or issues are slipping through the cracks?

# **Technology Questions**

- What permissions should users have to create, read, update, or delete data in CRM?
- Which data should be mapped into CRM? Will we drop some records? Will some records be categorized as leads and some as contacts? If so, what will the rules be to determine what is dropped and how the remaining records are categorized?
- What is our plan for identifying and managing duplicate records?
- How will CRM interact with our Web site to make it easier to capture leads, manage service inquiries, or share prospect information with our partners?

### The project blueprint

After your workshops are complete, the findings should be documented in a blueprint for the project. Your blueprint should contain a long-term framework that may be somewhat high level and a short-term plan that should be highly detailed. The more detail you can place into your blueprint, the more swiftly your team will be able to move through the implementation stage of the project. Make liberal usage of flowcharting tools to visually document your current processes and your proposed future processes. We have found that Six Sigma process mapping tools can be quite useful for the blueprint document. When the blueprint is done, it should be validated by reviewing it with your project team, prior to moving into the next phase of the project.

### 3: Implement

Now that a clear plan has been defined, you are ready to begin implementing CRM. The remainder of this book defines many aspects of implementing Dynamics CRM, so we won't go into a great amount of detail about that here. There are, however, a few pointers you should keep in mind as you work on implementation:

- Go through implementation in the right sequence. All CRM solutions should be implemented in a specific sequence. This book has been sequenced to walk you through the Dynamics CRM implementation in the appropriate order.
- Set your sights on making Dynamics CRM work the way you do. In the old days of CRM, businesses would buy software and then have to figure out how to change their business to work the way the software forced them to work. Microsoft has made Dynamics CRM flexible so you can configure it to work the way your business does. This reduces learning curves and can help you to differentiate your business.
- On the other hand, you should also understand the functionality that is built into CRM. Some businesses expend a tremendous amount of effort trying to configure CRM to work exactly the way that their antiquated processes work. In many cases, however, CRM has built-in functionality that businesses can leverage that is less time consuming and costly to implement and can modernize their processes at the same time.

### 4: Validate

No matter how good the team was that wrote the plan, there will always be items that were missed which should be addressed before going live. This can be as simple as sitting down with a set of users and walking through the application and getting their feedback each step of the way.

Keep in mind that Steps 3 and 4 may be iterative. Validate and gather feedback, do more implementation work, and validate again — until users are satisfied that the application is ready for general usage. If you are in a large organization, you may want to take this a step further by having a pilot group work with Dynamics CRM to iron out some of the wrinkles prior to a general rollout.

Skipping the validation step may be tempting; however, the risks associated with doing so are significant. The organization takes the time to train users and get them started using CRM. Then, when they find it does not meet their needs, they may discontinue using it. By the time the issues are resolved they will have forgotten much of their training and will need to be retrained. After a few iterations of this, the CRM project suffers from a tarnished reputation, and it can become very difficult to get users to try to change their work habits and attempt using CRM again.

### 5: Manage Change

The final step of the project is to manage the change associated with a new customer relationship management system. This step includes going live, training users, monitoring usage, and making ongoing improvements to the system. We have called this step "manage change" because most organizations treat this step as a one-time event rather than an ongoing process. It will take time and effort to get users fully trained and comfortable with CRM and to fine-tune it to meet your changing needs. Go into this step with an expectation that you will need to spend plenty of time initially handling training, support, and improvements. Stay in this step with the understanding that nothing changes faster than your customers, and you will be called upon to make the CRM system change with them.

# Avoiding common mistakes

Many mistakes commonly made when implementing a CRM system have already been outlined earlier in this chapter, so we won't repeat them here. There are, however, a few principles that you can add to the list above that will help you on your way to a successful project with Dynamics CRM (or any CRM solution, for that matter).

• Plan your work and work your plan. We've stressed how important planning is in your CRM project. But it bears repeating. Getting the team to participate in developing a good plan, in writing, is essential. Carve out the time to make this happen. Getting some of your most senior people and many of your customer-facing people together in a room for a number of days may appear to be a costly investment. The budget, time, and training involved with a failed CRM project, however, is much higher.

## www.allitebooks.com

- **Start simple.** You don't have to execute your vision for CRM all at once. In fact, it can be a benefit to start with only a very small piece of your CRM project. Most first phase projects that we work on tend to focus more on hiding much of the default functionality built into CRM than on creating new functionality. This way, your new users won't be overwhelmed by a large number of options and can focus on doing just a few things very well. Over time additional functionality can be rolled out.
- **Stay simple.** Although you want to continually improve your Dynamics CRM system and adapt it to changing conditions, you should also balance this with a goal of keeping it simple and efficient to use. Adding every field that each user requests to a form may add little incremental value but may make it much more complicated and time consuming to use.
- Get the process right. Get the technology right. We are frequently asked to perform "CPR for CRM" for organizations that have had a failed CRM project. The reason for failure almost always comes down to an incomplete understanding of their business processes, or an incomplete understanding of the specific CRM technology (regardless of which CRM system the client is using). Set yourself up for success by making sure you have a team that understands your CRM goals at a strategic level and that has in-depth knowledge of Dynamics CRM.
- **Differentiate.** Dynamics CRM gives you an opportunity to deliver an experience to your customers that differentiates you from your competitors. Take the time to configure it to deliver something unique and valuable to your customers that they're not going to find anywhere else. As you continue to make improvements, focus on your customers and how you can deliver something to them that they can't find anywhere else.

# Summary

This chapter covered the fundamentals of customer relationship management (CRM) including some new terms and concepts that are important to understand. At the heart of CRM are customers. CRM systems are designed to put customers at the center of your business. They enable you to capture customer information, share it across the organization, more effectively engage in selling and servicing customers, and track the results of customer interactions.

Dynamics CRM is highly customizable, so much so that organizations have used it as a framework to develop entirely new applications that don't resemble basic CRM (including Human Resources management, for example). The practice of using CRM to create whole new applications is called extended relationship management (XRM). Businesses that have developed XRM applications have experienced lower costs and faster development cycles and are able to center more of their business on the customer than their competitors.

Success with a CRM project is not guaranteed. It is important that you develop a good plan, select the right team, and follow good project management practices in order to be successful.
### CHAPTER

# Taking a Tour of Dynamics CRM

**W** icrosoft Dynamics CRM has come a long way since Microsoft's initial foray into the customer relationship management market in 2003. Driven by a competitive marketplace and the rapid evolution of cloud-based offerings, Microsoft has delivered a significantly enhanced feature set with industry-leading sales, marketing, and customer service functionality, as well as a compelling development platform.

In this chapter, we explore the new features and functionality in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, and the different ways you can deploy and access Dynamics CRM. Along the way, we take a look at the hardware and software required to get the most out of Dynamics CRM. The purpose of this chapter is to help you get comfortable with some of the most important features and deployment considerations.

# Looking at What's New in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011

Microsoft has made significant architectural changes to Dynamics CRM in order to provide its customers with the same breadth of customization and control, whether they subscribe to the company's Dynamics CRM Online offering or purchase the software for traditional, on-premise installation.

A number of significant changes to the application's architecture are meant to more closely align Dynamics CRM with the software maker's overall stack of operating systems and development frameworks.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Discovering new features for customizers and users in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011

Deciding between hosted or on-premise deployment

Required hardware and software

**Dynamics CRM client overview** 

# 64-bit only architecture

For starters, the Dynamics CRM server software, like many other recent releases from Microsoft, now runs solely on a 64-bit infrastructure. While this takes advantage of the trend toward the higher-performing 64-bit operating systems and hardware, it does provide some complications for organizations upgrading from earlier 32-bit implementations.

### **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 3 contains a recommended strategy for upgrading your Dynamics CRM server from a 32-bit environment. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 includes the ability to import a Version 4.0 organization database directly into a Version 2011 installation.

This architectural change applies to the Dynamics CRM server and server components, all of which are now supported only in 64-bit environments. Server components include the Dynamics CRM server and Deployment Manager, E-mail Router, and SSRS Data Connector. Client applications like the Outlook add-in continue to be supported on both 32-bit and 64-bit machines. (Later in this chapter we review the hardware and software requirements for both server and client components.)

# Sandbox service

The inability of customers to deploy server-side code was a major limitation of the original Dynamics CRM Online offering. Because Dynamics CRM was designed to be multitenant — that is, capable of supporting multiple organizations within a single implementation of the server software — Microsoft did not allow their customers to deploy plug-ins due to the potential impact on the performance or data integrity of a co-hosted organization. Microsoft partners who offered hosted versions of Dynamics CRM were often in the same predicament.

Microsoft has overcome this limitation for its online offering and provided an enhanced security model for hosting partners and on-premises installations alike, by incorporating a *sandbox* service, which effectively quarantines server-side code used for plug-ins. This quarantine creates a partial-trust environment which prevents plug-ins from accessing server files and processes that are outside of the Dynamics CRM application. Developers working with onpremises implementations of Dynamics CRM retain the option to deploy plug-ins outside of the sandbox in a full-trust environment.

# **Enhanced pipeline framework**

Dynamics CRM now allows developers to tap into an enhanced plug-in framework, enabling transaction and rollback support. Transaction support is an essential ingredient in many lineof-business applications being built on the Dynamics CRM platform (see the "Transaction Support" sidebar).

# Transaction Support \_\_\_\_\_

Transaction support means developers can group multiple, inter-dependent operations into a single transaction, so that, should any operation fail, the entire transaction can be rolled back. For example, a developer may want to deploy a plug-in that ties orders in Dynamics CRM together with an invoice in a separate accounting application. The transaction may consist of two operations: posting the order details to the accounting system and then marking the order as processed in Dynamics CRM. In the absence of transaction rollback, should the second operation fail, the order details would still have been posted to the accounting system, and it would be difficult to determine whether the order had in fact been successfully processed or not. Transaction support enables all of the operations to be rolled back if any operation fails.

# Solutions and publishers

Dynamics CRM has evolved into a development platform, and Microsoft has responded by creating a customization model that allows independent software vendors (ISVs) and customers to neatly package discrete combinations of custom objects, workflows, and other resources. These packages are called *solutions*, and the ISV or customizing organization is represented in the application as a *publisher*.

Beyond simply packaging up customizations by exporting a solution, customers are now able to install and uninstall solutions quickly and cleanly without hunting around for the various bits and pieces of XML and custom code that have previously been the hallmark of Dynamics CRM customizations.

A new, clean installation of Dynamics CRM contains the Default Solution, which is the system's core set of entities, attributes, reports, and so on. You can add your own customizations directly to the default solution or create a new solution in order to modularize your changes by first creating a new "Publisher" and then configuring the new solution. Dynamics CRM solutions also enable publishers to track version numbers and installation dates, making it easier to enhance and maintain the system. Solutions can build on and complement the functionality of the default solution or other solutions or can be relatively self-contained, modular add-ons that supplement the system with new functionality.

# Web resources

Web resources are solution components that allow administrators and customizers to store a variety of client-side code and extensions inside the Dynamics CRM database, from where they can later be referenced within entity forms or directly via a unique URL. Seven types of Web resources can be stored within a solution. They are:

- HTML Web pages
- JS files containing JScript

- CSS files
- Images (GIF, JPG, or PNG)
- XML code
- XSL code
- Silverlight XAP files

For HTML, JScript, CSS, XML, and XSL, the Web resources interface allows administrators and customizers to either upload files or use a built-in text editor to paste in or compose code directly. HTML Web resources also provide a rich-text editor (see Figure 2.1) that supports font styling and references to images and hyperlinks, which can in turn be other previously created Web resources or external files.

### FIGURE 2.1

The Web Resources dialog with the HTML rich-text editor open. Note that you can also access the HTML source behind the rich text.



# **Option sets**

A common requirement in many organizations is to have drop-down lists, or picklists as they are called in Dynamics CRM, which are common across different entities. For example, both Leads and Accounts have an Industry picklist that designates the type of industry in which the person or company operates. In previous versions of Dynamics CRM, separate picklists had to be maintained per entity, creating the probability that at some point the options in the different picklists would become out of synch with one another, or that the option indexes and values would be different from picklist to picklist, making it difficult to reliably work with them programmatically. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 overcomes this limitation with option sets, reusable picklists that can be used throughout a solution and across multiple entities, yet maintained centrally within the solution.

# **Cutting-edge development platform**

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 incorporates many of the latest Microsoft development technologies, including the ability to leverage standard .NET types, LINQ to SQL, and ADO.NET. In addition, Dynamics CRM uses the following development tools and components:

- .NET Framework 4. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 runs on Version 4 of the .NET Framework, Microsoft's core development framework. Version 4 of the framework provides developers with greater flexibility, convenience, and performance.
- **Visual Studio 2010.** Because Dynamics CRM now uses .NET 4, developers can take advantage of the enhanced development environment of Visual Studio 2010.
- Windows Communication Foundation (WCF). WCF provides an application interface to more easily develop service-oriented applications. WCF also enables Dynamics CRM to support claims-based authentication and federation.
- No-Code Workflows. Using the graphical design tools in Visual Studio 2010 and the Windows Workflow Foundation (WWF), developers can create powerful custom workflow automation rules and extensions and incorporate them into the Dynamics CRM application's GUI, where they can be deployed and managed by users. Workflow rules designed with the Dynamics CRM application can be exported and modified in Visual Studio 2010, again without code.
- Azure. For those customers who want to integrate custom Web applications hosted in the cloud, Dynamics CRM now has tighter integration with Microsoft's hosted development framework, Azure. Azure is essentially a hosted .NET runtime environment, a cloud-based operating system. The Dynamics CRM SDK makes use of AppFabric, an Azure service that allows on-premises applications to be tightly integrated with cloud-based services, enabling developers to create composite applications that combine data, workflow, and logic. More information about Azure is available at www.microsoft.com/windowsazure/

### **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 19 contains more detail about what Microsoft has included in the Dynamics CRM Software Development Kit (SDK) and some guidance on setting up your development environment. Chapter 21 provides tutorials for developing your first custom server-side extensions to Dynamics CRM using the new features of the development platform.

# **Changes to the User Experience**

Microsoft focused a great deal of effort on delivering improvements for administrators and developers in this version of Dynamics CRM, yet users were not given short shrift either. Users will immediately notice a number of significant changes and improvements, like the Ribbon menus and dashboards, which are designed to minimize clicks and increase productivity. Collaboration has also taken a front seat with the ability to create ad hoc "connections" and access SharePoint document libraries natively within Dynamics CRM. There are a host of minor improvements as well, including the ability to send Sales Literature by E-mail, add images and hyperlinks to KB articles and E-mail templates, and total record counts being displayed in list views.

In the following sections, we explore some of the more significant changes to the user experience.

# Wider international availability of Dynamics CRM Online

Microsoft continues to expand availability of Dynamics CRM Online to international markets in dozens of languages, with the Microsoft-hosted offering currently or soon to be available throughout North America, Northern and Western Europe, Hong Kong, India, Israel, Japan, Malaysia, New Zealand, Romania, and Singapore.

# **Getting Started panes**

Getting Started panes made their debut in CRM Online with Version 4.0, and are now included in all deployment models. Located at the top of most system entity list views, the collapsible Getting Started panes contain links to how-to articles and videos, and helpful tools like the import wizard so users can begin making use of Dynamics CRM, even if they've had minimal introductory training.

Getting Started panes can be collapsed by default on a user-by-user basis through the users' Personal Options settings, or administrators can disable them globally in the System Settings.

### Note

If the administrator disables Getting Started panes in System Settings, they are disabled for all users regardless of the users' selection in Personal Options.

# Charts

Visualizations can now be found throughout Dynamics CRM's interface, from dashboards to inline charts displayed alongside entity list views. Users and customizers can create colorful, interactive charts with just a few clicks, and set them to display next to the related entities.

Similar to views and saved advanced find views, charts can be either user-owned or published across the organization, and automatically provide drill-through to explore data in more detail. Because charts make use of the security model, they can be assigned to and shared with other users or teams.

Familiar chart types include column and bar charts, line charts, pie charts, and funnels. Organization-owned charts are part of the related entity's customizations and therefore are packaged up as part of the solution to which the entity belongs.

# Dashboards

Dashboards are configurable pages that can display combinations of charts, entity list views, or IFrames that can point at reports, Web resources, or any URL-addressable component. They conform to the security model, meaning they can be user-specific or organization-owned, and are packaged as part of customization solutions. Several dashboards for sales and customer service are included as part of the default installation (see Figure 2.2), and a dashboard wizard allows customizers and users with appropriate privileges to select a dashboard layout and add available components to create highly customized, interactive dashboards.

# Enhanced data management tools

The wizards available to Dynamics CRM users have been made more robust and functional. The Data Import Wizard now allows new entities and fields to be created on the fly to speed data import. Additionally, this wizard now handles a variety of common file types and even zipped packages of multiple files. On-premise and partner-hosted deployments can also take advantage of the Bulk Delete Wizard (previously only available in Dynamics CRM Online), and the Duplicate Detection Wizard has been enhanced.

# **Ribbon menus**

Ribbon menus first appeared in Office 2007 and have become an integral part of the Microsoft user experience across applications as diverse as SharePoint, Word, and now Dynamics CRM, which has a Ribbon that should be very familiar to users of SharePoint 2010 or Office 2010. The Ribbon provides users with contextual menu options grouped by functional area. Users can collapse the Ribbon menu to hide it, in which case it will remain collapsed as the user navigates from one entity to another until the user chooses to expand it again.

#### FIGURE 2.2

The Sales Overview Dashboard, showing several charts and the Opportunity list view. Users can drill into each chart to analyze the data in more detail.



Because the Dynamics CRM user interface is role-based, the Ribbon exposes different options based on the logged-on user's privileges and access levels. This means that administrators and customizers have immediate access to form and view layout in the main application areas without having to navigate to the customizations area. The Ribbon can also be extended with custom tabs and menu options.

# Navigational improvements

Microsoft has responded to user requests to reduce the number of clicks and new windows by making a multitude of both minor tweaks and substantial changes to application navigation:

- A shortcut to recently viewed pages and views. This shortcut, next to the new Home icon at the top of the Sitemap navigation, also allows users to "pin" recently visited items, so they remain quickly accessible with minimal clicks (see Figure 2.3).
- **Direct access to entity views from the left-hand navigation.** Hover over an entity in the Sitemap and a triangular button appears next to it, the clicking of which exposes the views available to the user as well as recently visited records for the entity.

- **Quick navigation from one record to another.** When viewing a record, a new set of navigational options appears on the top right of the record form. The first button in this group opens a small pane that previews the default view for that entity, allowing the user to quickly scroll or page through the list and select another record to open in the current window. The second set of buttons opens the next and last records above and below the current record being viewed.
- **Quick find in associated views.** Another minor improvement enables users to search through lists in associated views. For example, when viewing the contacts inside an account, there is now a search box at the top of the list of associated contacts, which helps to minimize paging and scrolling.

### FIGURE 2.3

Improvements to the Dynamics CRM navigation make it easier to get to the data you want, with fewer clicks.

Accounts: My Active	e Accounts - Microsoft Dynamics CF	M - Windows Internet Ex	plorer				- P E
🚱 🕞 🗢 🔟 https://c	Sinsight.crm3. <b>dynamics.com</b> /main.aspx#				. م		
😭 Favorites 🛛 🍰 🛵 M	licrosoft Dynamics CRM 🔊 Microsoft	Dynamics CRM '					
Accounts: My Active A	ccounts - Microsoft Dyna				<b>☆</b> • ⊠	🔻 🖃 🖶 💌 Page 🔻	Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶
File Accounts View	ws Create Related Customize						Matt Wittemann @ C5 Insight Sign Out 🔺
Workplace	Accounts: My Active Acco	unts▼				Search for record	s P
My Work	Recently Visited						
🕼 Get Started	🕝 Dashboards	Views		bne	Address 1: City	Primary Contact	E-mail (Primary Conta
🕝 Dashboards	🖼 Get Started 🛛 🖓	A My Active Accounts	_Det				<b>^</b>
Activities		A Machine Incode	-	-7600	Milhouse		
16 UI Scripts		My Spen Leads	-13	-9366	Charlotte		
Toports							
Duplicate Detection							
a Queues				6965×14	Charlotte		
Articles					Austin		
Reports		1		1906	High Point		
Announcements	AmeriCo Group Inc.		(704) 92	-4616	Charlotte		
Customers	🐥 🕨 📄 Amrapur Overseas Incorp	orated	(704) 54	8-9118	Charlotte		
Accounts	Anchor Funding Services	, Inc.	901-377	8586	Memphis		
Fytensions	Apollo Management, L.P.						
Depiede	Apparel Ventures, Inc.						
Lige Projects	🕨 🗁 🛛 Arlee Home Fashions, Inc						
	Arlp Inc.				Charlotte		
	Arnold Zimberg		(704)442	-8880	Charlotte		
Workplace	Bank-Miller Co., Inc.		(704) 30	-4973	Charlotte		
LE Salar	BC Partners		(256)963	-3632	Simpsonville		
EB area	Belton Industries, Inc.		(704) 55;	-2828	Charlotte		
🖄 Marketing	Ben Wachter Associates.	Inc.	704-377	0265	Charlotte		
Service	Berkshire Blanket, Inc.						
							¥
Settings	1 - 50 of 153 (1 selected)						H. d. Page 1 🕨
Resource Center	All # A R		1 1/-	1	N O P	0 0 5 7 1	
and the source center	AII + A B C D	C F G H I	<u>, к</u>	L M	NOP	Q R S I L	
Done		<u></u>	P	<b>e</b>	nternet   Protected	Mode: On	🖓 👻 🔍 100% 🔻

# Filterable columns in views

Views can now be filtered on the fly without opening Advanced Find. Clicking the Filter button on the Ribbon menu adds a filter icon to the list view column headings. Based on a concept similar to the filtering capabilities in Excel, clicking on the filter icon on the column heading opens a small dialog in which the user can quickly select filtering criteria.

# **Role-based forms**

Entity forms that display differently based on the logged-on user's security role represent a significant improvement in the Dynamics CRM user experience. To achieve an approximation of role-based forms in previous versions required the customizer to employ a variety of mostly unsupported JavaScript hacks to the form object model. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 now provides true role-based forms tightly integrated with the existing security role scheme, a long-awaited feature.

# Form customization and layout

Form customization and layout has undergone a major overhaul. Most notably, tabs have given way to collapsible form areas (though these areas are still referred to as tabs in some documentation). The immediate implication of this change is that users will now be scrolling down a form rather than clicking on tabs to access different groups of sections. This change is sure to be the source of much debate amongst longtime users of Dynamics CRM.

Other changes to the form include

- Headers and footers. Forms have configurable headers and footers, keeping important information visible even as the user scrolls or jumps down the form.
- **Side-by-side sections.** Two form sections can be positioned next to each other on the form, allowing more flexibility in form layout. For example, IFrames can be configured to span only one column, and a separate section with fields can be placed next to it.
- **Sub-grids displayed inline on forms.** Associated lists of related entities can be displayed inline on forms. A frequent customization utilizing custom code in previous versions of Dynamics CRM showed activity or history views on Lead or Contact forms. With this release, this functionality is part of the native form customization toolset.
- **Filtered lookups.** Limiting lookup dialogs to records related to the starting record is another feature that previously required extensive customization or a third-party add-on, and which is now a part of the form customizations in Dynamics CRM.

# Team ownership of records

Teams have been given expanded capabilities in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 and can now be assigned ownership of records. Teams are assigned Security Roles in the same way as users.

# **Field-level security**

Dynamics CRM security roles have long provided highly granular control of access and privileges at the entity level. This control has now been extended down to custom fields. System fields cannot be configured to use field-level security. Field security profiles are a new construct used to define the privileges users have on selected fields.

# Note

Configuring a large number of fields with field-level security can have a negative impact on performance. Due to the way that security roles and access roles are used to calculate a user's permissions on the fields, users may experience delays when attempting to open records with many secured fields. Generally speaking, this should not be an issue when only five or ten fields are secured. Careful consideration and testing should be employed when configuring field-level security.

# **Field changes**

Fields (formerly called attributes) also have seen some significant changes, with a redefined set of data types. Customizers can also create a lookup field just as easily as creating other types of fields, and the underlying N:1 relationship is automatically created by the platform.

# **Recurring appointments**

In addition to regular appointments, a new activity type called Recurring Appointments is available with familiar options to create weekly, monthly, or yearly recurrence. The Dynamics CRM calendar will display only the next 15 recurrences.

# **Custom activities**

For the first time, customizers can create custom activity types just as easily as creating a new entity. Custom activities will appear in the associated activity and history views on related records and share many of the other attributes of activities. However, be aware that custom activities do not synchronize to Outlook.

# Dialogs

Dialogs are designed to prompt users, such as call center representatives, as they capture information in a directed manner. In addition to configurable, branching scripts made up of interdependent statements, Dynamics CRM keeps a running log of completed and canceled dialogs in the form of Dialog Sessions. Dialogs present some interesting possibilities for businesses whose data-entry requirements follow a well-defined path or branching logic. With some creativity, Dialogs may also be combined with custom Ribbon menu items to replace standard dialogs such as the Lead conversion dialog, or the Case resolution dialog.

# Auditing

Both system and custom entities can be audited, with field changes recorded in a special audit activity, visible from audit-enabled records. Auditing must be enabled at the entity level before flagging each of the desired fields for auditing.

# SharePoint integration

Dynamics CRM now includes the ability to programmatically interact with SharePoint sites and document libraries (see Figure 2.4). When properly configured, Dynamics CRM can create and display integrated document libraries related to individual Dynamics CRM records. Users have full SharePoint functionality, such as check-in/check-out, document properties, and so on directly within the Dynamics CRM interface. In addition, SharePoint document libraries and folders can be created through workflow automation.

### FIGURE 2.4

Seamless access to SharePoint document libraries, with full SharePoint functionality embedded in Dynamics CRM, can be a tremendous boost to productivity.

🥔 Account: Advanced Components (sample) - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer		
💭 🕞 🖉 http://192.168.16.35:5555/SuccessAccelerators/main.aspx?etn=account&extraqs=_gridType%3d1%26etc%3 🔹 🐓 🗙 🗔 Bing		<u>م</u>
🏠 Favorites 🛛 😸 🔹 🏄 Accounts: My Active Acco 🕅 🙀 Account: Advanced Co 🗙 👘 💌 🖾 👘 💌	Page ▼ Safety ▼ To	iols 🕶 🔞 🕶
File Documents	Success Ac	C5 Admin 🙆
Acida Editoria		
General Advanced Components (sample)	Accounts	▼ ± ₽
- Administration Document Locations: Documents on Default Site Collection 0 -		
Notes		2
Name N Check Out By	r	3
A Common Conservation Converted Con		
Invoices      Service      Contracts     Status     Active	И	Page 1 🕨
Done	<b>€ €</b>	R 100% -

# Connections

Connections allow users to create ad hoc relationships between records. This is similar to the functionality of the Relationship entity introduced in Version 3.0. Relationships though are limited to Accounts, Contacts, and Opportunities, whereas Connections can work across all entity types. Like Relationships, Connections depend on administrators setting up predefined roles. Relationships, while still functional in upgraded systems, are being deprecated and are hidden by default in new installations of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.

# **Outlook integration**

The Outlook experience has been redesigned to take advantage of the rich GUI in Outlook 2007 and 2010. While the core functions of tracking e-mail and regarding it to Dynamics CRM records remain unchanged, significant improvements have been made to the navigation and interface. One example is that records can be selected in list views and displayed in the Outlook preview pane, in just the same way as e-mail messages are previewed. The last section in this chapter, "Accessing Dynamics CRM," provides more detail on the changes to the Outlook client.

# **Changes to queues**

Queues have been given a facelift as well, with new, clearer names for default user queues, and the ability to flexibly route records between queues. In addition, all entities can now be configured so they are assignable to queues. Note that after an entity is queue-enabled, it cannot be changed back.

# **Choosing a Deployment Option**

"The Power of Choice." This is a phrase that has been used heavily by Microsoft to describe their strategy for Dynamics CRM, as well as other recent software products. In the case of Dynamics CRM, this choice is more powerful and more compelling than ever before. With the significant architectural changes to the program, the possibilities for extending Dynamics CRM Online are now nearly as limitless as with the On-Premise version.

Certainly, there are differences in how the online offering can be extended, but technologies like Azure and the Sandbox service have made the range of possibilities virtually identical. In this section we'll clarify the differences between the deployment options and list the factors you should consider when making this significant choice.

# Understanding the differences among online, on-premise, and partner-hosted options

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is available through three deployment options:

- Online. Hosted in Microsoft data centers
- On-Premises. Installed on your company's servers
- Partner-Hosted. Hosted by a Microsoft partner

### **Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online**

Microsoft's Dynamics CRM Online offering is delivered as a true on-demand service with a quick and easy sign-up, monthly billing, and all the benefits associated with software-as-a-service (SaaS), or, in Microsoft lingo, Software + Services. Dynamics CRM Online takes advantage of the multi-tenant architecture of the application — in fact, the primary reason Microsoft designed Dynamics CRM to be multitenant was so that they could offer it as an online service.

### **On-premises**

Of course, Dynamics CRM is also available as traditional software that can be installed on your company's servers. It is available through the standard Microsoft licensing channels and comes in two basic "sizes" to fit your organization: a Workgroup edition, which is limited to five users and which allows only one tenant organization to be installed and operational at a time; and the Professional edition, which is fully multitenant.

#### **Partner-hosted**

Microsoft partners can sign a SPLA — a Services Provider License Agreement — and host Dynamics CRM in their own data centers or collocation facilities. SPLA partners may offer multitenant subscriptions or dedicated servers, depending on their business models and customer requirements. SPLA partners also offer their own payment methods.

Though the codebase is the same across the various deployment options, there are some significant differences. Table 2.1 lists some of the major differences between the Microsofthosted Dynamics CRM Online and the on-premises versions. Because each hosting partner is different, this table does not include a comparison of the Partner-Hosted option, though you can use it as a guide to ask questions if you are considering this option.

		c options
Feature	Online (Microsoft-hosted)	On-Premises
Multiple Organizations	No.	Yes. Multiple tenant organizations can be implemented except with the Workgroup licensing model.
Upload Custom Reports (.rdl files)	Yes. Custom reports can be created with the Report Wizard and in Visual Studio using an extension that enables connect- ing to and querying against the Dynamics CRM Web services.	Yes. Custom reports can be created with the Report Wizard and Visual Studio or any reporting tool capable of producing an RDL file.

Differences in Deployment Options

#### TABLE 2.1

Feature	Online (Microsoft-hosted)	On-Premises		
Host Custom Web Applications	No. Web resources allow only straight HTML, not .ASPX or other server-side Web applications, to be hosted within the Dynamics CRM Web site. Azure is the recommended method of hosting custom Web applications for use with Dynamics CRM Online.	Yes. On-premises installations of Dynamics CRM include an "ISV" folder within the Web site root, which can be used to host custom Web applications.		
Full-Trust Plug-ins	No. Plug-ins deployed to Dynamics CRM Online must reside within the Sandbox service, which gives the plug- ins only partial trust.	Yes. Developers can choose whether to deploy a plug-in outside of the Sandbox service in order to leverage full-trust.		
Read-only User Licenses	No. Security roles can be configured to limit a user to read-only access, but this does not impact the cost of the licensing.	Yes. Read-only user licenses are avail- able at approximately half the cost of full access licenses.		
Device Licenses	No. Each user must be licensed and paid for.	Yes. For organizations whose employees use the same device at different times, such as shift workers, Dynamics CRM licenses can be acquired for the device.		
Database Size Limits	Yes. Dynamics CRM Online organiza- tions include 5GB of storage, with addi- tional storage available for a per-GB fee.	No.		
Maximum Number of Custom Entities	Yes. Subscribing organizations are lim- ited to a maximum of 200 custom entities.	No.		
Maximum Number of Workflows/Plug-ins	Yes. Subscribing organizations are lim- ited to a maximum of 200 workflow rules. Plug-ins deployed to the Sandbox service count toward this limit.	No.		
Authentication	LiveID, Claims-Based Authentication	Active Directory, Claims-Based Authentication		
Internet-Facing Deployment (IFD)	Yes.	Yes. Your CRM server must be properly configured for access from the Internet (outside of your corporate network).		
Move Between Deployment Options	Yes. Customers who start out using Dynamics CRM Online can request cop- ies of their SQL databases for import into an on-premises installation.	No. After an organization deploys Dynamics CRM on-premises, the data- base cannot be imported to Dynamics CRM Online. However, options may be available from hosting partners should you wish to move your deployment into the cloud.		

# Deciding which deployment option is right for your organization

In addition to the differences detailed in Table 2.1, other important considerations must be made when deciding which deployment option is right for your organization.

### Cost

Frequently, organizations can become focused solely on the perceived licensing and implementation costs of one deployment option compared to another. Although costs are — and must be — an important consideration, they are not the whole story and will often play a smaller role than expected in the overall success of your implementation.

When comparing licensing costs, keep in mind that although the upfront costs of an ondemand service are less than those of an on-premises implementation, they are continual for the life of your Dynamics CRM use. Have a competent partner perform a Total Cost of Ownership (TCO) analysis for your organization, and compare several different time periods: first-year costs, three- and five-year costs, and ten-year costs. These analyses will give you a better picture of the real differences over time.

Other costs that should not be overlooked include costs associated with planning your implementation and gathering requirements; customization, development, and testing; initial and ongoing user training; subsequent improvements and change management; and maintenance and upgrade costs. For many organizations, these costs exceed the licensing costs.

### Long-term strategy

In conjunction with evaluating the costs to your organization, one of the most important factors to evaluate is your organization's long-term technology strategy. How rapidly will your company adopt new cloud-based applications, if at all? Are existing business applications being migrated to the cloud or co-located? If your corporate strategy is to reduce or phase out IT overhead and move to the cloud, an on-premises implementation may not make sense in the long term. If, on the other hand, IT is core to your organization's competencies and value proposition, on-premises may provide greater value.

### Tip

If your organization doesn't have a documented and up-to-date strategy for its use of technology, now is the time to create one. Organizations that implement CRM systems or other types of business software without a clear understanding of how those systems fit into their long-term strategy are more likely to spend more money and get poorer results. Define and document your long-term technology strategy today!

### Company culture and skillsets

These two considerations are corollaries to your company's long-term IT strategy. This factor is really about how management and users interact with IT. Is there a culture that is conducive to seeing a complex IT project through to completion? Are the right skillsets readily

available, whether in-house or through a partner? Depending on your deployment choice and how complex your business needs are, the skills that can be required to implement and manage Dynamics CRM projects include Windows Server administration, SQL Server and SQL Server Reporting Services knowledge, Web and .NET development skills, business analyst and project management know-how, training delivery, and familiarity with change management.

The implementation of any business application, and the change that goes along with it, are inevitably accompanied by ups and downs, and the range of these peaks and valleys is determined by how much responsibility your organization takes on itself. Dynamics CRM Online minimizes responsibility for infrastructure and server administration, providing immediate start-up and fewer ongoing worries, whereas an on-premises installation provides greater control and more options for custom development and integration.

Your company's ability to tackle the installation, maintenance, and upgrade responsibilities for a complex application should carefully be weighed when considering an on-premises implementation versus a hosted offering.

### **Business requirements**

Each business has unique requirements. Whether it's a distinctive sales process or regulatory compliance mandates, unique requirements are often one of the key determinants in a company's choice of deployment modes. For example, some firms' data security policies do not permit customer data to be stored off-premises, making hosted offerings a non-starter. On the other hand, if you are not bound by restrictive data policies, and the customization options of Dynamics CRM Online will suit your business requirements, an on-premises installation may be overkill. The key to evaluating these criteria is to understand the driving forces behind your company's decision to implement Dynamics CRM, and what its non-negotiable requirements are.

### **Integration plans**

Because Dynamics CRM is a modern n-tier application with a separation between the application layer and the data layer, all inbound data integration should go through the Dynamics CRM Web services interface (as opposed to direct integration to the database layer in SQL Server). Outbound integration from Dynamics CRM can use either the Web services API or the database's filtered views.

This means that from a technical standpoint, integrating Dynamics CRM with an accounting system or another business application is possible regardless of the deployment choice. For example, Microsoft offers free integration between Dynamics CRM Online and Dynamics GP (an accounting application popular among many small to mid-sized businesses).

### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 25 for an in-depth discussion of integration options and considerations.

# Server Roles.

Keep in mind that Dynamics CRM is an n-tier application, meaning that it can be installed on as few or as many servers as a given implementation requires. There are three basic layers: the application layer (the Dynamics CRM Web site), the platform layer (the Asynchronous service and plug-in pipeline), and the data layer housed in the SQL Server databases. All of these layers can be installed on as few as two servers, with the application and platform components on one server and the database on another; or it can be installed on a Web farm with multiple application servers, separate platform servers, and a cluster of SQL Servers. Each of these scenarios will have implications for your planning and implementation, as well as the required hardware and software to support it. Throw in the potential to combine virtual environments with physical servers, and it's easy to see how the list of requirements can change from implementation to implementation. Chapters 3 and 4 go into more detail on how to architect your system and install or upgrade the Dynamics CRM server and related components.

Depending on your business requirements — whether you'll be integrating your systems in real-time or by batch processes, the volume of data you'll be integrating, and whether you'll be synchronizing data in one or two directions — performance can often be better controlled and throughput increased with an on-premises integration. Simply put, if you'll be sending a lot of data back and forth in real-time, any cloud-based application can present an additional set of challenges for the integrator.

### The appeal of on-demand software

Lastly, there is no denying the appeal to business decision makers of on-demand software: lower cost of entry, minimal maintenance overhead, and simplicity all make compelling arguments for the online delivery model. Further, today's business application users often want the latest versions of a software package rolled out to them quickly and seamlessly. Cloudbased systems like Dynamics CRM Online are worth a close look from every business considering improvements to its IT assets. Unless your organization has specific requirements that dictate an on-premises implementation, or anticipates a need to maintain the current version beyond the expected release date of the next major version, include the online offering in your consideration.

# System Requirements

When speaking of Dynamics CRM it is often easy to slip into the shorthand of referring to it as an application, or a piece of software. In reality, Dynamics CRM is a true system comprised of many pieces. When Microsoft first released Microsoft Business Solutions Customer Relationship Management 1.0 (even more of a mouthful than the current name!) it was touted as their first fully .NET business software release. This was significant, because as flawed and short-lived as Version 1.0 turned out to be, it marked a milestone in the maturation of the underlying stack of .NET-enabled components: SQL Server, Internet Information Services (IIS), Active Directory, Windows Server, and of course the .NET Framework. This is no less true today. If installed on your own servers, Dynamics CRM has its own collection of required hardware and software components (see Table 2.2 for a quick reference of system requirements) and is only available for installation on 64-bit systems, and32-bit architecture is no longer supported.

### TABLE 2.2

	Component	Minimum	Recommended				
Dynamics CRM Application	Processor	1.5 GHz x64 CPU	Multi-core 2GHz or higher x64 CPU (Microsoft recommends the AMD Opteron or Intel Xeon processors)				
	RAM	1GB RAM	2GB RAM or more				
	Disk space	400MB available hard drive space <sup>1</sup>	400MB or more on RAID-5 array <sup>1</sup>				
	Windows Server	Windows Server 2008 64-bit Standard, Enterprise, Datacenter, Web Server, SBS Standard or Premium; Indexing Service; IIS Admin service, World Wide Web Publishing service, MDAC 6.0; Microsoft ASP.NET					
	SQL Server	SQL Server 2008 editions: Standard (32-bit or 64-bit), Enterprise (32-bit or 64-bit); SQL Server Agent service; SQL Server Full Text Indexing; SQL word breakers for certain languages					
	IIS	IIS 7.0 in Native Mode with the MS URL Rewrite Module					
	Active Directory	The Dynamics CRM server must be a domain member in a domain with one of the following AD modes: 2000 (Mixed or Native), 2003 (Interim or Native), 2008 (Interim or Native). The Dynamics CRM server may not be a domain controller, unless it is installed on Small Business Server.					
Additional Dynamics	SSRS Data Connector	SQL Server Reporting Services 2008. The Dynamics CRM server must be installed before installing the SSRS Data Connector.					
CRM Server Components and Applications	E-mail Router	The E-mail router can be installed on most versions of Windows XP, Vista or 7; Windows Server 2003 or 2008. For Exchange Server integr tion, the Standard and Enterprise versions of Exchange 2003 SP2 and Exchange 2007 are supported.					
	SharePoint Integration (if desired)	All versions of Microsoft SharePoint 2 with Dynamics CRM.	2010 are supported for integration				

### System Requirements Quick Reference (On-Premises and Outlook Deployments)

continued

### Part I: Laying a Solid Foundation

TABLE 2.2	(continued)					
	Component	Minimum	Recommended			
Data	Processor	750 MHz PIII CPU	Dual-core 1.8 GHz CPU			
Migration	RAM	1GB RAM	2GB RAM or more			
Manager	Disk space	Up to 500MB	Up to 500MB			
	Operating System	32-bit or 64-bit versions of Windows	XP (SP2 or SP3), Vista or Windows 7			
TABLE 2.2         Data         Migration         Manager         Outlook client         Web client	Processor	750 MHz PIII (32-bit), or 1.5 GHz 64-bit CPU	Dual-core 1.8 GHz CPU or higher (32-bit), or Multi-core 2 GHz 64-bit CPU or higher			
	RAM	1GB RAM	2GB RAM			
	Disk space	Up to 500MB	Up to 500MB			
	Display	S-VGA at 1024 x 768	Display with higher resolution than S-VGA at 1024 x 768			
	Outlook versions	Outlook 2003 SP3, Outlook 2007, Outlook 2010 <sup>2</sup>				
	Operating System	32-bit or 64-bit versions of Windows XP (SP2 or SP3), Vista or Windows 7; Indexing service; Internet Explorer 7/8+				
	Offline Access	SQL Server 2008 Express Edition (will be installed if missing)				
Web client	Browser versions	Internet Explorer 7/8+				
	Operating System	32-bit or 64-bit versions of Windows XP (SP2 or SP3), Vista or Windows 7; Indexing service: Internet Explorer 7/8+				

1 This does not include hard disk space for the SQL Server database, just the CRM application.

2 The Microsoft Planning Guide for Dynamics CRM states that the x64 version of the Outlook client is not supported on Outlook 2010 64-bit.

# **Accessing CRM**

One of the most compelling reasons that Dynamics CRM has been so successful is because of its tight integration with a wide range of Microsoft products, especially Microsoft Outlook. Because it is familiar to many users, Outlook serves as a great entry point to users who are new to Dynamics CRM. Microsoft has also gone to great lengths to develop an approachable interface for Internet Explorer, providing similar visual elements and menus. And although Outlook and Internet Explorer are the two most common means of accessing Dynamics CRM, many organizations will wish to deploy either the included or third-party mobile clients.

There are many other ways that users could conceivably access CRM data and functionality. For example, many organizations are discovering the flexibility that SharePoint provides in not only displaying data from Dynamics CRM, but using Dynamics CRM data as SharePoint metadata to define lists and other SharePoint items. Similarly, rich clients can be built with just about any Web-enabled technology, such as Silverlight or non-Microsoft products. This chapter takes a look at the three most common scenarios for accessing Dynamics CRM: Internet Explorer, Outlook, and mobile clients.

# **Internet Explorer**

The primary client that many users will use to access Dynamics CRM is the Web browser. For Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, Microsoft Internet Explorer (Figure 2.5) is the only supported browser, and only Version 7 or newer of the browser will work. Microsoft has designed Dynamics CRM to have the look and feel of an installed piece of software, to look more like a client application such as Outlook than a Web site.

### FIGURE 2.5

The Dynamics CRM Web client in Internet Explorer

@ Workplace: Get Started - Microsoft D	ynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer		
🚱 🕞 🗢 🏒 https://c5insight.crm3.dynami	cs.com/main.aspx#	🕶 🔒 😽 🗙 🖸 Bing	+ م
😭 Favorites 🛛 🍰 加 Microsoft Dynamics CR	M 🔊 Microsoft Dynamics CRM '		
🛛 🔏 Workplace: Get Started - Microsoft Dynami	-s CRM	🏠 🔻 🔂 👻 🖶 🗰 🔻 Page 🕇	• Safety • Tools • 🔞 • 🏾
File Home			Matt Wittemann @ C5 Insight Sign Out 🔺
Workplace	Microsoft Dynamics CRM for your business goals		🗿 Print
My Work  Get Stated Get Stated Dashboards Addities Get Stated Dashboards Addities Get Stated Get Stated Customers Accounts Addities Extensions Projects	nge my Microsoft Dynamics CRM home page		
Sales			
S Marketing			
Service			
E Settings			
Resource Center			_
Done	P (*	linternet   Protected Mode: On	4 - 100% -

### **Dynamics CRM Online**

When accessing Dynamics CRM Online, first-time users will need to create a Windows Live ID in order to log in through Internet Explorer. The standard URL for Dynamics CRM Online takes the form of https://<orgname>.crm.dynamics.com, where "orgname" is the Organization given to Microsoft at sign-up.

### **On-Premises**

Users of properly configured on-premises Dynamics CRM will typically use an Active Directory domain logon to access Dynamics CRM, in which case Internet Explorer's support for Windows authorization will allow the user to log on without being prompted for credentials. The URL for an on-premises deployment is in one of the following forms, depending on the installation and configuration:

- Default Web site (port 80) installation: http://<servername>/<orgname>/ main.aspx or https://<servername>/<orgname>/main.aspx if SSL is employed.
- For non-default Web site installation the Dynamics CRM install sets the port to 5555 (although this can be changed easily during installation): http://<servername>: 5555/<orgname>/main.aspx.

### **Internet Facing Deployment**

If Dynamics CRM has been configured for Internet Facing Deployment (IFD), the user will be presented with a sign-on page in which they must enter their username and password. The standard URL for Dynamics CRM IFD takes the form of https://<orgname>.<domain>.com, where "orgname" is the Organization name provided during installation or provisioning, and "domain" is a registered domain name.

# Appreciating the power of Outlook integration

For the last few versions of Dynamics CRM, demonstrating integration with Outlook was a key part of a sales call, and one of the product's competitive value propositions. In other words, Outlook often sold Dynamics CRM. So while partners and customers have been asking for some improvements and feature-enhancements for the Outlook client, it's likely that very few anticipated the dramatic leap that comes with Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, especially when combined with Outlook 2010. It's a whole new game, and one that competitors will have a hard time playing.

Core functionality remains, and in many cases is much improved. Users can still perform daily tasks such as:

- Track an e-mail or Outlook activity into Dynamics CRM, including recurring appointments (but not custom activities, unfortunately)
- Set the "Regarding" field on an Outlook record that has been tracked into Dynamics CRM

- Create a new Dynamics CRM record
- Navigate through Dynamics CRM without leaving Outlook

On top of this core functionality, users are presented with an interface that may give them reason to forego the Web client altogether. Let's take a look at some of the more compelling changes in the Outlook client.

### The Outlook interface

For starters, the Outlook client interface is dramatically changed from previous versions. Instead of Dynamics CRM list views merely being framed by Outlook, with Outlook 2007 and 2010 Dynamics CRM is fully part of the rich, interactive and user-tailored Outlook experience. (With Outlook 2003, the Dynamics CRM client still provides an improved integration, but the interface is much the same as it was with Version 4.0.)

Someone has said that where previous versions were good examples of Outlook *plus* Dynamics CRM, this version is Outlook *multiplied* by Dynamics CRM. Figure 2.6 shows many of the reasons for this observation. First, notice the Dynamics CRM "wunderbar" button that makes Dynamics CRM as integral to Outlook as e-mail and contacts. Outlook context menu (right-click) options, such as categories and follow-ups can now act on Dynamics CRM records. Contextual Dynamics CRM visualizations, already an impressive enhancement in the Web interface, are even more compelling when displayed in the Outlook client alongside the record list view, and the ability to preview selected records in the reading pane is a huge time-saver.

New features that have been incorporated into the Outlook client, include:

- Views are displayed in Outlook tabs, and are pinnable, meaning users can select their favorite views and have them always at hand in the Outlook interface.
- Views are automatically updated with new records that are created on the server, mimicking the Outlook experience of e-mail appearing in the user's Inbox without a manual refresh.
- In Outlook 2010, a new footer appears at the bottom of e-mails in the reading pane. E-mails tracked in Dynamics CRM show the Regarding button and link to the record, as well as additional details.
- An Import Contact Wizard guides users through importing Outlook contacts into Dynamics CRM, allowing them to select contacts by Outlook category, and helps users identify potential duplicates.
- Users can reorder the sections of a record form when previewing it in the reading pane, and these changes persist across the entity and across Outlook sessions, giving an unprecedented level of user-customizability to the Dynamics CRM interface.

#### FIGURE 2.6

The Dynamics CRM client for Outlook is tightly integrated with Outlook 2010's rich graphical user interface.

이 큽 ㅋ -					Microsoft Outlook				ے ہے ۔
File Chart Account	s Views Creat	e Rela	ted Customize	Vie	200				∞ 6
Drag Your Favorite Fold <	A My Active A	Accou	nts 🛛 🖂 💌						<
Personal Folders	Search My Active Acc	ounts	Ctrl+E)		Q			Charts: Accounts by Industry 💌 🖉 »	
Inbox (37)			. ,						No
Drafts	Downtown Gym				Main Phone	Redmond	Primary	Accounts by Industry	pco
Deleted Items (11)	Fitness Now	l la	Copy	1	555-0135	Seattle	J		Bi
	Orange Street Gym	-	Ouick Print		555-0136	Renton		Si (blank).	de 6
Ug Junk E-mail		and a						Line (Marini)	poi
Quthox		땔	Forward Contact #						h
RSS Feeds			C <u>r</u> eate ▶				-	ò i ż ż	ents
🛛 💭 Search Folders 😑	4	S	C <u>a</u> ll   ▶				•	Count:All (Account Name)	
Contoso1 - CRM store	1 of 1 selected.		Categorize 🕨			<u>e bi</u>	Page 1 🕨	Glick on the chart to perform Drill	
4 Ca Contoso1		W	Follow <u>U</u> p →	V	Today				
D 🔄 Workplace	( TATA	858	Mara h	ŵ	Tomorrow				iday
4 🛄 Sales		83	More	÷	This Week				: 87
🛄 Leads		X	<u>D</u> elete	1	hins <u>ev</u> eek				5 Ta
Opportunities	General			X	Mext week				▲ 5k5
Accounts	Account Name		Downtown	٣	No D <u>a</u> te	Jain Phone		555-0174	
Contacts     Marketing Lists	Account Number			Y	<u>C</u> ustom				
Competitors	Parent Account			4	Add <u>R</u> eminder	ax	1		
Products	Primary Contact			$\checkmark$	Mark Complete	Web Site			_
🗀 Sales Literature					Clear Flag				
🗀 Quotes	Relationship Type				Set Ouick Click	-mail			
Crders	Currency		US Dollar			Accounting Firm			
CE Invoicer	Address								
🖂 Mail	Address Name					ZIP/Postal Code			
	Street 1					Country/Region			
Calendar	Street 2					Phone			
S Contacts	Street 3					Address Type			
	City		Redmond			Shipping Method	1		
Tasks	State/Province					Freight Terms			-1
Notes	4								Ċ.
	A Windows De	rktor	Search is not available						
- 5 🖬	, A windows be	sktop	Search is not available				_		^
Filter applied								□ 100%	+
Dynamics CBN	A shows up	n	Outlook M	/	ndorhar			namics CRM Charts	
Dynamics Chi	n anowa up	011		u			Dy		

#### Outlook context menus can act on Dynamics CRM records

The Outlook Reading Pane Shows a preview of the selected record

# **Going mobile**

At this writing, Microsoft plans to release an updated version of Mobile Express for Dynamics CRM and Dynamics CRM Online. Mobile Express is a free and easy-to-configure mobile client that provides cross-browser support for online mobile access. No Dynamics CRM data is stored locally on the mobile device, and the Dynamics CRM server must be accessible from the Internet.

Mobile Express works on all HTML4 compliant mobile browsers and enforces Dynamics CRM security roles, allowing users full read/write capability of records that are published for the mobile client. In addition to selecting entities to publish to Mobile Express, administrators can configure the layout of mobile forms using a graphical interface in the Customizations area of Dynamics CRM.

## **Cross-Reference**

Third-party options abound for mobile access that offer both online and offline access for a variety of mobile devices including iPhones, BlackBerries, Droids, and, of course, Microsoft Windows Phones. Two of the best-known providers of rich mobile clients for Dynamics CRM are CWR Mobility and Ten Digits. More information about these and other ISV solutions is available in Appendix B.

# **Summary**

In this chapter, you learned that Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 introduces a host of new features that build on its capabilities for customization and user productivity. Among the most significant changes for this version are:

- The Dynamics CRM server is now offered exclusively as an x64 platform.
- The new Sandbox service and Azure integration make Dynamics CRM Online nearly as extensible as an on-premises implementation, though there are still some differences to consider such as custom reporting, full-trust plug-ins, and integration.
- Solutions are a new way to package up a set of customizations for easy import and export, as well as roll-back. Solutions include the customized entities, fields, charts, Web resources, and other components and dependencies.
- Dynamics CRM Online is increasingly available to a wide international market in many languages.
- The Ribbon menu system, visualizations, and enhanced navigation make for a dramatically improved user experience.

We also reviewed the deployment options and discussed the differences you should consider when comparing a hosted Dynamics CRM solution — whether Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online or a partner-hosted offering — and an on-premises implementation. Important factors to weigh in this decision are the total cost of ownership (TCO) and your company's long-term strategy for a CRM solution and cloud-based technologies.

This chapter also provided a quick reference for both hardware and software system requirements for the Dynamics CRM server, related components, and the Outlook client, as well as a discussion of the various ways users might access the system.

# Part II

# Installing Dynamics CRM

This part of the book introduces some of the core concepts you will need to understand when planning your implementation of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, as well as key pointers for successfully installing the system's components.

Chapter 3 covers details to guide you through the decisions around the architectural design process, and the deployment options you should consider. It includes comprehensive coverage of server roles and how to configure Dynamics CRM under different deployment scenarios. In addition to server installation tips, Chapter 3 also covers the upgrade process and steps you'll go through when preparing your system for access from outside your firewall.

Chapter 4 covers the installation and configuration of the SQL Server Reporting and SharePoint integration extensions, setting up claims-based authentication, internet-facing deployment (IFD), and the E-mail Router. It also contains a discussion of the installation considerations for the Outlook add-in.

# **IN THIS PART**

Chapter 3 Architecting Your CRM System

#### Chapter 4

Installing Other Components for Dynamics CRM

### CHAPTER

Architecting Your CRM System

**W** icrosoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is unique in the CRM marketplace because it is just as likely to be deployed for a 5,000-user multinational corporation as for a local business with 20 employees. It is really quite remarkable that its architecture and extensibility make it affordable and flexible for both of these types of deployments, as well as the range of possible deployments in between.

Because addressing all of the potential architectural scenarios and considerations would be difficult, the goal of this chapter is to provide insight and guidance that will be important for the most common deployment scenarios. Whether you are deploying Dynamics CRM for a Microsoft hosting partner, a small non-profit organization, or a large enterprise, this chapter contains information that is important as you plan your implementation strategy.

### **Cross-Reference**

This chapter covers planning and installing the Dynamics CRM server. Installation of additional components, such as the E-mail Router and the Outlook client are detailed in Chapter 4.

When starting your deployment, consider the analogy of building a house: before the first brick is laid an architect carefully drafts a blueprint, the building site is prepared, and appropriate tools and building materials are assembled. This process produces better, longer lasting results than simply showing up with some wood and nails and starting to hammer away. Similarly, although quickly scanning the installation guide, putting the DVD into your server, and starting to click through the setup can be a tempting approach, your organization will benefit dramatically from investing in some strategic planning and forethought.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

- Planning your deployment and architecture design considerations
- Understanding server roles and configurations
- Installing and upgrading the Dynamics CRM server

Preparing for external access

## Tip

Microsoft has provided an Implementation Guide that is freely available from their download site. The Implementation Guide, or IG, contains two sections: a planning section and an installing section. Available as Word documents or as a compiled help file, the IG is Microsoft's guide to supported deployment scenarios and methods.

# **Planning Your Installation Strategy**

Dynamics CRM is more than a single piece of software. It is a system that relies on many components to work together. Installing and using Dynamics CRM requires proper configuration of Windows Server, Active Directory, SQL Server, the .NET 4.0 Framework, IIS, SQL Server Reporting Services, Outlook, Internet Explorer, and a number of other technologies.

Dynamics CRM is designed for scalability and ease of customization, with an architecture that provides many extensibility points. How your organization plans to use these APIs will impact how you deploy Dynamics CRM.

# **Considering your goals for Dynamics CRM**

Before going any further, consider the immediate and long-term goals you have for deploying Dynamics CRM. The answers to the following questions will impact the decisions you make for your system architecture:

- What is the purpose of this deployment? Will it be used for a development, testing, or production environment?
- How many users will the deployment need to support?
- What are the plans for the future of the deployment? Will it have to accommodate more users or business units at some point?
- If you are deploying with a Professional or Enterprise license, how many servers will you be deploying on?
- How much data will the system contain in a year? Three years? Seven years?
- How complex will the system be? Will there be many business units, a lot of system jobs, or complex duplicate detection rules? Will there be a large number of processor-intensive workflow processes?
- What other systems will you need to integrate with? ERP, accounting, and other external applications can place a significant load on network and system resources.
- What will your organization's potential demand be on the SQL Server Reporting Services server?
- Will you be deploying Dynamics CRM for intranet usage or Internet-Facing Deployment? A combination of both?
- Does your organization require high availability, failover, or business continuity planning?

All of these objectives for your Dynamics CRM deployment serve as inputs into your architecture planning and should be well understood before installation. In addition to the IG, you may need to refer to your company's own policies and the guides for other systems as you prepare your implementation.

### **Cross-Reference**

Microsoft occasionally provides guidance for different deployment scenarios. For example, for Dynamics CRM 4.0, Microsoft released a whitepaper that detailed the suggested hardware for a deployment with 500 concurrent users that may serve as an excellent starting point when architecting your deployment.

# Other important considerations

In addition to the goals your organization has for deploying Dynamics CRM, a number of other important factors must be taken into consideration that may impact your deployment architecture.

- What is the current state of your network? Are there performance concerns that may be exacerbated by a new system? Do a thorough review and address any shortcomings or anomalies before introducing Dynamics CRM into the mix.
- Do you have the hardware and software needed, with the correct operating systems and versions of server and client applications? Do you have sufficient processing power, RAM, and storage? Sufficient RAM is especially important on the SQL Servers that will be used. RAM and processor capacity should also be reviewed for the server that will provide Dynamics CRM platform services, such as the asynchronous processing service and the sandbox service.
- Will you be deploying Dynamics CRM to a virtualized environment? Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 supports virtualization, but you should have a good understanding of the limitations of your organization's virtualization technology, as well as the impact on performance that virtualization may have on SQL Server databases.
- Has your SQL Server been tuned and optimized? See Chapter 9 for tuning steps that can help ensure you get the best performance out of your database server for Dynamics CRM.
- Do you have firewalls or other security appliances that will require configuration to permit Dynamics CRM to function properly?
- Will you be deploying Dynamics CRM to a new or an existing Web site? Will you use the standard or custom ports? When installing Dynamics CRM to a new Web site, the default port is set to 5555. However, if you will be using Internet-Facing Deployment, you will need to configure the site to use SSL. If using SSL, it is recommended to use the default port of 443 to eliminate the need for port forwarding or requiring users to type a port number to access the Dynamics CRM Web site. If you choose to install into an existing Web site, make sure that nothing is there that will be overwritten by the install routine.

### Tip

Decide in advance which ports the Dynamics CRM Web site will use, as changing the port number after installation can be difficult, because they need to be properly configured within IIS, DNS, and the MSCRM\_Config database. Changing the port numbers after installation can produce unexpected results and downtime.

> What authentication modes does your domain currently use — NTLM and/or Kerberos? Have you already implemented a claims-based authentication model with Active Directory Federation Services 2.0 (AD FS 2)? AD FS 2 is necessary for Service Provider License Agreement (SPLA) hosting partners and Internet-Facing Deployment (IFD) for Dynamics CRM 2011.

### **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 9 covers tips for optimizing your network to get the best performance from Dynamics CRM.

# **Breaking Out Server Roles**

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is designed using an n-tier architecture that separates the components of the user interface, the Web application, processing, and the databases into layers. Each of these components is referred to as a server role. Dynamics CRM is available in two basic licensing models: the Workgroup Edition is licensed for single tenants and the Enterprise Edition is the multi-tenant license.

### Note

At the time of this writing, the final licensing model and product naming had not been announced. For clarity, this chapter refers to the Workgroup Edition when discussing the single-tenant licensing model, and the Enterprise Edition when discussing the full, multitenant licensing model.

With the Enterprise license of Dynamics CRM, server roles can be installed individually or in groups on different servers, enabling Dynamics CRM to be highly scalable and reliable. When installing with a Workgroup Edition license, all server roles are installed on each server where you run the setup program. This architecture provides a great deal of flexibility for customization and administration.

## **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 7 provides details on how to use the Deployment Manager to manage servers and server roles within a deployment.

# Understanding server roles and role groups

Dynamics CRM can be installed with all server roles on a single server, or with server roles broken out on multiple servers. Single-server deployments, referred to as Full Server deployments, are typically only seen in development or testing environments and are not recommended for production use. In addition to Full Server deployments, server roles can also be grouped together as Front End servers, Back End servers, and Deployment Administration servers. Typically, Dynamics CRM is installed on a minimum of two servers: one that acts as the Front End and Deployment Administration role groups, hosting the Web application and services, and another Back End server to house the databases.

In general, server roles impact an entire deployment, not just individual organizations, so, for example, a server that provides the Front End server role group for a deployment will be the front end for all organizations in a multitenant deployment. An exception is the connector for SQL Server Reporting Services that can be installed for individual organizations within a deployment.

### Caution

Dynamics CRM should not be installed on a domain controller, unless it is being installed on a Small Business Server. Installing Dynamics CRM on a non-SBS domain controller is not supported for production environments, though it is possible and is often done for self-contained development environments.

During the installation process, if you are using an Enterprise license, you will have the opportunity to select roles to install. Installing server roles in groups (Full Server, Front End Server, Back End Server, or Deployment Administration Server) to simplify administration is recommended to get the most out of the system (Figure 3.1). However, any individual role can be installed separately, if desired. If you are using a Workgroup Edition license, you can install all the server roles on multiple servers, pointing secondary installs to the existing database.

### FIGURE 3.1

When installing Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 Enterprise on a server, you have the option of installing individual server roles or groups of roles.

### **Front End Server**

The Front End Server server role group consists of the following server roles:

- Web Application Server. A server with this role hosts the Dynamics CRM Web site. This role requires the Organization Web Service role.
- **Organization Web Service.** The Organization Web Service is specific to individual tenant organizations and is the primary API for interacting with the organization's system and custom entities, fields, and other elements via the SDK.
- **Discovery Web Service.** The Discovery Web Service is a front end API that helps discover which organization a Web service call is meant to interact with.
- Help Server. The Help Server role installs the Help Web site.

### **Back End Server**

The Back End Server server role group consists of the following server roles:

- Asynchronous Processing Service. This role installs the service that handles asynchronous system jobs and workflow processing.
- **Sandbox Processing Service.** The installation of this role on a server provisions the sandbox processing service that enables custom server-side code to run securely in a multitenant environment, isolated based on organization.

### **Deployment Administration Server**

The Deployment Administration Server server role group consists of the following server roles:

- **Deployment Tools.** The Deployment Tools role installs the Deployment Manager.
- **Deployment Web Service.** This role is a Web services API that developers can access by using the SDK to perform operations without accessing the Deployment Manager interface.

### Other server roles

Other server roles are not part of a server role group. These are:

- **SQL Server role.** The SQL Server role is a logical role that is designated by default during installation of the MSCRM\_Config database.
- **SQL Reporting Services (SRS) Data Connector role.** The SRS Data Connector can be installed per organization and must be installed on the reporting services server. It is installed separately from the Dynamics CRM server.

# Server configurations

There are a variety of possible server configurations from single-server deployments to multi-site enterprise deployments. The three basic scenarios described here (single server, Small Business Server, and multiple server) cover the fundamentals that apply across a variety of deployment scenarios.

### Single-server deployment

Installing Dynamics CRM (and all of its server roles) on a single server is not recommended for production environments but is commonly done to create a virtual demo or development environment.

When installing Dynamics CRM to one member server within a domain, the server needs all of the prerequisite software including SQL Server, SQL Server Reporting Services, and IIS. If you are creating a self-contained virtual environment for demonstration or development purposes, as depicted in Figure 3.2, you will also need Active Directory and DNS installed and configured. Keep in mind that to take full advantage of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, you likely want to integrate Exchange Server and SharePoint, which can make for a very complex demonstration image. Installing Dynamics CRM on a domain controller is not supported unless it is a Small Business Server deployment. Because of the complexity of installing all of these components on a single server or virtual server, you may wish to consider using Dynamics CRM Online for demonstration or development purposes instead.

### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 20 for more information on setting up a development environment. Development environments can consist of single-server or multi-server deployments, depending on your needs.

### FIGURE 3.2

Dynamics CRM is frequently installed entirely on a single server to create a virtual development or demonstration machine. Single-server deployment is not recommended for production environments.



- Full Server
  - Front End Server
    - Web Application Server
    - Organization Web Service
    - Discovery Web Service
    - Help Server
    - Back End Server
    - Asynchronous Processing Service
  - Sandbox Processing Service
  - Deployment Administration Server
    - Deployment Tools
    - Deployment Web Service
- SQL Server Role
- SRS Data Connector Role

#### **Small Business Server**

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is supported on Microsoft Windows Small Business Server 2008 (SBS), a bundle of Windows Server 2008, Exchange Server, SharePoint, and other essential technologies. The Premium version of SBS includes licensing for a second Windows Server with SQL Server. If you have SBS Standard, it is recommended that you install SQL Server on a second server machine (whether physical or virtual), rather than on the single SBS server.

When installing Dynamics CRM in a two server configuration like SBS, shown in Figure 3.3, it is not necessary to run the setup routine on each server. During the installation process on SBS, the Front End, Back End, and Deployment Administration role groups will be installed on the primary SBS server (the one with IIS, Exchange, and SharePoint), and the MSCRM\_Config and organization databases will be installed on the second server with the SQL Server role. Immediately upon completing installation of the server, the SRS Data Connector install routine starts. This extension that enables integration between Dynamics CRM and SQL Server Reporting Services is installed on the report server.

### Caution

You should install and configure SQL Server Reporting Services (SSRS) and SharePoint before running the Dynamics CRM server installation. However, make sure that you do not install SSRS in SharePoint integrated mode, as this will render it unusable for Dynamics CRM.

### Multiple server deployment

There are many possible multi-server architecture models to take advantage of the Dynamics CRM n-tier architecture. A typical multiple server deployment of Dynamics CRM (Figure 3.4) will include a load-balanced Web farm for the Front End server role groups, a separate Help Server, a Back End server for processing, and a SQL cluster.

Microsoft recommends installing the Help Server on a server that is separate from the Front End server in order to reduce the system's exposure to denial-of-service attacks. Your deployment may also include integration with an Exchange server (not depicted in Figure 3.4) using the Microsoft Dynamics CRM E-mail Router. The E-mail Router can be installed on a server or workstation that has access to both Dynamics CRM and the mail server.

### Note

One advantage of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 that was not available in previous versions is that, in a multitenant deployment, tenant organizations can have their own base language, specified during organization creation from Deployment Manager. They do not need to inherit the deployment's base language as their own.

#### Setting up a Web farm with network load balancing (NLB)

When deploying Dynamics CRM to a Web farm with network load balancing, enable NLB before performing the Dynamics CRM server installation. Make sure that the servers in the Web farm all have proper trust with other servers in the deployment. This may require setting
Service Principal Names (SPNs) and trust for delegation in Active Directory. SPNs are typically created for servers when they join a domain that uses Kerberos, but additional SPNs may be required for Dynamics CRM. (Refer to Microsoft support documents for configuring NLB in your network.)

## FIGURE 3.3

Small Business Server (SBS) is a popular option for organizations with fewer than 75 employees. Dynamics CRM is supported on Standard and Premium editions of SBS 2008, though it is recommended that you install SQL Server on a separate server for optimal performance.



Install Dynamics CRM on the load balancing servers one at a time, and on each subsequent installation point to the existing databases. After installation, you must open the Dynamics CRM Deployment Manager and set that you are using NLB. For complete instructions on making this setting, see Chapter 7.

A typical multiple-server deployment of Dynamics CRM with six servers, some or all of which may be virtualized using Hyper-V or other virtualization technologies.



# **Cross-Reference**

When using network load balancing (NLB) with Dynamics CRM, you must enable NLB in the deployment's properties by using the Deployment Manager. Complete instructions are in Chapter 7.

## Deploying Dynamics CRM to a SQL Cluster

Dynamics CRM's databases can be deployed to a SQL Server cluster to provide failover protection for enterprises that demand high availability. When planning to deploy to a SQL cluster, configure the cluster first by following the instructions for your edition of SQL Server. Make sure that SQL Server is using Windows authentication.

SQL Server Reporting Services (SSRS) is not technically supported in a cluster (though it is possible). Therefore, you should install SSRS on a single node of the cluster. Keep in mind that, in this case, SSRS will not failover should its server have an outage. Alternately, you can install SSRS on a separate server. The best practice is to have SSRS installed and configured before starting your Dynamics CRM installation.

# Installing the Dynamics CRM Server

With all of the prerequisite hardware and software in place, Dynamics CRM is relatively easy to install, with a friendly installation interface that guides you through the process with just a handful of clicks. The installation routine will perform a check of the environment to make

sure that everything is in order before allowing you to proceed with the installation, helping to ensure successful installations.

Installations can be conducted from DVD installation media provided by Microsoft through your reseller or from a downloaded installation file. The installation generally takes under an hour to perform from inserting the media to the successful completion of the setup. Following this section are some post-installation steps you should follow as well.

# Installing with installation media versus command line installs

Dynamics CRM can be installed manually or by using a command line install. Command line installs require certain parameters in the command line as well as a configuration file. The advantage of command line installs is that they can be carried out programmatically.

Both installation methods produce logs that you can inspect. Log files are located by default in the <SystemDrive>:\Documents and Settings\<User>\Application Data\Microsoft\ MSCRM\Logs folder, though you can specify a location for a command line install using the /L parameter.

To run the installation, you need to log onto the server with a domain account that has local administrator privileges on the server. The user account must also have administrative permissions on the SQL Server as well as privileges to create groups in Active Directory.

To run the installation from the command line, open the command prompt as an administrator and navigate to the folder containing the SetupServer.exe file in the Dynamics CRM install media.

A sample command line that runs a quiet installation and uses a custom installation configuration file is located in a folder call CRMtemp on the C: drive:

SetupServer.exe /Q /config C:\CRMtemp\installconfig.xml

An example of the contents of the installconfig.xml file for command line installation of the Dynamics CRM server with Internet-Facing Deployment (a copy of this is available on the Web site):

```
<CRMSetup>
<Server>
<Patch update="false"></Patch>
<LicenseKey>XXXXX-XXXX-XXXX-XXXXX-XXXXX/LicenseKey>
<SqlServer>SQLClusterName</SqlServer>
<Database create="true"/>
<Reporting URL="http://SsrsServer/ReportServer"/>
<OrganizationCollation>Latin1_General_CI_AI</OrganizationCollation>
<basecurrency isocurrencycode="USD" currencyname="US Dollar"
currencysymbol="$" />
<Organization>My Company Name</OrganizationUniqueName>
```

```
<OU>OU=Users, DC=ADsubdomain, DC=ADsubdomain, DC=com</OU>
    <WebsiteUrl create="true" port="5555"> </WebsiteUrl>
    <InstallDir>c:\Program Files\Microsoft Dynamics CRM</InstallDir>
    <CrmServiceAccount type="DomainUser">
     <ServiceAccountLogin>crmadmin</ServiceAccountLogin>
     <ServiceAccountPassword>password</ServiceAccountPassword>
    </CrmServiceAccount>
    <SQM optin="true"/>
    <Email>
     <IncomingExchangeServer name="EmailServer"/>
    </Email>
    <ifdsettings enabled="true">
     <internalnetworkaddress>10.10.0.0-255.255.0.0</internalnetworkaddress>
     <rootdomainscheme>https</rootdomainscheme>
     <sdkrootdomain>crm.mycompany.com</sdkrootdomain>
     <webapplicationrootdomain>crm.mycompany.com</webapplicationrootdomain>
     <discoveryrootdomain>crm.mycompany.com</discoveryrootdomain>
    </ifdsettings>
 <claimssettings enabled="true">
<FederationMetadataUrl>
https://stsauthserver.mycompany.com/FederationMetadata/2007-06/
  FederationMetadata.xml
</FederationMetadataUrl>
<EncryptionCertificate>
cn=stsauthserver.mycompany.com
</EncryptionCertificate>
    </claimssettings>
  </Server>
</CRMSetup>
```

# Note

Be sure to change the license key, server name, and other variables to match your environment when using the configuration XML above for an automated installation.

After running the installation, you must configure the "relying parties" in AD FS 2. The Implementation Guide contains detailed instructions for command line installs and configuring relying parties.

# **Running the setup**

In addition to the required hardware and software detailed in Chapter 2, Dynamics CRM requires certain tools and components, which, if they are not previously installed, will be installed during the setup of the Dynamics CRM server. These include:

- The Windows Azure platform AppFabric SDK, which enables integration between Dynamics CRM and Azure's cloud-based service bus
- A report viewer control to render SSRS reports in the Dynamics CRM application
- The Native Client for SQL Server

- Microsoft's Application Error Reporting Tool
- The Visual C++ Runtime Library, which is required for the installation process
- MSXML 6
- Microsoft Identity Foundation
- The Web Server Roles for Windows Server 2008
- The .NET 4.0 Framework, which includes the Windows Workflow Foundation, Windows Presentation Foundation, Windows Communication Foundation, Chart Controls for .NET, and the .NET Services SDK

To install Dynamics CRM:

1. Navigate to the media or download location and double-click on SetupServer.exe. The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Setup screen appears.

The first screen gives you the option to download updated installation files (Figure 3.5). Note that these updates are updates to the installation files only. You still need to download and install the latest updates after installation completes.

2. Select an option and click Next.

#### FIGURE 3.5

You can choose to download updates for the Dynamics CRM installation routine before proceeding.



- **3.** After downloading updates for the installation routine, enter your license key. The license key is a 25-character alphanumeric string. It is not case sensitive.
- **4.** Accept the End User License Agreement (EULA). Accepting the EULA indicates your assent to abide by Microsoft's licensing terms for the software. The setup then

downloads and installs missing required software components such as the Azure AppFabric SDK or SQL Reports View Control (see Figure 3.6). When the components have been downloaded and installed, you will see a series of green check marks.

## FIGURE 3.6

The setup routine downloads and installs missing software components that are required for Dynamics CRM to run.

Co	mponent	Status	Message
Wi	ndows Azure platform AppFabric SDK	Installing National	Minimum constant and 10.0
SQ	L Native Client	Not installed	Minimum version required: 9.0.2
talling	y Windows Azure platform AppFabric SDK	V1.0	

- **5.** Select an installation location or accept the default location. If you entered an Enterprise Edition license key in Step 3, you are presented with the screen that allows you to specify the server roles to install (see Figure 3.1 toward the beginning of this chapter).
- **6.** Select the SQL Server or SQL Server cluster to connect to. For a cluster, you must type the name you gave the cluster when configuring it. The cluster name does not appear in the drop-down menu.
- 7. Browse to the Active Directory Organizational Unit (OU) where you want the installation routine to create the security groups required by Dynamics CRM. The installation routine creates four security groups: the PrivReportingGroup, PrivUserGroup, ReportingGroup, and SQLAccessGroup.
- **8.** Specify the security account under which the Dynamics CRM services will run (see Figure 3.7). If you use the Network Service account during installation and plan on using SharePoint integration with Dynamics CRM, you also need to add the SharePoint server to the list of site collection administrators in the format of computername\$. However, it is recommended to use a low-privilege domain account with local user-level permissions on the server where you are installing Dynamics CRM. (See the IG for more information.)

You must specify a security account for the Dynamics CRM services. If you use the Network Service account and want to use SharePoint integration, you must grant the SharePoint server certain permissions within the site collection that Dynamics CRM will use.

icrosoft Dynamics CRM Setup		_ _ ×
Specify Security Account Specify the security account for the Mici	rosoft Dynamics CRM services.	
Security account		
C Domain user account (recommende	:d)	
Logon name:		
Password		
Network service account		
Security accounts for Microsoft Dynam	ics CRM services	
Microsoft Dynamics CRM service accounts:	NT AUTHORITY/NETWORK SERVICE	
ASP.NET or Application Pool:	NT AUTHORITY/NETWORK SERVICE	
	< Back Next >	Cancel

- **9.** Select an existing Web site or create a new Web site. Using the default Web site simplifies user access and IFD configuration because it uses the default ports of 80 for HTTP traffic and 443 for HTTPS traffic, and users will not need to type a port number when browsing to the Dynamics CRM Web site.
- **10.** You can optionally specify the server where you will install the E-mail Router. If you do not specify it now, you must manually add it to the PrivUserGroup later.
- **11.** Enter the organization's friendly display name, the system name for the organization (Figure 3.8). The system organization name cannot contain any non-standard characters. This name will be used when creating the organization database, in the format of OrgName\_MSCRM. You should also specify the currency settings and SQL collation if they differ from the prepopulated values, as these cannot be changed after the organization is created.
- **12.** Enter the full address of the SQL Server Reporting Services report server Web site. This is the URL of the report server, not the report manager Web site. The best practice is to configure the report server before installing Dynamics CRM. Be sure to test out the URL to make sure you can access it.
- **13.** Indicate whether you want to participate in the Customer Experience Improvement Program.

You cannot change the currency settings or SQL collation after the organization is created.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Setup	_ 🗆 🗡
Specify Organization Settings Specify settings for your organization for this deployment of Microsoft Dynamics CRM.	
Display name:	_
Name:	
Select the base currency for this organization. The base currency is used for financial data, su as reporting, profit and loss statements, and balance sheets. After the base currency is set, it cannot be changed.	ich
ISD currency code: Currency name: USD Browse US Dollar	
Currency symbol: Currency precision:	
Select the SQL collation for this organization. The collation defines comparison and sort-orderi for items. After the collation is set, it cannot be changed.	ng
SQL Collation:	
Latin1_General_CI_AI	
< Back Next>	Cancel

**14.** Select whether you want to use Microsoft Update to keep Dynamics CRM up-to-date. This new feature for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 helps administrators keep the system updated in the same manner as most other Microsoft software.

The setup program validates the settings you have selected and your server configuration, and alerts you if anything is amiss (Figure 3.9). The Help button launches the Environment Diagnostics Wizard help file that contains information on many common warnings and errors.

- 15. Fix any warnings or errors before proceeding.
- **16.** The setup routine displays a summary of the options you have selected. If you are satisfied with your selections, proceed with the install. When the installation is complete, you will be presented with a screen indicating the success or failure of the installation, with a link to the installation logs (see Figure 3.10). If your installation was successful, you can also select whether to immediately launch the installation of the reporting services data connector extensions.

The setup routine will perform a series of verification checks to ensure that your selections and server configuration meet Dynamics CRM's system requirements.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Setup	_ 🗆 🗙
System Requirements Review the results of the verification tasks. To troubleshoot any errors or warnings that occur, click Help.	
Verification Descriptions and Results  Microsoft Windows® Operating System  Microsoft Dynamics CRM Server User Input Internet Information Services (IIS) Microsoft SQL Server" Microsoft SQL Server Reporting Services Active Directory®	]
Success:47 Warnings:1 Details Help Errors:0	
< Back Next > Ca	ncel

#### FIGURE 3.10

When the installation is complete, you can immediately launch the setup for the reporting services data connector extensions. The extensions should be installed on the server where SSRS is installed.



# Completing the installation

After your installation is complete, there are several steps you may be required to complete in order for Dynamics CRM to function properly, depending on your deployment configuration.

## Installing the SRS Data Connector Extensions

Dynamics CRM reports will not work until you have installed the SSRS connector. This extension enables client requests to be passed through the Dynamics CRM application server to the report server.

## Configuring relying parties for claims-based authentication

Additionally, if you plan on allowing users to access the system from the Internet, you must configure Internet-Facing Deployment (IFD). In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, IFD relies on the proper configuration of claims-based authentication (CBA). CBA is managed by Active Directory Federation Services 2.0 (AD FS 2). AD FS 2 must be configured to enable claims from Dynamics CRM users logging in from the Internet.

# **Cross-Reference**

After completing the installation of the Dynamics CRM server, you must install the SQL Server Reporting Services connector. Without these extensions, reports will not function. You must also configure the relying parties for claims-based authentication if you plan on using Internet-Facing Deployment. See Chapter 4 for instructions on installing the SSRS connector and configuring relying parties with AD FS 2.

#### Installing other server roles

You can now proceed to install other server roles.

Using the Enterprise Edition license key, you can select individual roles or role groups as you progress from server to server. Make sure to test your installation and backup databases between each subsequent server roles installation.

# **Upgrading the Dynamics CRM Server**

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 has been designed to facilitate rapid and reliable upgrades via a variety of upgrade paths. Before conducting your upgrade, you should thoroughly document your upgrade plans and understand the possible upgrade paths available to your organization based on your current deployment.

# Planning your upgrade

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 supports upgrades only from Version 4.0. It is not possible to upgrade directly from a version earlier than 4.0 to Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011. In that situation, you must first upgrade to Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0 and then upgrade to the current version.

# **Checking your current system**

After upgrading a software system as integral to users' work as Dynamics CRM, some users may explore areas of the application that they did not use in previous versions, and mistakenly identify performance issues as appearing only after the upgrade. In order to avoid this, and to assist with providing your users with optimal performance, before conducting an upgrade of Dynamics CRM, test your current deployment to establish performance benchmarks and solicit input from your users to document existing problem areas. Fix any performance bottlenecks that you can identify, and plan on testing them after the upgrade as well.

If you have third-party add-ons for Dynamics CRM, or extensive custom code in the form of plug-ins, workflow extensions, client-side scripts, or custom Web applications in the ISV folder, be sure to clearly document them and review them with the vendor or your implementation partner to make sure they will work after the upgrade. If your third-party add-ons were built using the Version 4.0 SDK, they should upgrade without issue because Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 includes a backwards compatible Web services endpoint.

# Moving to 64-bit hardware

Whereas Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0 ran on both 32-bit and 64-bit operating systems, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 requires a 64-bit application server. This is because Microsoft and most major software companies are moving to 64-bit platforms, which provide greater performance and speed than their older 32-bit counterparts. However, many organizations are still running 32-bit hardware. In order to upgrade to Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, these organizations will need to purchase 64-bit hardware (or move to a Microsoft or partner-hosted deployment).

One potential upgrade path to move from a 32-bit environment to a 64-bit environment is to install Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 on a new 64-bit environment. Then, move the Version 4.0 database to the new environment and import the organization into the Version 2011 deployment. The import process will upgrade the Version 4.0 organization. This upgrade path is covered in more detail later in this chapter.

# **Going virtual**

If your organization has not already done so, upgrading provides an excellent opportunity to incorporate today's virtualization technologies in your Dynamics CRM deployment. Virtualization provides numerous benefits for both production and non-production environments:

- Virtualizing some or all of the servers in your Dynamics CRM deployment can dramatically decrease hardware costs.
- Deploying to a virtual environment enables simpler administration, such as rapid backups and disaster recovery via snapshots.
- Upgrading to a virtual environment allows you to test your upgrades without disrupting your production environment.

Microsoft officially supports Dynamics CRM on their own Hyper-V virtualization technology, which is available with certain editions of Windows Server 2008. Other non-Microsoft virtualization technologies, such as VMWare's ESX are also suitable.

## **Upgrading Outlook clients**

In previous versions of Dynamics CRM, upgrading large numbers of users' Outlook clients presented some significant logistical issues. After the server was upgraded, users were unable to use the Outlook client until it had also been upgraded. If they were in remote offices or traveling, this could mean extended downtime and reduced productivity.

With Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, Microsoft has taken a good step toward mitigating this issue. Users who have the Version 4.0 Outlook client and at least Update Rollup 7 will be able to connect to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 server from Outlook. If they use the online client, they will have the same functionality in Outlook and can then wait for an upgraded client to take full advantage of its expanded functionality. Offline users can also connect to the newly upgraded server, but they will not be able to go back offline until the Outlook client has been upgraded. Therefore, we recommend that after conducting the server upgrade, prioritize your Outlook client users by focusing first on the offline users.

# Running the upgrade

Three main upgrade scenarios are used to move from Version 4.0 to Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011: migration, in-place upgrades, and new installations that connect to an existing database. Read the following sections to determine which path is the best for your situation.

## Migrating a Version 4.0 organization database

Many organizations need to make the switch from 32-bit architecture to 64-bit platforms. The good news for these organizations is that Microsoft has provided a relatively simple upgrade path via the ability to migrate a Version 4.0 organization database directly into a new Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 deployment (Figure 3.11). After standing up a new 64-bit server, and installing Dynamics CRM, you can import your Version 4.0 organizations with Deployment Manager.

SQL Server does not need to be 64-bit for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, though it does need to be SQL Server 2008. Therefore, if your SQL Server already meets the minimum requirements for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, you can still take advantage of the migration upgrade method by installing the Dynamics CRM application to a new 64-bit server and using the existing database hardware. An important caveat is that you cannot install Dynamics CRM to the same SQL instance as the Version 4.0 database. This is because the new MSCRM\_Config database will create conflicts with the existing MSCRM\_Config database for your Version 4.0 deployment.

The migration upgrade is the easiest — and therefore most highly recommended — upgrade path. The Version 4.0 organization database will be completely upgraded during the import process. If you have multiple organizations, you can import them and test them one at a time, minimizing downtime and disruptions to productivity.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0 organization database can be imported into Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 deployments. The import process will upgrade the database.



To upgrade a Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0 deployment using the migration upgrade path, follow these steps:

- 1. Install Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 on supported hardware or virtual servers. If you are using the Professional Edition license that allows only one organization, you will create a dummy organization during the installation process that you will later replace with your upgraded organization. Give the dummy organization a name that differs from the organization name you will be importing.
- After the installation is complete and tested, make a backup of your 4.0 organization database. Open SQL Server Management Studio and right-click on the OrgName\_ MSCRM database. Under Tasks, select Backup and run the backup, noting the location where the .bak file will be saved.
- **3.** Copy the .bak file to the new SQL Server and restore it by launching SQL Server Management Studio and right-clicking on the Databases node and clicking Restore Database (Figure 3.12). In the Destination to restore box, enter the OrgName\_ MSCRM name. Browse to the copy of the .bak file and run the restore.
- **4.** On the new Dynamics CRM server, launch the Deployment Manager and right-click the Organizations node. Select Import Organization. As you work through the Import Organization Wizard and specify the organization database that you want to import, the wizard will detect that it is a Version 4.0 database (Figure 3.13).

# **Cross-Reference**

The process of importing an organization database can vary slightly from scenario to scenario. For complete instructions on using the Deployment Manager to import an organization, see Chapter 7.

#### FIGURE 3.12

Restoring a Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0 organization database to SQL Server so it can be imported into Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011

🗍 Restore Database - C5In	sight_MSCRN	1			- 🗆 ×
Select a page	🛒 Script 👻 📗	🚡 Help			
II에 General II에 Options	Destination fo	or restore	au or evision database for your restore o	maralion	
	366551.01	ype the manie of a m	ew or existing database for your residie o	poration	
	To databa	ise:	C5Insight_MSCRM		
	To a poin	t in time:	Most recent possible		
	Source for re	store			
	Specify th	e source and locatio	n of backup sets to restore.		
	C From o	latabase:			~
	From c	levice:	C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL	. Server\MSSQ	L10_50
	Select the	backup sets to rest	ore:		
	Restore	Name		Component	Type Serv
	<b>v</b>	Customer_Conner	ct_MSCRM_backup_20100729001741	Database	Full TES
Connection					
Server: 2008R2-DEMO					
Connection: DEMO\C5Admin					
View connection properties					
Progress					
C Ready					
	<u></u>				<u>·</u>
				OK _	Cancel

# Note

When importing a Version 4.0 organization database and upgrading it, if you are moving your deployment to a new domain, make sure the active user accounts from the previous deployment have a matching user in the new deployment to which they can be mapped.

## Performing an in-place upgrade

If your existing infrastructure meets the system requirements for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, you may consider performing an in-place upgrade. When preparing for an in-place upgrade, it is important to test your capability to backup and restore both the Dynamics CRM application and the databases.

Backing up and restoring a SQL Server database is relatively straightforward and follows a consistent path. However, backing up and restoring an application server, with its attendant system files, Web site files, and dependent components (such as the .NET Framework) is quite a bit trickier. Recovering from a failed in-place upgrade can be very difficult, so plan and test your upgrade strategy thoroughly. A failed upgrade can leave your deployment in an unusable state.

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 Import Organization Wizard recognizes a Version 4.0 organization database and imports it, upgrading it along the way.

🚈 Import Organization W	fizard	×
Select SQL Server Specify the Microsoft® SQL :	5erver™ to use.	
SQL Server:	2008R2-DEMO	-
Organization database:	C5Insight_MSCRM	•
You have selected a Microsol import, this database will be u	t Dynamics CRM 4.0 database for import. Du graded to Microsoft Dynamics CRM 5.	ring the
	Next >	Cancel

Performing an in-place upgrade on a multitenant deployment upgrades all organizations. Users must not be connected to Dynamics CRM during the upgrade.

Because of the level of difficulty attendant with this upgrade path, this method is the least recommended strategy.

To perform an in-place upgrade, follow the instructions in the Implementation Guide and these general steps:

- 1. Backup the MSCRM\_Config and each organization (OrgName\_MSCRM) database.
- **2.** Perform a test restore of the databases to ensure that you can restore them to a functioning state.
- **3.** Back up the application server and any other servers that are part of your Dynamics CRM deployment. Perform complete system backups including operating system, system state, and file-level backups. Again, test your ability to restore these servers to their working condition.
- **4.** Be sure to back up the contents of the ISV folder and other custom files in the Dynamics CRM Web site. Best practice is also to make copies of your report RDL files and export the customizations XML from your organization. It would also be a good practice to export the solution XML for any plug-ins or workflow assemblies you have registered against Dynamics CRM. With these files and a backed up database, you can recover from a failed upgrade much more quickly if necessary.

- **5.** Launch the Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 setup routine by navigating to the root folder of your installation media or download location and double-clicking the SetupServer.exe file.
- **6.** Follow the steps outlined in the IG to complete the upgrade.

## Installing a new deployment that connects to an existing database

This is a new upgrade path for Dynamics CRM. With Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, you can now install the application server components while pointing the installation routine to the existing Version 4.0 configuration and organization databases (see Figure 3.14). This method upgrades both the MSCRM\_Config and organization databases during the installation process.

This is an excellent option if you have already migrated to SQL Server 2008 and merely want to upgrade your application and/or platform servers to 64-bit architecture. This option also helps to minimize downtime and provides a simpler recovery method than an in-place upgrade.

#### FIGURE 3.14

A new upgrade option is to install Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 on a new server while connecting to the existing Version 4.0 databases, which are automatically upgraded during the installation.



To conduct this type of upgrade, follow these steps:

- **1.** Prepare the server or servers that will provide the Front End, Back End, and Deployment Administration server roles.
- 2. Back up the MSCRM\_Config and each organization (OrgName\_MSCRM) database.
- **3.** Perform a test restore of the databases to ensure that you can restore them to a functioning state.
- **4.** Launch the Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 setup routine on the new server by navigating to the root folder of your installation media or download location and double-clicking the SetupServer.exe file.
- 5. Follow the steps outlined in the IG to complete the upgrade.

# Testing the upgrade

After the upgrade is complete, run through the following checklist to test that the upgrade process was successful and everything is functioning as expected.

# **Cross-Reference**

In addition to installing or upgrading the Dynamics CRM server, a number of other components should be installed at this point. There are also many initial configuration tasks that you should perform to prepare the system for users. Chapter 4 covers the installation and configuration of other server components, and Chapter 5 goes into detail on post-installation system settings.

- Deployment functioning? Launch the Deployment Manager on the new Dynamics CRM server and expand the Organizations node.
- Organizations functioning? Right-click the new or upgraded organization name in Deployment Manager and click on Browse to open the organization in Internet Explorer.
- Authentication/IFD enabling seamless sign-on? Verify that you are not unexpectedly prompted to enter login credentials when accessing Dynamics CRM from both inside and outside of your network (depending on your configuration).
- Data and users properly mapped? Check that the data is intact and users have been properly mapped and enabled. Have several users log into the Web client to verify that they see the data they expect.
- Customizations working? Test forms with client-side script to see if they perform as anticipated. Run through your test scripts for any server-side extensions to validate their functionality.
- Migrated customizations? Go to the customizations area and open the default solution. Verify that all of your organization's customizations have been migrated.
- Reports Working? Test running several reports, including system reports and custom reports.

- Processing services running? Validate that the Asynchronous and Sandbox processing services are both running.
- Third-party add-ons working? Test third-party add-ons. You may need to upgrade add-ons that you have purchased and applied to a previous version of Dynamics CRM. Contact the vendors for instructions.
- Outlook client connecting? Configure a Version 4.0 Outlook client add-on to connect to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 server if the server address has changed. (Version 4.0 Outlook clients must have at least Update Rollup 7 for 4.0 applied to connect to Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.)

# **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 9 provides useful tips to overcome common installation and upgrade errors as well as insight on how to optimize your new Dynamics CRM server for your users.

# Summary

This chapter provided information to supplement Microsoft's Implementation Guide (IG). The IG is indispensable when planning your Dynamics CRM deployment and installing the server and related technologies.

Although Dynamics CRM is a valuable tool for organizations of many different sizes, with a nearly infinite variety of network architectures, it is also a complex system of technologies that rely on a deep stack of Microsoft products. Because of this complexity, your deployment or upgrade must be planned very carefully, with your organization's long-term needs for Dynamics CRM in mind.

This chapter also provided guidance on some of the ways you should prepare your network infrastructure for a new Dynamics CRM deployment.

Server roles and multi-server deployment provide a great deal of flexibility in matching your Dynamics CRM implementation with your organizations needs and infrastructure for a production deployment, and also enable a wide variety of options for the construction of test and development environments.

# CHAPTER

# Installing Other Components for Dynamics CRM

**W** icrosoft Dynamics CRM 2011 includes several components that are installed separately from the Dynamics CRM server, or which can only be configured after its successful installation. These components include:

- The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Reporting Extensions for SSRS
- The SharePoint grid
- Claims-Based Authentication and Internet-Facing Deployment
- The Microsoft Dynamics CRM E-mail Router and Rule Deployment Wizard
- The Microsoft Office Outlook client for Dynamics CRM

This chapter presents the concepts and instructions needed to successfully complete the installation and configuration of these components in your Dynamics CRM deployment.

# Note

The Implementation Guide (IG) is a free resource from Microsoft that includes detailed instructions for installing and configuring the Dynamics CRM server and its related components. It is available from the Microsoft Downloads site (www.microsoft.com/downloads). This chapter provides the context for understanding these components' usage, as well as best practices and tips for each of them.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Installing the reporting extensions for SSRS and the SharePoint Grid

Configuring claims-based authentication and Internet-Facing Deployment

Setting up the E-mail Router

The Outlook add-in for Dynamics CRM

# **Installing Ancillary Server Components**

Microsoft has designed Dynamics CRM to leverage the functionality of a broad range of other Microsoft technologies, such as SQL Server Reporting Services and SharePoint. When added to the capabilities of Dynamics CRM, these technologies empower users to access, analyze, and share business information and collaborate with one another in a variety of ways. To get the full value from Dynamics CRM, you must install and configure these components appropriately.

# **Connecting Dynamics CRM to SQL Reporting Services**

When a user runs a report in Dynamics CRM, the request is passed from the user's machine (the "client") to the Dynamics CRM server, and from there to the report server. In order for the Dynamics CRM security rules to be enforced, the report is generated in the context of the user who requested it, meaning that the user's authentication credentials must accompany the request for the report (Figure 4.1). The user has authenticated to the Dynamics CRM server (either by using his or her Windows logon or by logging in via IFD). The Dynamics CRM server must be able to pass the credentials from the user to the report server, and the report server must "trust" that the Dynamics CRM server is authorized to pass credentials from users. This is sometimes referred to as a *double-hop*.

#### FIGURE 4.1



A user's request for a report passes the user credentials from the client machine to the Dynamics CRM server and on to the report server.

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Reporting Extensions for SSRS are extensions to Dynamics CRM that enable user requests to be passed to the report server so that reports can be returned and security maintained. Without the Reporting Extensions for SSRS, reports will

not run in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011. The extensions are also necessary in order to enable users to schedule reports from Dynamics CRM.

# Caution

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Reporting Extensions for SSRS are required for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011. Without it, reports will not function for any user, regardless of authentication mechanism or location. This is a change from previous versions of Dynamics CRM that only required the SRS Data Connector when the report server was on a different machine than the Dynamics CRM Web application.

The Reporting Extensions for SSRS can be installed any time after the Dynamics CRM server has been installed. (SQL Server Reporting Services should have been installed and configured before installing the Dynamics CRM server.) When you finish the installation of the Dynamics CRM server, you have the option of launching the installation of the Reporting Extensions for SSRS right away, as shown in Figure 4.2.

#### FIGURE 4.2

You have the option of launching the installation of the Reporting Extensions for SSRS immediately from the server setup when the server installation has completed.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Setu	p
	Microsoft Dynamics CRM Server setup completed.
	The installation of Microsoft Dynamics CRM Server has been successfully completed.
	View the log file.
	Finish

The Reporting Extensions for SSRS must be installed on the server where the SQL Reporting Services report server is installed.

To start the installation of the Reporting Extensions for SSRS, navigate to the Dynamics CRM server install media or download location. Open the "srsdataconnector" folder and doubleclick on setupsrsdataconnector.exe. The setup screen opens, as shown in Figure 4.3. Running the Reporting Extensions for SSRS setup publishes the reports that are included with Dynamics CRM to the report server (see Figure 4.4).

# **Cross-Reference**

After installation, the Reporting Extensions for SSRS are displayed as the SRS Data Connector server role in the Deployment Manager, enabling you to see which servers the extensions have been installed on. The SRS Data Connector server role is the only organization-specific server role. All other server roles apply to the entire deployment. See Chapter 3 for more information about server roles and Chapter 5 for more information about the Deployment Manager.

## FIGURE 4.3

When installing the Reporting Extensions for SSRS, you can select whether or not to update the installation files before proceeding.



# Installing and setting up the SharePoint Grid integration

Many users of previous versions of Dynamics CRM have recognized the natural complementary functions of Dynamics CRM and SharePoint. Where Dynamics CRM provides a platform for well-defined data capture and analysis to support business processes, SharePoint enables best-in-class collaboration and document management. Because of this natural fit, many partners and ISVs (Independent Software Vendors) have been building SharePoint integration for Dynamics CRM over the last several years. Now, with Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, SharePoint integration is built directly into the product, enabling dynamic creation of document libraries related to both system and custom entities in Dynamics CRM (see Figure 4.5).

Document libraries that are created through the built-in integration can also be nested so they roll up in the SharePoint site collection under a top-level customer Account site (see Figure 4.6).

## FIGURE 4.4

Installing the Reporting Extensions for SSRS also publishes the out-of-the-box reports.

soft Dynamics CRM Reporting Extensions for SSRS Setup	
nstalling Microsoft Dynamics CRM Reporting Extensions for Setup is now installing the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Reporting Extensions for Microsoft SQL Server Reporting Services components.	
Publishing Reports for Microsoft Dynamics CRM organization	
D. Mikhing Maglastad Cases	
Publishing Registrice Lases	
	Cancel

# FIGURE 4.5

SharePoint integration is built into Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.

Account: 360Centric Inc I	Microsoft Dynamics CRM - W	indows Internet Explor	er	X
File Documents				C5 Admin Success Accelerators
Associate Edit				
Document Locations				
32 Account: 360Centr	ic Inc.			Accounts 💌 🛊 🕸
Information	[16] Document Location	; Documents on Defa	ult Site Collection 9 -	
- General	Cth New Add Edit	X Actions T Onen St	arePoint	0
- Administration	La Name	Modified	Modified By	2
Notes	opportunity	8/2/2010 11:40 AM	System Account	~
▲ Related ▲	LicenseTerms	8/2/2010 11:39 AM	System Account	
More Addresses	RFP_Contracting_2011	8/2/2010 11:41 AM	System Account	
Activities				
Sub-Accounts				
S Contacts				
Relationships				
Sonnections				
16 Documents				
[16] Audit History				
⊿ Sales				
Opportunities				
Quotes				
Orders				
Invoices				
▲ Service				
Cases				
E Contracts				
4 Marketing				
Campaigns				
markeung Lists	1 of 3 selected.			4 4 Page 1 ▶
Status Active				
Done			A cal intranet   Protected Mod	e: 0ff 🕢 🐨 🛞 100% 👻 🏑
Done				0.011 13 4 100/0 1

#### FIGURE 4.6

SharePoint integration can be configured to nest document libraries under a site for a record's parent Account.

@360Centric Inc All I	Documents - Windo	ws Internet Explorer				_ 8 ×
🕞 💽 🗢 🔝 http://200	18r2-demo/account/For	ns/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2faccou	int%2f360Centric%20Inc%2d&Fold 💌 🐓	🗙 🖸 Bing		P -
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🍰 🕍 Mic	rosoft Dynamics CRM	😨 Home - Central Administra 🔯 S	iharePoint 🔊 Report Manager 🗃 Tags :	and Note Board		
🔝 360Centric Inc All D	)ocuments			🟠 🕶 🔝 💌 🖃 🌧 🕶 Page 🕶	Safety 🔻 To	ols 🔻 🔞 🕶
Site Actions 👻 🔡 Brow	Library Too vse Documents	ols Library		s	ystem Accou	unt +
C5SP Demo	▶ account ▶ 360	)Centric Inc- + All Documer	nts •		ی I Like It	Tags & Notes
Home Marketing Can	npaign SIte			Search this site	Q	0
Libraries	🗌 Туре	Name	Modified	Modified By		
Site Pages	Da l	opportunity	8/2/2010 11:40 AM	System Account		
Shared Documents	(e)	LicenseTerms 🖽 HEW	8/2/2010 11:39 AM	System Account		
Lists Calendar Tasks Discussions Team Discussion Recycle Bin In All Site Content						*
Done			👘 👘 Local intr	anet   Protected Mode: Off	<i>₹</i> <u>∩</u> <b>▼</b> ⊕	100% <b>•</b> //

## Preparing SharePoint for the Dynamics CRM integration

For the SharePoint Grid to function, SharePoint must be configured to permit Dynamics CRM to work with files in SharePoint. Follow these steps:

- 1. Open the SharePoint Central Administration Web site.
- 2. Click on the System Settings link.
- 3. On the System Settings page, click Manage services on server.
- **4.** In the list of services, locate the Microsoft SharePoint Foundation Sandboxed Code Service and start the service if it is not already started.
- **5.** Navigate to the Application Management page (Central Administration 
  → Application Management), and click on the Manage Web Applications link.
- **6.** Select the SharePoint site collection for which you want to enable Dynamics CRM integration by clicking on the site name.

- 7. On the Ribbon menu, click the General Settings button and click General Settings.
- **8.** In the Web Application General Settings dialog, scroll down to the Browser File Handling section. Select the Permissive option. Scroll to the bottom of the dialog and click OK.

# Installing the SharePoint Grid for Dynamics CRM

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 integrates with all versions of SharePoint 2010 through a SharePoint Grid extension that must be installed on the Dynamics CRM server. The SharePoint Grid component can be installed on the Dynamics CRM server by using the install media, or it can be installed from the Dynamics CRM Web client interface by navigating to the Document Management page in the Settings area and clicking the appropriate link (see Figure 4.7).

## FIGURE 4.7

The Grid Component for SharePoint integration can be installed from the Document Management page in the Settings area of Dynamics CRM.



To install the SharePoint Grid component, you must have administrative permissions on the SharePoint site where documents will be stored. To install the grid, follow these steps.

To enable automatic integration with SharePoint 2010, you must first install the SharePoint grid component on your SharePoint site. The following steps assume that you are logged into the SharePoint server as a SharePoint site collection administrator. You must also be a farm administrator to change the file handling settings. The SharePoint User Code Host service must also be started as specified above, which in turn requires the Microsoft SharePoint Foundation Sandboxed Code Service to be enabled. With these prerequisites in place, follow the instructions below to upload and activate the SharePoint list component for Dynamics CRM:

- **1.** Browse to the site collection where you wish to enable Dynamics CRM to create document libraries.
- **2.** Click Site Actions ⇒ Site Settings.
- **3.** Under Galleries, click the Solutions link.
- **4.** On the Solutions tab, in the New group, click the option Upload Solution.
- **5.** Browse to and select the crmlistcomponent.wsp file that is included with the Dynamics CRM install media or download files and click OK.
- 6. On the Solutions tab, click the Activate button to activate the SharePoint list component.

## **Configuring Document Management Settings**

After installing the SharePoint grid, you must specify which entities will be available for users to create document libraries.

- **1.** Go to the Document Management page and click the Document Management Settings link.
- **2.** In the Document Management Settings dialog, shown in Figure 4.8, select the entities for which document management should be enabled. Specify the URL of the SharePoint site collection and click Next.
- **3.** Select the folder structure to use for organizing the document libraries. The Generic option creates a flat structure. The Account Centric option nests document libraries under a page created for a parent account, if one exists. Click the Finish button to apply the settings.

The sites used by the grid component and the document library locations created by Dynamics CRM can be viewed in list form and managed by an administrator from the links on the Document Management page.

#### FIGURE 4.8

Use the Document Management Settings dialog to specify the entities that will be enabled for document management, and the URL of the SharePoint site collection.

_	Entities		
	A second		
M	Account		
- -	Annointment		
	Article		
- F	Buriners Unit		
, ,	Campaign		
,	Campaign Campaign Activity		
, _	Campaign Response		
, _	Case		
, _	Case Resolution		
Ē	Competitor		•
et Aut olders ist soli	omatic folder creation settings will be automatically created if URL is <u>ution</u> installed on it	Sharepoint 2010 URL and	l has th

# Configuring Dynamics CRM for External Access

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is designed to enable secure remote access from the Internet by using Internet Explorer, the Outlook client, and mobile devices using SSL encryption in what is called Internet-Facing Deployment, or IFD. Allowing users to log in to Dynamics CRM from outside of the LAN enables them to work with Dynamics CRM while traveling or while located in a remote or disconnected office. External access also makes it possible to set up users who may never otherwise connect to your network, such as a distributed workforce, partners, vendors, or contractors. Additionally, no VPN is required when using the Outlook client through IFD. Because Microsoft has designed Dynamics CRM to be deployed in both hosted and onpremises installation models, it has incorporated a relatively new technology that federates different authentication sources like Active Directory and Microsoft's Live ID. This federation of authentication providers is referred to as claims-based authentication (CBA). A federation server, such as Active Directory Federation Services 2.0 (AD FS 2) manages which authentication providers are enabled for Dynamics CRM.

With Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, configuration of claims-based authentication is a prerequisite for external access via IFD. CBA is not required if users will only access Dynamics CRM within the intranet from a trusted domain.

# **Understanding claims-based authentication**

When a user attempts to log in to Dynamics CRM, the federation server checks to see if the source of the user's credentials is one of the "identity providers" that has been configured for Dynamics CRM access. If the credentials are accepted, the user is granted a token which is used to access Dynamics CRM (Figure 4.9). In this way, Dynamics CRM can be configured to accept logon credentials that are managed in a variety of authentication providers, not just Microsoft's Active Directory.

# **Configuring IFD**

To make Dynamics CRM accessible from the Internet, you need to configure several items:

- Install a wildcard SSL certificate on the Dynamics CRM Front End (Web application) server. This certificate should be for a URL in the format of https://\*. yourdomain.com. Installing an SSL certificate involves generating the request from the server, acquiring the certificate using the information generated, and installing the certificate. For more information, refer to the article "Configuring Server Certificates in IIS 7" on Microsoft TechNet: http://technet.microsoft.com/ en-us/library/cc732230(WS.10).aspx.
- Configure DNS and firewalls so the internal and external URLs for your Dynamics CRM server are accessible. You also need to request that your ISP configure the name servers for your domain name to direct traffic to the proper URL. For external access, you need a URL that points to the Dynamics CRM server (https:// crmserver.yourdomain.com), as well as one that points to the organization (https://orgname.crmserver.domain.com). When users attempt to log in to the first URL, after authenticating they will be redirected to the URL containing their default organization name. Therefore, both URLs need to resolve correctly.
- **Configure the relying parties.** On the AD FS 2.0 server, you must configure the relying parties as specified in the Implementation Guide. This step identifies that your Dynamics CRM system accepts authentication claims from Active Directory.
- **Configure the Dynamics CRM server to use HTTPS in Deployment Manager.** Log in to the Deployment Manager and, in the Properties dialog for the deployment, click the Web Address tab. Select HTTPS for the Binding Type and click OK (see Figure 4.10).

• **Configure claims-based authentication in Deployment Manager.** Click the link in Deployment Manager to launch the Claims-Based Authentication configuration wizard. In the wizard, you need to enter the URL for the federation metadata XML file (see Figure 4.11). This file is located in the federation services Web site. After entering this file location, you need to specify an encryption certificate from the local server's certificate store.

## FIGURE 4.9

Claims-based authentication (CBA) is a new authentication model that is required for Internet-Facing Deployments. When a user attempts to log in to Dynamics CRM, his credentials are redirected to the federation server (typically an AD FS 2.0 server) which checks his claim against the identity providers. If the claim is valid, a token is given to the user to provide access to Dynamics CRM.



- Run the Internet-Facing Deployment Configuration Wizard. This wizard can be launched from the Deployment Manager. You enter the external URL for your Dynamics CRM deployment in the format https://crmserver.yourdomain.com. Add the port number to the URL if it is not the default SSL port of 443.
- Update the authentication method in the web.config. After applying the changes, you must update the web.config file in the Dynamics CRM Web site root by changing the authentication strategy from OnPremise to ServiceProviderLicenseAgreement:

<authentication strategy="ServiceProviderLicenseAgreement" />

# **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 7 contains details on using the Deployment Manager, where many of the steps are performed for configuring external access for Dynamics CRM.

#### FIGURE 4.10

Setting the Dynamics CRM deployment to use HTTPS. Do this before configuring external access.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Properties	$\mathbf{X}$
General Web Address License Usage Reporting	
Binding Type.	
C HITP @ HITPS	
Web Application Server:	
2008R2-DEM0:5555	
Organization Web Service:	
2008R2-DEM0:5555	
Discovery Web Service:	
2008R2-DEM0:5555	
Deployment Web Service:	
2008R2-DEM0:5555	
When you change the binding type, the website must have the correct binding already configured. If claims-based authentication is enabled, HTTPS is required.	
Advanced	
OK Cancel Apply	

The Implementation Guide contains step-by-step instructions for configuring claims-based authentication and Internet-Facing Deployment. Refer to it and to Appendix B for more information about setting up the components required for external access for Dynamics CRM.



Configure Clai	ms-Based Auth	enticatio	on Wizard	
Configure C Specify the securi	laims-Based ty token service.	Authen	tication	
You must configure or before you can c	claims-based auther onfigure an Internet-	ntication to facing dep	federate multiple / loyment.	Active Directory domains
Enter the federation federate domains. 1	n metadata URL of th The STS must be ins	ne security talled and r	token service (ST unning.	S) that will be used to
Federation metadat	a URL: m/FederationMetada	ita/2007-0	5/federationmetar	lata xm
Example: https://fa	brikam.com/Federat	ionMetadal	a/2007-06/federa	ationmetadata.xml
More information at	oout claims-based au	thentication	2	

The Claims Based Authentication (CBA) Wizard

# AD FS 2.0.

Claims-based authentication requires a federation server like Active Directory Federation Services 2.0 (AD FS 2.0) to manage the relying parties and issue tokens. You can download and install AD FS 2.0 from the Microsoft Downloads Web site (www.microsoft.com/downloads) and run the AD FS configuration wizard (see figure) on a supported server.

AD FS 2.0 is the technology that enables Active Directory to be set up as a trusted identity provider. When the Active Directory user attempts to access an application that uses claims-based authentication, the user's request is routed through the AD FS 2.0 site, which checks the request against the identity providers and issues a token for the user to gain access to the resource.

AD FS 2.0 was formerly referred to by its codename of "Geneva" and is a relatively new technology that Microsoft has developed to assist enterprises with maintaining single sign-on (SSO) even when users access applications and servers that are in the cloud. As cloud services and applications such as Dynamics CRM Online become more prevalent, it will become increasingly important for administrators to understand technologies like AD FS 2.0.

AD FS 2.0 installs to the default Web site on a server so it may not be appropriate to install it on your Dynamics CRM server. The AD FS Web site must have a valid SSL certificate. The AD FS Web site URL is used when configuring claims-based authentication for Dynamics CRM. Read more about AD FS 2.0 at www.microsoft.com/adfs2.

# **Integrating E-mail with Dynamics CRM**

E-mail is a critical part of any customer relationship management or line-of-business application. Microsoft has designed Dynamics CRM for tight e-mail integration, enabling incoming and outgoing messages to be tracked in the database and associated with the business. Dynamics CRM can integrate with Exchange Servers and POP3 mail servers through the use of the E-mail Router component.

The E-mail Router uses incoming profiles which are associated with the Dynamics CRM users or queues to connect to users' mailboxes to process incoming mail and identify which should be tracked in Dynamics CRM. Outgoing profiles are likewise used to permit the E-mail Router to connect to the mail provider to send outgoing messages. The E-mail Router runs asynchronously, meaning that messages are processed periodically. Three basic scenarios are supported by the E-mail Router (Figure 4.12):

- POP3 E-mail. When configured for POP3 e-mail, you must create an incoming profile for each POP provider within the Microsoft Dynamics CRM E-mail Router. Each user must enter his e-mail credentials in his personal options, accessible from the Outlook client, and indicate that the E-mail Router can send and receive e-mail on his behalf. You must also create a single outgoing profile for all outgoing mail per POP mail provider. Outgoing mail for POP providers uses SMTP.
- Exchange. Using a single incoming profile, the E-mail Router can check each user's inbox for messages that should be tracked in Dynamics CRM. An outgoing profile allows Dynamics CRM to route outgoing e-mail through the Exchange Server. This method requires the incoming profile to be configured with an account that has certain administrative privileges in Exchange so it can access each user's inbox.
- Exchange with a Forward Mailbox. With this method, a rule is deployed to each user's Exchange mailbox (using the Rule Deployment wizard or, optionally, the rule can be manually created by the user). The rule forwards a copy of every incoming e-mail message to a sink mailbox that is monitored by an incoming profile in the E-mail Router. An outgoing profile allows Dynamics CRM to route outgoing e-mail through the Exchange Server. This method allows the incoming profile to be configured with a user account that has access only to the sink mailbox. Another advantage of this method is that the forward mailbox is a single box that can be monitored, managed, and maintained, potentially reducing administrator overhead. With this method, however, the forwarding rule must be deployed every time a user account is added to Dynamics CRM.

# Note

The Outlook client can also function as an e-mail router for Dynamics CRM. However, the Outlook client must be running in order for incoming and outgoing e-mail to be tracked into Dynamics CRM. One of the primary advantages of deploying the provided E-mail Router software component is that it is always running.

## FIGURE 4.12

The E-mail Router supports three primary scenarios: POP3 E-mail, Exchange Server, and Forwarding Mailboxes.



# **Installing the E-Mail Router**

The E-mail Router can be installed on any computer that is running a supported operating system and which has access to both Dynamics CRM and the E-mail server. Supported operating systems include most versions of Windows XP, Vista, Windows Server 2003 and 2008, and Windows 7. For Exchange connectivity, the E-mail Router supports Exchange 2003, 2007, 2010, and Exchange Online.

The Rule Deployment Wizard requires the Exchange Server MAPI client runtime libraries in order to place rules in users' Exchange mailboxes. The MAPI Client and Collaboration Data Objects can be downloaded and installed from the Microsoft Downloads Web site. (See the Online Resources appendix for the full URL.)

# Caution

The MAPI objects — and therefore the Rule Deployment Wizard — cannot be installed on a machine where Microsoft Office Outlook is installed. (It can be installed on the same machine as the E-mail Router, however.)

To install the Microsoft Dynamics CRM E-mail Router, follow these steps:

- 1. Navigate to the install media or download location and locate the Exchange folder. Double-click the setupemailrouter.exe file to launch the setup routine.
- The first screen of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM E-mail Router Setup (see Figure 4.13) allows you to choose whether or not to get updates for the installation routine. Select an option and click Next. If you choose to download updates, when the download completes, click Next again.

#### FIGURE 4.13

Select whether you wish to download updates for the installation routine.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM E-mail Router Setup	- 🗆 🗙
License Agreement You must accept this license agreement to proceed with installation. If you do not accept, click Cancel to close the wizard.	
MICROSOFT PRE-RELEASE SOFTWARE LICENSE TERMS	-
E-MAIL ROUTER AND RULE DEPLOYMENT WIZARD FOR MICROSOFT DYNAMICS CRM "5"	
COMMUNITY TECHNOLOGY PREVIEW 4	
These license terms are an agreement between Microsoft Corporation (or based on when you live, one of its affiliates) and you. Please read them. They apply to the pre-release software named above, which includes the media on which you received it, if any. The terms also apply to any Microsoft	re T
✓         I accept this license agreement         Print	
I Accept Ca	ncel

- **3.** The E-mail Router setup checks for missing required components. If any are missing, click the Install button to download and install them, shown in Figure 4.14. When the missing components have been installed, click Next to proceed with the installation.
- **4.** On the next screen, select which components to install. You can install the E-mail Router Service, the Rule Deployment Wizard, or both. After making your selection, click Next.
- **5.** Select the directory where the E-mail Router components should be installed or accept the default location. Click Next.
- **6.** The setup routine performs a series of checks to validate the settings you have input and the environmental variables. Fix any warnings or errors that the setup routine detects and, when all green check marks are displayed, click Next.

#### FIGURE 4.14

If any missing required components are detected, download and install them.

Component	Status	Message
Windows Live ID Sign-in Assistant	Not installed	Minimum version required: 6.5

- **7.** The setup program displays a summary of your selections. Click the Install button to begin the installation.
- **8.** When the installation completes, click Finish to close the setup dialog, or click the link to immediately launch the E-mail Router Configuration Manager.

# **Configuring the E-mail Router**

After the E-mail Router has been installed, you must configure the incoming and outgoing profiles that will handle E-mail authentication and processing for your users. Following are detailed instructions for configuring the E-mail Router for use with a POP3 E-mail Server. Similar steps can be followed for configuring the E-mail Router to work with various versions of Exchange Server and Exchange Online. See the Implementation Guide for complete instructions for these E-mail access methods.

From the Start menu, go to Programs and, under the Microsoft Dynamics CRM E-mail Router folder, click Microsoft Dynamics CRM E-mail Router Configuration Manager. The E-mail Router Configuration Manager program opens (see Figure 4.15). Then follow the steps below for the appropriate scenario.

# Configuring incoming and outgoing profiles for use with POP3 e-mail accounts

Each user who uses POP3 e-mail must have both an incoming and an outgoing profile configured in the E-mail Router.

#### FIGURE 4.15

The E-mail Router Configuration Manager. To create a new incoming or outgoing profile, click the New button.

ing e-mail configurations for users and queues. You can also use the E-mail router Configuration Manager to associate a forward mailbox with an incoming E-mail Router	E-mail Router Cor	Deproyments   Users, Quei ifiguration Manager helps y	ues, and Forward Mailbo ou configure E-mail Rout	xes   er configuration profiles, assor	siate existing deployments to the Mi	crosoft Dynamics CRM E-mail F	Router, and manage
Direction         Protocol         E-mail Server         Authentication Method         Access Type         New           Modily         Remove         Hebp         H	ning and outgoing guration profile.	e-mail configurations for u	sers and queues. You ca	in also use the E-mail router C	onfiguration Manager to associate a	a forward mailbox with an incom	ning E-mail Router
New Modiy Penove Hep	ile Name	Direction	Protocol	E-mail Server	Authentication Method	Access Type	T
Modiy Remove Hep							New
Renove Hep							Modify
Hep							Remove
							Help

To configure the incoming profile for a POP3 e-mail account, do the following:

- **1.** On the Configuration Profiles tab, click the New button.
- **2.** In the E-mail Router Configuration Profile dialog (Figure 4.16) enter a name for the profile.
- **3.** Select Incoming as the direction.
- 4. In the E-mail Server Type drop-down select POP3.
- 5. In the Authentication Type drop-down select Clear Text.
- **6.** In the Location settings, enter the address of the E-mail server and indicate whether or not your POP server uses SSL.
- **7.** Set the Access Credentials to be User Specified. (Users will need to enter their credentials in their personal options in the Outlook client.)
- **8.** If your POP provider uses nonstandard ports, click the Advanced tab and enter the port number. Click OK.
- **9.** Instruct users to enter and save their POP e-mail credentials in their Outlook client personal options.
#### FIGURE 4.16

Configuring an incoming profile for use with a POP3 e-mail account.

🏄 E-mail Router Config	uration Profile	_ 🗆 🗙
General Advanced		
Profile Name:	Outgoing POP Email Profile	
Direction:	Outgoing	
E-mail Server Type:	SMTP 💌	
Protocol:	SMTP	
	Authentication Type: Anonymous	
Location:	E-mail Server: smtp.successaccelerators.com IV Use SSL	
Access Credentials:	Local System Account	
	ОК	Cancel

To configure the outgoing rule, repeat Steps 1 and 2 of the previous list and then complete the following steps:

- **1.** For Direction, select Outgoing.
- 2. In the E-mail Server Type drop-down, select SMTP.
- **3.** For Authentication Type, if your provider requires authentication for outbound e-mail, choose Clear Text. Otherwise, choose Anonymous.
- 4. Enter the name of the outbound SMTP server and select whether or not to use SSL.
- **5.** Enter a username and password to authenticate to your POP provider's outbound SMTP server.
- **6.** If your POP E-mail provider uses a nonstandard port for SMTP mail, click the Advanced tab and enter the port in the Network Port box.

#### Associating profiles with deployments

After your incoming and outgoing profiles are complete, you must associate them with the Dynamics CRM deployment and associate them with the users or queues for which they were created.

To associate the profiles with a deployment:

- 1. In the E-mail Router Configuration Manager click the Deployments tab and click New.
- **2.** Select the deployment option for which you are configuring the E-mail Router (Figure 4.17).
- **3.** Enter the address of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM server. Be sure to include the port number and organization name.
- **4.** Select either Local System Account or Other Specified under Access Credentials. If you selected Other Specified, enter the username and password of a Dynamics CRM user who has access to the organization.
- **5.** Choose the incoming and outgoing profiles you wish to use for this deployment and click OK.

### Note

Each user's incoming and outgoing method is set on the user record in the Dynamics CRM application. For example, a user can be set to use Outlook for incoming e-mail, and the E-mail Router for outgoing e-mail. To set which method a user will use, open the Administration page in the Settings area of the Dynamics CRM Web site and click the User link. Open the user record and scroll down to the e-mail settings section. Outlook is the default incoming and outgoing method for new users. If the user will use the E-mail Router profile for either incoming or outgoing e-mail, you must set that option on the user record.

#### FIGURE 4.17

Associating the incoming and outgoing profiles with a deployment organization in the E-mail Router Configuration Manager

Microsoft CRM Dynamics Deployment	_ 🗆 ×
Specify the type, location, and access credentials of this Microsoft Dynamics CRM deployment.	
Deployment: My company	
C An online service provider	
C Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online	
Microsoft Dynamics CRM Server:	
http://2008r2-demo:5555/SuccessAccelerators	
Access Credentials: Local System Account	
Default configuration profiles	
Incoming configuration profile:	
Incoming PUP Email Profile	
Uutgoing contiguration profile:	
OK Car	ncel

### Specifying users for the deployed profiles

Next, you must specify which users and queues in the deployment will be using the incoming and outgoing profiles you have defined.

- 1. In the E-mail Router Configuration Manager, click the Users, Queues, and Forward Mailboxes tab.
- **2.** From the drop-down list at the top, select the deployment for which you wish to configure users' E-mail Router profiles, and click the "Load Data" button. The users in the selected organization will be loaded and displayed.
- **3.** Select a user or users, and click the Modify button on the right side of the window. In the dialog that opens, set the Incoming Configuration Profile and the Outgoing Configuration Profile you want the user to use. If a profile option is grayed out, this is because the user's e-mail access type in Dynamics CRM has been set to either Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook, the Forward Mailbox, or None (see Figure 4.18). Click OK.
- **4.** After configuring the profiles for each user and queue, click the Test Access button to run a test that will check whether the E-mail Router can access the incoming and outgoing mail servers for each profile. Fix any errors that the test detects.
- **5.** When you are satisfied with the settings, click the Publish button at the bottom of the E-mail Router Configuration Manager window. After publishing is complete, click the Close button to close the window.

## Note

If your organization opts to use the E-mail Router to handle the processing of inbound and outbound messages, you must run the E-mail Router Configuration Manager to set the incoming and outgoing profiles that will be associated with a user each time a user is added to Dynamics CRM. Because of this extra administrative overhead — a step that is frequently overlooked when setting up a new user — Microsoft has defaulted new users to use the Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook client. This is the easiest setting for administrators because it requires no additional steps when creating new users. However, until a user has installed and configured the Outlook client, e-mail tracking will be unavailable for that user.

### Configuring the E-mail Router for use with a forwarding mailbox

If you have elected to use a forwarding mailbox to process incoming e-mail messages, you must also specify the incoming profile the forwarding mailbox will use. To use a forward mailbox, you must first create the mailbox in the Exchange Server.

- 1. In the E-mail Router Configuration Manager, click the Users, Queues, and Forward Mailboxes tab.
- 2. Select the deployment and click the Load Data button.
- **3.** When the data has loaded, switch to the Forward Mailboxes tab and click the New button.
- **4.** In the Forward Mailbox dialog, enter a friendly name for the mailbox and its e-mail address.

#### FIGURE 4.18

A user record where one of the e-mail access types has been set to "None." To associate a profile for this user in the E-mail Router Configuration Manager, you must first set this user to use the E-mail Router for the specified access type.

@User: Matt Wittemann - Mic	crosoft Dynamics CRM	- Windows Internet Exp	lorer			-	₽ ×
File User Create Related	Customize					C5 Admin Success Accelerator	n 🖗 '' 🔽
32 User: Matt Wittem	ann				Users	• • • 1	4
Information General	The information pro	ovided in this form is viewab	le by the entire organiza	tion.			
L Addresses	▼ General						Ĥ
▲ Related	Account Informat	tion					
Security Roles	User Name *	DEMO\matt.wittemann					
16 Field Security Profiles 16 Ouotas	User Information	,					
Work Hours	First Name *	Matt		Main Phone			
16 Audit History	Last Name *	Wittemann		Other Phone			
4 Service	Title			Home Phone			
🚳 Services	Primary E-mail			Mobile Phone			
Resource Groups	E-mail 2			Preferred Phone	Main Phone	•	
Processes     Gá Processes	Mobile Alert E-mail			Pager			
16 Dialog Sessions	Fax						
	Organization Info	ormation					
	Manager		4	Business Unit *	Success Accelerators	Q	
	Territory		Q	Site		Q	
	E-mail Access Cor	nfiguration					
	E-mail access type - Incoming: *	None				•	
	E-mail access type - Outgoing: *	Microsoft Dynamics CRM	for Outlook			•	
	Client Access Lice	ense (CAL) Information					
	Access Mode *	Read-Write	•				
	License Type *	Full	•				•
Status Enabled							
Done				👊 Local intranet	Protected Mode: Off	🖓 🔻 🔍 100%	•

- 5. Select the incoming profile the forward mailbox should use.
- **6.** Indicate whether messages should be deleted after being processed in the forward mailbox, and click OK.
- 7. Publish the configuration and close the program.

## Tip

After creating a forward mailbox in the Exchange Server, log into the forward mailbox account and launch Outlook at least once before configuring it for use with the Microsoft Dynamics CRM E-mail Router. Depending on your version of Exchange, a mailbox may not be fully initiated until it has been logged into.

#### Using the Rule Deployment Wizard

When using a forwarding mailbox with the Dynamics CRM E-mail Router, you must publish a rule to users' Exchange profiles to forward a copy of all incoming e-mail to the forward mailbox. Microsoft provides a Rule Deployment Wizard for this purpose. The wizard can be installed when installing the E-mail Router. To use the wizard, you must have administrative permissions in Exchange to deploy rules to users' mailboxes.

# The Outlook Client: New and Improved\_

Microsoft has supercharged the Outlook client for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011. No longer simply a way to track e-mail and frame the Dynamics CRM Web site, the new client makes Dynamics CRM as integral to Outlook as e-mail, the calendar, and the task list. Where previous versions of the Outlook client have been compared to Outlook plus Dynamics CRM, the current version has been likened to Outlook multiplied by Dynamics CRM. This is not just marketing hyperbole.

Dramatic improvements in the Outlook integration allow an unprecedented level of user control and interaction with Dynamics CRM records and data. Because Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 makes substantial use of the ribbon-style menus in Outlook 2007 and 2010, the user experience in Outlook 2003 is somewhat less dramatically improved from previous versions.

When used with Outlook 2007 and 2010, the new Dynamics CRM client for Outlook enables users to connect to multiple Dynamics CRM organizations, create their own record previews in the Outlook preview panes, and use features like inline charts, the "People Pane" for social media integration, and tabbed views directly within Outlook. These and other improvements to the Outlook integration are covered in more detail in Chapter 11, which includes a detailed guide to the new Outlook experience for Dynamics CRM users.

The significant changes to the Outlook client for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 represent a dramatic leap beyond the capabilities of competitive software in the CRM market and a new dimension to the software's functionality that may compel many organizations to consider upgrading their versions of Outlook.

To use the Rule Deployment Wizard, follow these steps:

- 1. Click Start ↔ Programs ↔ Microsoft Dynamics CRM E-mail Router ↔ Rule Deployment Wizard. A welcome screen appears.
- **2.** Click Next. Specify whether you are using an on-premises deployment or a hosted deployment and enter the address of the Dynamics CRM server, including the organization name.
- 3. Click Next.
- **4.** Enter the e-mail address of the forward mailbox and click Next. The users are loaded and displayed.
- 5. Select the users for which the rules should be deployed by highlighting them. Click Next.
- **6.** The wizard displays its progress as rules are deployed, indicating any errors and successes. When the rules have finished deploying, click Close.

# **Installing the Outlook Client**

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook client has undergone significant improvements for this version of Dynamics CRM. From seamless integration of the full breadth of Dynamics

CRM functionality, to the native Outlook experience, the advantages of using Dynamics CRM within Outlook are among the top benefits of the application.

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook client works with Outlook 2003, 2007, and 2010 and is available in two versions: the online client, which functions only with a connection to the Dynamics CRM server, and the offline client, which installs and synchronizes a local database copy of Dynamics CRM on the user's computer for full Dynamics CRM functionality while disconnected.

Additionally, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 now allows users to configure the Outlook client to connect to multiple organizations. While only one organization can serve as the default synchronizing organization for tracked activities, users can navigate secondary organizations without leaving Outlook.

Before installing the Outlook client for a Dynamics CRM user, be aware of the following:

- The user must have a supported version of Outlook already installed, and the mailbox must have been logged into at least once.
- After installing the Outlook client, it must be configured to connect to the Dynamics CRM server.
- The Dynamics CRM client for Outlook only tracks items from the users' default data files. In recent versions of Outlook, IMAP mail cannot be set as the default data file. Therefore only POP3 or Exchange data files are supported.
- The Outlook offline client installs a local SQL Server Express 2008 database with an instance name of "CRM."
- If multiple users share a computer, the online client can be installed once on the machine and configured for each user. The offline client, however, can only be installed and configured for one user per machine.
- Updates to the Outlook client are now delivered via Microsoft Updates (or an update server if your organization is using one). This makes for a much more supportable application with less administrative overhead.
- If any required components are missing, such as the .NET 4.0 Framework, they will be downloaded and installed during the client setup. Installation of missing components may require a restart of the machine after setup completes.

## Tip

Microsoft makes the Outlook client available as a download to users. If the Outlook client is not detected on a user's machine when the user accesses the Dynamics CRM web client, a message bar appears in the interface with a link to download the client. This message bar can be disabled for all users by creating a registry key on the Dynamics CRM server as follows: In the HKEY\_LOCAL\_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Microsoft\MSCRM subkey, add a new DWORD value named DisableOutlookSetupLink with a value of 1.

# An Overview of E-mail Settings\_

Four main components control how users' e-mail is integrated with Dynamics CRM. Each of these components must be properly configured to match the e-mail access policies and objectives for your deployment. The components that impact users' e-mail integration are:

- The User record in Dynamics CRM. The user record contains e-mail access settings for incoming and outgoing e-mail. The settings indicate if a user will have no e-mail access within Dynamics CRM or if the user will use the Outlook client or the E-mail Router. For incoming e-mail they may also use a forwarding mailbox. Users' primary e-mail addresses must also be approved by an administrator before e-mail messages can be sent.
- The E-mail Router. Incoming and outgoing profiles are configured and applied to users, queues, and forward mailboxes within a deployment. The E-mail Router enables server-side integration with Exchange and POP e-mail servers so users' e-mail can be sent and tracked from Dynamics CRM without user intervention.
- The Dynamics CRM client for Outlook. Even users whose user record is set for no e-mail access can use the Outlook client to track e-mail and synchronize activities, as well as use the full functionality of Dynamics CRM within Outlook. The user record e-mail access setting determines only whether the Outlook client or the E-mail Router checks inbound and outbound messages.
- The users' personal options settings. Users can set their personal options to specify which e-mail messages are tracked. If a user's user record has the E-mail Router set for either incoming or outgoing e-mail, the user must grant the router permission to process e-mail and enter his credentials in the Personal Options dialog. Note that the options available in a user's personal options settings depend on the access types specified in the user's user record. The default option is for only messages sent in response to a Dynamics CRM e-mail to be tracked.

Possible E-m Configuratio the User Rec	ail Access n Options on cord	Required Co E-mail Route	onfiguration in er	Is the Outlook Client Required?	Must User Grant Permission for E-mail Router and Store Credentials in Their Personal Options on the E-mail Tab?
Incoming	Outgoing	Incoming Profile	Outgoing Profile	Yes/No	Yes/No
None	None	None	None	No	No
					continued

The table below shows the possible configurations for Dynamics CRM users as well as the E-mail Router, Outlook client, and Personal Options settings that each configuration requires.

continued

Possible E-m Configuratio the User Rec	ail Access n Options on ord	Required Co E-mail Route	onfiguration in er	Is the Outlook Client Required?	Must User Grant Permission for E-mail Router and Store Credentials in Their Personal Options on the E-mail Tab?
None	Dynamics CRM for Outlook	None	None	Yes	No
None	E-mail Router	None	SMTP or Exchange	No	Yes
Dynamics CRM for Outlook	None	None	None	Yes	No
Dynamics CRM for Outlook*	Dynamics CRM for Outlook*	None	None	Yes	No
Dynamics CRM for Outlook	E-mail Router	None	SMTP or Exchange	Yes	Yes
E-mail Router	None	POP3 or Exchange	None	No	Yes
E-mail Router	Dynamics CRM for Outlook	POP3 or Exchange	None	Yes	Yes
E-mail Router	E-mail Router	POP3 or Exchange	SMTP or Exchange	No	Yes
Forward Mailbox	None	Exchange	None	No	No
Forward Mailbox	Dynamics CRM for Outlook	Exchange	None	Yes	No
Forward Mailbox	E-mail Router	Exchange	SMTP or Exchange	No	Yes

\*This is the default setting for newly created users.

In addition to the possible configurations listed above, security roles may also impact how users' e-mail interacts with Dynamics CRM.

# Manually installing the Outlook client

The Outlook client can be installed by logging onto the user machine and navigating to the Dynamics CRM Web client in Internet Explorer. If it has not been disabled, a message bar appears in the Outlook client with a link to download the Outlook client setup files (see Figure 4.19). (These files can be downloaded from the Dynamics CRM server or from the Microsoft Downloads site. See the Implementation Guide for more information on how to configure the location of the Outlook client download.) Alternately, the Outlook client can be downloaded directly from the Microsoft Downloads Web site.

#### FIGURE 4.19

If a user has not installed the Dynamics CRM client for Outlook, a message bar will appear in the Internet Explorer client when the user accesses the Dynamics CRM Web site.

The CRM for Outlook message bar appears to users who have not installed the Outlook Client



To install the Outlook client, follow these steps:

1. Click the Get CRM for Outlook button in the Web client or navigate to the location where you have extracted the downloaded setup files and double-click the setup client.exe file.

- **2.** In the Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook Setup dialog, accept the license terms and click Next.
- **3.** Click the Install Now button to install the online client. To install the offline client, click the Advanced button (see Figure 4.20) and select it. Click Next. The installation runs.
- 4. When it completes, click the Close button to close the setup dialog.

#### FIGURE 4.20

By default the online client will be installed. If you wish to install the offline client, click the Advanced button and select it.

Microsoft D	ynamics CRM for Outlook Setup	$\mathbf{x}$
	Select the installation you want	
- Contraction	Select your type of installation.	
	Install Now	
	Advanced	
		_

# **Configuring the Outlook client**

After completing the installation of the Outlook client, it must be configured. To configure the Outlook client, follow these steps:

- 1. Open Outlook. The Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook Configuration Wizard will open. Alternately, go to Start ↔ Programs ↔ Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 ↔ Configuration Wizard.
- **2.** If no organizations have been defined, the Add Organization dialog will open automatically (see Figure 4.21). If you are defining a secondary organization, click the Add button.
- **3.** In the Add Organization dialog, type the URL of the Discovery Web Services server and test the connection. Change the user credentials the user will be accessing this organization with different credentials.

- **4.** The Add Organization dialog will display available organizations to which the authenticated user has access. Select the organization you wish to configure. If this is the first organization you are configuring, it will be set automatically as the default organization. This option can be changed later after other organizations have been configured for the user. Click OK. The configuration will be applied.
- **5.** After the configuration is applied, repeat Steps 1–4 to add additional organizations that the user will access through Outlook. Click the Close button on the wizard and open Outlook to begin using Dynamics CRM.

#### FIGURE 4.21

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook configuration wizard allows users to configure connections to multiple organizations.

	Add Organization	1 <u>2</u>	빅
	Configuration		
erver UHL	Add server instance	5	Add
L	- Server Information		Edit
	Server mioniado		Delete
	Server URL:	http://2008r2-demo:5555	
		Test Connection	
	Authenticated as:	DEMO\C5Admin	
		Change	
	Organization Info	mation	
	Organization:	Success Accelerators	
	Display Name:	Success Accelerators	
	Primary Organiz	tion	
		OK Cancel	

# Installing and Configuring the Outlook client from the command line

The installation of the Outlook client can be scripted and performed from the command line by a user with local administration privileges. An example of a command line installation that quietly installs the online client to a specified directory and records a log of the installation to a text file:

```
Setupclient.exe /Q /l c:\clientinstalllog.txt INSTALLLEVEL=2
/targetdir "c:\Program Files\Microsoft Dynamics CRM Client"
```

After installation by command line, the client will need to be configured. This can also be scripted to use a configuration file that is referenced in a separate command line:

```
Microsoft.Crm.Client.Config.exe /Q /config C:\clientconfig.xml /l C:\configlog.
txt
```

The contents of the example clientconfig.xml file for a user who will be accessing Dynamics CRM through IFD using the online client for Outlook:

```
<CRMConfiguration>
<Client>
<ServerUrl Type="SPLA" ShowUser="false">
https://orgname.crm.mydomain.com</ServerUrl>
<CEIP option="false" />
<Organization>OrgName</Organization>
<ExtranetServerUrl>
https://crm.mydomain.com</ExtranetServerUrl>
</Client>
</CRMConfiguration>
```

In the example above, the ServerUrl type is set to use SPLA, an abbreviation for Service Provider License Agreement — an acronym for hosted Dynamics CRM providers. This same authentication method applies to on-premises deployments that are configured for external access.

The CEIP element opts the user in or out of Microsoft's Customer Experience Improvement Program. The Organization element specifies the system name of the organization, and the ExtranetServerUrl is the external address of the Discovery Web Services server.

The Implementation Guide contains information on all of the parameters available for use in command line installation and configuration.

You can use the examples above and in the Implementation Guide to script the installation and configuration of the Outlook client, or use a tool like Microsoft System Center Configuration Manager (SCCM). Using an automated deployment tool can help to efficiently manage installations of the Outlook client for large-scale deployments and deployments to users in multiple locations. Automated deployment is capable of installing both the online and offline client versions. Using automated software deployment tools, the setupclient.exe file can be pushed out to user machines along with the configuration file that inputs the required settings so users do not need to run the configuration wizard after the installation completes.

The Implementation Guide contains details on creating the configuration files and scripts necessary to package and distribute the Outlook client using an automated deployment tool.

# Upgrading the Outlook client

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0 client for Outlook can be upgraded to the new Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 client by running the setupclient.exe program on the client machine. The client setup will detect the type of the existing installation of the Version 4.0 client and proceed with an upgrade to the new version of the same type. A 4.0 online client cannot be upgraded to the new offline client, and a 4.0 offline client cannot be upgraded to the new online client. To change the type of client, you must uninstall the Version 4.0 client completely and start a new installation of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 client.

# Tip

If you have upgraded the Dynamics CRM server, it is not necessary to immediately upgrade all of the Outlook clients for your users. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0 clients for Outlook that are on Update Rollup 7 or later will be able to connect to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 server. (If the server address or authentication method has changed, the Configuration Wizard may need to be rerun on the machines in order for them to connect.) If a user has the Version 4.0 offline client with Update Rollup 7 or later, and is offline during the server upgrade, the user will be able to go online and connect to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 server. The user will not be able to go offline again until the Outlook client has been upgraded. Use this information to prioritize your upgrade plans for your offline users first.

To upgrade the Outlook client, follow these steps:

- 1. Click the Get CRM for Outlook button in the Web client or navigate to the location where you have extracted the downloaded setup files and double-click the setup client.exe file.
- **2.** In the Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook Setup dialog, accept the license terms and click Next.
- **3.** The installation program will detect the existing installation of the Version 4.0 client.
- **4.** Confirm that you want to upgrade the client by clicking the Upgrade button.
- **5.** Install any missing required components. When the installation is complete, click Next.
- **6.** When the system requirements check completes, fix any warnings or errors. Click Next when all green check marks are displayed. The upgrade process will run.
- 7. When the upgrade process finishes click the Close button to close the setup dialog.
- **8.** Start the Configuration Wizard to configure the client to connect to the Dynamics CRM server.

# Summary

After the Dynamics CRM server has been installed, you must install and configure the other essential components of the Dynamics CRM system. This chapter covered the installation and configuration of the following items:

- The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Reporting Extensions for SSRS. Dynamics CRM uses Microsoft SQL Server Reporting Services (SSRS) as its report engine. The Reporting Extensions for SSRS are necessary to publish, run, and schedule reports.
- **The SharePoint Grid component.** The SharePoint Grid component enables tight integration between Dynamics CRM and SharePoint 2010 document libraries. The grid must be installed on the SharePoint server that hosts the site collection that Dynamics CRM documents will be stored in.
- The configurations required for external access to Dynamics CRM. In order to enable Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 for Internet-Facing Deployment, you must first enable claims-based authentication, which requires Active Directory Federation Services 2.0, a relatively new technology that enables multiple identity providers like Active Directory and Live ID to be federated together.
- The E-mail Router and Rule Deployment Wizard. How e-mail integration works for each user is a result of the union of settings in the user's e-mail access types on the user record in the Dynamics CRM application, the profiles in the E-mail Router, the Outlook client, and each user's personal options. The E-mail Router is a central location to create and manage the incoming and outgoing profiles that provide access to the E-mail server. The Rule Deployment Wizard deploys forwarding rules to users' Exchange mailboxes for deployments that make use of a forwarding mailbox for inbound E-mail processing.
- The Dynamics CRM client for Outlook. The Outlook client has been greatly enhanced for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011. This chapter covered the steps necessary for the installation and configuration of both the online and offline Outlook clients. In addition to the components and configurations already covered in this chapter, there are several other items which may optionally need to be installed or configured for your users. These include language packs, third-party applications, mobile clients, and reporting tools like Microsoft SQL Server Report Builder 2.0.

# Part III

# Administering Dynamics CRM

ne of our primary goals in writing this book is to equip you to be a successful administrator of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011. This part of the book goes right to the heart of this goal with sweeping and in-depth coverage of everything you need to know after your system has been successfully installed and as you begin to prepare for your users.

In Chapters 5 and 6 we walk you through the steps you should take immediately after installing Dynamics CRM or setting up your online, Microsoft-hosted organization. From registering the software and taking steps to ensure your system is secure, to implementing your organization's IT policies and business structure, these chapters cover everything you need to know to get your shiny new system ready for users.

Chapter 7 provides in-depth instructions on creating and importing organizations, enabling claims-based authentication, and setting up internet-facing deployments.

Chapter 8 covers an administrator's guide to maintaining high-quality data using the tools at your disposal in Dynamics CRM, and Chapter 9 rounds out the administrative content by equipping you with the tools to keep Dynamics CRM humming along like a well-oiled machine.

## **IN THIS PART**

**Chapter 5** Post-Installation System Settings

Chapter 6 Managing Users in Dynamics CRM

**Chapter 7** Using the Deployment Manager

Chapter 8 Managing Data

**Chapter 9** Maintaining, Optimizing, and Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM

# CHAPTER

# Post-Installation System Settings

fter completing a successful installation of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 or signing up for Dynamics CRM Online, a number of tasks should be completed before you begin to tailor the system to your business processes or setting up users.

In some cases, the tasks require only simple configuration, but in other cases, you should take the time to understand how your organization will use Dynamics CRM, carefully plan the way you will set the system up, and document the decisions you make for later reference. If installing Dynamics CRM is analogous to building a house, then the post-installation steps detailed in this chapter are analogous to moving in and preparing for visitors.

This chapter covers three broad post-installation topics:

- Quick housekeeping steps
- Considerations regarding your corporate IT policies and planned usage of Dynamics CRM
- Planning and setting up your organization's structure and security

## On the Web Site

We have included a helpful planning tool on the companion Web site (www. dynamicscrmbible.com): "Ch5\_PlanningTool.xls" is a spreadsheet that will help you plan your business units, teams, users, security roles, and system settings. In addition, you can save this spreadsheet as documentation of your initial setup for future reference.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

- What to do after installing the Dynamics CRM Server and related components
- Dynamics CRM and your organization's IT policies
- Planning your organization's structure: Business units and security roles

# Putting Your Dynamics CRM House in Order

Getting signed up for Dynamics CRM Online or completing your on-premises installation is a major milestone for your Dynamics CRM project — like finishing up the construction of a new home — and you are now ready to move in. This section details some of the recommended best practices for this stage of your project that will be important later as you begin to customize your system.

# Creating a backup administrator

If you have installed Dynamics CRM on-premises, one of the first steps you should take is to create a backup administrator user. This simple safeguard is frequently overlooked but can save you and your company a great deal of grief down the road. Vacations, promotions, work-place turnover, and mistakenly deleted Active Directory accounts are among the most common reasons why creating a secondary system administrator user is a highly recommended best practice.

## Note

If you are using Dynamics CRM Online or partner-hosted, it is not necessary to set up a backup administrator because the hosting provider should take care of these types of contingencies. However, Microsoft recommends that Dynamics CRM Online customers have at least two users who have access to the online billing and account management site. You can add account delegates on Microsoft's billing site.

When you install Dynamics CRM, you are automatically added to the Deployment Manager (an MMC snap-in on the Dynamics CRM server) as a Deployment Administrator. You are also automatically added as a user with the System Administrator security role in the default organization.

Deployment Administrators can create, import, and remove Dynamics CRM organizations from your installation. Users in Dynamics CRM who have the System Administrator role can create and disable other users, add entities, and set system-wide settings.

## **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 7 contains a section that describes the function of a Deployment Administrator in detail.

To create a backup administrator, you add a new user record to Dynamics CRM, assign a security role to this user, and add the user as a Deployment Administrator in the Deployment Manager. Although Deployment Administrators do not need to be Dynamics CRM users, we

recommend having a backup user who is both a Deployment Administrator and a user with the System Administrator security role within Dynamics CRM.

To create the user record and assign the System Administrator security role, follow these steps:

- 1. Verify that the selected user has an Active Directory account and has permissions to access the server where Dynamics CRM is installed.
- **2.** Navigate to the User list view in the Dynamics CRM Web client by going to the Settings area and then clicking on Administration and then the Users link.
- 3. Click the New button at the top of the Users list view and select User.
- 4. In the User Name field enter the user's Active Directory log on in the form of DOMAIN\Username. When you tab out of the User Name field, Dynamics CRM attempts to query Active Directory and automatically populate the user's contact information from the Active Directory account. Add any other pertinent information to the user record and leave the Business Unit set to the default.
- 5. Choose an Access Mode (either Full or Administrative, not Read-only).
- **6.** Click the Save button on the top of the User form. When the form completes saving, additional options will appear on the form toolbar.
- 7. Click Actions Anage Roles to open the Confirm Security Role Assignment dialog.
- **8.** Place a check mark next to the System Administrator role, and click OK to close the dialog. Save and close the User record. The user should now be enabled and capable of logging into Dynamics CRM and performing administration and customization functions.

Next, add the user to Deployment Manager as a Deployment Administrator:

- **1.** Log onto the server where you installed Dynamics CRM, using the same account you used to install the software.
- 2. To launch the Deployment Manager snap-in, click on the Start button and go to All Programs ↔ Microsoft Dynamics CRM ↔ Deployment Manager.
- **3.** In the Deployment Manager, right-click on the Deployment Administrators node and click on the New Deployment Administrator command.
- **4.** Enter the user's logon name in the Select User dialog and click OK. The user is now a Deployment Administrator.

# **Running the Registration Wizard (on-premises installations only)**

After completing an installation of Dynamics CRM, you must register the software with Microsoft by completing the Registration Wizard. You have 30 days to complete the registration before Dynamics CRM is put into read-only mode. To complete the registration, the server must have an Internet connection. The wizard asks you to furnish information such as your company name and industry, the number of users, contact details, licensing agreement method, and partner details. It takes only a few minutes to complete.

The Registration Wizard is available on the Dynamics CRM server by clicking Start>All Programs>Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

# Designating a partner (Dynamics CRM Online customers)

If you have subscribed to Dynamics CRM Online with the help of a Microsoft partner, you may list them as the designated partner of record on CustomerSource. CustomerSource is a Microsoft Web site where you can log in with your Windows Live ID and manage account information and access benefits that come with being a licensed customer.

Benefits include access to training documents and online courses, access to support professionals, and a number of other resources that can help you get the most out of Dynamics CRM.

# **Cross-Reference**

More information and links to CustomerSource are in Appendix B.

To designate a partner on CustomerSource, log in to your Dynamics CRM Online organization and go to the Resource Center area. Click on any of the links in the Resource Center left navigation (Highlights, Sales, Marketing, Service, or Settings) and find the box titled Get Started with CRM Online (see Figure 5.1). In the section labeled Connect with Us click the link to designate a partner.

## Tip

Experience shows that CRM software projects can be fraught with unforeseen risks and obstacles. Engaging an experienced Microsoft partner with a good track record and excellent references can help mitigate these risks and improve your time-to-value. Microsoft has invested heavily in developing a well-trained partner network for Dynamics CRM. Appendix B contains links to help you locate a partner in your industry or geographic area.

#### FIGURE 5.1

You can find the link to designate a partner for your Dynamics CRM Online implementation in the Resource Center.



# Downloading and installing the latest update rollup

Like any complex software system, Dynamics CRM requires the occasional bug fix, security patch, or performance improvement. To distribute these updates, Microsoft regularly releases software updates for Dynamics CRM through the Windows Update service. These updates include regression-tested fixes for the relevant version of Dynamics CRM, as well as occasional new features (for example, Mobile Express was released as part of an update rollup for Version 4.0).

Occasionally, updates may require manual changes to system settings or registry keys to take advantage of the included fixes. You should review the detailed documentation in the updates' associated knowledge base articles on the Microsoft support Web site to thoroughly understand these and other details.

# Setting system settings

Dynamics CRM is designed to be tailored to your business requirements and therefore includes a large number of configurable settings that apply organization-wide. System settings affect only the organization for which you set them, so if you have installed a multitenant implementation (using Enterprise licensing), you will have to configure these settings on an organization-by-organization basis.

#### The System Settings dialog

Many settings are configured in the System Settings dialog, though a few are handled separately. Additionally, most of the system settings options can be exported as part of a solution and imported into a different organization. It is a recommended best practice to export the default solution in your new organization, including the default system settings, so you can restore your system to its original state if necessary. Also, because it is easy to change system settings, part of your change control and system governance plans should include documenting the settings you select. Simple screenshots can be an effective way to document these settings choices.

To open the System Settings dialog (see Figure 5.2), navigate to Settings ↔ Administration ↔ System Settings.

#### FIGURE 5.2

The System Settings dialog

🖻 System Settings Webpage Dialog		*
https://c5insight.crm3.dynamics.com/tools/systemsettings/dialogs/system	settings.aspx	9
System Settings Set system-level settings for Microsoft Dynamics CRM.		
Seneral Calendar Formats Auditing E-mail Marketing	Customization Outlook Reporting	
Select the display option for Get Started panes		
Show Get Started panes on all lists for all users	€ Yes C No	
Set the full-name format		
Name Format	First Name Last Name	•
Set the currency precision that is used for pricing throughout the system		
Pricing Decimal Precision	2	-
Set whether reassigned records are shared with the original owner		
Share reassigned records with original owner	C Yes 📀 No	
Set blocked file extensions for attachments		
ade; adp; app; asa; ashx; asm;; asp; bas; bat; cdv; cer; chm; class; cmd; com; config; mam; maq; mar; mas; mat; mau; mav; maw; mda; mdb; mde; mdt; mdv; mdz; ms; m em; scf; scr; sct; shb; shs; shtm; shtm; so ap; stm; tmp; ur]; vb; vb; vb; vb; svs; macros; vs;	cpl;crt;csh;dll;exe;fxp;hlp;hta;htr;htw;ida;id;cidq;inf;ins;isp;its;js;jse;ksh;lnk;mad;maf;mag; ih;msh1;msh1xmi;msh2;msh2xmi;mshxmi;msi;msp;mst;ops;pcd;pif;prf;prg;printer;pst;reg;r ;vst;vsw;ws;ws;cwsf;wsh	
Set the currency display option		
Display currencies by using	Currency symbol	-
Help	OK Cancel	
ttps://c5insight.crm3.dynamics.com/tools/systemsettings/dialogs/system	nsettings.aspx 🕘 Internet   Protected Mode: On	9

#### General tab

The settings you can configure on the General tab:

- Select the display option for Get Started panes. This organization-wide setting by default enables the Get Started panes to be displayed on many system entities. Leaving this set to Yes means that users will see the panes by default but can turn them off in their Personal Options. Setting this to No disables the panes for all users.
- Set the full-name format. Use this option to set how Contacts, Leads, and Users are displayed throughout Dynamics CRM. *Note that any changes you make to this set-ting only apply to new Contacts, Leads, and Users.* This is because the Full Name field on the Contact, Lead, and User entities is populated by concatenating the name fields when the record is created. (You can find numerous blog posts about a simple yet technically unsupported SQL script that will update the fullname field in the database, should you decide to change this setting after data has been loaded in these entities. The usual caveats about using technically unsupported techniques apply, of course: Be sure you are confident that you know what you are doing, what changes are taking place, and have backups!)
- Set the currency precision that is used for pricing throughout the system. This setting only impacts the pricing on products set up in the product catalog. Other currency (money) fields are not impacted.
- Set whether reassigned records are shared with the original owner. This is an important consideration when designing your security model for your organization. By default, when a user assigns a record he owns to another user, the record is not shared with the original owner. In some situations, it is helpful to allow the original user to retain certain privileges on the record that has been reassigned. However, this setting impacts *all entities in all situations*. It is recommended to leave this set at the default No option. If your organization has a specific requirement that differs from this default behavior on a particular entity, it is advisable to use custom code (in the form of a workflow assembly or plug-in) to handle this.
- Set blocked file extensions for attachments. Because file attachments are stored in the Dynamics CRM database, you need to leave the default settings for this option (and add any special cases that arise in your organization) intact to prevent dangerous files from being inserted into your SQL Server. In the Dynamics CRM UI, file attachments are visible as attachments to e-mail activities as well as files attached to Notes. This setting does not impact document management integration with SharePoint.
- Set the currency display option. Determines whether money fields display the currency symbol (such as the \$ sign) or the currency code (such as USD).

#### Calendar tab

This tab is new to Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 and configures settings for the scheduling options. Use this option to configure the maximum duration of a Dynamics CRM appointment in days.

#### Formats tab

This tab determines the default formats for currency and date/time fields in your system. (If you set the currency precision option on the General tab, save your settings by clicking the OK button and reopening the System Settings dialog before changing the currency and number formats on this tab so the preview of your current settings is accurate.)

This tab shows a preview of your current settings. Click the Customize button to open a dialog to change the current settings. In the Customize Regional Options dialog, choose the number, currency, time, and date settings that reflect your organization's locale. The previews show you the default settings or those that have already been applied. To see your changes, click the Apply button. You can reset all these settings to their defaults by clicking the Reset button.

#### Auditing tab

The audit settings allow you to enable auditing for entities in the current organization. To use the auditing feature in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, you must enable this feature and configure each entity, and each field on those entities, you wish to audit. This settings tab allows you to configure Dynamics CRM so the system creates an audit record each time a change is made to an audit-enabled entity, even if the change does not affect the fields you have specified as audit-enabled. In this way, you will always be able to determine that a change has been made. However, keep in mind that if you have a heavily used system with frequent changes to data, a high level of auditing may have a negative impact on system performance.

#### E-mail tab

When e-mail messages are sent from the Dynamics CRM application, whether by a user or through workflow, and when e-mail messages are tracked before being sent from Outlook, Dynamics CRM adds a tracking token to the subject line of the outbound e-mail. The tracking token is used by the E-mail Router in Dynamics CRM to identify with which record in the database the e-mail message should be associated. The token can be entirely disabled or configured to match your organization's requirements.

## **Cross-Reference**

Integrating Dynamics CRM with Exchange Server or another e-mail provider is a complex topic that is impacted by numerous factors. Chapter 4 includes detailed instructions to manage the various components that play a role in tracking e-mail.

• **Prefix.** The e-mail tracking token can, in rare circumstances, cause e-mail messages to be caught by recipients' spam filters. Another way that the tracking token can be defeated is if two organizations that both use Dynamics CRM send e-mail messages to one another, and neither has changed the token prefix. To minimize this risk and give your recipients an indication of the purpose of the tracking token, using a prefix that relates to your organization is recommended. (For example, if your company is called ABC Enterprises, you might set the prefix to "ABCEnt.")

- **Deployment base tracking number.** If your organization uses multiple instances, or organizations, of Dynamics CRM, set this as a different number for each organization. (This not only helps the E-mail Router to track messages to the correct organization database but also helps users and administrators troubleshoot e-mail settings.)
- Number of digits for user numbers and Number of digits for incremental message counter. When the counter reaches its maximum number based on your configuration, it will roll over and begin tracking e-mail messages from the lowest number again. For example, if your tracking number is only three digits long after the prefix, it will reach 999 messages and then roll over and start at 001. The e-mail router uses the number in the token as well as other header information (date, subject, sender, recipient, and so on) to associate the e-mail correctly.

If you have a large number of users, you can reach the maximum number very quickly. This is why the settings dialog allows you to set these options. If you have 1000 users, set the Number of digits for user numbers to 4 — the number of digits in 1000. Set the Number of digits for incremental message counter based on your estimation of the volume of e-mail your organization will send through Dynamics CRM. This is a subjective setting, but provides you with flexibility as an administrator should your organization find that e-mail messages are not being appropriately tracked.

- Set tracking options for e-mails between CRM users. If this option is disabled, only one activity record is created in Dynamics CRM when one user sends an e-mail message to another. This option was incorporated to address circumstances where the e-mail router may not capture e-mail messages that do not leave a domain.
- Use secure frames to restrict e-mail message content. When e-mail messages are tracked into the Dynamics CRM database, you may want to disable active content within the e-mail. This is the default setting. Users will see an information bar on the e-mail record denoting that active content has been disabled.
- Allow messages with unresolved e-mail recipients to be sent. Selecting Yes on this option allows users to type e-mail addresses into the recipient fields on Dynamics CRM e-mail activity records. By default, e-mail activities originating in Dynamics CRM and using the Dynamics CRM e-mail form can be sent only to Accounts, Contacts, or Leads using the primary e-mail address of these records.
- Set file size limit for attachments. When an e-mail message is tracked into Dynamics CRM, only attachments under this maximum file size will be stored in the database. By default, this setting is set to 5,120 kilobytes (5MB) and can be increased up to 8,192 kilobytes (8MB). (The maximum file size allowable for this option is controlled by values in the Dynamics CRM Web site's web.config file.)

#### Marketing tab

Dynamics CRM is often used to generate marketing messages through e-mail. This tab allows you to set certain options that impact e-mail marketing.

• Set whether direct e-mail through mail merge is enabled in campaigns. Campaigns and Quick Campaigns allow users with appropriate permissions to send mass e-mails to Dynamics CRM accounts, contacts, and leads. Some organizations may want to restrict this functionality as a large volume of outbound e-mail may have ramifications, such as getting your organization's domain blacklisted with spam filtering services.

## Note

Dynamics CRM can be used to manage marketing campaigns that involve sending bulk e-mail messages, and, in many ways, this functionality can be helpful to professional marketers. However, because Dynamics CRM is not primarily designed to be a marketing execution platform, you should evaluate your organization's need for e-mail messaging and consider supplementing Dynamics CRM with a third-party tool that provides greater control over mass e-mail marketing. Companies like Eloqua, ExactTarget, Zoomio, and others provide sophisticated marketing tools that integrate with Dynamics CRM to provide powerful marketing solutions.

- Set whether campaign responses are created for incoming campaign activity e-mail (available only if e-mail tracking is enabled). When e-mail messages are sent from a Campaign or Quick Campaign, replies can be automatically logged as Campaign Responses under the Campaign. This is useful if your organization sends marketing communications through Dynamics CRM and wishes to track response rates. If this setting is disabled, e-mail replies must be manually converted to Campaign Responses by the users.
- Set the auto-unsubscribe options (available only if e-mail tracking is enabled). Enable this setting so that unsubscribe requests sent in response to campaign e-mail will automatically toggle the Do Not Send Marketing Material setting on the corresponding Leads, Accounts, and Contacts. You can also specify an acknowledgment e-mail to be sent when unsubscribe requests are received. In practice, this feature requires a number of things to work together in order to function as expected: E-mail messages sent from Campaigns and Quick Campaigns must have the Dynamics CRM Unsubscribe link embedded in the body of the message, and tracking tokens must be used in the outbound e-mail subject line. When the target of a campaign e-mail clicks the Unsubscribe link, his e-mail software will launch a reply with the word UNSUBSCRIBE: in the subject line, followed by the subject of the original campaign e-mail message and the tracking token. When the unsubscribe request is received and tracked into Dynamics CRM and auto-resolved to the correct Lead, Account, or Contact, the Do Not Send Marketing Material field will be appropriately toggled.

#### Customization tab

The Customization tab has one setting: whether to launch the Dynamics CRM Web site in Application mode or not. Application mode simply launches the Web client for Dynamics CRM without the address bar. This is a relic of earlier versions of Dynamics CRM where the emphasis of development was placed on creating a desktop-application experience.

## Note

In previous versions of Dynamics CRM, the Customization tab controlled which clients ISV menu items would appear in (Outlook, Outlook offline, Web) and what prefix would be used for custom entities and fields. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, custom Ribbon menu items are individually set to display in appropriate clients, and prefixes for custom entities and fields are inherited from the solution publisher.

#### Outlook tab

The Outlook tab provides you with a great deal of control over how users' e-mail and local data is synchronized between Dynamics CRM and the Outlook client. The control that users have over their own personal settings in the Outlook client are limited by the settings you configure here.

- Set e-mail promotion options for Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook. The Outlook client can automatically track e-mail messages into Dynamics CRM. These settings determine whether e-mail messages are checked for relevancy immediately upon receipt and how frequently the e-mails are promoted to the database. If a user's profile is set to use the Outlook client for outbound e-mail (as opposed to the E-mail Router) you can configure how frequently Dynamics CRM messages will be sent.
- Set whether users can schedule synchronization in Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook. This setting allows you to restrict users from setting their own synchronizations of the Outlook client, and, if permitted, the minimum interval. This setting impacts users of both the offline and online-only Outlook clients.
- Set whether users can update their local data in the background in Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook. Local data consists of records that users of the offline Outlook client synchronize to their computers for use when disconnected from the Internet or the Dynamics CRM server. This setting allows you to restrict background synchronization intervals. If you disable background synchronization for your offline users, they will need to synchronize all new data to Outlook each time they go offline. Background synchronization makes going offline a quicker process.
- Set schedule for address book synchronization in Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook. Dynamics CRM automatically sets up an address book provider that is accessible in Outlook. This setting restricts synchronization of this address book and impacts only users of the offline client.

#### Reporting

The Reporting tab enables you to add, remove, set the sort order, and specify the default option for the labels used to categorize reports. Reports can be added to multiple categories.

### Other administration settings

Before moving on to Business Units and Users, there are still several settings you should configure in the Administration page. We will address Business Units, Teams, Security Roles, and Users later in this chapter.

#### Auto-Numbering

Several built-in entities have fields that are automatically populated with numbers that make it easier for users to reference specific records. These entities are Contracts, Cases, Articles, Quotes, Orders, Invoices, and Campaigns. Use the Auto-Numbering dialog to set the prefixes for each of these entities and a suffix length that will be used by all auto-numbered entities. Prefixes can be up to three characters. Suffixes are used on entities that can be created while a user is offline in the Outlook client, thus avoiding clashes between two auto-numbered records that might otherwise have the same sequential number.

#### Languages

The Languages dialog displays the language packs that have been installed on your Dynamics CRM server. Language packs contain translations of menus, reports, messages, and other interface text. The base language in which Dynamics CRM was installed is not displayed (it is visible to users on the user Options dialog). You can enable and disable the languages that are available to the users in this organization. (Installation of language packs, or MUIs — multilingual user interfaces — is covered later in this chapter.)

#### Privacy preferences

Microsoft's Customer Experience Improvement Program (CEIP) is an automated program built into a variety of Microsoft products to help the software company collect anonymous data about the usage of its software and errors the system may encounter. By default this setting does not opt your Dynamics CRM system into participation in the CEIP.

#### Product updates

Clicking on this link opens a Web page where you can subscribe to e-mail updates and news about Dynamics CRM from Microsoft or partner companies.

#### **Business management settings**

The settings available from the Business Management page include settings and lists that are used throughout the system, but our focus in this section is on the items you should set up after installation and before adding users: Fiscal Year Settings, Sales Territories, and Currencies. The other lists on this page are related to service scheduling.

#### Fiscal year settings

This dialog allows you to set the start date for your organization's fiscal year as well as the formats for displaying fiscal periods, such as months or quarters. Fiscal year settings are primarily used when setting users' sales quotas.

Set the start date and choose the template that matches the way your organization divides the fiscal year. You can also set the way these periods are displayed. If your fiscal year does not coincide with the calendar year, use the "Name Based On" picklist to determine how the year should be referenced. (For example, if your fiscal year starts on June 1, 2011, should January 10, 2012 be displayed as belonging to fiscal year 2011 or 2012? If the former, set this option to Start Date.)

## Caution

Fiscal year settings can only be set once and cannot be changed after they are set.

#### Sales territories

Sales territories are simple lists you can use to group users. When creating a territory you can set the user who is the manager of the territory, and add members to the territory.

#### Currencies

Dynamics CRM supports multiple currencies. When performing the installation or creating a new organization, a base currency is selected and set for the organization. Entities with money fields also have a Currency lookup that defaults to your organization's base currency but which can be set to other currencies that you add. When Opportunities or other transaction records are created from within an Account or Contact, they use the currency set on the customer record with which they are associated.

Money fields have two stored values in the database: a base value (in terms of the organization's base currency) and the display value (the amount entered by the user). The platform converts the numerical amount entered in the displayed money field using the exchange rate recorded in the currency record.

To add a new currency to your organization, click on the Currencies link in the Business Management area, and in the list view that opens, click the New button. In the Currency form, click the Currency Code lookup to select a system code, or change the Currency Type to Custom to enter your own (see Figure 5.3). When you select a system currency code, the currency name and symbol are automatically populated.

You must enter a conversion value manually. (If your organization utilizes multiple currencies, consider using custom code or a third-party add-on to update the exchange rate for your currency records.) The conversion value is used at the time the data is entered, and changes to the conversion value do not update amounts that have already been entered in money fields in other records.

For example, consider a scenario where your organization has a base currency of U.S. dollars and has added Euros as an additional currency with a conversion value, where USD 1.00 = EUR 0.79. If a user has selected Euros as his local currency and creates an Opportunity record with an estimated value of  $\notin$ 7900.00, the value is stored in the database in two fields: the EstimatedValue field, which would have the number 7900.00, and the EstimatedValue\_Base field which would have a value of 10000.00. The exchange rate at the time the Opportunity is created is also recorded. If you update the currency conversion value, the values on this Opportunity remain unchanged.

The base currency of an organization cannot be changed, and additional currencies that you have added cannot be deleted if they are used by a record in the system.

#### FIGURE 5.3

The Currency form. You must manually set and maintain the conversion value, or incorporate a custom solution to update this value for you.

Currency: Euro - Microso	ft Dynamics CRM - \	Vindows Internet Explorer			_ 8 ×
COC ~ M http://crm:555	5/Contoso3/biz/transact	oncurrencies/edit.aspx?id=%7b974659CD-	0186-DF11-B7DA-00155D: 🛨 🛃	Bing	- ۹
😪 Favorites 🛛 😁 🖛 Micro	osoft Dynamics CRM	Currency: Euro - Microso 🗙	1	🟠 • 🖾 - 🖃 🖶 • Page • Safety	• Tools • 🕢 • »
Save and Clos	e 🔓 🎒 🌀 Run Wi	orkflow 🖏 Actions +			@ <u>H</u> elp +
	Currency: Euro ≪ Informatio	n			
Details:	Information				
General General					-
G Workflows	✓ General			-	
	Currency Code *	EUR	Currency Precision	* 2	
	Currency Name *	Euro	Currency Symbol *	€	
	Currency Conversion	1			
	USD 1.00 - EUR*	0.85200000			•
Status: Active					-
Done			👘 Local inf	tranet   Protected Mode: Off 🛛 🖓	• 🔍 100% • /

#### Business settings used for service scheduling

Lists that pertain to this functionality which are available on the Business Management page are:

- Facilities/Equipment
- Resource Groups
- Services
- Business Closures
- Sites

Service scheduling is covered in detail in Chapter 14.

# Taking Your Network and Domain Policies into Consideration

As you prepare to add users to Dynamics CRM, consider your organization's security policies and technologies. This topic is broad and varies greatly from organization to organization, but some of the things you may need to consider as you roll out Dynamics CRM to users include:

- Logon/authentication policies. Depending on the deployment model you chose for your Dynamics CRM implementation, users may sign in to the application using Windows domain credentials (on-premises implementations), a Windows Live ID (Microsoft-hosted online), or a simple username and password combination (IFD-only or partner-hosted scenarios). Some organizations may require users to change passwords on a regular basis. Users who access Dynamics CRM using the Outlook client, or who permit the E-mail Router to send mail on their behalf, will have to update their passwords in Dynamics CRM when this occurs.
- **Firewall and virus protection settings.** In rare cases, you may need to adjust server or client firewall settings to allow users to access Dynamics CRM, or add Dynamics CRM to allowed application lists in firewall and antivirus settings. This is typically not a problem as users access Dynamics CRM through standard HTTP protocols on ports 80 (standard) or 443 (SSL), or port 5555 for an installation of Dynamics CRM to a new Web site. A complete list of ports for Dynamics CRM is in the Implementation Guide.

Depending on your organization's policies, there may be other security considerations that you must evaluate and respond to. Adequate testing should be performed after making any changes to security policies and roles to ensure a smooth rollout. To maximize adoption of Dynamics CRM, it's important that users' initial experiences with Dynamics CRM are favorable.

# Tip

The Implementation Guide is an indispensable tool for every Dynamics CRM administrator and is available for free from the Microsoft Downloads Web site. The Implementation Guide, often referred to as the IG, is divided into two main sections: Planning and Installing. Both sections of the IG have important guidance and step-by-step instructions that relate to security configuration.

# **Settings for Internet Explorer**

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 relies heavily on Internet Explorer to deliver a rich, interactive experience to users. Therefore, Internet Explorer should be treated like any other business application in your organization. Following are some tips to make sure Internet Explorer is optimally configured for Dynamics CRM. Some of these settings can be controlled through Group Policy on your network domain.

- Based on your deployment option and organization's policies, add the Dynamics CRM Web site to the Intranet zone or Trusted Sites zone, and make sure that the zone is configured for automatic logon where applicable.
- Disable popup blockers for the zone in which you place the Dynamics CRM Web site.
- Remove or disable third-party toolbars from Internet Explorer. In some cases, thirdparty toolbars contain popup blockers or other features that may interfere with Dynamics CRM.
- Consider changing the tab settings in Internet Explorer so that popups always open in a new tab. This can streamline navigation through Dynamics CRM and minimize the confusion that having multiple open windows can cause. This may require retraining your users if they are unaccustomed to using Internet Explorer's tabs in this way.

# **Configuring Internet-Facing Deployment**

If you did not configure Internet-Facing Deployment (IFD) during installation, you may decide to do so now. IFD allows users to access Dynamics CRM from outside of your network domain without using a VPN connection. IFD also allows remote users to configure the Dynamics CRM client for Outlook to access the application without a VPN connection. When IFD is configured, users can surf to the designated URL, where they will be directed to a sign-in page to authenticate to the Dynamics CRM Web site.

An IFD tool is available within the Deployment Manager on the Dynamics CRM server to assist with configuring Dynamics CRM for external access. The Implementation Guide includes detailed steps for configuring IFD. IFD requires a combination of manual steps and steps that can be automated by the IFD settings in the Deployment Manager, including:

- Configuring external (and internal, if necessary) DNS settings for the URL users and the Outlook client will use to connect to Dynamics CRM
- Setting the subnet zones that are internal to your network, and which should therefore use integrated Windows authentication and not present users with the IFD signin page
- Selecting the protocol for the Web site and Web services (HTTP or HTTPS)
- Testing that the IFD address properly resolves to the Dynamics CRM Web site and the correct organization

See the Implementation Guide for complete instructions on setting up IFD.

## Tip

When configured for IFD, Dynamics CRM will be accessible at a URL in the following format: https://org-name.domain.com where orgname is the Organization name for the configured instance of Dynamics CRM. You will need to have your ISP configure this subdomain to point to your Dynamics CRM server's external URL, ensure that the appropriate port is open on your corporate firewall, and deploy a wildcard SSL certificate on the Dynamics CRM Web site. (A wildcard SSL certificate enables the SSL protocol to encrypt traffic to sub-domains, such as the orgname in the URL above.)

# Making a backup of Dynamics CRM

Before you add users, data, or customizations to Dynamics CRM, it is the recommended best practice to make a backup of your new implementation. Your backup should include the Dynamics CRM databases, SQL Reporting Services databases, Active Directory, and system state backups, directory backups of the Dynamics CRM Web site root and program folders, and the default solution XML and settings from the Dynamics CRM application.

## **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 9 provides additional guidance on backing up your Dynamics CRM system.

Exporting the default solution XML after installation and before adding users provides you with an easy way to return to the baseline, uncustomized interface of a clean installation. The default solution XML contains the entities, forms, fields, charts, relationships, and settings that constitute the basic setup of Dynamics CRM after successful installation and configuring the system settings described earlier in this chapter.

## Note

Importing customizations is an additive process. Restoring a backed-up version of your default solution by importing it back into Dynamics CRM will not remove any new custom entities or fields that you have added. Therefore, simply importing a backup customizations file will not restore your system to a true, clean baseline. To accomplish this, you must restore backups of the SQL Server databases.

To back up the default solution XML, follow these steps:

- 1. In the Settings area, open the Customizations page and click on the Solutions link.
- **2.** Select the Default solution and click the Export button on the toolbar above the list view. The Export Solution dialog opens.
- **3.** If you have configured any changes that have not been published, click the Publish All Customizations button. When the publish operation completes, click Next.
- **4.** On the Export Settings page, place a check mark next to each of the settings in order to include them all in the backup of the default solution. Click Next.
- **5.** On the Package Type screen, the Unmanaged option will be selected by default, and the Managed option will be grayed out (this is the Default solution, not a custom solution).
- **6.** Click the Export button to begin the export operation. The export process may take a short time to complete. You are prompted with a File Download dialog that allows you to select where you want to save the exported XML.

The XML is exported in a compressed .zip file, and automatically provided with a name that reflects both the solution name and the version number. For a new installation of Dynamics CRM, this will be Default\_1\_0.zip.

## Tip

In addition to a comprehensive backup plan for your system, you should regularly export the solution XML, including available settings, in order to undo any changes you or the users may make which are undesirable.

# Planning and Implementing Your Organization's Structure

Dynamics CRM has a robust security model consisting of several components that work together to control the privileges and access levels to which users are entitled. The combination of these security controls also establishes an organizational structure within Dynamics CRM.

The hierarchy of security controls for Dynamics CRM:

- Access. How will users access the system? (HTTP/HTTPS, the Outlook client, mobile devices). Each of these gateways will have associated security protocols in place.
- Authentication. How are users recognized by Dynamics CRM? This can be established through Active Directory, Windows Live ID, or claims-based authentication.
- Organization. To which organization(s) does the user belong? Users have a default organization and may belong to multiple organizations.
- Business Unit. User will belong to a Business Unit (BU). BUs are also hierarchical and may have multiple child BUs. BUs establish the depth of the organization's structure in Dynamics CRM.
- Security Role. Users may have multiple security roles. Security roles establish the depth and breadth of access and privileges that users are granted.
- Team. Users may belong to one or more teams. Teams also have security roles and can own records in Dynamics CRM.
- Field Security Profiles. Field security profiles are used to enforce field-level security on Dynamics CRM objects.

As this list makes obvious, implementing a business structure for your organization can become a complex undertaking. The needs of your organization dictate the amount of time you should spend analyzing and planning the organizational structure and security model for your Dynamics CRM implementation. Many administrators will start with an org chart depicting the different divisions, departments, and reporting structures in their organization. While an org chart can be helpful in visualizing the structure you want to implement in Dynamics CRM, remember that the combination of BUs, security roles, teams, and field security profiles that you implement should reflect the security and collaboration requirements of your organization and may differ substantially from the actual org structure.

# **Options for security model**

CRM systems are intended to provide organizations with a quick and easy way to view and share information about customers. This collaboration and sharing of information can become a valuable asset and contribute to the return an organization realizes from its CRM investment. However, in many organizations, there are compelling business requirements, regulations, and other concerns that may require a more restrictive policy toward information sharing. Also, Dynamics CRM is increasingly being used to develop XRM solutions — solutions that are not focused on customer relationships, but rather on managing other line-of-business data. There are three basic approaches you can take as you plan and implement your organization's security model: open, balanced, or closed.

### **Open organization**

In an open organization, every user can view and edit records throughout the system, regardless of who owns them.

### **Balanced organization**

A balanced security model provides wide visibility of records to all users, but restricts the users to editing only their own records.

## **Closed organization**

A closed organization restricts users to seeing and editing only their own records.

### **Custom sharing rules**

Many organizations incorporate a hybrid of the open, balanced, and closed security models, perhaps granting open access to some records that are of common interest across the organization while restricting read/write privileges on entities that are pertinent to a specific division or department. The Dynamics CRM default security roles reflect a combination of the open and balanced models described above. If your organization requires custom sharing rules and a hybrid security model, you can use the default settings as a starting point, adjusting them to achieve your desired result.

# **Understanding business units**

One of the greatest values of Dynamics CRM is its ability to increase knowledge-sharing and ease access to information for an organization. The real world, though, often requires a more structured approach to information access. Business Units are the fundamental building block that Dynamics CRM uses to establish the depth of a user's access.

Think of a typical org chart that consists of a hierarchical structure. At the top you have executives and headquarters departments. Each of these groups may have multiple divisions underneath them, branching out to the lowliest ranks of the organization. Business Units can be similarly structured. Each BU has one parent BU, but may have multiple child BUs. Each user (and team) must belong to one (and only one) BU. Security roles can be configured to provide users and teams with privileges (such as read, write, assign, and so on) limited to their own records, their own BUs, child BUs, or organization-wide. In other words, BUs represent the depth of a user's or team's privileges.

When designing and implementing the BU structure for your organization, expect it to change, and do your best to lay a solid foundation that you can modify as your business needs evolve. The best practice is to implement as flat a BU structure as possible, both to simplify administration and to minimize complexity.

Below are some simple rules to keep in mind when working with Business Units:

- 1. Business Units cannot be deleted or renamed, but they can be disabled or reparented. When disabling a BU, all users and teams within it are also disabled. When reparenting a BU, users' and teams' security roles are removed and must be reassigned manually.
- **2.** When creating a new BU, security roles are automatically copied down from the parent to the child BU, where they cannot be edited. They must be edited in the parent BU, and changes will propagate down to the security roles in all child BUs.

# Tip

Because you are likely to move business units around in the future, as your use of Dynamics CRM and business requirements evolve, it is a good practice after installation to create a new business unit to serve as the functional root BU. Leave the actual default root BU alone, and create a new child BU that you can easily reparent later if needed.

To create a new Business Unit, in the Settings area, open the Administration page and click the Business Units link. In the Business Units list view, click the New button and complete the form. Note that the root BU created during installation is automatically populated in the Parent Business field. Change this to the correct BU and save and close the form. Alternately, you can open an existing BU and create a new child BU from the left-hand link. Creating a BU from within a BU will automatically set the parent to the existing BU you started with.
# **Configuring security roles**

If Business Units create the depth of your organization's structure in Dynamics CRM, security roles specify the breadth of a user's or team's privileges, and the depth to which they can employ them. Security roles use these two concepts — depth and privilege — to create a multidimensional set of permissions.

Privileges are the actions that a user may perform on a specific entity. The available privileges are:

- Create
- Read
- Write
- Delete
- Append (permits the user/team to attach an instance of the specified entity to another record as a child)
- Append To (permits the user/team to attach other records to the specified entity)
- Assign (not available for organization-owned entities)
- Share (not available for organization-owned entities)

The intersection of a security role's privileges on a given entity are referred to as access levels. Access levels determine the scope or range of records upon which a user may perform the privileges. Access levels (depths) are:

- None. The user cannot perform the privilege on any records.
- User. The granted privilege can only be performed on records the user owns.
- Business Unit. The granted privilege can be performed on records in the user's Business Unit, regardless of who owns the record.
- Parent: Child Business Units. The granted privilege can be performed on records in the user's Business Unit, or on any records in Business Units that are parented by the user's Business Unit.
- Organization. The granted privilege can be performed on any record throughout the organization.

Dynamics CRM's default security roles have more than 480 privileges, each of which can be assigned one of the access levels or depths (see Figure 5.4). Each new custom entity will add to this number.

## Note

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 introduces team ownership, the capability for records to be owned by teams rather than by users. Teams are assigned security roles just as users are. Users can be members of multiple teams.

#### FIGURE 5.4

A default security role showing the core system entities, privileges, and access levels that can be configured

	-									0 1-
Security Role: Cu	istomer	Service	Representa	itive					Working on solutio	<u>in:Default</u> Solut
Details Core Records Marketing	Sales	Service	Business Man	agement	Service Manag	gement Cus	tomization	Documents	Privile	eges
Entity	Create	Read	Write	Delete	Append	Append To	Assign	Share		
Account	0	•	•		•	•		•		
Activity		•	•	0	0	•	•	•		
Announcement	0	•	0	0		0				
Application File	0	•	0	0						
Connection		•	•	•	•	•	۲	•		
Connection Role	0	•	0	0	0	0			Acce	ss levels
Contact		•	•		•	•		•	(d	epth)
ustomer Relationship	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Data Import	$\Theta$	•	9	9	9	$\Theta$	9	0-	_	
Data Map	0	•	•	9	0	•	•	•		
Duplicate Detection Rule	0	•	0	0	0	0	0	0		
E-mail Template	۲	•			•	0	•	0		
Import Data	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		
Import Source File	•	•	•	9	0	•	•	•		
Lead		•						•		
Mail Merge Template							۲	•		
Note		•			$\Theta$	•		•		
Opportunity		•	۲	۲			۲	•		
Opportunity Relationship	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Queue		•				•	٢			
Relationship Role	0	0	0	0	0	0				
Report								•		
Key										
O None Selected	Hear	Durin	acc Unit	-						

When users are assigned more than one security role, they receive the union of permissions from the security roles. In other words, they are given the least restrictive permissions. For example, if one security role has the User access level on the Write privilege for contacts, and a second role grants the Organization access level for the same privilege, a user with both security roles will have the greater permission — Organization-wide Write privileges on contacts.

Dynamics CRM ships with a number of default security roles. Among the default roles are two that have special behavior when it comes to custom entities. The System Administrator role and the System Customizer role are automatically granted privileges for new custom entities when the entities are added to the system. Other roles must be manually updated to accommodate new entities. (Alternately, since users can have multiple security roles, if you add a number of new entities as part of a solution, the solution may come packaged with security roles that you can add to users to grant them the privileges they need.)

## Sharing Records with Users and Teams\_

Users can share certain records with other users or teams if they have the appropriate privileges. When sharing a record, users can specify the users or teams with which the record will be shared, as well as the privileges they are granting. Sharing grants access rights to a user or team only for the shared record and is a convenient way to handle collaboration when users wouldn't otherwise have permissions to the record in question due to access level restrictions.

If the user with whom the record is shared doesn't have the specified privilege (read, write, assign, delete) for that type of entity, sharing cannot grant them the ability. For example, if a user does not have write permissions on the Account entity, another user cannot grant write permissions on a shared account.

# Tip

Do not modify the default roles. Instead, copy them and modify the copies to match your requirements. Also, when creating a new security role, start by copying one of the default roles. This will make sure that you don't leave out any necessary permissions that are required for minimal functionality and will make it easier to quickly customize the role to fit your organization's needs.

Security roles are also one of the ways you tailor Dynamics CRM's navigation to fit your users' requirements. Navigation throughout Dynamics CRM is always a combination of modifications to the Sitemap XML (the solution component that specifies the system's main navigational structure) and logged-in users' security role permissions.

To create a new security role, in the Settings area, navigate to the Administration page and click on the Security Roles link. Click the New button to create a new security role, or Copy Role on the More Actions menu.

# Working with field security profiles

New to this version of Dynamics CRM is the ability to configure permissions on individual fields within an entity. Field-level security is enforced using a new type of role called a Field Security Profile.

Field security profiles behave similarly to sharing in that they cannot grant a user privileges that the user's security roles do not allow.

When a field is enabled for field security, Dynamics CRM starts with a restrictive default setting for the field. Users cannot read, update, or create the field until you specify roles that have these permissions. To create a field security profile and grant permissions for a field security–enabled field, follow these steps:  Open a solution in the settings area and navigate to the Field Security Profiles section. Alternatively, you can add field security profiles from Settings ↔ Administration ↔ Field Security Profiles. Click the New button and provide a name and description for the profile and save the record (Figure 5.5).

#### FIGURE 5.5

The field security profile screen is available in the Administration screen or from a solution.

@ Lan	iguage Settings Web	opage Dialog			×
<b>Lan</b> Sele	guage Settings ct the languages to enable	for this Microsoft Dynamics CRM imp	lementation.		
	Language 🔺	Language Code	Status		8
5	German	1031	Disabled		
	Help			Apply	Close
http://cr	m:5555/Contoso3/tools/M	uiProvisioning/Dialo 🎕 Local intra	net   Protected Mode	: Off	

Any fields that have been enabled for field-level security within the solution appear on the profile's Field Permissions associated list.

- **2.** Select the field, and click the Edit button. In the Edit Field Security dialog, shown in Figure 5.6, specify the permissions that users with this profile should have.
- 3. Save your changes and be sure to assign the profile to the correct users.

## Note

Field security can only be enabled for custom fields. System fields cannot be enabled for field-level security in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.

## Setting up teams for your users

Teams are a convenient way to group users who work together on sets of records in Dynamics CRM. Teams can own records and are assigned security roles like users. Also, like users, teams must be parented by a single Business Unit.

To create a new team, click the Teams link from the Administration page in the Settings area. Give the team a name and make sure it is linked to the correct business unit.

#### FIGURE 5.6

The Edit Field Security dialog enables you to specify the permissions a user with the profile has on the selected field.

Favorites Set + Microsoft Dynamics CRM Field Security Profile: A X Page + Safety + Tools + Y Field Security Profile: Account Manager Field Security Profile: Account Manager Field Permissions Internation General Internation If field Permissions Edit Field Security - Webpage Dialog Common Soft Field Permissions It field Permissions It field Permissions It field Permissions It set + Tools + Y It set + Tools + Y It and + Top + Top + Tools + Y It and + Top +	00 - A http://192.	168.16.35:5555/SuccessAccelera	tors/biz/fieldsecurityprofil	les/edit.aspx?id=%7bF	708F263-09 🔻 🗟	47 × Bing			<del>ب</del> م «
Field Security Profile: Account Manager         Image: Field Permission             Image: Field Permission   <	File Save and C	Microsoft Dynamics CRM Close 🔓 🎒 🖄 Actions 🕶	Field Security Profile: .	A x	ť		∰ ▼ Page▼ S	afety∓ Tools∓ @	
Information       Image: Edit         General       Vime A       Display Name       Type       Entity       Read       Update       Create         Related       Vime A       Display Name       Type       Entity       Read       Update       Create         Common       IS: Fleid Permissions       Edit Field Security       Webpage Dialog       Image: Not Allowed       Not Allowed       Not Allowed         Members:       IS: Fleid Permission for the selected fields       Image: Permission for the selected fields       Image: Permission for the selected fields       Image: Permission field       Image: Permission field       Image: Permission for the selected fields       Image: Permission for the selected fields       Image: Permission for the selected fields       Image: Permission field       Image: Pe	32 Field Security P 16 Field Perm	rofile: Account Mana <b>issions</b>	ger				Working on :	solution: Default S	olution
L General       Image: Constant of the select	Information	16 Edit							
Related       V file new_guidcpick       Option Set       Acount       Not Allowed	L General	Name A	Display Name	Type	Entity	Read	Update	Create	2
Related       Eftit Field SecurityWebpage Dialog         Common       IS: Field Permissions         Members:       Eftit Field Security         Change permission for the selected fields         Vers       Read         Users       Users can view this field         V Update       Users can view this field         Vers can add information in this field       Erestie         Users can add information to this field when the record is created         Help       OK         Cancel         http://19/19/19/19/19/19/19/19/19/19/19/19/19		(16) new guickpick	Ouick Pick	Option Set	Account	Not Allowed	Not Allowed	Not Allowed	
▲ Common          (5) Field Permissions          ▲ Members:       ③ Teams          ③ Teams          ③ Users and information for the selected fields          ✓ Change permission for the selected fields         ✓ Change permission for the selected fields         ✓ Read         Users an view this field         ✓ Users can change the information in this field         ✓ Exterior         ✓ Exterior         ✓ Information to this field when the record is created         Help       OK         Help       OK         Http://11 ④ Internet   Protected Mode: Off	Related		Edit Field Secu	rity Webnage D	alon		]		
[15] Field Permissions         ▲ Members:         ③ Teams         ③ Users             With the selected fields             ✓ Read         Users can view this field         ✓ Exată         Users can view this field         ✓ Exată         Users can view this field information in this field             ● Help             • Help	4 Common			ang - neopage o	anog				
	[16] Field Permissions		Twi uctb://135.100.10	po:popp/successAccele	rators/_gnu/unus/un	g_earmerapennission			
S Users          ✓       Read         Users can view this field       ✓         ✓       Update         Users can change the information in this field         ✓       Eresté         Users can add information to this field when the record is created         Help       OK         http://ff       Internet   Protected Mode: Off	Members:		Edit Field Security Change permission f	<b>y</b> or the selected fields					
Hep OK Cancel	S Users		✓ Read Users can view t Update Users can chang ✓ <u>Creats</u> Users can add in	his field Ie the information in t Iformation to this field	nis field I when the record is i	created			
			Help http://if 🕥 Internet	Protected Mode: Off	OK	Cancel			
1-1 of 1 (1 selected)		1 - 1 of 1 (1 selected)							
Status: Existing	Status: Existing								

# **Preparing for Your First User**

Now that the house is in order, and you have moved in, it is time to get it ready for guests. A good host anticipates the needs of his guests so they feel welcome and comfortable, and this section can help you prepare Dynamics CRM for its first users.

# Installing sample data

If you are following an implementation methodology like Microsoft's Sure Step, before going live with the system, users will be provided with ample training. One of the best ways to train users is to allow them to work with Dynamics CRM hands-on, with sample data for practice. After training is complete, you will want to remove the sample data so your organization can begin using Dynamics CRM or import real production data from another system. Fortunately, Dynamics CRM has a quick way to install and uninstall a prepackaged set of sample data from the Data Management screen in the Settings area.

To install or uninstall the sample data, navigate to the Data Management screen in the Settings area and click the Sample Data link. Follow the steps in the Sample Data dialog.

# Installing language packs

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is available in a number of languages for both on-premises and online use. The organization's base language is set during installation, and additional languages can be installed and enabled. MUI (multilingual user interface) language packs contain translations of labels, messages, the built-in reports, and other UI text and are available for download from the Microsoft download Web site.

To install a language pack, download the MUI file to the Dynamics CRM server and doubleclick it to launch the installer. Accept the license terms and click the Install button. (If you are using Dynamics CRM Online you can skip this step. If a partner is hosting Dynamics CRM for you, you may need to ask them to install language packs so they are available to your organization.)

To enable a new language for the Dynamics CRM interface, in the Settings area click the Languages link. In the Language Settings dialog (Figure 5.7), place a check mark next to the language you wish to enable, and click the Apply button. Close the dialog when it is complete.

#### FIGURE 5.7

Language packs must be installed on the Dynamics CRM server before they are available to be enabled in the Language Settings dialog.

Administration - Micr	osoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Interne	et Explorer			
🚱 🔾 🔻 🏒 http://192	168.16.35:5555/SuccessAccelerators/main.aspx#		- + × 3	Bing	+ م
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🛵 Admin	stration - Microsoft Dynamics CRM		<b>☆</b> • ⊠	🕶 📑 🖝 Page 🕶	Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶 🎬
File Home					C5 Admin Ø Success Accelerators 🔺
New New To	Advanced Eind 2 Language Settings - Webpage D	ialog		×	1
Settings 🕼	http://192.168.16.35:5555/SuccessAccele	rators/tools/MuiProvisioning/	Dialogs/LangSelection.aspx		
Business     Business Managemen     Templates	Language Settings Select the languages to enable for this M	licrosoft Dynamics CRM imple	mentation.		<b>^</b>
Product Catalog	Language 🔺	Language Code	Status	Version 🖉	cases, quotes,
Administration     Data Management     System Jobs     Is     Document Manageme     Is     Auditing	Spanish	5002	Disabled - Provisioning Required	0.0	s, and invoices. numbers, the racking, ryour
Customization     Customizations     Solutions     Dynamics Marketplace					A for Outlook
4 Process Center					ad, create, or write
足。Processes	•			•	
☑ Workplace III Sales	Help		Apply	Close	sers and is, roles, and
🎲 Marketing	http://192.168.16.35:5555/SuccessAcceler	rators/tools. 🛞 Internet   Pri	otected Mode: Off		
Service	Languages Add or remove support f	for additional languages.	Privacy Pr Set the privac	eferences y preferences for the orga	inization.
Settings			9 9		
S Resource Center	Dundunt Undeter				•
http://192.168.16.35:5555/Su	ccessAccelerators/tools/Admin/admin.aspx?	pagemod 🔎 🔗	Internet   Protected N	lode: Off	🖓 🕶 🔍 100% 🔻

After a language is installed and enabled, users will be able to set their desired language in the Personal Options dialog.

# Testing user connectivity and security

Finally, before creating your first users you should thoroughly test connectivity using the access and authentication methods your users will employ. (For on-premises installations, you can temporarily disable automatic logon in Internet Explorer so you are prompted for logon credentials, enabling you to log on as a test user to check the impact of any security role and sitemap changes.) You should verify all access methods, including through Outlook, mobile devices, and from the Internet if IFD is configured.

# Summary

In this chapter, we covered many of the settings and initial configuration steps you should take to prepare the system for the way your organization will use it.

Among the most important steps you should take immediately after installing Dynamics CRM are:

- Set up a backup administrator user (or for Dynamics CRM Online, set up a second user who can access the billing and subscription management sites).
- Backup your system and export the base set of customizations in the Default solution.
- Install the latest updates for Dynamics CRM.
- Configure system-wide settings that impact e-mail and marketing communications, client synchronization, and the various formats and prefixes that system entities require.
- Implement the currencies and language packs needed by your organization.
- When planning your organization's security model, keep as flat of a business unit structure as possible and use copies of the default security roles to get up and running quickly and minimize administrative overhead.

If you invest some time to plan your organization and set it up well, you can smooth the transition users will experience as the begin using Dynamics CRM.

# CHAPTER

# Managing Users in Dynamics CRM

Prior to beginning to use Dynamics CRM in a production environment, you need to purchase the appropriate licenses. Licensing options vary depending on the selected version (online or onpremise), required functionality, and if you will be using portals to allow access to external users. This chapter covers licensing options provided by Microsoft.

After you purchase the licenses and install the software, one of the first steps of setup is creating records for users. Creating user records includes adding the record to Dynamics CRM, adding a security role, and testing e-mail settings. As existing users are deactivated, records should be reassigned to new or existing Dynamics CRM users.

This chapter covers the basics of licensing and creating and managing users in Dynamics CRM.

# **Understanding Licensing Options**

Dynamics CRM includes a number of different licensing components. The components required by your organization vary depending on the type of implementation (CRM Online or CRM On-Premise) and your goals for your Dynamics CRM project. In this section, we provide an overview of the various licenses and how to acquire them.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Understanding client access license options

**Configuring user records** 

**Reassigning user records** 

## On the Web Site

At the time of this writing, Microsoft is still working out the details of licensing for Dynamics CRM 2011. The information in this chapter is based on the best currently available information. For up-to-date information on licensing Dynamics CRM 2011, check the site: www.dynamicscrmbible.com.

# Understanding user licensing

Each Dynamics CRM user within your organization must have a license in order to legally use the software. Options for user licensing (also known as Client Access Licenses or CALs) vary depending on which version of Dynamics CRM your organization has selected.

## Acquiring CRM Online licenses

If you are using Dynamics CRM Online, then each user requires an individual license. If you have not yet acquired CRM Online licenses, then you can visit the site for the book (www.dynamicscrmbible.com) to find a link to current Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online site where you can sign up for licenses.

If you are already using Dynamics CRM Online, you can acquire more licenses directly from within the user interface. Navigate to Settings 🖒 Subscription Management. From here, you can see a count of the total number of licenses as well as used and unused license counts. You can also purchase additional licenses if needed.

Dynamics CRM Online licenses are purchased through a leasing model. You pay a fee on a regular basis (for example: monthly or annually) for usage of the software. As long as you remain current in your payments, you continue to have access to the software.

## **Acquiring CRM On-Premise licenses**

When using Dynamics CRM On-Premise, you need to purchase licenses through an authorized Microsoft Partner Network reseller or software advisor. You need to purchase licenses for the Dynamics CRM Server software (the software that runs on a computer server) and a client access license (CAL) for each user. CALs for CRM can be purchased either for the user (each individual user must have a license) or for a device (multiple users can share a single device, which can be helpful for organizations that have multiple shifts of employees that share a workstation). See Chapter 5 for more information on CALs.

Dynamics CRM On-Premise licenses are purchased through a traditional software model. After paying for the licenses, you own them indefinitely. If you want to have access to update rollups (containing bug fixes), new versions of the software, and support from Microsoft, then you must pay an annual fee for Software Assurance. Microsoft's Software Assurance is similar to what other software manufacturers refer to as maintenance. If your Software Assurance lapses and you wish to acquire the latest version of the software, you must purchase new licenses at the standard cost. Discuss the advantages of Software Assurance with a Microsoft partner prior to making a decision.

# **Understanding External Connector licensing**

Individuals outside of your organization can access Dynamics CRM. For example, you may provide a Web-based customer portal where customers can submit and update cases and search your knowledge base (see Chapter 14). As another example, you may work with a network of distributors that update their leads and opportunities via a partner portal (see Chapter 12). In both of these cases, you will need to allow individuals outside of your organization to have some level of access to the data within Dynamics CRM.

Microsoft has created the External Connector license for this purpose. This license is a onetime purchase that covers an unlimited number of users. These users cannot be employees of your organization and they cannot directly access the Dynamics CRM user interface. They can, however, access Dynamics CRM by using Web portals. Microsoft has made a number of Web portals available freely on www.codeplex.com. You can also build your own custom Web portal for this purpose if desired.

## **On the Web Site**

For information on the Web portals available for Dynamics CRM, check www.dynamicscrmbible.com.

# Understanding other licensing components

Depending on how you have licensed CRM, licenses may also be required for one or more additional components. There are a large number of ways to license the software listed below. We recommend that you discuss licensing options with your Microsoft Partner Network partner to determine if you need any of the following, and the appropriate approach for licensing each.

- **Microsoft SQL Server:** This is the software that holds the data for Dynamics CRM. Think of SQL Server as a "warehouse" that holds all of your customer and prospect data, and think of Dynamics CRM as a trusty employee that fetches whatever data you request from the warehouse and delivers it to you. If you are using Dynamics CRM Online, then you will not require licenses for Microsoft SQL Server. If you are using Dynamics CRM On-Premise, then you will require a SQL Server license for each user (or a "processor" license for an unlimited number of users).
- **Microsoft Exchange:** This is the server software provided by Microsoft for handling e-mail. This is not required for using Dynamics CRM, but it does integrate with Dynamics CRM and can improve how your organization manages e-mail. You may also host your Exchange server with a partner or with Microsoft through their Business Productivity Online Services (BPOS) offering.
- Windows Server: This is the operating system that runs your server applications. It hosts other functions such as active directory (used to manage users) and internet information server (used to manage Web sites and Web applications, such as Dynamics CRM). If you are using Dynamics CRM On-Premise, then you will need to have a server running Windows Server. If you are using Dynamics CRM Online, then Windows Server will only be required if you plan to use Claims-Based Authentication (see the authentication later in this chapter for more information).

- **Microsoft Office:** Dynamics CRM was built to run better when combined with Microsoft Office (and, in particular, with Microsoft Outlook). Dynamics CRM will integrate with Office 2003 or higher. For maximum productivity, we highly recommend using Office 2010.
- **SharePoint:** SharePoint is not a required component for Dynamics CRM. However, SharePoint offers functionality that significantly expands CRM's capabilities in a variety of areas including document management, collaboration, portals, and unstructured data management. SharePoint is available hosted or On-Premise (similar to Dynamics CRM). Because Microsoft has made a basic version of SharePoint available at no cost, every business that uses Dynamics CRM should have a copy installed to accelerate your performance.

# **Authenticating Users**

When users attempt to log in to Dynamics CRM, their username and password go through a process called authentication. This process confirms who they are before they are allowed to complete the login and begin to access the Dynamics CRM system. The technology that supports the authentication process differs depending on your goals and which version of Dynamics CRM you have licensed. The following list provides a description of the options:

- **Dynamics CRM On-Premise:** If you have installed the Dynamics CRM server software On-Premise, then you will have two primary options for how to configure authentication:
  - Active Directory: Active Directory (or AD) is the technology used by Windows Server to store information about your users and equipment attached to your network. Think of AD as a "phone book" that your computer network uses to keep track of users, computers, and printers that access your network. AD stores the user ID and password for each of your users. When installing Dynamics CRM, the same credentials (user ID and password) that are used for your network are automatically assigned to CRM users. This enables users to sign into their computer only once, rather than having to also sign onto CRM every time that they open the application.
  - Claims-Based Authentication: If your organization wants to have Dynamics CRM configured as an Internet-Facing Deployment (so that users can log in without having to first log in to the network using a VPN, for instance) or if your organization wishes to set up portals that share some CRM information with the outside world, then you should plan to use Claims-Based Authentication. Microsoft has developed a technology called Active Directory Federation Services 2 (AD FS 2) to handle Claims-Based Authentication. In essence, AD FS 2 enables multiple different networks to "federate" to allow users to use only one set of credentials to log in across various different networks. AD FS 2 requires an additional server on your network and requires an experienced network administrator to fully configure. For more information on AD FS 2, see Chapter 7.

- **Online:** If you have purchased Dynamics CRM Online licenses, then the following two options will be available to your organization for authentication:
  - Live ID: Windows Live ID (or Live ID for short) is a Web-based technology that Microsoft has developed to allow individuals to use a single set of credentials to log in across multiple Web sites. Using this approach (which is the default for CRM Online), a user must create a Live ID before they can log in to Dynamics CRM Online. If users already have a Live ID, then they can use it with Dynamics CRM. CRM for Outlook remembers the user's Live ID, so when users open Outlook, they are not required to re-login to Dynamics CRM. This approach has the benefit of being easy to implement, but it does not give the organization control over password policies, location of access to CRM (any computer can be used), or permit single sign-on to Dynamics CRM.
  - **Claims-Based Authentication:** Claims-Based Authentication is described in more detail above. Organizations that wish to have more granular control over password and computer access policies to Dynamics CRM Online will need to set up an AD FS 2 server on their premises and can use this as their authentication method. AD FS 2 also supports a simplified single sign-on approach to signing into Dynamics CRM without having to enter (or store) Live ID information. See Chapter 7 for more information on AD FS 2.

# Active Directory and Authentication \_\_\_\_

Active Directory (AD) is the default approach for authentication when installing Dynamics CRM On-Premise. When taking this approach, there are some important steps to take and pitfalls to be aware of.

- When the Dynamics CRM server software is installed, a number of Active Directory groups are created, including PrivReportingGroup, PrivUserGroup, SQLAccessGroup, ReportingGroup.
- When new users are added to Dynamics CRM, they are automatically made members of ReportingGroup. Removing users from ReportingGroup will disallow these users from running reports in Dynamics CRM. You should never remove CRM users from this group.
- Individuals who configure the Dynamics CRM Server should be added to PrivUserGroup.
- The other two groups are primarily for automation of internal processes and should not need to be assigned to users. For more information on these groups, download and review the CRM Implementation Guide (a link will be available on the site: www.dynamicscrmbible.com).
- Problems can occur if you rename an Active Directory account or if you try to create a CRM user who was removed from Active Directory. If a user changes names, the best practice is to create a new Active Directory account and a new user in CRM, then deactivate the old user and transfer all records to the new user.

# **Managing Users**

Users in Dynamics CRM are managed in a list just like other lists, such as accounts and contacts. A record is created for each user from within Dynamics CRM. As your organization experiences turnover or reorganizations, user records need to be modified to reflect these changes. This section covers these fundamentals of user management.

# **Creating users**

Before individuals can begin using Dynamics CRM, a user record must be created for them. This section outlines the process for creating user records, configuring their e-mail, and setting up their default queue and team.

#### **Creating new users**

Use the following steps to create new users in Dynamics CRM. Differences between Dynamics CRM Online and Dynamics CRM On-Premise have been noted.

- 1. Licensing. Begin by ensuring that you have sufficient licenses to create another user:
  - In CRM Online: Navigate to Settings Administration Subscription Management. Here you can see the total number of purchased licenses and the number that are still unused.
  - In CRM On-Premise: At the time of this writing, a method to check the number of licenses for CRM On-Premise is not available. You will either need to keep accurate records of license count or request a license count from your Microsoft CRM partner.
- 2. Authentication. If you are using Active Directory or Claims-Based Authentication (see the nearby sidebar), then you should ensure that the user has been added to your Active Directory prior to attempting to add them to Dynamics CRM. If you are using CRM Online and using Live ID, then you can skip this step.
- 3. Add the user. Navigate to Settings ↔ Administration ↔ Users. This presents a grid like other lists in Dynamics CRM. Click the New button on the Ribbon menu to add a new user. If you are using Dynamics CRM On-Premise, you also have the option of clicking New Multiple Users to add more than one user at a time.

If you are using Dynamics CRM Online, or if you are using Dynamics CRM On-Premise and you clicked the New Multiple Users button, you are presented with a wizard that can walk you through the process of creating users. Follow the steps of the wizard to complete the entire process of creating a group of users. If you would like to edit individual user fields after completing the wizard, then click on an individual user name and follow the remainder of the process.

**4.** Create the user. If you are using Dynamics CRM On-Premise and you clicked New, you are presented with a data entry form, shown in Figure 6.1. Complete the form, paying particular attention to the following fields:

F	IG	U	R	E	6.1

The user data entry form

@User: Lauren Sable - Micro	soft Dynamics CRM -	Windows Internet Explorer				<u>_8 ×</u>
💬 🗢 加 http://2008r2-der	mo:5555/SuccessAccelerato	rs/main.aspx?etn=systemuser&extraqs	_gridType%3d	1%26etc% 🔻 🍫 🗙 🚺	D Bing	- ۹
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🗧 🖬 Users	: Enabled Users 🖕	🖞 User: Lauren Sable 🗙		ĝ • D	👻 🖃 🖶 👻 Page 👻	Safety 🔻 Tools 👻 🔞 💌 🎽
File User Create Related	Customize					C5 Admin Success Accelerators ⇔
Save & New Save & Save & Save & Save & Save	Approve Reject E-mail 8-mail 8- Joi	assign Records 📫 Change Business I Inage Roles 🛛 🔏 Change Manager n Teams Actions	Unit Connect	Copy a l Copy a l E-mail Collaborate	Link Link Workflow Process	Run Report - Data
Information General Addresses	User Lauren Sa	ble			User	5 + 4 4
Related 4 Common SG Teams	The information pr     General     Account Informat	ovided in this form is viewable by the	entire organiza	lion.		<u> </u>
Security Roles iii Field Security Profiles Quotas	User Name* User Information	DEMO\Isable				
Work Hours Connections GAUGE Audit History	First Name * Last Name *	Lauren Sable		Main Phone	704-555-1212	
4 Service	Title	HR Manager		Home Phone		
Services Resource Groups	Primary E-mail	Isable@successaccelerators.com		Mobile Phone	704-555-1212	
A Processes	E-mail 2 Mobile Alert E-mail			Preferred Phone	Main Phone	•
Dialog Sessions	Fax	704-555-1212		,		
	Organization Info	ormation				
	Manager		9	Business Unit *	Success Accelerators	
	Territory		Q	Site		
	Status	Enabled				
				√ Trusted sites   Pro	tected Mode: Off	

- User Name: This should be the same name assigned to the user in Active Directory or the user's Live ID. If using Active Directory, then after completing this field and tabbing out of it, other fields that were entered into Active Directory (such as first name and last name) will automatically populate. Note that this import from Active Directory is performed one time only — changes made to Dynamics CRM and to Active Directory after this point will not be kept in sync automatically.
- Contact Information: Be sure to enter (or have the user enter) complete contact information. This information may be used in templates and workflows to personalize communications.
- Manager: The manager field is not required. However, it may be used in workflows (to send alerts or assign escalations), reporting, and other areas. Note that the manager must also be a Dynamics CRM user in order to be available to add to this field. The manager must also either be in the same business unit as the user or in the chain of business units that parent the user's business unit.
- Territory: Although not required, this field can be useful for reporting, for assigning records to the user, or for generalized territory management.

- Business Unit: Be sure that the user is assigned to the correct Business Unit. This field is required and plays an important role in security and record visibility throughout the application.
- Site: If you plan to use the service scheduling functionality, then you should populate this field with the site that is the "home office" for this user.
- E-mail access configuration: Choose the appropriate values here depending upon how you have configured the e-mail router (see Chapter 4 for more information).
- Client access license information: See Chapter 5 for client access license information.
- Queue information: Whenever a new user is created, a queue is created for that user and is assigned to them as their default queue. You can change their default to a different queue if preferred.
- **5.** Save the form. When you have completed your data entry, save the form (but do not close it).
- **6.** Add a security role. Be sure to add a security role for the user. Users cannot log in unless they have at least one security role assigned. Security Roles are visible in the navigation pane to the left of the data entry form after you save the record.
- **7.** Configure the user in the E-mail Router and approve his e-mail. If you are using the e-mail router, be sure to add the user to the router and then approve his e-mail address. Chapter 4 contains information on the router, and the following section of this chapter contains information on approving user e-mail addresses.
- **8.** Configure additional user settings. Depending on additional functionality that you may want to use within Dynamics CRM, you will also need to take the time to configure Field Security Profiles, Quotas, Work Hours, and Resource Groups for this user.

## On the Web Site

Dynamics CRM On-Premise does not include a facility for monitoring the number of licenses currently purchased and used. This can be problematic because organizations that use unlicensed software can be subject to significant financial penalties. The Web site contains a Dynamics CRM Solution called License Manager that provides a simple method for tracking not only your licenses for Dynamics CRM, but for other software your organization may own as well. Check the site www.dynamicscrmbible.com for this solution.

#### Approving e-mail

Dynamics CRM includes a security setting that can optionally require that all user e-mail addresses are approved before they can be processed by the e-mail router. To update this security setting, navigate to Settings +> Administration +> System Settings +> E-mail Tab and select or deselect the check box next to the Process e-mails only for approved users option.

Once the box in the above paragraph has been checked, you need to approve each individual user before e-mail can be processed by the router. To do this, navigate to the list of users (Settings Administration Users), select the user record(s) you want to approve, and click the Approve E-mail button on the Ribbon menu. On the dialog box that appears (see Figure 6.2) click the OK button. E-mail for these users will now be processed by the e-mail router.

#### FIGURE 6.2

Confirm approving user e-mail dialog box

CUsers: Enabled Users - Mi	crosoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer		_ 8 ×
🚱 🗢 🏒 http://2008r2-de	mo:5555/SuccessAccelerators/main.aspx#	• + 🗙 🔽 Bing	- ۹
😭 Favorites 🛛 🚂 Users: Enab	led Users - Microsoft Dynamics C	🟠 🔻 🖾 👻 🖃 🖶 👻 Page 👻 Safety 🔻	Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶 🎽
File Users View Crea	ate Related Customize	Succes	CS Admin ⑦ s Accelerators 🔺
New New Multiple Edit	( Delete - Karal Construction of the second	Connect Collaborate	Advanced Find
Settings 🔰 🖓	Users: Enabled Users -	Search for records	٥
4 Business			1
🖏 Business Management	Full Name A	Site Business Unit little	Main Hga
🛄 Templates 🖏 Product Catalog	Confirm Primary E-mail Approva     Confirm Primary E-mail Approva	Val Webpage Dialog X SACCEPTATORS SACCEPTATORS HR Manager	704-555-: <b>3</b>
▲ System	You have selected 2 Users to approve th	te primary e-mail address. s Accelerators	다고
Data Management System Jobs 16 Document Management 16 Auditing	(3).		
Customization Customizations Solutions Dynamics Marketplace	√ Trusted sites   Protected Mode: Off	CK Cancel	
Process Center     Z. Processes	<u>r</u>		
Workplace			
Marketing			
🚳 Service			
📒 Settings	1 - 3 of 3 (2 selected)	H	Page 1
Sg Resource Center	All # A B C D E F G H I J	K L M N O P Q R S T U V W X	Y Z
avascript;		Trusted sites   Protected Mode: Off	• 🔍 100% •

## **Cross-Reference**

For more information on the e-mail router and other e-mail processing options, see Chapter 4.

#### Setting the default queue and team

In Dynamics CRM 2011, for every user you create, a default queue is created and the user is added to the default team for the business unit that you associate them with. You may change either (or both) of these defaults. Queues and teams can be deleted. However, you should take the time to understand queue and auto routing functionality before making changes to queues or teams.

## Working with existing user records

After a user has been created, you can edit their information by navigating to Settings Administration Users and clicking on the user record you want to modify. From time to time you may need to make moderate changes to users (such as updating a phone number) or significant changes (such as disabling them when they leave the company or changing their manager). This section covers these items.

## Bulk Manage Users \_

Large organizations may need to manage hundreds or even thousands of users.

Dynamics CRM includes some functionality to manage large groups of users. This includes the ability to select multiple users and reassign them to a new manager or business unit, deactivate them, or assign security roles to them. These options are in the ribbon menu above the listing of users.

Large organizations may also need to automate creating and removing users whenever a record is changed in their HR or employee management system. While this type of automation is not available through the user interface, you can use the SDK (software development kit) to integrate CRM with your HR system to fully automate the process of managing Dynamics CRM users. For more information on connecting to other systems, see Chapter 22.

#### Disabling users and reassigning records

When an employee leaves the company, or is reassigned to a business unit that does not have access to Dynamics CRM, you should plan to disable their user record and reassign records that they own to another user.

## Caution

When an employee leaves the company, it may be tempting to delete their user record. However, you should never delete a user record. User records contain historical information about the activities, opportunities, cases, and other information that the user owned or contributed to. Deleting a user permanently erases potentially important history. Deactivating the user frees up a license, hides the user record, and retains important historical information. You can also re-enable disabled users later if the need arises.

To disable a user record, follow the procedure below.

- **1.** Navigate to the list of users (Settings ⇒ Administration ⇒ Users).
- 2. Open the record for the user that you wish to disable by clicking on the user's name.
- **3.** Reassign the records for this user to another user. The easiest way to do this is to click the Reassign Records button on the Ribbon menu on the user form.
- **4.** In the dialog box, select to assign the records to yourself or to another user or team. If you choose the latter option, then select the user or team that you want to assign them to. When you have completed the dialog box, click the OK button. Dynamics CRM will take a few moments to reassign all of the records.
- **5.** In the Ribbon menu, click the disable button and click OK on the dialog box that appears (see Figure 6.3). The user is disabled and has read-only access.

- **6.** Close the form.
- 7. If you reassigned records to someone other than yourself, then any processes that were running for the disabled user have been suspended. To find and resume these processes for the new user navigate to Settings ⇔ System Jobs and change the view to Suspended System Jobs. Select all of the relevant jobs in the list, and from the More Actions menu, select the Resume option (see Figure 6.4).

#### FIGURE 6.3

Disable users Ribbon menu and confirmation dialog box



## Tip

If you want to reassign records owned by the user to multiple users, then use the Advanced Find function to iteratively search for and reassign the user's records to other users until all records have been reassigned. If you use this approach, we still recommend that you use the Reassign Records button on the user form as a final step to ensure that any records that you may have missed with your Advanced Find filters will still get assigned to another user.

#### FIGURE 6.4

Resuming system jobs that were deactivated when a record was reassigned

@Settings: System Jobs - Mi	icrosoft Dynam	nics CRM - Windows Internet Exp	lorer				_ 8 ×
🔆 🕞 🗢 加 http://2008r2-de	mo:5555/Success/	Accelerators/main.aspx#		<b>▼</b> <sup>4</sup> 9	🗙 💽 Bing		<u>- م</u>
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🕍 Settings: Sys	tem Jobs - Micro	osoft Dynamics CRM		<u>e</u>	<b>→ → → → →</b>	Page▼ Safety▼ To	ols 🕶 🔞 🕶 🎽
File Users View Crea	ate Related Cu	ustomize				Success Ac	C5 Admin ⑦
New New Multiple Edit	( Delete - ) Enable Disable Delet	Approve Reject E-mail & Change Busin Bernall & Change Mana	s ness Unit ager	Connect	Run Start Ru Workflow Dialog	In Import Ady	Panced Ind
Settings	System Job	Actions		Collaborate	Process	Data	
4 Business	Search for recor	rds 🔎 Entity	n All		• View: Suspended	l System Jobs	
Business Management		More Actions -			1.5.1		
Product Catalog	System J	ob Bulk Delete		Regarding	Postpone Uni	til Owner	19 10
System     Administration     Data Management     System Jobs     Socument Management     Auditing     Customization     Customization     Solutions     Solutions     Mynamics Marketplace	100	Enable/Ulsable Inters Save Filters to Current View Save Filters to New View Set View as Default View Cancel Resume Postpone Pause		No System Job records	are available in this view.		
Process Center     Processes     Processes     Sales     Marketing     Service							
Settings	1						•
C harring	0 - 0 of 0 (0 sele	ected)				14	4 Page 1 ▶
Sig Resource Center	All # A	A B C D E F G I	H I	JKLMNO	PQRST	UVW	X Y Z
Done			F	Trusted si	ites   Protected Mode: Off		\$ 100% ▼ //

#### Changing the manager or business unit

From time-to-time employees may be reassigned to new managers and/or to a new business unit. When this happens, use the steps below to reflect those changes in the user record in Dynamics CRM.

The process for changing a manager or business unit is very similar. There are, however, some differences in what happens behind the scenes and what must be done after completing the reassignment. In the case of assigning a new manager, the manager must be in the same business unit as the user, or in a business unit that is in the chain above the user's business unit. In the case of reassigning the business unit, all of the security roles assigned to a user will be removed after making the reassignment, so you need to re-add security roles to the user after making the reassignment.

## Caution

After assigning a user to a different business unit, all security roles will be removed from the user record. The user will no longer be able to log in to Dynamics CRM until at least one security role has been assigned to their record.

# Setting Up Outlook Synchronization for Users\_

Dynamics CRM synchronizes data with Outlook behind the scenes. Each user can configure exactly which records sync with Outlook by editing the local data groups within CRM for Outlook. This process is outlined in more detail in Chapter 11.

For some users, however, modifying local data groups can be an intimidating exercise. In those cases an administrator can work with each user to tailor their local data group settings. For larger organizations, there are tools in the software development kit (SDK) that can aid in automating the setup of local data groups. Check Appendix B for information on where to download the SDK.

To change the manager or business unit for a user, navigate to the list of users (Settings Administration Users) and select the user(s) that you wish to reassign. In the Ribbon menu, click either the Change Manager or the Change Business Unit link. Select the appropriate option from the dialog box and then click the OK button. Dynamics CRM makes the reassignment. Remember that if you changed the Business Unit, you need to add security roles back to the user record or the user will not be able to log in.

## The user summary report

When working with large lists of users, it can be helpful to get a bird's-eye view of all of the users, their business unit, and their security role(s). Included with Dynamics CRM is a report called the User Summary Report that provides precisely this information. This report is easily accessible from the Ribbon menu while viewing the list of users (click Run Report 2 User Summary). You can also access the report from the reports area of Dynamics CRM.

# Summary

Dynamics CRM offers a variety of options for licensing. Although selecting the correct hosting model and licensing approach can be a bit intimidating, a Microsoft partner can quickly guide you through the process. In addition, if you determine at some point in the future that you would like to switch to a different hosting approach, your data can be moved from one hosting arrangement to another fairly quickly.

Managing user records in Dynamics CRM is handled through the standard user interface. Users can be created and assigned to new business units or to a new manager. E-mail security settings enable you to approve or disapprove new user e-mail addresses before the E-mail Router can begin to use them. When users leave the company, they should be disabled rather than deleted.

# CHAPTER

# Using the Deployment Manager

The Deployment Manager is a snap-in for the MMC (Microsoft Management Console) that is automatically installed during installation of the Dynamics CRM server. Administrators use the Deployment Manager to manage the organizations, licenses, servers, and authentication methods related to your Dynamics CRM implementation.

In essence, the Deployment Manager is the user interface for the MSCRM\_CONFIG database that is created during installation to store information about the configuration of the Dynamics CRM server and its tenant organizations.

## Note

The Deployment Manager is only used by organizations with on-premises installations of Dynamics CRM or by partners who are hosting Dynamics CRM. This feature is not available to users of Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online.

# Using the Deployment Manager Console

The Deployment Manager can be found on the server where Dynamics CRM is installed or on the server you specified for the Deployment Services role during installation.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

**Product key changes** 

**Deployment administrators** 

Creating, importing, and managing organizations

Server roles

Configuring Claims-Based Authentication and Internet-Facing Deployment To open the Deployment Manager, follow these steps:

- 1. From the Start menu on the Dynamics CRM server, choose Programs ⇒ Microsoft Dynamics CRM.
- **2.** Right-click Deployment Manager and choose Run as administrator (shown in Figure 7.1).

#### FIGURE 7.1

The Deployment Manager, which is installed as part of the Dynamics CRM server

Recycle Bin		
Microsoft		
ynamics CRM		
Internet Explorer (64-bit) Internet Explorer Windows Live ID Windows Update		
Accessories Administrative Tools Maintenance	C5 Admin Documents	
Microsoft Dynamics Open	tor	
Microsoft Office Troubleshoot con Microsoft SharePoin Open file location Microsoft Silverlight Pin to Taskbar	patibility	
Microsoft SQL Server Microsoft SQL Server Microsoft Sync Frame Restore previous	Printers ersions ve Tools IN	
Microsoft Visual Stur Microsoft Visual Stur Microsoft Visual Stur Cut	pport	
SharePoint  Back  Copy  Copy Copy	curity	
Search programs and f Properties		
🕅 Start 词 🏈 🕫 🖸		🔺 🏳 👘 🤹 5:09 F

## Managing your deployment product key

The main screen in the Deployment Manager provides a means to view a license summary that details the type of license and the product ID for your deployment. From this screen, you can also upgrade the product key.

To view your deployment's license type, open the Deployment Manager. This information is included in the Deployment Summary area of the main screen, shown in Figure 7.2.

#### FIGURE 7.2

View information in the Deployment Manager.

🖀 Microsoft Dynamics CRM Depl	oyment Manager		_ 🗆 ×
File Action View Help			
Microsoft Dynamics CRM	1.		Actions
Deployment Administrators	Microsoft Dynamics CRM Deployment Man	ager	Microsoft Dynamics CRM 🔺
Servers			Configure Claims-Ba
	Deployment Summary		Change Product Key
	····,		View ►
	Authentication Summary		Refresh
	Claims-Based Authentication:	Disabled	Properties
	Internet-Facing Deployment:	Disabled	Help
	License Summary:		
	Server Edition:	Enterprise	
	Product ID:	92011-936-0000052-70639	
	Total Deployment Administrators:	1	
	Total Organizations:	2	
	Total Servers:	1	
	Configure Claims-Based Authentication		
	Claims-based authentication lets you federate multi		
	an Internet-facing deployment.	ningure claims-based aumentication before you can configure	
	Configure Internet-Facing Deployment		
	An Internet-facing deployment lets users access M	icrosoft Dynamics CRM externally through the Internet.	
	Add a New Organization		
	Create a new organization for a division or a comp	any that will access the deployment.	
	learned an Originalization		
	Import an Urganization	CDU 4.0	
	organization will also be upgraded.	you import a Microsoft Dynamics LHM 4.0 organization, the	

You can upgrade the product key for your on-premises deployment using the Deployment Manager. Product key downgrades are not available. The possible upgrade scenarios are detailed below:

- **Trial or MSDN license:** Can be upgraded to a full-use Workgroup or multitenant license.
- Workgroup Edition license: Can be upgraded to a multitenant license.

License keys are provided by Microsoft through your Microsoft partner or reseller.

To upgrade your license key, click the Change Product Key link on the Actions menu in Deployment Manager. Enter the alphanumeric license code, which is not case-sensitive, and click the Apply button (shown in Figure 7.3).

#### FIGURE 7.3

Use the Deployment Manager to upgrade trial, Workgroup Edition, and Professional Edition licenses.

Change Product Key	×
Enter the Microsoft Dynamics CRM product key:	-
The product key is a 25-character alphanumeric code provided at the time of purchase.	
Apply Cancel	

# **Changing deployment properties**

The Deployment Manager provides a summary of deployment properties on the main screen (refer to Figure 7.2). Also, a Properties dialog box shows additional information about the deployment and allows several other properties to be managed. To open the Properties dialog box (see Figure 7.4), launch the Deployment Manager and choose Properties from the Action menu.

#### FIGURE 7.4

The Properties dialog box allows the configuration of the Web site binding and Web services addresses.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Properties	×
General Web Address License Usage Reporting	
Binding Type: C HTTP C HTTPS Web Application Server: 2008R2-DEM0:5555 Organization Web Service: 2008R2-DEM0:5555	
Discovery Web Service:	
2008R2-DEM0:5555	
Deployment Web Service:	
2008R2-DEM0:5555	
When you change the binding type, the website must have the correct binding already configured. If claims-based authentication is enabled, HTTPS is required.	
Advanced	
OK Cancel Apply	

Deployment-wide properties that can be changed in this dialog box are:

- **Binding Type:** You can specify if your deployment should be available only through HTTPS. If you plan on using Claims-Based Authentication or Internet-Facing Deployment, you must set your deployment to use HTTPS. Note that in addition to changing this setting you may also need to make modifications to the Dynamics CRM Web site in IIS.
- Web Application Server: Use this setting to designate the Web front-end server for a multi-server deployment.
- Web services Servers: Organization Web Service, Discovery Web Service, and the Deployment Web Service.

Clicking the Advanced button on the Web Address tab of the Properties dialog box opens another dialog box, shown in Figure 7.5, where you can indicate if your deployment uses network load balancing and SSL offloading.

#### FIGURE 7.5

Specify if your deployment uses network load balancing or SSL offloading.

NLB and SSL Header Information						
Indicate whether or not your deployment uses a network load balancer (NLB).						
The deployment uses an NLB						
If you are using Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) offloading hardware, specify the SSL header for the bardware						
OK Cancel						
	Τ					
Advanced						
OK Cancel Apply						

# **Adding Deployment Administrators**

To use the Deployment Manager you must be a Deployment Administrator. Deployment Administrators can create or import organizations and have unrestricted access to disable all the organizations within the deployment.

By default, the user account that is used to install Dynamics CRM is set up as a Deployment Administrator. This user is also set up as a user with the System Administrator role in the default organization. Deployment Administrators who create new organizations are automatically set up as a user with the System Administrator role in the new organization. Additional Deployment Administrators can be added, and it is not necessary that they be users in a Dynamics CRM organization. However, they must be local administrators on the Dynamics CRM server and members of the Microsoft SQL Server administrators group. (See the Microsoft KB article at http://support.microsoft.com/kb/946686/ on the Microsoft support Web site for more information on the minimum privileges required for a user to be made a Deployment Administrator.)

To add a new Deployment Administrator:

- 1. Open the Deployment Manager on the Dynamics CRM server.
- 2. Right-click the Deployment Administrators node.
- 3. Click the New Deployment Administrator option to open the Select User dialog box.
- 4. Look up the user you want to add and click OK.

## **Cross-Reference**

Deployment Administrator users are important even for organizations that make little use of the Deployment Manager. For example, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 has a sandbox service that allows custom server-side code to operate in a secure, isolated fashion. However, for on-premises installations of Dynamics CRM, it is also possible to register plug-ins outside of the sandbox so they can operate with greater access to network resources. For these types of plug-ins to function, they must be registered to run under a user account that is also a Deployment Administrator. See Chapter 22 on server-side customization for more detail on registering plug-ins without using the sandbox service.

# **Managing organizations**

In the context of the Deployment Manager, an organization is a single implementation of Dynamics CRM consisting of solutions, entities, fields, views, reports, users, data, and other items that together make up a comprehensive, fully functioning application. Each organization is a tenant on the Dynamics CRM server, and each tenant has its own organization database in SQL Server.

Microsoft sells Dynamics CRM under both single-tenant and multiple-tenant licensing models, so it is capable of hosting many organizations. If your deployment is under a singletenant license, only one organization can be active at a time. If you have installed Dynamics CRM under a multitenant license, the Deployment Manager supports multiple active organizations at once.

Using the Deployment Manager, organizations can be created, enabled/disabled, imported, or set as the default organization. Organization settings can also be edited, such as changing an organization's name or report server.

## Note

For single-tenant deployments using a Workgroup Edition or Professional Edition license, you must first disable the default organization that was created during installation before creating or importing a new organization.

In the Organizations area of the Deployment Manager (see Figure 7.6), you can view the current organizations that are in your deployment, the status of each (Enabled or Disabled), the build version, and the update level that has been applied. Right-clicking on the organization name reveals an option that allows you to browse to the organization. Clicking Browse opens Internet Explorer and takes you to the home page for that organization.

## **Cross-Reference**

In addition to the Deployment Manager console, Dynamics CRM also makes available a Deployment Web Service through which many of the functions detailed in the chapter can be accessed. The Deployment Web Service allows custom applications to access all of these functions programmatically. More details on how to use the Deployment Web Service is included in Chapter 22 which covers server-side customization.

#### FIGURE 7.6

To create a new organization in the Deployment Manager, click on the Organizations node and choose New Organization.

🖥 Microsoft Dynamics CRM Deployment Manager 💷 🛛							
File Action View Help							
🏄 Microsoft Dynam	nics CRM	Name	Friendly name	Status	Version	Update	Actions
Deployment A	Administrators	M PWCAccelerators	PWC Accelerat	Enabled	5.0.9523.17	Not Available	Organizations 🔺
Servers	New Organiz	ation	Success Acceler	Enabled	5.0.9523.17	Not Available	New Organization
	Import Organ	nization					Import Organization
	View	•					View •
	Refresh						Refresh
	Export List						🗟 Export List
	Help						👔 Help
-							
Creates a new item.		I					I

#### Creating a new organization

You can use the Deployment Manager to create new organizations in your Dynamics CRM implementation that contain the default customization solution and no data. The operation to create a new organization takes several minutes to run and is immediately usable when complete.

You can create a new organization in the Deployment Manager by right-clicking on the Organizations node (see Figure 7.6) and choosing "New Organization..." and then following these steps in the New Organization Wizard:

- 1. Enter the display name of the new organization. The wizard pre-populates the unique database name of the organization for you based on the display name you have entered. Organization names cannot contain extended characters such as spaces or semicolons. (A small list of reserved names cannot be used for an organization name. This list is maintained in the MSCRM\_CONFIG database's ReservedNames table.)
- **2.** Set the base currency, language, and SQL collation for the new organization and click Next. (Note that these cannot be changed after the organization is created.)
- **3.** On the next screen, indicate whether you want to opt into Microsoft's Customer Experience Improvement Program, and click Next.
- **4.** Select the SQL Server that will house the new organization database. (A new database will be created in the format Organizationame\_MSCRM.) Click Next.
- 5. Specify the URL of the SQL Server Reporting Services report server, and click Next.

The New Organization Wizard runs through a series of verification tasks to validate the options you have selected and determine if all of the system requirements have been met (Figure 7.7). Fix any warnings or errors that the wizard identifies, and, when all green checks are returned, click Next. The wizard displays a summary of your new organization's settings.

**6.** Click the Create button to create the organization.

#### Importing an organization

Importing organizations is one of the most powerful tasks that the Deployment Manager supports. Even administrators who plan on supporting only single-tenant deployments of Dynamics CRM should become familiar with the process of importing organizations, since this process is extremely helpful when performing routine administrative tasks such as:

- Creating and refreshing development and test environments
- Creating training environments
- Redeploying an organization from one server to another (such as when performing a hardware upgrade)
- Upgrading to Dynamics CRM 2011 from Dynamics CRM 4.0

#### FIGURE 7.7

The New Organization Wizard runs a number of verification tasks.

🚈 New Orga	anization	Wizard			×
System Review the warnings th	Require results of the nat occur, cli	ements ne verification tasks. ck Help.	To troubleshoot a	any errors or	
Verific	ation Descrir	ations and Besults			
Micro	soft CBM	Arganization			
Micro	soft SQL 9	Gerver <sup>m</sup>			
Micro	soft SQL 9	Server Reporting	Services		
Success:16	6			Details	Help
Warnings:0	)		_		
2.1.01310			-		
		< Back	Next>		Cancel
	_				

To import an organization, you must have a valid organization database that has already been restored and attached to the SQL Server where it will be housed. You can only import organization databases that are not deployed on another Dynamics CRM deployment. (For example, if you have an active organization deployed in a test environment, you cannot import that organization database to another Dynamics CRM deployment.) Additionally, you must have administrative rights on the SQL Server where the organization is being imported.

Depending on the size of the organization database you are importing and the performance characteristics of your environment, the import process can take several hours to complete.

To import an organization, open the Deployment Manager and follow these steps:

- **1.** Right-click on the Organizations node and select Import Organizations. The Import Organization Wizard opens (shown in Figure 7.8).
- 2. Select the SQL Server and organization database you wish to import. Click Next. If you want to change the display or organization names, you may do so on the next screen. After you are satisfied with the display and organization names, click Next.
- **3.** Input the SQL Reporting Services Report Server URL. Note that this URL is different from the Report Manager Web site's URL. Click Next. If you plan on using Dynamics CRM's SharePoint integration, input the URL of the site collection and click Next.

## Generating and Editing a User Mapping File.

When moving organizations between deployments via the Import Organization Wizard, you can use an XML mapping file to map users from the previous deployment to the users in the new deployment. You must first create the mapping file by following these steps:

- **1.** Open the Deployment Manager and right-click on the Organizations node.
- 2. Click the Import Organization link to launch the Import Organization Wizard.
- 3. Specify the SQL Server and organization database that you will be importing and click Next.
- 4. Specify the organization names and click Next.
- 5. Specify the SQL Reporting Services server and click Next.
- **6.** On the "Select Method for Mapping Users" screen, choose the "Select Custom Mapping Options" option (see figure below). In the resulting dialog, select the option to generate a new mapping file and browse to a location where you wish to save the XML file that will be created. Provide a name for the file and click Save.
- **7.** Click Next to finish generating the mapping file. The import is canceled and a new mapping file is generated.

🔚 Microsoft Dynamics CRM Dep	oyment Manager		_ <u> </u>				
File Action View Help							
Microsoft Dynamics CRM	Name Friendly name Status	Version Update	Actions				
Deployment Administrators	🚈 SuccessAccelerators (default) Success Acceler Enabled	5.0.9523.17 Not Available	Organizations 🔺				
Servers			New Organization				
			Import Organization				
		View •					
			Refresh				
	🚈 Import Organization Wizard	×	Export List				
	Select Method for Mapping Users Select how you want users to be mapped in this import.		Help				
	C Keep existing user mappings						
	C Manually map users						
	Generate a new mapping file: C:\Users\C5Admin\De Browse						
	C Auto-map users						
	Auto-map settings						
	<ul> <li>Active Directory account name</li> </ul>						
	<ul> <li>Microsoft Dynamics CRM full name to Active Directory full na</li> </ul>						
	C Prefix User Start value:	01					
	C Use existing mapping file	Browse					
	< Back Import	Cancel					

After the blank mapping file has been created, you must edit it to map the users from the previous deployment to the new users. Open the XML file in Visual Studio or another XML editor. The file contains a placeholder for the domain and for each user from the organization to be imported. It looks like this:

```
<MappingConfiguration>
<DomainMapping old="DEMO" new="" />
<UserMapping old="DEMO\C5Admin" new="" />
<UserMapping old="DEMO\asterling" new="" />
</MappingConfiguration>
```

Edit the XML by adding the new domain name in the DomainMapping node and the full domain logon for each user in the UserMapping node, as demonstrated below:

```
<DomainMapping old="DEMO" new="CONTOSO" />
<UserMapping old="DEMO\C5Admin" new="CONTOSO\JDoe" />
<UserMapping old="DEMO\asterling" new="CONTOSO\AJSterling" />
```

Save the XML file and return to the Deployment Manager. Restart the Import Organization Wizard, and when you reach the user mapping screen, choose the "Select Custom Mapping Options" option under auto-mapping to use an existing mapping file.

- **4.** Select the method you want to use for mapping users. (See the Mapping Users section below for more information.) You can generate an XML mapping file and cancel the import at this point, edit the XML file to meet your needs, and use it during a second run of the Import Organization Wizard. See the "Generating and Editing a User Mapping File" sidebar.
- **5.** On the Edit User Mappings screen, you can accept the mappings that the wizard displays or edit individual mappings. To edit a mapping, select the user and click the Browse button to locate the desired Active Directory user. When you are satisfied with the user mappings, click the Next button.

The wizard runs through a series of checks to verify that the organization can be successfully imported. Fix any errors or warnings before clicking Next.

The Ready to Import screen displays a summary of the settings you have selected. Click the Import button when you are ready to proceed.

#### FIGURE 7.8

The Import Organization Wizard helps when moving an existing Dynamics CRM organization database from one deployment to another, or when upgrading from Version 4.0 to Dynamics CRM 2011.

Import Organization Wizard				
Select SQL Server Specify the Microsoft® SQL S				
SQL Server:	2008R2-DEM0	- 3		
Organization database:		-		
	Next >	Cancel		

#### Mapping users

Dynamics CRM creates a unique ID for each user in the database. This ID is associated with the specific Active Directory user account for which it was created. Because many types of records are user-owned in Dynamics CRM, and the user ID is used to identify the user, Dynamics CRM must be able to associate users with an Active Directory account. Therefore, when importing an organization, the users in the organization will be relinked to Active Directory accounts. This is usually not an issue when the imported organization is within the same domain, and the users are remaining the same. However, when moving the organization from one domain to another, you need to make sure the user accounts are already in place before attempting the import process.

The Import Organization Wizard supports four different user mapping scenarios (see Figure 7.9):

- Same Domain\Same Username. The wizard automatically maps Dynamics CRM users by matching the Active Directory account name, assuming the domain and username for each user are not changing between deployments. This is often the scenario when upgrading the Dynamics CRM server hardware, for example. For this scenario, choose the Active Directory account name option as the method for mapping users in the Import Organization Wizard.
- **Different Domain\Same Username.** If you are moving the Dynamics CRM organization to a new domain, but the actual users will not be changing, select the Microsoft Dynamics CRM full name to Active Directory full name option in the wizard. An example of when this can be a helpful option is if you have one domain for training and another domain for production and wish to move a copy of your production database into the other domain so your users can train using real data without disturbing your production environment.

- Different Domain\Sample Username. Sometimes you may want to set up an environment to do development and testing work for Dynamics CRM, but there will be few actual users logging in. In this situation, you may pre-populate Active Directory with sample user accounts using a prefix of your choosing and an automatically incrementing number. In this situation, the Import Organization Wizard can map Dynamics CRM user records to the dummy Active Directory accounts. Select the third option on the user mapping screen and enter the prefix and starting number you have used for your dummy user accounts in Active Directory.
- Different Domain\Different Username. In some cases you may have to map user records to both a new domain and username altogether. For example, if your company's Active Directory domain name is changed and the format of user account names has also changed, or if you are importing an organization into a development or test environment that already has existing Active Directory user accounts. Or you may simply want to have complete control over how each user record is mapped. In these scenarios, you can create an XML map to specify precisely which users will be mapped to which Active Directory accounts and select the Use existing mapping file option.

#### FIGURE 7.9

The Import Organization Wizard has four different options for mapping users that allow a great deal of flexibility in moving organizations between deployments.

	Original User		After Import			
Same Domain\Same Username						
	CONTOSO\SmithJohn CONTOSO\SmithJohn					
Different Domain\Same Username						
CONTOSO\SmithJohn ADVENTUREWORKS\SmithJ						
Different Domain\Sample Username						
	CONTOSO\SmithJohn TEST\User01					
Different Domain\Different Username						
CONTOSO\SmithJohn			ADVENTUREWORKS\BGates			

## **Cross-Reference**

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0 organizations can be upgraded by being imported into a preinstalled Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 deployment through the Deployment Manager. The import process will automatically convert the organization database and perform the upgrade. See Chapter 3 for more information on upgrading from Version 4.0.

#### Logging into the newly imported organization

Each user has a default organization, which is the organization to which the user was first added. Users who have access to more than one organization have to specify the organization name in the URL in order to access an organization that is not their default organization. For example, if a deployment on a server named "crmserver" contains three organizations — Org1, Org2, and Org3 — a given user who was first created in Org1 can simply browse to http://crmserverinorder to log into Org1. The user will automatically be redirected to http://crmserver/Org1/main.aspx. However, in order to log into Org2, the user must specify the organization name in the URL http://crmserver/Org2/ in order to access the organization.

The same concept applies to newly created or newly imported organizations. In order to access the newly imported organization, you must specify the organization name (not the display name) in the URL.

#### **Editing an organization**

You can use the Deployment Manager to change the following settings for existing organizations:

- The organization's display name (Note that you cannot change the organization name, just the display name.)
- The SQL Server that the organization uses for its database
- The address of the organization's report server

## Note

To edit an organization, you must first disable it. To disable an organization, right-click the organization name in the Deployment Manager and click the Disable item in the context menu.

Organizations have two names: one is a display name, such as *Company ABC Inc.*, and the other is the organization's unique database name with special characters removed, such as *CompanyABCInc*. After the unique database name is set, it cannot be changed. The display name can be changed in the Edit Organization Wizard. Changing an organization's display name does not change the URL for accessing the Dynamics CRM Web site for the organization. The URL will continue to use the system name for the organization.

If you have moved a copy of the organization database to another SQL Server, or set up a SQL Server cluster after installing Dynamics CRM, you can use the Edit Organization Wizard, shown in Figure 7.10, to change the SQL Server name.
If you have configured SQL Server Reporting Services (SSRS) to run at a different URL, you can also change those settings in the Edit Organization Wizard. Using the Edit Organization Wizard to point to a new SSRS URL will automatically republish the reports to the new report server.

## Caution

If you have moved the database for an organization to a new SQL Server, you may need to adjust several registry keys, depending on your server configuration. Check the Microsoft support knowledge base article 952934 for more information.

To edit an organization, first back up your Dynamics CRM databases, including the organization database(s) and the MSCRM\_Config database. Then follow these steps:

- **1.** After disabling the organization, right-click the organization in the Deployment Manager and click Edit Organization.
- **2.** In the Edit Organization Wizard, shown in Figure 7.10, change the display name, SQL Server, or the reporting services Web site URL, and click Next. The wizard performs a check of system requirements to validate the changes you have made.
- **3.** When this check is complete, click Next.
- **4.** Review the summary of the changes you wish to make, and click Apply. The wizard will update the system with your changes.
- **5.** Click Finish when it completes. Re-enable the organization. (If you have changed the SQL Server, you may need to perform an IIS reset for the changes to take effect.)

#### FIGURE 7.10

The Edit Organization Wizard allows administrators to change an organization's properties.

🚈 Edit Organization Wi	zard	×
Specify the Organ Specify the name of your of CRM Server.	nization Name organization for this installation of Microsoft Dynamics	
Name:	PWCAccelerators	
Display name:	PWC Accelerators	
SQL Server:	2008R2-DEM0	
SQL Server Reporting Servi	ces URL:	
Make sure to specify the Re http://Host/ReportServer.	port Server URL and not the Report Manager URL. Ex	ample:
	Next > Ca	ncel

#### **Deleting an organization**

To delete a disabled organization from the Dynamics CRM deployment, right-click its name in the Deployment Manager and choose Delete. The organization is removed from the Deployment Manager, but the organization database is not affected. (To remove the database, you must use the SQL Server tools to manually remove it.) To delete the default organization, you must first make another organization the default organization.

To delete an active organization, you must first disable it and then right-click the organization name and click Delete.

#### Setting the default organization

You can specify which organization is the default organization in a multitenant (Enterprise) deployment. Changing the default organization in Deployment Manager does not affect users' default organization. A user's default organization is the organization to which the user was first added.

Initially, the default organization in a multiple organization deployment is the organization that was created during installation. Should you want to disable or remove this organization, you must specify another default organization.

Some client applications or custom code may stop functioning correctly if you change the default organization. Custom applications should be designed to use the Discovery Web Service to check the organization name against which the application is running. Therefore, if the custom application does not check the Discovery Web Service, it may expect the default organization to provide the data it needs to function.

To change the default organization, right-click the organization you want to make the new default organization, and click on Set as Default Organization. A dialog box opens, asking for confirmation to change the default organization. Click Yes.

## Viewing servers and server roles in Deployment Manager

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is designed using a multi-tier — or n-tier — architecture. This means that the system spreads its presentation, application, and database components across several layers. This architecture enables Dynamics CRM to be highly scalable and also helps to provide additional interfaces for integration and extensibility. The Deployment Manager enables administrators to enable, disable, and remove servers from a deployment.

#### **Understanding server roles**

In Dynamics CRM, the tiers are further defined as server roles. Figure 7.11 depicts the server roles that make up Dynamics CRM.

#### **Cross-Reference**

Server roles can be configured during installation of Dynamics CRM under Enterprise licensing. See Chapter 3 for more information about the architecture of Dynamics CRM, planning your implementation for single or multiple servers, and how to distribute server roles.

Server roles in a deployment can be viewed in the Deployment Manager. Possible roles displayed here include the Full Server, Front End Server, Back End Server, and SQL Server role groups. Each of these role groups contains other roles as detailed in Table 7.1.

#### FIGURE 7.11

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is built on a n-tier architecture. Each tier is referred to as a server role. The roles for each server in a deployment can be viewed in the Deployment Manager.

Web Application & Web Services
Processing Services
Integration Services
Deployment Service
Database & Reporting Services

#### TABLE 7.1

	Server Role Groups
Server Role Group	Server Roles
Front End Server	Web Application Server
	Discovery Web Service
	Organization Web Service
	Help Server
Back End Server	Asynchronous Service
	Sandbox Processing Service
	SharePoint Integration Service
Deployment Administration	Deployment Tools
Server	Deployment Web Service
Full Server	Includes the Front End Server, Back End Server, and Deployment Administration Server role groups
SQL Server	A logical role that is set during installation. Not part of a Server Role Group.
SRS Data Connector (for SQL Server Reporting Services)	Indicates a server with the data connector for SQL Reporting Services installed. Not part of a Server Role group.

In a single-server deployment, the Deployment Manager lists one server name with the Full Server and SQL Server roles, as shown in Figure 7.12. In multiple-server deployments, each server in the deployment is listed along with its corresponding role groups.

The SQL Server role is assigned by default to the server specified during installation. The Data Connector for SQL Server Reporting Services is installed on the report server, which may be a different server from the SQL Server. This server is displayed separately with the Data Connector role. (The Data Connector enables authentication to be passed from a client machine through the Dynamics CRM server to the report server.)

#### **Disabling servers**

You can also disable servers in your deployment from the Servers node in Deployment Manager. Disabling a server makes the server completely unavailable to end users. If the server's roles are not available on other servers, Dynamics CRM will be unavailable to users who attempt to access it. This is often necessary during deployment or server maintenance.

To disable a server, right-click the server name in the Servers area of the Deployment Manager and click on the Disable option.

#### FIGURE 7.12

Shown here is a single-server deployment with the Full Server role group and the SQL Server role on one server.

🚟 Microsoft Dynamics CRM Depl	oyment Manager				
File Action View Help					
Microsoft Dynamics CRM	Name	Status	Version	Roles	Actions
Deployment Administrators	2008R2-DEMO	Enabled	5.0.9523.17	Full Server, SRS Data Connector, SQL Server	Servers 🔺
Servers					View •
					Refresh
					🗟 Export List
					Help

#### **Deleting servers**

Servers within a multiple-server deployment can be deleted once they have been disabled in order to remove them from the deployment. Deleting a server cannot be undone. To delete a server, first disable it, then right-click the server, and click the Delete option.

## **Reviewing Deployment Manager Logs**

The Dynamics CRM server retains verbose logs by default to provide administrators with a way to review the actions that have been taken using the Deployment Manager. The default location where these logs can be found is C:\Users\%Username%\AppData\Roaming\Microsoft\MSCRM\Logs.

The logs detail all of the actions taken, as well as options that have been set during the creation, import, or renaming of organizations. In this way, they provide a useful tool for troubleshooting errors that may occur during changes to your deployment.

## **Configuring Claims-Based Authentication**

Claims-Based Authentication allows users from different domains to access the same Dynamics CRM deployment. Claims-Based Authentication uses Microsoft Identity Foundation to enable Dynamics CRM to recognize and trust the identity providers that you specify. Claims-Based Authentication is also necessary for an Internet-Facing Deployment (IFD) of Dynamics CRM.

## Note

To configure Claims-Based Authentication, you must first change the deployment to use only HTTPS. This setting affects all organizations within the deployment. (See the section on deployment properties at the beginning of this chapter for information on how to change the deployment from HTTP to HTTPS.) You must also have an available and configured Active Directory Federation Services 2.0 (AD FS 2) Web site. For more information about configuring Active Directory Federation Services, visit the following URL: http://www. microsoft.com/forefront/en/us/identity-access-management.aspx.

To configure Claims-Based Authentication, follow these steps:

- **1.** Open the Deployment Manager, and on the Action menu, right-click Microsoft Dynamics CRM and select the option to Configure Claims-Based Authentication.
- **2.** In the dialog that opens, enter the address of the federation metadata XML file on your AD FS Web site. Click Next.
- **3.** Specify the encryption certificate by clicking Select to look up a local certificate. Click Next. The wizard verifies the settings you have entered.
- 4. Click Next. A summary of your settings is displayed.
- 5. Click the Apply button to apply the configuration changes.

## **Configuring Internet-Facing Deployment**

Internet-Facing Deployment (IFD) allows users to access Dynamics CRM from the internet without using a VPN. This is especially helpful for users who will use the Outlook client for Dynamics CRM while disconnected from the network or outside of the domain.

To configure IFD, Claims-Based Authentication must first be configured, and you may need to also configure relying parties in Active Directory Federation Server 2.0 (AD FS 2). Once Claims-Based Authentication is configured, follow these steps to configure IFD:

- 1. In Deployment Manager, on the Action menu, select Configure Internet-Facing Deployment.
- 2. Enter the URL for external access to Dynamics CRM. The URL should be in the format: https://<computername>.<domain>.com:<port>. Click Next.

The IFD dialog displays the paths for the Web application and Web services for Dynamics CRM. The paths do not need the computer name, just the domain name and port number. Additionally, the Discovery Web Service URL must start with "dev." as in dev.<domain>.com:com:com:com.

- **3.** When these entries are complete, click Next. The IFD wizard performs a set of verification tasks to check the settings you have entered.
- **4.** When this is complete and shows all green check marks, click Next. A summary of the settings to be applied is displayed. Click Apply to set the IFD.
- **5.** After the changes are applied, you must also make manual changes to the web.config file in the root of the Dynamics CRM Web site. The web.config is usually located in the Web application server's Program Files directory, in the Microsoft Dynamics CRM\CRMWeb directory.
- 6. In the web.config file, find the authentication strategy element and change it from on-premise to <authentication strategy="ServiceProviderLicense Agreement" /> .
- 7. Reset IIS and test access to Dynamics CRM.

## **Summary**

This chapter described the functionality of the Deployment Manager, an administrative interface that manages deployment-wide and organization-level functions. Using the Deployment Manager, organizations can be created, imported, edited, disabled or deleted from a deployment. Organizations can be moved, or redeployed, from one deployment to another, and Dynamics CRM 4.0 organizations can be upgraded by using the import process in the Deployment Manager. The Deployment Manager also allows you to manage the licenses, servers, server roles, and other settings in your deployment.

We also covered the basic steps for configuring Claims-Based Authentication and Internet-Facing Deployment (IFD). These configurations are used to enable non-domain and/or nonlocal users to access Dynamics CRM. Claims-Based Authentication relies on Microsoft Identity Server and Active Directory Foundation Server, part of the Forefront group of products. IFD requires Claims-Based Authentication to be configured in order to function.

## CHAPTER

# **Managing Data**

The single most critical function of any customer relationship management system is facilitating the creation and maintenance of useful, relevant data. No matter how well your system is designed or how enthusiastic your users are, your CRM system will be of little use if your data is incomplete, out-dated, or incorrect.

This is why Microsoft has put data management tools at the heart of Dynamics CRM. The Get Started pane at the top of system entity views includes links to tools and instructions for importing data and detecting duplicate records, and the Ribbon that is displayed when a user visits the Get Started screen or Settings area also includes links to data management tools (see Figure 8.1) — and it's available from the File menu throughout the application. There is also a feature that allows administrators to import and delete sample data, a feature that is very helpful for development, testing, and user training.

In this chapter, we provide step-by-step instructions for the three primary tools that are included in the Dynamics CRM user interface for data management: the Import Data Wizard, the Duplicate Detection Wizard, and the Bulk Delete Wizard.

Each of these wizards is designed to provide users of all levels with an easy way to maintain high-quality data in Dynamics CRM. Because there are several features common to these three tools, users who become familiar with one of them can more easily learn to use the other two. These common features are:

• The tools are all wizards — that is, they each use a simple dialog window to guide users one step at a time, with simple interfaces and links to helpful instructions.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Importing data into Dynamics CRM

Using the built-in tools to keep your data clean

- Each wizard works with most system entities as well as custom entities.
- Each tool creates a record, akin to a regular Dynamics CRM entity record, with list views that are sortable, searchable, and filterable, and forms that provide additional detail on the status of the jobs and links to related records (see Figure 8.1).
- The output of each wizard is treated as one or more asynchronous System Jobs that run in the background and can be monitored in the Settings area of the application.

#### FIGURE 8.1

The Imports page is visible in the My Work area of the Workplace.

The Home ribbon has links to the data management tools

The 'Get Started panes have links to import data

🥔 Workplace: Imports - Mic	rosoft	Dynamics CRM	l - Win	dows	Inter	net E	xplo	orer														¢ X	3
🚱 🔾 🗢 🏄 https://c5insigh	nt.crm3.	dynamics.com/nai	n.aspx#	•								• በ	49	×	⊡ B	inq						P	*
😭 Favorites 🛛 🍰																							
Workplace: Imports - Microso	oft Dyn	amics CRM											<u>ه</u> -	5	•		0 -	Page 🔻	Safety	<b>→</b> T	fools 🔻	• @•	>>
File Home																				Matt	Witte C5 Ir Sig	mann @ nsight n Out ^	1
New New Activity, Record - New	icate E	wik Delete Advant Wizard Advant Tools	red Op	tions																			
Workplace	Get y	Started with	Impo	inting	tion in	to Micr	osoft	Dynamic	s CRM (	Online	by impor	ting it.					- F		Video	20	20	verview	
My Work A	1	Get Data In					0	2 Lea	n Moi	19					3	Moni	tor &	Mana	38		_		
G Dashboards		Import from Elles					(	E Abou	t Imnor	tina					B	About	Checki	na Imno	rt Status				
Activities	c)	Import Data Maps						Abou	t Data I	Maps								ng angoo					
16 UI Scripts	¢,	Download a Data	Import 1	Template																			
Calendar											~												
Imports															4 T								9
Duplicate Detection													viev	V: 1V	ny inp	uns							
Articles	CGN	ew 剑 🕱	8 >	K Ma	ore Ac	ctions	•																1
Reports		Import Name						Stat	us Rea	son	Succe	esses	Partia	al Failu	ures	Err	ors	To	tal Coun	t  Cn	eated	On 🔻 🔮	j.
Announcements	EP,	CompaniesRelTy	ecsv.cs	v				Con	pleted			37				0		2	3	9 6/2	23/201	0 10:58	1
Customers 😞	DC.	Companies.csv						Con	pleted	2		89			- 2	0		0	8	9 6/3	23/201	0 9:48	1
Accounts	EP.	Companies.csv						Con	pleted			164				0	1,2	92	1,45	6 4/3	21/201	0 11:06	1
e Contacte	CC.	Companies.csv						Con	pleted			164				0	1,2	92	1,45	64)	/5/2010	0 9:30 PM	1
Workplace	-																						1
Sales																							
Marketing																							
Service																				_		_	
Settings	1																					•	4
âu -	1-4	of 4 (1 selected)				_	_	_	_	_	_									_	14 4 1	Page 1 ▶	1
Resource Center	All		C																				ł
Done								F				Intern	et   Prot	ected	Mode	e: On			1	-	<b>E</b> 10	0% 🔻	

Import jobs are visible in the imports list view

## Importing Data with the Import Data Wizard

The Import Data Wizard is designed to make it quick and easy to get your data into Dynamics CRM, whether you need to import data into existing system or custom entities, or create a new entity or new fields on the fly.

The Import Data Wizard accepts four file types (see Figure 8.2):

- XML (in Excel's XML Spreadsheet 2003 file format)
- CSV
- TXT
- ZIP (a zipped file containing files of the other supported types)

## Note

Each file can be as large as 8MB, though if they are zipped together you can import up to 32MB of data using this wizard. When zipping files together, all the files must be of the same type (.csv, .xml, or .txt).

Imported files can include lookup references that relate your source data to records already in the database. The Import Data Wizard automatically creates the relationship to the related record in Dynamics CRM. For example, if your source file includes an Owner column, the Import Data Wizard will assign the newly imported records to the appropriate owners — if the owner name in your source file exactly matches the username in Dynamics CRM. Similarly, if you import Contacts with a Parent Account column, the Parent Account must be an existing account record in Dynamics CRM with the exact spelling and case as the import file.

One limitation of the Import Data Wizard is the way it handles picklists, or drop-down items within a record. If the picklist contains a matching value, the record will be imported, but it will fail if there is no matching value, and the Import Data Wizard does not provide an option to add new picklist options to an existing picklist or option set.

## Data maps

Data maps are XML files used by the import process to connect the data you are importing to the appropriate entities and fields in Dynamics CRM. If your source data is formatted with column headings and data that match the existing entity and field display names, the Import Data Wizard will automatically map your data when you select the target entity. If the wizard is unable to auto-map your data, you can select an existing map.

#### FIGURE 8.2

The Import Data Wizard allows users to import a variety of source file types.

a Import Data Wizard Webpage Dialog		X
https://c5insight.crm3.dynamics.com/WebWizard/WizardContainer.aspx?V	/izardId=A0E9DC09-8730-4	C97-/ 🔒
Upload Data File		@ <u>H</u> elp
Select a data file to import into Microsoft Dynamics CRM.		
Data file name:		
Supported file types: XML Spreadsheet 2003 (.xml), .csv, .txt, and .zip		
	<u>N</u> ext Ca	incel
nttps://c5insight.crm3.dynamics.co 🚭 Internet   Protected Mode: On		<b>A</b>

Dynamics CRM ships with several existing maps for Salesforce.com and Business Contact Manager data imports. You can modify these built-in maps or create your own and save them for later reuse.

If you are unable to take advantage of the auto-mapping feature or an existing data map, or you want to create a new Data Map for later reuse, the Import Data Wizard will present you with a mapping screen where you can match your source fields to the target fields in Dynamics CRM (see Figure 8.3). When you are done mapping and setting other options for the import, you can give the Data Map a name so it is easy to locate later. Data Maps can also be imported and exported in the Data Management area under Settings.

#### Tip

If you are going to import multiple files where there are relational references from one record type to another, start by importing the top-most records. For example, when importing Accounts and Contacts, where the Contacts have a Parent Account field, import the Accounts first. This way, the relationships can be automatically established when the Contacts are imported.

#### FIGURE 8.3

When you map source data fields to target data fields in the Import Data Wizard, you can save the results as a reusable data map.

🙇 Import Data Wizard Web	opage Dialog	X
https://c5insight.crm3.dynamics	.com/WebWizard/WizardContainer.asp	ox?WizardId=A0E9DC09-8730-4C97-/
Map Fields		Ø <u>H</u> elp
Select the Microsoft Dynamics CR field. We suggest that you map a	M record type and map each source fie I the required fields before you click N Is and proceed	ld to a target Microsoft Dynamics CRM ext.
Microsoft Dynamics CRM Record Types	Source Fields	Microsoft Dynamics CRM Show All – Fields
	Required Fields	
	Company 🔻	Account Name
	Optional Fields	
	City	Address 1: City 👻
	State	Address 1: State/Province 👻
	Street1	Address 1: Street 1 👻
	Telephone1	Main Phone 👻
	Zip	🕼 Not Mapped 👻
	Back	Next Cancel
https://c5insight.crm3.dynamics.co	e 🚭 Internet   Protected Mode: On	

## Preparing your source files

To smooth the process of importing data into Dynamics CRM, prepare your source files in advance and perform test imports with small samples of your data. Following are some tips on preparing your source data.

#### Use the data import templates

On the Data Management screen is a link to download templates for data import. This link opens a dialog that allows you to select the entity you are working with and export an Excel XML file that contains pre-formatted column headings for all of the entity's importable fields. You can use this template as a starting point to format the data you plan to import.

## Note

The link to access data import templates is also available from the Ribbon menu above each entity's list view by clicking on the Import Data menu's drop-down and selecting the Download Template for Import option.

#### Make column headings match display names

If you do not want to use a template, rename the column headings in your source file so they match the display names in Dynamics CRM. For example, Main Phone is the default display label for an Account's primary phone number. In your source file, changing the column heading to match this *exactly* (spelling, capitalization, and spaces) will allow the Import Data Wizard to map the column automatically. A quick shortcut to see exactly what your column headings should be is to export a sample record to Excel from Dynamics CRM. Use the Advanced Find tool to create a query that includes the same columns as the data you want to import and copy the column headings to your source file.

#### Add necessary options to picklists

The Import Data Wizard will not add new options to existing picklists. Each row in your imported file that contains picklist values that do not exist in Dynamics CRM will fail to import. Make sure that you've added all picklist values and published the changes beforehand to avoid rejected rows.

#### Import lookup references first

If your import file contains references to related records, the related records must already exist. For example, if you are importing contacts with a parent account record, the parent account must be entered first or the row will fail to import.

#### Validate and format fields

If you're using client-side JavaScript on your entity forms to apply validation and formatting (such as is frequently used for phone number fields) this formatting won't be applied to your imported data since client-side script is not triggered during imports. You should format the data in your source file first.

## Caution

Workflow rules and plug-ins that are configured to fire when a record is created will be triggered during data import. In some cases, this may be desirable, but it is always a good idea to review your workflow rules and plug-ins before importing data to avoid unexpected results. You can temporarily unpublish workflow rules during the import and re-publish them when you are done to avoid problems. Similarly, you can un-register plugin steps and re-register them when your import is complete.

#### Dealing with floats and decimal precision

Float or decimal data may be imported even if the precision is different. For example, if your source file has a decimal value of 1.432 (a precision of three digits after the decimal point) and the target field only has a precision of two decimal places, your data will be imported as 1.43. The results of rounding are not always predictable and can produce unexpected results.

If your data requires a greater level of precision, make the change in Dynamics CRM first and publish it, before importing the data. There are two types of fields that allow decimals in Dynamics CRM: floating-point fields have up to five digits of precision, and decimal fields have up to ten digits after the decimal.

#### Remove carriage returns and line breaks

Carriage returns, line breaks, and other non-printable characters can cause failures during the import process. Remove extraneous non-printable characters before importing your data into Dynamics CRM.

## Enriching (updating) existing data

The Import Data Wizard can also be used to update existing data in Dynamics CRM. It is designed to allow users to export data from Dynamics CRM to Excel, where it can be *enriched* or otherwise manipulated and reimported through the Import Data Wizard. Changes to the data will be updated to the existing records. In order to accomplish this, unique identifying data is included when exporting data from Dynamics CRM and must not be removed when manipulating the data in Excel. Users are given the opportunity to include these unique identifiers when exporting data (see Figure 8.4).

#### FIGURE 8.4

When you export data from Dynamics CRM, you have the option to include unique identifiers which will allow you to update the records using the Import Data Wizard.



## **Reviewing the import job**

You can monitor the progress of your import jobs in the Imports list view. Refreshing the view as the import is processed will allow you to watch the job as it moves from parsing your source file, through transforming it, and importing each record. The list view will show counts of the total rows in your source, as well as the number of successes and failures as the job progresses.

When the job is complete, you can open the Import record and view the results. If you are dissatisfied with the records that were imported, the Import record provides you with the option to bulk delete the imported records.

For each failed row, Dynamics CRM provides a description of the reason why the row failed to import. You can also export failed rows to Excel, where you can analyze them to determine the cause of the failure or modify them to attempt a re-import (see Figure 8.5).

#### FIGURE 8.5

Rows from your source file that fail to import are visible in the Failure associated view on the Import record. You can export them from here for further analysis or clean-up.

🥖 Import Source File: One	timeSample.csv - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Wind	ws Internet Explorer	- ¢ ×
🕥 🛇 🗢 🔟 https://c5insig	ght.crm3. <b>dynamics.com</b> /import/edit.aspx?id=c173b560-ef83-df	1-bd54-001f29c8f9+ 👻 🔒 🔗 😽 🗙 🗔 Bing	+ م
🚔 Favorites 🛛 🚔			
88 • 🔊 Workplace: Imports	- Micr 🚂 Import Source File: One 🗙	🖞 🕶 🔂 👻 🖷 🖛 🖛	age▼ Safety▼ Tools▼ 🕢▼ 🎽
Close 🖨 🗞 Act	ions -		<u>© Н</u> еір ~
	Import Source File: OnetimeSample.csv		
Details:	E Sailures: ImportLog Associated View	1	٩
General	🎒 🖹 😫 Export Error Rows		
Accounts Fully Impo	Seq Description	Column Heading   Column Value   Orig  Source Ro	w 3
Accounts Partially Im	1 The list value is not mapped.	Customer Type Porspect 5 "Watch Re	pairs, Inc.",,457 W. Broad,,CA,19
ung randres	2 The list value is not mapped.	Customer Type Porspect 15 Industrial	Cleaning Supplies Inc.,(336)476-9
System Jobs	4 1- 2 of 2 (1 selected)		► M 4 Page 1 ►
Status: Active			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		👹 Internet   Protected Mode: On	

## Using the Import Contacts Wizard from Outlook

Another common way data is imported into Dynamics CRM is by tracking contacts from Outlook using the Dynamics CRM Outlook Client. Contacts can be tracked individually or by using the Add Contacts Wizard in the Outlook add-in. You should consider the benefits and potential issues of allowing users, via security roles, to import large numbers of records particularly if you do not have strong duplicate detection rules in place.

To use the Add Contacts Wizard in Outlook follow these steps:

- 1. Navigate to the Dynamics CRM options. In Outlook 2010, click File ↔ CRM ↔ Import Contacts ↔ Add Contact Wizard.
- 2. The wizard dialog box opens and displays some introductory information. Click Next.
- **3.** The wizard will analyze your Outlook contacts and group them by company names, domain names, and categories. Select the group type and the desired groupings, and click the Add Contacts button. The wizard imports the contacts according to your selections.

## **Detecting Duplicates**

The Duplicate Detection wizard might better be called the Duplicate Detection Job Scheduling Wizard because it allows users to schedule a duplicate detection job. A number of configurations that must be completed before using the wizard to schedule a duplicate detection job, including defining the rules that determine duplicates and enabling entities for duplicate detection.

Dynamics CRM duplicate detection jobs scan the Dynamics CRM database tables for a selected entity, looking for records that appear to be copies of other records. Potential duplicates are identified and can then be managed within the duplicate detection job records. The duplicate detection jobs do not deactivate, delete, or otherwise modify potential duplicate records — the user or system administrator must manually deal with these records. Duplicate detection jobs can run against most system entities as well as custom entities and can be set to recur at regular intervals.

#### Note

Duplicate detection jobs are different from duplicate detection rules that can prevent duplicates from being created during an import job. Duplicate detection jobs use the same rules, but simply having the rules in place does not prevent users from creating duplicate records. It will still be necessary to run periodic jobs to detect duplicates and manually clean them up.

## Tip

Before importing data for production use, it is best to have duplicate detection rules properly configured and tested. This way, when importing new data you can let the Import Data Wizard prevent duplicate records from entering the system.

## **Duplicate detection settings**

Duplicate detection can be globally disabled or enabled in the Duplicate Detection Settings dialog available from the Duplicate Detection Settings link on the Data Management page. Disabling duplicate detection unpublishes all duplicate detection rules.

In addition to batch duplicate detection jobs, the Duplicate Detection Settings dialog enables you to configure when individual or a series of records are compared against the published rules:

- When a record is created or updated
- When Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook goes from offline to online
- During data import

## **Creating duplicate detection rules**

For the Duplicate Detection Wizard to function, Dynamics CRM must know what constitutes a duplicate of a given record type. For example, a common indication that two Contact records are duplicates is if they have the same e-mail address. Conversely, two Account records may share the same name but have different locations, such as is often the case with companies that have multiple offices. You can also compare one entity against another. In order for Dynamics CRM to know what your organization considers a duplicate record for a given entity, you must first configure and publish a duplicate detection rule.

## Tip

Before you can create a duplicate detection rule, the entity must first be enabled for duplicate detection. Open the solution that contains the entity you want to manage, and on the entity's definition page, place a check next to Enable duplicate detection in the Mail Merge and Duplicate Detection section. Save and publish the solution. (Detailed instructions for customizing and publishing solutions are in Chapters 15 and 16.)

When a duplicate detection rule is published, Dynamics CRM uses the criteria you have specified in the rule to create a *matchcode*. A matchcode is then generated in the background for each record in Dynamics CRM and used to identify potential duplicates. For example, if you create a duplicate detection rule for Contacts that compares the entire last name and the same first three characters of the first name, the matchcode for a Contact named Franklin Smith as **SmithFra** (the exact last name plus the first three characters from the first name field). Another Contact with the name Francine Smith would also have a matchcode of **SmithFra** and would therefore be identified as a potential duplicate based on these criteria. Matchcodes, and therefore duplicate detection rules, are limited to a maximum of 450 characters in order to preserve optimal performance while records are being created, imported, or scanned by duplicate detection jobs.

To configure a duplicate detection rule:

- **1.** Navigate to the Data Management page in the Settings area of Dynamics CRM and click on the link for Duplicate Detection Rules.
- 2. Click the New button to create a new rule.
- **3.** In the Duplicate Detection Rule form, enter a name and description to describe the rule you are configuring.
- **4.** In the Base Record Type picklist, select the entity for which you want to create the duplicate detection rule. Only entities that have been enabled for duplicate detection are available from this picklist.
- **5.** In the Matching Record Type picklist, select the entity against which you want to compare the base record type. If you want to be able to run duplicate detection against more than one record type, you will need to configure and publish multiple rules.
- **6.** Indicate if you want your duplicate detection rule to be case sensitive. The default is to ignore case in the matching criteria.
- 7. Select the criteria that determine a matching record. If the duplicate detection rule will compare the entity against a different entity type, you need to select the fields you want to compare (see Figure 8.6). The options for comparing records include checking for an exact match or the same *n* number of first or last characters. You can create multiple matching criteria within a single rule. These criteria, or conditions, build a matchcode. The matchcode's length is shown below the selection criteria.
- **8.** When you are done configuring the matching conditions, save the rule and then publish it by clicking the Publish button on the record toolbar. (You can also publish and unpublish rules from the list view's "More Actions" menu.)

Depending on the number of records in your system for which a matchcode must be generated, the publish action may take from a few seconds to several minutes to complete. You can monitor the progress of the publish action from the duplicate detection rules list view.

## Scheduling duplicate detection jobs

Duplicate detection jobs can be run on a schedule, either on a one-time basis or as recurring jobs. When you schedule a duplicate detection job, it will use all published rules for the entity.

#### FIGURE 8.6

Duplicate detection rules can compare entities of different types and check for exact matches or matching first or last characters.

uplicate Detection Ru	ule: New - MICrosoπ Dyna	annes eraw - windows i	internet explorer	20	
⊖ ▽ 🏼 🖉 https://c5in:	sight.crm3. <b>dynamics.com</b> /tool	s/duplicatedetection/duplica	tedetectionrules/edit.asp: 👻 🔒 😣 😽 🗙	Bing	
avorites 🍰					
🔹 🚂 Microsoft Dynamic	cs CRM 🛛 📈 Duplicate Det	ection Rul ×	<b>公</b> • (	🗟 🔻 🖃 🖶 🔻 Page 🕶 S	afety 🔻 Tools 🔻 🔞
🖌 🖬 🔀 Save and Clo	ose 🔓				@ Help
B	Duplicate Detection	on Rule: New		Working on so	lution:Default Solutio
ils: ×	Information				
irormation Seneral	▼ General				Ē
dministration lotes	Name *	Check Leads against Contac	ts Status Reason *	Unpublished	*
ystem Jobs	Description				
	Durificale Detection Rule	- Cálacia			7
	Duplicate Detection Rule	e Criteria	Matching Record Type	Contact	7
	Duplicate Detection Rule Base Record Type * Case-sensitive	e Criteria Lead	■ Matching Record Type	Contact	
	Duplicate Detection Rule Base Record Type * Case-sensitive	: Criteria Lesd	Matching Record Type	Contact	•
	Duplicate Detection Rule Base Record Type * Case-sensitive	e Cilteria Lead In d Field	Matching Record Type Matching Record Field	Contact	• •
	Duplicate Detection Rule Base Record Type * Case-sensitive Case-sensitive Base Recor Base Recor Sase Recor	c Citeria Lead I d Field	Matching Record Type Matching Record Field Last Name	Contact Criteria Exact Match	- No
	Duplicate Detection Ruth Base Record Type * Case-sensitive Case-sensitive Base Recor Visate Name Street J	e Citteria Lead I	Matching Record Type Matching Record Field Last Name Address 1: Street 1	Contact Criteria Exact Match Same First Characters	
	Duplicate Detection Ruin Base Record Type * Case-sensitive Clear Base Recor Sase Recor Sase Recor Sase Sase Sase Sase Sase Sase Sase Sase	c Citleria Lead Gield	Matching Record Type Matching Record Field Lat Name Address 1: Street 1 Address 1: Clbr	Contact Criteria Exact Match Same First Characters Exact Match	
	Duplicate Detection Rule Base Record Type * Case-sensitive Clear Base Record \$ Street1 \$ Clear Clear Base Record \$ Street1 \$ Clear Clear \$ Street2 \$ Clear \$ Clear \$ Street2 \$ Clear \$ Clear \$ Street2 \$ Clear \$ Clear \$ Street2 \$ Clear \$ Clear \$ Street2 \$ Clear \$ Clear \$ Street2 \$ Clear \$ Street2 \$ Clear \$ Street2 \$ Clear \$ Street2 \$ Clear \$ Street2 \$ Clear \$ Clear \$ Street2 \$ Clear \$ Clear	e Criteria Lead d Field ength: 101/450	Matching Record Type Matching Record Field Last Name Address 1: Street 1 Address 1: City	Contact Criteria Exact Match Same First Characters Exact Match	v No
	Duplicate Detection Ruit Base Record Type * Case-sensitive Clear Base Recor ¥ Last Name ¥ Street J ¥ City Current matchcode I	e Citeria Lead d Field ength: 101/450	Matching Record Type Matching Record Field Lat Name Address 1: Street 1 Address 1: City	Contact Criteria Exact Match Same First Characters Exact Match	

To schedule a duplicate detection job:

- 1. Launch the Duplicate Detection Wizard from the New button on the Duplicate Detection Jobs list view, accessible from the link on the Data Management page.
- 2. Click Next to proceed past the welcome screen.
- **3.** On the Select Records page, select the entity you wish to scan for duplicates. This page is similar to the Advanced Find tool and allows you to limit the records to check based on filter criteria or saved views. To speed up the filtering process, you can start by selecting a saved view and then adding additional filtering criteria (see Figure 8.7). If you have a large number of records in your system, a minimal set of filter criteria is advisable in order to minimize the impact on performance and length of time the job will run. At a minimum, run the job only against active records.

- **4.** Click the Preview Records button to check the results of your filtering criteria. If you want to run a duplicate detection job against all records of the selected entity, you can skip this filter. Click Next when you are satisfied with your filter criteria.
- **5.** On the Select Options page of the wizard you can change the name the system has given the duplicate detection job.
- **6.** Set the start date and time when you want the duplicate detection job to commence.
- **7.** If you want to configure this job to run on a recurring basis, select the Run this job after every option and select the frequency in days that you wish the job to run.
- **8.** By default, an e-mail will be sent to you when the duplicate detection job is completed. (This option is grayed out if your user record does not contain an e-mail address.) You can also choose to notify another user.
- 9. Click Next and then click Submit to complete the Duplicate Detection Wizard.

#### FIGURE 8.7

When scheduling a duplicate detection job, you can limit the records that the job will check for potential duplicates.

🕖 Check for Duplicates Webp	age Dialog	X
https://c5insight.crm3.dynamics.co	m/WebWizard/WizardCont	ainer.aspx?WizardId=3E4792DF-42CC-4b6b-
Select Records		@ <u>H</u> elp
Specify the entity to check. To limit th	ne records checked, specify	additional criteria.
Look for: Lead	✓ Use Saved View:	My Open Leads 🔹 👻
🛅 Clear		
<u>Owner</u>	Equals Current User	
<ul> <li><u>Status</u></li> </ul>	Equals	Open
▼ <u>City</u>	Equals	Charlotte
Select		
Preview Records		
		Back Next Cancel
https://c5insight.crm3.dynamics.co 🌘	Internet   Protected Mod	le: On 🔒

## Handling duplicate records

When a duplicate detection job has finished identifying potential duplicate records, you must review the list of potential duplicates and decide what to do with each record. (This can be a very tedious process and underscores the importance of having well-defined and well-tested duplicate detection rules in place before data is loaded or users are allowed to begin creating records, so duplicates can be caught on the front end.) To view potential duplicates, click the link to go to the duplicate detection jobs list view on the Data Management page, and open the job you ran. On the left-hand side of the job, click the View Duplicates link (see Figure 8.8).

#### FIGURE 8.8

After a duplicate detection job runs, the potential duplicates must be manually merged or deactivated.

A contes     A system Jobs: My Duplicates     A contes     A system Jobs: My Duplicates     A contes	bools/asyncoperation/edit.asp: (asynchesis)	ction: Active Accounts - 6,           ction: Active Accounts - 6,           ction: Active Accounts - 6,           ctor: Active Accounts - 6,           ctor	00155D100C V (4) X (2) 29/2010 11:17:25 PM To refresh the list of potential di E-mail Address 2   E-1	Bing	Safety + Tools + Help detection again. nt Number   Primary 2
Favorites & Suggested Sites - @ Suggested Sites -	Web Silice Gallery  Job: Duplicate Detect Upplicates  cord in the top list, resolve di count Name  Shipping Active e Active e Shipping Active e Active e Active e Roman Active e	ction: Active Accounts - 6, etected duplicates in the bottom list : Modified On Email 6/29/2010 1108 6/29/2010 1108 6/29/2010 1109 6/29/2010 1109	* S       * 29/2010 11:17:25 PM       fo refresh the list of potential di       E-mail Address 2	<ul> <li>Image: Page +</li> <li>Image: P</li></ul>	Safety + Tools + @ @ Help detection again. nt Number   Primary @
All System Jobs: My Duplicate D     All System Jobs: My Duplicate D     All System Job     System J     System J     System J     View     System J     System J     System J     View     System J     Sy	( System Job: Duplicate D > Job: Duplicate Detect v Duplicates scord in the top list, resolve di count Name ↑   Status e Shipping Active e Shipping Active e Shipping Active typ Cafe Active Active typ Cafe Active typ Cafe Active	ction: Active Accounts - 6,           etected duplicates in the bottom list:           Modified On         Email           6/29/2010 1109         6/29/2010 1109           6/29/2010 1109         6/29/2010 1109           6/29/2010 1109         6/29/2010 1109	229/2010 11:17:25 PM To refresh the list of potential di E-mail Address 2   E-t	• 🖃 👼 • Page • uplicates, run duplicate o mail Address 3   Accour	Safety + Tools + 😨
Acces	Job: Duplicate Detect v Duplicates ecord in the top list, resolve di court Name 4 Status a Shipping Active e Shipping Active e Shipping Active typ Cafe Active typ Cafe Active typ Cafe Active rupet Cleane Active impact Comm Active	ction: Active Accounts - 6, steteted duplicates in the bottom list: Modified On E-mail 6/29/2010 11:08 6/29/2010 11:08 6/29/2010 11:09 6/29/2010 11:08	(29/2010 11:17:25 PM fo refresh the list of potential du	uplicates, run duplicate o mail Address 3   Accour	Help      detection again.      nt Number   Primary 2
Actions - Actions - Carpeirons - Carpeirons - Actions - Carpeirons - Carpei	Job: Duplicate Detect v Duplicates acord in the top list, resolve di eshipping Active eshipping Active eshipping Active eshipping Active try Cafe Active try Cafe Active repet Cleaner Active impart Cleaner Active	Active Accounts - 6,           etected duplicates in the bottom list.           Modified On         E-mail           6/29/2010 11.08         6/29/2010 11.09           6/29/2010 11.09         6/29/2010 11.09           6/29/2010 11.09         6/29/2010 11.09	/29/2010 11:17:25 PM fo refresh the list of potential di E-mail Address 2   E-l	uplicates, run duplicate o mail Address 3   Accour	Help  detection sgain.  nt Number   Primary 2
System Jo View View Details View Duplicates View Duplicates Vi	Job: Duplicate Detect v Duplicates ecord in the top list, resolve di count Name ▲ Status e Shipping Active Es Shipping Active try Cafe Active ripet Cleaner Active irrorate Com Active	Active Accounts - 6,           etected duplicates in the bottom list:           Modified On         E-mail           6/29/2010 1108         6/29/2010 1108           6/29/2010 1109         6/29/2010 1109           6/29/2010 1109         6/29/2010 1109	729/2010 11:17:25 PM	uplicates, run duplicate o mail Address 3   Accour	detection again. nt Number   Primary 🖉
talis:  For each ress General Details View Duplicates For each ress Acco Acco Acco Acco Acco Acco Acco Ac	ecord in the top list, resolve de count Name A Status e Shipping Active e Shipping Active tsy Cafe Active tsy Cafe Active ripet Cleaner Active import Cleaner Active	teteted duplicates in the bottom list : Modified On E-mail 6/29/2010 11:08 6/29/2010 11:09 6/29/2010 11:09 6/29/2010 11:08	fo refresh the list of potential di	uplicates, run duplicate ( mail Address 3   Accour	detection again. nt Number   Primary 🖉
Information General View Duplicates View Duplicates Acce Acce Acce Acce Acce Carp Carp Carp Carp Carp Carp Carp Carp	count Name ☆ Status count Name ☆ Status e Shipping Active e Shipping Active tsy Cafe Active rget Cleaner Active rget Cleaner Active rgot Cleaner Active	Modified On         E-mail           6/29/2010 11:08         6/29/2010 11:08           6/29/2010 11:08         6/29/2010 11:08           6/29/2010 11:08         6/29/2010 11:08	E-mail Address 2   E-r	mail Address 3   Accour	nt Number   Primary 🖉
General Acc 3 View Duplicates Acc 4 View Duplicates Acc 4 Acc 4 Acc 4 Acc 4 Carp Carp 1 - 12 (1 set	e Shipping Active e Shipping Active e Shipping Active tsy Cafe Active rpet Cleaner Active rpet Cleaner Active rororate Com Active	Modified On         E-mail           6/29/2010 11:08         6/29/2010 11:08           6/29/2010 11:08         6/29/2010 11:08           6/29/2010 11:08         6/29/2010 11:08	E-mail Address 2   E-I	mail Address 3   Accour	nt Number   Primary
Jeenils Ace 4 Jeew Duplicates Ace 4 Ace 4 Ace 4 Ace 4 Ace 4 Ace 4 Carp	e Shipping Active e Shipping Active tay Cafe Active tay Cafe Active ty Cafe Active	6/29/2010 11:08 6/29/2010 11:09 6/29/2010 11:08 6/29/2010 11:09 6/29/2010 11:08			
	e Shipping Active tsy Cafe Active tsy Cafe Active rpet Cleaner Active rpot Cleaner Active rroorate Com Active	6/29/2010 11:09 6/29/2010 11:08 6/29/2010 11:09 6/29/2010 11:08			
Artsy     Carp	tsy Cafe Active tsy Cafe Active rpet Cleaner Active rpet Cleaner Active rroorate Com Active	6/29/2010 11:08 6/29/2010 11:09 6/29/2010 11:08			
Carp Carp Carp Carp Carb Carb Carb Carb	rpet Cleaner Active rpet Cleaner Active rporate Com Active	6/29/2010 11:08			
Carp Carp 	rpet Cleaner Active rporate Com Active	6/29/2010 11:08			
Carp Coro 1 - 12 (1 set	rpet Cleaner Active				
<ul> <li>Corp</li> <li>1 - 12 (1 set</li> </ul>	irborate Com Active	6/29/2010 11:09			
1 - 12 (1 se		6/29/2010 11:08			•
	selected)				H ≪ Page 1 ►
Potential du	duplicate records:	Accounts(1)	<u> </u>		
×	Add Connection   More Ad	tions - 🌐 Merge - 🌀 Run Workf	low		
Acco	count Name 🔺 🛛 Status	Modified On E-mail	E-mail Address 2 E-r	mail Address 3 Accour	nt Number   Primary 🛛
Carp	rpet Cleaner Active	6/29/2010 11:09	1		
	aper creation in theory	0/20/2020 22/00/m			

Potential duplicate records can be deleted, deactivated, merged, or ignored. When merging records, you have the option of selecting a master record that will survive and inherit all of the related records from the subordinate record, which will be deactivated. The Merge Records dialog also allows you to choose individual fields to move to the surviving record to help avoid data loss.

To manage and de-duplicate the records the duplicate detection job identified as potential duplicates, follow these steps:

- 1. Select a record from the top list. Potential duplicates for this record are displayed in the window below. The top list shows a maximum of 12 records at a time. The bottom list displays as many records as your individual user options allow.
- 2. Review the potential duplicates in the bottom list and decide whether to deactivate the potential duplicates or merge them with the record in the top list. If at the time the duplicate detection job ran your system had additional rules that compared the entity to another entity, you will be able to view all of the potential duplicates across the different entities by selecting the other entity from the drop-down option above the bottom list.
- **3.** To deactivate a record in the bottom list, select the record(s) and click the More Actions toolbar button and choose Deactivate from the menu. You can deactivate multiple records at a time.
- **4.** To merge records, click the Merge button. You can merge only two records at a time. Choosing to merge the two records automatically will set the record from the top list as the master record. If you are uncertain which record should be the master record, you can view the data in the two records side-by-side in the merge dialog by clicking the Merge button and choosing the Select Master option. You can also select individual fields to move to the master record.

## Tip

After merging or deactivating a record from the bottom list, it helps to refresh the top list so you can see the status of the records and move on to deal with the next active record in the list.

# Cleaning Up Your Data with the Bulk Deletion Wizard

The Bulk Deletion Wizard is the simplest to use and requires no prior configuration. This wizard is used to schedule and run a system job that deletes records of a given entity from Dynamics CRM.

- 1. To launch the Bulk Delete Wizard navigate to the Bulk Record Deletion list view under Data Management and click the New button.
- 2. Enter the search criteria you want to use to define the set of records you want to delete. You can start with a saved view and add additional filtering criteria. Each clause in the filtering criteria is treated as an "AND" statement, so if you have multiple criteria, the search will look for records that meet all of them.

- **3.** Before continuing, preview the records that your search criteria have found, and when you are satisfied with the scope of the deletion job, click Next.
- 4. Provide a name for the job and set the start time and recurrence options. Click Next.
- 5. Click the Submit button to finish the wizard.
- **6.** You can monitor the progress of the deletion job or check it for failures by going back to the Bulk Record Deletion list view.

Bulk deletion jobs can also be launched from a completed import job. Dynamics CRM keeps track of the records that were created by each import job, and this set of records can be targeted by a bulk record deletion job. This is very handy when performing test import jobs.

#### Caution

Dynamics CRM does not have any method of recovering deleted records. If you do not carefully limit the scope of the bulk deletion job, you can easily delete records that should not have been deleted. Depending on the entity's configuration, related records may also be automatically deleted if they are parented by a record in your bulk deletion job (and the relationship between the two entities contains a cascading delete setting).

## **Summary**

Well-maintained data can become one of your organization's most valuable assets, which is why Microsoft has invested heavily in providing powerful, yet easy-to-use, data management tools right within the Dynamics CRM user interface. These wizard-based tools create system jobs that run in the background, performing critical tasks like importing data, detecting potential duplicate records, and deleting records in bulk.

Before importing data: Understand the structure of your Dynamics CRM data and the format it expects data to be in. Your source data will most likely need some clean-up, which you can do in Excel or another spreadsheet program, before importing it. Do a few test imports with a small number of records, saving and improving your data maps along the way, until you are confident you can launch a successful import job.

Having good duplicate detection rules in place is essential to keeping your system's data clean and useful, and you will have to spend less time managing potential duplicates if you can prevent them from making their way into Dynamics CRM in the first place. The Duplicate Detection Wizard requires that duplicate detection rules are defined and published before it will be able to launch duplicate detection jobs. By default, Dynamics CRM includes three duplicate detection rules, one each for Accounts, Contacts, and Leads. You can also create and publish multiple custom detection rules per entity. Like the Import Data Wizard, it can take some trial and error to get these rules and settings just right.

## CHAPTER

# Maintaining, Optimizing, and Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM

The goal of this chapter is to equip you with the knowledge and resources needed to successfully administer Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 on a daily basis. Because of the many components that make up the infrastructure of Dynamics CRM — as well as the many possible deployment scenarios — the primary focus will be on familiarizing you with the tools at your disposal, providing references and links to external resources that will help you to maintain, optimize, and troubleshoot the system.

Throughout this book and this chapter, when speaking of the individuals responsible for maintaining Dynamics CRM, we frequently refer to them as administrators. We use the term administrator in a general sense, realizing that in some organizations one person may be responsible for all of the "administrative" functions, while in a large enterprise environment, there may be teams of specialized IT professionals with more narrowly defined responsibilities.

# **Maintaining Dynamics CRM**

Maintaining Dynamics CRM requires familiarity with a broad range of server, Web, and network technologies and in many cases may call for highly specialized skills. Following is a partial list of the types of skills and knowledge that may be required in order to administer Dynamics CRM:

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Backups and maintenance for Dynamics CRM

Measuring baseline performance

Optimizing Dynamics CRM Client, Application, Platform, and Data tiers

Troubleshooting and repairing errors

- **Database administration:** This skillset includes knowledge of how to install, configure, and maintain SQL Server, and how to write and use queries, stored procedures, and reports. Typical database administration for Dynamics CRM may require the ability to configure and restore backups of databases, use SQL Server Profiler, or troubleshoot database security and authentication.
- Web server administration: Skills required for administering the Dynamics CRM Web application include knowledge of IIS 7.0, the .NET framework, web services technologies, and DNS. (Chapter 20 contains a discussion of the many web technologies used to customize Dynamics CRM, knowledge of which may be helpful when troubleshooting certain issues.)
- Network administration: Dynamics CRM maintenance and troubleshooting may at times require knowledge about server hardware and operating systems, virtualization technologies, Active Directory, routing, and networking.
- Workstation/client device administration: Ultimately, it is the users of Dynamics CRM who are the administrator's "customers" and it is their machines and devices that sometimes are the locus of performance issues or system errors. Skills required for administering workstations and client devices may include desktop support, application support (such as Microsoft Office Outlook or Word), and mobile device support.

This summary of potential skill sets would not be complete without also including more "soft" skills, such as good troubleshooting instincts, knowing how to navigate Microsoft's support channels, or when to get outside help. There are also a host of related technologies such as Exchange Server that may play a critical role in your overall Dynamics CRM system. This chapter covers information that is specific to Dynamics CRM.

## **Cross-Reference**

Many of the topics discussed in this chapter underscore the importance of properly planning your deployment and the design of your Dynamics CRM system architecture in order to simplify maintenance and prevent performance problems and errors before they occur. Refer to the System Requirements Quick Reference in Chapter 2 and the treatment of architecture and installation considerations in Chapters 3 and 4 for important recommendations to consider.

## Simplifying updates

With the release of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, Microsoft has improved the process of maintaining the Dynamics CRM server, server components, and the Outlook client add-in by designing them to leverage the Windows Update service. Windows Update is the method by which security patches and bug fixes are distributed to computers running Windows and other Microsoft products.

In previous versions of Dynamics CRM, updates were made available separately from other Microsoft products and often required manual processes to download, distribute, and install. Now, administrators can manage updates for Dynamics CRM in the same way as they manage other Microsoft products. In smaller organizations, this is often managed by individual users who set their preferences on their computers. Organizations that use update management software such as Windows Server Update Services (WSUS) can now leverage this technology to coordinate the distribution and installation of updates for the various components of Dynamics CRM.

With the simplification that Windows Update brings to Dynamics CRM, administrators can now focus their maintenance efforts on ensuring that the core components of the application — the databases and the application files — are properly secured and backed up, and use a variety of monitoring tools that are available to alert them of potential trouble spots.

## Tip

The Dynamics CRM Offline Client for Outlook stores data locally in a SQL Server Express database. In addition to backing up this database, you should consider securing this data with Windows's BitLocker Drive Encryption. Without encryption, the offline data is more vulnerable to misuse or tampering should the user's laptop be lost or stolen. Microsoft has released a whitepaper on using BitLocker to encrypt the Dynamics CRM offline data. See the Online Resources in Appendix B for a link to this document.

## Backing up the server and server components

Before beginning the configuration and customization of Dynamics CRM, and before rolling it out to users, you should put in place a comprehensive maintenance and backup plan to ensure that the system is providing consistent performance, and you can recover from system outages and user or developer-induced errors. Your backup plan should include the following elements:

- Database maintenance
- Database backups
- Web and application server backups
- Backup plans for other related components

The right approach for these maintenance tasks varies, depending on your deployment scenario and the availability of resources like professional database administrators. The following sections provide guidance for using built-in tools in Windows and SQL Server.

#### Setting up a database maintenance plan

Properly maintaining the Dynamics CRM data tier includes basic tasks such as updating indexes, checking database integrity, and backing up the databases. Fortunately, SQL Server Management Studio contains the SQL Server Maintenance Plan wizard that steps you through the configuration of a comprehensive maintenance plan. These wizard-based maintenance plans are often an excellent starting point for more customized plans and are a great way to ensure your Dynamics CRM databases are backed up and well-maintained. See the "Learning Key Concepts about SQL Server Databases" sidebar to get familiar with some of the terminology

and concepts used in the SQL Server Maintenance Plan Wizard. A properly configured maintenance plan can help to maintain optimal performance and assist you with disaster recovery and business continuity.

Databases that should be covered by your maintenance plan are:

- The MSCRM\_CONFIG database
- Each *Organization\_MSCRM* database (where *Organization* represents the system organization name in your Dynamics CRM deployment. If you have a multitenant deployment, there will be one *Organization\_MSCRM* database per organization.)
- The SQL Reporting Services databases. There are two, called ReportServer and ReportServerTempDB.
- The master and msdb system databases.

To create a maintenance plan for Dynamics CRM, follow these steps:

- Open SQL Server Management Studio and connect to the instance where your Dynamics CRM databases are housed. You can install Management Studio with SQL Server or on a separate machine. Choose Start → All Programs → Microsoft SQL Server 2008 R2 → SQL Server Management Studio.
- **2.** After connecting to the SQL Server, expand the SQL Server instance name node, and then expand the Management node.
- **3.** Right-click on Maintenance Plans and then click on Maintenance Plan Wizard, shown in Figure 9.1. The wizard opens. If this is the first time you have launched this wizard, an introductory screen appears.
- **4.** Click Next to begin configuring the plan.
- **5.** On the Select Plan Properties screen, give the maintenance plan a name and description. Choose whether to schedule each task in the maintenance plan separately. If you select a single schedule, the steps of the maintenance plan are carried out in the order that you select. A good practice is to schedule the plan to run when the system is not being heavily used, such as overnight during the weekend, for example. Click Next.
- **6.** On the Select Maintenance Tasks page, select each of the options you want to include in your maintenance plan and click Next. Figure 9.2 shows the following options:
  - Check Database Integrity
  - Shrink Database
  - Reorganize Index
  - Rebuild Index
  - Update Statistics

- Back Up Database (Full)
- Maintenance Cleanup Task

#### FIGURE 9.1

To create a new maintenance plan, use the SQL Server Maintenance Plan Wizard.



- 7. Accept the order that the wizard has set for the maintenance tasks and click Next.
- **8.** For each maintenance task that you have selected, you must specify the databases that should be involved. Refer to the list of databases above to make sure that you have selected all of the appropriate databases for each task. Some tasks also have additional options. Consult SQL Server Books Online for more information on each of these optional settings. When you are finished selecting the options for each task, click Next.
- **9.** Specify the location of the backups and the file extension to use (typically, bak). Consider using backup compression to reduce the size of the backed up databases, especially if you are performing full database backups or backing up transaction logs. Click Next.

**10.** Choose the options for the cleanup tasks and click Next. The wizard creates and schedules the tasks you have selected, and shows whether all of the tasks have been successfully created. When this process completes, click the Close button to exit the wizard.

#### FIGURE 9.2

The wizard allows you to select the most common maintenance tasks.

🕼 Maintenance Plan Wizard	_ 🗆 🗵
Select Maintenance Tasks Which tasks should this plan perform?	
Select one or more maintenance tasks:	
Check Database Integrity     Shrink Database     Reorganize Index     Reorganize Index     Reorganize Index     Detabase Database (Differential)     Back Up Database (Full)     Back Up Database (Transaction Log)     Maintenance Cleanup Task      The Maintenance Cleanup task removes files left over from executing a ma	intenance plan.
Help K Back Next > Finish	Cancel

You can test the maintenance plan immediately, instead of waiting for it to execute, by expanding the Maintenance Plans node, right-clicking the maintenance plan you created, and selecting Execute. Keep in mind that the maintenance plan can impact performance, so you should only do this during off-peak usage hours.

The most important step of setting up your maintenance plan is to perform a test restore to ensure that your maintenance and backup plans function as expected in an emergency. Review the success and/or failure of the maintenance plan tasks in the log file viewer by right-clicking the plan name and selecting View History.

The maintenance plan that you created with the wizard can also be modified. Right-clicking the plan's name in SQL Server Management Studio and selecting Modify from the context menu opens a graphical maintenance plan design editor (see Figure 9.3). You can modify elements of the plan by double-clicking on them. You can also drag new maintenance tasks from the toolbox and position them in your plan.

#### FIGURE 9.3

Maintenance plans can be designed and edited in SQL Server Management Studio using a graphical, drag-and-drop interface.



#### **Backing up the Dynamics CRM application**

In addition to backing up the Dynamics CRM databases, your disaster recovery and business continuity planning should incorporate a backup and recovery plan for the Dynamics CRM application server. This should include:

- The Dynamics CRM Web site
- The application files for the Dynamics CRM server and components (E-mail Router and Extensions for SSRS, for example)
- The registry

Though these files change infrequently, updates to the operating system or the application may cause them to change. For this reason, you should back them up regularly — especially before installing any updates — and test your ability to restore them.

## Learning Key Concepts about SQL Server Databases

Many volumes have been written on the concepts and practices related to the proper care and feeding of SQL Server databases. One chapter, or even one book, cannot contain the best practices for every scenario. Indeed, even highly trained and experienced database administrators may prescribe different practices for different organizations with different needs. However, a few core concepts go a long way toward helping the novice administrator begin to grasp the inner workings of SQL Server and how they relate to the performance and stability of Dynamics CRM.

With a basic understanding of indexes, statistics, and database recovery models, you can make intelligent decisions about the configuration of your Dynamics CRM maintenance plan. (Note that in an enterprise environment, or when working with a SQL Server that houses the databases for numerous line-of-business applications, there may be important considerations that should be taken into account when designing a maintenance plan.)

• Indexes. Indexes are one of the ways that SQL Server quickly locates information stored in a database table. Without using an index, when a query is executed against a table, SQL Server must check the content of each row in the table to see if it matches the query. To speed this process, indexes can be used to help locate the rows more quickly.

Indexes are similar to the idea of a phone book in which people are grouped by the first letter of their last names. If you are searching for someone whose name is Alex Smith, you can flip right to the group where the last names that start with S are located. Indexes in SQL Server serve a similar purpose. They are created using the columns that are used in common queries and provide the server with a quick way to jump to a specific group of records. In this way, instead of searching the whole table, SQL Server can search just the relevant subset of records.

Indexes are import to a maintenance plan because they must be updated regularly to account for new records or records that have been removed or changed. Out-of-date indexes can result in slow performance when searching for a record.

- **Statistics.** SQL Server maintains statistics on each database to help it calculate the most efficient way to perform queries and other functions. Statistics include such things as the number of rows in a table, the amount of whitespace, size of the database tables, and so on. When statistics become outdated, SQL Server is not using the most recent data to improve its efficiency. Include an update of statistics in your maintenance plan to keep SQL Server performing optimally.
- **Recovery models.** A recovery model is a setting that allows you to specify how you want to attempt to restore a database should you need to. Three recovery models are available in SQL Server: full, bulk-logged, and simple. Each database's recovery model can be set on the options tab of its Properties dialog in SQL Server Management Studio. SQL Server maintains a running history of actions taken against each database. This history is called a transaction log. How transaction logs work depends on the recovery model you have selected.

*Simple:* With a simple recovery model, you can recover your database only to the last time a backup was performed. Transaction log entries are not retained. This is the simplest method, as the name implies. Your maintenance plan only needs to account for the backup of the database.

*Full:* The full recovery model provides the opposite extreme from the simple model. With a full recovery model, you can restore a database back to a precise point in time. SQL Server will restore the last backup and then "replay" the transactions from the transaction log up to the point in time that you specify. If, for example, you have an error on Monday at 9:12 a.m., and your last backup was performed on Sunday at 12:00 a.m., the full recovery model will allow you to restore the database from your last backup and then replay the transactions up to 9:11:59 a.m. (if you select this time during the recovery). This method requires planning for the backup of both the database and the transaction logs.

*Bulk-logged*: The bulk-logged recovery model is typically used only during bulk operations such as a database load or bulk delete of records. This minimizes the amount of transactions stored in the transaction log, to improve performance during the bulk operation, and therefore prevents you from recovering to a specific point in time as with the full recovery model. It is recommended to only use this option temporarily during bulk operations.

This sidebar just scratches the surface on these topics, but hopefully provides some additional guidance on the concepts you will come across if you use the Maintenance Plan Wizard in SQL Server Management Studio. Consult SQL Server Books Online and other Microsoft documentation for more detailed information.

## Tip

A variety of backup tools exist. The simplest of all methods is to manually copy the files to a mapped drive on another computer or a removable storage device. However, you should consider using a backup tool that allows you to schedule and automate this process. Microsoft has included the Windows Server Backup tool in all editions of Windows Server 2008 to provide an easy-to-use interface for scheduling and managing backups of applications, files, folders, and the system state. Full instructions for installing and using the Windows Server Backup tool are available on TechNet at http://technet.microsoft.com/en-us/library/cc770266(WS.10).aspx.

## **Cross-Reference**

You should also make regular backups of the solutions XML and reports in your Dynamics CRM organizations. While this data is stored in the SQL Server database, it is much easier and less disruptive to import and publish customizations or a report than to perform a SQL Server restore. For instructions on exporting and importing customizations, see Chapter 16.

#### Backing up other server components

Numerous other server components may play an important role in your Dynamics CRM system. You should make a list of these components that are in use in your deployment and develop a disaster recovery plan that accounts for all of them. Your list might include the following components:

- Active Directory
- Exchange Server
- The IIS metabase
- Applications and databases that are integrated with Dynamics CRM
- SharePoint
- Custom development files (like code libraries or Visual Studio projects)

## **Monitoring Dynamics CRM**

Maintaining the Dynamics CRM system and keeping it performing consistently requires an accurate understanding of the system's baseline performance when it is in a "healthy" state. Establishing this baseline will help to identify potential problem areas so you can take steps to mitigate them in advance. A baseline of various performance metrics is also helpful when troubleshooting errors or performance issues.

To help you establish this baseline, Microsoft has built hundreds of performance counters into Dynamics CRM that you can measure and analyze using Windows Reliability and Performance Monitor (PerfMon), an MMC snap-in included with Windows Server 2008. PerfMon can be used to show real-time performance and failure rates for server resources and software, perform on-demand or schedule monitoring of sets of counters, to view reports of completed monitoring jobs, and provide alerts when a counter deviates from a specified threshold.

## **Cross-Reference**

Microsoft released a performance toolkit for Version 4.0 of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that assists with capturing and analyzing various performance metrics for Dynamics CRM. The toolkit includes tools to populate sample data into Dynamics CRM to simulate the data load of a production environment, and a performance benchmarking tool. To make full use of the toolkit, you must set up a test environment to simulate the environment you want to benchmark and use the testing infrastructure of Visual Studio to simulate workloads. This tool is available for download on CodePlex. See the link in Appendix B.

Monitoring a selected group of counters requires that you create a "data collector set" which can then be scheduled to run against the targeted Dynamics CRM servers. The data collector set contains the server and counters you wish to measure, as well as the format and target destination of the reports. Reports that are generated can be viewed in the PerfMon interface (see Figure 9.4).

## Caution

Running performance monitoring utilities directly on the production server you want to monitor can have a significant impact on server performance. Windows Reliability and Performance Monitor can be run from a remote machine that connects to the various Dynamics CRM servers in order to minimize its impact on performance. Refer to the links to Microsoft TechNet in the Appendix B to learn more about using Windows Reliability and Performance Monitor.

#### FIGURE 9.4

Windows Reliability and Performance Monitor — known as PerfMon — provides a graphical interface to view and analyze the performance of various counters. Dynamics CRM exposes hundreds of counters to PerfMon.

🔊 Performance Monitor		_ 8 ×
No File Action View Wind	dow Help	_ <b>8</b> ×
♦ ♦ 2 10 × 8 0		,
N Performance		
Monitoring Tools		
E E Data Collector Sets	100-	
🖃 🌉 User Defined		
Dynamics CRM 2011 Dynamics CRM 2011	90-	
Event Trace Sessions		
🔄 🏢 Startup Event Trace Sess	s 80-	
Im Reports     If the second sec	70-	
Dynamics CRM 2011		
2008R2-DEMO_2	60 -	
🗄 🏬 System		
	50-	
		-
	40	
	30-	
	20-	
	10-	
	11:51:01 AM 11:52:16 AM 11:53:31 AM	11:54:47 AM
	Last Average Minimum Maximum Duration	3:44
	Show Color Scale Counter Instance Parent Object Com	are are a second and a second are a second a
	L0 Failed Report Render Requ CRM Server \\200	8R2-DEMO
	In Successful Organization Ser	3R2-DEMO 8R2-DEMO
	10.0 #Organizations CRM Server \200	8R2-DEMO
	1.0 Failed Internal Organizatio CRM Server \\200	∂R2-DEMO
	V ULU Successful internal Organiz CRM Server (V200	8R2-DEMO
		<b>→</b>
<u>'</u>		

# Creating a baseline report in Windows Reliability and Performance Monitor

To establish a baseline of your system performance, use the following steps to create a custom data collector set, run the data collector set, and view the resulting report.

- 1. Log onto a Windows Server 2008 computer that can connect to the Dynamics CRM servers. Go to the Start menu, and click on Run. In the Run dialog box, type **perfmon** and click OK.
- 2. In the PerfMon snap-in, expand the Data Collector Sets node, and then right-click on the User Defined node and select New ↔ Data Collector Set.
- **3.** Give the set a name, such as CRM Baseline. Select the Create manually (Advanced) option and click Next.
- **4.** Under the Create data logs option, place a check mark next to the Performance Counter item to select it. Click Next.

**5.** The next screen allows you to select which counters you wish to monitor. Click the Add button to view the available counters. A selection dialog box opens (see Figure 9.5).

#### FIGURE 9.5

Microsoft provides hundreds of counters for Dynamics CRM. Add important counters to a data collector set in order to establish a baseline of your system's performance.

secc councers from compacer:		Counter	Parent	Inst	Computer 🔺
\2008R2-DEMO	Browse	CRM Async Service			
	<b>_</b>	Activity Propagation			\\2008R2-DEM
CRM Server		Activity Propagation			\\2008R2-DEM
Croanizations		Activity Propagation			\\2008R2-DEM
ailed Internal Organization Service Requests		CleanupInactiveWor			\\2008R2-DEM
ailed Organization Service Metadata Requests		DeletionService - Av			\\2008R2-DEM
alled Organization Service Requests		DeletionService Ope			\\2008R2-DEM
alled Deport Dender Deguests		DeletionService Ope			\\2008R2-DEM
Cript Error Deports		Event - Average tim			\\2008R2-DEM
Successful Internal Organization Service Reduest	· •	Event Operations Fa			\\2008R2-DEM
decessi di Internal oi ganization bervice Regaesc	· _	Total - Average time			\\2008R2-DEM
stances of selected object:		Total Number of We			\\2008R2-DEM
		Total Workflow state			\\2008R2-DEM
		Workflow - Average			\\2008R2-DEM
		Workflow Operation			\\2008R2-DEM
		CRM Server			
1	a 1 1	Script Error Reports			\\2008R2+DEM
<u> </u>	Search				-
	Add >>	Remove <<			

- 6. In the counter selection dialog, first specify which computer you wish to monitor. The dialog will display the available counters on that computer. In this example, we have selected several counters from the CRM Async Service group and the CRM Server group. The Async Service is responsible for workflows and bulk operations, and tends to be resource-intensive, which is why it bears close monitoring. See the list of counters below for help in determining which counters to include in your baseline. After adding the desired counters, click OK. Back in the data collector set dialog box, click Next.
- 7. Accept the default location for the performance data and click Next.
- **8.** Keep the Run as user set to <Default>, select the option to save and close the set, and click Finish.
- **9.** When you are ready to begin collecting counter data, right-click the data collector set you have just created and select Start. PerfMon will begin capturing data on the selected counters. Note that running PerfMon against a large number of counters can have a significant impact on server performance.
**10.** Allow the data to be collected for a meaningful amount of time, while the system is under normal usage. When you are done, right-click the data collector set and select Stop (Figure 9.6).

### FIGURE 9.6

After you have collected performance counter data, stop the data collector set by rightclicking it and choosing Stop.



11. View the report in the Reports node of PerfMon. Expand Reports 
→ User Defined 
→ CRM Baseline. The data collector set reports will be listed. Choose one to open and analyze it. Running these reports on a schedule allows you to compare performance from one period against that of another.

## Becoming familiar with the Dynamics CRM counters

Microsoft includes hundreds of counters with Dynamics CRM. The counters are grouped by function or server role. Depending on which server roles and components are installed, you may only have access to a subset of the performance counter groups listed below. See the Implementation Guide for complete descriptions of each counter in these groups.

- **CRM Async Service**. This group includes hundreds of counters for everything from system calculations to workflow operations, including database maintenance and bulk operations like duplicate detection jobs and the deletion service. The CRM Async Service performance counter group is one of the most comprehensive and useful for locating performance bottlenecks and reliability problems.
- **CRM Authentication.** Includes ten counters that measure access attempts and failures, as well as configuration of authentication methods.
- **CRM Client.** The CRM Client performance counter group contains a granular set of counters to track synchronization of the Outlook client add-in to the Dynamics CRM database, the number of requests and items tracked, error counts, and the cost of data syncs in terms of bandwidth and memory utilization. (The CRM OutlookSync group measures the performance of the Outlook client's attempts to go offline.)
- **CRM Discovery.** This counter group contains three counters to track the number of failed, successful, and total discovery service requests. This is helpful in identifying if your Dynamics CRM server is being targeted for DOS attacks or if there are misconfigured clients or custom applications making improper requests of the discovery server.
- **CRM Locator Service.** Two counters for the locator service, which may help to identify problems with the LocatorService cache or connections to the CONFIG database.
- **CRM OutlookSync.** Not to be confused with the CRM Client group of performance counters, the CRM OutlookSync counters track the sync requests for the address book provider (ABP) and offline synchronizations.
- **CRM Platform.** The CRM Platform group of performance counters measure cascading operations such as assign, delete, and share messages. This is helpful in diagnosing problems when users or workflows perform these actions against a record or set of records.
- **CRM Sandbox Client.** This group includes six counters that track the percentage of failures between the sandbox and Dynamics CRM, as well as the number and response times for execute and SDK messages.
- **CRM Sandbox Host.** Approximately 20 counters are included in this group to provide visibility into the sandbox host operations, such as the number of custom assemblies registered in the sandbox, the performance of worker processes, and memory usage.
- **CRM Server.** The CRM Server performance counter group includes 16 counters that track successful and failed service requests, script error reports, and report rendering requests.
- **MSCRMEmail.** Scrolling down through the list of performance counter groups will reveal the MSCRMEmail group, which contains approximately 24 counters that measure the number of messages the E-mail Router is processing inbound and outbound, how many unsuccessful attempts to process e-mail messages have occurred, and the rates of success or failure for access attempts to mailboxes.

## Using System Center Operations Manager (SCOM) to Monitor Dynamics CRM\_\_\_\_\_

Microsoft's flagship monitoring and operations management tool, System Center Operations Manager 2007 R2 (SCOM) can be used to monitor Dynamics CRM servers and components. SCOM is used by large organizations and data centers to monitor servers, business-critical applications and Web sites, and to maintain service levels. To simplify enterprise monitoring of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0, Microsoft released a Server Management Pack for SCOM. A management pack is a template that contains the best practices and knowledge for monitoring the target system.

As of this writing, Microsoft has not yet released a management pack for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, though the Version 4.0 management pack can be modified for use with the 2011 version of the product by layering on an additional custom management pack for new features such as the Sandbox service. Although the Version 4.0 management pack is unsealed — meaning it can be customized — it is the recommended best practice to create a custom management pack to store these customizations rather than modifying the original template to simplify deployment.

Use the baseline performance created from the SCOM management pack or PerfMon reports as references to create performance threshold rules in SCOM. Performance thresholds allow SCOM to alert you to variances that can signal trouble with the system.

The Version 4.0 management pack for SCOM, available for download from the SCOM 2007 library at http://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?LinkId=82105, includes templates for the most important Dynamics CRM performance counters and scripts to assist with discovering the Dynamics CRM server roles. The Operations Manager agent must be installed on each Dynamics CRM server you wish to manage, as the management pack does not support agentless monitoring. Check the accompanying guide for more information on how to use the management pack for Dynamics CRM.

## **Optimizing Dynamics CRM**

Dynamics CRM can be a resource-intensive system. As a Web-based application with multiple client interfaces (Internet Explorer, Outlook, and mobile, as well as server-side APIs) a lot of network traffic can be generated by the system. Additionally, the rich, data-heavy and interactive user experience translates into a high-volume of round-trips between client and server. Optimizing the Dynamics CRM system to provide the best performance can be broken into four primary areas of focus for the administrator assigned this task:

- Database optimization
- Web server optimization
- Platform server optimization
- Client optimization

## **Cross-Reference**

Appendix B contains a link to a whitepaper that Microsoft released for Version 4.0 of Dynamics CRM titled "Maintaining and Optimizing Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0." This whitepaper contains many valuable tips for improving the performance of the system that are just as applicable to Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.

## **Optimizing the database**

Many deployments of Dynamics CRM perform well without any optimization beyond a standard maintenance plan that re-creates indexes, refreshes statistics, and backs up transaction logs and data files. The data tier of the application includes many built-in maintenance routines that clean up deleted records and process full-text indexing. However, a few simple optimization techniques and best practices can, in some situations, improve performance significantly.

## Identifying performance problems in the database

As with any database, there are numerous potential points where the system can become inefficient over time, or where usage outstrips capacity. Common problem areas with the data layer that can impact Dynamics CRM performance include having too little memory or processor power allocated to SQL Server, disk I/O (input/output) that is too high for the hard disks' speed, poor physical data layout, and suboptimal indexes.

### Using the SQL Server Activity Monitor

SQL Server 2008 provides many tools to identify and remedy potential performance bottlenecks. Activity Monitor (see Figure 9.7) is a feature that was added to SQL Server Management Studio with the 2008 version, and it is particularly useful in locating problem areas in the Dynamics CRM data layer (as well as any other line-of-business databases your SQL Server may house).

To use Activity Monitor to look for potential issues in the performance of your Dynamics CRM database, open SQL Server Management Studio and connect to the SQL Server instance where the Dynamics CRM databases are housed. Right-click on the SQL Server name in the Object Explorer and click on the Activity Monitor option.

The Activity Monitor displays an overview of the SQL Server's performance, lets you examine running processes, resource waits, data file I/O, and in the extremely useful Recent Expensive Queries pane shows resource-intensive queries. Each of the columns returned in the Recent Expensive Queries pane can be filtered, so you can drill into a specific database or sort by resource utilization levels. Hovering over a query displays a preview of the entire query (see Figure 9.7).

For more information on using the Activity Monitor, see SQL Server Books Online.

New in SQL Server 2008, the Activity Monitor is very easy to use to help identify performance bottlenecks. Especially useful is the Recent Expensive Queries pane.



### Using the SQL Server Database Engine Tuning Advisor

Another useful tool that assists with both identifying and correcting performance issues is the Database Engine Tuning Advisor (DETA). To make use of DETA, you must provide a SQL trace file for it to analyze. DETA will replay a workload from a trace file and analyze it for performance issues. Trace files can be created with SQL Server Profiler. Be sure to collect trace files when the SQL Server is being subject to typical usage so the tuning advisor has a realistic workload to analyze.

Both the Profiler and DETA are optional when installing SQL Server, so not all system administrators will have access to these tools.

The basic steps of examining the performance of your Dynamics CRM database with DETA are:

- Collect a sample workload in a trace file. In SQL Server Management Studio, go to Tools 5 SQL Server Profiler. Connect to the SQL Server where the Dynamics CRM databases are located. In the Trace Properties dialog, provide a name for the trace and select the Save to file option. Specify a location to save the output of the trace. Click the Run button to begin capturing the trace. After an interval, click the Stop icon to stop capturing trace information. The trace details are saved to the file you specified.
- 2. Process the trace file in the Database Engine Tuning Advisor. In SQL Server Management Studio's Tools menu, launch the Tuning Advisor. After connecting to the database, in the Workload section specify that you want to process a file and locate the trace file from the previous step. Select the database you wish to examine (typically the OrgName\_MSCRM database), and click the Start Analysis button. Depending on the size of the trace file, DETA may take a long time to analyze the workload and generate recommendations. To implement the recommendations, consult the SQL Server documentation.

## Caution

Before implementing any changes to the configuration of your SQL Server, be sure you understand the impact and dependencies that each change might have. Do not make any changes that are unsupported. Follow the instructions in the Implementation Guide as well as the documentation for Dynamics CRM and your version of SQL Server to ensure that your environment is properly configured. MSDN and SQL Server Books Online provide in-depth instructions for many optimization techniques. Back up your databases and verify that you can restore them to the previous condition if necessary, and, where possible, test each optimization technique in a non-production environment first.

## Implementing basic SQL Server optimizations

You can make many possible optimizations in SQL Server to improve Dynamics CRM performance, and the particulars of your deployment scenario and the results of your analyses with the Activity Monitor and the Database Engine Tuning Advisor will help to identify which areas to focus on. Optimizing SQL Server's performance starts with the decisions about the hardware and operating system that SQL Server is installed on.

After establishing your baselines for system performance, try each of these performance optimization techniques, one at a time, to improve the performance of SQL Server. It is also recommended that you use PerfMon or Activity Monitor to test the impact of each configuration change before trying another.

The following optimization techniques have been shown to produce improvements for many deployment scenarios:

• Keep data files and log files on separate physical disks. Some of the most important optimization can take place before the first piece of data is written to your SQL Server. Configure the databases in SQL Server Management Studio to write the data files and log files to different physical disks (not just different partitions on the same disk). Doing this enables SQL Server to get the greatest level of I/O performance that the disks can provide for each of the files, especially during periods when there is a large amount of data being written to the database. To change the default location of the data and log files prior to installation, open SQL Server Management Studio, right-click on the server instance name, and select Properties. In the Server Properties dialog, on the Database Settings page (Figure 9.8) set the default locations of the data and log files.

#### FIGURE 9.8

Before installing Dynamics CRM, use the Server Properties dialog in SQL Server Management Studio to set the data and log files to use separate physical disks.

Server Properties - 2008	R2-DEMO	- U ×
Select a page	🕵 Script 👻 🎼 Help	
1월 General 전 Memory 전 Processors 전 Security 전 Database Settings 전 Advanced 관 Permissions	Default index fill factor:	
Econoscian Server: 200872-DEMD Connection: DEMOXCEAdmin Vew connection properties Progress Ready	Recovery Recovery interval (minutes): Database default locations Data Data C-Vhogam Files/Microsoft SQL Server/MSSQL10_50.MSSQLSER/VER/MS Log: [E-/SQLSER/VER/LOGS] Configured values C Running values	ξ 
	OK Ca	ncel //

- **Create custom indexes to optimize query performance.** Dynamics CRM puts columns for custom fields in a secondary extension table, and the automatically built indexes may be improved with optimized indexes for queries (such as views) that make use of the custom fields. Analyze queries that have poor performance and create custom indexes where appropriate for frequently used views especially those that use non-system columns.
- Implement a regularly scheduled maintenance plan to rebuild indexes (see the section on the SQL Server Maintenance Plan wizard earlier in this chapter). Indexes need to be refreshed regularly so they include new and changed data. Your database maintenance should update built-in and custom indexes.

- **Keep the system updated.** It should go without saying that one of the most important steps to keeping your database running at peak performance is to regularly download and install the latest updates for the operating system and applications, though this frequently is overlooked.
- Allocate sufficient RAM to SQL Server. The maximum amount of RAM available to your SQL Server depends on the edition of SQL Server and the operating system you are using in your deployment. By default, SQL Server 2008 dynamically adjusts the amount of memory it is using, up to the maximum available. This setting is controlled on the Memory page of the SQL Server properties. Dynamic allocation is preferred if no other applications are running on the same server (which, ideally, there shouldn't be).
- Set the maximum degree of parallelism to 1. SQL Server can run certain portions of T-SQL operations such as queries, updates, and inserts in parallel on multiprocessor computers. By default, SQL Server makes use of this functionality on machines with multiple processors. However, it has been shown that Dynamics CRM often performs better when operations are not carried out in parallel. Setting this option to 1 will restrict SQL Server to running these operations in series on a single processor. To change this option, open SQL Server Management Studio, right-click the server name, and click on Properties. In the Server Properties window, click on the Advanced page. Under the parallelism options, change the Max Degree of Parallelism to 1 (see Figure 9.9).

Set the Max Degree of Parallelism to 1 to see if this change improves your system's performance.

🖥 Server Properties - 2008	R2-DEMO		_ 🗆 ×
Select a page	Script - 🖪 Help		
🚰 General			
Memory			
Processors			
In Security	🖃 Filestream		
Connections	Filestream Access Level	Disabled	
🔄 Database Settings	Miscellaneous		
Advanced	Allow Triggers to Fire Others	True	
Permissions	Blocked Process Threshold	0	
	Cursor Threshold	-1	
	Default Full-Text Language	1033	
	Default Language	English	
	Full-Text Upgrade Option	Import	
	Max Text Replication Size	65536	
	Optimize for Ad hoc Workloads	False	
	Scan for Startup Procs	False	
	Two Digit Year Cutoff	2049	
	Network		
	Network Packet Size	4096	
	Remote Login Timeout	20	
	🖂 Parallelism		
Connection	Cost Threshold for Parallelism	5	
Connection	Locks	0	
Server:	Max Degree of Parallelism	1	
2008H2-DEMU	Query Wait	-1	
Connection: DEMO\C5Admin			
View connection properties	Max Degree of Parallelism Limit the number of processors to use in p	arallel plan execution.	
Progress			
Ready	Configured values	Running values	
	1		OK Cancel

- Adjust the size of the tempdb system database. The tempdb database is used by SQL Server during normal server operations, and it grows incrementally as the server is used. Each time the server or the SQL Server service is restarted, the tempdb is reset to its initial size, which by default is 8MB. There is a slight increase in overhead on the SQL Server each time the size of the tempdb is automatically increased. To minimize this overhead, set the tempdb's initial size to a value sufficient for normal operations on your SQL Server. You can gauge this by reviewing the database's size after the server has been running under normal conditions for a time. To change this setting in SQL Server Management Studio, right-click the tempdb (located under System Databases) and open the database. On the Files page, locate the initial size column for the tempdev database file, and set it to a value that is more than 10 percent larger than the current actual size of the database. (For example, if the current size of the tempdb database is 20MB, set the initial size to 25MB.) Restart the SQL Server service.
- Increase the OrgName\_MSCRM database data file size. Similar to the preceding recommendation for the tempdb, the OrgName\_MSCRM database data file size will be increased incrementally as the amount of data grows. By setting the data file size to a reasonable amount in advance, SQL Server does not have to perform this increase. Having available space in the database beforehand is especially helpful during periods when a large amount of new data is expected, such as during bulk data loads and migrations. To change the size of the .mdf file, open the Properties windows for the OrgName\_MSCRM database, and on the Files page, set the initial size to a value that matches your anticipated needs. Restart the SQL Server service. (Remember to perform these types of operations during off-peak hours and only after performing complete backups.)
- **Consider using the data compression features of SQL Server 2008.** SQL Server 2008 introduced new data compression features that can have a significant impact not only on the size of the data stored in a database, but also on the performance of queries. Though data compression can increase CPU utilization, the gains in I/O performance may offset this and provide a net boost to database performance. SQL Server 2008 has two types of data compression: page and row. Data compression can be configured using the Data Compression Wizard, which can be launched by selecting a table, right-clicking, and choosing the Manage Compression option from the Storage menu, as shown in Figure 9.10. Read SQL Server Books Online and the documentation available in the help files for more information on using data compression and the Data Compression Wizard.
- Configure search views in the Dynamics CRM application to use a small number of indexed fields. In the Dynamics CRM application there are special views that can be used to look up records. These are the Lookup view and the Quick Find view. Customizers can designate which columns will be used in evaluating the search criteria that users enter when looking for matching records. By default, Dynamics CRM indexes system fields. If your search criteria include custom fields, the performance of these queries can be negatively impacted. Further, the more "find columns" that these views use, the slower the query. As a general rule of thumb, when possible use

three or fewer system fields as the find columns in these views in order to provide the fastest performance. Alternately, you can mitigate the performance impact of using custom fields in these views by adding a custom non-clustered index that includes these fields. In general, the performance of views can be improved if the filter criteria use only fields from a single table (either the entity base table or the entity extension table), though with properly built indexes query performance may be acceptable even if the find columns span multiple tables.

#### FIGURE 9.10



In SQL Server 2008, data compression is managed using the Data Compression Wizard.

## **Optimizing the Web server**

In many deployments, the Dynamics CRM Web server has the front end server roles, including the Web application server, the organization and discovery Web services, and the help server. Front end servers also frequently serve as the deployment administration servers, hosting the Deployment Manager MMC snap-in and the deployment Web service. These functions can be subject to the same performance challenges as any Web-based application.

## Identifying potential problem areas with the Web server

Common challenges with the Dynamics CRM Web server include latency, bandwidth constraints, and caching issues. Performance issues with the web application server can be difficult to diagnose. However, tools like the Windows Reliability and Performance Monitor (PerfMon) can be helpful in surfacing the root causes of performance issues through the monitoring of the performance counters for IIS.

## Making recommended changes to the Web server

Following are several recommended optimization methods that can be implemented to improve the performance of the Dynamics CRM Web server:

- **Consider a federated architecture.** If your users are scattered across the country or around the globe, they may experience significant latency when accessing a centralized Dynamics CRM application. Latency is the amount of time a Web request requires to travel between the client and the server and back again. Even in highbandwidth networks, latency can be an issue. Generally speaking, the farther away a user is from the Web server, the longer it takes for data to make the round-trip. Because the Dynamics CRM application requires many round-trips, latency can cause significant problems for distant users. One way of heading this off is to consider deploying a federated Web architecture. A federated architecture places multiple Web application servers in locations where they will be in greater proximity to the end users, potentially reducing latency. One drawback of this method is that it is more complex. Federated architectures will often distribute not only Web servers but also database servers that must then be replicated to one another to keep data synchronized. Typically this is only an option for very large enterprises that already support multiple data centers for a large user base. (This is another reason why Dynamics CRM Online is increasingly becoming a desirable option for larger organizations, since the hosting provider, Microsoft, manages a highly distributed and highperforming architecture.)
- Utilize compression techniques. IIS 7.0 provides compression methods that reduce latency and boost performance. By default, IIS 7.0 uses compression of both dynamic and static content. To verify this, open IIS and navigate to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Web site. In the Features view in IIS, double-click the Compression icon and verify that check marks are in place for both options. Compression applications and appliances are available from third-party vendors, such as WAN accelerators, that can provide even greater compression and speed.
- **Implement output caching.** Another optimization technique available in IIS 7.0 is output caching, which retains frequently used objects in memory so they can be quickly delivered in response to client requests. Output caching is configured based on file extension. Common file types that can be cached include image and script files such as those with the following extensions: .gif, .jpg, .tif, .png, .js, and .css. To configure output caching for each of these file types, click the Output Caching icon in the IIS snap-in. Click the Add link in the Actions panel and add user-mode caching rules for each extension (see Figure 9.11).

Configuring IIS 7.0's output caching feature to cache .gif image files for the Dynamics CRM Web site

Edit Cache Rule		<u>?</u> ×
File name extension:		
gif		
Example: .aspx or .axd		
🔽 User-mode caching		
File Cache Monitoring		
<ul> <li>Using file change notifications</li> </ul>		
C At time intervals (hh:mm:ss):		
00:00:30		
C Prevent all caching		
	Advanced	]
☐ Kernel-mode caching		
File Cache Monitoring		_
Using file change notifications		
C At time intervals (hh:mm:ss)		
00:00:30		
C Prevent all caching		
·		ancel

• **Optimize client-side scripts.** If your deployment customizations make heavy use of extensive client-side JavaScript, users can experience slow page load times, as well as delays in client-side functionality while scripts are being interpreted by the browser. Significant performance improvements can be gained by optimizing the scripts by removing white space, refactoring the scripts to minimize redundancy, and compressing the script files. You can find a variety of free tools and resources on the Web to help reduce the size and improve the speed of your client-side scripts.

## Optimizing the platform server

The platform server — also referred to as the back end server — houses Dynamics CRM's asynchronous service and the sandbox processing service. Both of these services can be resource-intensive, consuming memory and processing power while they carry out their functions.

### Identifying potential problems with the platform server

Problem areas that can arise on the platform server include high utilization of RAM and CPU cycles, which can be caused by heavy usage, as well as inefficient custom server-side code and highly nested workflow processes. Administrators must analyze custom-code such as plug-ins and workflow extensions; workflow processes; hardware configuration; and operating system configuration to identify the source of performance issues.

## Making recommended improvements to the platform server

The remedies for performance issues on the platform server can be relatively straightforward (although sometimes costly as well), depending on the source of the problem. Additional RAM is relatively inexpensive and easy to install if your server can accommodate it. But increasing processor power typical means replacing the server altogether.

Identifying opportunities for improving custom server-side code can also be difficult, requiring a high level of expertise and a variety of analysis methods.

## Tip

If your platform server has a modest amount of RAM, you might consider an unsupported technique to throttle the number of active workflow rules that the server will process at a given time, queuing up other workflows until it has resources available to process them. The minimum and maximum thresholds for active workflow and system jobs are controlled by settings in the Deployment Properties table in the MSCRM\_CONFIG database. The IntColumn values in the AsyncItemsInMemoryLow and AsyncItemsInMemoryHigh settings are set to 1000 and 2000, respectively, by default. You can adjust these lower to reduce the number of operations the asynchronous service will process at a given time. Keep in mind that modifying the Dynamics CRM databases is strictly unsupported, and you should only attempt this change in a test environment where you have proven backups.

## **Optimizing the client**

Two primary client applications are used for accessing the Dynamics CRM application: Internet Explorer and Microsoft Office Outlook. Other clients can include mobile device browsers or third-party mobile applications, as well as custom applications. This section focuses on a handful of optimization techniques for Internet Explorer and the Outlook client.

## Identifying potential problem areas with the client

There are a number of potential problem areas that can have a negative impact on client performance. These can be as fundamental as underpowered or misconfigured client machines, and as esoteric as mysteriously incompatible applications. Identifying the source of performance bottlenecks on client machines can involve a wide variety of tools and techniques. Start with simple observation, and move on to event logs, diagnostic tools, and deductive reasoning to narrow down the source.

## Implementing recommended changes to improve client performance

Regardless of the large number of potential issues, you can take several basic steps to improve the performance of both the Internet Explorer and Outlook clients.

### **Optimizing settings in Internet Explorer**

Test the following Internet Explorer (IE) settings in your environment to see if they provide an appreciable improvement in performance:

- **Remove third-party toolbars.** Dynamics CRM makes heavy use of the core features and functionality of IE, transforming the browser into a business application. This is sometimes at odds with users who see their Web browser as the gateway to social media, file sharing, shopping, and other uses. Unfortunately, if not controlled by network policies, third-party add-ons and toolbars often find their way into the Internet Explorer browser. These add-ons often collect information from the stream of data being downloaded through the browser or cause other unexpected behavior in IE that can negatively impact the performance of the Dynamics CRM Web application. If a comprehensive group policy or Web monitoring tool is not a suitable solution, encourage users to keep Internet Explorer in its default condition and consider allowing them to use another browser for personal use.
- **Optimize IE caching.** Configure IE to check for newer versions of Web pages automatically only when the cache has reached its maximum size. In Version 8 of IE, go to Safety  $\Rightarrow$  Delete Browsing History and delete temporary internet files and cookies. Next, in the Tools menu, click on the Internet Options item. In the Internet Options dialog, on the General tab, click the Settings button in the Browsing History section. In the Temporary Internet Files and History Settings dialog, select the Automatically option for when IE should check for new versions of Web pages and set the disk space to use to 250MB.

#### Optimizing settings in the Outlook client

The Outlook client, with its two versions (online and offline clients) and greater complexity, presents additional opportunities to improve performance:

- **Use adequate hardware.** Make sure to deploy hardware that is up to the job, particularly for users who will employ the offline client, with its local database and built-in local Web server. RAM is especially important. Even though the official guidance may prescribe less, use at least 2GB of RAM in client machines.
- Use the Diagnostics Wizard. The Outlook client for Dynamics CRM includes a Diagnostics Wizard that not only identifies potential performance issues, but, in many cases, can automatically fix them.
- **Tune synchronization settings based on user needs.** Based on the individual user's needs, consider the following tuning suggestions for the Outlook client: 1) Deactivate unused local data groups; 2) In the add-in's options dialog, select only relevant record types for synchronization; 3) Limit the e-mail matching to only those records owned by the user; 4) For offline users, set offline synchronization to run in the background every 15 minutes to minimize the time it takes them to go offline, and select the synchronization option that prevents the add-in from creating duplicate records.

Keep in mind that even after optimizing Internet Explorer and the Outlook client, performance can still be significantly impacted by the condition of the computer and its configuration, such as whether it is using a wired or wireless connection, running on a low battery, or using an encrypted hard drive. Impediments to a machine's performance can mean the difference between sub-second and multi-second page load times.

## **Troubleshooting Errors and Performance Problems**

As with any software, Dynamics CRM will occasionally experience errors or unexpected behavior. Successfully addressing these issues begins with good troubleshooting practices to quickly identify the source of the problem and implement the correct fix.

Follow these troubleshooting tips when attempting to resolve system errors with Dynamics CRM:

- 1. Identify the part of the application that is having a problem. Between error messages and user descriptions of problems, you should be able to isolate whether the issue is with the Dynamics CRM Web or platform server, the Outlook client, the report server, or another component. When you're not able to look over a user's shoulder, screenshots can be very helpful when attempting to reproduce the problem.
- 2. Use the process of elimination to identify the source of the issue. Start with the simplest possible causes and work your way through to the more complex. Ask questions that will eliminate certain possibilities: Is the issue being experienced by one user or all users? If one user, what is peculiar about that user? Do they have a different machine configuration or security role? If all users are experiencing a problem, what changed in your environment? Can you reproduce the problem when logged onto the local Dynamics CRM server?
- **3.** Error messages in Dynamics CRM may often be generic. Use the tools and methods described later in this section to identify the underlying error message from the appropriate source.
- **4.** Don't overlook common problems that may be technically unrelated. Dynamics CRM uses many different technologies and can reveal weaknesses in your network. Failing network cards or faulty cables can look like performance problems.
- **5.** Know when to get outside help. Many administrators enjoy the investigative work involved in troubleshooting, but it's helpful to have a threshold established beforehand so you know when you've spent more time trying to fix a problem than it's worth, and when an outside resource like a partner or Microsoft support may be able to fix the problem and return your users to productivity faster.

## Using built-in, free, and included resources

Numerous free or included tools and resources can assist you with maintaining Dynamics CRM and troubleshooting errors.

## **Cross-Reference**

This section references many resources available on the Internet. See Appendix B for links to the listed resources.

- **System documentation.** The Implementation Guide, SDK, release notes, and Users Guide all contain helpful guidance and address common known issues.
- **Built-in resources.** Every page of the Dynamics CRM application has a link to a contextual help file with detailed instructions for using the system and administrative instructions. The main navigation also includes a link to the Resource Center, which is an extensive online Web site with articles, videos, and links to updates. The Resource Center is also accessible directly on the Web.
- **Microsoft support resources.** Microsoft has many support channels. Administrators often leverage a combination of them, including KB articles on the Microsoft support Web site and a help desk that can be reached via phone or Web to open support incidents. If your company has access to it, CustomerSource, Microsoft's extranet site for Dynamics customers, also contains a variety of support tools.
- Server diagnostic tools. A free tool Microsoft released for Version 4.0, called the CRMDiagTool, enables tracing and dev errors and works with the Dynamics CRM server, E-mail Router, and SQL Server Reporting Services. Enabling dev errors causes in-depth information to be displayed in the interface when an error is encountered, rather than simply the friendly but less informative error messages a user would typically encounter. Though designed for a previous version, the CRMDiagTool also works with Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011. SQL Server's Profiler and other performance tools are also extremely helpful in locating the source of application bottlenecks.
- Client diagnostic tools. In addition to the built-in Diagnostics tool (Figure 9.12) that is installed with the Outlook client add-in (available on the client machine from Start ↔ Programs ↔ Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011), there are other tools that can be helpful in diagnosing errors on the client or Web application. Dynamics CRM administrators often leverage tools like the Internet Explorer Developer Toolbar (press F12 in IE) or the Fiddler Web Debugger (see the link in Appendix B). These tools can be helpful in troubleshooting script and Web page errors.

## Getting good information from Dynamics CRM errors

When working through Dynamics CRM errors, there are a number of places to find detailed error descriptions, depending on the source of the error and the circumstances under which it occurred. Some error logs are generated automatically, and others require configuration steps and should only be enabled temporarily.

The Dynamics CRM for Outlook client includes a built-in diagnostic tool that can identify problems that slow performance or decrease functionality

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Diagnostics	_ 🗆 🗙
Synchronization Troubleshooting Advanced Troubleshooting	
Select a check box to enable a synchronization process. Clear the checkbox to disable it.	
Coutlook Synchronization	
Synchronizes Outlook e-mail, appointments, tasks, and contacts with Microsoft Dynamics CRM.	
☑ Background Send E-Mail	
Handles e-mail marked for sending from the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Web application.	
🔽 Background Track E-Mail	
Automatically links and creates a record in Microsoft Dynamics CRM for those e-mails that meet criteria to set in Personal Options.	nat is
🔽 Automatic E-Mail Tagging	
Tracks e-mails that are part of a thread tracked in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.	
🔽 Offline Data Updates	
To help you to go offline more quickly, Microsoft Dynamics CRM periodically checks for and updates loc data with changes to Microsoft Dynamics CRM data, Local data groups determine changes.	al
Save Car	icel

## **Examining event logs**

Windows application event logs can provide helpful information, warnings, and detailed error messages for Dynamics CRM client and server components. To view the application event logs, from the Start menu, right-click on Computer and then click on Manage. In the Server Manager, expand the Diagnostics node to reveal the Event Viewer. The Application log is located under Windows Logs. Application event logs can be filtered by source, time of the error, and a number of other parameters (Figure 9.13).

The following source categories can be used to filter the application event log to locate information specific to Dynamics CRM. Note that some sources may be available only on client computers or on servers with the relevant server roles:

- MSCRMAddin
- MSCRMAddressBook
- MSCRMAsyncService
- MSCRMAsyncService\$client

- MSCRMAsyncService\$maintenance
- MSCRMCallout
- MSCRMDeletionService
- MSCRMDeployment
- MSCRMEmail
- MSCRMKeyArchiveManager
- MSCRMKeyGenerator
- MSCRMLocatorService
- MSCRMOfflineSync
- MSCRMPerfCounters
- MSCRMPlatform
- MSCRMReporting
- MSCRMReportingDataConnector
- MSCRMSandboxClient
- MSCRMSandboxService
- MSCRMSandboxWorker
- MSCRMSyncQueue
- MSCRMTracing
- MSCRMUnzipService
- MSCRMWebService

## **On the Web Site**

The book's companion Web site contains a link to download an XML configuration file that can be imported into the custom views area of the Event Viewer on the Dynamics CRM server. It contains the definitions to create a custom view that pre-filters the application event log by components of the Dynamics CRM server and E-mail Router, and displays only critical, error, and warning messages. Remove filters that are unused in your deployment.

#### **Turning on developer errors**

Sometimes users report generic Dynamics CRM error messages that they receive in Internet Explorer or the Outlook client. Although Microsoft has attempted to provide friendly, informative error messages, in many cases these error messages will direct the user to contact the System Administrator for assistance. When these types of errors crop up, you can temporarily enable more detailed developer errors, or DevErrors, on the Dynamics CRM Web server.

To enable DevErrors, log onto the Dynamics CRM Web server and navigate to the folder containing the Web site root for the Dynamics CRM Web site. This is typically either the <drive>:\inetpub\wwwroot folder, or the <drive>:\Program Files\Microsoft Dynamics CRM\ CRMWeb folder. Then follow these instructions:

The application event log on Windows computers can be filtered to locate specific error messages.

Filter Current Lo	g	×
Filter XML		1
Logged:	Last 24 hours	
Event level:	「 Critical 「 Warning 「 Verbose	
	🔽 Error 🗆 Information	
🕫 By log	Event logs: Application	
C By source	Event sources: MSCRMDeletionService	
Includes/Exclud exclude criteria,	es Event IDs: Enter ID numbers and/or ID ranges separated by commas. To type a minus sign first. For example 1,3,5-99,-76 	
	<all event="" ids=""></all>	
Task category:	¥.	
Keywords:	<b>_</b>	
User:	<all users=""></all>	
Computer(s):	<all computers=""></all>	
	Clear	
	OK Cancel	

- 1. Locate the web.config file in the root of the Dynamics CRM Web site. Make a copy of this file so you can restore it if necessary. Then open the web.config file in a text editor like Notepad or Visual Studio.
- 2. Find the DevErrors key and change the value from Off to On:

```
<add key="DevErrors" value="On" />
```

- **3.** Save the web.config file and repeat these steps on each Dynamics CRM Web server in your deployment.
- 4. Reproduce the behavior that caused the original error message.

Error messages with DevErrors turned on display four different views of the error details: one with detailed error information (Figure 9.14), a standard ASP.NET error page with stack details (Figure 9.15), a debug page that provides details about the server environment and client (Figure 9.16), and a page that displays what the user would have seen (what the error would look like with DevErrors turned off), as shown in Figure 9.17. The DevErrors page also provides a button to copy all of the error details to the clipboard.

With DevErrors enabled in the Dynamics CRM Web site, the administrator can view detailed error information.



#### FIGURE 9.15

DevErrors also provide standard ASP.NET error text and stack trace details.

<i>⊛</i> Microsoft D	ynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer	_ _ ×
	Microsoft CRM Unhandled Error Details	<u>*</u>
	Server Error in '/' Application.	
	Object reference not set to an instance of an obj	iect
4	Description: An unhandled exception occurred during the execution of the current web requ in the code. Exception Details: System NullReferenceException: Object reference not set to an instance	e of a
	Source Error:	
	The source code that generated this unhandled exception can only b follow one of the below steps, then request the URL: 1. Add a "Debug=true" directive at the top of the file that genera	e sh ted
	<\$@ Page Language="C#" Debug="true" \$>	
		<u> </u>
Done	🗌 👘 🖓 Local intranet   Protected Mode: Off 🛛 🍕 🕶 🔍 100	)% 🔻 //

The DevErrors screen also includes a page with environmental information that can be helpful in debugging an error, such as the server OS version and browser version.

	Basic Server &	Client Information	):
×	Microsoft® CRM	- Debug Information	
$(\mathbf{i})$	Description	Value:	
	Server OS Version:	6.1.7600.0	
	Server URT Version:	4.0.30319.1	
89	Server Name:	2008R2-DEMO	
	Application Install Path:	C:\Program Files\Microsoft Dynan CRM\CRMWeb\	nics
if (x=y)	Configuration Database Informa	tion	
	Data Source:	2008R2-DEMO	
	Initial Catalog:	MSCRM_CONFIG	
	Integrated Security:	SSPI	<b>•</b>
		n et Brete et el Maria Off	

#### FIGURE 9.17

Be sure to view the original error message, just as the user would have seen when DevErrors were disabled, in order to verify that you are troubleshooting the same error that the user reported.

@Microsoft Dyn	amics CRM	Windows Internet Explorer	_O×
		<b>Error</b> An error has occurred.  An error has occurred.   An error has occurred.  An error has occurred.  An error has occurred.   An error has occurred.       An error has occurred.  <	
Done		🚳 Local intranet   Protected Mode: Off 🛛 🍕 🕶 🔍 10	.0% • //

## Tip

When investigating an error with the Dynamics CRM Web application, Web server logs from IIS can also be helpful in analyzing what was happening on the Dynamics CRM Web site when the error occurred. If logging has been enabled for the Dynamics CRM Web site in IIS, the logs are stored in the <systemdrive>:\inetpub\ logs\LogFiles folder. Logs are stored in folders with the naming format of W3SVCx, where x is the Web site ID. To determine the ID of the Dynamics CRM Web site, open IIS and click on the Sites node. The sites will be listed along with the ID, status, and other information.

## **Enabling tracing**

Tracing is a way to capture the stream of messages passing between the components of a system like Dynamics CRM. This stream of messages contains records of user actions and system operations in a (mostly) human-readable, chronological format.

When tracing is enabled for Dynamics CRM, a text log file is created that contains all of these messages, including records of thrown errors that can be useful when troubleshooting problems. Tracing is helpful when errors are not caused by user interaction with Dynamics CRM and turning on DevErrors doesn't provide useful information.

Tracing can be enabled for the Dynamics CRM server or the Dynamics CRM client for Outlook.

## **Cross-Reference**

A free tool that makes it easier to read and understand Dynamics CRM trace files is available from an independent software vendor called Stunnware.

## Caution

Because tracing captures so much information from the various components of Dynamics CRM, it is extremely resource-intensive and will cause a significant slowdown in performance. In some situations, trace logs can also include sensitive data, so be sure to handle them appropriately. Only enable tracing when troubleshooting critical errors or during development debugging, and immediately disable it when you are done.

#### Enabling tracing for Dynamics CRM

To enable tracing, you must modify the registry on the Dynamics CRM computer (see Figure 9.18). As with any registry modification, make sure to back up the registry first to ensure that you can restore it if necessary.

Follow these steps to turn tracing on:

- 1. On the Dynamics CRM computer, open the registry editor by clicking on Start → Run. In the Open: box, type **regedit** and click OK. If prompted by UAC to allow the program to launch, click Yes.
- **2.** Locate the appropriate node in the registry as indicated below and create the following registry keys if they do not already exist:

- **TraceEnabled**. Create the TraceEnabled key as a DWORD with a decimal value of 1. A value of 1 enables tracing. A value of 0 disables it.
- **TraceRefresh.** Create the TraceRefresh key as a DWORD with a decimal value between 1 and 99. The act of changing the value of this registry key causes the trace settings to be recognized by the platform. The actual value is irrelevant.
- **3.** Close the registry editor.

Tracing can be enabled by adding certain registry keys on the Dynamics CRM computer. Optional keys can modify the behavior of tracing.

Reg	psuy	Eantor					_ 0
le l	Edit	View	Favorites Help				
		•	Function Discovery	Name	Туре	Data	
		- B- 🏨	Fusion	(Default)	REG_SZ	(value not set)	
			Group Policy Manage	ab AnonymousAcce	REG_SZ	True	
		- B- 🏨	Help	🐯 AutoGroupMana	REG_DWORD	0x00000000 (0)	
			HTMLHelp	ab configdb	REG_SZ	Data Source=2008R2-DEMO;Initial Catalog=MSCRM	
			IdentityCRL	B ConfigDbWebSt	REG_DWORD	0×00000000 (0)	
			IdentityStore	ab ConfigSku	REG_SZ	OnPremise	
		- <b>E</b> -18	IIS Extensions	ab CRM_Server_Inst	REG_SZ	C:\Program Files\Microsoft Dynamics CRM	
		1.18	IMAPI	ab CRM Server Vers	REG SZ	5.0.9523.17	
			IMEJP	B CRM SrsDataCo	REG SZ	C:\Program Files\Microsoft CRM SRS Data Connector\	
		1	IMEKR	CRM SrsDataCo	REG SZ	1033	
		-	IMEIC Testmax	ab CRM SrsDataCo	REG SZ	MSSOLSERVER	
		- 201	Inedigr	ab HeinCatalog	REG SZ	Microsoft CBM Heln	
		- 201	Internet Account Ma	ablanguageID	REG SZ	1033	
		- 201	Internet Domains	WillocalSdkPort	REG DIMORD	0/00015b3 (5555)	
		1.11	Internet Evolorer	ab Original Mehrite	DEC S7	0.00002505 (5555)	
		1.11	Microsoft Reference	ab Original Website	DEC SZ		
		-	Microsoft SDKs	ab Demountation site	REG_SZ	True	
		- i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Microsoft SOL Native	ab DeleNerveDsite	REG_SZ	The Michael and a Common Discourse adding Common Devices	
		÷.	Microsoft SQL Server	Rolenames	REG_3Z	webApplicationserver, Discoverywebservice, Deploy	
		- i - i - i - i - i - i - i - i - i - i	Microsoft SQL Server	and controllers	REG_DWORD	0x05240000 (06270155)	
		- i - i - i - i - i - i - i - i - i - i	Microsoft SQL Server	Be SandboxClientR	REG_DWORD	0x00008002 (32770)	
		- iii- iii	Microsoft SOL Server	ServerUn	REG_SZ	http://2008R2-DEMO:5555/MSCRMServices	
		- i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Microsoft SOL Server	SQMQueueLocat	REG_SZ	C:\Windows\system32\\temp\MSCRMSQM	
		- i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Microsoft Sync Frame	StatsDbWebStor	REG_DWORD	0x00000000 (0)	
		- i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Microsoft Sync Servic	ab website	REG_SZ	/LM/W3SVC/3	
		- <b>H</b> -11	Microsoft Sync Servic	ab WebSitePath	REG_SZ	C:\Program Files\Microsoft Dynamics CRM\CRMWeb	
		- 🖻 - 📶	MMC	- 題 WebStoreEnabled	REG_DWORD	0×00000000 (0)	
		÷.	Mobile	题 TraceEnabled	REG_DWORD	0×00000001 (1)	
		÷.	MSBuild	题 TraceRefresh	REG_DWORD	0×00000001 (1)	
		÷-16	MSCRM	ab TraceCategories	REG_SZ	Platform.Sql:Verbose	
			LangPacks				
			MSCRM Email				
		÷.	MSCRMClient				
		÷	MSDE				
		÷	MSDTC				
		÷	MSF				
		- 😐 🎧	MSLicensing				
		- 😐 🎆	MSMQ				
		- 😐 🎧	MSOSOAP				
		- 😐 🎧	MSSearch36				
		÷	MSSQLServer 🚬				
			•				

You can also add optional registry keys to modify how the trace capture behaves:

- **TraceCallStack**. A decimal value of 1 in this DWORD key causes tracing to include the call stack in the trace file. By default the call stack is not captured.
- **TraceFileSizeLimit**. A DWORD key with a decimal value between 1 and 100, used to indicate the maximum size of the trace logs in megabytes. The default maximum size is 5MB.

- **TraceCategories**. TraceCategories are string or multi-string registry keys, with values in a specific format that can be used to limit the data captured in a trace. The key values are in the format *Category.Feature:Level*. A multi-string key can contain multiple TraceCategories values separated by semicolons. Some examples of possible values:
  - *Application.\*:Error*. This captures only error messages in the trace log for all application features.
  - *Application.Outlook:Error*. This value captures errors only for the Outlook client application.
  - *Platform.Sql:Verbose*. Adding this value (see Figure 9.18) to the TraceCategories key will capture verbose logs of interactions with SQL Server.

## **Cross-Reference**

More possible values for the TraceCategories key are available in the Version 4.0 knowledge base article #907490 on Microsoft's support Web site. You can also use the CRMDiagTool to capture trace information. See the links in Appendix B.

*Location of the Dynamics CRM server tracing registry keys and log files* The Dynamics CRM server tracing registry entries are located in the following registry subkey:

HKEY\_LOCAL\_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\MICROSOFT\MSCRM

The trace logs will be located in the <drive>:\Program Files\Microsoft Dynamics CRM\ Trace folder. Enabling trace logs for the Dynamics CRM server will create trace logs for the Dynamics CRM Web site (in the format *servername-w3wp-CRMWeb-yyyymmdd-1.log*), SQL Server Reporting Services, the sandbox processing service, and the unzip service.

## Note

The unzip service processes the decompressing of zipped files that are imported using the Import Data Wizard or the import API.

Location of the Dynamics CRM Outlook client tracing registry keys and log files The Dynamics CRM server tracing registry entries are located on the computer with the Outlook client installed, in the following registry subkey:

HKEY\_CURRENT\_USER\SOFTWARE\MICROSOFT\MSCRMClient

The trace logs will be located in this folder: <drive>:\Users\InstallingUser\ AppData\Local\Microsoft\MSCRM\Traces.

## Enabling logging for the Microsoft Dynamics E-mail Router

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM E-mail Router is an optional component that can be installed on any computer that has access to both the Dynamics CRM server and the e-mail server. As a stand-alone application, it has its own logging capabilities. It records informational, warning, and error messages in the Windows application event log, with the logged events having the source of MSCRMEmail. You can also enable more in-depth logging for the E-mail Router as follows:

- Locate the E-mail Router configuration file Microsoft.Crm.Tools.EmailAgent.xml located in the <drive>:\Program Files\Microsoft CRM Email\Service directory and open it in a text or XML editor.
- In the <LogLevel> element, change the value from 1 (the default, which enables logging standard events to the Windows application event log) to 3.
- **3.** Add a <LogFile> element below the <LogLevel> element to specify the location of the output log file. Specify a location of your choosing. In this example we have created a folder on the C: drive called TempEmailRouter. The two elements should then look like this:

```
<LogLevel>3</LogLevel><LogFile>C:\TempEmailRouter\EmailRouterTrace.txt</LogFile>
```

Be sure to change the XML file back afterwards by switching the LogLevel value back to 1, and removing the LogFile element.

#### Enabling logging and finding logs for other components

There are other components of Dynamics CRM that produce log files that can be helpful when troubleshooting errors.

Deployment Manager logs capture messages about the creation or import of new organizations, addition of Deployment Administrators, changes to Claims-Based Authentication or Internet-Facing Deployment configuration, and other deployment service operations.

The Deployment Manager logs are located in the following directory: <drive>:\ Users\<InstallUsername>\AppData\Roaming\Microsoft\MSCRM\Logs

Tracing can also be enabled for SQL Server Reporting Services. While this is a separate component from Dynamics CRM, it can be the source of issues with report performance or malfunction. To enable tracing, set the RSTrace element to a value of 1 (it is set to 1, and tracing is enabled by default) in the configuration file ReportingServicesService.exe.config located in the following directory: <drive>:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL Server\ MSRS10\_50.MSSQLSERVER\Reporting Services\ReportServer\bin.

SQL Server 2008 R2 Reporting Services consolidates trace logs into a single file in format of ReportServerService\_mm\_dd\_hh\_mm\_ss.log, which can be found in the <drive>:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL Server\MSRS10\_50.MSSQLSERVER\Reporting Services\LogFiles folder.

## Repairing and Uninstalling Dynamics CRM.

In some instances, it may be necessary to repair or uninstall the server or client components of Dynamics CRM. To repair or remove a component, on the computer where it is installed, open the Control Panel and locate the application in the Programs dialog. Follow these tips when repairing or uninstalling these applications.

- **Repairing the server and server components.** Log in as the user who installed Dynamics CRM and back up the MSCRM\_CONFIG and OrgName\_MSCRM databases, as well as the report and system databases. It is also helpful to make sure you have copies of the exported customization solution XML and custom reports from your deployed organizations.
- **Repairing the Outlook client.** Before using the Programs panel in the Control Panel to repair the Outlook client, try using the built-in Diagnostics tool to fix any problems you are experiencing with the client. If you must run a repair routine and you are using the offline client, attempt to go online first and synchronize the client to the Dynamics CRM server, if possible.
- Uninstalling the server and server components. Using the Control Panel Programs window to launch and run the uninstall routine for the Dynamics CRM server will not remove the Dynamics CRM databases or detach them from the SQL Server. We recommend backing up the databases first. To totally remove the server components and databases requires manual processes to delete the database and application files. To remove the databases, in SQL Server Management Studio delete the databases and select the option to close existing connections.
- Uninstalling the Outlook client. Similar to the server, running the uninstall routine on the Outlook client add-in may not completely remove all components of the application. You may need to manually remove application files from the Program Files directory, as well as local data files if using the offline client.

Additional information on repairing and removing the Dynamics CRM components can be found in the Implementation Guide.

## Summary

Reliable and consistent performance starts with a good implementation plan and the proper system architecture, but there are a number of best practices that you can follow to maintain and optimize Dynamics CRM:

- Implement and test a comprehensive backup strategy to ensure that you can recover your system from unexpected outages. Your backup strategy should include a maintenance plan for your SQL Server databases and should also include backing up the application files and Web site root, as well as any other related components such as Active Directory and Exchange Server.
- Use the counters in the Windows Reliability and Performance Monitor (PerfMon) or an application like System Center Operations Manager (SCOM) to monitor system performance.

- Optimize performance by tuning SQL Server, the Web server, and the platform servers to make the best use of system resources like RAM and processor power.
- Use diagnostic tools like DevErrors and tracing to reveal deeper error information regarding platform operations. DevErrors and tracing can have an impact on performance and should only be used while troubleshooting. There are also numerous other log files available for each of the components of the Dynamics CRM system, each of which can be helpful to administrators.

# Part IV

# Using Microsoft Dynamics CRM

o assuming you have mastered the skills required to implement and administer Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, it's probably important that you be able to support the end users of the system. There's no better way to tackle that job than by familiarizing yourself with Dynamics CRM's out-of-the-box functionality.

Now in its fifth release, Dynamics CRM offers a very mature toolset to handle marketing, sales, and customer service functions.

Part IV focuses on the features and functionality that are included with Dynamics CRM, with a thorough treatment of topics like finding your way around the interface, to using the built-in customer relationship management processes.

Chapters 10 through 14 take you on a guided tour of the built-in functionality of Dynamics CRM, the types of things you'd want to know if you were a brand new user to the system and turned loose to start managing your customers with it.

## **IN THIS PART**

**Chapter 10** Getting to Know the CRM Application

**Chapter 11** Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook

**Chapter 12** Using the Sales Functions

**Chapter 13** Using the Marketing Functions

**Chapter 14** Using the Service Functions

# CHAPTER ]]()

# Getting to Know the CRM Application

The Dynamics CRM application provides a powerful set of tools and concepts that work across the entire application. Once you understand the core concepts, you will be ready to begin using the application for automating sales, marketing, customer service, call center, and XRM operations. Taking the time to understand the basics laid out within this chapter will shorten your learning curve with all of the other areas of Dynamics CRM.

In this chapter you, learn how to navigate the Dynamics CRM using interface including using the Ribbon menu and navigation pane and how to navigate lists and forms. You will also learn about record ownership, the role ownership plays in managing security, and how to share records with other users. Activities play a central role in Dynamics CRM; you learn how to work with activities to manage the details of your day. You learn how to use queues to manage individual workloads and for collaborating to share work across a team. Duplicate records are always an issue with CRM systems — in this chapter you will learn how to merge duplicate records without losing data. Lastly, you will learn about the options for using your mobile device to access Dynamics CRM.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Navigating the CRM interface

**Record ownership** 

Connections and customer relationships

**Managing activities** 

Creating custom queries and views with Advanced Find

**Using queues** 

**Creating and using templates** 

Merging duplicate records

## **Cross-Reference**

This chapter focuses on components of Dynamics CRM that are available in both the Web version and in Dynamics CRM for Outlook. The Outlook version, however, includes some important additional functionality as well as some variations in how some functions work. See Chapter 11 for a complete overview of Dynamics CRM for Outlook.

## Navigating the Dynamics CRM Interface

Dynamics CRM delivers a tremendous amount of functionality to the user. This section outlines the four most significant areas of the user interface. Once you understand these four components, you will shorten your learning curve with all of the remaining features. Figure 10.1 illustrates three of the four areas of the user interface (the Ribbon menu, navigation pane, and lists). Double-clicking on an item in a list opens the underlying fourth area of the user interface (the form), which is illustrated in Figure 10.2.

#### FIGURE 10.1

Ribbon menu, navigation pane, and lists

			Ribbor	menu									
Accounts: My Acti	ve Acco	unts - Microsoft Dynam	ics CRM - Wind	ows Internet E	Explore	r	_	-	-				-161 X
	/crm:55555/	Contoso1/main.asp≫#						• +• ×	Bing				P -
😭 Favorites 🛛 🍰 🏉	Suggeste	d Sites 🔹 😰 Web Slice Gal	lery 🔻										
Accounts: My Active A	Accounts - I	Microsoft Dynamics C	1					奋-	<b>⊠</b> - ⊡	🚔 • Pa	ge • Safety	<ul> <li>Tools -</li> </ul>	Q. »
24								Lot					-
File Accounts	Views	Create Related Customiz	e							D	ynamics CRM	Administra Conto:	so1 A
Edit     Activate	X Delet	e ● Merge :t Duplicates <del>-</del>	Assign Sharing	Add to	Add	Send D	) irect	Export to R	un .	<ul> <li>Charts</li> <li>Filter</li> </ul>	<b>O</b> Run	Advanced	
Deactivate	Bulk	Delete		Marketing List	Connecti	on.	ail	Excel Rep	ort • • •		Workflow	Find	
Reco	ord Manag	jement		Actions		~	_	S	hare Data		Workflow	Query	
Workplace		Accountry My Activ	a Accounter						Can	rch for reco	ref.e		0
My Work	\$	Accounts. My Activ	e Accounts						500	rentorteco	ius		~
🚮 Get Started		Account Name 🔺			M	ain Phone	Â	ddress 1: City	Primary	Contact	E-r	nail (Primary	Conta
Dashboards		170 Systems, Inc.	8		(3	86) 899-1908	Н	igh Point	Lauren I	<u>Haase</u>			<u> </u>
Activities		AAA Photograph	y Specialists	(704) 555-1212 Mallorie Harrington									
Calendar		Able Body Labor	Company		(7	04) 528-9815	Tr	routman					_
Imports		Accel-KKR LLC											
Duplicate Detection	1	Access MediQuip	o, LLC										_
Augueues		Access Value Inv	estors LLC										
Articles		Accord Human R	esources, Inc.		(3	36) 446-0105	W	vhitsett					
Reports		🕨 🔛 🛛 ACI Industries, Lt	d.		93	9-439-4769	м	1orrisville					
Customers	\$	🕨 📴 🛛 Acousti Engineer	ring Company of F	orida	(3	36)476-9202	Н	igh Point					_
Accounts		Advance Payroll I	Funding, Ltd.		(7	70) 390-1712	At	tlanta					
S Contacts		🕨 📴 Advantage Capit	al Partners		91	1-377-8586	м	1emphis					_
Workplace		Advantech Advar	nced Microwave Te	chnologies Inc.	(7	04) 688-9366	C	harlotte					_ 1
		AHN Internation	al										- 1
1 B Sales		P 📴 Airgas Inc.											_
S Marketing		Airiran Holdings	Inc.		U	J4J 841-9804		nariotte					_
CR. Coming		P  Allegiant Partner	s, Inc.										
Service		P 🔄 Allens, Inc.											-
Settings												14.4.0	
		1 - +9 0T 49 (1 selected)	C D 6	с н.		. I.	м -		0 0	5 T-	н х.	IN N Pag	ge 1 P
a nesource center		A D		<u>с</u> п					Q K	3 1			
					1		Si Lo	ocal intranet	Protected N	lode: Off	4	a • 🔍 100%	% • //

**Navigation Pane** 

#### FIGURE 10.2

#### Dynamics CRM forms

Account: PWC Accele	rators - Mic	rosoft Dyna	mics CRM - Windows Internet Exp	lorer							- 121 ×	
💬 🖸 🗸 http://crm:!	5555/Contoso	2/main.aspx?et	n = account&extraqs = etc%3d1&pagetyp	=entityreco	rd 💌	47 🗙 🛛	D Bing				9-	
🚖 Favorites 🔠 🔹 📈	Accounts: Activ	ve Accounts	Account: PWC Accelerat 🗙	1		<b>合</b> ・	5 - E (	🔹 🔹 Page 🕶	Safety <del>+</del>	Tools 🕶	0- »	
File Account Create	Related C	Iustomize							First nan	<b>ne Last na</b> Contos	me 🙆	
Save and Close	Delete De	activate	Add to Marketing List ign Add Connection - Addoon	Run Report -	<ul> <li>Print Preview</li> <li>Copy Shortcut</li> <li>Send Shortcut</li> </ul>	C Run Workflow	Advanced Find					
Save Record Management Actions Share Data Workflow Query Account: PWC Accelerators Accounts												
Detaile	Infor	mation									$\odot$	
General	' Gei	neral								<b>^</b>		
Details	Accou	int Name *	PW/C Accelerators		Main Phone	704-89	5-2500					
Notes	Accou	int Number	BAJA-0111		Other Phone	800-55	5-1212					
More Addresses	Parent	t Account		Q	Fax							
Closed Activities	Primar	ry Contact	Mallorie Harrington	Q	Web Site	http://	http://www.pwcaccelerators.com					
Sub-Accounts	Relati	onship Type	Prospect	*	E-mail							
Relationships	Currer	ncy	📲 US Dollar	Q								
Sconnections	Addre	:55										
G# Wonkhows	Addre	ss Name	University City Location		ZIP/Postal Code	28262						
oales:	Street	1	8701 Mallard Creek Road		Country/Region	United	I States of Ar	merica				
Quotes	Street	2	Suite 230		Phone	704-89	5-2500			1		
Invoices	Street	3			Address Type	Ship 1	·0	-				
Service:	City		Charlotte		Shipping Method	FedEx	:			•		
Cases	State/	Province	NC		Freight Terms	FOB				•		
Marketing:	T Dei	taile								-		
Campaigns	🗸 Status		Active									
,					Local	intranet   Pi	rotected Mod	ie: Off		€, 100>	/	

## **Understanding the Ribbon menu**

The Ribbon menu will look familiar to you if you have been using Office 2007, 2010, or SharePoint 2010. Microsoft has been building this new component into the user interface of all their applications, and Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 marks the first version of CRM that includes the Ribbon menu. This new feature consolidates functionality previously found in menus, toolbars, and buttons in earlier versions of Dynamics CRM. As illustrated in Figure 10.3, the Ribbon menu includes tabs that are context-sensitive based on which area of CRM you are currently using.

#### **Ribbon menu tabs**

If Ribbon menus are new to you, you can think of ribbon menu tabs as the top level menu in applications that you may be more familiar with. You can click on the tabs to see different functions (or submenus) available within those areas.

#### FIGURE 10.3

Standard and context-sensitive Ribbon menu tabs

File tab is visible in all area of Dynamics CRM.

Context sensitive tabs based on location in CRM and user role.

1

Active menu based on context of currently selected area of screen.

e	Acco	unts: A	ctive A	c¢ounts	s - Microsoft Dynan	nics CRI	VI - Winc	lows In	nternet Ex	plorer									_ 8 ×	(
G		) 🗕 🗖	http://c	http://cma:5555/Contoso2/main.aspx#					main.aspx#										- ۹	
ŵ	Favor	ites	Accou	nts: Acti	ve Accounts - Microsoft I	Dynamics -	CRM							습 -	5	- 🖨	▪ Page ▪	Safety 🕶	Tools - 🔞 - 👋	>
F	ilė	Accou	nts Vi	ews	Create Related Cus	tomize	Chart T Char	ools t										First nar	e Last name @ Contoso2 🔥	
oz ∰t‡	ew	Edit	Delete	Save	<ul> <li>Save and Close</li> <li>Save As</li> </ul>	Assign	) Sharing	• Set as	• Change	Import Chart	Export	Column	Bar	1 Line	Pie	Other Charts	Exit Designer			
	Chart	Manage	ment		Save	Acti	ons	Op	itions	Import	/Export			Charts			Close			

Every menu Ribbon includes the File tab. This tab, however, behaves a bit differently from other tabs. When clicking File, a drop-down menu appears, as shown in Figure 10.4, that contains standard options for creating, saving, or printing records. The specific options that appear are context sensitive based upon which portion of the application you are currently viewing.

#### FIGURE 10.4

File tab with options



### Context-sensitive Ribbon menu tabs and buttons

As you navigate through the Dynamics CRM user interface, the tabs available within the Ribbon menu change. Microsoft has built intelligence into the menu to provide options that are related directly to the task that the user is currently working on. As noted in Figure 10.3, most of the tabs on the Ribbon menu are context sensitive.

A bit more subtle is the fact that the available options also change based upon Security Role assigned to the user. For example, if you are the system administrator, you often see a tab titled Customize that enables you to make changes to the configuration of the area of CRM that you are currently viewing — most other users will not see that option in their Ribbon menu. The same is true for individual buttons within a tab.

## **Cross-Reference**

For more information on how to set up Security Roles to govern what users can see in the Ribbon menu, see Chapter 6.

## **Collapsing the Ribbon menu**

Although the Ribbon menu can be a helpful time-saver, it can limit the amount of space available on your monitor to work with information in Dynamics CRM. To remove the Ribbon menu from view, double-click on any tab on the Ribbon menu. The buttons on the menu then collapse, leaving only the tabs and providing more real estate on your screen. When you're ready to work with the Ribbon menu again, a single-click on a tab returns the menu to its normal state.

## **Cross-Reference**

The Ribbon menu can be customized to add or remove tabs and buttons within the tabs. This level of customization enables you to create entire new functions to improve the productivity of those using Dynamics CRM. For more information on customizing the Ribbon menu, see Chapter 21.

We refer back to the Ribbon menu throughout the book to point out context-sensitive items available to you in each area.

## Using the navigation pane

The Dynamics CRM application menu is found along the left-hand side of the user interface and is called the navigation pane. It is available in most of the application (except on forms and in certain portions of the settings area). As illustrated in Figure 10.5, the navigation pane includes a number of tools to rapidly navigate the CRM interface.

## Areas, groups, and subareas

The navigation pane consists of areas, groups, and subareas. Areas encompass each of the primary functional areas of Dynamics CRM (in another applications, these are often referred to as modules). The following list describes each of the default areas:

• **Workplace:** The workplace delivers a list of the most frequently used Dynamics CRM functions and consolidates some functions that appear in the other areas of CRM. The workplace can also be customized by each user to show just the information that they want to see.

## **Cross-Reference**

Each user can make changes to what is displayed in the Workplace to suit their preferences. For more information on how to customize the workplace, see Chapter 6.

• Sales, Marketing, Service: These three areas contain the functionality to support each of the three primary functions built into Dynamics CRM. More information on each of these functional areas is discussed in subsequent chapters.

#### FIGURE 10.5

The Dynamics CRM navigation pane

Navigation pane (aka Wunderbar)

	Homepage		e ar	and recently visited icons.	
				-	
Workplace 🖾 🗟					
My Work 🛛 🕆					
Get St Dashb Activit G UI Scri Calence Calence Duplice Queue Article Repor Annou	arted ioards pts dar ts ts es es ts ts ts				
Accou	nts	*	B	New	
🛐 Conta	cts	T	_	System Views	
Work	eplace 			Accounts: Influenced Deal Accounts: No Campaign A Accounts: No Orders in La Accounts: Responded to Active Accounts Inactive Accounts	
Servi	ce			My Active Accounts	
Settings Resource Center			My Connections		
			Recently Visited		
			PWC Accelerators		

Accounts sub-area in the Customer's group with shortcut menu open.

- **Settings:** The settings area provides the tools to customize how Dynamics CRM works. This includes basic setup (such as Security Roles), customization (such as changing the fields on forms), workflows, and other administrative features. Much of the settings area will not be visible to most users but as the administrator you will be able to access all the functionality in this area.
- **Resource Center:** The resource center contains a number of links to helpful information to aid you in learning more about Dynamics CRM. The information in this section is brought in from the Internet, so it often features new tips and help for getting the most out of Dynamics CRM.

Some areas contain groups, which provide a way of organizing similar functions together. For example, the Work area contains groups for My Work and Customers by default (Figure 10.5). Groups can be collapsed and expanded again by clicking on the group name.
Subareas represent the actual menu items that you can click on to navigate to a specific functional portion of Dynamics CRM. Most subarea links bring up a list of records (described below). Most subarea links in the navigation pane include shortcut menus to save you a few clicks in navigating to particular portions of a subarea (as illustrated in Figure 10.5).

#### Shortcut menus

As you hover over subareas with your mouse, you notice that some of them have a shortcut menu as indicated by a small triangle in the right-hand portion of the subarea link. Clicking on the shortcut menu brings up a link to create a new record, a list of available views, and recently visited records within the subarea. Although subtle, this navigation feature can be a real time-saver as you move around Dynamics CRM.

#### Homepage

Each user can set up an individual homepage within Dynamics CRM. Some users want to see dashboards while others want to see their list of daily activities and so forth. To navigate to your homepage, simply click on the home icon at the top of the navigation pane. Changing your home page can be done from within the personal options described in Chapter 6.

#### **Recently visited and favorites**

Next to the homepage icon is the recently viewed icon. This is another great time-saving item built into the Dynamics CRM UI. Click the icon to retrieve a list of places that you have recently visited in Dynamics CRM. If you would like to make any of these items a favorite that always shows up in the list, simple click the pushpin icon to the right of it, and it will always be available in this menu.

#### **Cross-Reference**

The areas, groups and subareas of the Dynamics CRM navigation pane can be customized a number of different ways. See Chapter 17 for information on how to update which entities are available within which areas and groups of the navigation pane. See Chapter 21 for information on how to update the sitemap to deliver custom functionality.

# **Navigating CRM lists**

At the core of Dynamics CRM is the ability to manage lists of information. Lists can take the form of information that is built into CRM (such as activities, opportunities, or contacts) or custom information that you configure (such as expenses, projects, or assets). List views in Dynamics CRM include a number of features and context-sensitive Ribbon bar items to help you quickly sort, search, find, and process records within the lists (see Figure 10.6).

#### FIGURE 10.6

#### Dynamics CRM list view

#### Getting Started pane

View selection	Sort or f	ilter		Search	bar C	harts
Get Started with Accounts					Video 💀	
An account is a company or corporation with wh	ich you do business.					
1 Import	2 Use			ු Modify & Ma	anage	
Import from Files	About	Quick Campaigns		🕸 Create Custom	Views	
About Importing	Detect	Duplicates		Set Up Duplicat	e Detection	
	About :	Sharing & Assigning		Customize Acco	ounts	
		^				
Accounts: My Active Accounts▼				Search for re	ecords	
F   Account Name 🔻		Main Phone 💌	Ad	Charts: Accounts by Relat	ionship Type	• 2
🕨 📴 🛛 Premium Financing Specialists, Inc.		(336) 446-0103	W ^			
Orange Street Gym		555-0136	Re	Accounts by	Relationship Ty	pe
Fitness Now		555-0135	Se			
🕨 🗁 Downtown Gym		555-0174	Re			1
Armacell LLC		(704) 947-5493	н		21	
🕨 🗁 Arip Inc.						
Arip Inc.		(704) 552-2827	CF	20		
Arip Inc.		(704) 688-9357	Ch		8	
Arizona Premium Finance			Cr			
Arctic Cat Inc.			CF			
Arbonne International, LLC		702-256-8870	La			
Aptina Imaging Corporation		(704) 548-9115	cr-	Customer 🔲	Partner 🔲 Pi	rospect
4						
1 - 49 of 49 (1 selected)		14 4 Pa	ge1 ▶	A		
AL # A B C D E E G H T I K I	MNOPOI	R S T II V W	X ¥ 7	Click on the chart to per	form Drill Down	

#### Views

Views are predefined filters and columns that can be applied against a given list view. The list of predefined views is visible above and to the left side of the list. You can see which view is currently applied next to the name of the list (in Figure 10.6 the active filter is named Active Accounts). You can click the small triangle to the right of the current view to see a list of all available views.

For each list, you can define the default view that you would like to see when you initially view that list. To set the default view, first select the view that you would like to have as your default, then click the Views tab in the Ribbon menu and click the Set as Default View button. The next time you load Dynamics CRM and visit the list, the selected view will be loaded by default.

#### Tip

If a view returns a long list of records, only a subset of the full list will be returned. To move through the entire list, you will need to click on the arrows to the left and right of the page number in the lower right-hand corner of the list.

#### **Creating Personal Views with Advanced Find**

In addition to the views that are included with Dynamics CRM, you can create your own personal views. Here's how to create a personal view:

- 1. Navigate to the list that you wish to create a personal view for and select a view that is close to what you want. For example, if you want to create a view of Accounts that you own that are in the state of North Carolina, then navigate to the accounts list and choose the My Active Accounts view.
- **2.** In the Ribbon bar, click the Advanced Find button. The advanced find builder will appear and the view you had selected will be visible.
- **3.** Make desired changes to the query (you may need to click the Show Details button to be able to edit the query).
- **4.** To add or remove columns to the view and to change the sort order, click the Edit Columns button.
- 5. You can run your view immediately by clicking the Results button.
- 6. You can save your view as a personal view by clicking the Save As button.
- 7. Once saved, your personal view will appear in the list of views for the selected list (you may need to refresh the Web page after initially creating the personal view for it to be added to the list).

#### Tip

Personal views can also be created by either clicking the list of views and choosing Create Personal View or by clicking the View tab in the Ribbon menu and clicking the Create Personal View button.

#### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 17 to learn about creating system views that are visible across the organization and for more details on how to use the advanced find functionality.

#### Using the search bar

A variety of methods are available to search for specific records within Dynamics CRM. In addition to views, you can use the search bar, which is located above and to the right of every list.

- Users can type the first few letters of what they're searching for into the search bar, press the Enter key, and Dynamics CRM returns a list of results.
- If you are searching for something and you do not remember the first few words, you can precede your search with the wildcard character (an asterisk, \*) and search again. For instance, if you search for \*appliance in the account list, Dynamics CRM will return a list of all accounts that have the word appliance anywhere in the company name.
- Dynamics CRM can be configured to allow you to search virtually any field available in a list. However, not all fields are included in the search criteria to start with. The administrator can change the search settings to enable you to search for other records (for more information, see Chapter 17).

#### Sorting

Lists in Dynamics CRM can be easily sorted by clicking the column head that you want to sort by. Click the header once and the list is sorted in ascending order. Click it again and the list is sorted in descending order.

#### Tip

You can sort a list by more than one column. Begin by clicking on the first column that you want to sort by. Next, hold the Shift key down and click on each of the remaining columns that you want to sort by.

#### **Filtering**

Dynamics CRM also includes the ability to interactively sort and filter lists. If you have ever used AutoFilter in Microsoft Excel, then this functionality will be very familiar to you. While on a list, click the Filter button on the View tab in the Ribbon menu. Notice that a drop-down button appears on each header on the list. Click the drop-down to bring up filtering options. You can set filtering and sorting options for every column that is visible in the view.

#### Tip

If you use filtering to create a list view in Dynamics CRM that you would like to use frequently, you can save the filter as a new view. Click the Views tab in the Ribbon menu and select Save Filters as New View. You can name the view and, once saved, it will be in your list of personal views for that list.

#### Caution

Filters work on top of the view that you are currently using prior to creating the filter. For example, if you are currently using a view titled "Accounts in zip code 90210" and you add a filter to display only records that do not have data in the city field, then you will get a list of accounts with a zip code of 90210 but that do not have a city. If you save this filter as a view, be sure to give it an understandable name such as "Zip Code 90210 without a City".

#### Charts

Charts provide a way to visualize information presented within a view. They also allow interactive drill-down to dig deeper into the data. This tool is great for giving managers a snapshot of what is going on with their group or for giving users an overview of their pipeline or workload.

To turn on charts for an existing view, navigate to the view for which you want to see charts. On the Ribbon bar tab for that list, click on the Charts button. After clicking this button, the default chart for that view is visible. In addition, a context-sensitive tab is added to the Ribbon bar for managing charts.

You can select different charts by clicking the drop-down menu just above the displayed chart. You can drill into the chart by clicking on the chart, selecting which field you wish to drill down into, and then selecting the chart type to display.

The Chart Tools Ribbon menu provides a number of options for customizing and creating new charts. Creating new charts uses a wizard-like process to prompt you through the process of creating and saving a new chart. Similar to views, users can create "personal charts" that are visible only to them, and administrators can create system charts that are available to all users.

#### **Cross-Reference**

To learn more about creating custom charts, see Chapter 24.

#### **Getting Started pane**

Most lists in Dynamics CRM include a Getting Started pane. This pane provides guidance to new users on how to use the various lists and other functions available. Most Getting Started panes include access to help files as well as videos and overviews. After you are familiar with how to use an area of Dynamics CRM, you can hide the getting started pane by clicking the small up arrow that is just between the Getting Started pane and the list you are viewing. The pane slides away; you can access it later by clicking the arrow again.

# Using CRM forms to view and update records

In Dynamics CRM, forms are used to view, create, and update information. To open a form for an existing record, click on the primary field for the record in the list. To create a new record, click the New button on the far left of the Ribbon bar.

Microsoft has also built functionality into forms that enable the user to more rapidly update data, navigate records, and connect with clients, prospects, and colleagues. Forms appear in their own window and use their own navigation pane. Figure 10.7 represents a typical Dynamics CRM form and related components.

#### **Navigating forms**

Forms contain a number of elements that are important to understand as you learn to find your way around the interface. Each form may be laid out differently, but the main elements are the same:

- **Tabs:** Tabs are displayed as blue section dividers on the main form, and as the first items in the Navigation pane. Tabs are the only items in the navigation pane that do not include any icons. You can navigate between tabs by clicking on the tab names in the Navigation pane, or by using the scroll bar. Tabbed sections can be collapsed by clicking on the tab heading in the data entry area of the form.
- **Status Bar:** At the bottom of every form is a footer that generally contains the status bar (unless your administrator has removed it from your view). The status bar indicates the status of the record. The list of possible status values varies depending upon the type of record you are viewing. Most records are either active (and can be edited) or inactive (and cannot be edited).

#### FIGURE 10.7

#### Dynamics CRM form

#### Sub-lists

	Tab	s						Form Assis	tant
			Required fie	d			Recor	d navigation	
			Account: AAA Photog	raphy Specialists				Accounts	* 1 +
Detaile	-		Information					Form Assistant	$\odot$
Details Gener Phone Detail Admin Notes More Activit Closed	nation ral e and Contact s nistration Addresses ties d Activities	×	✓ General     Account Name * AAA     Account Number     Parent Account     ✓ Phone and Contact I	Photography Specialists	Relationship Type Accounting Firm Currency	Customer		Follow Up Create a Follow Up Activity Type * Phone Call Subject *	•
Conta Conta Conta Conne Conne	icts onships ections flows		Contacts  Full Name  Alex Litton  Subscription  Contacts  Full Name  Contacts  Full Name  Contacts  Full Name  Full Name	Job Title 🖉 President COO	Quick Contact Inf Primary Contact Main Phone	0 Mallorie.	÷¤	Assign To *	× ÷Q
Sales: Oppor Quote Order Invoice	rtunities es s es	*	Imah Arakawa	Marketing Dire	Fax Web Site	http://www.CRN	1Extensions.	Save Save and Open Tips	]
Service: Cases Contra	acts	*	✓ Details	M 4 Page 1 ▶				When you select a follow automatically associated w open record or activity.	up, it is vith the
Marketing Campa	g: aigns	* •	Address				<b>v</b>		

• **Sub-Lists:** Records in Dynamics CRM are almost always linked to many other records. These related lists of records can also be called sub-lists. Sub-lists can appear in-line within the data entry form — which can be a very nice time-saver when entering data. They also appear in the navigation pane to the left of the form. You can click on sub-list links in the navigation pane to bring up a view of a specific sub-list. When viewing a sub-list, you have much of the same functionality available as you do when looking at lists in the main area of Dynamics CRM. When creating new records in sub-lists, Dynamics CRM pre-fills many of the fields for you automatically based on the parent record you were viewing when you created the sub-record.

#### Tip

Dynamics CRM will pre-fills many fields in records for you when you create the records from a parent. For example, if you are on an account record, and you create a new contact, Dynamics CRM will pre-fill in the name of the account, phone number, and address fields. You can change these values on the contact if you wish. On the other hand, if you create a new contact without first viewing the account, then the fields will not be pre-filled and it will take extra time to enter the record. Navigating to the parent record before creating a subrecord is a best practice because it will improve the speed and accuracy of your data entry.

#### **Navigating records**

You can navigate to different records without having to close the form and go back to the List view. To navigate to another record, you can use the up and down arrows just above and to the right of the form. You can also use the drop-down list of records. You can only navigate through the records that were in the view that you used to open the current form. This is useful functionality for quickly processing a list of records without having to open and close each one.

#### **Entering data**

After you have opened a form in Dynamics CRM, data entry is a fairly simple process. Understanding a few key items saves you some time and frustration.

- **Required fields:** Fields marked with a red asterisk are required. You will not be allowed to save changes if any of these fields are blank.
- **Saving changes:** You have several options for saving your work. These are available from the Ribbon bar from the tab named for the record type you are currently editing.
  - Save: Allows you to save changes to your record and continue working.
  - **Save and Close:** Saves your changes and closes the form; you are returned to the view you were on prior to opening the form.
  - **Save and New:** Saves your changes and opens a new, blank record. This feature is useful if you are adding a series of records.
  - Other Save Options: Depending on the type of record you are editing, you may also be able to send (for e-mail) or mark complete (for activities) as other save options for your record.

#### Caution

Always remember to save your changes before you close a form. Because Dynamics CRM is a Web application, your data is not being automatically saved as you enter it into a form. If you close a form without saving your data, any changes you have made will be lost. The good news is that Dynamics CRM prompts you to save your record if you attempt to close a form without saving.

#### **Editing multiple records**

Bulk edit is a powerful feature that is included in Dynamics CRM. It provides users with the ability to rapidly update multiple records at the same time. This can be useful if, for example, a customer moves to a new location and you want to update the address on all of their contacts. To edit multiple records:

1. Navigate to the view containing the records that you want to update. This can be a list in the main area of Dynamics CRM or it can be a sub-list under an existing record. For example, you can go to an account and then navigate to the sub-list of all the contacts for that account.

- **2.** Select which records you want to update. To select all records on a page, click the check box just above the list. To select multiple records, click the check box to the left of each record that you want to edit.
- 3. In the Ribbon menu, click the Edit button.
- **4.** You will see a popup screen with a blank form. Enter data into only the fields that you want to update (do not enter any information in the fields that you do not wish to update).
- 5. Click the Save button.

# **Record Ownership**

In Dynamics CRM, most records must be assigned to an owner. Record ownership is a convenient tool for ensuring that you know who has responsibility for winning an opportunity, who a task has been assigned to, or who needs to respond to a customer service request.

Record ownership is also used for views. Whenever you see a view preceded by the word "My" (such as "My Open Leads") it implies that this view will return only records that are owned by you. This makes it simple and convenient to limit the list view to only those records for which you are responsible.

#### Tip

"My" views, as referenced above, only show records in which the current user is the sole owner of the record. Records which are owned by a team that the current user is a member of are not displayed in "My" views. New views can be created to show team-owned records if preferred.

Record ownership also plays an important part in security. Security settings determine which records each user is able to create, view, update, or delete. Security is driven largely by record ownership. For example, I may be able to create and update records that are owned by me but only view records that are owned by my peers. My manager, on the other hand, may be able to view, create, update, and delete records that are owned by anyone that reports to her.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For more information on security and related concepts, see Chapter 5.

# **Organization ownership**

Not all records types will have an owner assigned to them. These records are said to have organization ownership (meaning that the organization is responsible for maintaining these records). Some examples of organization-owned records include competitors, products, and articles.

In general, you know that a record requires an owner when you see the field labeled Owner on the form.

# User or team ownership

Records that must be assigned to an owner can be assigned to either an individual user or to a team.

Team ownership is a useful concept when a record may be managed by multiple users. For example, one business may have account management teams that are assigned to customers to handle inside sales, outside sales, and customer service.

Team ownership can also be helpful when a record may need to temporarily be visible to an entire team until it is claimed by a single user. For example, a new service case may be assigned to a team until the first available person can work it. After that person opens the record, it can be automatically assigned to that person as the exclusive record owner. This can be combined with the Queue functionality described later in this chapter.

## Tip

When a record is created, the owner is set to the user that created the record by default. The record can be reassigned to another team or user at any time.

# Sharing records

Records in Dynamics CRM can also be shared with other users. By sharing records with your colleagues, you can expand some or all of your permissions to view, edit, and update records to other individuals within your organization. In Figure 10.8, read only access has been shared to the record Access MediQuip, LLC with David Jaffe and Don Funk. To share a record with other users:

- 1. Navigate to the record you wish to share and click on the record in the list.
- **2.** In the toolbar, click the Sharing button.
- 3. Click Add User/Team.
- 4. Select the user or team that you want to share the record with.
- 5. Click the OK button.
- 6. Now select the permissions that you wish to assign to the user.
- 7. Click the OK button.

#### FIGURE 10.8

#### Sharing records with other users

e Who would you like to	share th	e selected accou	int with? -	Webpag	e Dialog				×
Who would you like to sh Select the users or teams with permissions to give each user of	<b>are the</b> whom you or team.	selected account want to share the 1	with? Laccount rec	ord you hav	e selected. Th	ien, use the	check boxes on	the right to :	specify which
Common Tasks		Name	I	Read	Write	Delete	Append	Assign	Share
🚨 Add User/Team	8	David Jaffe		<b>v</b>	Γ		Γ		
<ul> <li>Remove Selected Items</li> <li>Toggle All Permissions of the Selected Items</li> <li>Reset</li> </ul>	Г 8	Don Funk		ঘ					
🕖 Get Help with Sharing									
								ок	Cancel
nttp://crm:5555/Contoso1/_grid	l/cmds/d	g_share.aspx?iObj	Type=1&iTc	t 🛍 Local	intranet   Pr	otected Mod	e: Off		

# **Connections and Customer Relationships**

Connections provide a flexible way of relating records in Dynamics CRM to other records in Dynamics CRM. Connections go beyond the standard sub-list type connections (such as linking all contacts to the account that they work for), to support any kind of connection. Here are some examples of how you can use connections:

- Connect a partner (tracked in Dynamics CRM as an account) to opportunities that they have referred to you.
- Connect two contacts to each other as spouses.
- Connect a quote to all the individuals that must approve it before it can be accepted.
- Connect a distributor account to all of their customer accounts.

#### **Cross-Reference**

Connections can be setup to work with any entity in Dynamics CRM — for information on setting up entities, see Chapter 17.

Use the process below to add connections to an existing record in Dynamics CRM:

1. Navigate to the record you wish to create a connection to and click on the record in the list.

# **Connections versus Relationships**

Previous versions of Dynamics CRM contained a function similar to connections called relationships. Relationships contain a subset of the functionality that is available in connections. Microsoft left relationships in Dynamics CRM 2011 in order to remain compatible with previous versions. However, having both connections and relationships available in CRM can be confusing for users.

If you are new to Dynamics CRM, then you should use the connections functionality and not the relationships functionality. As the administrator, you can simplify this process for your users by eliminating visibility into relationships by setting up security roles.

If you are upgrading from a previous version of Dynamics CRM and your users made use of relationships before, then you should leave this functionality visible. You may, however, want to either train your users to begin to migrate their old relationships information over to connections or use automation to migrate the data on behalf of users.

- **2.** In the toolbar, click the Connect button (if the button is not visible, then you will need to configure the entity to allow connections). The new connection form appears.
- **3.** In the Connect To area, select the name of the record that you want to connect this record to.
- **4.** Now choose the role for each of the records (note that you can create new roles on the fly if desired).
- **5.** You can enter other notes and a start/end date for the connection if you like (this can be very helpful for time-based connections, such as referral fees that are owed to partners if a transaction is completed within a specific time frame).

# **Managing Activities with Dynamics CRM**

Activities are one of the central concepts to Dynamics CRM. If you're using Microsoft Outlook, you're already familiar with activities such as e-mails, appointments, and tasks. In the next chapter, we discuss how Outlook and Dynamics CRM activities are synchronized with each other.

Activities in Dynamics CRM have a field titled "regarding" that allows you to link an activity to almost any other record. For example, you can regard an e-mail to an opportunity, case, account, quote, or just about any other record in CRM. The regarding tool is a useful field for organizing all of your activities and communications so you can find them easily if they are needed later.

In addition to the regarding field, most activities can be linked to other records in CRM using additional fields. For example, you may send an e-mail to a contact, thanking them for referring an opportunity to you. The "to" field would link to the contact that you are sending the e-mail to, and the regarding field would link to the opportunity that the contact referred to you. In this case the e-mail activity would be visible under both the contact record and the opportunity record. This ability to track multiple links is a great way to ensure that activities are visible under every record that an activity is associated with, making it easier for you to find the information you need wherever you are in CRM.

In addition to the above links, Dynamics CRM also rolls up activity views so that they are available on parent records. For example, if you record an activity on a contact record it is also visible on the account that is the parent of the contact. This is a convenient way to view everything that is going on with an account without having to go to each individual record to view the underlying activities. Figure 10.9 illustrates rolled-up activities.

#### FIGURE 10.9

Account record with activities from related contacts and opportunities

@Account: AAA Photograp	hy Specialists - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - 1	Windows Internet Explorer	<u>_ 8 ×</u>
() ~ // http://crm:5555	/Contoso1/main.aspx?etn=account&extraqs=_gridT	ype%3d1%26etc%3d1%26id%3d%257b4 🛨 😽 🗙 🚺	Bing 🖉 -
Favorites 🔠 🕶 🚂 Acco	unts: My Active Accoun	ap 🗙 🖄 - I	🔊 - 🖃 🖶 + Page + Safety + Tools + 🕢 - 🍟
File Account Create Rel	ated Customize Activities		Dynamics CRM Administrator @ Contoso1
Add New Add Existing Edit	Delete Activity     Bulk Delete     Activities     Sharing     Add to C     Add to C     Add to C	Queue inection - Export Run Activities Report - 🕞 Send Shortcut	Change Layout     Set as Default     Filter
Record Manageme	ent Actions	Share Data	Visuals Filters
	Account: AAA Photography Speciali	sts	Accounts 👻 🛊 🗣
Details:	Closed Activities: Closed Activity	Associated View*	Search for records P
P Information	Filter on: All	<ul> <li>Include: Related "Regard</li> </ul>	rding" Records
General	🖵   Subject	Activity Type Activity Status Regard	Jing Priority Due Date 🖉
Phone and Contact	Quote for Widgets CRM:0001002	E-mail Completed 💣 🧕	Widget Or Normal
Administration	Discuss quote for widgets	Phone Call Completed	Widget Or Normal
Notes	Distributor availability of widgets CRM:0	001 E-mail Completed and 30	/Widget Or Normal
More Addresses	k Account Maintenance	Task Completed 🛱 A	A Photogri Normal 6/28/2010 12:00
Activities		Phone Cell Completed	appah Arak Namel 7/2/2010 12:01
Closed Activities	P @ Discussed upcoming campaign	Phone can completed ga 12	2110112104 NOTINAL 1/3/2010 12:01
Sub-Accounts			
Sill Contacts			
5 Relationships			
B Connections			
G Workflows			
Sales:			
📋 Opportunities			
🗟 Quotes			
] Orders			
Invoices			
Service:			
General Cases			
Contracts			
	1 - 5 or 5 (1 selected)		M N Page 1 ₽
Marketing:	AII * A B C D E F (	GHIJKLMNOP (	<u> 2 R S I U V W X Y Z</u>
🖼 Campaigns 🔍 👻			
Done		🛍 Local intranet   Pr	rotected Mode: Off 🛛 🖓 🔹 🔍 100% 🔹 🏑

To summarize how all of these activity links work, let's say you call a prospect to check the status of a quote. You enter the name of the contact in the recipient field of the phone call activity and your name in the sender field. You then enter the name of the quote into the regarding field. When you look at the quote in the future, you will see the completed phone

call in the closed activity list for the quote (because you entered that in the regarding field), for the contact (because you entered that contact as the recipient), under your own record (because you entered yourself as the sender), and under the account that the contact belongs to. Figure 10.10 illustrates entering a phone call activity with these links.

#### FIGURE 10.10

Phone call acti	vity and as	ociated linking fields						
@Phone Call: Check status	s of photo shoot quot	- Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Windows In	ternet Explorer			_ <u>_</u> X		
💮 💿 🗢 🚂 http://crm:5555	5/Contoso1/main.aspx?eti	=phonecall&extraqs=contactInfo%3d%26etc%3d4	210%26pId%3d 💌	🖅 🗙 💽 Bing		- Q		
🚔 Favorites 🔠 🕶 📈 Acco	unts: My Acti	unt: AAA Pho 🔟 Contact: Mallorie H	ne Call: Ch 🗙	🖞 • 🗟 • 🗆 🖶 •	Page • Safety • Too	Is • 🔞 • »		
File Phone Call Create I	Related Customize				Dynamics CRM Admin Co	istrator @		
Save and Save Save as Completed	d Close d New Delete	Close Phone Assign Call Add to Queue	Follow Convert - Up Activity-	Run Report + Send Shortcut	Run Workflow	1		
Save	Record Manage	ment Actions		Share Data	Workflow Query			
	Phone Call: Check	status of photo shoot quote			Phone Calls	* * *		
A.	Information							
Details:	▼ Phone Call					<b>-</b>		
Notes	Sender	🜡 Sara Davis 🖸	Phone Number	704-895-2500				
ම Connections ර්ෂ Workflows	Recipient	Mallorie Harrington Direction C Incoming C Outgoing						
G#	Subject*	Check status of photo shoot quote						
	Schedule review of p * Two web photos (s * Print catalog photo * 48 page listing of p government employe neighborhood cover (plus tax, of course)	noto shoot quote for their newly released widget. Nail and zoomed version) (3 potions for print shoop) oduct features to meet EPA documentation requir s for reference and must be filed in 20 year bomb ant specifications - be sure to add 73% to the proc	Be sure of the follow ements - document m proof shelter to comp luct cost due to these	ing: ust be delivered in hard copy Jy with federal, state, county requirements and pass this al	triplicate to 4,700 and ong to the buyer			
	Regarding	6 orders of Product JJ202			Q			
	Owner*	Sara Davis			Q			
	Duration	30 minutes	Priority	High	•			
	Due	7/4/2010 9:30 AM 🗸						
	Category		Sub-Category					
						-		
	Activity Status	pen						
			👘 🕼 Local i	ntranet   Protected Mode: Off	<i>√</i> <u>∂</u> • €,	100% • /		

# Understanding activity types

Dynamics CRM includes a large number of different activity types including phone calls, e-mails, tasks, appointments, and a number of others. There are several benefits to using different activity types:

- Using different activity types is a convenient way to get at-a-glance information about which types of interaction you have had with an individual. Figure 10.9 illustrates different icons that represent the different activity types.
- Activity types also enable organizations to track different types of information that may be relevant for different types of activities. For example, an e-mail activity includes a rich text field to track the specific content of the e-mail that was sent this kind of information is not necessary in a phone call activity.

# The Hidden Complexities of Activity Reporting

Each activity type in Dynamics CRM is managed by a different table. Microsoft has done an outstanding job of making these different tables seamless to the end user by creating custom views that merge all the different activity types into a single list that is available in Dynamics CRM. Beneath the surface, however, it can be quite complex to work with these different activity types if you are developing custom activity reports.

When Microsoft created their custom views for activities they included fields that are common across all activity types. So in these views you will see fields like subject, activity status, and regarding. On the other hand, you won't see fields like category or any custom fields you may have created.

You have the option of building reports and views for individual activity types. Using this approach you could create a report of all phone calls by category. However, if management wants a report of all activities by category you won't be able to do this with the report wizard or with advanced find. To develop a complex report like this you would need to develop custom queries using SQL Server Reporting Services (SSRS).

Similarly, many sales managers want to see a list of everyone on their team with a breakdown of the different activity types for each user in a grid. This seemingly simple report introduces a need to understand how to develop custom reports and queries to provide the required data.

Activities are an area of Dynamics CRM that management often wants quite a bit of custom reporting from in order to understand if their teams are engaging in the right activities. Keep this in mind as you work with activities to ensure that you are tracking data in a way that you can easily report on.

#### On the Web site

See the Web site for an example report (built in SSRS) that includes links to multiple activity types. This will provide you with an understanding of the complexities of wrapping multiple activities into a single report — and may also provide you with a helpful management report for your team.

• Many organizations have key performance indicators (KPIs) associated with activity types. For instance, some sales people are required to make a certain number of calls and face-to-face visits on a weekly basis. Using activity types makes reporting easier on these activities to ensure that KPI goals are being met.

In addition to the standard activities above, Dynamics CRM also includes a number of specialized activities such as campaign responses, service activities, and opportunity close. These types of activities are associated with specific functionality within Dynamics CRM and will be described in more detail in other portions of this documentation.

With Dynamics CRM 2011, Microsoft introduced the concept of custom activities. These are activity types that an administrator (or third party) can create to extend the functionality of Dynamics CRM. These may include new communication activities (such as Facebook messages) or possibly internal activities (such as approvals or research notes).

#### **Cross-Reference**

For more information on creating custom activity types, see Chapter 17.

# Working with activities

Most Dynamics CRM users spend more time creating, tracking, and completing activities than just about anything else. In fact, a quick analysis of most Dynamics CRM databases shows that organizations have more activity records than all other types of records combined — by a fairly wide margin. Microsoft recognized this and built a number of tools into the Dynamics CRM interface to make it simple and fast to manage activities.

#### **Creating activities**

There are many places in the user interface where you can create activities. The best place to go to create an activity will be a matter of personal preference, or a function of what you're currently doing in Dynamics CRM when you decide to create an activity. Here are some of the most frequently used places to go to create an activity:

- **File menu:** In the Ribbon menu, the File tab is always visible, and you can click on it and then on New Activity to create an activity.
- Activities list: While viewing the list of all activities in Dynamics CRM, you can use the Ribbon menu to add new activities by clicking the button for the appropriate activity type.
- **Toolbar on parent record:** While viewing the parent record that you want to create an activity for, you can use the Ribbon menu to create a new activity and link it directly to that record. To do this:
  - **1.** Navigate to the record on a list and either click once to select it, or double-click to open the form.
  - **2.** On the Ribbon menu, click the Create Related tab and then select the record type that you want to link to this record, as illustrated in Figure 10.11.
- **In Outlook:** You can create Dynamics CRM activities directly inside of Microsoft Outlook. See the following chapter for more information.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For more detailed ideas on managing activities in Dynamics CRM, see the blog entry "11 Habits of Effective Activity Management" on http://blogs.c5insight.com.

#### Tip

When creating activities, you'll save some time if you first navigate to the parent record and create the activity from there because Dynamics CRM fills in some of the fields for you. For example, if you navigate to a contact and create a phone call, the recipient and phone number will be auto-filled for you. This not only saves time, but also reduces the chance of data entry errors.

#### FIGURE 10.11



Save to add the activity to your list

#### **Viewing activities**

Users need to be able to quickly find activities on their "to do" list. On the other hand, it is also important that users be able to quickly view just the activities associated with customers or other records. For this reason, Microsoft delivered two primary ways to view activities within Dynamics CRM.

#### Activities list sub-area

The activities list in Dynamics CRM provides a list of all activities that are visible to the user. In general, this list is used by individual users to work through the activities that they are responsible for. It can, however, also be used to view completed activities or even activities assigned to other users.

# Activity Management and User Adoption .

If you've done much reading about any CRM system, you know that user adoption can be a major problem with any CRM system. User adoption refers to the success rate of getting users to integrate the CRM tool into their everyday business activities.

The inability to fully and properly leverage activity management is one of the biggest drivers of user adoption (or lack thereof) with any CRM system. As you begin to use CRM, you should pay special attention to how you are working with activity management. If you get frustrated, it may very well be that you are not aware of some of the options open to you for activity management or you may be struggling with how relational activity records link up to their parent records.

The biggest two tools available to you are experimentation and persistence. Experiment and find the best way to create activities for you. Persist with investing time in creating, completing, and finding activities until you get comfortable with exactly how this works.

Dynamics CRM makes a number of additional tools available to you. Consider using UI scripts, workflows, queues, Outlook integration, and other tools described within this book to simplify the process and automate some of the steps in activity management.

#### Activities and Closed Activities related lists

As we noted earlier in this chapter, activities can be linked to a variety of different records in Dynamics CRM and it is important that individuals within your organization have visibility to see the activities that are either scheduled or completed for each record. To view the activities for a specific record, use the steps below:

- 1. Navigate to the form for the record that you wish to see related activities.
- **2.** Click on the Activities item in the navigation pane to see activities that have not yet been completed, or click on the Closed Activities item in the navigation pane to view activities that are closed (either completed or cancelled).

Figure 10.9 is an example of a Closed Activity list for an account record; note that immediately above the Closed Activity link is a link to Activities (meaning open activities) for that account.

#### **On the Web Site**

Users often find it helpful to have a view of activities that are assigned to them and are due today or that are past due. This view, however, is not available by default in Dynamics CRM. On the Web site, you will find a view that you can load called My Today's Activities. For information on how to create this type of view see the section related to Advanced Find later in this chapter. For information on how to load this custom view to Dynamics CRM see Chapter 16.

#### Activity alerts

When it comes to managing activities, it is always helpful to be able to receive alerts when you need to be in an appointment, make a call or complete any of a variety of activities. Dynamics CRM does not include a popup reminder or similar feature. Instead, Microsoft has tightly integrated Dynamics CRM with Outlook with the expectation that you will use Outlook to generate your reminders. More information on Outlook is in Chapter 11.

#### **Completing activities**

Every activity that you create in Dynamics CRM must be completed — otherwise it will continue to be listed as a "to do." To complete an activity, open the form and click the Save as Completed button in the Ribbon menu.

# **Using Queues**

Queues are a useful way to track records that need to be placed into a "holding tank" until someone is available to "claim" them and take some action. They are particularly helpful if you have records or activities that should be assigned to the first available qualified individual from a team. Think of a queue as an inbox that multiple individuals can see and can take items out of that they want to take responsibility for.

As an example, many organizations have a support team. Individuals on this team would like to be able to view a list of all recent customer service inquiries and accept items to add to their list of activities to handle. Simply assigning cases to these individuals in round-robin fashion would not work well because some cases take far longer to handle than others — so this could lead to having some customers wait too long for a response to their inquiry. This problem could be solved by placing these cases into a queue so a new case is not assigned to a service rep until they have completed cases currently assigned to them.

Queues can be used for any work process that requires a team of individuals to claim items from a list. This can include lead qualification, quote approvals, job candidate resume reviews, or bank property appraisals in addition to the cases we described in the preceding paragraph.

By default activities and cases can be assigned to queues, but your administrator can configure Dynamics CRM to allow almost any type of record to be in a queue. You can tell if a record can be added to a queue by navigating the record in a list and checking to see if the Add to Queue button appears in the Ribbon menu next to the Sharing button.

#### **Cross-Reference**

Queues are set up by the Dynamics CRM administrator. For more information on setting up queues, see Chapter 19.

# Sending records to queues

Records can be sent to queues in a variety of ways. Your organization may use one or more of these approaches to aid with automating your business processes:

- A user can navigate to a record and click the Add to Queue button in the Ribbon menu. For example, an Outside Sales Rep may put a quote into a queue called Validate Product Configuration that can then be claimed by an Inside Sales Rep to be sure the quote is valid before it is shared with a client.
- 2. You may set up an e-mail address dedicated to capturing items into a queue. For example, all e-mail messages sent to support@yourdomain.com may get added to your support queue.
- **3.** You can use workflow to place items into a queue under certain conditions. For example, all leads that are more than 24 hours old may go to a queue called Shark Tank and the first available rep can claim them.

# **Viewing queues**

To view a list of queues, navigate to the queues item in the workplace area in the navigation panel. From here, you have two filtering options. The first is the standard view that you see in other lists. The second is a selection of which queues you wish to view. To see the items in all queues that are open for someone to work on, select the view titled Items available to work on and the queue named All Queues. Figure 10.12 is an example of how this view may appear.

Keep in mind that queues honor the security roles assigned to each user. If a lead is in your queue and your security role does not allow you to view the lead record, then although you will see the item in your queue, you will not be able to open the lead to look at it until it has been assigned to you. This can be a useful feature of Dynamics CRM because you may not want users to be able to see the details of a record until it has been assigned to a specific user.

# Working items in a queue

Items stay in a queue until they have been assigned to an individual's queue as part of their workload. There are a variety of methods that can be used to move an item from a public queue to an individual's queue.

To view the options for working items in a queue, navigate to the queue list and click an item in a queue. Options for working items in the queue will be displayed in the Ribbon menu.

#### **Routing queue items**

Your organization may require a manager to "triage" items in a queue to determine how they should be handled. Or, an individual may view an item in a queue and determine that they cannot work it, but they can route it to another queue to be worked. Items can be routed to a specific individual or to another, more specific, queue.

#### FIGURE 10.12

Viewing items that have not yet been claimed in all queues

@Queue Items: Items availa	able to work on - Microsoft Dyna	amics CRM - Windows Internet	Explorer			_ /2/ ×
🚱 🕞 🗢 🔟 http://crm:5555/	/Contoso1/main.aspx#		• 49	🗙 💽 Bing		- ۹
Favorites	Items available to work on - Microsoft D.,			<b>☆・</b> ◎・□	🛙 🚔 🕶 Page 🕶 Safety	• Tools • 🔞 • »
201 C						
File Queue Items Views	Create Related Customize				Dynamics CRM	Contoso1
Delete Bulk Delete Routing V	Work Release Remove Queue Item On Details Actions	Export to Export to Excel Report - Send Shortcu Share Data	• Charts t. Y Filter t. Worl	un kriow Query		
Manhada A D			¥			
workplace III and	Queue Items: Items availab	le to work on			Search for records	2
My work A	Create Persona	l View				
B Dashhoards	Queue: JAI Qu System Views					
Activities	Title All Items		d Queue 👻 👘 T	ype	Queue	Ø
16 UI Scripts	Someboc Items available	to work on	7/1/2010 8:32 AM P	hone Call	Web Lead Queue	
🛄 Calendar	Items Lam work	king on				
/ Imports	Items Fain work					
Parallel Detection						
Queues	1					
Reports						
Announcements	1					
Customers &						
🕞 Accounts	·					
S Contacts						
Workplace						
Sales						
S Marketing						
Service						
Settings	1 - 1 of 1 (1 selected)					I4 4 Page 1 ▶
Resource Center	All # A B C D	EFGHIJK	L M N O	P Q R	S T U V V	/ X Y Z
Done			🔹 Local int	ranet   Protected N	Mode: Off 🛛 🐴	• 🔍 100% • /

To route items, click the Routing button in the Ribbon menu. You have two routing options:

- 1. You are required to select a queue to add the item to. If you do not wish to add it to a new queue, you can enter the name of the current queue. You may assign it to an individual user's queue or to a general queue.
- **2.** You can optionally choose to keep the current user that the queue item is assigned to, or you can reassign the record to someone else.

#### Tip

Adding a record to a queue is different from assigning the record to a user. For example, a case may be assigned to a service rep but may also be in the Level 1 Support queue. It can then be added to the Level 2 Support queue while remaining assigned to the same service rep. This is a useful feature because you may still want one user to own the record while another user performs some work on it (such as a sales person owning an opportunity record, but assigning it to a queue visible to sales assistants to do research before proceeding with calling the prospect).

# A Typical Queue Process

Queues are powerful tools for automating workflow steps that can be accepted by one of many potential individuals on the same team. Moreover, queues are flexible enough to be adapted to fit different work processes. Here is an example of a workflow that uses a queue.



Typical queue workflow

Keep in mind that this is only an example. You can use queues for cases, leads, quotes, outbound calling, or virtually any other business process. Before implementing a queue, you should take the time to map out your own unique process.

# Working on items

Individual users can monitor queues and can quickly claim items that they are available to work on. To accept an item to work on, navigate to the item you wish to accept from a queue list and then click the Work On button in the Ribbon menu. A dialog box appears. You may accept the item or you may assign it to another user to work on. The Worked By column will then be updated with the name of the user that the item is assigned to.

# Releasing items you are working on

There may come a time when you are not able to work some of the items listed as being worked by you in a queue. To release items back to the general queue to be worked by the first available person who has visibility into a queue, click the Release button in the menu Ribbon. You will be removed as the person that the item is being Worked By, and the item will again be visible in the Items available to work on view.

## Removing items from a queue

Once you are done working an item in the queue, you may remove it from the queue. Removing an item from a queue does not delete the underlying record; it simply removes it from being visible in the queue.

# **Deleting queue records**

You can delete records that are in the queue. However, unlike removing items from a queue, deleting a record from a queue will delete the underlying Dynamics CRM record. So, for example, if you delete a queue item for a new lead, then the lead record will also be deleted.

# **Working with E-mail Templates**

Templates can be used to quickly create documents that include information from records in Dynamics CRM. Many organizations expend a tremendous amount of time rekeying data into documents that already exists in their customer databases — templates can play an important role in eliminating this redundant data entry.

You can find the list of templates in the Settings area of Dynamics CRM. Four different types of templates are available. We will discuss e-mail templates here.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For information on creating article and contract templates, see Chapter 14. For information on creating Microsoft Word mail merge templates, see Chapter 15.

# **Creating e-mail templates**

Follow these steps to create an e-mail template:

- 1. In Dynamics CRM, navigate to Settings ↔ Templates and then click on E-Mail Templates.
- 2. Click New in the menu. The E-mail Template Type dialog box in Figure 10.13 enables you to select a global template type or a specific entity. Select global if your template will need to be available across all entities and will not include data from an entity. If your template will include data from a specific entity (such as from a lead) then be sure to select that entity as the template type.
- **3.** Fill out the form using the following information:
  - Title is the title that will appear in the list of e-mail templates; it will not appear in e-mails that are sent.
  - Description is also strictly for internal usage.
  - Subject is the subject line that will appear in the e-mail.

- **4.** Now fill in the body of the e-mail. Note that you can insert merge fields into the e-mail body and into the subject line by clicking on the Insert/Update button in the menu.
- **5.** If desired, you can also add attachments to the e-mail. To do this, you will first need to save the e-mail (without closing it) and the New E-mail Attachment button will become available. These attachments can be PDFs or any other file (but they cannot contain mail merge fields within them).
- **6.** Once complete, click the Save and Close button in the menu.

#### FIGURE 10.13

The E-mail Template Type dialog box

👿   🚽 🤊 - ೮   <del>-</del> Mail_Merge_670	43.doc [Compatibility Mode] - Microsoft Word	- @ X				
File Home Insert Page Layout References Mailings	Review View	^ (2)				
Times New Rom * 12 * A A * 🔊 🗄 * 🗄 *		A Pind -				
Paste - B Z U - abe x. x <sup>2</sup> A - <sup>aby</sup> - A - E = =		Change				
Clinhoard S Font S		Styles + La Select +				
cipbolia is rone is		Ba				
	of Dynamics CRM is released. Word mail merge functionality is	n 🛸				
	not fully operational in this version so I had to pull a different image	je				
	than we will be using.					
To start well women with CDM	(This is true of other images as well, but in this particular case I					
μο start mail merge, click Crtwi.	could not even get to the right screen for what I wanted to show for this illustration)	or				
In Microsoft Office Word 2007, the CRM t	uns nusuation).	=				
Mailings tab, depending on the mail merge						
After you click CRM, the macro creates a n						
The comment is the data source for your ma	Owner 1</td <td>BLE&gt;<th>Opportunity H&gt;<th>Actual_Revenue</th></th></td>	BLE> <th>Opportunity H&gt;<th>Actual_Revenue</th></th>	Opportunity H> <th>Actual_Revenue</th>	Actual_Revenue		
Caution: To run mail merge, you must enab	ole macros for this document. After the mail H> <th>Potential_Ous us</th> <th>Topic<!--</td--><td>tomer</td></th> <th>Est_Reven TH&gt;<th>Rating</th><th< td=""></th<></th>	Potential_Ous us	Topic </td <td>tomer</td>	tomer	Est_Reven TH> <th>Rating</th> <th< td=""></th<>	Rating
merge is completed, delete this file and the a	associated text file to safeguard possibly sound Numbers/TH>	<th>Potential_Customer_Ac TH&gt;Potential_Customer_Add</th>	Potential_Customer_Ac TH>Potential_Customer_Add			
sensitive data.	ress_1ty  ess_1ty cuty   ess_1to cuty	H>Fotential_Customer_Addr TH> <th>Potential_Customer</th>	Potential_Customer			
		t_2«/TH» <th»potential_cu t_2«/TH»<th»potential_cu< td=""></th»potential_cu<></th»potential_cu 				
PROPOCAL	Customer_Address_1	ZIP_Postal <th>Tokining_</th>	Tokining_			
PROPOSAL	Potential_Customer_i otential_Customer_i	Account_Name <th>P hess 1 City</th> <th>Po</th>	P hess 1 City	Po		
Client Contact:	tential Customer Add TH>Potential Custom	ress_l_Country_Re«/TH»« ar Address 1 Street 1				
«AddressBlock»	>«TH»Fotential_Custe TH> <th>Potential_C</th>	Potential_C	mer_Address_1Street_2×/ istomer_Address_1Street_			
Account #: "Potential Customer Account	Numbers Date: July 3 2010Postal <th>Potential</th>	Potential	_Customer_Address_1ZIP tential_Customer_Address_1			
Account #. «Fotential_customet_Account_	State Prove/TH> <th>TV</th>	TV	l>User_Business_Unit TH> <th>User_Street_2</th>	User_Street_2		
Sales Rep: «Owner»	Expires: > <th>User_State_Provide</th>	User_State_Provide	/TH> <th>User_City</th> < nce <th>User_ZIP_Pos v</th>	User_City	User_ZIP_Pos v	
Estimated Budget: «Total Amount»	tal_CodeTH>U TH>User_Main_Phone	lser_Country_Region< * <th>User_First_Nam</th>	User_First_Nam			
	e <th>User_La the</th> <th>User_P</th>	User_La the	User_P	imary_E_mail <te>User_Ti</te>		
4		→				
Page: 1 of 1 Words: 113 🧭		0% 🕘 💎 🕂				

# Using e-mail templates

Follow these steps to use the e-mail template that you created above:

- 1. Navigate to the record that you wish to use with the e-mail and open the form for the record.
- 2. In the Ribbon menu, click on the Create Related tab and then click E-mail.
- 3. Fill in the address and regarding fields for the e-mail.

- **4.** Click Insert Template in the Ribbon menu. Depending on which fields you completed in Step 3, you may be prompted to select the target record associated with the template; if so, select the appropriate record from the list.
- 5. Select the preferred template from the Insert Template dialog box in Figure 10.14.
- **6.** Fill out the remaining fields on the form.
- 7. Click the Send button in the Ribbon menu.

If you want to send a bulk e-mail merge to multiple individuals at once, you can use the Send Direct E-mail button on the Ribbon bar above the contact list.

#### FIGURE 10.14

Insert Template dialog box

Mail Merge Temp	late: Proposal Template - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer	_
🕞 🗢 🚂 http://	/crm:5555/Contoso1/tools/mailmerge/edit.aspx?id=%7b168DAC61-3885-DF11-B7DA-08155D108C14% 🚽 🚱 📉 💽 Bing	
Favorites 🔠 🕇	🔟 Microsoft Dynamics CRM 🔰 Mail Merge Template: Pro 🗙 🔯 👻 🗔 👻	🗄 🖶 🔹 Page 🔹 Safety 🖛 Tools 🕶 🔞
a Ex Save a	and Close 🔓 🎒 🍪 Run Workflow   👺 Edit Template in Word   🖄 Actions -	@ Help
Mail	Merge Template: Proposal Template	Working on solution:Default Solution
≠ General		
Details		
Name *	Proposal Template	
Description	Use this template in association with Opportunities to generate a proposal template.	<u>.</u>
Categorization		
Associated Entity*	Opportunity	v
Ownership		
Ownership *	Individual 🔹 Owner* 📓 Dynamics CRM Administra	ator
Language		
Template Language	English	<u>.</u>
ct data fields:		
Pata Fields	Selected fields: 35	
File Attachment		
Name: Proposal	i Template.xmi (18,867 Byte(s))	Remove
us: Active		
//crm:5555/Contose	1/fools/mailmerge/edit aspx?id=%7b168DA	Mode: Off 🛛 🖓 👻 🖲 100%

#### Tip

If you click the Save button in the Ribbon menu for an e-mail, the e-mail will not be sent but will be saved with a pending status. To be certain that your e-mails are being sent, click the Send button and not the Save button on the Ribbon menu.

#### **Cross-Reference**

E-mail templates can also be sent directly from Microsoft Outlook. For more information see Chapter 11.

# **Merging Duplicate Records**

In every CRM system, occasional duplicate records are a fact of life. Although Dynamics CRM includes built in duplicate detection, users will still occasionally find duplicate records that they will want to eliminate.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For more information about auto-detecting duplicate records, see Chapter 8.

While working with Dynamics CRM, if you notice some records that should be merged, use the procedure below to merge the records.

1. Make sure both records are visible in the current view (you may need to use the Advanced Find button to create a custom view) and select both records (click the check box on the left side of each record as illustrated in Figure 10.15).

#### FIGURE 10.15

Contact view with two records selected

🖹 Mic	rosoft Dynamics CRM Mail Merge for Micro	soft Office Word Webpage Dialog	×
Micro	soft Dynamics CRM Mail Merge for Microso	oft Office Word	
	the options for this mail merge.		
_			
Selec	t the mail merge type:		
Lett	er 🗾		
Start	with a:		
C	Blank document		
С	Organization mail merge template		Q
G	Personal mail merge template	III Droposol Template	
	reisonal man merge template	13 Hoposa relipiace	
Merç	je:		
œ	Selected records on current page		
$\sim$	All records on current page		
0	All records on all pages		
Selec To se	<b>t data fields:</b> Ject the data fields to use with this mail merge, click	Data Fields	
	ato Eioldo	Data Heras.	
		OK Cano	el
ätp://cn	m:5555/Contoso1/_grid/cm 🞕 Local intranet   Pi	rotected Mode: Off	1

- 2. In the Ribbon menu, click the Merge button located in the first tab after the file tab (generally this tab is named after the list you are viewing) and in the Records section. Figure 10.16 illustrates the Merge Records dialog box.
- 3. Select the fields you wish to keep from each record and then click the OK button.

Dynamics CRM merges the two records together, including the related lists of information, and deactivates the record that was not primary. Deactivation means that the record that was not the master is kept, but it is hidden from view so that no historical information is lost.

#### FIGURE 10.16

Record merge dialog box

Contacts: My A	ctive Contacts - Microso	ft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Exp	lorer	X
😋 🕑 🗢 🚂 htt	p:// <b>crm</b> :5555/Contoso1/main	aspx#	💽 🛃 🗙 💽 Bing	P -
😭 Favorites 🛛 🔟 🕻	Contacts: My Active Contacts -	Microsoft Dynamics CRM	🏠 🔹 🗔 🕤 🖃 🖶 🔹 Page 🔹 Safety	• Tools • 🕢 • »
File Contacts	@ Merge Records W	ebpage Dialog	Dunamice (* Di X	Administrator Contoso1
Edit     Activate	Merge Records Select the master record, a	nd then select the fields to merge into the master	record.	A
Deactiva	Master Record and Field	Selection		Find
F	Master Record :	C B Anders Madsen	🖸 🕫 🚂 Cat Francis	Query
Sales		C Select all fields in this section	<ul> <li>Select all fields in this section</li> </ul>	Coverview
🦓 Leads	First Name +	C Anders	Cat	- Officiation
Opportunities	Last Name *	C Madsen	Francis	
Accounts	Currency	C US Dollar	US Dollar	
📸 Marketing Lists	Business Phone	C 555-0127	555-0178	
Competitors	Address	C Select all fields in this section	Select all fields in this section	
Products	Street 1	C 9605 Pheasant Circle	5086 Nottingham Place	0
Quotes	City	C Gold Bar	Ouvall	
Orders	State/Province	C WA	• WA	e 10
Invoices	ZIP/Postal Code	C 47352	6 16982     16982	L
2 Quick Campaigr	Country/Region	C U.S.	<ul> <li>U.S.</li> </ul>	
	Billing Information	C Select all fields in this section	Select all fields in this section	L
	Credit Hold	C No	© No 👻	
	ग	Select all fields with data. If both records have	data in the same field, the master record field is selected.	
Workplace	A Note: The master reco	rd will inherit all of the subordinate record's child	records. The subordinate record will be deactivated.	
Life Salar				
Ligg sales				
🖒 Marketing				
Service	Help		OK Cancel	
Settings	http://crm:5555/Contoco1/	aridemdedda, marga acm@iObiTwa=28iTa	Lacol Intronet   Protected Mede: Off	· · · ·
	map wern. 5555/Contoson_	gnormasaig_merge.aspxnob)nybe_zanne		I A Page 1
a nesource cente	All #	ABCDEFGHI		
avascript:;			Local intranet   Protected Mode: Off 👘 🍕	• 🔍 100% • //

# Using Your Mobile Device with Dynamics CRM

Microsoft and their partners have provided three ways to access your Dynamics CRM data using your mobile device. There are pros and cons to using Outlook synchronization, Dynamics CRM Mobile Express, and third-party tools to access CRM data via your mobile phone. We walk through each of these below.

# **Outlook synchronization**

Most of the data in Outlook synchronizes with Dynamics CRM. This includes contacts, tasks, appointments, and e-mails. This information also synchronizes with your mobile device. When you create new records in Dynamics CRM, they automatically sync with Outlook, which then syncs with your mobile device. So, for example, if you create a contact in Dynamics CRM, it will sync with Outlook and will then sync with your mobile device. If you update that contact in any of those three locations, it will automatically sync with the copies in the other two areas. Of course, you must have Microsoft Outlook running in order for this sync to take place.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For more information on synchronizing Dynamics CRM with Outlook see Chapter 11.

# **Mobile Express**

Sometimes the data available in Outlook is not everything that you will want to see on your mobile device. For example, you may want to have a list of leads, opportunities, or cases available. Microsoft provides Dynamics CRM Mobile Express for this reason. An administrator can set up Mobile Express to provide access to virtually any data that is in Dynamics CRM. The configuration tools also enable the administrator to minimize the data that is visible on the tiny mobile phone display to make it easier for users to see just their critical data.

# Third-party options

Mobile Express does have a few significant downsides. It is only available while you are connected to the Internet — your data won't be available if you cannot browse the Internet on your mobile phone. It also does not integrate with the mobile phone functionality so you won't be able to automatically capture incoming calls and e-mails as activities. There are, however, some third-party mobile tools available to provide access to Dynamics CRM. One of the more popular tools is CWR Mobility, which includes versions for most of the popular mobile phone operating systems. Of course third-party options do require additional fees.

# Summary

The Dynamics CRM Web interface includes four basic elements used throughout the application. The navigation pane is used as a menu to launch different areas of functionality. Lists provide a way to manage the data in the various areas of the application — views and the search bar make it easy to sort, search, and filter data in lists. Forms enable you to create and update data and display related lists of data relevant to the record you are currently viewing. The Ribbon menu interacts with data in lists and forms. Most records in Dynamics CRM are owned by a user or a team. Record ownership plays an important role in determining who can create, read, update, or delete records within Dynamics CRM. Record ownership also makes it easier for users to find the tasks and customers for whom they are responsible.

Managing activities is a central concept to Dynamics CRM. There are a wide variety of activity records including phone calls, tasks, appointments and e-mails. Activity records can be related to almost any other record in the application. You can view activities related to records by opening the form for those records and looking at the related lists titled Activities and Closed Activities. You can manage your individual activities by viewing the activities area in Dynamics CRM.

Connections are a simple way to link otherwise unrelated records together (such as a quote and the list of contacts that must approve the quote). Queues can be used to manage tasks that can be "claimed" by anyone on a team. You can use templates to automate regular communications with customers, prospects, and others in Dynamics CRM. Record merging allows you to remove duplicate records from the application.

The concepts discussed in this chapter are fundamental to using all other areas of Dynamics CRM. Understanding these concepts results in a shorter learning curve when working with other areas of the application.

# CHAPTER

# Using Dynamics CRM for Outlook

**M** icrosoft Outlook has become the communications, scheduling, and contact management hub for most business people. With the introduction of Outlook 2010, even social networking connections have become visible in Outlook. As a result, every CRM solution provider makes integration with Outlook a high priority for their product. As you may expect, Microsoft has done an exemplary job of integrating Dynamics CRM with Outlook. Businesses that are using Dynamics CRM report that this integration has played a significant role in reducing the learning curve for their users and getting the business to realize a return on their investment faster.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 for Outlook (also referred to as the Outlook Client) takes the already outstanding integration with Microsoft Outlook and ratchets it up a level of magnitude. As you work with Dynamics CRM for Outlook you will find that much of the Dynamics CRM functionality is available in the Outlook forms that you use every day (such as e-mail, appointments, tasks, and contacts). All of the Dynamics CRM views and forms can also be accessed directly within Outlook. When accessing Dynamics CRM views within Outlook, you have access to many of the same functions that you already use with Outlook views (such as filtering, grouping, sorting, segmenting, and setting follow-ups). Dynamics CRM for Outlook provides functionality in two areas:

#### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Comparing the Outlook and Web versions of Dynamics CRM

Navigating the Outlook interface

Sharing data between Microsoft Outlook and Dynamics CRM

**Taking Dynamics CRM offline** 

Using Outlook only functionality

# Dynamics CRM for Outlook versus Outlook Synchronization

Synchronizing Outlook with Dynamics CRM and using Dynamics CRM for Outlook are two different things. This can be a bit confusing to understand initially. Here is a quick overview of the differences:

- Outlook synchronization means linking data that is already in Outlook (contacts, tasks, activities, and e-mails) to records in Dynamics CRM. Once this data is synced, it can be updated in either location and it will be kept in sync. Furthermore, because Outlook syncs with your mobile phone, data can also be updated there and kept in sync. But this only applies to data that Outlook tracks (such as contacts) not the unique data that Dynamics CRM tracks (such as leads, accounts, and opportunities).
- Dynamics CRM for Outlook allows you to access all of the Dynamics CRM data and functionality directly within Microsoft Outlook. If you are taking Dynamics CRM for Outlook offline, then selected data from Dynamics CRM (such as leads, opportunities, and cases) will sync with Outlook so you can access all of the Dynamics CRM functionality even while offline.
  - Core CRM Functionality: All of the functionality available within the Web version of Dynamics CRM is available directly within the Outlook user interface. This functionality is described in the section "Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook."
  - Extended CRM and Outlook Functionality: Dynamics CRM for Outlook also adds functionality to Outlook that is not available directly within Dynamics CRM. This functionality enables users to quickly track their Outlook e-mails, contacts, tasks, and appointments in Dynamics CRM. It also enables direct access to Dynamics CRM templates, sales literature, and articles from within Outlook E-mail. This functionality is described in the section "Using the Outlook Extensions."

## Tip

If you've used previous versions of Dynamics CRM and preferred to use the Web version, we strongly urge you to give the Outlook client another try. Microsoft has made numerous changes, and many users will find that they now prefer Dynamics CRM for Outlook.

## Caution

Dynamics CRM for Outlook can be used with Microsoft Outlook versions 2003, 2007, or 2010. The instructions in this chapter assume that you are using Microsoft Outlook 2010.

# **Comparing the Outlook and Web Versions of Dynamics CRM**

There are more similarities between the Outlook and Web interfaces of Dynamics CRM than there are differences. In fact, after you are comfortable with using either version, you may find learning the other version is an almost completely intuitive process. With that said, there are also some important differences. Which version your individual users work with is purely a matter of personal preference, so encourage your team to work with each version for a while and then decide which version is best for them.

#### Caution

In previous versions of Dynamics CRM, the Outlook version and the Web version functioned very similarly. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, however, Microsoft has focused a significant amount of attention on leveraging the native Outlook functionality in the Outlook version. While this has resulted in a more powerful Outlook version, it has also resulted in some differences in the user interface. Although they are still very similar, your users may experience a slight learning curve if they shift from using the Web version of Dynamics CRM to the Outlook version.

# Understanding the differences: Outlook extensions and views

Even if you prefer to use the Web version of Dynamics CRM, you can still notice some helpful updates to Outlook after installing Dynamics CRM for Outlook. One of the most powerful differences is the extensions built into the Outlook forms that you use every day. For example, you will now be able to use Dynamics CRM sales literature and templates from the e-mail form whenever you send an e-mail from Outlook. You will also be able to "push" your Outlook records (including contacts, e-mails, appointments, and tasks) into CRM.

When viewing lists in Dynamics CRM for Outlook (such as leads, contacts, or opportunities), the view will look quite a bit different in the Outlook version than in the Web version. You will be able to use many native Outlook functions with these lists (such as sorting, grouping, adding fields, categorizing, and preview panes). In the Outlook version views appear in a tabbed format, whereas in the Web version they use a drop-down format. Figure 11.1 illustrates the difference between a list in Dynamics CRM for Outlook and a list in the Web version.

# Understanding the similarities: Navigation, forms and data entry

The core concepts of navigating remain the same. This includes a navigation pane, Ribbon menu, forms, and related lists. Although a few of these items look slightly different or include some additional functionality, the basic concepts are the same.

After you open a Dynamics CRM form in Outlook, the form view and the data entry process are almost identical to the process you follow in the Web version. The form may look somewhat different, depending upon your Internet Explorer settings.

#### FIGURE 11.1

itlook favorites a	rea		lab with	pushpin		Charts	
B *7  ▼			Microsoft Outloo	¢			
Chart Accounts V	ews Create Re	lated Customize	View				
Filter Set	As Default View	Charts	Refresh	Advanced Find			
Save Filters to Current View, Custom	ize Preview Pane	Change Lavout	Create Personal View				
ave Filters of New View		Set as Default					
Filters		Visuals	Grid	Query			
avorites 🖌 🗸				(00)			
Dashboards	Accounts: No (	Campaign Activities i	n Last 3 Months 🗙 🕴	Accounts: Influen	ced Deals That We W	on 🖂 🔻	
Leads Searc	n Accounts: No Cam	paign Activities in Last	3 Months (Ctrl+E)		Charts:	Accounts by Relation	• 🖉 » 🗠
Accou	nt Name 🔺		Last Date Includ	led in Cam Main Ph	none 🔺 Aco	ounts by Relationship	Type
Arizon	a Premium Finance		None			-	
Arip Ir	ic.		None				
Arip Ir	ic.		None	(704) 55	2-2827		
Arip Ir	ic.		None	(704) 68	8-9357	25	
ontoso1 - CRM store Armac	ell LLC		None	(704) 94	7-5493	21	
Contoso1 Armac	ell LLC		None	864-679	-0006 x8		
Workplace Armac			None	[/04] 52	8-9813		
Sales	town Gym		None	555-017		(blank) 🔲 Partne	r
Leads = Orang	e Street Gym		None	555-013		🗌 Customer 🛛 📰 Prospe	ect
Opportunities Premis	um Financing Speci	alists Inc.	None	(336) 44	6-0103		100000000
Accounts				(,		lick on the chart to perfor	m Drill
Contacts							
Marketing Lists	Ac Ac	count: Fitness No	w				
Competitors	Are	ounting Firm	1				
Products		countering think					
Gen	eral						
Quotes		Eiter er er b		Marin Di		135	_
AC AC	count Name	Fittless is	Uw	Iviain Phone	555-0	100	_
Mail	count Number	ABC123		Other Phone			
Pa	rent Account			Fax			
Calendar Pri	mary Contact	Lauren H	aase	Web Site			
Contacts Re	lationship Type	Partner		E-mail			
Cu	rrency	US Dolla	r i i i	Accounting Firm			
Desi	ription						
Notes 4							
<u>□</u> 2 - <u>∧</u>	Windows Deskto	op Search is not avail	able.				^
a new line i						T 10 100% (-)-	0

Views in the Outlook and Web versions of Dynamics CRM

Reading pane

# **Using Dynamics CRM within Outlook**

Using the Dynamics CRM interface from within Outlook is particularly helpful to users who have been using Outlook for many years. These individuals are comfortable moving around within the Outlook interface and find that the new functionality delivered by Dynamics CRM is intuitive for them to adopt. Figure 11.2 illustrates the Dynamics CRM for Outlook interface.

#### Caution

Microsoft Outlook has gone through some significant upgrades from version 2003 to 2007 to 2010. While it may be tempting to upgrade to a new version of Outlook at the same time that you implement Dynamics CRM, we have found that this can be detrimental. Learning two things at once (even though they are integrated) makes the learning curve steeper. Our advice is to allow at least three months after implementing Dynamics CRM before upgrading Outlook (or vice-versa).

#### FIGURE 11.2

The Dynamics CRM for Outlook interface including navigation pane, contacts view, tabs, and reading pane

0 == "	м	crosoft Outlook		- 🖻 🛙
File Accounts Vi	Create Related Customize View			۵ 🕜
Change View Reset View + Settings View Current View	ompany Categories	t↓ Reverse Sort add Columns add Columns add Columns add Columns add Columns Navigation Pane * L	Reading To-Do Pane + Bar + ayout People Pane + People Pane +	nders Window 1 in New Window 2 All Items Window
4 Favorites				
🗀 Dashboards	🕴 Accounts: No Campaign Activities in Last 3 M	onths 🗙 👎 Accounts: Influenced De	als That We Won	
Leads	Search Accounts: No Campaign Activities in Last 3 Months ((	ti+E) P		
News Feed	Account Name	Last Date Included in Cam Main Phone	Address 1: City Catego	No upcom
RSS Feeds		🛨 Categories: (none) (85 items)	Categories: (no	ne) (85 items) P
D 💭 Search Folders			outogones. (no	
Contoso1 - CRM store		🕘 📙 Categories: At Risk (1 item)		oint
4 Ca Contoso1	Access Value Investors LLC	None	🗌 At R 🖓	men
Workplace		E Cotegories: Positive Peference (2 items)		5
4 🛄 Sales	Accord Human Becourses Inc.	None (226) 446 0105	Whiteatt Booi 🕅	
Leads	Accord Human Resources, Inc.	None (336) 446-0105	Greenshorn Posi V	1
Opportunities	170 Systems 110	None (336) 899, 1908	High Point Posi V	Id
Accounts	Iro systems, Lec	1016 (550) 055-1500	IngriPoint Postar y	lay:
Contacts		🗐 📕 Categories: URGENT (2 items)		879
Marketing Lists	Fitness Now	None 555-0135	Seattle 🔲 URG 🎔	Tas
Competitors	Arizona Premium Finance	None	Charlotte URG	ß
Sales Literature			<u> </u>	
D Quotes				
Cal Orders				
C Mail				
Calendar				
Contacts				
Tasks				
Notes				v
🗅 🖸 -	•			
Filter applied			🗖 🛤 100% 🕞 —	: •

# Using Outlook with Multiple CRM Organizations.

Because Dynamics CRM is such a powerful application development framework, many organizations run multiple instances for different lines of business. For example, the Research and Development department may be using an instance of Dynamics CRM to track their projects. Sales may also be using CRM to manage prospects and customers.

In Outlook, you can see both instances of Dynamics CRM as a separate set of folders. This capability allows users to visit the R&D instance to check the status of a project and then go right back to the Sales instance to communicate with a customer.

When you set up multiple Dynamics CRM instances (also referred to as organizations or orgs) in Outlook, only the instance designated as your main organization will synchronize.

# Using the Outlook navigation pane

Dynamics CRM installs as another area inside of Outlook just like your mail and contacts. To start using Dynamics CRM in Outlook, click on the menu item in the Outlook navigation pane labeled Solutions. You see a new set of folders that is very similar to what you see in the Web version of the navigation pane. Click on an item to see the list for that particular Dynamics CRM area.

# Working with Dynamics CRM views in Outlook

When working with views in Dynamics CRM for Outlook, you have access to all of the same functionality that you use when working with other Outlook views (such as contacts, tasks, and calendar appointments). Having access to native Outlook functionality is helpful because it enables each user to configure their lists and views to work in the manner that is the most comfortable for them. The stronger your skills are with Outlook views, the more quickly you adapt to working with CRM views within Outlook.

The fundamentals of the view functionality remain the same in Outlook. Views present a list of all records in a Dynamics CRM entity. You select different views to filter your lists, and you can use the Ribbon menu to interact with records in a view. But the similarities end there.

The look and feel of views in Outlook are quite different from what you see in the Web. In addition, views in Outlook add some exciting and useful functionality that is not available in the Web version of Dynamics CRM. Outlook also includes a number of ways that you can personalize views to match your specific preferences.

#### Using tabs as views

Views in Outlook are presented as tabs. To open a view, click on the right-most tab and select the view that you want to open. You will notice that your old view stays open as a tab and your new view is visible as a new tab. Tabs give you several new capabilities in Outlook that are not available in the Web version:

- Full views: Unlike the Web version, which displays only 50 to 250 records at a time, tabs view in Outlook displays an unlimited number of records at a time.
- Default views: Tabs that have their pushpin selected (facing up and down rather than left-to-right) will remain visible by default the next time you open Outlook and navigate to the selected view.

#### **Filtering views**

You can change the filtering settings for a view by clicking the Filter button just below the tabs. Use the Add Filter option to add a new filter. To display a list of filters that are currently applied to a view, click the "double arrow" button to the right of the Filter button. You can interactively change the list of current filters by hovering over each line of the filter and using the buttons that appear next to the filter.

## Tip

If you make changes to a filter, and you want these changes to be remembered the next time you open the filter, then be sure to save the changes. To update a personal view, click the Filter button below the tabs and choose Save Filters to Current View. To create a new view, click the Filter button and choose Save Filters as New View.

#### **Formatting views**

Dynamics CRM views can be sorted, filtered, categorized, grouped, and formatted in exactly the manner that you prefer using the view management features built into Outlook. The features that allow you to configure a view are available through a number of different parts of the user interface. You can left-click on a view to access some features, you can select the filter drop-down below the tabs to filter a view, and you can click column headings to interactively sort a view. To access all of the view formatting features in one place, navigate to the view that you wish to format and from the View tab on the Ribbon menu, click the View Settings button. These settings are automatically remembered when you navigate back to the view. Figure 11.3 is an example of the view settings dialog box; below the image is a brief description of how each of the buttons can be used.

- **Columns:** Use this button to add new columns to the existing view or to reorganize the existing columns. After clicking this button, select User-defined fields in folder in order to display fields from Dynamics CRM to add to the view. You can also select Frequently-used field to put common outlook fields such as categories and flag status on the form.
- **Group By:** Use this button to display a view in groups. For example, you can group opportunities by parent company, contacts by state, and activities by due date. Grouping a view, as illustrated in Figure 11.4, creates a "twisty" above each group that can be used to quickly drill down into a set of records.

#### FIGURE 11.3

The Advanced View Settings dialog box

Microsoft Outlook (manual sync)		Dynamics CRM (auto sync)
Contacts	$\langle \rangle$	Contacts
Appointments	$\langle \rangle$	Appointments
Tasks		Tasks
		Phone Calls
		Faxes
		Letters
E-mail		E-mail

#### FIGURE 11.4

Contacts grouped by parent customer and using conditional formatting

0 = "	Inbox - Personal Folders - Microsoft Outlook	- # X
File Home Sen	nd / Receive Folder View	^ (3
Change View Reset View * Settings View Current View	Date (Gonversations)       Erom       Image: Categories       Image: Categ	idow Vindow
<ul> <li>Favorites</li> <li>Dashboards</li> <li>Leads</li> </ul>	Support Help Arrange By: Date (Conversations) Arrange Diversations) Arrange Diversations)	<
A Personal Folders     Tobox (7)     Dorats     Sent Rems     Sent Rems     Outbox (2)     Junk E-mail     News Feed     Outbox (2)     Serk Folders     Contosol     Contosol     Contosol     Contosol     Contosol     Qoportunities     Accounts     Mail     Calendar     Contacts     Tasts     Notes	Order       Order	No upcoming appointments. 🔊 Today: 879 Tasks
	Support Help     C	
Items: 53 Unread: 37		÷

- Sort: This button enables you to sort your list by a broad range of criteria.
- **Filter:** The filter button allows some limited functionality. However, we recommend that you use the filter button below the tab if you wish to change the filter criteria for a view.
- **Other Settings:** This button provides control over fonts and some other formatting settings.
- **Conditional Formatting:** This button provides the capability to format records in the view differently depending on the underlying data. For example, in Figure 11.4, we have configured one name to show up in bold italics based on their state.
- **Format Columns:** This last button allows you to format the width and format of individual columns. For the most part, the settings behind this button can be accessed by interactively clicking a column divider and dragging it to change the width.
# Setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders on Dynamics CRM records

Microsoft Outlook includes tools for categorizing (or tagging) records, scheduling follow-ups, and setting up reminders.

To set,up a category, follow-up, or reminder, right-click on the record in a view that you want to mark. Make your selection from the popup menu (select either Categorize or Follow Up). If you want to schedule a reminder, then under the Follow Up option, select Add Reminder. Note that you can also select the Create option from the popup menu to create a related Dynamics CRM activity if you prefer.

To view records grouped by category, right-click on any column header and choose Arrange By and then Categories. As illustrated in Figure 11.5, you can expand and collapse category groups interactively when using this view.

#### FIGURE 11.5

Outlook categories and follow-ups in a Dynamics CRM for Outlook view

0 🗄 🔊	÷			Micros	oft	Outlook					- 0	■ £3
File	Contacts View	Creat	e Related Cu:	stomize							6	0
View Settings Current View	↑↓ Reverse Sort %= Add Columns Φ= Expand/Collapse + Arrangement		Navigation Pane Reading Pane * To-Do Bar *	Charts      Charts      Charts      Charts     ZN New Chart     Save As     Lay	IS× ⊗ out	Edit 💭 S Delete Chart 🗃 I Assign 👘 E	ihare This Chart mport Chart Export Chart	Window	I IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII			
Favorites     Inbo     Sent     Delo     Dasi	ox t Items sted Items hboards	<	+ My Acti Search My Active Full Name	ve Contacts Contacts	V	<u>7.</u> /	۲ Parent Custom	er	Categorie	Filter s 🔺	+	*
Inbo	0X Its [1] t Items eted Items k E-mail		Adrian Dumitrasc Lauren Chatelair Mallorie Hasso	es: Tier 1 (3 items) u (sample) Edit Ouick Print	) }		A Store (sample AAA Photograp AAA Photograp	:) s <i>hy Special</i> hy Speciali.	Tier 1		9 9	
ACME With	Outbox  SS Feeds  Search Folders  ACME Widgets		Brain LaMe Cat Francis Cathan Coc Darren Park Eva Corets Forrest Cha Gabriele Ca George Sul	<u>Cr</u> eate ► Assign Categorize ►			Advanced Com Affordable Equ Basic Company Best o' Things I	ponents (sa ipment (sa. (sample) (sample)	Tier 3    Tier 3    Tier 3    Tier 3		999	
Marketing     Marketing     Rource Center     Sales     Sales     Sevice     Settings     Workplace     Mult     Mail     Contenance     Contenance     Contenance     Contenance     Contenance     Contenance     Contenance		Eva For Ga Ge		Follow <u>Up</u> → One <u>N</u> ote <u>D</u> elete	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	<u>T</u> oday T <u>o</u> morrow This <u>W</u> eek <u>N</u> ext Week	igner Good e Company nental Goo nd Store (s	s (sample) (sample) ds (sample) imple)	Tier 3     Tier 3     Tier 3     Tier 3     Tier 3		444	
		•	Marco Tanara (sa Patrick Steiner (sa Susan Burk (sam) Thomas Axen (sar	mple) ample) ole) nple)		No D <u>a</u> te <u>C</u> ustom Add <u>R</u> eminder	vare Inc. (sai gnificent St reation Sup isual Store	mplej lier 3 core (sample) Tier 3 oplies (samp Tier 3 (sample) Tier 3			444	
			Yvonne McKay (sample) June Harrington Automatically Created		Mark Complete     Clear Flag     Set Quick Click		ample) hy Speciali. hing	<ul> <li>Tier 3</li> <li>Tier 3</li> <li>Tier 3</li> </ul>		99		
Conta	cts	÷	◀ 1 - 18 of 18						N	Page	1	
Filter applied	3							щ 🛱 10	U% 🖯	1	-	Ð.;;

#### The reading pane

The familiar Outlook reading pane is available as you navigate through the records in a view. The reading pane provides a read-only view of the complete form for the record that is currently selected in the view.

You can customize where the reading pane appears by clicking on the View tab on the Ribbon menu and then clicking the Reading Pane button. You can display the pane on the right, bottom, or hide it completely. Outlook remembers your setting the next time you open the view.

You can also customize how sections are shown in the reading pane by clicking the title of a section and dragging it to a different section in the pane. Sections can be hidden completely by clicking the View tab in the Ribbon menu and then clicking the Customize Reading Pane button.

#### The people pane

When using Dynamics CRM within Outlook, you also have access to the Outlook people pane. The people pane provides a list of communications, tasks, and social contacts you have had with the individual you are currently viewing as shown in Figure 11.6. The people pane can be made visible, minimized, or completely hidden using the view tab on the Ribbon menu. Note that only e-mails and activities stored in Outlook will be visible in the people pane (items that are stored in Dynamics CRM are not visible in the people pane).

#### FIGURE 11.6

The people pane



288

# **Taking Dynamics CRM offline**

Because Outlook can be accessed even when you're not connected to your business network, you can view and create e-mails, contacts, and activities when you are away from the office. When you connect to the network again, all of your changes synchronize and e-mails are sent and received.

Taking Dynamics CRM for Outlook offline works in a similar manner. You can still access most of your information while offline and make updates. When you go back online, all of your changes are synchronized. This only applies to Dynamics CRM for Outlook (not the Web version of Dynamics CRM); and the offline capability must be installed prior to going offline for the first time.

### **Cross-Reference**

For more information on the versions of Dynamics CRM for Outlook and how to install them, see Chapter 4.

#### Going offline and online

Before going offline, go to the CRM tab of the Ribbon menu and click the Go Offline button. If you have not already installed the offline capability, then you will be prompted for this installation. Dynamics CRM will then synchronize your data to your local computer. Once this process has been completed, you can safely disconnect your computer from the network and shut down.

## Tip

If you forget to click the Go Offline button before leaving the office, Dynamics CRM will automatically use data from the most recently available synchronization.

To go back online, begin by making sure that you are connected to your network. Then navigate to the Ribbon menu in Outlook, choose the CRM tab, and select Go Online. Dynamics CRM synchronizes all the data from your local computer to the CRM server, so you can get right back to work!

## Tip

Like Outlook, Dynamics CRM can usually automatically detect when you are online. In these cases, it will automatically reconnect to your network and sync your data.

#### Choosing data for offline usage

By default Dynamics CRM does a pretty good job of synchronizing the data you're most likely to use while offline. You can fine-tune these settings by using local data groups. To access local data groups:

- 1. Make sure you are currently working online.
- 2. In the Outlook Ribbon menu, choose File ↔ CRM.
- **3.** If you are working with multiple organizations, then choose the organization you want to configure near the top of the screen.

- **4.** Select the Synchronize button and then click on Outlook Filters. You are presented with the Local Data dialog box. In the upper-right side of the dialog, make sure that you have selected the Offline Synchronization Filters option from the picklist, as shown in Figure 11.7. Each item that appears in the User Filters tab is a data group and represents data that will synchronize to be available offline. You can add and change the filters or you can deactivate filters that you no longer wish to use. Changing filter criteria is similar to creating personal views with advanced find in Dynamics CRM (see Chapter 10 for more information).
- 5. After you finish editing the filters, click OK.

# **Troubleshooting Dynamics CRM for Outlook**

If you run into unexpected difficulties using Dynamics CRM for Outlook, run the included diagnostics program. From the Windows Start menu, navigate to Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 
Diagnostics. Select the appropriate options on each tab and click the Save button.

#### FIGURE 11.7

- 8 2 01391-Inbox - matt.wittemann@successaccelerators.com - Microsoft Outlook ~ **(** Home Send / Receive Folder View View New New Color 2 7 🚳 髦 53 44 Add Conned Move Tags Track Find Sand/R Quick \_ 🗆 🗵 E- 📶 Local Data Local Data Create and modify data groups to specify the data you want copied locally. This includes records that you want available in the offline database and synchronized to default Outlook folders. Set data groups as active or inactive. Outlook Synchronization Filters User Filters System Filters Outlook Synchronization Filters 🗟 New 🛛 🗙 🕑 🖲 🛛 More Actions -Name Returned Type Description Status 🔺 Wy Faxes Active Fax Faxes Synced To Outlook My Tasks Active Task Tasks Synced To Outlook My Service Activities Active Service Activity Service Activities Synced To O 强 My Letters Active Letter Letters Synced To Outlook 🗔 My Recurring Appointments Active Recurring Appointment Recurring Appointments Synce My Outlook Contacts Active Contact Contacts Syncing to Outlook 😹 My Appointments Appointment Appointments Synced To Outl Active 🙀 My Phone calls Active Phone Call Phone calls Synced To Outlook + 4 H ◀ Page 1 ▶ 1 - 8 of 8 (1 selected) AII # A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O P Q R S TUVWXYZ .... Help OK Cancel . 8 T ES 100% (-+

The Local Data dialog box with Offline Synchronization Filters selected

# **Using the Outlook Extensions**

In addition to using Dynamics CRM within Outlook, as described in the preceding section, the Outlook client also adds a number of new extensions to Outlook. These extensions embed CRM capabilities directly into the parts of Microsoft Outlook that you use every day. As you become familiar with these extensions, you will quickly realize a boost to productivity.

With most competitive CRM solutions, even those that include Outlook integration, users are forced to constantly toggle back and forth between their CRM software and Microsoft Outlook to get their jobs done. With Dynamics CRM for Outlook, the most important parts of CRM functionality will be available at your fingertips while you are sending e-mail, working through your to-do list, setting appointments, or interacting with clients and prospects.

# **Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM**

Records from Outlook can be pushed into Dynamics CRM to create a link; once the link is made, the records will automatically be kept in sync. This "push" is generally a simple, but manual process that users go through for each record that they want to track. This is by design because many individuals track personal information in Outlook such as e-mail and contact records for family members — and they don't want this information automatically visible to their colleagues in Dynamics CRM.

### **Cross-Reference**

If would like to bulk import your Outlook contacts or Outlook of Business Contact Manager information, see Chapter 8.

#### Tracking in CRM and setting regarding

Regardless of which type of Outlook record you are tracking (contact, task, e-mail, or appointment), the process is similar:

- 1. Navigate to the record in Outlook that you want to sync with CRM.
- 2. Click on the record to select it in Outlook (this also works if you open the record).
- **3.** Using the Ribbon menu, click on the first tab to the right of the File tab (in most cases, this tab will already be selected). Using the CRM section of the tab, take one of the following actions:
  - If you want to sync the record without setting a regarding field, then click the Track button.
  - If you want to sync the record and regard it to another record (recommended) then click the Set Regarding button (or, in the case of a contact, if you want to link it to a parent record, then click the Set Parent button) and select the record that it should be regarding.

# **Outlook and Dynamics CRM: Better Together.**

We have run into a number of organizations that use Dynamics CRM without connecting it to Microsoft Outlook. Dynamics CRM is not a complete CRM solution without making the connection to Microsoft Outlook. Consider some of the advantages of using Dynamics CRM and Outlook together before you opt out of using it with Outlook:

- Alerts: Dynamics CRM does not include popup alerts. If you want to get an alert when you have an upcoming appointment, you need to sync with Outlook.
- **Calendars:** The calendar view in Outlook is much more powerful than the calendar view built into Dynamics CRM. If you want drag-and-drop calendaring and visibility into colleague's calendars, you need to sync Dynamics CRM with Outlook.
- E-mail Tracking: For most businesses, the majority of the communication that they have with clients and prospects takes place via e-mail. Without the link to Outlook, you won't be able to track all of these e-mail communications in Dynamics CRM.

These items are only the simple everyday items that can improve user productivity and adoption of Dynamics CRM. In addition to these, Dynamics CRM for Outlook delivers dozens of other features and extensions to further boost productivity, improve the customer experience, and aid your users in getting up to speed faster.

**4.** If the record that you tracked was an e-mail, then Dynamics CRM will link it to the correct contact in CRM (by matching the e-mail address). Depending on your personal settings, Dynamics CRM will also create a contact and/or account in Dynamics CRM if a matching one does not exist.

#### **Cross-Reference**

Your personal settings play an important role in determining how Outlook information will be used to create new records in Dynamics CRM. For more information on changing your personal settings, see Chapter 6.

#### Tracking e-mail threads

After you track an e-mail, Dynamics CRM for Outlook will automatically track all subsequent e-mails in the thread. This means that whenever you or one of the other recipients replies to a tracked e-mail, the reply is automatically tracked and visible in Dynamics CRM. This can save quite a bit of time in situations where you have a long trail of e-mail communications that you wish to track.

### Tip

You can configure Dynamics CRM for Outlook to automatically track some (or all) e-mails without having to click the Track or Set Regarding buttons. This setting can be found within Outlook by navigating to File CRM Options E-mail tab. We recommend taking care with these settings as they may result in personal or confidential e-mail getting tracked in Dynamics CRM.

#### Untracking and re-regarding Outlook records

Outlook items that are being tracked in Dynamics CRM can be untracked by clicking the Untrack button. The behavior associated with clicking the Untrack button varies depending on which type of record you select when clicking the button and is summarized in Table 11.1.

#### **TABLE 11.1**

Untrack Benavior				
Record Type	Untrack Results			
Contact	The link between the Outlook contact and the Dynamics CRM contact is broken. The record is not deleted in Outlook or in Dynamics CRM. If you click Track on the contact in Outlook again, a duplicate contact will be created in Dynamics CRM.			
E-mail, Task, or Appointment	The selected Outlook record is deleted from Dynamics CRM.			

# Set Regarding versus Track.

When you begin using Dynamics CRM for Outlook, it may be a bit confusing deciding between clicking the Track button or the Set Regarding button. For many users, the natural inclination is to use Track because it is a single-button click, whereas Set Regarding takes a few more clicks. Our recommendation, however, is to use Set Regarding in almost all cases. The extra few clicks will pay off with information that is easier to find in Dynamics CRM.

Using the track button, the record will be pushed from Outlook into Dynamics CRM with only a single-button click. However, the record will only be linked to e-mail addresses that have already been associated with it in Outlook.

For example, clicking Track on an e-mail record will link the e-mail to any contact that is listed in the from, to, cc, or bcc fields. However, most e-mails are "regarding" a certain record (such as an opportunity, quote or case) — clicking Track will not link to these items. If, however, you click the Set Regarding button, then you can pick the opportunity, quote, case, or other record to link the item to. After choosing a record using the Set Regarding button, you will be able to find the e-mail in the closed activities list under the selected record in Dynamics CRM.

In the case of Outlook contacts, if you click only the Track button, the contact will be pushed into Dynamics CRM but it will not be listed under a parent customer. For most businesses (and particularly for businesses that sell to other businesses) it is important to have all contacts listed under an account record. Using the Set Parent button enables you to immediately link the contact to the correct parent customer in Dynamics CRM.

When using Set Regarding, records in Outlook are associated not only with the record that you manually select, they are also still associated with the contact e-mail addresses associated with the record. Dynamics CRM, in turn, "rolls up" these contact associations to the parent customer record. So, when you use Set Regarding, you will be able to view the closed activity history on the record that was manually selected, all associated contacts, and all parent customers above those contacts.

If you mistakenly regard an Outlook record to the wrong Dynamics CRM record, just navigate to the record in Outlook again, click the Set Regarding button, and choose the new record to regard it to.

#### **Setting connections**

After an Outlook record is being tracked in Dynamics CRM, you can set a connection between the record and any Dynamics CRM record that is capable of tracking connections. For example, you can set a connection between an e-mail and an opportunity. To set a connection, begin by tracking the record, then click the Add Connection button in the Ribbon menu, and choose the record to connect to.

Connecting Outlook records to other Dynamics CRM records can be useful for a number of reasons. You may wish to connect an e-mail to a case in the event that a client sends you an e-mail related to two cases. Making this connection allows you to create a link between all the cases that the e-mail is related to.

You may also wish to connect to a Dynamics CRM record to support a specific business process. For example, you may want to be able to easily find an e-mail that contains a final signed version of a contract for each opportunity. Using the standard set regarding functionality may not be sufficient because a user may have to wade through hundreds of e-mails to find the one with the proposal attached. Using connections, the user can connect the e-mail to the opportunity with a role of Signed Proposal to make it easy to find in the future.

#### Navigating to Dynamics CRM records from Outlook

Once a record in Outlook is tracked in Dynamics CRM, there are a number of ways to navigate to the record or to other related records. These are shown in Figure 11.8.

In the Ribbon menu, you can navigate to the record by clicking the View in CRM button. On contact records, you can view the parent customer record by clicking the View Parent button in the Ribbon menu.

At the bottom of Outlook records that are tracked in Dynamics CRM is a CRM information pane. In this pane, you can update the record that it is regarding. You can also navigate to any of the records that it is linked to. For example, you can navigate to every contact that an e-mail or appointment is related to by using the information pane.

#### Converting an Outlook record to a Dynamics CRM opportunity, lead or case

Oftentimes, an Outlook activity will lead directly to a follow-up action that needs to be recorded in Dynamics CRM. The Outlook client includes the capability to convert an e-mail, appointment, or task directly into an opportunity, lead. or case in Dynamics CRM. To convert an item, start by tracking it in Dynamics CRM; then click the Convert button in the Ribbon menu and select the desired action.

#### FIGURE 11.8

Navigating to records using the Ribbon menu or information pane

>	Search Inbox (Ctrl+E)	track in crm View in CRM
	Arrange By: Date Newest on top 💌 🔺	Geoff Ables <geoff ables@c5insigit="" crm.<="" dynamics="" in="" microsoft="" record="" td=""></geoff>
ders	▲ Today S Mallorie Ables 4:56 PM □♡	Sent: Sat 11/6/2010 3:12 PM To: Matt Wittemann (matt.wittemann@successe Press F1 for add-in help.
Fol	kjndfgv S Geoff Ables 3:10 PM	Cooff
	Geoff Ables 3:06 PM	
Inbox	4 Two Weeks Ago	- Microsoft Dynamics CRM     Success Accelerators     Dia Options
	Matt Wittemann 10/19/2010 DV	This e-mail is being tracked in CRM.
	Matt Wittemann 10/19/2010	Related records:  Geoff Ables
2	A Older	Matt Wittemann (matt.wittemann@successaccelerators.com)
	Microsoft Outlook 9/12/2	
8	Microsoft Outlook Test M	Geoff Ables
· Items:	6	

# Synchronizing from Dynamics CRM to Outlook

When you enter contacts or some types of activities (tasks, appointments, phone calls) into Dynamics CRM, they are automatically synchronized with your Microsoft Outlook. For example, when you add a contact or a task in Dynamics CRM, these records will automatically become available in Outlook after the next synchronization. If you have Outlook syncing with your mobile device, then all of your contacts and activities will flow from Dynamics CRM to Outlook and then to your mobile device with almost no effort on your part.

Note that not all activities are synchronized between Dynamics CRM and Outlook. Figure 11.9 illustrates which records are synchronized between Outlook and Dynamics CRM.

#### Tip

In order to have data sync between Microsoft Outlook and Dynamics CRM, you need to be sure that you have the Dynamics CRM for Outlook installed on your computer.

#### FIGURE 11.9

Data that is synchronized between Outlook and Dynamics CRM

Microsoft Outlook (manual sync)		Dynamics CRM (auto sync)
Contacts	$\langle \neg \rangle$	Contacts
Appointments	$\langle \rangle$	Appointments
		Tasks
		Phone Calls
lasks		Faxes
		Letters
E-mail		E-mail

#### Choosing records for automatic synchronization

Oftentimes you will want to synchronize more than just the Dynamics CRM records that you own with Microsoft Outlook. For example, a Sales Manager may want to synchronize all of the contacts owned by all of the Sales Reps on his team. Changing which records automatically sync between Outlook and Dynamics CRM is almost exactly the same as changing the records that are available when taking Dynamics CRM for Outlook offline. For more information on this process, see the "Choosing data for offline usage" section earlier in this chapter. When following the instructions, be sure to choose Outlook Synchronization Filters from the picklist in Step 4.

#### Updating synchronized records

After a record has been synchronized between Outlook and Dynamics CRM, it can be updated in either place and the changes will be synchronized. If Outlook is synchronized with a mobile device, then you can make changes there and they will flow back to Outlook and then into Dynamics CRM too. So you can make changes to your records wherever it is most convenient for you, and the changes will be reflected everywhere else automatically.

#### Manual and automatic synchronization

Depending on your personal settings, the automatic synchronization between Dynamics CRM and Outlook occurs as frequently as every 15 minutes. If you want to synchronize data right away, you can navigate to the Ribbon menu in Outlook, click the CRM tab, and click the Synchronize button. To change synchronization preferences, from Outlook navigate to File ↔ CRM ↔ Options ↔ Synchronization tab.

# Using Dynamics CRM e-mail features within Outlook

Microsoft Outlook is the most popular e-mail management tool in the world, yet CRM tools (including earlier versions of Dynamics CRM) force users to work within their own watered-down e-mail tool to leverage important CRM functionality. Dynamics CRM 2011 adds subtle, but powerful features directly into Outlook. These new features result in better user performance and more powerful CRM e-mail management capabilities.

#### **Cross-Reference**

In addition to the functions outlined within this section, e-mail in Microsoft Outlook can be synchronized with Dynamics CRM. For more information on this, see the section "Tracking Outlook records in Dynamics CRM" elsewhere in this chapter.

# Tip

Dynamics CRM is not intended to be used as your e-mail inbox. Outlook is a much more powerful tool for reading and composing e-mails. You should plan to continue to use Outlook as your e-mail communication tool.

# Sending Dynamics CRM templates, articles, and sales literature from Outlook

In the past, users needed to send e-mail from Dynamics CRM if they wanted to use templates, sales literature, or articles from the Dynamics CRM knowledge base. While this can still be done within the Dynamics CRM Web client, these resources can also be accessed directly within Microsoft Outlook. This can save time, drive higher quality and consistently formatted communications, and enable users to leverage the built-in Outlook e-mail capabilities that are not available within Dynamics CRM (such as managing signatures, visual editing, and adding images). To use these capabilities:

- **1.** Make sure that you have a template, sales literature item, or article available in Dynamics CRM.
- 2. Create a new e-mail message in Microsoft Outlook.
- **3.** In the Ribbon menu, click the Set Regarding button in the CRM section and choose the record that the e-mail will be regarding. The three buttons on the right-hand side of the CRM section of the Ribbon menu will become active.
- **4.** Click the button that describes the item that you wish to attach (Insert Template, Insert Article, or Attach Sales Literature) and follow the instructions to use the item that you want. Note that you can attach multiple pieces of sales literature.
- 5. Make any changes that you want to the e-mail.
- 6. Send the e-mail as you normally would.

#### **Creating new leads and contacts**

If you receive an e-mail from an e-mail address that is not already in Dynamics CRM, the individual can quickly be added to Dynamics CRM as a new lead or a new contact. This can be done automatically or manually, depending upon your preferences.

To have all new e-mail addresses automatically added to Dynamics CRM, within Outlook navigate to File  $\Rightarrow$  CRM  $\Rightarrow$  Options  $\Rightarrow$  E-mail tab. From this tab you can select to automatically create records and, if so, which type of record (lead or contact) to automatically create. If you prefer, you can deactivate this capability and manually create leads or contacts only when you want to.

To manually create a new lead or contact from an e-mail, open the CRM information pane at the bottom of the e-mail and click on any e-mail address that is highlighted in red. From the popup menu, choose to create either a lead or a contact. Follow the prompts to enter the basic information about the record. We recommend that you immediately open the record after creating it so you can enter the relevant details right away.

# Summary

Integration with Microsoft Outlook is not an "add on" for Dynamics CRM; it is a core part of the application. In fact, using Dynamics CRM for Outlook doesn't just give you access to Dynamics CRM functions within Outlook; it delivers an entirely new set of functions, including some of the most important portions of the product. To extract the greatest possible value from Dynamics CRM, you need to understand and leverage the Outlook integration.

Dynamics CRM 2011 includes many improvements to the Outlook version. Individuals who have used only the Web version of Dynamics CRM in earlier versions should reconsider the Outlook version in order to leverage these new features.

Dynamics CRM also synchronizes with data from Outlook (such as contacts, tasks, activities, and e-mails). This synchronization allows you to update these records either in Outlook or in Dynamics CRM, and they will be updated in both places. Because Outlook also synchronizes with your mobile device, you may also update records there. Records created in Dynamics CRM auto-sync with Outlook. Records created in Outlook or on your mobile device must be manually synced with Dynamics CRM.

# CHAPTER ] ] ]

# Using the Sales Functions

The sales functionality in Dynamics CRM improves sales productivity through all stages of the business development lifecycle. Your organization can ensure that leads are followed up and qualified in a timely manner, opportunities follow consistent best practices, territories are aligned, and existing accounts receive regular contact. Sales reps can be more productive and efficient by keying less data, shortening sales cycles, and ensuring that no opportunities slip between the cracks. The reporting functions give management visibility into the pipeline to forecast sales revenue and analyze trends to uncover threats and opportunities.

In addition to the sales functions available out of the box, Dynamics CRM also includes customization tools so you can configure and extend this functionality to work the way that your business does. In fact, Dynamics CRM was built with the intention that it be tailored to follow your unique business process. In this chapter, we focus on the sales functionality available out of the box, but be aware that customization (discussed throughout this book) is critical if you want to maximize the value in your Dynamics CRM investment.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

**Creating and qualifying leads** 

Opportunity and pipeline management

**Product catalog fundamentals** 

Quotes, orders, and invoices

#### **Cross-Reference**

Keep in mind that you need to learn some prerequisites before reading this chapter. In Chapter 1, we define a number of terms and concepts that are important to understand before jumping into sales with Dynamics CRM. In Chapter 10, we review many core functions that you should understand before using the specific sales functions.

# **Understanding the Sales Lifecycle**

In our experience, most sales processes fall into one of four broad areas. Shown in Figure 12.1, these areas include:

- **Lead Management:** Lead records contain information about individuals that you do not yet have any relationship with, and you have not yet determined if you are interested in pursuing a relationship with them.
- **Opportunity Management:** Opportunities are potential sales deals that you are actively working on with a prospect or customer with a goal of eventually converting them into revenue for your business. Records in the opportunity funnel typically go through several stages before being won or lost.
- **Sales Transactions:** Sales transactions may consist of quotes, orders, and/or invoices. These interrelated steps of the process are sometimes handled in accounting systems and sometimes in Dynamics CRM.
- Account Management: Managing existing client accounts is the most frequently overlooked part of the sales process. The best source of new business is your existing or past customer base but many organizations stop following up with customers after their first transaction. This topic is not specifically covered in this chapter, but some concepts around it are discussed in Chapter 10.

#### FIGURE 12.1

Overview of a sales process



# **Managing Leads**

Lead records represent a person or company that you may be interested in doing business with. In some cases, a lead may not even yet know about you and your company. Leads have a specific lifetime. They start life when you initially learn of the lead through your Web site, acquiring a list, by referral, or any other channel. They reach the end of their life when you determine that they are (or are not) qualified to do business with you and you qualify them. The duration of a lead's lifetime varies greatly for different organizations. In all cases, the objective is to minimize the time between generating a lead and (dis)qualifying it.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For information on lead reports that you can use to track the effectiveness of you lead management campaigns and processes, see Chapter 26.

# **Creating leads**

Organizations typically use a broad range of tools to generate leads. For this reason, there are usually a variety of different ways that new leads can enter your system:

- **Data entry:** Sales reps may enter the contact information of people that they met through networking into Dynamics CRM as individual leads.
- **Web-to-Lead:** Many businesses generate a large volume of leads through their Web site. Your Web site can be set up to automatically convert information entered into a Web form into a Dynamics CRM lead. Having this process automated reduces data entry time, improves quality, and can ensure a rapid follow-up (see the nearby sidebar"Lead Automation").
- Social Networking Accelerator: Social networks are becoming just as important in generating leads as are corporate Web sites. Microsoft offers a free add-in (on www.codeplex.com) to convert social network contacts into leads.
- **Import:** Leads can be imported into Dynamics CRM in bulk. This may include purchased lists, conference attendees, or scanned business cards.
- **Marketing campaigns:** Marketing campaigns can result in the generation of new leads that are added to Dynamics CRM. See the next chapter for more information on marketing campaigns.

#### Tip

Many organizations train their teams to always create a lead first — even if you know that you will immediately convert it to a qualified account, contact, and opportunity. This ensures a consistent record creation process and can also save some time with data entry. Experiment with creating a lead first or creating an account, contact, and opportunity separately to see which process works best for you.

# Working leads

A variety of functionality can be applied against leads to ensure that they receive appropriate follow up. Below is a brief overview of the functionality to consider (see the nearby sidebar "Lead Automation" for other ideas):

- **Views:** You can use views to see which leads have been added to your list of leads recently.
- Activities: Schedule activities for your leads to ensure that none of them slip through the cracks.
- **Queues:** Assign leads to queues to be certain that the first available person can follow up with each lead.

- **Dialogs:** Use Dialogs to ensure that your lead qualification team is gathering consistent information and is following a consistent process to qualify leads.
- Workflows: Use workflows to automate the usage of the above items.
- **Reports:** Use the neglected leads report to see if any leads have not received follow-up in a timely manner.

# Lead Automation.

Lead management is an area of the sales process that often lends itself to automation to improve the efficiency, effectiveness, and consistency of the process. Here are seven ideas to consider implementing to speed your lead management process:

- 1. Web-to-Lead: In many businesses, Web leads often sit in an e-mail inbox until someone can determine who to forward them to, at which point they sit in another inbox until they're worked. Worse still, there is no way to see which leads have been worked and which have been dropped. Invest the time to connect your Web site to Dynamics CRM to automatically convert Web contacts to leads and use the other items recommended here to streamline follow-up.
- 2. Auto-Assign Leads: Use workflows to automatically assign leads to the appropriate person, team, or queue. Workflows will allow you to assign leads based on location, product interest, or any other field. You can also have leads temporarily assigned to marketing who can then manually assign them to the right person for follow-up.
- **3.** New Lead Alert: Whenever a new lead is assigned to an individual, use a workflow to send them an e-mail with the phone number and the e-mail address of the lead. Also assign a phone call follow-up task to the person. This helps to ensure the reps can follow up with their leads right away even when they're out of the office. The follow-up phone activity enables you to track how quickly the leads have been followed up.
- **4. Lead Auto-Responder:** In some cases (Web leads in particular), you can set up an autoresponse rule to e-mail the lead after the record has been created. Ideally, do this after the lead has been assigned to someone so you can send them a personalized e-mail such as, "Hi, my name is Geoff and I have been assigned to work with you." This creates a personal link between the lead and their representative within minutes of the time that they have hit your Web site.
- **5.** Unworked Lead Escalation: Chances are, you've made a pretty big marketing investment in generating leads and you don't want that investment to go to waste. Using workflow, escalate leads to a manager or to a queue if they are not followed up promptly.
- 6. Nurture: Set up a series of automated communications that you can apply to dormant leads to ensure that they continue to be nurtured even if you do not have enough resources to follow up with all of them.
- **7. Reporting:** Set up reports so you can determine which programs and which individuals are doing the best job of generating leads and converting them into new business.

### **Cross-Reference**

To learn more about setting up these automation techniques, see Chapter 10 to learn about activities, Chapter 18 to learn about Dialogs and workflows, and Chapter 19 to learn about queues.

# **Qualifying Leads**

When you make contact with a lead, your purpose will be to determine if they are qualified (your organization would like to establish a relationship with them) or unqualified (you cannot engage in a mutually beneficial relationship with them). The criteria used to determine qualification varies widely for each organization, but the end result is the same — you will need to qualify the lead.

### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 1 to learn more about the difference between a lead and an opportunity and when to qualify a lead into an opportunity.

### Tip

In most organizations, it is important that consistent lead qualification criteria are met. You can add qualification criteria as required fields (see Chapter 18) and even set up a scoring system to rank your leads using JavaScript (discussed in Chapter 21).

To qualify a lead, open the lead record in Dynamics CRM and click the Qualify button in the Ribbon menu. You will then see the dialog box in Figure 12.2, which provides two primary options for qualifying the lead. Choose the appropriate option and, if appropriate, move forward with managing the opportunity:

• **Qualify:** When you qualify a lead, Dynamics CRM creates at least one of the following: an account, a contact, and/or an opportunity. It sets the lead status to qualified and deactivates the lead record (so that you cannot edit it, but it can still be used for reporting). Figure 12.3 illustrates this process and the options.

### Tip

When qualifying a lead, you can check the Open newly created records check box to open the records created by Dynamics CRM immediately after they are created. This can be a time-saver when you need to modify the records immediately after they are qualified.

• **Disqualify:** When using this option, you can choose a reason why the lead has been disqualified. Dynamics CRM then sets the status to disqualified and deactivates the lead. This removes the lead from the list of leads you are working.

#### FIGURE 12.2

The lead conversion dialog box

Co 🦉	🖉 Convert Lead Webpage Dialog 📃 🔟						
Convert Lead Specify whether to convert this lead into one or more of the following options or to disqualify it.							
œ	Qual	ify and	l convert into the	following records			
	Stat	us	Qualified		•		
	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	Acco	unt				
	ম ম	Cont Opp	act ortunity				
	,	Pote	ntial Customer		Q		
		Cum	ency	💐 US Dollar	Q		
	•	Ope	n newly created re-	cords			
C	Disa	ualify					
	Stat	us	Lost		~		
				OK Cano	el		
http 📢	Loca	al intra	net   Protected M	ode: Off			

#### FIGURE 12.3

The lead conversion process



# **Managing Opportunities**

Opportunities are the centerpiece of sales functionality in Dynamics CRM. An opportunity is a potential sales deal. Using opportunities, an organization can forecast revenues by assigning a probability and an expected amount to each opportunity. Conventional forecasts take sales from the previous year and project how much an organization will improve upon those figures. Opportunity management enables an organization to gauge likely sales based on what is actually in the pipeline now and how successful the organization has previously been in closing sales deals.

Opportunities are similar to leads in that they have a limited lifetime. In highly transactional organizations, an opportunity can be discovered, won, and closed all in a single telephone call. In organizations that pursue large contracts over a long period of time, an opportunity may remain open for months or even years. Most organizations have a combination of opportunity types, and it is important to define different sales processes for each of these different opportunity types.

# Important opportunity fields

The opportunity form includes a large number of fields, possibly including custom fields that your organization has added. Among these are some important fields that you need to understand to make effective use of opportunity records, including:

- **Topic:** This is a description of the opportunity and generally includes the product or service that the potential customer is interested in.
- **Potential Customer:** This links to either an account or a contact. Generally this is an account for B2B organizations, and for B2C organizations this is a contact. Many B2B organizations add the primary contact as a second field on the opportunity.
- **Owner:** This is the individual (or team) that is responsible for this opportunity.
- **Est. Close Date:** This is the date that the rep expects this opportunity will be won or lost. We recommend making this field required and using this for reporting purposes to make sure that no reps have past due opportunities in their pipeline.
- **Price List:** If you are planning to use a list of products for this opportunity, then you should plug a value into this field. See the product catalog section later in this chapter for more information.
- **Revenue:** If this field is set to System Calculated, then the estimated revenue (below) will be calculated automatically by aggregating the revenue on each of the products for this opportunity. If this field is set to User Provided, then the estimated revenue will be keyed in by the user.
- **Estimated Revenue:** This is the total estimated value of this opportunity. See the description of the Revenue field for information on how this value is calculated.
- **Probability:** This is the percentage likelihood that this opportunity will be won (a value between 0–100). Many organizations customize Dynamics CRM to auto-calculate this field based upon the Pipeline Phase. This field plays a role in calculating the forecast amount (see the "Sales forecasting" section below).
- **Pipeline Phase or Stage:** By default, the pipeline phase field is in the footer of the form and cannot be edited by the user. See the "Custom opportunity processes" section later in this chapter for more information on this field.
- **Originating Lead and Source Campaign:** These fields are generally automatically populated either by qualifying a lead or converting a campaign response. These fields are an important part of tracking the return on investment for your lead generation efforts and marketing campaigns.

### **Cross-Reference**

Currency fields are used throughout the application to support different international currencies. You can generally leave the default value in the currency field. To learn more about the currency field, see Chapter 5.

# Adding products to an opportunity

You can track a list of products that are associated with an opportunity (called Line items). Products tracked under an opportunity are automatically used to calculate the estimated revenue for an opportunity. These products are also automatically added to quotes, orders, or invoices tracked under the opportunity. By tracking products under an opportunity, you can improve the accuracy of your sales forecasts and capture more intelligence about your sales processes.

Businesses that use a fixed product catalog usually track products under their opportunities. Organizations that have highly complex product configurations or that focus primarily on providing business services often do not use products at all. Note that to fully use the line items list, you need to first configure the product catalog, described in the section "Working with the Product Catalog," later in this chapter.

#### Write-in and existing products

When adding products to an opportunity, you can choose from existing products that are in the Dynamics CRM product catalog, or you can create write-in products. Existing products auto-populate many other fields on the product form, while write-in products allow you to enter most of the fields manually. Even if you use the product catalog, write-in products can come in handy when you need to include something in an opportunity that is not in your current catalog.

#### Units

Units can be set up on individual products in your catalog to provide different pricing for different units. For example, a customer may buy a single item, a box, a crate, or a truckload of a product. Each different unit type can use different pricing.

# **Recalculating opportunities**

As you add products to an opportunity, the estimated revenue and other related fields are recalculated in the database — but they are not made available on the opportunity form until it has been reloaded. To quickly recalculate these fields and display them on the opportunity form, click the button titled Recalculate Opportunity on the Ribbon menu.

# Adding competitors to an opportunity

Tracking competitors in order to learn how you perform in specific products and services relative to your competition is important. You can add any number of competitors to an opportunity. To add a competitor, click on the competitors list on an opportunity and then click the Add Existing Competitor button in the Ribbon menu. Choose a competitor from the list or click the New button to create a new competitor.

You can link competitors to opportunities, products, and sales literature. In addition, you can enter analytical information about each competitor in their record. By keeping track of all of this information, your business can have a dynamic source of intelligence about each of your competitors. When a sales representative runs into a competitor for the first time, he or she can consult this competitive profile to improve their odds of winning an opportunity against the competitor.

# **Closing opportunities**

When an opportunity has been either won or lost, it is time to close it. To do this, open the opportunity form and click either the Close as Won or Close as Lost button. Doing either opens the Close Opportunity dialog box shown in Figure 12.4. Complete the information in the form and click the OK button.

When recording a lost opportunity, capture the reason the opportunity was lost and the competitor that it was lost to. This information is an important part of your competitive intelligence-gathering process. If the client did not provide this information when he informed you of his decision, then a best practice is to call the prospect and ask them if they would provide this information to help you improve your sales process. The more information you can gather and store in Dynamics CRM, the greater your chances will be of winning future opportunities.

### Tip

Whenever an opportunity is closed, a custom activity record called an Opportunity Close is created. This record captures some basic information about the opportunity. If a closed opportunity is reactivated and then closed again, then a second Opportunity Close activity is created.

# Don't Let Opportunities Go Stale \_\_

Sales reps are optimists. They are reluctant to close an opportunity when they think there is even a small chance that it may yet be won. As a result, many organizations have a large number of stale opportunities in their pipeline.

This practice is actually counterproductive. Wasting time with opportunities that are unlikely to be won can be far more time-consuming and costly than finding new opportunities. After a prospect has delayed a decision indefinitely or has stopped returning calls, it is time to close the deal. This keeps your pipeline clean and easier to manage. It also has the added benefit of getting your Sales Manager to stop asking you about that deal!

You can always schedule follow-up phone calls periodically to see if they get serious about pursuing a relationship again.

#### FIGURE 12.4

The Close Opportunity dialog box

🖉 Close Opportunity	Webpage Dialog	×
Close Opportunity		
Provide the following in	formation about why this opportunity is being closed.	
Status *	C Won @ Lost	
Status Reason *	Out-Sold .	•
Actual Revenue	\$ 0.00	٦
Close Date *	7/5/2010	~
Competitor	Brunswick Widget Masters	ą
Description		_
Could not match their pi that we could not comp	rice due to a direct relationship with the manufacturer et with using our wholesaler.	<u>^</u>
	-	
	OK Cancel	
http://cr 🞕 Local intrane	et   Protected Mode: Off	11.

# Setting goals

Dynamics CRM includes functionality that allows anyone in the organization to track goals. To set goals, navigate to the Sales area and use the Goals, Goal Metrics, and Rollup Queries sub-areas to set and monitor goals. Goals can be set for actual performance (for example, total revenues generated per quarter) and for performance indicators (for instance, number of calls made per day or number of new account records created). Although goals are located in the Sales area, they can be used to set goals for any Dynamics CRM user.

# **Forecasting sales**

The sales forecasting and pipeline management reports included with Dynamics CRM use the information you populate on the opportunity form to calculate the forecast. The probability assigned to each opportunity is multiplied by the estimated revenue to calculate a field called weighted revenue. For example, if you have an opportunity with \$100,000 in estimated revenue and a 50 percent probability, then the weighted revenue for that opportunity will be \$50,000.

Forecast revenue is not intended to predict the likely revenue of a particular opportunity. In most cases you will either win or lose an opportunity — you won't win 50 percent of an opportunity. However, when you take the weighted revenue across all opportunities in aggregate, you can start to get a sense of what your current pipeline is worth and forecast what revenues may be over the next month, quarter, year, or more.

### **Cross-Reference**

For information on sales forecasting reports, see Chapter 26.

# **Custom opportunity processes**

Your organization can change the opportunity form and configure custom workflow processes to streamline the opportunity management process. How you configure opportunities will depend upon your unique sales processes, but here are a few suggestions to help you consider the options:

- **Plan your processes:** In Chapter 1, we go over how to define your sales process. This is a critical step for leveraging Dynamics CRM to accelerate the success of your sales process in terms of more opportunities, with faster sales cycles and higher close rates.
- Add a stage pick list: You can add a pick list to the opportunity form to enable users to choose which stage a sales opportunity is currently in.
- Automate probabilities: Using JavaScript (see Chapter 21), you can change the probability field automatically whenever the user changes the stage of an opportunity.
- Enforce consistent sales steps: Using workflows (see Chapter 18) you can automatically assign tasks to a user when an opportunity reaches a specific stage. Similarly, you can automatically advance an opportunity to another stage when specific tasks are completed.
- Use stages in your workflow: The default sales pipeline report requires using stages in your opportunity workflows in order to properly report on different sales processes. Take advantage of this functionality to report on different sales processes within your organization.
- **Get smarter:** Most businesses make educated guesses at the probability of winning a sale. After you have been using Dynamics CRM and following a consistent sales process for a number of months, you can remove the guesswork. Run audit reports to determine exactly what your close probabilities are and update your processes accordingly.

# Working with the Product Catalog

If you plan to work with line items, quotes, orders, or invoices, then your organization needs to first configure a product catalog in Dynamics CRM. The product catalog enables you to track all of the products, price lists, discount lists, and units that products are sold in. After the product catalog has been configured, the data will be used to automatically calculate prices on products that you enter in quotes, orders, invoices, and on line items. Many organizations choose to use integration (see Chapter 26) to sync their accounting or ERP product catalog with the Dynamics CRM product catalog to minimize double-entry of product data.

To begin configuring the product catalog, open Dynamics CRM and navigate to Settings and then to Product Catalog. The product catalog consists of five different lists, the first four of which are available on the screen Product Catalog that you just navigated to.

- **Discount lists:** This list allows you to apply discounts to products based on the volume that is purchased. You can track different discount lists for different product types.
- Unit groups: This list enables you to determine different sets of unit groups which can then be associated with different prices. For example, you can set up a unit group for selling shoes that can have a base unit of a pair and can have additional units for crate, palette, or truck. You can set up a software license list with a base unit of license and additional units for team (5 licenses), corporate (25 licenses), and enterprise (500 licenses). Each of those units can be sold at different prices.
- **Price lists:** This list allows you to establish different price lists. Price lists can be assigned to different customers (such as consumer pricing, business pricing, and distributor pricing). You can also establish limited-time price lists (such as a Christmas price list).
- **Products:** This list contains a list of every product that you want to have available for sale within your product catalog.
- **Price list items:** You can only get to the price list items by either first going into a price list record or a product record. Price list items contain the specific entries for products in a price book and contain links to any related discount list or unit group. For example, you can have a price list item that links to your wholesaler price list, for the widget product, purchased by the crate, with its own discount list. Note that one product may have multiple price list item entries.

# Working with Quotes, Orders, and Invoices

Quotes, orders, and invoices all share similar functionality. Each of these lists enables you to manage a list of products and each maintains a total for all the line items in the parent record. Users can create a quote from an opportunity, convert a quote into an order, and convert an order into an invoice (see Figure 12.5).

Not all organizations use the quote, order, and invoice records in Dynamics CRM. In fact, these types of records are a gray area between what your CRM system should do and your ERP system should do. You can use them in the following ways:

• You can completely disregard these lists, setting security roles to hide these from the view of users.

- You can integrate these lists with your ERP or accounting system. Exactly where and how you integrate depend on your specific business need. One typical example is to push quotes into your ERP system once they are accepted by the client, and when orders and invoices are created in your ERP system, they would then push back into Dynamics CRM.
- You can utilize some or all of these lists directly inside of CRM. This is not, however, a replacement for an accounting or ERP system.

#### FIGURE 12.5

The relationship between opportunities, quotes, orders, and invoices



Although quotes, orders, and invoices can all be associated with opportunities, this is not required. This can be useful for handling transactional sales versus long-term sales. For example, you might have an outside sales group that spends many months winning relationships with new clients. Once those new relationships are established, you may have an inside sales group that takes phone orders from these customers. The outside sales group may use opportunities to manage their pipeline while the inside sales group may enter orders directly into Dynamics CRM without using opportunities.

#### **Cross-Reference**

Quotes, orders, and invoices share many traits with opportunities and line items. For more information on adding product line items to quotes, orders, and invoices, see the "Adding products to an opportunity" section, earlier in this chapter.

# **Managing quotes**

The quoting functionality in Dynamics CRM enables you to create a quote, print it, obtain approval on it, and convert it into an order. As a quote is revised, new versions are created to provide an audit trail of all the versions that a quote passed through prior to receiving final approval from the client. Figure 12.6 represents the process that is used to manage quotes using Dynamics CRM.

#### FIGURE 12.6

The quote management process



#### **Creating a quote**

There are two methods for creating a quote in Dynamics CRM. You can create a quote directly, without associating it with an opportunity, or you can add a quote to an existing opportunity. The latter approach can save a significant amount of time by rekeying opportunity data into the quote. Follow these steps:

- 1. Navigate to the opportunity you wish to add the quote to, navigate to the sub-list of quotes, and then click Add New Quote in the Ribbon menu. The quote record will open up and you'll notice that a great deal of information from the opportunity has been carried over into the quote. This includes the customer name, price list, and the list of products (assuming you added line items to the opportunity).
- **2.** You can add an address to the quote manually or by clicking Look Up Address in the Ribbon menu. Addresses available in the lookup will only include addresses assigned to the parent customer that you named (if you did not type a name for an address, then it will not appear in this list).
- **3.** You can add products to the quote by clicking on the products sub-list and adding products one at a time. You can also click the Get Products button in the Ribbon menu and fetch the list of products from any opportunity (including the original parent opportunity in the event that you updated the list of products from there). Note that you can also add addresses to individual quote line items this is helpful if you have a quote that has products that ship to different addresses.

- **4.** After you have finished creating the quote, you can click the Print Quote for Customer in the Ribbon menu to run a Word mail merge to generate a hard copy quote that you can then deliver to the customer. Alternatively, you can click the Run Report button in the Ribbon menu and choose the quote report. Either the mail merge document (Chapter 10) or the report (Chapter 25) can be customized to your business.
- 5. When you click the Activate Quote button in the Ribbon menu, the quote will be locked down and will not allow any additional changes without creating a revision. Depending on your business process, you may choose to activate a quote upon internal approval or upon client approval.

#### **Revising a quote**

After a quote has been activated, you cannot update it unless you create a revision. When you create a revision, the status of the existing quote will be set to closed and an exact copy of the quote will be created with a new revision ID number and a status set to draft. You can then edit this new draft quote and reactivate it by following the procedures under "Creating a quote."

To revise a quote, navigate to the active quote that you want to revise. Open the quote form and click the Revise button in the Ribbon menu. After a few moments the new quote opens, and you can begin editing it.

#### **Converting a quote**

Every quote should eventually be closed out. Each quote ends its life by either converting into an order or closing as lost.

- To close out a quote as lost, click the Close Quote button in the Ribbon menu. Complete the dialog box and click the OK button.
- To close a quote by converting it to an order, click the Create Order button in the Ribbon menu. Fill out the appropriate information in the dialog box (note that this also gives you the ability to close out the opportunity at the same time) and click the OK button. After a moment, the quote form closes and the order form opens with all of the products and other information transitioned to the order.

# Understanding orders and invoices

Orders and invoices function in a manner very similar to quotes. Just like quotes, you can retrieve products from other opportunities for an order, and add addresses to individual line items or to the parent record. Products on orders and invoices can be changed before closing them out to reflect changes that were made in the latter stages of the sales process. The differences are mostly related to how you close out orders and invoices and are described below.

#### **Closing orders**

Orders can be closed using a combination of three different options. These options allow you to cancel an order (losing the revenue), fulfill an order (lock it down to prohibit further changes), or invoice an order (convert it into an invoice record).

- **Cancel an order:** Click the Cancel Order button in the Ribbon menu and fill in the dialog box. This closes out the order as lost. Note, however, that this will not change the status of the opportunity that the order is related to (if the opportunity is marked as won, it will remain marked as won). If this is not the desired behavior for your organization, then you will need to configure Dynamics CRM accordingly.
- **Fulfill an order:** Click the Fulfill Order button in the Ribbon menu and fill in the dialog box. This will lock the order, disallowing further updates. You can still, however, create an invoice from this order.
- **Invoice for an order:** You can invoice an order by clicking the Create Invoice button in the Ribbon menu for each invoice that you want to create. Doing this creates a separate invoice record that you must the complete.

#### **Closing invoices**

There are two methods available for closing out invoices. If you cancel an invoice, it will set the status to Canceled and will disallow additional editing. If you set an invoice to paid, then the invoice status will be set to paid and it cannot be updated further (although you can still cancel it). Use the appropriate button on the Ribbon menu to either cancel the invoice or record that the invoice has been paid.

# Summary

Managing the sales process is one of the chief reasons that most organizations invest in Dynamics CRM. Sales representatives benefit by reducing data entry, improving their close rates, and accelerating their pipeline. The visibility that Dynamics CRM provides into the sales process enables the organization to better manage and improve sales performance, predict cash flow, identify gaps in the pipeline, and quickly engage new sales reps with minimal downtime. Within larger organizations, Dynamics CRM enables sales teams to collaborate with others — sales teams for different business units can refer leads to each other, marketing can quickly and easily assign leads to sales, and sales and support can have visibility into each other's activities for the same customers.

Not all of the sales functionality outlined within this chapter is right for all businesses. Virtually all businesses that use Dynamics CRM for sales choose to utilize opportunities. However, not all businesses use leads, quotes, orders, and invoices. Assess your sales process and your other internal systems to determine which functionality is right for your business. The sales functionality included in Dynamics CRM is powerful. However, you should avoid the temptation to jump in and use it right out of the box. The full benefits of a customer relationship management process will not be realized without adequate planning, customization, and training. Take the time to understand and document your sales process (Chapter 1). Configure Dynamics CRM to work the way your business does — including reconfiguring Dynamics CRM and integrating it with other technologies such as accounting and your Web site. Schedule time to train and retrain and reinforce your training with users until it has been fully adopted.

# CHAPTER ]] ]

# Using the Marketing Functions

n many organizations there is a disconnect between the Sales and Marketing functions. Marketing develops sales collateral, but Sales complains that the right collateral is never available. Sales asks for better leads, and Marketing complains that the leads they provide are never worked. Marketing asks for feedback on their campaigns from Sales, but Sales doesn't have the tools to quantify the results.

The marketing functionality available in Dynamics CRM not only closes the gap between Sales and Marketing but can also bring new efficiencies to the marketing function. Using Dynamics CRM, marketers can:

- Build and manage dynamic marketing lists
- Execute complex multistep and event-driven campaigns
- Generate and qualify business leads, assign them to sales, and monitor follow-up
- Deliver sales literature to reps in a format that is easy to pass along to prospects
- Track marketing projects and analyze the bottom-line impact

Beyond the already strong marketing functionality built into Dynamics CRM, a number of add-on products further enhance this functionality (some freely distributed by Microsoft). Using these tools, marketers can fully automate campaigns, conduct large e-mail projects directly out of Dynamics CRM, and integrate their Web site with the marketing campaigns in real time.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Campaigns and quick campaigns

#### **Marketing lists**

#### **Sales literature**

### **Cross-Reference**

In addition to the topics in this chapter, marketing often uses functions described in other chapters. For more information on e-mail templates and mail merge documents, see Chapter 10. For more information on leads and the lead management process, see Chapter 12.

# **Managing Campaigns**

In Dynamics CRM, campaigns are used to manage all of the information and action items for your marketing projects. Using campaigns, you can track each of the steps in a marketing project plan and assign them to yourself or others within your organization. Specific campaign actions can be planned, budgeted, and executed, including phone calls, e-mails, and letters. Campaigns can also be associated with items in your product and sales literature lists so you can easily find all the relevant campaigns for these items. Figure 13.1 illustrates the campaign management process.

#### FIGURE 13.1

The campaign management process

Budgeting and	Execution	Response	Tracking and
Planning		Management	Analysis
<ul> <li>Create campaign</li> <li>Set budget</li> <li>Enter planning activities</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Create marketing lists</li> <li>Enter campaign activities</li> <li>Distribute campaign activities</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Assign campaign responses</li> <li>Track follow-up</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Run campaign reports</li> <li>Determine ROI</li> </ul>

# **Creating campaigns**

You can create a new campaign by clicking the New button in the Ribbon menu, or you can use an existing campaign or campaign template to create a new campaign. Using past campaigns or campaign templates provides a time-saving shortcut to reuse complex campaign plans.

#### Creating your first campaign

To create your first campaign, navigate to the campaign list in Dynamics CRM and click the New button on the Ribbon menu. Keep in mind that most of the fields described below can be changed to work with your specific business process. You need to understand and use the following fields to utilize the campaign functionality.

- Status Reason: Use this field as an indicator of the current stage of the campaign.
- **Campaign Type:** Designate the type of campaign using this field. This is an area where you may want to customize campaigns by adding some other options in this list (see Chapter 17).
- **Total Cost of Campaign Activities:** This field tracks a running total of the costs for all of the campaign activities associated with a campaign.
- **Miscellaneous Costs:** If there are other miscellaneous costs for this campaign not tracked in campaign activities, then enter that amount here.
- **Total Cost of Campaign:** This field is the total of the two fields listed above. It is calculated whenever the record is saved.
- **Budget Allocated:** Enter the total allocated budget here. Reports are available that compare your budget to your actual costs for each campaign.
- **Estimated Revenue:** Enter the estimated amount of revenue that the campaign will generate. Reports are available that will compare the estimated revenues to actual revenues in the campaign. For more information on campaign revenues, see the "Working with campaign response records" section.

# When Should I Use a Campaign?.

The campaign functionality in Dynamics CRM is most frequently used for direct marketing campaigns such as e-mail marketing, direct mail, or telesales. These types of campaigns readily lend themselves to a CRM tool because they target a specific list, with a specific message, and drive a specific response.

However, Dynamics CRM can be used to handle virtually any marketing campaign at all. Types of campaigns can include the grand opening of a new location, a new product launch, a press release, search engine marketing, and so on. Some campaigns can be complex, with multiple customer contacts (for example, a new product launch may include developing new literature, a press release, and sending e-mails). By using Dynamics CRM to manage all of your marketing campaigns, you can track the full marketing budget in one place. You can also associate new leads and opportunities directly to campaigns to measure the ROI of every campaign.

One-off direct marketing campaigns are a great way to start using the campaign functionality, but you should plan to fully leverage campaigns to manage all of your marketing projects.

#### Working with campaign templates

Campaign templates can be created as a way to ensure that a consistent process is followed in similar campaigns and to save time keying campaign data. You have the same functionality available when creating a campaign template as you did when creating a standard campaign.

- **Creating a campaign template:** To create a new blank campaign template, navigate to the list of campaigns and click the New Template button in the Ribbon menu. If you want to create a new template based on a previous campaign or template, then open the campaign form and click the Copy as Template button in the Ribbon menu. Fill out all the desired information in the campaign template and add any planning activities and campaign activities that you would like to include in the template.
- Using a campaign template: To use a campaign template, double-click on the record in the campaign list and then click the Copy as Campaign button in the Ribbon menu. A copy of the template is created, including all of the planning activities and campaign activities.

# Working with planning activities

Use the list of planning activities as the project plan for your campaign. Activities in this list can be assigned to yourself or to other Dynamics CRM users within your organization. As activities are completed, this view is updated so you can track what is completed and what remains to be done.

# Working with campaign activities

Campaign activities are either paid steps in the campaign management process (such as professional copywriting) or direct contacts made with members of your marketing list (such as e-mail campaigns). The costs that you associate with individual campaign activities are aggregated and totaled in the Total Cost of Campaign Activities field on the campaign form. In addition, you can distribute your campaign activities across the records on your marketing lists for the campaign to automate direct communications to leads, contacts, and accounts.

#### Using campaign activities

You can create campaign activities for a campaign by navigating to the campaign activity list for a campaign and clicking the Add New Campaign Activity button. Use the following fields to get the most out of campaign activities:

- **Channel:** If your campaign activity will not be distributed to a target marketing list, then select the Other value for this field (or leave it blank).
- **Outsource Vendors:** If you are working with an outside vendor on this activity, then you can use this field to select the vendor from among your list of accounts in Dynamics CRM.

- Budget Allocated: This is an optional field that does not total back to the campaign.
- Actual Cost: This budget field that totals back to the campaign record. If you want to track the actual costs for your campaign, then be sure to enter a cost here.

#### Distributing campaign activities

Distributing campaign activities is the process of assigning an activity to each record in a target marketing list in Dynamics CRM. For example, if you create a campaign activity and assign it a channel of "e-mail" and you assign a target marketing list to the campaign activity called "Leads in Liverpool," then distributing the campaign activity will send an e-mail to each lead in Liverpool. To distribute a campaign activity:

- 1. Create your campaign and assign at least one marketing list to it.
- 2. Create a campaign activity record.
- 3. Populate the Channel field with anything except Other or blank.
- 4. Assign at least one target marketing list to the campaign activity.
- 5. Save the campaign activity record.
- 6. Click the Distribute Campaign Activity button in the Ribbon menu.
- **7.** A form pops up for the activity (such as an e-mail form). Complete this form and click the Distribute button.
- **8.** A second dialog box (see Figure 13.2) is displayed to determine who the activity should be assigned to and (if this is an e-mail activity) whether it should be sent immediately. Complete this form and click OK.
- **9.** Dynamics CRM automatically assigns an activity to every record in the selected target marketing lists.

Note that you do not need to distribute all of your campaign activities. If, for example, you have a campaign activity titled "Have agency write e-mail copy," then you should not distribute this activity. Instead, after the activity has been completed and the actual cost invoiced, you should use the Close Campaign Activity button on the Ribbon menu to close the activity without distributing it.

# Working with campaign responses

Campaign responses are activity records that track responses that you have received to your campaigns. Campaign responses are listed under a campaign and also appear in the standard list of activities in Dynamics CRM. These records include additional functionality to ensure that the proper follow-up takes place and that campaign results can be tracked.

#### FIGURE 13.2

The activity owner assignment dialog box

🔊 Confirm Distribution Webpage Dialog	×				
Distribute E-mail Messages to target marketing lists					
Before these E-mail Messages can be distributed, you have to decide wh will own them.					
Select who will own these new E-mail Messages	-				
E-mail Messages Owner:					
C The owners of the records in the target marketing lists					
will own the new E-mail Messages					
Assign to another user or team					
Add the created activities to a queue					
Select whether e-mail activities should be closed. Mark e-mail messages to be sent and close corresponding e-mail artivities					
OK Cancel					
轮 Local intranet   Protected Mode: Off					

#### **Creating campaign responses**

Campaign response records can be created in one of four ways. The method of creation varies depending on the type of campaign and the campaign activity.

- **Manually created:** Campaign responses can be created just like any other activity record in Dynamics CRM. This method can be helpful for untargeted campaigns such as foot traffic to the opening of a new location.
- **Convert an activity:** An activity record that was generated as a distributed campaign activity can be converted into a campaign response. This method can be helpful, for example, if you receive a phone call or an e-mail and later determine that this was received as the result of a campaign. To do this, click the Convert Activity button on the Ribbon menu for the activity record and select To Opportunity. In the dialog box, make sure to select to Record a closed campaign response.
- Auto created: Dynamics CRM can automatically create a campaign response for a variety of reasons. You can set it to record a campaign response when a customer responds to a campaign e-mail, you can set up Web forms to generate responses, or you can integrate other tools, such as the Event Management Accelerator (www.codeplex.com), which generate campaign responses.
- **Import:** Campaign responses can be imported directly into Dynamics CRM. This can be helpful, for example, when importing event attendees. See Chapter 8 for information on importing.
# Planning Activities versus Campaign Activities\_

Trying to decide if an activity should be a planning activity or a campaign activity may seem a little bit confusing at first, but if you understand the differences between these two types of records, the best practices become clear.

Planning activities are standard Dynamics CRM activities. As such, they cannot have costs associated with them. In addition, planning activities cannot be distributed against a target list. You can, however, track the amount of time that was spent on planning activities. Planning activities, therefore, are well suited for tracking internal steps that do not have an associated cost.

If you want to track activities that will have an associated cost, enter them as campaign activities. This may include paid copywriting and direct mail print production, for example. If you want to distribute activities against a target list then these, too, should be entered as campaign activities. This may include outbound phone calls, e-mails, or letters.

The best practice is to track internal activities as planning activities and to track both external activities (such as paid copywriting) and customer contacts (such as outbound calls) as campaign activities.

#### Working with campaign response records

Campaign response records are treated like other activity records by Dynamics CRM. This ensures that campaign responses appear on the assigned user's activity list until they are converted or closed. To ensure that marketing can properly track the return on investment for each campaign, users must receive training in the proper steps to convert their campaign responses.

Depending upon how campaign response records are initially created, they may not be assigned to the correct user to receive required follow-up. As part of your campaign planning process, you should ensure that appropriate manual steps or workflows are created that will result in all campaign responses getting assigned to a user.

To convert a campaign response record, follow the procedure below:

- **1.** Open the record and click on Convert Campaign Response in the Ribbon menu.
- **2.** On the convert campaign response form (see Figure 13.3), select the appropriate action from the following:
  - **Create new lead:** This action uses information from the campaign response to create a new lead in Dynamics CRM. Only use this option if a lead or customer record does not already exist for this campaign response.
  - **Convert an existing lead:** If a lead already exists for this record, and the campaign has resulted in qualifying the lead, then select this option.
  - **Create new record for a customer:** If a customer record already exists for the campaign response, then select this option and then choose the customer record and the type of record to create for the customer (such an opportunity).

- **Close response:** If you do not want to create any record for this campaign response (for example, the campaign response did not result in a new lead or new business opportunity), then select this option.
- 3. Click OK.

## Adding products and sales literature to campaigns

In addition to the above information, you can also track target products and sales literature for a campaign. Entering this information for a campaign builds links between your product list, your sales literature, and your campaigns. These links enhance your marketing intelligence. For example, you can navigate to a product and see the competitors, sales literature, and marketing campaigns associated with the product. This can be used to improve on your marketing planning, sales literature, and your competitive positioning in the future.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For more information on the campaign reports provided with Dynamics CRM, see Chapter 23.

#### FIGURE 13.3

Convert campaign response form



# **Using Quick Campaigns**

Quick campaigns are simplified marketing campaigns. Quick campaigns use a wizard interface to enable users to rapidly roll out campaigns and require very little learning curve. They forego some of the more complex functionality and tracking features found in marketing campaigns in favor of an easier to use interface. Use the following process to execute a quick campaign:

- **1.** Navigate to a list of leads, accounts, or contacts that you want to target with the campaign.
- **2.** Select the records you want to target by using one or more of the steps below (usually the first option is all that is needed):
  - Use a view or an advanced find to select the records you want to target.
  - If necessary, navigate to the page that contains the specific records you want to target.
  - If necessary, Ctrl+Click on records to select the specific records you want to target.
- **3.** In the Ribbon menu, choose the Create Related tab and then select Quick Campaign. Select the option for the list targeting that your quick campaign requires.
- **4.** Follow the prompts through the Quick Campaign Wizard (see Figure 13.4). Note your options for assigning ownership of records and (if applicable) auto-sending the e-mail.

#### FIGURE 13.4

The Quick Campaign Wizard

🖹 Create Quick Campaign Wizard – Webpage Dialog			2
Select the Activity Type and Owners			
Select what type of activity to create. Activity Type:			
Phone Call			<u>^</u>
Depointment			
📄 Letter			
🧼 Fax			
🖂 E-mail			▼
sect with wait own trees in the activities. (* Me (* The owners of the records that are included in the quick campaign (* Asign to another user or team			
			9
Add the created activities to a queue			
elect whether e-mail activities should be closed. Ø Mark e-mail messages to be sent and close corresponding e-mail activities.			
	<back< td=""><td>Next&gt;</td><td>Cancel</td></back<>	Next>	Cancel
tp://crm:5555/Contoso1/MA/MiniCampaign/MiniCarr 🔩 Local intranet   Pro	tected Mode: Off		

# Campaigns Respect Customer Wishes \_

Wondering what all those fields about contact methods do on the lead, account, and contact records? Marketing campaigns (including quick campaigns) make use of these fields to ensure that you are respecting the wishes of your customers and prospects.

For example, if run a campaign that attempts to send an e-mail to a lead that has "Do Not Allow" selected in the Bulk E-Mail field, then the e-mail will not be sent to this individual. You will be able to check the activity history for this individual as well as the contacts excluded list for the campaign activity to see who did not receive the e-mail.

- 5. Finish the wizard and approve the quick campaign.
- 6. Dynamics CRM automatically creates activities for your campaign.

# **Working with Marketing Lists**

Marketing lists provide a flexible way to manage lists of accounts, contacts, or leads. Marketing lists can be used as a part of campaigns (as noted above), but marketing lists can also be used independently of campaigns if desired. You can create marketing lists for a variety of purposes, including:

- For use with campaigns
- To run mail merges (without campaigns)
- To track subscribers to newsletters
- To quick create opportunities (such as for all customers that have expiring service agreements)
- To manage a Christmas mailing list

## Managing list members manually

You can add members to your marketing lists directly from the lead, contact, or account forms. This can be useful if you want to have a group of individuals collaborate on creating a marketing list. For example, you may ask everyone on the team to add members to a Christmas list, or you may allow everyone to add individuals to a newsletter list. To do this, navigate to the record you wish to add to a list and then click the Add to Marketing List button in the Ribbon menu.

Dynamics CRM provides a rich set of tools for adding members to a list in bulk. To bulk add members to a list, open the form for the marketing list you wish to update, click on the Marketing List Members sub-list, and then click on the Manage Members button on the Ribbon menu. You are presented with the dialog box in shown in Figure 13.5. By using the options presented within this dialog box, you can add and remove members to your list until it contains exactly who you want to target.

#### FIGURE 13.5

Manage Members dialog box

@ Manag	e Members Webpage Dialog 📃 🗐 🔀
Manage Select how marketing	Members ryou want to find customers to add or remove as members of this list.
Hou	v do you want to find members?
С	Use Lookup to add members
	Find members to add to marketing list.
C	Use Advanced Find to add members
	Find members to add based on search criteria.
С	Use Advanced Find to remove members
	Find members to remove based on search criteria.
C	Use Advanced Find to evaluate members
	Evaluate which members to keep in the marketing list based on search criteria. Update the marketing list.
	OK
hi 👊 Local	intranet   Protected Mode: Off

# Managing list members dynamically

Dynamics CRM 2011 includes the ability to create marketing lists that update themselves automatically. This capability gives marketing administrators the ability to create event-driven campaigns with lists that automatically adjust based on changing information about a lead, contact, or company.

As an example, a dynamic marketing list can be created, titled Expiring Contracts. A query can be used to create this marketing list that includes all customers that have a contract set to expire within the next 90 days. Phone call activities can then be assigned to members of this list to ensure that the account executive gets the contract renewed.

To create a dynamic list, create a new marketing list and select a type of "Dynamic" on the marketing list form. After saving the list, click the Manage Members button in the Ribbon menu. Create a list by defining an advanced find filter. Whenever the list is used, the filter will be reprocessed to dynamically generate the desired list.

# Using mail merge documents with marketing lists

Marketing lists can be used to create a targeted list for mail merge documents. To do this, create a mail merge document by using the instructions in Chapter 10. Build your marketing list by using the instructions in the preceding section. While on the list form, click the Create Related tab in the Ribbon menu and then click Mail Merge on List Members. Follow the instructions in Chapter 10 for running a mail merge document.

# **Other Marketing Functions**

Marketing can leverage a number of other functions available in Dynamics CRM. In addition, Marketing can enhance its productivity with various add-on tools that integrate with Dynamics CRM.

# Sales literature

The sales literature list enables marketing to create and catalog all collateral and other materials utilized by the sales force. This can include PDFs of product collateral, scanned images of competitive materials, product catalogs, newsletters, and so on. Use the sales literature list to create records for each piece of sales literature. After these records have been created, sales reps can access them to attach directly to outgoing e-mails that they create using Dynamics CRM.

Sales literature can also be linked to products and campaigns. These links provide sales and marketing with a dynamic source of intelligence that can be used to improve your marketing campaigns, your brand positioning, and your competitive sales pitches.

# **Internet marketing**

Because Dynamics CRM is a Web application, it can be integrated with your Internet marketing initiatives to make them more effective and measurable than ever before. Integrating Dynamics CRM with your Internet marketing can be accomplished through custom programming, through freely distributed accelerators from Microsoft, and through third-party applications (some of these options are mentioned in the section "Third-party add-ons."

If you are working with Dynamics CRM Online, then you also have the option of using built-in Internet marketing capabilities. To activate Internet marketing, navigate to Settings Business Management and then click on the Internet Marketing item. After setting up Internet marketing, navigate to Marketing Internet Lead Capture to configure Dynamics CRM to capture leads from your Web site.

# Third party add-ons

Marketing groups often require capabilities outside of the core Dynamics CRM functionality. Many free as well as paid add-ons are available to further enhance the capabilities of marketing groups that use Dynamics CRM. Here are a few of the ones for which we see demand:

• Event Management: Microsoft has made a free event management add-on available via www.codeplex.com. This add-on integrates event campaigns with your Web site to automatically generate new event listings on your Web site, accept registrations and log them as campaign responses, and track event performance. Because it is open source, it can be expanded to integrate with social media sites, publish RSS feeds, accept credit cards for paid events, and track viral marketing referrals.

- **Social Networking:** Another free option from Microsoft is the social networking solution accelerator. This is designed to integrate Dynamics CRM with popular social networking sites to generate leads, push out social content on a scheduled basis, and monitor marketplace feedback on your business.
- **Capturing Web Leads:** The ability to capture and process Web leads in Dynamics CRM can be a daunting issue for nondevelopers. Even if using Dynamics CRM Online, you will find that the lead capture functionality falls short of the needs of most organizations. Web2CRM, from CRM Innovation, provides a cost-effective solution that most CRM administrators will be able to use to set up Internet lead capture,
- **E-Mail Management:** E-mail management is another area where marketers often want to go beyond the built-in capabilities of Dynamics CRM. With third party e-mail integration tools from Exact Target, Eloqua, and Vertical Response, you can develop highly personalized e-mails, deliver detailed response reports and build workflows that are triggered when e-mails are opened or bounced.

# Summary

Campaigns in Dynamics CRM can be used to track a variety of marketing projects. Because marketing campaigns are connected to sales results, organizations can do a better job of aligning their efforts of sales and marketing groups. Proper planning and usage of campaign functionality will deliver detailed campaign project planning, contact history, budget tracking, and return on investment reporting. Quick campaigns provide a simplified user interface into marketing campaigns and can be used by sales managers as well as by marketing.

Marketing lists are an important component of campaigns but can also be used independently of campaigns. Marketing lists provide a means of organizing accounts, contacts, and leads for direct contact via phone call, e-mail, or other direct communication channel. Marketing lists are also a good tool for tracking subscriber lists.

Sales literature provides a library for managing all of the sales and marketing collateral and other materials utilized by your organization. Documents in this library can be linked to products, competitors, and campaigns to form a cross-reference to improve marketing intelligence. Sales literature documents can also be attached to outgoing e-mails to enable sales to more rapidly follow up on opportunities.



# Using the Service Functions

The service functionality available in Dynamics CRM enables businesses to track customer service issues to resolution, reduce handling time for service calls, ensure a consistent customer service experience, and to rapidly schedule service appointments based on complex rules.

Data tracked in the service area can be made visible to other personnel across the organization. Management can view customer service and satisfaction trends using dashboards and visualizations. Sales representatives can view customer support incidents for individual customers. Visibility into support information leads to continuously improved customer service processes and enhanced customer profitability through better collaboration between sales and service.

# **Managing Cases**

In Dynamics CRM, cases are used to manage the information and action items for individual service incidents with customers. A service incident may be a maintenance issue on a piece of equipment, a software bug report, or a request for instructions on how to use a product sold by your organization. Many organizations refer to cases as "service incidents" or "trouble tickets." Articles in the knowledge base in Dynamics CRM can be used to build up a library of information that is used to resolve cases — rapidly resolving customer issues while maintaining corporate branding standards.

#### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Managing cases Building a knowledge base Tracking service contracts Scheduling services

# What Else Can Cases Do for You?.

Cases can be used to manage a variety of activities beyond trouble tickets. Some organizations deploy Dynamics CRM as a human resources information system (HRIS) and use cases to manage employee requests for support. Others use cases as a method to manage simple projects for their clients. Some professional services firms make use of cases to manage their client engagements.

As you think about how else you might use cases, keep in mind that Dynamics CRM provides a flexible framework that you can create entirely new lists with. Weigh the option of repurposing cases versus creating a new list for your project carefully before making a decision.

# Creating and tracking cases

To create a case, navigate to the Service area of Dynamics CRM and then to the Cases sub-area. Click on the New button to create a new case. When you create a case, knowing about the following fields can help:

- **Subject:** Dynamics CRM includes a "subject tree" to categorize items such as cases and products. For more information on setting up the subject tree, see the appropriate section later in this chapter.
- **Contract and Contract Line:** When creating a case, you have the option of linking it to a service contract. For more information on contracts, see the appropriate section later in this chapter.
- **Product:** You can link a case to a product. Doing so enables your organization to track the performance history of each product line. In addition, this can reduce the amount of time to find a relevant article to resolve frequent issues with the specified product.
- Article: If you used an article from the knowledge base to resolve this issue, the article can be selected and viewed within the case record. For more information on knowledge base articles, see the appropriate section later in this chapter. When clicking on the article field to select an article, the Form Assistant (on the right side of the form) will display a list of likely articles based on articles related to the subject and product saving your service reps time finding the appropriate solution to the case.

#### **Cross-Reference**

The new dialog functionality introduced with Dynamics CRM 2011 can be a powerful extension to case management. For example, a dialog can be used to prompt a customer through a specific set of questions to understand and resolve a specific type of case. For more information on dialogs, see Chapter 18.

#### **Tracking time**

Cases allow you to track the time it takes to resolve a case. As users create activities associated with a case, they can enter the amount of time associated with each individual activity into the duration field. When the activities are closed, they are added to the total hours for the case. Tracking hours by case can be important for businesses that charge by the hour for customer service or that provide service contracts that include a specific number of hours of service. Figure 14.1 is an example of a customized case form displaying a visualization of the number of hours recorded against the case to date.

#### **Closing cases**

Every case in CRM should eventually be closed as either resolved or cancelled. To close a case, click on the appropriate button in the Ribbon menu with the case form open. You are presented with a dialog box to confirm your choice and provide some more information on the status of the case resolution.

#### FIGURE 14.1

Case form with total number of hours visualization displayed

@Case: CAS-01001-Y5V5Q0	- Microsoft Dynamics (	CRM - Windows Internet Explorer			<u>_ 8 ×</u>
🕞 💬 🗢 🚂 http://2008r2-c	lemo:5555/360Centric/main.a	ispx?etn=incident&extraqs=_gridType%3d	112%26etc%3d112%2 🛨 🍝	🕈 🗙 💽 Bing	- م
😭 Favorites 🛛 🍰 🚄 Microsof	ft Dynamics CRM 🔝 Home	- Central Administra 🔃 SharePoint 🧧	Report Manager		
🔠 🔹 🚚 Cases: My Active	Case 🎿 Case: CAS-	01001-Y ×			Page ▼ Safety ▼ Tools ▼ 🕢 ▼
File Case Create Relate	ed Customize				C5 Admin 🥝 360 Centric 🔥
Save and Close	Delete Resolve Case	Cancel Assign Add Connection +	Print Preview	Run Start Process Dialog	
Save Re	cord Management	Actions	Data	Process Query	
32 Case: CAS-01001-	-Y5V5Q0				Cases 🔻 🕸 🛡
Information	Assignment Infr	rmation	Time Sumn	harv	× .
- General Notes and Article		C. Advis			
⊿ Related	Owner	S CS Admin	LQ Charts: Ti	me Summary	<u>- 2</u>
Activities	Follow Up By			Time Summary	
Closed Activities	Status Reason	In Progress	<u>·</u>	$\frown$	
16 Audit History	Priority	Normal	•	180	
▲ Processes	Contract and Pro	oduct Information			
🚱 Processes	Contract		Q	30	
16 Dialog Sessions	Contract Line		a		
	Service Level		•		
	Serial Number			Phone Call 🔲 Task	
	Product		<b>a</b>		
	Notes and Arti	de			
	Notes				
	Auu a new hote				
Charles Balling					
status Active			Trustad.	nitos I Protoctod Mado: Off	
			I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	sites ( motected Mode: Uff	*# •   °€ 100% • //

If you choose to resolve the case, then you will be asked to provide some more information before saving the resolution. Dynamics CRM automatically calculates the total time spent on the case by adding up the duration of all the completed activities associated with the case. You have the option of changing the billable time if you like (for example, if you decide to provide service for free or if you bill a minimum amount of time for each service incident). Figure 14.2 illustrates what the resolve case form looks like.

#### FIGURE 14.2

Resolve case dialog box

Resolve Case	Webpage Dialog	×
Resolve Case		
Provide informatio	n in the following boxes to resolve this case.	
Resolution Type *	Problem Solved	•
Resolution *	KB Article resolved issue	
Total Time	3.5 hours	
Billable Time *	3.5 hours	~
Description		
	ОК Се	incel
Trusted sites	Protected Mode: Off	

After a case is closed you can no longer edit the case record. However, if needed, you can click the Reactivate Case button in the Ribbon menu. Doing this changes the status of the case back to active and allows you to continue to edit the case. Every time you close a case, a case resolution activity record is created in CRM to track the closure of the case.

#### Caution

Every time you close a case, a case resolution activity record is created in CRM to track the closure of the case. This record includes the billable time for the case resolution. If you reactivate a case record and close it again, then two case resolution activity records will be created. While this may be helpful, it may also cause some reporting issues if you add up all the hours on your case resolution records at the end of the month because you may be double-counting some of the billable hours for these cases.

# Setting up subjects

Dynamics CRM includes a subject hierarchy (or "tree") to enable you to tag and categorize products, sales literature, knowledge base articles, and service cases. By using the subject tree, you can speed the process of servicing customers and providing relevant sales literature. In addition, you can improve reporting on product performance, understand gaps in your sales literature, and analyze service quality by subject area.

# Best Practices in Subject Trees \_\_\_\_

After your subject tree is in place, it can be time-consuming if you decide to make significant changes (every product, knowledge base article, and sales literature item may need to be re-categorized). So it is a good idea to put some time and planning into the development of your subject tree.

/hich area of the subject tro	ee would you like to manage?
Common Tasks	Subject Tree
Add a Subject Given Believed Subject Control Selected Subject Control Selected Subject	With your organization's subject tree, you can hierarchically categorize products, cases, sales interature, and articles. You can manage the tree using the options available in the Common Tasks area.
	Inimancial Services     Retail Services     Banking Services     Branking Services     Francial Planning     Insurance     Trust Services     Wholesail Services     Workersail Services     Business Lending     Capital Finance     Teasury Services     Query     Service

A typical subject tree

A variety of different approaches are available to you in the design of your subject tree. The idea is to create a tree that is granular enough to provide meaningful details without having so many items that it is difficult to find what you're looking for. You should also avoid creating ambiguous items that make it unclear what subject an item should be related to. Below are some ideas to help you get started:

- **Product hierarchy:** Many businesses already have a product hierarchy that can readily be used as a starting point for your subject tree. Keep in mind that your subject tree doesn't need to include a node for every product (that's what your Dynamics CRM product catalog will be used for), but you may have a lists of product categories and subcategories.
- Service areas: Similarly, your service areas may fit nicely into categories and sub-categories in your subject tree. For a law firm, subjects may be practice areas. For an advertising agency, subjects may include different media channels.

Some good places to get more ideas for subject trees are your financial reports and your corporate organization chart. These items often categorize your organization into lines of business that will be familiar categories that everyone in the business will recognize.

To set up your subject tree, navigate to Settings, then to Business Management and select Subjects. Subjects can be "nested" into parent and child categories to create a treelike hierarchy.

# Using knowledge base articles

Articles (also called knowledge base articles) can be used to solve customer problems, document processes, and store frequently asked questions for rapid response. Articles are integrated with cases, e-mail, and the Dynamics CRM Workplace to make it easy to find articles for individual research and to forward articles to customers and colleagues to help them resolve their issues. Articles are built by using article templates that enable your organization to use a consistent layout and branding approach for each of your articles. Figure 14.3 is an example article.

#### FIGURE 14.3

An example article

Article: KBA-01000-M7	P2F0 - Microsoft Dy	mamics CRM - Windows Internet E	xplorer				_ 8 ×
💬 🗢 加 http://2008	r2-demo:5555/360Centr	ic/main.aspx?etn=kbarticle&extraqs=etc9	63d127%26id%3d%257b467F3	5 <b>- 6</b> × 0	Bing		P - Q
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🍰 🚜 Mich	osoft Dynamics CRM 🚦	🖥 Home - Central Administra 🔃 Shan	ePoint 🔊 Report Manager				
98 . Articles: Publis	hed Arti	le: kBA-01000- x		<b>命</b> • 国	- ⊡ <b>≜</b> - F	Page ▼ Safety	• Tools • 🔞 •
au 21 ville of 1 abits	and a state of the					-	CE Admin @
File Article Create I	Related Customize						360 Centric
Save and Close	×		🗊 Sharing 🗸	Print Preview	ch .	.40.	
Same Same	Delete	Submit Delect Approve Uppublish A	Add to Queue	Copy a Link	Burn Start	Adupticed.	
2446	Delete	Subilite Reject Approve onpublish A	Iomment	🖥 E-mail a Link	Process Dialog	Find	
Save	Record Management	Actions		Data	Process	Query	
32 Article: KBA-0	1000-M7P2F0					Articles	▼ ☆ ↓
Information							
- General	▼ General						-
L Comments	Title *	How to fix a broken widget	Subje	d*	Service		
▲ Related	Key Words	widget repair	langi	iage E	nglish		
16 Documents		Innagecrepan		12	ngnon		
4 Processes	よ 回知		三三 這 這 一角 - A・	A + Add Im	nage   🧟 Add Hype	elink	
G Processes		aw to fix a broken w	idaot				
16 Dialog Sessions			luger				
	KBA	-01000-M7P2F0					
	Pui	rpose & Scope is article quelains why wideots h	reak frequently and her	u to quickly for	them to keep a	roductivitu	
	op	timized.	reak nequentiy and not	w to quickly lix	them to keep p	rounctivity	
	rel	agets can break if they are expo atively simple.	ised to direct sunlight f	or more than 5	minutes. Forti	unately the	1X IS
	Bre						
	Fol	low the stens helow in the exac	t sequence in order to	renair a broken	widget:		
	(1)	Pick up the widget					
	(2)	Remove it from the area that is	s exposed to the sun				•
				rusted sites   Prote	ected Mode: Off	<b>1</b>	€ 100% ▼ /

#### **Creating article templates**

A number of article templates are included right out of the box with Dynamics CRM. If these suit your needs, then you may never need to create an article template. Most organizations require some customizations to the article templates to support business processes or branding requirements.

You can create (or modify) article templates by navigating to Settings and then to Templates within Dynamics CRM. When you are in the templates sub-area you can click on the Article

Templates heading to display the list of article templates. You can name your template, add images, create sections, and set up default fonts. Once complete, save your template and close the form. The template will be available in the list of templates whenever you create a new article in Dynamics CRM.

#### Creating and approving articles

New knowledge base articles can be created by navigating to the Service area and then to the Knowledge Base sub-area of Dynamics CRM. Articles also include an approval and publication process. This process can be helpful if you want anyone to be able to create new articles, but you want to ensure that they pass a technical and/or marketing review prior to being available to send to customers.

- **Create a new article.** Click the New button in the Ribbon menu above the list of knowledge base articles and complete the form to create a new article. When you save this article, it will be saved as a draft article.
- **Submit an article for approval.** Select the Draft Articles view in the knowledge base sub-area. Click on the article you want to submit for approval and then click on the Submit button on the Ribbon menu. The status of the article will be changed to unapproved and it will be visible in the Unapproved folder. This view serves as a queue for the appropriate individual to review and approve.
- **Publish an article.** Select the Unapproved view from the knowledge base sub-area. Double-click an article to open it and review it before approving. Click the Approve button on the Ribbon menu. The article status is changed to published, and it is now visible in the Published Articles view and is available to share with customers or attach to e-mails.

#### **Using articles**

You can use articles in a number of areas throughout Dynamics CRM. Using articles makes it fast and easy to get the correct information to the right person to quickly solve his problems. The following list is a summary of the places where you can use articles:

- **Cases.** As noted in an earlier section of this chapter, articles can be associated with cases. Not only does this help to quickly solve cases, but it enables Dynamics CRM to track which articles are being used most frequently to solve which types of problems. The more you use this function, the smarter Dynamics CRM will be in recommending articles to solve customer issues.
- **Email.** When sending e-mail from Dynamics CRM or from Outlook, you can click Insert KB Article in the Ribbon menu to select an article and insert it into the body of the e-mail message.
- **Workplace.** In the Workplace area of Dynamics CRM is a sub-area called Articles. This sub-area enables you to search or browse through articles. This functionality makes it easy to find an article to solve a problem you may be working on without having to first open a case or an e-mail.

#### Tip

Articles do not need to be limited to solving problems for customers. Your organization can create articles that solve internal facing issues, too. This can range from standard procedures for new employees, to troubleshooting printer problems, to explaining how to set up your product for a new customer.

# Working with contracts

Using contracts in Dynamics CRM, an organization can set up service level and maintenance agreements with their clients and ensure that their contractual requirements are met. If the client requests services outside the scope of the contract, Dynamics CRM can alert your support team.

Contracts are linked to cases in Dynamics CRM. You can choose a contract and a contract line item to associate each case with. As cases are closed, the number of cases and total hours are summed up for the individual contract line. If you exceed the total number of hours or case incidents allowed on a contract line and you attempt to create a new case using that same line, you will receive a message informing you that the case cannot be created for this contract. This information can be used to ensure that service commitments are met, but not exceeded.

#### Caution

Contracts provide more rigid functionality than do many other areas of Dynamics CRM. Be sure to fully understand contracts in CRM and ensure that they adhere to your business process before deploying this functionality to users.

#### **Contract templates**

Each contract is based on a contract template. Contract templates include information that is used to track the service level agreement for contracts. To create or update a contract template, open CRM and navigate to Settings 
Templates 
Contract Templates (Figure 14.4 is an example contract template). Key information includes:

- Billing Frequency: Indicates how often the customer should be invoiced.
- **Contract Service Level:** Dynamics CRM includes gold, silver, and bronze service levels. These distinctions can be used to create workflows to ensure that response time service level agreements are met on individual contracts.
- Allotment Type: This enables you to enforce a contractual agreement based on the units of service that have been agreed upon (unlimited service during a specified period of time, a specific number of hours per billing cycle, or a specific number of cases per billing cycle are examples).
- **Calendar / Service Hours:** Use this area to define the hours during which service will be available on this type of contract. Some contracts may include 24x7 support hours and others may provide 8x5 support, still others may be for special weekend only support. Note that these service hours are enforced when scheduling service management (see below) for a case that is associated with a contract using the selected template. This ensures that your business only provides services during the agreed upon hours.

#### FIGURE 14.4

#### The contract template screen

Contract Template:	New - Wi	ndow	s Inte	rnet	Explo	rer																			_ 8
🗇 💬 🗢 🚂 http://2	008r2-demo:	5555/3	60Cen	tric/to	ols/cor	ntractt	ypema	nager	/edit.a	spx					-	- 4,	X		Bing						2
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🍰 🚈 N	licrosoft Dyr	namics	CRM	🗄 Но	ome - C	entral	Admir	nistra	. 🖽	Share	Point	🙆 Re	port N	lanagi	≥r										
🔠 🔹 加 Contract Ter	nplates: Co		🕯 Cor	ntract	Templ	late: .	×	1	1								合、	5	- 🖃	-	▼ Pa	ge 🕶	Safet	у <b>т</b> То	ools 🔻 🔞 🕇
File 🖬 🛃 Save a	nd Close 🔓	à																					6	Help	(ALT+H) +
32 Contract Ten	ıplate: N	lew																		Wo	rking d	on solu	ution: I	Default	Solution
Gerieral										_															_
Name *	Retail Cust	omer S	uppor	rt						_	Ab	brevia	tion *		RET										_
Billing Frequency *	Annually									-	AI Lis	lotmer e Disc	nt Type	*	Nu	mbero	of Case	5							-
Contract Service Level	Bronze									-	Pe	rcenta	ige		] No										-
Description																									
	1																								
Calendar*		0																							
	_	00	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23
	Su																								
	Mo																								
	10																								
	Th									•		•		•	•	•	•	•	•						
	Fr									•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•						
	Sa																								
	Г	24 × 7	suppo	ort																					
Status: New																									
Done															/ Tru	sted s	ites   I	Protec	ted M	ode: O	ſſ		4	• 🖲	100% -

#### Caution

Although contracts contain fields such as billing frequency, price, and discount, these fields do not include any automation to create invoices. If you want to trigger invoicing from contracts, it will require the development of custom workflows or integration with your accounting system.

#### Contracts

Every contract must be based on a contract template. To enforce this, when you click the New button to create a contract, CRM opens a dialog box and requires that you first choose a template before creating a contract. Important fields to consider when completing the contract form:

- **Start Date / End Date.** These fields are the beginning and ending dates of service for the contract.
- **Contract Address.** This field is the specific address that the service contract is related to. You can use the lookup button to select the address (note, however, that only addresses that have a name assigned to them for this customer will appear in the list).

- **Billing Information and Pricing.** These sections contain financial information. This information does not automatically create invoices this type of functionality is usually set up by integrating Dynamics CRM with your accounting system.
- **Originating Contract.** If this contract is a renewal of an existing contract, the original contract is here.

After you have completed entering a contract, and all of the contract lines, you can click the Invoice Contract button in the Ribbon menu to go from draft to invoiced status. Activated contracts are available to use for managing your cases.

#### **Contract lines**

Contracts contain the summary information about service contracts. Contract lines contain the details about the products covered, the total provided service allotment (number of cases or minutes), and pricing. Each contract line can relate to a different product. As cases are recorded against these contract lines, allotments are recorded against them so you can quickly see exactly how much service is left on an existing contract.

You can add additional lines to contracts that are already active. This can be helpful if a customer purchases new equipment that they want to cover under the same contract. However, these contract lines are immediately locked as read-only when you save them, so be sure that your line has been entered correctly before saving it.

#### The contract process

The diagram in Figure 14.5 represents the functions included in Dynamics CRM to enable your business to manage contracts. The contract (including contract lines) is locked from data entry during many stages of the contract management process. Only when a contract has a status of Invoiced will you be able to link it to cases for tracking contractual allocations. If you select to copy a contract then an exact copy (including the same contract lines) is made, but with a new Contract ID.

#### **On the Web Site**

Revenue from service or maintenance contracts is an important part of the bottom line for many businesses. If you're using contracts in Dynamics CRM, you can help your business to improve contract renewal dates with a simple workflow that alerts account owners of expiring contracts 90 days ahead of time and creates a new opportunity to renew the contract. We have created this workflow for you and included it on the CD. You can use it as a starting point and modify it to suit your needs.

## Caution

After a contract has been activated, no data on the contract can be changed and the contract can never be deleted. If you need to alter a contract after it has been invoiced, you must cancel the contract and create a new one. Active contracts cannot be deleted (but they can be cancelled). Although you can add lines to an active contract, these new lines are immediately locked from editing upon saving them.

#### FIGURE 14.5

The contract management process



# **Scheduling Service**

Dynamics CRM enables you to set up services with related resources and facilities to increase the speed and accuracy of service scheduling. Using the scheduling functionality and the visual schedule area, your team can have a centralized view of service workers' calendars as well as other business resources. Services include "rules" for how resources are allocated to a specific service. For example, you may provide on-site installation of equipment that requires individuals with specific skills, specific company vehicles, and certain replacement parts. All of these rules can be set up in the services area. After the rules are set up, Dynamics CRM can be used to schedule service delivery based on the availability of all the appropriate people, resources, and equipment. As noted in the preceding section, contracts can also be used to ensure that services are only provided during the hours that the customer has agreed upon in their service contract.

# Setting up CRM for service management

To take full advantage of service management and service scheduling in Dynamics CRM, you need to set up a number of areas in the application. Taking the time to understand and properly set up the service management areas results in a more efficient process for your service scheduling users.

#### Setting up sites

Sites are locations where service operations take place or where service resources are located. When service is scheduled, you can choose which site the resources will be selected from in order to deliver the service. If multiple resources will be required for service, the user will be able to select if the resources must all come from the same site or if they can come from multiple sites. After you create sites, you will be able to assign resources (including users and facilities/equipment) to them.

To access the Sites list, navigate to the Settings area, then to Business Management, and click on Sites. Use the new button in the Ribbon menu to add an item.

#### Setting up facilities/equipment

Facilities and equipment are corporate resources that your organization uses to fulfill service requests. This can include service bays, LCD projectors, conference rooms, or specialized tools. By entering your inventory of these items, you can more rapidly schedule them for usage and ensure that there are no scheduling conflicts.

To add an item to Facilities/Equipment, navigate to the Settings area, then to Business Management and click on Facilities/Equipment. Use the new button in the Ribbon menu to add an item. Note that you can use the Work Hours related list to set up scheduled downtime for facilities and equipment.

#### Setting up resource groups

Resources include users or facilities/equipment. Resource Groups enable you to create collections of resources. When creating Resource Groups, the scheduling engine in Dynamics CRM will evaluate everything in a Resource Group as equal. Therefore, you should not mix different resource types in a resource group. Table 14.1 illustrates some good and bad examples of resource groups. For examples of how these resource groups are used in rules, see the "Setting up services" section.

#### **TABLE 14.1**

Best Practice Resource Groups	Not Recommended Resource Groups
Senior Lift Installation Technicians	All Lift Repair Personnel and Equipment
Lift Installation Equipment	Lift Installation, Inspection, and Repair Tools
Lift Inspection Trucks	Company Vehicles for Installation, Inspection, and Executive Shuttling

## **Resource Group Examples**

To view the Resource Groups list, navigate to the Settings area, then to Business Management, and click on Resource Groups. Use the buttons on the Ribbon menu to add or update your resource groups.

#### Setting up business closures

Keeping your list of business closures up to date helps you avoid scheduling resources for service work during holidays or other business closures.

To update Business Closures, navigate to Settings 🖧 Business Management and click on Business Closures.

#### Setting up working hours for users

Daily working hours and time off can be scheduled for each user to ensure that they are scheduled only when they are available. This task can be performed by the user, a manager, or a system administrator.

To set up work hours for a user, navigate to Settings Administration and then click on Users. Open the user record you want to set work hours for and then click on the Work Hours related list. Use the Ribbon menu to set up working hours, monthly availability, weekly work schedule, time off, schedule for a specific day, service restrictions (a specific time that a specific service cannot be performed), and to set capacity (the number of simultaneous tasks that can be performed by this individual — the default value of 1 is usually desired).

#### Setting up services

After you have set up all of the preceding areas that your organization will use in order to schedule service resources, you are ready to set up a list of services. These Services include rules that determine how resources are allocated for each service. To configure Services, navigate to Service  $\Rightarrow$  Services. The Service form contains a set of data entry fields and a Required Resources section for defining resource selection rules for the service. When completing the Service form, the following fields are important to consider:

- **Initial Status Reason:** Depending on your business process, you may want to change this field from the default value ("Reserved") to one of the other available values. This can be changed when service is being scheduled, but getting the default value right can save your users some time.
- **Default Duration:** This field is the standard amount of time scheduled for this service.
- **Start Activities Every:** This field is the incremental time unit that CRM will use for starting activities. If your organization wants service delivery to always start at the top of an hour, then use the 1 hour setting.
- Beginning At: This field designates the first activity start time for each work day.

The Required Resources section of the form is where you will set up the rules (also referred to as *selection rules*) for scheduling your service. These rules determine how many resources, of which types, from what locations, and for what period of time are required to fulfill a need for this type of service. These rules can be simple or highly complex. Figure 14.6 illustrates a simple rule that describes a specific set of personnel and equipment required for inspecting a site to see if it is suitable for an installation. Figure 14.7 illustrates a complex rule that contains nested rules and sub-rules to assign two different teams to each installation project; each team sub-rule includes assignments for the appropriate people, equipment, and trucks.

#### FIGURE 14.6

#### A simple service selection rule

🥭 Service: New - Micro	soft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Ex	plorer		_ 8 ×
💬 🗢 🚂 http://201	8r2-demo:5555/360Centric/main.aspx?etn=service&	extraqs=etc%3d4001&pagetype=entityrecord 🗾	🐓 🗙 🖸 Bing	- م
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🍰 🏄 Mi	rosoft Dynamics CRM 🔝 Home - Central Administ	ra 🔢 SharePoint 🗃 Report Manager		
88 - M Services: Act	e Servic 📈 Service: New - Micro 🗙		🐴 🕶 🔝 👻 🖃 🖶 💌 Page 🕶 Safety 🕶	Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶
File Service Custo	mize			C5 Admin @ 360 Centric 🔥
Save and Close	Delete Deactivate Service	Print Preview     Copy a Link     Gemail a Link     Frocess Dialog	d	
Save	Record Management Actions	Data Process Query		
32 Service: New			Services	▼ ☆ ↓ ↓
General     Required Resources     Related     Tiel Audit History	▼ Required Resources	Choose 1 From The same site From		
▲ Processes	Add Asciection Rule     Define the neurous required to achedul     this service.     Add Resources     Add Resources     Add Resource Groups     Add Resource Groups	Members of Site Inspectors		
2000			vid citize L Restanted Made: Off	▼ 100% ▼

To define a rule, select the default rule and either click the Edit Selected Item (to the left of the rule) or click on one of the hyperlinks in the rule. You will initially edit the "root" rule, and you can then add nested rules and sub-rules if desired. Defining rules is an open-ended process, but here are some best practices to consider as you develop your rules:

- Defining the root rule:
  - Each rule can have only a single root rule.
  - If you will be defining a simple rule (with no nested rules) then use a specific quantity of resources to apply; if you will be defining a complex rule (that includes nested rules and sub-rules) then select the quantity of All to allow your nested rules to define the individual quantities.
  - The site field in the root will affect all nested rules: Same Site will require that resources from all nested rules come from the same site; Any Site allows resources for nested rules to come from any site.

- **Creating nested rules:** To create a nested rule, click on the parent rule and select the Add Selection Rule item to the left of the rules.
- Adding more resources to a rule: You can add multiple different resources and resource groups to a single rule. However, these are treated as one large resource group for scheduling purposes.
- **Test your rules:** Create service activities to thoroughly test your rules prior to putting them into production. Rules can become quite complex so make sure to check your work.

#### Tip

Whenever you add a group of resources to a rule, Dynamics CRM asks if you want to save the selection as a new resource group. Although this is not required, you will find it easier to maintain your resource groups if you always create a named resource group.

#### FIGURE 14.7

A complex service selection rule

Service: New - Micros	ft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Exp	lorer	<u>_8×</u>
💬 🖸 📈 http://2008r	2-demo:5555/360Centric/main.aspx?etn=service&ex	traqs=etc%3d4001&pagetype=entityrecord 🗾 🐓 🗙 💽 Bing	- Q
😭 Favorites 🛛 🍰 🕍 Micro	soft Dynamics CRM 🔢 Home - Central Administra	🔃 SharePoint 🙋 Report Manager	
88 - Jan Services: Active	Servic 🖼 Service: New - Micro 🗙		- Page 🕶 Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶
File Service Custom	ze		C5 Admin @ 360 Centric 🔺
Save and Close	Delete Deactivate Service	Print Preview Copy a Link Run Start Fradis - Link Process Dialog	
Save	Record Management Actions	Data Process Query	
32 Service: New			Services 🔻 🕸 🛡
L Required Resources 4 Related Ed Audit History 4 Processes Concesses E Dialog Sessions	<ul> <li>Required Resources</li> <li>Common Task</li> <li>Add a Selection Rule</li> <li>Define the resources required to schedule this arrive.</li> <li>Add Resources</li> <li>Add Resource for a selection rule.</li> <li>Add Resource Groups</li> <li>Add Resource Resources or rule.</li> <li>Remove Selected Rem</li> <li>Ren ove the selected tem.</li> </ul>		
		Trusted sites   Protected Mode: Of	· ● • ● 100% • /

# **Scheduling services**

Dynamics CRM includes a powerful scheduling engine that combines your rules, resources, and calendars to quickly find available time slots to schedule service appointments with customers. A specialized activity called a *service activity* enables you to tap into the scheduling engine. Service activities use the scheduling engine to automate finding available time for service delivery.

You can create service activities directly, or you can create them associated with cases. If you associate a service activity with a case, and the case is associated with a contract, then the hours of service in the contract will also be considered in the scheduling engine. Use the following process to schedule services:

- **1.** Create a new service activity. Typically you do this within a case or from the service calendar.
- **2.** Complete the service activity form. Figure 14.8 is an example of the service activity form; important fields are summarized below:
  - **Service:** Prior to scheduling a service activity, you must define at least one service. See the preceding section of this chapter for information on setting up services.
  - **Site:** If the resources come from a specific site for this activity, then enter the site here (otherwise the scheduling engine selects a site for you).
  - **Resources:** Leaving this field blank allows the Dynamics CRM scheduling engine to dynamically select resources for this appointment based on the rules that your organization has defined. If you want to handpick which resources should be used for this service, then you may enter them here (you can use the form assistant to use the service rules to select resources).
  - **Location:** A free-form field you can use to enter more information about the location at which the service will be delivered. Using this field can be a convenient way to provide additional information about the location to your field service team.
  - \* **Show Time As:** The scheduling engine uses the information from this field to determine if this time should be blocked out as unavailable or if it can remain available until the appointment is confirmed.
  - **Scheduling Information:** This information can be dynamically populated by the scheduling engine, or you can manually enter it.
- **3.** Save the record. If you entered all of the scheduling and resource information manually, then you can save and close the record. However, if you want to use the scheduling engine (recommended for service activities), then just save the record (without closing it) and proceed to the next step in the process.
- **4.** Click the Schedule button on the Ribbon menu. This opens up a dialog box titled Schedule Service Activity (Figure 14.9 includes an example of this form). This dialog box contains much of the same information that you just entered into the service activity form. You can change these fields while using the scheduling engine to see various scheduling options. Important fields include:

- **Start Date / Start Time:** Using this set of fields, you can limit the scheduling engine to only those times that are best for the customer.
- **Duration:** You can use the default duration that is included with the service definition or you can override this with a new duration.
- **5.** Click the Find Available Times button. This activates the scheduling engine, which will find times that all selected resources are available to deliver this service. The list is displayed in the Available Times section of the dialog box. If none of the times are convenient for the customer, then you can change some of items on the form and click the button again.
- **6.** Select a time and click the Schedule button. After you find a time that works for the customer, select the check box next to the desired time and click the Schedule button. You are returned to the service activity form, the time will be filled in, and any resources selected by the scheduling engine will also be filled in.
- **7.** Save and close the service activity. The scheduled time is reserved and is visible on the service calendar.

#### FIGURE 14.8

#### Service activity form

Service Activity: New - Mit	crosoft Dynamics CRM -	Windows Interr	net Explorer						_ 8 ×
💮 🗢 加 http://2008r2-de	mo:5555/360Centric/main.asp	x?etn=serviceappo	ointment&extraqs=_	StartTime%3d2010-07-: 💌	[ 47 X	🕒 Bing			P -
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🚔 🕍 Microsoft	Dynamics CRM 🔢 Home - C	entral Administra	. 📴 SharePoint	🖉 Report Manager					
88 - Microsoft Dynamics	CRM Service Activity	/: Ne ×	1		合 -	<b>N</b> - E <b>E</b>	a ▼ Page ▼ Sat	fety 🔻 Too	ls <b>• @</b> •
File Service Activity Cust	omize	-		_				C5 / 360 (	Admin 🙆 Centric 🔺
Save as Completed	Close New Delete	Add a Assign	<ul> <li>Schedule</li> <li>Sharing -</li> <li>Add to Queue</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Promote to Respons</li> <li>Add Connection +</li> </ul>	e Convert Activity ~	Run Report -	<ul> <li>Run Process</li> <li>Start Dialog</li> </ul>	Advanced Find	a
Save	Record Management		Act	ions		Data	Process	Query	
32 Service Activity: N	lew						Service	Activities	* * *
Information - Service Activity	* Service Activity								<b>^</b> <
- Details	Subject*	Inspect home for	lift installation						
Connections Audit History	Service * Customers	Site Inspection	n n	🗔 Site				Q	
Processes     Processes     Dialog Sessions	Resources Location	[						Q	
	Show Time As	Reserved		•					
	Scheduling Inform	nation							
	Start Time *	7/31/2010	5:30 PM	Duration	1	. hour		~	
	End Time *	7/31/2010	6:30 PM	All Day Event	Г				
	Notes								
	Add a new note								
									-
Status <b>Open</b>									
				Trus	ted sites   F	rotected Mode	Off	<b>a ₹ ₹</b> 1	00% 👻 /

#### FIGURE 14.9

#### Schedule Service Activity dialog box

hedule Service Ad	tivity								
lect the customers, se ailable times, and click	rvice, and resources for ti < Schedule.	his activity. Select the	2 date, time, an	d duration, and	click Find Availa	ble Times.	Select the time y	ou want fr	om the list
stomers	Duke Mansion						Form Assistant		
uested Service Activi	ty					v			
	69. Site Inspection						Form Assistant	Help	
ice -	Site inspection					LLAR	Form Assistant	Help	
ources						Q	Select a looku	p field.	
						Q			
uested Time									
t Date	As Soon as Possible		J						
tTime	Range of Times		• 8:00 A	vi 💌 -	5:00 PM	~			
ation *	1 hour		M V Use	Default Duration					
		Find Available Tim	es						
ilable limes									
Service	Resources		Site	Schedule	ed Start	Schedul	ed End		
🟭 Site Inspectic	S C5 Admin			8/1	6/2010 8:00 AM	8/1	6/2010 9:00 AM		
🖾 Site Inspectic	S C5 Admin			8/1	6/2010 8:30 AM	8/1	6/2010 9:30 AM		
🖀 Site Inspectic	S C5 Admin			8/1	6/2010 9:00 AM	8/16	/2010 10:00 AM		
🏭 Site Inspectic	🔓 C5 Admin			8/1	6/2010 9:30 AM	8/16	/2010 10:30 AM		
🕵 Site Inspectic	🔱 C5 Admin			8/16	/2010 10:00 AM	8/16	/2010 11:00 AM		
🏭 Site Inspectic	🔱 C5 Admin			8/16,	/2010 10:30 AM	8/16	/2010 11:30 AM		
🕵 Site Inspectic	🚨 C5 Admin			8/16	/2010 11:00 AM	8/16	/2010 12:00 PM		
50 of 50+ (1 selecter	d) CE t dmin							Н	◀ Page 1

#### Tip

When viewing the service activity calendar, it can often be helpful to zoom in or out of the calendar to see more detail. You can do this by changing the From and To dates below the service activity calendar, by using the zoom slider (also below the service activity calendar), or by selecting the day, week, or month view to the right of the service activity calendar.

# **Summary**

Case management in Dynamics CRM enables organizations to manage service incidents with individual customers. Cases allow service representatives to ensure that every service incident is followed up until a final solution has been delivered. Workflow rules can be set up to escalate cases to managers or more seasoned service representatives if cases are not resolved quickly enough. Articles are a library of solutions to issues that customers frequently experience. Articles can be applied to cases to resolve them quickly. Contracts allow organizations to track contractual service agreements with their customers and ensure that service level commitments are met.

Service management uses a powerful scheduling engine to set service appointments based on rules defined by your organization. Scheduling takes the availability of personnel, equipment, and facilities into account. When properly configured, service and service activities can result in reducing the number of steps that it takes to schedule appointments to deliver service to customers.

# Part V

# Customizing Dynamics CRM Through the User Interface

f you've been using previous versions of Dynamics CRM you're probably already familiar with the powerful tools that are available directly in the application that allow you to configure the software to meet your business needs. If you've worked with the software going back several versions, you're probably also familiar with some of the earlier versions' frustrating limitations.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 brings a whole new level of flexibility to the game. While no software will ever be "frustration-free," this version of Dynamics CRM has some truly incredible UI tools that can often get you ninety percent of the way to where you want to take your system.

#### **IN THIS PART**

Chapter 15

Realizing the Benefits of Office and SharePoint Integration

**Chapter 16** Tailoring CRM to Your Organization

**Chapter 17** Working with CRM Entities

**Chapter 18** Automating Your Organization with Processes

# CHAPTER

# Realizing the Benefits of Office and SharePoint Integration

In the provided HTML representation of the steadily improved the integration between Dynamics CRM and Office with each release. The integration is so strong at this point that talking about Dynamics CRM without also talking about Word, Excel, and Outlook is sometimes difficult.

With the release of Dynamics CRM 2011 Microsoft has also included direct integration with SharePoint. SharePoint is a framework used for collaborative employee and customer Web sites, business intelligence reporting, document management, and a variety of other functions. Using Dynamics CRM along with SharePoint results in a significant boost to an organization's ability to streamline processes, collaborate with colleagues, and make data visible across the organization.

Organizations that use Dynamics CRM without fully understanding the integration with Office and SharePoint are not realizing the full value of the product.

# Exporting and Importing Data with Microsoft Excel

The most popular program in the world for managing data is Microsoft Excel. Excel provides an easy way to rapidly update data, analyze trends, and share information with others. Dynamics CRM includes tools to quickly export data to Excel, update existing records from changes you make in Excel, and insert new records by importing data from Excel.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Exporting and importing data with Microsoft Excel

Mail merging with Microsoft Word

Storing documents in SharePoint

#### **Cross-Reference**

Microsoft Excel can also be used to create custom reports in Dynamics CRM. For information on how to use Excel as a reporting tool, see Chapter 23.

# **Exporting data to Microsoft Excel**

Exporting data to Microsoft Excel is a relatively straightforward process. After exporting data, you can share it with others or update it and import it back into Dynamics CRM. Use the procedure below to export data to Microsoft Excel:

- 1. Navigate to the list that you want to export data from in Dynamics CRM.
- **2.** Select the view that contains the filters and columns that you want to apply to the list before exporting the data.
- **3.** If the proper view does not exist, you can go to the View tab in the Ribbon menu and select Create Personal View (or Advanced Find). See Chapter 17 for information on working with Advanced Find. After you are done designing the specific view that you need, you can either:
  - Save the view if you expect to reuse it frequently and return to the first step of this process to use the view.
  - Click Results in the Ribbon menu, if you don't expect to need to reuse the view, and continue with the remainder of this process below.
- **4.** In the Ribbon menu, click the Export to Excel button.
- **5.** You are presented with the Export Data to Excel dialog box, shown in Figure 15.1. You have several options from which to choose:
  - Use this type of worksheet: For purposes of this chapter, always select the Static worksheet with records from this page option. The other options are used for creating dynamic reports and are covered in Chapter 23.
  - Make this data available for reimporting by including required column headings: If you plan to make changes to the data and then update the records in Dynamics CRM (covered in a section later in this chapter), then select this option.
- **6.** Click the Export button.
- 7. When prompted, click the Open button and then click the Yes button in the dialog box. Note that you also have the option of clicking the Save button, but not all computers can read the resulting file, so we recommend using the Open button at this point as a best practice.
- **8.** From Excel, go to File and select Save As.
- **9.** From the Save As dialog box select the appropriate file type based on how you intend to use the file. Here are some pointers:

- Save as Type Excel Workbook if you plan to share the file with non-CRM users inside or outside of your organization.
- Save as Type CSV (Comma delimited) if you plan to import the file into another system. Comma delimited is a file format that virtually all systems will recognize for import purposes but verify this with the owner of the system you wish to import data into to be certain.
- Save as Type XML Spreadsheet 2003 if you plan to make changes to the data and reimport it (note that you should have selected the appropriate option under Step 5 for this to work).

#### FIGURE 15.1

Export data to Excel dialog box

🖉 Export Data to Excel Webpage Dialog 🛛 🔍						
Export Data to Excel						
Select the type of worksheet to export.						
Use this type of worksheet:						
Static worksheet with records from this page						
C Dynamic PivotTable	Select Columns					
C Dynamic worksheet	Edit Columns					
Make this data available for re-importing by including	required column headings					
	Export Cancel					
http://2008r2-der 🞕 Local intranet   Protected Mode: Off						

#### **Cross-Reference**

For security reasons, many organizations do not want to allow their users to export data in Microsoft Excel format. Security roles allow you to limit the availability of this function to only select users. See Chapter 5 for more information on setting security roles.

Now that you have completed exporting your data, you can update it in Excel, share it with others, import it into other systems, or otherwise freely manipulate the data using Microsoft Excel. If you would like to make revisions to your data and then reimport those changes into Dynamics CRM from Excel, then proceed to the next section.

# Updating existing records from Microsoft Excel

Dynamics CRM is a powerful tool for tracking and updating records. However, there are times when you may want to update a large number of records very quickly. For example, you may add a new column on the account form, and you would like to populate it for all of your accounts very quickly. Opening each form in Dynamics CRM to make this type of change can be time-consuming. In Microsoft Excel you can make these updates very quickly and then import them back into Dynamics CRM.

#### **Cross-Reference**

If you would like to import only new records into Dynamics CRM (rather than reimporting updates to existing records as we describe here), see Chapter 8.

Use the procedure below to update records in Dynamics CRM by importing them from Microsoft Excel. This procedure assumes that you will export your records from Dynamics CRM for reimport. Follow the steps in the preceding section to ensure that your data is exported in the correct format. In the final step of the procedure, you should save your Excel file as type XML Spreadsheet 2003.

- **1.** Open the file in Microsoft Excel. This Excel file has some unique characteristics that simplify the data entry and reimport process:
  - The initial columns are hidden. When exporting data for reimport, Dynamics CRM exports additional information about each record so it will know which records to update (in the event, for example, that two accounts have the same name) and the time of the last update of each record (see the nearby Caution for more information on this).
  - As you click on each cell, you will notice a popup that tells you the format of the data in the cell and whether the field is required or not. This can aid you in being certain that you are keeping data in the correct format for reimport.
- **2.** Update the data in the spreadsheet to meet your needs. There are some special field types that you should be aware of as you go through this process that will help you with the speed and validation of your data entry:
  - **Option Sets (picklists), Boolean, Status:** These field types include a drop-down selection so you don't have to remember the valid values for your picklists (see Figure 15.2).
  - **Lookup:** You can enter values for these fields, but the values you enter must have a unique match back to an existing record in Dynamics CRM or the record will not be updated on reimport. For example, if you want to enter a primary contact on an account, the full name you enter must exactly match to one (and only one) contact record in Dynamics CRM or none of the changes you made to the account record in Excel will be updated when you import it into Dynamics CRM.
  - **Date, Date/Time:** These field types include functionality to ensure that values are entered correctly for import. If you are not sure how to format a date/time field, you may enter a date without the time and the time will be updated for you (you can then update the time using the correct formatting).

- Numbers (decimal, integer, money, etc.): These field types include functionality to ensure that values are within the appropriate ranges.
- **Text:** Text fields do not incorporate formatting for URL, e-mail, and other values. Use caution when entering these fields as you could potentially enter information that is in a format that will not be imported into Dynamics CRM.
- **Mandatory:** Required fields are not enforced in Excel, so it is possible to delete a required field. If a record is missing a required field, it will not be updated in Dynamics CRM when you import it.
- **Related Fields:** Fields from related tables cannot be updated in Excel. For example, if you have the e-mail of the primary contact in a list of all accounts, you should not attempt to update the field in Excel.

#### FIGURE 15.2

Entering option set values in Microsoft Excel

X	🔟 🖬 🍯 🕶 🕼 🖃 🖛 For Re-import - Accounts - Excel Update - Microsoft Excel 🗆 📼 🖾										
	File	lome In	isert Pa	ge Layout	Formulas	Data	Review	View	Team	۵	2 - e X
Pa	ste	Arial B I H *	- 10 <u>U</u> - A 37 - <u>A</u> 		≡ ≡ t ≣ ≡ ∉ ≫ Nignment	計 Text 潮 - \$ ・ *:% 「」 No	• % • •00 µmber ⊑	A Styles	i⇔ Insert ▼ Delete ▼ Eormat Cells	Σ -	Sort & Find & Filter * Select * Editing
	14			<i>јх</i> т	14	V	7	4.0	10	<b>AD</b>	
1	H Doto AndT	(Do Not N	Ounor	Deletionel	V	Ctotus	Ctotus Dov	AB	AL Main Dhai	Addross 1	AL -
2	DateAnui	1.0000000	CE Admin	Relations	Freieneu	Activo	Activo	c-man	ope henn	Autoress I Bonton	Adrian Durise
2	2/3/2009 1	1.00000000	CE Admin	Cuctomor	Atomoon	Activo	Active	auc comoono?	995-2500	Dollac	Brain LoMisc
0	1/31/2005 1	1.00000000	C5 Admin	Customer		Activo	Active	comeone3	895.2500	Sonto Cru	Cot Franci sc
5	1/51/2010	1.00000000	C5 Admin	Competitor	<u>_</u>	Active	Active	comeoned	895,2500	L vnnwood	Cathan Colsc
6		1.00000000	C5 Admin	Consultant Customer Influencer Investor Other Partner		pe: Option Set.		someone5	895,2500	Los Angel	Darren Par sc
7		1.00000000	C5 Admin			m the	Active	Someoneo	111-2222	The Moon	Thomas A:sc
8		1.0000000	C5 Admin				Active	someone7	895-2500	Redmond	Forrest Ch sc
9	8/1/2010 1	1.0000000	C5 Admin				Active	geoff.ables	704-895-25	Charlotte	
10		1.0000000	C5 Admin	Press	• ·	Active	Active	someone6	895-2500	Redmond	Eva Corets sc
11		1.0000000	C5 Admin			Active	Active		895-2500	TEST	Eva Corets sc
12		1.0000000	C5 Admin			Active	Active	someone8	555-0127	Missoula	Gabriele C sc
13		1.0000000	C5 Admin			Active	Active	someone9	555-0135	Redmond	George Suisc
14		1.0000000	C5 Admin			Active	Active	someone1	555-0116	Phoenix	Marco Tan sc
15		1.0000000	C5 Admin			Active	Active	someone1	555-0135	Daly City	Patrick Stesc 👻
н	H + > > Account / 2						•				
Rea	Ready 100% 🔿 — 🖓										

- **3.** Add any new records you want to create. You can create new records by entering them at the bottom of the exported list. These records will be added as new records when you re-import the list. Be sure to fill in any required fields and that all data is formatted correctly.
- **4.** When you have completed making your changes, save the Excel file. You may receive a warning that not all features are supported in this format you may safely ignore this warning and continue with saving the file.
- **5.** In Dynamics CRM, click on the File tab in the Ribbon menu, select Tools, and then Import Data. You are presented with the Upload Data File page of the Import Data Wizard (Figure 15.3).
- 6. Browse to the XML file that you saved from Excel and then click next.

#### FIGURE 15.3

The Import Data Wizard Upload Data File page

🝘 Import Data Wizard Webpage Dialog	<u>_x</u>
Upload Data File	
Select a data file to import into Microsoft Dynamics CRM.	
Data file name: C:\Users\CSAdmin\Desktop\For Re-import <u>Browse</u> Supported file types: XML Spreadsheet 2003 (.xml), .csv, .bt, and .zip	
	Next Cancel
http://2008r2-demo:5555/360 🎕 Local intranet   Protected Mode: Off	11.

- **7.** Enter the desired values on the Review Settings and Import Data page and then click the Submit button.
- **8.** The final page of the Import Data Wizard appears, confirming that your data has been submitted to import into Dynamics CRM.

#### Tip

Wondering if your import finished or if there were any problems with it? Go to Settings to Data Management to Imports and you can check the status of your import job, which includes viewing a list of all records that did and did not import.

#### Caution

Dynamics CRM will not import records that were updated after the time that you exported them. For example, if you export data on Tuesday morning and a colleague updates one of the records that afternoon, and you attempt to reimport on Wednesday, the record your colleague updated will not be updated with the changes you made in Excel. See the nearby tip for information on how to check to see if there were any errors with your import job.

# Integrating Line Item Data Entry \_\_\_\_\_

Importing data from Excel is a great way to quickly update a large quantity of records. Many organizations, however, need the capability to rapidly update records built directly into Dynamics CRM. For example, you may want to be able to rapidly enter (or update) products under an opportunity without having to open the form for each individual product line item. Fortunately there are a number of options for integrating line item data entry directly into Dynamics CRM. At the time of this writing, no solutions had been announced for Dynamics CRM 2011, but you can check the Web site for the book (www.microsoftcrmbible.com) for available options.

# Importing Contacts for Existing Accounts\_

Many organizations need to regularly import contacts for existing accounts. To do this, follow the instructions for standard importing (see Chapter 8). When creating the contact records in the Excel worksheet, enter the name of the account exactly as it is spelled in Dynamics CRM. When you import the contacts, Dynamics CRM will automatically associate them with the name of the matching account. Prior to importing, make sure that the account has a unique name to ensure that the contacts will import and associate with the correct account. This method works for importing any "child" record (such as products related to opportunities).

# Mail Merging with Microsoft Word

Templates can be used to quickly create documents that include information from records in Dynamics CRM. Many organizations expend a tremendous amount of time keying data into a database and then rekeying data into documents. Templates can play an important role in eliminating wasteful data entry while improving accuracy. You can find the list of templates in the Settings area of Dynamics CRM. Four different types of templates are available. We discuss Word mail merge templates here.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For information on creating article and contract templates, see Chapter 14. For information on creating e-mail merge templates, see Chapter 10.

# Creating a Word mail merge template

If you have ever performed a mail merge using Microsoft Word, then the process of creating a mail merge document for Dynamics CRM will be familiar to you. Mail merges can be used to create individual documents such as proposals and fax cover sheets or to create a large number of documents such as direct mailings.

# Mail Merge in Outlook or the Web?\_

The mail merge functionality has a number of improvements when accessed using Dynamics CRM inside of Outlook (also referred to as the "Outlook client") rather than from the Web. In our instructions in this section, we have pointed out some of the strengths of using the Outlook client for your mail merge projects. Also notice that, if you use Outlook, you can skip some of the steps that are required when running a merge using the Web version of Dynamics CRM.

Our recommendation is to use the Outlook client when designing or running mail merges to make the process smoother and leverage the extra functionality.

To create a new mail merge document, use the procedure below:

- **2.** Click the New button in the menu.
- 3. Fill in the fields on the form including the following:
  - **Name:** This is the name that will appear in the list of word mail merge templates in Dynamics CRM. Be sure to use a descriptive name that is easy to understand.
  - Associated Entity: This will be the list that your mail merge fields will come from. It is typically a contact or a lead, but it can be any entity that supports mail merge in Dynamics CRM.
- **4.** Click on the save button in the menu. After the record is saved, some additional options will be made available.
- **5.** Click the Data Fields button. Choose the fields that you want to have available for your merge document. Only the fields that you choose are going to be available to merge into your document, so, if in doubt, select a field. Note that you can also choose fields from other records related to the list you are using. This allows you to include information about the record owner or other information related to the entity that you are building the merge for.
- 6. In the menu, click Save again, then click the button labeled Create Template in Word.
- **7.** If prompted by Word, accept any security questions to allow macros and document editing in Word.
- **8.** In the Word ribbon menu, click the Add-Ins tab and then click the Dynamics CRM button.
- 9. Click the OK button if prompted to confirm the list of recipients.
- **10.** You should now be on a blank Word document, with the Mailings tab selected in the Ribbon menu and the Mail Merge task pane on the right-hand side of the screen as seen in Figure 15.4.
- **11.** Create your mail merge document. Here are some pointers to help you in developing the body of the document:
  - Use Insert Merge Field in the Mailings tab on the Ribbon menu to insert fields from Dynamics CRM into the document.
  - You can use the Address Block and Greeting Line buttons in the Ribbon menu as well. If you do this, be sure to click the Match Fields button (also in the Ribbon menu) first in order to choose the correct fields from Dynamics CRM to include.
  - Be careful when choosing fields. Some field names actually contain a unique ID number though they may appear to contain text based on the field name. For example, if you wish to put the account name in a document, choose the Account\_Name field and NOT the Account field.
• You can also merge in data for the user that is running the merge OR for the owner of the record that the merge is being run for. Be sure to select the right fields depending on what you want displayed on your merge document. See Step 5, above.

#### FIGURE 15.4

Creating a Word mail merge

wil⊒ ×7 + til≖ Mail Merrie 67	049 doc (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word	- # X					
File Home Insert Page Jayout References Mailings	Review View	a 🛛					
		As A Find *					
Times New Rom * 12 * A A Aa* 🥙 🗄 * j= *		A ab Replace					
Paste → B I ∐ * abe x, x <sup>2</sup>   ∧ · <sup>ab</sup> / · ∧ · ≡ ≡ ≡		Change Styles = 🔓 Select =					
Clipboard 🕫 Font 🕫		ि Editing					
	NOTE: This image will need to be replaced when the next version of Dynamics CRM is released. Word mail merge functionality is not fully operational in this version so I had to pull a different image than we will be using.						
To start mail merge, click CRM.	could not even get to the right screen for what I wanted to show for the illustration						
In Microsoft Office Word 2007, the CRM 1	uno musti duotij.	=					
Mailings tab, depending on the mail merge		-					
After you click CRM, the macro creates a r The comment is the data source for your m		BLE> <th>Onortmity</th>	Onortmity				
<b>Caution:</b> To run mail merge, you must ena merge is completed, delete this file and the sensitive data.	ble macros for this document. After the mail B-CHP-Sential Coston associated text file to safeguard possibly est. J. Smell (71) (add monterfile-TB-CHB est. J. Smell (71) (71) (71) (71) (71) (71) (71) (71)	WH>Actual_Kevenue«/T erEst_Reven >TH>Rating=/TH> <th b&gt;Potential_Customer_Act Potential_Customer_Addr ~TH&gt;Potential_Customer AdTH&gt;Potential_Customer b&gt;<th>Potential_Custo</th></th 	Potential_Custo				
PROPOSAL	mer_AddressSteel stormer_AddressSteel Contonner_AddressSteel intial_Contonner_Address otential_Contonner_Address tetnial_Contonner_Address tetnial_Contonner_Address	«/Hi-s-TH>Potential_Cu _3 <th>Potential_ _Postale/TH&gt;<th>Pote _State_Prov</th><th ount_Mame</th </th> <th>Pote s1_Ccity</th> <th>Po s1_Ccity</th> <th>Po</th>	Potential_ _Postale/TH> <th>Pote _State_Prov</th> <th ount_Mame</th 	Pote _State_Prov	Pote s1_Ccity	Po s1_Ccity	Po
Client Contact:	TH>Potential_Customer_A >«TH>Potential_Customer	ddress_1Street_1Address_1_Street_2 </td					
«AddressDIOCK»	TH> <th>Fotential_Custo 3</th> <th>Potential_Custo</th>	Fotential_Custo 3	Potential_Custo	mer_Address_1Street_ stomer_Address_1_ZIP			
Account #: «Potential_Customer_Account	Number» Date: July 3, 2010 Postal	al_Customer_Address_1_ ser_Business_Unit <th>User_Street_2c/TH</th>	User_Street_2c/TH				
Sales Rep: «Owner»	Expires: **TH*User_State13/TH TH*User_State_Portions	>«TH>User_City«/TH»« /TH>«TH>User_ZIP_Pos •					
Estimated Budget: «Total_Amount»	tal_Coaled Times Times T THi-Usery Main, Phones T exTHs < The User, Last N the  Charge Dama	th> <th>User_First_Nam ame</th> <th>User_Ti ory_E_mail</th> <tr>&lt;</tr>	User_First_Nam ame	User_Ti ory_E_mail			
1							
Page: 1 of 1 Words: 113 🧭	E 🛱 🗔 🗏 = 100%	⊖					

- **12.** When complete, save the Word template to your computer desktop and close Word.
- **13.** Back in Dynamics CRM, click the Browse button on the template form and navigate to the document you just saved and then click the Attach button. Your Word mail merge form should look something like the image in Figure 15.5.
- 14. Save and close the template record in Dynamics CRM.

You've just created your first mail merge document using Dynamics CRM! You can leave this as a personal template so that it is only available to you, or you can set it as an organizational template so anyone else in the company can have access to it.

#### FIGURE 15.5

#### The Word mail merge form in Dynamics CRM

🕞 🗢 加 http://	/crm:5555/Contoso1/tools/mailn	erge/edit.aspx?id=%7b168DAC61-3885-D	F11-B7DA-00155D100	0C14% 🔽 👍 🗶 💽 Bing	
avorites 88 +	Microsoft Dynamics CRM	Mail Merge Template: Pro 🗙	1	🐴 • 🗟 • 🖃 📾 • Page •	Safety + Tools + 🔞
	and Close 🔓 🎒 🖧 Run W	orkflow	Actions +		P Help
9			0.2		@ <u>1</u> -+
Mail	Merge Template: Pro	posal Template		Working on s	olution:Default Solution
2					
' General					
retails	r				
ame	Proposal Template				
escription	Use this template in association	on with Opportunities to generate a prop	osal template.		4
ategorization					
ssociated Entity*	Opportunity				×
wnership					
wnership *	Individual	<u>ب</u>	Owner *	S Dynamics CRM Administrator	Q
anguage					
emplate Language	English				•
data fields					Ţ
, data neidh					
nta Fields		Selected fields: 35			
File Attachment					
					-
lame: Proposal	Template.xml (18,867 Byt	e(s))			Remove

## Using a Word mail merge template

After you create your Word mail merge template, you want to be able to use it to quickly create new documents. In our example above, we created a mail merge for opportunities, so I continue to use that in the instructions below — but you can use this with any mail merge-enabled entity in Dynamics CRM.

- 1. Navigate to the list that you wish to run a mail merge for.
- **2.** Select the records you want to run your merge on using views, filters, advanced find, or selecting the check box next to individual records (or some combination of all of these).
- **3.** In the Ribbon bar, click the Create Related tab and then click the Mail Merge button. You are presented with the dialog box in Figure 15.6.
- **4.** Complete the form and click the OK button. Note that you need to select a Personal or Organization mail merge template depending on the visibility settings for the mail merge template you want to use.
- 5. Click Open to open the Word document.



Mail merge dialog box

Mic	rosoft Dynamics CRM Mail Merge for Micro	osoft Office Word Webpage Dialog	
Aicro elect i	soft Dynamics CRM Mail Merge for Micros the options for this mail merge.	soft Office Word	
Selec	t the mail merge type:		
Lette	er 🗾		
Start	with a:		
C	Blank document		
С	Organization mail merge template		Q
¢	Personal mail merge template	Proposal Template	Q
Merg	je:		
e	Selected records on current page		
C	All records on current page		
0	All records on all pages		
Selec To se Da	t data fields: lect the data fields to use with this mail merge, clic ata Fields	k Data Fields.	
		ОК Са	ncel
)://crr	m:5555/Contoso1/_grid/cm 喩 Local intranet   F	Protected Mode: Off	

- **6.** If you see a security warning, you will need to click Enable Content (the exact warning may vary depending on the version of Word you are using). To avoid this warning in the future, you can revise your Office trust settings to trust content from Dynamics CRM. You may also need to enable macros in word (these are disabled by default).
- **7.** Click the Add-Ins tab in Word and then click the Dynamics CRM logo. You will be presented with a list of all the records you selected for merging.
- 8. Click OK to close this dialog box.
- **9.** In the Ribbon menu in Word, make sure you are on the Mailings tab and click the Preview Results button. Use the arrows near Preview Results button to move through the records.
- **10.** After you are satisfied that the merge is ready to run, click the Finish and Merge button and follow the instructions to complete the merge. If you are using Outlook for the merge, you are now presented with the option to update records in Dynamics CRM with an activity indicating that they were targeted with the mail merge (Figure 15.7).

**11.** Fill out the dialog box with the appropriate information to create an activity of the desired type, assign it to the appropriate individual, set the desired completion status, and run a quick campaign if desired.

ti t	crosoft Dynamics CRM Mail Merge for Microsoft Office Word        e Activities       the options for the Microsoft Dynamics CRM activities that will be created.	1×
ack	Activities in Microsoft Dynamics CRM Mail Merge	
C	Do not create Microsoft Dynamics CRM activities.	
	No activities will be created in Microsoft Dynamics CRM after the mail merge is completed.	
ſ	Create Microsoft Dynamics CRM activities Activity Details	
	Create activities in Microsoft Dynamics CRM when running mail merge.	
ন ৩	Me The owners of the records that are included in this mail merge Automatically close the activities as completed	
Г	Create a new quick campaign	
	Name:	
	OK Cancel	
		- 1

You can reuse the merge document as frequently as you like to create documents that use data from Dynamics CRM. Note that mail merges run with Word can be used for printed documents, bulk e-mail campaigns, envelopes, and other mail merge activities.

## Advanced Mail Merge: Quotes\_

Using Dynamics CRM and Microsoft Word, it is possible to create mail merge documents that include both "header" and "product line item" information for quotes. Developing this type of mail merge document requires some in-depth knowledge about Word mail merge functions. Here are a few tips to get you started:

- Start with the included template: Dynamics CRM includes a mail merge template for quotes. This includes much of the functionality that will be required to create your own mail merge quote. Find this template and edit it as a starting point. As a safeguard, save your edits as a new template so you can always go back to the original once you've made changes. After opening the template in Word, press Alt+F9 to edit the full template.
- Use a directory merge: Microsoft Word includes a specialized type of merge called a directory that enables you to list multiple records on a single page.

• Mail merge may not be the answer: Keep in mind that Dynamics CRM also includes a powerful reporting tool for creating custom reports called SQL Server Reporting Services (SSRS). If the capabilities available in mail merge are not sufficient for creating quotes (or other advanced mail merges) then consider using SSRS for this. This is discussed in Chapter 25.

# **Working with SharePoint Integration**

Increasingly, organizations are finding that marrying SharePoint and Dynamics CRM provides them with a flexible framework for collaborating, managing documents, automating processes, and developing custom applications. This section provides an overview of SharePoint integration that is either built into Dynamics CRM or is easy to create.

## **Cross-Reference**

This section assumes you have properly set up SharePoint integration and installed the SharePoint CRM Grid Component. For information on setting up Sharepoint integration, see Chapter 4. For information on advanced SharePoint integration, see Appendix A.

## Storing documents in SharePoint

Dynamics CRM has long included the ability to attach documents to records. However, it was never a very good solution for document management. Document versions could not be maintained, documents could not be searched, and it took a lot of manual effort to find exactly the document that you were looking for. Integrating Dynamics CRM 2011 with SharePoint changes all of that. Integration works with SharePoint 2007 or SharePoint 2010, though this chapter assumes you are working with the stronger capabilities found in SharePoint 2010.

## Activating document management for a CRM entity

Dynamics CRM allows you to manage documents for most of the different entities in the system. However, before you can begin to use document management for an entity, you need to activate document management for it. Use the process below to activate document management for an entity:

- 1. Navigate to Settings ↔ Document Management and click on Document Management Settings.
- **2.** If the entity that you wish to manage documents for has not yet been selected, click the check box next to it and click the Next button (this assumes the SharePoint URL has already been configured correctly).
- **3.** In Chapter 4 you should have already selected an appropriate folder structure for your SharePoint configuration. So you can click Finish on this page to complete the setup process.

The next time you open a record for the entity that you just selected, you will see a new related list in the navigation pane titled "Documents." This area will allow you to manage documents, in SharePoint, for these records. By default each record is given a separate subdirectory in SharePoint.

#### Associating a SharePoint location to a Dynamics CRM record

Every record in Dynamics CRM that you want to manage documents for will need to be associated with a SharePoint document location. A document location is a folder within a SharePoint library. There are two methods you can use to make this association, described below.

#### Auto-creating a location

The first time you navigate to the Documents related list in a record, you will be prompted with a popup message that a new folder will be created. You can click the OK button to create a folder automatically. After a few moments, the folder will be created, and you will see it in Dynamics CRM (Figure 15.8).

#### FIGURE 15.8

#### A SharePoint document location in Dynamics CRM

CAccount: General Dynar	mics - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer	_ <u>8 ×</u>
File Documents		C5 Admin @ Success Accelerators
Associate Edit Location Location		
Document Locations		
32 Account: Genera	al Dynamics	Accounts 💌 🛊 🛡
Information	6 Document Locations: General Documents -	
– General – Details	🖄 New - Add   Edit   🗙   Actions -   Open SharePoint	2
- Administration	Name Modified Modified By	3
L Notes	Change of Partner Form 8/1/2010 9:52 PM System Account	
▲ Related	Company Backgrounder 8/1/2010 9:52 PM System Account	
More Addresses	crm50dmsnapin-C5OrgIm 8/1/2010 5:07 PM System Account	
Activities	Customer Credit Auth 8/1/2010 9:52 PM System Account	
Sub-Accounts	Invoice Summary - 2nd Qtr 8/1/2010 9:52 PM System Account	
S Contacts	Monthly maintenance serv 8/1/2010 9:52 PM System Account	
Relationships	Standard Agreement 8/1/2010 9:52 PM System Account	
Sconnections 16 Documents 16 Audit History		
✓ Sales		
▲ Service		
▲ Marketing		
😤 Marketing Lists	1 of 7 selected.	4 4 Page 1 ▶
Status Actine	▼	
Status Atuve		
		1 000 P

## **Other SharePoint Document Integration Options**

Auto-creating document locations in SharePoint is limited to adding folders into a specific document library for each new record. In some cases, you may want to create an entire site in SharePoint for each record. For example, you may wish to create a customer site that has several document libraries, a wiki for sharing knowledge, and a discussion group for resolving issues for each account in Dynamics CRM. If this is how your SharePoint site is structured, then you have a couple of options for SharePoint integration.

- **1.** You can manually associate document locations with each Dynamics CRM record (described below).
- **2.** If you would like to use a SharePoint site template to auto-create a complete site every time a record is created in Dynamics CRM, then you should consider developing some code to automate this process. Appendix A has some ideas for advanced SharePoint integration.

Auto-created locations don't always have understandable location names. To change the name of the location, click the Edit Location button in the Ribbon menu. In the dialog box, change the name of the location to something easier to understand and then click the Save button. The next time you open the record, you will see the new name for the document location.

#### Manually associating a location

You can also manually associate a location with a Dynamics CRM record. This can be handy if you have created custom sites and document libraries for records in SharePoint. For example, you may create a site for every marketing campaign so you can collaborate on the campaign by sharing ideas, meeting agendas, and documents. Using the automatic approach to creating document locations won't work well in this case because the documents for your campaign will not be kept in the same Sharepoint site as all of your other campaign information. Use this method to manually associate a SharePoint document location to a Dynamics CRM record:

- 1. Navigate to the SharePoint document library that you want to associate with the record in Dynamics CRM. Copy the URL to the clipboard. Note: If you set up a parent URL for this location already, then you can bypass this step.
- **2.** Navigate to the record in Dynamics CRM that you want to associate with the SharePoint document location and then click on Documents related list.
  - If this is the first time you have come to the Documents area, then click the Cancel button when prompted to bypass creating a new document location automatically.
  - If you already auto-created a document location, you can still continue with the instructions below to associate this record with a second location.
- 3. In the Ribbon menu, click on the Add Location button.

- **4.** In the dialog box (see Figure 15.9) enter the name of the location and then specify the location as follows:
  - If you copied an existing location in Step 1, above, then you can paste it into the existing location field.
  - If you set up a parent URL for this type of Dynamics CRM entity, then you can choose the Create a Location option, select the appropriate Parent URL, and name the location.

#### FIGURE 15.9

Add Location dialog box

add Document l	ocation Webpage Dialog	×
Add Document Lo Create a new SharePo Dynamics CRM.	<b>cation</b> int folder or add an existing SharePoint folder as a document location in Microsoft	
Name	Project New Hope Files	-
Document Location	Specify an existing location      Tip: Copy the URL of the existing SharePoint folder here to associate the folder with Microsoft Dynamics CRM record.      Create a location      Top 1 Table 1 and 1 and 1 and 1	this
	Parent URL [16] <u>Default site Collection</u> Location Project New Hope Save Cancel	3
http://2008r2-demo:55	55/Success/ 👊 Local intranet   Protected Mode: Off	

**5.** Click the Save button, and your association is made and the document library is displayed.

## Tip

You can associate a record in Dynamics CRM with multiple document locations. This can come in handy if, for example, you work with distributors who sell into the accounts that you track in Dynamics CRM. Under the distributor record, you may want to be able to browse to the document locations for all of the accounts that they serve. To set up multiple document locations for a single record, follow the instructions for manually associating a location for each document location you want to add.

#### Working with SharePoint documents

If you're already familiar with SharePoint, then many of the functions available in Dynamics CRM for working with documents will be familiar to you. Because all of the documents from Dynamics CRM are stored directly inside of SharePoint, you can access them from either SharePoint or from Dynamics CRM. Here are some of the things you can do with SharePoint documents from within Dynamics CRM:

- **Create new documents.** You can click the New button to create a new document directly within Dynamics CRM. When you save the document, it will be saved to the document library.
- Add existing documents. You can click the Add button to add new documents. From the dialog box you can choose to add a single document or multiple documents. If you select multiple documents you can drag multiple documents from your desktop and drop them directly into the document location.
- Edit documents in the library. You can double-click a document to edit it.
- Work in SharePoint. You can click the Open SharePoint button to open the SharePoint site that contains the document library. This can be handy if there are other SharePoint features that you want to use on the site.
- Other options. The actions menu contains a number of familiar SharePoint functions that you can also access directly within Dynamics CRM. One of the most useful ones is the Copy Shortcut option this allows you to send a link to a selected document to your colleagues via e-mail without having to attach the document. Tracking your documents in SharePoint keeps you from having to reconcile different versions that may be in multiple e-mail boxes and keeps the size of your e-mail folders smaller.

## Sharing Documents Outside of Your Organization.

SharePoint is a great tool for collaborating and managing documents within your business. But the native SharePoint integration with Dynamics CRM doesn't facilitate sharing documents with individuals outside of your organization. For example, if you were to embed a link to a SharePoint document into an e-mail that went to a client, they would not be able to open that document unless you had configured SharePoint correctly.

Many options are available for configuring SharePoint to collaborate with others outside of your organization. A few of the more widely implemented approaches are:

- Create a document sharing portal. This can be a single document library that is open to outside access without requiring any authentication. Any individual inside or outside of your organization can download documents from this library without a login. This has the advantage of being a very fast way to delivery documents. But, of course, it also has the disadvantage of leaving itself totally open to anyone (including competitors) accessing the documents.
- Set up individual customer portals. Although this takes a bit more time and effort, customer portals can provide secure access to unique SharePoint sites and document libraries to each customer. This provides a strong foundation for collaborating with those inside and outside of your organization.

See Appendix A for more information on integrating SharePoint with Dynamics CRM to create a collaboration portal to connect people inside and outside of your organization.

## Publishing Excel pivot tables as SharePoint dashboards

In Chapter 23, you will learn how to create dynamic reports and charts from Dynamics CRM data using Microsoft Excel. These reports (dynamic pivot tables) can be published into SharePoint using the Microsoft Excel Web part. Because these reports have a live connection to data in Dynamics CRM, the dashboards are refreshed every time the SharePoint page is updated. The following list provides an overview of the steps you need to take to publish Excel pivot tables as SharePoint dashboards:

- Make sure you have the correct version of SharePoint. You need to be sure that you are using the Enterprise version of SharePoint to take advantage of Excel services.
- **Create a dashboard page in SharePoint using the Excel Web part.** This is the page that you use to display your report. You can include reports from sources other than Dynamics CRM on this page as well to provide a complete corporate dashboard.
- **Create an Excel pivot table.** Using the information provided in Chapter 23, create an Excel pivot table and any accompanying charts.
- Load the pivot table to a SharePoint document library. Most SharePoint dashboards include a library dedicated to holding the files needed to render the dashboard pages. Load your Excel file to the appropriate SharePoint document library.
- Add the Excel Web part. On the SharePoint dashboard page, add an Excel Web part and configure it to use the file that you loaded to the SharePoint document library. SharePoint includes a number of settings you can change to configure exactly how the report will work.

## Using SharePoint 2010 tags and notes

SharePoint 2010 includes a number of new collaboration tools including tags and notes.

Tags enable you to associate terms with any Web page or SharePoint document in a free-form manner. For example, you can tag a document as good quote template. Similarly, you can tag Web pages with items such as "competitor." Because every record in Dynamics CRM is assigned a unique URL, you can use tags to associate terms with any Dynamics CRM record. For example, you can tag an account as "at risk" or "hot." You can then view a list of your tags in a "tag cloud" and can click on the tag "hot" to see a list of all of the Dynamics CRM records that were tagged with this value.

Notes are similar to tags in that they can be used on any Web page. Notes, however, allow you to publish more information (think of them as "taking notes") about the specific page. For instance, you can post a note entry to an opportunity in Dynamics CRM that says, "Excellent demo with this prospect, they seem interested in a proof of concept project." Notes are visible in the SharePoint noteboard to all users who have subscribed to view them (similar to Facebook or LinkedIN social media posts).

SharePoint 2010 includes a simple-to-use tool for taking advantage of tags and notes. Depending on how your organization has set up SharePoint 2010, the ways to access this tool may vary. With a typical setup you will:

- **1.** Visit your My Site in SharePoint.
- 2. Navigate to My Profile and then to Tags and Notes.
- **3.** On the bottom left-hand side of the screen you will see a section titled Add SharePoint Tags and Notes Tool. Follow the instructions in this section to add this tool to your favorites in Internet Explorer.
- **4.** After the link has been added to your favorites bar, you can click it from any page (including a Dynamics CRM record) to add tags or notes to the record.

After a record has been tagged or had notes posted to it, anyone who navigates to the same page can see the notes and tags. Figure 15.10 is an example of a tags and notes popup for a Dynamics CRM record.

#### FIGURE 15.10

SharePoint tags and notes on a Dynamics CRM record

@Tags and Note Board - Windows Internet Explorer	_ 🗆 ×
Tags Note Board	<u>^</u>
⊘ My Tags	
hoti;	
Private: Other people cannot see that you tagged this item. The tag text is public.     Save	
Suggested Tags	
hot!	
Recent Activities	
P DEMO\C5Admin wrote "Met with their project team to" on 8/1/2010	-

# Summary

When combined with Office and SharePoint, you can significantly expand on the breadth, depth, and speed of what you can accomplish with Dynamics CRM. Microsoft Excel integration enables you to export records and to rapidly update existing records. Microsoft Word integration provides the ability to quickly create and access mail merge documents and update Dynamics CRM with activities whenever a mail merge is run. SharePoint enhances the document management capabilities of Dynamics CRM and provides social networking tools.

# CHAPTER ]\_6

# Tailoring CRM to Your Organization

ynamics CRM 2011 was built from the ground up to be customized. In fact, if your organization is using only the functionality available directly out of the box, then you are tapping into only a small fraction of the power available to you. Moreover, much of the customization available in Dynamics CRM can be accessed without writing any code — bringing customization within reach of nondevelopers. This chapter provides an overview of the concept of developing applications without coding (also referred to as "model driven development") by customizing Dynamics CRM.

With the release of Dynamics CRM 2011, Microsoft has introduced the solution framework. Solutions serve as "containers" that contain multiple customized components in an easy-to-manage package. Solutions provide a way to more easily manage the process of deploying customizations within your organization or from third-party organizations. For individuals who will be making customizations to Dynamics CRM, it is important to understand the solution framework explained in this chapter in order to ensure that your customizations are easy to manage and take advantage of best practices in working within the solution framework.

The purpose of this chapter is to cover customization concepts and how to work with the solution framework. Subsequent chapters will focus on how to make specific customizations to Dynamics CRM.

## Caution

The ease-of-customization available to organizations in Dynamics CRM is a double-edged sword. On the one hand, organizations can adapt to a changing environment faster than ever before. On the other hand, it means that the application can quickly become over-complicated and difficult to use. It is important that organizations develop a governance process to ensure that all changes reviewed and prioritized before implementation — and that ongoing training is provided.

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Customization and configuration concepts

Working with publishers and solutions

Managed and unmanaged solutions

# Understanding Customization and Configuration

Customization and configuration in Dynamics CRM brings custom application development within reach of nondevelopers. This is a great advantage to businesses of all sizes. Smaller businesses can develop customizations that deliver a competitive advantage without requiring full-time developers. Larger businesses can have business analysts perform core customization tasks and can free their developers to focus on only the portions of application development that require their skills.

However, this also presents a range of new terminology and concepts that are important to understand. This section provides an overview of some of the terminology that may be new to you as well as some of the core concepts related to developing solutions using a model driven development (MDD) approach.

## Understanding customization terminology

The terms in Table 16.1 are used throughout the remainder of this section to describe concepts related to the customization and configuration of Dynamics CRM.

**Customization Terminology** 

	87
Term	Definition
Code	Computer code (such as jscript, HTML, Visual Basic, C#, or Silverlight) can be included in custom Dynamics CRM solutions. Options for coding are discussed in section VI.
Component	Components are portions of a Dynamics CRM solution. A partial list of components includes entities, reports, processes, security roles, and dashboards.
Configure	Configuration is a broad term that has become somewhat diluted. In general, we refer to configuration as the process of setting up the basic portions of Dynamics CRM (such as security roles, business units, and other settings). However, configuration is also often used in connection with making customizations to the user interface.
Customize	Customization is the process of making changes to the Dynamics CRM user interface. This can include making changes though the user interface (as we discuss throughout this section) or through writing custom code (discussed in the next section).
Declarative design	Declarative design (or declarative programming) is an approach to developing computer applications where the application is controlled by a set of rules and properties rather than through writing custom code. Dynamics CRM incorporates declarative design concepts to make many customization features available to non-programmers.

#### **TABLE 16.1**

Term	Definition
Dependencies	Dependencies in Dynamics CRM are components which are dependent upon other components. For example, if a field is included on a form and in a view, then the form and view are both dependent upon that field. If the field were deleted, it would create a situation in which the view and form could not be displayed properly.
Entity	Entities in Dynamics CRM are similar to tables in database applications or to Excel spreadsheets. In Dynamics CRM, however, entities include not only fields but also data entry forms, views, and charts related to the entity. Entities are discussed in detail in Chapter 17.
Field	Fields are the individual data elements that are stored in an entity. For example, First Name and Last Name are both fields on the contact entity. Fields are discussed in detail in Chapter 17.
Instance	An instance of Dynamics CRM can be thought of as an "installation." The difference, however, is that many instances can be a part of a single installation. For example, some organizations will have a "sandbox" instance of Dynamics CRM just for testing and development purposes, and a "production" instance that they use to run their business. Others may have an instance for one business unit (such as Human Resources) and another for a different business unit (such as Research and Development).
Managed solu- tions	Managed solutions allow Dynamics CRM solution publishers to control the ability of others to make modifications to some or all of the components in a solution. Managed properties and managed solutions are discussed within this chapter.
Model driven development	Model driven development (MDD) is similar in concept to declarative design (above). The concept behind model driven development is that individuals can create parts of a software application while still in the design stage that can be incorporated directly into the final product (blending together the process of documenting application requirements and developing the final solution — thus reducing the amount of time required to produce a final solution). The Dynamics CRM solution framework incorporates an MDD approach to development.
Publisher	Publishers in Dynamics CRM are organizations that develop custom solutions. A publisher can include an organization that makes their own solutions for internal usage or third-party developers who re-sell their solutions. Publishers are discussed in more detail later in this chapter.
Relational database	Relational databases link multiple tables (or entities in the case of Dynamics CRM) together in different types of relationships. For example, the account entity is related to the opportunity entity so that when you view one account you can see many opportunities that are related to it. Relational databases are discussed in more detail in Chapter 17.
Solution	Solutions in Dynamics CRM are "containers" that hold a set of components and associated customizations. Solutions make it easier to manage, share, and control customizations that have been made to Dynamics CRM. Solutions are discussed in more detail later in this chapter.
Solution layering	Solution layering describes the process of creating a solution that incorporates components of an existing solution in a new solution.

## Understanding model driven development

Dynamics CRM 2011 incorporates model driven development (MDD) approaches designed to make it faster and easier for organizations to customize and expand upon the core CRM functionality. As the name implies, MDD enables application development that requires relatively little custom coding. Using MDD, portions of a software application can be modeled during the earliest stages of a project. Those portions can then be incorporated directly into the application without requiring additional development in later stages.

Traditional software application development, in contrast to MDD, typically launches with a requirements stage in which the needs of the project are thoroughly assessed and documented. This is usually followed by design and coding phases in which the application is built primarily by writing custom computer code.

MDD offers an approach that delivers results much faster than traditional development, at a lower cost, and with a reduced need for developer expertise. Furthermore, using the MDD approach, individuals who understand the business needs can be directly involved with modeling the application — delivering a result that is much more closely aligned with the needs of the business.

While knowledge of MDD is not a requirement for working with Dynamics CRM, it is helpful to understand the MDD concepts outlined below.

## **Documenting and designing**

MDD can reduce the time required to develop and extend software applications. However, it is still important to develop proper design documentation for any software application project — particularly for complex projects that will support a large number of users. The strength of MDD is that portions of the application can be created as a part of the documentation phase. Thus, the documentation process can be completed faster and with a higher quality outcome because users can review a model that is closer to the actual end product. Furthermore, the model can be reused during the development phase to shorten that portion of the project lifecycle as well. For example, a form can be laid out very close to what will be presented to the user in the final product, and users can approve the form design far earlier in the project lifecycle. The model elements (such as forms, reports, and charts) can then be reused later in the project lifecycle to reduce the amount of time required to develop the application.

## Design and code: Identifying the gaps

MDD also enables a nondeveloper to focus on modeling the core set of customizations for a solution. Gaps that require custom coding can be noted in the project requirements documentation and can be addressed during the development phase. For example, while creating a form for a pilot project, the design team may note that custom code is required to provide a set of sales tips to users based on the phase of the sales process. This code can later be written by a developer and added to the application.

## Working with a development sandbox

Because the MDD approach to customizing Dynamics CRM can involve a fair amount of trial and error, most organizations will find it beneficial to set up a separate environment for development. This will allow the design team to publish and test changes without impacting the individuals who are currently using Dynamics CRM in production. The concept of a development environment is discussed in Chapter 20.

## Accessing the customizations area

The functionality we discuss in this chapter is found in the customization group in the settings area of Dynamics CRM, as illustrated in Figure 16.1. This area includes sub-areas for customizations and solutions, as described in the following list:

- **Customizations:** This sub-area includes access to all components associated with customizing Dynamics CRM. Typically, you navigate to this area when:
  - You want to customize Dynamics CRM without storing the changing in a solution. For more information, see the "Using the default solution" section.
  - You need to add a new publisher or update the default publisher. In most cases, organizations will need to update the default publisher once after going live with Dynamics CRM.
  - You need to download the Web services description files (WSDL). If you are developing custom code that works with Dynamics CRM, you may need to download the WSDL file to integrate into your programming code.
- **Solutions:** This sub-area takes you directly to a list of all available solutions in your instance of Dynamics CRM. You navigate to this area when:
  - You want to make changes to existing customizations. You can access any solution directly from this sub-area. After you have opened a solution, you can make any desired changes to it.
  - You want to create a new solution. From this sub-area, you can create new solutions to extend your instance of Dynamics CRM or to share with other Dynamics CRM instances.
- **Dynamics Marketplace:** Navigate to this area when you want to browse the Solutions Marketplace. Microsoft has developed a marketplace where third parties can make their solutions available for sale and download directly into Dynamics CRM. This marketplace is integrated directly into Dynamics CRM.

#### The customizations group in Dynamics CRM



## **Working with Solutions**

New in Dynamics CRM 2011 is the concept of solutions. Solutions not only make it easier to acquire third-party add-ons for Dynamics CRM, they also give you an excellent tool for managing the customizations that your own organization makes to the application. By using customizations you can improve:

- **Solution manageability:** Solutions are containers that bundle sets of customizations together. In previous versions of Dynamics CRM, customizations were not grouped into solutions, and it was often difficult to differentiate the components of one solution from another.
- **Solution portability:** Entire solutions can be exported from one instance of Dynamics CRM and imported into another. This means that you can develop customizations in a test environment and easily redeploy them into a production environment. In addition, it means that third-party customizations can be readily installed into other instances of Dynamics CRM.

- **Team development:** Different individuals can work on different solutions using different instances of Dynamics CRM at the same time. These different solutions can be imported into the same production instance of Dynamics CRM. This can speed the development process by allowing different individuals to work on development at the same time (so long as they are not working on the same solution).
- **Control your customizations:** Customizations can be controlled. Properties for individual components can be "managed" to disallow others from making changes. This enables your organization to lock down certain portions of the functionality, while allowing some power users to make some of their own customizations.
- **Merge (or layer) solutions:** Functionality delivered in one solution can be expanded by "layering" other solutions that reuse components from the first solution.

## Understanding the steps of solution management

This section provides an overview of the solution management process. Although the process for working with solutions is fairly open ended, we will present it in the typical sequence of steps that most individuals use when getting started. Figure 16.2 is a diagram of the typical process for creating and managing solutions. Below the figure is a brief explanation of each step with cross-references to other sections in this chapter or subsequent chapters.

## FIGURE 16.2

The solution management process



- 1. **Default Solution?:** Determine if you will be making changes to the default solution or to a custom solution. We do not recommend making changes to the default solution. See the "Using the default solution" section for more information.
- 2. New Publisher?: If this is the first solution that your organization has developed, then you should either update the default publisher or create a publisher. Most organizations will only need to update the default publisher once.

- **3. Create Publisher:** See the section later in this chapter, "Creating a new publisher" for information on how to create a publisher.
- **4.** New Solution?: If the customizations you want to make are associated with an existing solution, then you should use that solution if possible. If you wish to modify a solution that is managed (such as a third-party solution) then you will need to create a new solution and reuse components from the existing solution. If your customizations are not related to any existing solutions, then you should create a new stand-alone solution.
- **5. Create Solution:** See the section later in this chapter, "Creating a solution," for more information.
- **6.** Add Components to Solution: Any components required by your solution should be added at this time. This can include system components (such as the account entity) or components that are part of other solutions. For more information see the "Adding components to a solution" and "Layering: Building on existing solutions" sections.
- **7. Customize or Create Components:** Within the selected solution, customize or create the components required to complete your solution. How to create and customize solution components is covered in subsequent chapters of this book.
- **8. Publish:** After you have completed the solution, publish it to Dynamics CRM. Publishing is explained in Chapter 17.
- **9. Test:** As always, it is important that you test your changes prior to rolling them out for others in your organization. If your tests fail, you may need to go back to Step 6 or 7 until your solution passes all tests.
- **10. Rollout:** Depending on the size and complexity of your business, the rollout step may take on one of many different forms:
  - Smaller organizations may move directly into user training.
  - Mid-sized organizations may export changes and import them into their production environment.
  - Large organizations may export changes and import them into a testing environment that exactly mirrors their production environment. After completing testing, they may then import the changes into their production environment.

## Understanding solutions and publishers

Publishers are organizations or individuals that make customizations to Dynamics CRM. Prior to making changes to Dynamics CRM for the first time, you should edit the default publisher. For most organizations, this one-time edit of the default publisher is all that should be required. If, however, you plan to republish your customizations and provide them to other organizations, then you may want to create a publisher specifically for that purpose. Some larger organizations may wish to create publishers based on different business units or even different individual developers.

## When Should I Create a Solution?.

The framework for creating new solutions is flexible and will allow your organization to develop their own set of business practices for solution creation and management. Use the examples below to help you along in the process of deciding when you should and should not create new solutions.

## Create a new solution

- To manage a customized sales process that includes forms, fields, Web resources, processes and reports.
- To manage a single solution containing all of the general configurations that you wish to make to Dynamics CRM (see the section "Using the default solution" below, for more information).
- To manage a significant new piece of functionality that may involve custom entities, charts, processes, and reports. This may include items such as expense reporting, inventory tracking, or distributor management.

## Do not create a new solution

- To manage each miscellaneous customization that you make (for this, we recommend using a "base solution" which is explained in the section below, "Using the default solution").
- To manage customizations on an entity-by-entity basis. Many organizations manage large projects by scheduling milestones on an entity-by-entity basis. While this is perfectly acceptable from a project management perspective, most entities are interrelated with other entities so solutions should focus on functionality rather than data structures.

Solutions are containers that hold a set of customizations. Any publisher may create any number of solutions to manage customizations that are being made to Dynamics CRM. A solution can be owned by only one publisher and, as a rule, should only be managed by that publisher. You may also import solutions from third-party publishers. See the nearby sidebar for tips on when you should (and should not) create solutions.

## Using the default solution

When you install Dynamics CRM 2011, it creates a solution with the name "Default Solution" for your organization. This default solution contains all of the components available in Dynamics CRM, including any new components that have been imported as part of another solution. Rather than creating a solution for your customizations, you are free to make changes directly to the default solution.

However, as a best practice, we recommend that you avoid making changes to the default solution. Keeping all of your customizations compartmentalized into named solutions gives you an easier way to roll customizations back if needed. We recommend the following approach for solution management:

- Create a new solution called Base Customizations to manage all of the general customizations that you make to Dynamics CRM that may not fall into a specific solution. This may include changes to fields, forms, and views for accounts, contacts, leads, and so forth.
- Create additional solutions for new functionality that can be clearly bundled together (see the nearby sidebar, "When Should I Create a Solution?"

With the above recommendation in mind, there are also some good reasons why you may want to use the default solution. To help you decide on the best approach for your organization, consider the list of pros and cons in Table 16.2.

#### **TABLE 16.2**

## Pros and Cons of Using the Default Solution

Pros	Cons
<b>Simplicity:</b> For nontechnical system customizers, it is easier to work with a single default solution rather than to create multiple solutions for different functionality. This is particularly true for small businesses that mostly use the core functions that are included with Dynamics CRM	<b>Solution tracking:</b> If all customizations are made to the default solution, then it can be difficult and time consuming to identify discrete customizations that have been made.
<b>Ease of access:</b> The Dynamics CRM user interface includes Ribbon menu shortcuts that provide fast access to the default solution to make quick changes. If you do not use the default solution, then it will require a few extra clicks to access the solution that you wish to modify.	<b>Solution documentation and management:</b> If all customizations are maintained within the default solution, then it can be very difficult to determine the purpose of each individual customization.
	<b>Team development:</b> On larger teams, multiple individuals can concurrently work on different solutions. However, if only the default solution is being utilized, then merging customizations from different sources can introduce a number of quality issues.
	<b>Portability:</b> Exporting and importing a solution is a fairly straightforward process. Customizations that are made to the default solution, however, introduce some time-consuming issues for exporting and importing.

## Creating a publisher and editing the default publisher

When you initially install Dynamics CRM, you should edit the default publisher with your organization's settings. You may also want to create a new publisher at that time. To navigate to the list of publishers in Dynamics CRM, go to Settings  $\Rightarrow$  Customizations and then click on Publishers.

## Editing the default publisher

The default publisher contains settings that describe your organization. You want to change these settings prior to making any customizations. To edit the default publisher:

- Navigate to the list of publishers and click on the value in the Name column of the default publisher (this will usually be something like "DefaultPublisher[Your Company Name]"). You will be presented with the data entry form in Figure 16.3.
- **2.** Update the fields on the form as follows:
  - **Display Name:** Change this to a name that describes your organization (in most cases this will be the name of your organization, but in large organizations it may be the name of your business unit).
  - **Name:** This value cannot be changed. For most organizations this will not present a problem. However, if you plan to make your solutions available to others and you want to create a unique name that aligns better with your company branding, then you will want to create a new publisher for this purpose (see below).
  - **Description:** Entering good, descriptive information for the description is always a best practice particularly if you plan to create multiple publishers. A good description might be, "We use this publisher to make internal-facing solutions and customizations to Dynamics CRM; do not use this publisher for solutions that you plan to share with others inside or outside of our organization."
  - **Prefix:** This small field is the most important one on the form. It permanently impacts every customization you make to Dynamics CRM using this publisher. Every component (entity, field, and so on) that you create in Dynamics CRM will be prefixed with this value. The value will only show up in views available to administrators and developers. Although this value can be changed later, components created with this value permanently retain it so select a value that you don't plan to change. This is usually a three- to five-letter acronym that your organization may be known for. The prefix makes it fairly easy to identify customizations that your team made to Dynamics CRM versus changes that may have been made by others.
  - **Option Value Prefix:** These are the first numbers that will be assigned to any new option set values that you create with this publisher. These numbers reduce the chance that duplicate values are created when importing solutions from this publisher that contain option sets. In general, you can leave this number unchanged.
  - Contact Details: Fill in the contact information for your organization in this section.

## Creating a new publisher

Most organizations will never need to create a new publisher. However, if your organization will share their solutions with other organizations (internally or externally), then you may want to create an additional publisher to identify the source of each solution.

To create a new publisher, navigate to the list of publishers and click the New button. Follow the instructions in the preceding section to fill out the publisher form.

blisher: Defaul	Publisher360Centric - Microsoft Dynamics (	CRM - Windows Internet Explo	rer	_0
🕑 🗢 🚂 http:/	2008r2-demo:5555/360Centric/tools/publisher/edit.a	spx?id=%7bD21AAB71-79E7-11DD-88	7 🔽 🐓 🗶 🖸 Bing	٩
vorites 📈 Pu	blishers: Publisher 🛛 加 Publisher: DefaultP	Pu ×	🟠 🕶 🗟 👻 🖃 🖶 💌 Page 🕇	🔹 Safety 🔻 Tools 👻 🔞
Save	and Close 📓 🍓 🐀 <u>A</u> ctions 🕶			
Publisher: I	Default Publisher 360 Centric <b>ation</b>			
General				<b>^</b>
riendly Name *	Default Publisher for 360Centric	Unique Name *	DefaultPublisher360Centric	
Description				
Default publisher	for this organization			
Set the prefix n	ame for custom entities and fields			
	Dew	Option Value Prefix	10,000	
Prefix *				

## **Other publishers**

Note that other publishers may also be visible in the list of publishers in Dynamics CRM. These are other organizations that have provided solutions which have been imported into your instance of Dynamics CRM. These publishers cannot be edited. The publishers cannot be deleted unless you first delete any solutions that were provided by the publisher.

## **Creating a solution**

Use the steps below to create a new solution:

- 1. Navigate to Settings Solutions and click the New button. You are presented with the data entry form in Figure 16.4.
- 2. Fill out the form using the list below as a guideline:
  - Display Name: Enter a name that describes your solution.
  - **Name:** Dynamics CRM also suggests a unique name after you enter the friendly name, but you can change this to another value. Note that after the form has been saved, this value cannot be changed.
  - **Publisher:** Select the publisher that this solution should be associated with. Note that the prefix set for the publisher will be used for all customizations in the solution.

- **Configuration Page:** This value allows you to create a page that can be used to provide more information on your solution and that can provide configuration controls. The field can initially be left blank and a Web resource can be created as a part of the solution that serves as the configuration page.
- Version: Enter a version number for this solution, such as 0.0.0.1. The convention for this numbering is major.minor.build.revision though you can use whatever numbering convention your organization agrees upon. You can also choose to enter only the first -two to three portions of the version if you prefer. Version numbers should be manually updated as you go through the development process.
- **Description:** As always, it is a best practice to provide a thorough description of the solution using this space. Good descriptions make solutions easier to maintain.
- **Package Type:** This field cannot be edited until the solution is exported. See the section "Working with managed properties" later in this chapter for more information.
- **3.** After you have completed the form, click the Save button to save the solution without closing the form. The solution is saved, and you can begin adding components to the new solution.

Solutions data entry form

Solution. Hew - Microsoft Dy	namics CRM - Window	ws Internet Explorer				
🛇 🗢 加 http://2008r2-demo:	:5555/360Centric/tools/soli	lution/edit.aspx		• 47 × 0	Bing	P
Favorites 🛛 🚂 Microsoft Dyna	mics CRM 🛄 Solution	n: New - Micr 🗙		ĝ • 6	) 🕆 🖃 🖶 🕶 Page 🕶 Safet	y 🔻 Tools 🕶 🌘
ile 🛃 🛃 Save and Close						@ Help (ALT+H
2 Solution: New						
lution: New						
Information	▼ General					
Components	Friendly Name *			Unique Name *	1	
Entities	Publisher *		Q	State	🕫 Unmanaged 🥤 Manageo	d .
Security Roles	Version *			Configuration Page		Q
Processes	Description					
Reports						
Contract Templates						
Article Templates						
📴 Mail Merge Templates						
Client Extensions						
Web Resources						
So Connection Roles						
16 Field Security Profiles						
Plug-in Assemblies						
Sdk Message Processin						
Service Endpoints						
	Installation Details	ls				
	Installed On					
	Installed On					

## Adding components to a solution

After you have created a solution, add the components to it that you wish to customize. Solution components may include new components (for example, create a new entity called "Project" for a project management solution), existing system components that you wish to customize (for example, add the account entity if you wish to add fields to the account data entry form), or components that are part of other solutions that you wish to extend (see the section on Layering later in this chapter for more information on extending other solutions). Components can include entities (and their associated fields, forms, views, and charts), option sets, security roles, dashboards, templates, Web resources, and a number of other items. Figure 16.5 is an example solution; the navigation pane includes a list of the various different components available for a solution.

Use the steps below to add new components to a solution.

- **1.** Open the solution (Settings ⇔ Solutions and click on the name of the selected solution).
- **2.** In the Navigation pane, click on the type of component that you want to add, such as Entities or Dashboards.
- **3.** Do one of the following based on the type of component that you wish to add:
  - If you plan to modify an existing component as part of your solution, then click the Add Existing button. Browse to the component that you wish to add (or select multiple components) and click the OK button.
  - If you need to create a new component, then click on the New button. Fill out the appropriate forms to create the component (see the relevant chapters of this book for more information on how to create the various different types of components).
- 4. Repeat Steps 2 and 3 for every component that you wish to add to the solution.

## Layering: Building on existing solutions

There may be times when you want to expand on a solution that was created by another publisher. To accomplish this, you can include components from other solutions in your solution. Depending on the managed property settings for the component you can then make additional modifications to the selected components. The process for layering solutions is fairly open-ended, but the steps below provide a general framework for layering:

- 1. Import (or create) an initial solution (we will call this "solution A").
- **2.** Create a new solution (we will call this "solution B") and choose to add existing components to it.

- 3. Browse to the components in "solution A" that you want to extend using "solution B."
  - If you do not see the component available in the list, then it is because the publisher has set the managed properties for this solution to prohibit customizations.
  - When you import a component, Dynamics CRM is aware of dependencies that require other components to also be included in the solution and will prompt you to add those components as well (as shown in Figure 16.6).
- **4.** Modify the components however you like. You can make any modifications that the publisher has allowed in the managed properties. Dynamics CRM will merge changes you make in solution B with solution A.

Solutions can be created in any number of layers. Figure 16.7 is a conceptual illustration of a candidate recruiting solution that was then modified with a candidate communication process and was further modified to include a reporting dashboard.

#### FIGURE 16.5

A custom solution and the component navigation pane

Solution: SalesGuide - Micr	osoft Dynamics CRM - Windows	Internet Explorer				1×
🕒 💬 🗢 🏄 http://2008r2-dem	o:5555/360Centric/tools/solution/edit.	aspx?id=49dbb005-a1b4-df11-	9f3d-0015 💌 🐓 🗶 💽 Bing	3	2	•
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🚂 Microsoft Dyn	amics CRM 🏄 Solution: SalesG	uid ×	🖄 <b>-</b> 🗟 -	🖃 🖶 🔻 Page	🔹 Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🌘	9-
File 🔒 🕞 Save and Close	🎒   🖫 Export   👦 Import Tran	slations   🛺 Export Translati	ions 📋 🔞 Publish All Customiza	tions 👍 <u>A</u> ctions	• @ <u>H</u> elp (ALT+ H	+) +
32 Solution: SalesGuid	e					
Solution: Sales Guide	Component Type All		•			
Components	New •   🕞 Add Existing •	≻ Delete   ≣ <sub>K</sub> Remove	👌 Publish 🛛 📲 Show Depende	encies   🚟 Add R	equired Components	1
Option Sets	Display Name 🔺	Name	Type	State	Customizable	2
<ul> <li>Processes</li> <li>Reports</li> <li>Reports</li> <li>Contract Templates</li> <li>Contract Templates</li> <li>Mail Merge Templates</li> <li>Client Extensions</li> <li>Veb Resources</li> <li>Web Resources</li> <li>Field Security Profiles</li> <li>Plug-in Assemblies</li> <li>Service Endpoints</li> </ul>			No Solution Com	ponent records are	available in this view.	
	0 - 0 of 0 (0 selected)				•	-
Status: Existing						
			Local intranet   Protecter	d Mode: Off	🖓 🕶 🔍 100% 🔻	. //

Add dependent components dialog box

he system detected that the selected components require other components currently not included in the solution. Do you want to ad nose components? > Yes, include required components. Sissing Required Components Diplopily Name ▲ Name/Id Component Type Parent Entity Managed Solution	he system detected that the sel nose components? ? Yes, include required comp ? No, do not include required fissing Required Components	elected components requi ponents. 2d components.	re other components curr	rently not included in the so	olution. Do you want to add
ore components? * Yes, include required components. issing Required Components issing Required Components issing Required Components Diplay Name A Name/d Component Type Parent Entity Managed Solution	<ul> <li>Yes, include required components?</li> <li>Yes, include required components?</li> <li>No, do not include required issing Required Components</li> </ul>	ponents. 2d components.			
<ul> <li>Yes, include required components.</li> <li>No, do not include required components.</li> <li>issing Required Components</li> <li>Display Name A Name/Id Component Type Parent Entity Managed Solution</li> </ul>	Yes, include required comp No, do not include required issing Required Components	ponents. 2d components.			
No. do not include required components.           Tissing Required Components           Display Name A         Name/Id         Component Type         Parent Entity         Managed Solution	No, do not include required issing Required Components	ed components.			
lissing Required Components Display Name ▲ Name∄d Component Type Parent Entity Managed Solution	lissing Required Components				
Display Name 🔺 Name/Id Component Type Parent Entity Managed Solution					
	Display Name 🔺 👘 Nar	ame/Id	Component Type	Parent Entity	Managed Solution
Inventory C5_contractlineinventory Entity Active Solution	Inventory c5_	_contractlineinventory			
C_conductamentority Endly Acade Solution	Jony Co_	_contractimentority	Entity		Active Solution

#### FIGURE 16.7

Conceptual overview of a layered solution



## Working with managed properties

Managed properties allow you to lock down some or all of the custom components in a solution. You can create solutions that limit the ability of others to make further customizations.

## To Layer or Not to Layer \_\_\_\_\_

If your organization is the sole publisher of a solution, then in most cases you will not need to layer in multiple solutions. One reason why you may want to layer an internally developed solution is if you want to maintain different versions for different instances of Dynamics CRM. For example, you may create a project management solution that will be deployed into two different instances of Dynamics CRM within your organization. One business group may require a simple base level version, while another one may require a complex set of additions. By maintaining a layered solution, you can modify the base customization and make those improvements available to both business units while making the complex additions available only to the second business unit.

If you obtained a solution from a third party, and it is a managed solution, then your only option to extend the solution will be to layer it into another solution. This assumes that the managed properties for the third-party solution allow you to reuse it.

Each component has its own set of managed properties that control how it can be customized. Note that system components (such as the account and contact entities) cannot be assigned managed properties — this prevents other publishers from locking you out of the components that were included with Dynamics CRM. Follow these steps to manage components of a solution:

- 1. Open the solution containing components that you want to manage.
- **2.** Navigate to a component that you would like to set the managed properties for, such as an entity, field, form, or security role.
- **3.** In the menu bar, look for the button titled Managed Properties (Figure 16.8 is an illustration of the Managed Properties button for a custom entity) and click it.
- **4.** You are presented with a dialog box containing all of the managed properties for the selected component as illustrated in Figure 16.9. Select the desired options from the dialog box and click OK.
- 5. Repeat Steps 2 through 4 for each component that you wish to manage.
- **6.** Export the solution as a managed solution and import it into the targeted instance of Dynamics CRM. Managed properties are only in effect on managed solutions, and solutions cannot be set to managed until they have been exported. So although you can set managed properties in a solution, those properties are not active until the solution has been exported as a managed solution and reimported.

## Caution

It is possible to lose the ability to update your solution! If you are using a single instance of Dynamics CRM and you want to set up a managed solution, then you could potentially export the solution as managed, delete the original solution from Dynamics CRM, and then reimport the managed solution. Because the solution is managed, you can no longer make changes, and because you deleted the original, unmanaged version, you cannot go back. If you want to create managed solutions, we recommend that you maintain a development environment for Dynamics CRM where you can keep original, unmanaged copies of all of your solutions.

#### FIGURE 16.8

The Managed Properties button in the menu bar for an entity Solution: SalesGuide - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer \_ 🗆 🗵 🚱 💿 🔻 加 http://2008r2-demo:5555/360Centric/tools/solution/edit.aspx?id=49dbb005-a1b4-df11-9f3d-0015 💌 🚱 🗙 🛅 Bing 0. 😭 Favorites 🛛 Microsoft Dynamics CRM 🎿 Solution: SalesGuid... 🗙 🟠 🕶 🔝 👻 🚍 🕶 Page 🕶 Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶 File 📓 | 🕰 Show Dependencies | 🔥 Publish | 🌆 Update Icons | 🗙 Delete | 📓 Managed Properties @ Help (ALT+H) • New Entity 🌲 🗟 Information Solution: Sales Guide General Primary Field 🌮 Information Entity Definition Components Display Name \* Plural Name \* New Entities 🔺 🖶 Entities c5\_newentity Ownership \* User or Tear Name\* 🔺 🕞 New Entity Description E Forms I Views 🖉 Charts Fields 1:N Relationships Activity Entity B N:1 Relationships The entity can be defined as an activity only when it is created. 😣 N:N Relationships Define as an activity entity. Doption Sets 「 Display in Activity Menus Security Roles Processes
 Reports
 E-mail Templates
 Contract Templates Offline Availability Show in Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Microsoft Office Outlook when offline Mail Merge and Duplicate Detection Article Templates 🔽 Enable mail merge Frable duplicate detection Client Extensions Or Dashboards Enable E-mail Web Resources To enable e-mail, the entity must have at least one e-mail attribute. You cannot disable e-mail for the entity after you have enabled it here. 🗐 Enable e-mail Field Security Profiles Plug-in Assemblies Relationships These relationships cannot be removed after they are enabled 🗿 Sdk Message Processin... + Service Endpoints Status: Existing 🛳 Local intranet | Protected Mode: Off 🕼 🕶 🔍 100% 🔻

Managed properties dialog box for an entity

Solution: SalesGuide - Mi	crosoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Inte	rnet Explorer	_ 🗆 ×
🕘 🗢 加 http://2008r2-de	mo:5555/360Centric/tools/solution/edit.aspx?	id=49dbb005-a1b4-df11-9f3d-0015 💌 🐓 🗙 🔁 Bing	•   م
Favorites Microsoft Dy	mamics CRM 加 Solution: SalesGuid	× 🕴 🖓 - 🖾 - 📾 -	• Page • Safety • Tools • 🔞 •
File 🛃 🥰 Show Depen	ndencies 🛛 🔥 Publish 🔰 🌃 Update Icons	X Delete 16 Managed Properties	
New Entity			
Information			
olution: Sales Guide	Managed Properties of Entity - N	ew Entity Webnage Dialog	xI
🜮 Information	Manageur roperces of Endy . In	- F-Alta	<sup>™</sup>   ▲
Components	Managed Properties of Entity : New	Patity	
🖌 🗟 Entities	sective Managed Properties of this compo	nenc.	
🖌 💁 New Entity	The following properties will take effect on	ly after the component is exported and imported as part of a manager	a V
E Forms	solution.		
I Views	Can be customized		
😥 Charts		2 2	
Fields	Display name can be modified		
ag 1:N Relationships	New forms can be created	C True C Estre	
B N:1 Relationships	New Johns can be dealed	se note so rabe	
N:N Relationships	New charts can be created	True C False	
Option Sets			
Security Roles	New views can be created		
Processes			
F-mail Templates			
Contract Templates			
Article Templates			
Aail Merge Templates			
Client Extensions			
Dashboards	Hala	OK	
Web Resources	Lieth	<u>Öv</u> <u>Cance</u>	you have enabled it here.
😼 Connection Roles	http://2008r2-demo:5555/360Centr 🛸 Lo	ocal intranet   Protected Mode: Off	-
[16] Field Security Profiles	1.		_
Plug-in Assemblies	Relationships		
3 Sdk Message Processin	These relationships cannot be removed	after they are enabled.	•
Service Endpoints	-		
	1		
atus: Existing			
vascriptionclick();		📃 👘 Local intranet   Protected Mode: Of	f 👘 👻 🔍 100% 🔻

## **Understanding dependencies**

Dependencies are created when components depend upon each other in order to function properly. A simple example of a dependency is a field on a form. The form is dependent upon the field in order to function properly. If you were to delete the field without first removing it from the form, then the form would not work properly.

Dynamics CRM automatically tracks most dependencies for you and prevents you from removing dependent components. In the example in the preceding paragraph, if I attempt to delete a field from the list of fields, and that field is still on a published form, Dynamics CRM will not allow me to make a deletion.

In some cases, Dynamics CRM is unaware of dependencies that may exist. For example, some external scripts may use fields on a form. Because Dynamics CRM does not know about these dependencies, it is possible that a field could be removed from a form that results in an error when a script is run that requires that field. Dynamics CRM allows you to manually declare these dependencies so that fields can be locked on a form. To manually declare a dependency on a form, open the form, click Form Properties in the Ribbon menu, click the Non-Event Dependencies tab, and add fields to the dependent fields list as appropriate (Figure 16.10). Iframes and Web resources also allow you to manually create dependencies.

#### **FIGURE 16.10**

Dependent fields list for forms

orm Properties Webpa	ge Dialog		
rm Properties			
odify this form's properties.			
Events Display Paramet	ers Non-Event Dependencie	s	
Select the fields that are requ removable from the form.	ired by any external, non-event	scripts. Fields in the Dependent Fields	list will not be
Available fields:		Dependent fields:	
Address 1: Street 2		Account Number	
Address 1: Street 3		Category	
Address 1: ZIP/Postal Code			_
Address Phone			_
Annual Revenue			_
Annual Revenue			_
Credit Hold			_
Credit Limit	**		_
Currency			_
Customer Anniversary			_
DateAndTime			_
Description			_
Do not allow Bulk E-mails	*		_
Do not allow Bulk Mails			
			1
		ок	Cancel
2000-2 4	adarma a la m 🖓 - La a a Louis a a a a	Desta da Maria Off	
200812-demo:5555/360Cen	unchi oors/Frage Local Intranet	Protected wode. Off	

While working on a solution, you may want to know what the dependencies are on a specific component. For example, if you plan to add the component to another solution or if you are considering deleting a component, you may find it helpful to produce a list of all the dependencies for that component. In those cases, you can use the "Show Dependencies" in the menu bar to view the list of dependencies. When you click this button, you will be presented with the list of dependencies (Figure 16.11). From the list, you can double-click on each item to manually remove the dependency if desired.

## Sharing solutions with import and export

One of the biggest benefits of using solutions to manage customizations is that solutions can be readily exported from one instance of Dynamics CRM and imported into another. This portability makes it easy to create and redistribute customized solutions either internally within a business or externally through third-party developers.

Show dependencies dialog box for a field

Account Na	ame: Dependen	cies - Windows Interne	t Explorer				_ 🗆 ×
00-1	http://2008r2-de	mo:5555/360Centric/tools/d	ependency/depende	ncyviewdialog.aspx?appSo	lutior 💌 🍫 🔀 Bing		P -
- Favorites	4 Microcoft Dy	mamico C da Salutia	n: SalacGuida	Account Name: De	× \@ • ₪ ·	🖂 🖶 🔻 Page 🕶 S	afety 🔻 Tools 🔻 🔞 🕶
A consumt Nam	a Dependencia		II. DalesOulde	And Account Nume. De			
Account Nan	ne: Dependencie	5					
Dependent com	ponents						Ē
You cannot dele	te this component	while the following compo	nents depend on it.				
Display	Name 🔺	Name/Id	Component Type	Parent Entity	Managed Solution	Dependency Type	3
Account	t Advanced Fin	Account Advanced Find	View	Account	System Solution	Published	
Account	t Associated View	Account Associated View	View	Account	System Solution	Published	
Account	it Lookup View	Account Lookup View	View	Account	System Solution	Published	
⊐t <sup>3</sup> accoun	t_customer_opp	account_customer_opp	EntityRelations	Opportunity Relationsh	System Solution	Published	
accoun	t_customer_rela	account_customer_relat	EntityRelations	Customer Relationship	System Solution	Published	
≍3 accoun	t_originating_le	account_originating_lead	EntityRelations	Account	System Solution	Published	
accoun	t_parent_account	account_parent_account	EntityRelations	Account	System Solution	Published	
🕖 Accoun	its by Industry	Accounts by Industry	System Chart	Account	System Solution	Published	•
1 - 29 of 29 (1	selected)						
Required compo	onents						
When you impo components be	rt a solution, the re cause this compon	equired components must a ent requires them.	Iready be present or	the target system or includ	led within the solution being	imported. You cannot d	elete the following
- Display	Name 🔶	Name/Id	Component Type	Parent Entity	Managed Solution	Dependency Type	
i Dispidy	ivallie –	Indilic/10	component type	Falencenog	Manageu solucion	Dependency type	R./
			No recon	ds are available in this view			
0 - 0 of 0 (0 se	lected)						•
							OK
					💺 Local intranet   Protected	Mode: Off	

#### **Exporting a solution**

To export a solution, follow these steps:

- 1. Navigate to the list of solutions and select the solution that you want to export.
- **2.** In the menu bar, click the Export button.
- **3.** If you have not yet published all of your customizations, then click the Publish All Customizations button to be sure that your entire solution is exported.
- 4. Click the Next button.
- **5.** At this point, you may be presented with a list of components that your solution will require that are not included with the export. You can either choose to export the solution without the components or you can cancel the export, add the components to the solution, and re-export it. Note that components that are a part of the System Solution can be assumed to be a part of other instances of Dynamics CRM and do not need to be included in your solution. Click the Next button to move to the next screen.
- **6.** On the Export Settings dialog box, choose any settings that your solution relies upon to export. In most cases, you will be able to leave these boxes unchecked.

- **7.** Choose the type of package that you would like to export this solution as. Options include:
  - Unmanaged: Choose this option if you would like to allow others to have unrestricted access to make changes to the solution after it is imported.
  - Managed: Choose this option if you set up managed properties for this solution and you want to keep others from making customizations to it.
- 8. Click the Export button.

## Tip

You may want to export customizations that are not in a solution, or when you may want to export only a portion of the customizations from a given solution. To do this, create a new solution, add the customizations you want to export to the solution, and then export the solution. You may want to consider keeping a solution called "Quick Export" available for just this purpose.

#### Importing a solution

Solutions can be imported using the following procedure:

- 1. Navigate to the solutions area and click the Import button in the menu bar.
- **2.** Click the Browse button and find the solution that you want to import. Click the Next button.
- **3.** On the Solution Information page, you may want to click the check box to activate workflows and other steps that may be required to fully activate the solution. Click the Next button. The solution begins to import, and when completed, a list of imported components is displayed.
- **4.** Click the Publish All Customizations button to make the solution available to users or click the Close button if you would like to review the solution prior to publishing it.

## **Deleting a solution**

Solutions can be deleted by navigating to the list of solutions, selecting a solution, and clicking the delete button (which appears as an X) in the menu bar. Depending on which type of solution you are deleting, the results are as follows:

- Unmanaged solution: If you delete an unmanaged solution, then you are presented with the confirm deletion dialog box in Figure 16.12. When deleting an unmanaged solution, all of the customizations become a part of the default solution. If you want to delete the entire solution, then you should first open the solution and delete all of the customizations from within the solution. Once you have completed this step, you can then delete the solution.
- Managed solution: If you delete a managed solution, then all of the components for the solution will be permanently deleted from Dynamics CRM.

Delete unmanaged solution dialog box

🝘 Confirm Deletion Webpage Dialog	×
Confirm Deletion	
You have selected 1 Solution for deletion.	
You are deleting an unmanaged solution. The solution will be deleted but components contai solution will not be deleted. This action cannot be undone. Do you want to continue?	ned in this
ОК	Cancel
http://2008r2-demo:5555/360 🎕 Local intranet   Protected Mode: Off	

# **The Solutions Marketplace**

Microsoft launched the Microsoft Dynamics Marketplace along with Dynamics CRM 2011. The marketplace provides a way to quickly find, test, purchase, and install solutions for Dynamics CRM. For example, if you are searching for an expense reporting add-on for Dynamics CRM, you can visit the marketplace, search for "expense reporting," and download a test solution, all within a few minutes. The marketplace saves time, lowers costs, and provides a competitive distribution channel for extending the Dynamics CRM 2011 platform.

To access the solutions marketplace, navigate to Settings 🗘 Dynamics Marketplace.

## Summary

Dynamics CRM was developed with the intention that organizations customize it to work the way that their business does. To aid in the process of developing, sharing, and extending customizations, Microsoft introduced the solutions framework in Dynamics CRM 2011. Solutions are containers that hold groups of customizations, which can then be exported and imported. Managed properties allow solution publishers to lock down individual components within a solution to prevent them from being changed.

Taking the time to understand how the solutions framework is designed is an important first step prior to making customizations. Although it is possible to make customizations without first understanding solutions, this runs the risk of creating customizations that are more difficult and time-consuming for your organization to maintain.
# Working with CRM Entities

**E** nitities are the heart of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. The ability to customize entities and create new entities plays an important role in fine-tuning Dynamics CRM to work the way your sales, marketing and service organizations work. Moreover, this functionality enables you to create entirely new applications in Dynamics CRM. Because entities can be customized without having to write code, your organization can develop applications and automate processes more quickly and inexpensively than ever before.

By customizing entities, you can format forms to include exactly the fields and functionality that your users need. Views can be developed to enable your users to see only the information that they need in order to quickly connect with the right customers and prospects. Charts can be delivered to users to help them quickly make business decisions. And your organizational terminology can be incorporated into Dynamics CRM to provide a comfortable and familiar experience.

The information in this chapter provides an important foundation for upcoming chapters. Although an understanding of the configuration tools in Dynamics CRM is important, a successful CRM project relies upon a clear CRM strategy and a proven methodology for implementation (these concepts are covered in Chapter 1). Familiarity with the user interface (Chapters 10 to 15) and the solution framework (Chapter 16) are also necessary. An understanding of relational database concepts is also critical (covered early within this chapter). With those concepts in mind, this chapter has been designed to deliver a comprehensive guide to working with entities for non-programmers.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

CHAPTER

Understanding entities Relational database basics Customizing existing entities Creating custom entities

# Caution

Before jumping into the concepts presented in this chapter, you should take the time to fully understand the concept of solutions as described in Chapter 16. While it is possible to begin customizing entities without understanding solutions, you will find that your customizations are simpler to maintain if they are properly integrated into a solution.

# **Cross-Reference**

The concept of developing new applications in Dynamics CRM is often referred to as XRM (or eXtended Relationship Management). For more information on creating XRM applications, including some example applications, see Chapter 27.

### **Cross-Reference**

Only Dynamics CRM Users with the appropriate security settings are able to create or edit entities. For more information on security settings, see Chapter 6.

# **Understanding Entities**

In Dynamics CRM, entities are the containers that hold all of the data, forms, views, charts, and other information associated with managing and presenting information to users. Examples of entities included with Dynamics CRM are leads, accounts, contacts, opportunities, cases, campaigns, and marketing lists. As you'll note, the primary entities associated with Dynamics CRM are accessible directly through the navigation pane for the application. You can also create new custom entities that can also be made available directly through the site navigation.

If you are familiar with databases or Excel spreadsheets, then entities can be considered to be similar to tables or to the rows and columns of data you might manage in a spreadsheet. In fact, many organizations convert their existing database and spreadsheet applications into Dynamics CRM entities. One difference between an entity and a table is that entities include not only the data (the rows and columns) but also the presentation (forms and charts, for example) and metadata (validation rules, code, and so on) that is used in connection with your data.

### **Cross-Reference**

Entities include a number of terms that may be new to you. If you are not yet familiar with terms such as view, advanced find, field, user, record ownership, account, contact, activity, history, security roles, or queues then we recommend you review Chapters 1 and 10 to get grounded in these concepts before continuing.

# Understanding entity types

Several different types of entities are included (or can be created) with Dynamics CRM and are described below. Note that any given entity can belong to one or more of the entity types — depending upon the settings you select when creating the entity.

- **System entities:** These are the entities that are included with Dynamics CRM. You are probably already familiar with (accounts, contacts, and so on) and some secondary entities that are less obvious (quote products, price list items, and addresses, to name a few).
- **Custom entities:** These are entities that were not included with Dynamics CRM. They may have been created by you, others in your organization, or by third parties. Custom entities are often included in third-party add-on products that extend the functionality of Dynamics CRM.
- **Customizable entities:** These are entities that you are allowed to customize. Some system entities do not allow customizations. Also note that although most system entities are customizable, there are some limits to how you can customize certain entities (this is done to ensure that the base functionality of Dynamics CRM remains intact).
- **Customer composite entity:** The concept of a "customer" in Dynamics CRM includes either the account entity or the contact entity. This is also referred to as a *composite entity* because it allows records from either of these two different entities to be used in the customer field. This feature of Dynamics CRM enables your organization to treat either accounts (other organizations) or contacts (individual people) as customers. Note, however, that only system entities can include a link to the composite customer entity within them. If you create your own custom entities, you can create a single link to either accounts or contacts, or you can create two links (one to accounts and one to contacts), but you cannot create a single composite link to either an account or a contact.
- Activity entities: Activity entities include tasks, phone calls, e-mails, and a number of other entities for tracking user activities. Activities are special entities because of how they synchronize with Outlook and in how they can be linked to a large number of different entities via the "regarding" field. New in Dynamics CRM 2011 is the ability to create custom activity entities.

# Understanding relational databases

When customizing entities in Dynamics CRM, you set up relationships between entities that link them. A basic understanding of relational databases is important to ensure that you are properly setting up these links. This section provides a very brief overview of relational database concepts.

Creating a relationship in a database means linking the records in one table (or entity) to the records in another. If you have been working with Dynamics CRM for a while, then you probably know that the account table is linked to the contact table. When you create an account, you can link it to one or more contacts that work within that organization through the contacts related list in the Navigation pane. Likewise, when you create a contact record, you can link it to one (and only one) account through the parent customer field. In this example, the account can be thought of as the parent entity and the contact can be thought of as the child entity. Figure 17.1 illustrates the relationship between an account (Success Accelerators) and its associated contacts (Ed, Linda, and Will). This relationship can also be said to be "one-to-many" because one account can have many contacts. Looking at it from the contact perspective, it can be said to be "many-to-one" because many contact records relate back to one account record. Table 17.1 outlines some of the common terms used when discussing relational databases.

#### FIGURE 17.1

An account record and the related contact records (parent/child or one-to-many relationship)

Account: Success Accelerat	ors - Microsoft D	ynamics CRM -	Windows	Internet Exp	lorer							_ <u>8</u> ×
💮 💬 🗢 🚂 http://2008r2-dem	o:5555/360Centric/n	nain.aspx?etn=acco	unt&extraqs	=_gridType%3	d1%26etc%3	11%26id% -	- +7 × [	🖸 Bing				<u>- م</u>
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🍰 🏄 Microsoft D	ynamics CRM 🔢 H	iome - Central Adm	inistra 🔯	SharePoint	🖉 Report M	anager 🔊	Tags and Note	Board				
Accounts: My Active A	Account: Succ	ess A 🗙					合 - 1	<b>₩</b> - ⊡	🖶 🔻 F	Page∓ S	afety 🔻 Tools	- @-
File Account Create Relate	ed Customize	List Tools Contacts									<b>C5 Ac</b> 360 Ce	Imin 🖗 ntric 🔨
Add New Add Existing Edit	Activate Deactivate Detect Duplicates <del>+</del> 4anagement	<ul> <li>Delete Conta</li> <li>Bulk Delete</li> <li>Merge</li> </ul>	ct Assign Contact	Share This Record	Send I E-m	Direct ail	Export Contacts Re Dat	Run port - 🕞	Run Process Process	Charts Visuals	Filter	
32 Account: Success A	ccelerators									Accou	nts 🔻	* *
Information General Details Administration	Contacts:	Contact Asso	ciated Vie	w -	Busines	s Phone -2500	1		Search fo	r records		<u>م</u> ت
L Notes	□ ▶ 🖭 Linda Jo	ones			704-895	-2500						
Related     Archittes     Activities     Activities     Sub-Accounts     Contact     Relationships     Relationships     Relationships     Relationships     Audit History     Jinventory     Sales     Opportunities     Opportunities	▶ §uii Will Shi	anahan			704-895	-2500						
Orders Invoices	1-3 of 3 (1 select	ted)									ld d Pa	ne 1 k
∡ Service ▼	All # A	B C D	E F G	5 Н І	Ј К	L M N	O P	Q R	S T	U V	W X	v z
Status Active	<b></b>					😪 Loci	al intranet   Pr	otected Mi	ode: Off		🖗 🔻 🔍 100	% • /

#### **TABLE 17.1**

	Common Relational Database Terms
Terms	Meaning
Parent/Child	One record in this "parent" table can be related to many records in a "child" table.
One-to-many	For example, one account may have many contacts. Note that the parent entity is also often referred to as the "primary" entity.
1:N	also oten refered to as the primary entity.
Primary entity	
Many-to-one	Many records in this table can be related back to a single parent. For example,
N:1	many contacts may be related to the same account. Note that the child entity is also often referred to as the "related" entity.
Related entity	
Many-to-many	Many records in this table may be related to many records in an associated table.
N:N	For example, an organization may track the associations that contacts are members of. One association can have many related contacts; one contact can belong to many associations.

When you see relational data in reports, the relationships may be less obvious to you than when you see them on data entry forms. For example, many organizations produce quotes as a part of their sales process. Quote documents are made up of data from the customer, the quote, and the products (or line items) associated with that quote. Figure 17. 2 illustrates a quote that contains relational information from three different entities.

IT professionals who work with databases on a regular basis have developed a number of shorthand ways to illustrate the relationships between entities in a database. Figure 17.3 is an example of a relational database diagram. The figure can be read as, one customer can have many quotes and one quote can have many quote products. This type of diagram, produced with Microsoft Visio, can be a helpful tool when designing complex customizations within Dynamics CRM.

### **Cross-Reference**

If the concept of relational databases is new to you, and you expect to spend a lot of time making customizations to entities in Dynamics CRM, then we recommend that you spend some time reviewing other Wiley books that ground you in relational database concepts. You may want to consider SQL For Dummies by Allen G. Taylor, which includes not only an excellent introduction to relational databases but also material on SQL concepts (which may help you in going deeper working with SQL — used behind the scenes by Dynamics CRM).

### Part V: Customizing Dynamics CRM Through the User Interface

#### FIGURE 17.2

A printed quote with information from the customer, quote, and quote products (or line items)

Information f	rom the Customer	(Account)	entity					
@Report Viewer: Quot	te - Windows Internet Explorer							_ 8 ×
🔿 🕞 🗢 🏒 http://200	08r2-demo:5555/360Centric/crmreports	/viewer/viewer.aspx?ac	tion=run&context=	ecords&helpI		K 🖸 Bing		- 9
Favorites	Ints: My Ac	e Qunte Far	mily O Rep	ort Viewer	x I là	· · 🛛 · 🗆 🖷	▼ Page ▼ Safety ▼ Too	ols 🕶 🔞 🕶
		100					R Helr	0. (ALT+H) +
File							@ 104	
Edit Filter								
14 4 1 of 1	▷ ▷ ↓ 100%	F	ind Next 🔍 •	۵.				
To:		From:						_
Success Accelerators		C5 Admin						
123 Main Street								1
Woodstock, PA 12345								
Summary								
Total Amount:	\$28,100.00	Quote ID:	QUO+01000	M2G9Q0				
Shipping Method:	Airborne	Date:	8/23/2010					
Requested Delivery Date:	2/1/2011	Effective From:	1/15/2011					
Payment Terms:	2% 10, Net 30	Effective To:	2/15/2011					
Due By:	1/21/2011							
Shipping Information	I							
Ship To:		Bill To:						
Ship To		Bill To						
123 Main Street		123 Main Street						
Anytown, VA 12345		Anytown, VA 12345						
Details		1						
Product ID Product			Quantity	Price	Sub Total			
HR1701-M Replacement	Hand Grips		4.00	\$150.00	\$600.00			
MV-151 Red Ocean T	ornado		1.00	\$15,000.00	\$15,000.00			-
one					Local intrane	t   Protected Mode: O	ff 🕼 🔻 🔍 10	J0% •

#### Information for the Quote entity

Information from the Quote Products entity

#### FIGURE 17.3

Relational database diagram

Customer	Quote	Quote Product

# Understanding the steps of entity customization

This section provides an overview of the entity creation and customization process. Although the process for working with entities is fairly open-ended, we will present it in the typical sequence of steps that most individuals use when getting started. Figure 17.4 is a diagram of the typical process for creating and customizing entities. Below the figure is a brief explanation of each step. Note that this figure fits into the overall solution design figure in the previous chapter. The remainder of this chapter describes each step in much more detail.

#### FIGURE 17.4

An overview of the entity customization process



- **1. Create or Customize:** Before getting started you will have to decide if you will be creating an entirely new entity or if you will be modifying an existing entity.
- **2. Create an Entity:** If you determine that you need to create a new entity, then there are several steps that you will need to take including:
  - **Plan:** Take the time to plan out your new entity. How will it relate to other entities? What fields will you need? What visualizations and reports do your users expect from it?
  - **General Settings:** Some general settings will need to be made when you initially create an entity. It is important that you get these right the first time because many of them cannot be changed later. These settings are highlighted when you create a new entity and are documented in the section "General entity settings and the primary field."
  - **Custom Icon:** You can create a custom icon for your custom entities. Although this is not required, it does give your custom entities a more professional and polished look.
- **3. Customize Fields:** Set up the fields in your entity to support your users. Although this can be done from the form designer, we recommend that you set up most of your fields at once and only update them from the form designer when you need to make small changes.
- **4. Customize Relationships:** Relationships result in the creation of new items to add to the form. These, too, can be created and updated from the form designer, but we recommend starting out by setting these up in the relationships area of the entity.
- **5. Customize Forms:** After your fields and relationships have been customized, you will have everything you need in order to create your forms.

- **6. Preview:** Dynamics CRM allows you to preview your form prior to publishing it. This enables you to be comfortable that your form customizations behave as expected prior to rolling them out to your users.
- **7. Customize Views and Charts:** Set up views and charts that users will need in order to quickly find the information that they will need to get their jobs done.
- **8.** Additional Entities: Many customization projects will require that you make changes to multiple existing entities or create multiple new entities.
- **9. Publish:** Once you have completed creating and testing your customizations, publish them to Dynamics CRM.
- **10. Test:** Although you previewed your forms while you were customizing them, you should always test your customizations at least one more time prior to training users on them to ensure that they are behaving as expected.
- **11. Re-Publish and UAT:** For larger businesses, you should be making your customizations and thoroughly testing them in separate instances of Dynamics CRM made specifically for development and testing. After you have completed testing them in that environment, you are ready to publish them into your production environment and to perform user acceptance testing (UAT) with your user group.
- **12. Train:** Always include time in your plan to train your users. For simple changes, this may just be an e-mail announcing an update. For extensive changes, you may schedule a full day (or more) for training for each user.
- **13. Feedback:** Assume up front that some modifications will be required. Take the time to develop a plan to solicit feedback from users and to make improvements thereafter.

# Caution

The decision to create a new entity or customize an existing one is pretty straightforward in most cases. However, there are some instances where it may require some thought and planning. An example of this may be if you want to track a list of distributors. You could use the account entity to track this list (in addition to tracking customer records). Alternatively you could create an entirely new entity just for tracking distributors. Both approaches have pros and cons and should be weighed carefully before jumping in.

# Accessing the entity customization area

The functionality we will be discussing in this chapter is all found within the entity customization area of Dynamics CRM as illustrated in Figure 17.5. There are a number of ways that you can navigate to this area depending on exactly how you want to manage your customizations and what type of customizations you expect to make (see Chapter 16 before deciding how you want to handle making changes to customizations). Here is an overview of the methods for accessing the entities area:

• **Customize the Default Solution:** You can customize the default solution by navigating to Settings +> Customizations +> Customize the System.

- **Customize a Named Solution (recommended approach):** Solutions you develop internally, and many third-party solutions, will allow you to make customizations within the named solution. This is the preferred method for maintaining your customizations wherever possible. To customize a named solution navigate to: Settings ↔ Customizations ↔ Solutions. In the grid, click on the name of the solution you want to modify.
- **Customize the Default Solution from the Ribbon Menu:** New in Dynamics CRM 2011 is the ability to quickly navigate from a form or grid directly into the entity customization area. This can be done by clicking the Customize tab of the Ribbon menu and then selecting the appropriate option. This can be very convenient for rapidly updating Dynamics CRM without having to go through the extra clicks to navigate to the customizations area. However, you can only customize the default solution using this method so use care when using this approach.

# Caution

The way that you navigate to the customizations area will have consequences in terms of how your customizations can be managed in the future. Please take the time to thoroughly understand solutions, in Chapter 16, prior to making decisions about how you will access the entity customizations area.

### FIGURE 17.5

The entity customization area of Dynamics CRM

@Solution: Default - Microsof	t Dynamics CRM - Wir	ndows Internet Explorer				-	8 ×
🗇 💬 🗢 🚂 http://2008r2-dem	o:5555/360Centric/tools/s	olution/edit.aspx?id=%7bFD14	0AAF-4DF4-11DD-BD1	7-0019B9: <b>•</b> 47 🗙	Bing		- ۹
🚔 Favorites 🛛 🚂 Microsoft Dyn	amics CRM 🚄 Soluti	on: Default - M 🗙		6	• 📓 • 🖃 🖶 • Page •	Safety 🔻 Tools 🔻	0-
File 📓 🔤 Show Depend	lencies   🔥 Publish	16 Managed Properties				🔞 Help (Al	T+H) 🕶
32 Account Information							
Solution: Default Solution	General Primary Fi	eld					_
29 Information	Entity Definition						-
Components	Display Name *	Account		Plural Name *	Accounts		
Account	Ownership *	User or Team	*	Name *	account		
Address  Address  Address  Appointment  Approval  Attachment  Att	Activity Entity The entity can be defi Define as an activ Display in.	ned as an activity only when it ty entity. Activity Menus	is created.				
Case	Offline Availability	Dynamics CRM for Microsoft (	Office Outlook when o	ffline			
Category	Mail Merge and Dupl	icate Detection					
Competitor Addr     Sometitor Addr     Sometiton     Sometiton	F Enable mail merge		🔽 Enable d	luplicate detection			
<ul> <li>S Contact</li> <li>Contract</li> <li>Contract Line</li> </ul>	To enable e-mail, the I√ Enable e-mail	entity must have at least one e	-mail attribute. You car	not disable e-mail for ti	ne entity after you have enable	d it here.	
Contract Template	Relationships						
Currency	These relationships ca	nnot be removed after they ar	e enabled.				-
Bar Data Map     Itis Dialog Session	L <del></del>			<b>F</b>			Ŀ
Status: Existing							
				🔩 Local intranet	Protected Mode: Off	√a ▼ € 100%	•

Once you are in the customizations area, your navigation will vary slightly depending upon which solution you are modifying. If you are modifying the default solution, then when you expand the entities view (by clicking the triangle to the left of entities) you will see a listing of every entity in Dynamics CRM. If you are modifying a named solution, then under the entities listing you will only see the entities that are a part of that solution (you can add existing entities to the solution by clicking the Add Existing button in the menu).

Regardless of which type of solution you are viewing, you will see a list of all the other solution components below the list of entities.

# **Publishing customizations**

While making changes to entities in Dynamics CRM, your changes are not visible to users until you publish them. This feature allows you to set up and preview all of your changes without affecting the user experience. You can still save your customizations without publishing them — so you can work for multiple days on a single set of customizations without having to publish them.

As illustrated in Figure 17.6, there are two buttons for publishing customizations in Dynamics CRM: Publish or Publish All Customizations. The button you select will depend upon what you want to accomplish:

- **Publish All Customizations:** This button will publish all customizations that have been made to the solution that you are currently working on. If you are currently working on the default solution and have pending changes on both the default solution and on a solution named "Distributor Management," then when you click the Publish All Customizations button, only the changes on the default solution will be published. You will need to navigate to any other solutions and publish those changes separately.
- **Publish:** The publish button only publishes changes for the specific entity or component that you are currently viewing (or that is highlighted in the grid). For example, if you are currently on the account entity in the grid and you click the Publish button, then any pending customizations to the account entity in the current solution will be published. You can select multiple entities in the grid if you want to publish multiple entity customizations. Similar to the Publish All Customizations button, the Publish button only publishes changes to the currently selected solution.

# Importing and exporting customizations

Customizations made to entities can be exported from Dynamics CRM. You can use your exported files to reimport into other instances of Dynamics CRM or as a way to back up your customizations. Note that customizations must be added to a solution and published before they can be exported.

### **Cross-Reference**

Importing and exporting customizations is a part of the solution management functionality in Dynamics CRM. For more detailed information on solution management and importing/exporting, see Chapter 16.

#### FIGURE 17.6

Buttons for pub	lishing some or all o	customization	IS			
	Publish butto Publishes chang entities selected or	on: ed for n the grid	Publish All Cu Publishe items in th	ustomization es Changes ne current s	ns buttons for all solution.	;;
Solution: Default - Microso	oft Dynamics CRM - Windows Interne	t Explorer				_ 8 ×
() v // http://2008r2-de	mo:5555/360Centric/tools/solution/edit.asp>	7id=%7bFD140AAF-4DF4-11DE	-BD17-001989: - +	Bing		- Q
					De	
Microsoft Dy	(namics CRM   🍂 Solution: Default - M.	×	11	I. M C. M	Page * Salety *	10015 * 🚱 *
File 🛃 🕞 Save and Close	e 🎒   🖫 Export   🔊 Import Translati	ons 🕴 🖏 Export Translations	Publish All Customi	zations 🐁 Actions 🕶	0	Help (ALT+H) +
32 Solution: Default						
Solution: Default Solution	Component Type Entity		View Customizat	ble		•
🐉 Information 🔺	Rever	#8 Show Dependencies	16 Managed Properties			
Components		Name	Type	State	Customizable	Audit St 3
▲ I Entities	Account	account	Entity	Managed	True	Enables A
Account		activitypointer	Entity	Managed	True	Dicable
Address	1 J Address	activitypointer	Entity	Manageu	This	Disable
Appointment	August	customerauuress	Entity	Manageu	True	Disable
Approval	B Appointment	appointment	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
Article	Approval	cs_approval	Entity	Unmanaged	True	Enable
Attachment	Article	kbarticie	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
D Business Unit	Attachment	attachment	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
D Generation Activity	Business Unit	businessunit	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
Campaign Activity	Campaign	campaign	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
Case	Campaign Activity	campaignactivity	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
Case Resolution	Campaign Response	campaignresponse	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
D Category	Case	incident	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
D Sector Competitor	Case Resolution	incidentresolution	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
Competitor Addr	La Category	c5_categories	Entity	Unmanaged	True	Disable
Connection	Competitor	competitor	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
e = Contact	🔬 Competitor Address	competitoraddress	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
Contract	M Connection	connection	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
Contract Line	S Connection Role	connectionrole	Entity	Managed	True	Disable
Contract Template	👷 Contact	contact	Entity	Managed	True	Enable
D Currency	🗈 Contract	contract	Entity	Managed	True	Disable 🖉
b 🤹 Customer Relati	1					•
Data Map	1 - 95 of 95 (2 selected)					
Status: Existing						
			(A) Land Salara			A 4000/ -
Done			Local intrane	i j minitected Modé: Off	<b>4 0 1</b>	~ 100% ·

# **Creating Custom Entities**

In this section we will walk through the process of creating a new, custom, entity. Once a custom entity has been created, the steps required to customize it are the same as they are for modifying any other entity. So we will focus on creating entities in this section and on customizing entities in the next section.

To create a custom entity:

- 1. Navigate to Settings ▷ Solutions. From here, select the appropriate solution you want to add your entity to. You can also create a new solution for your entity if you prefer. See Chapter 16 for more information on solutions.
- **2.** Inside of the selected solution, make sure you have selected Components in the Navigation menu, click the New button, and then select Entity (Figure 17.7). You are presented with the information form in Figure 17.8 for entering general entity settings.

### FIGURE 17.7

Creating a new entity from the components list

32 Solution: NewSolut	ion
Solution: New Solution	Component Type All
Solution rece solution	Component Type   All New   Ald Existing • Delete   Entity   Option Set   Name Security Role Process Report E-mail Template Contract Template Article Template Mail Merge Template Mail Merge Template Mail Merge Template Consection Role Field Security Profile
Service Endpoints	

### FIGURE 17.8

The information form for entering general entity settings

@Entity: New - Windows Inte	rnet Explorer				_ 8 ×
🗇 💬 🗢 🚂 http://2008r2-de	no:5555/360Centric/tools/systemc	ustomization/entities/manageentity.aspx?a	opSolutionId 💌 🍫 🗙 🖡	🔁 Bing	<u>- م</u>
😭 Favorites 🦼 Microsoft Dy	namics CRM 🛛 🏄 Solution: Ne	ewSolution 📈 Entity: New	x 🛛 🖄 🕶	📓 🕆 🖃 🖶 🔻 Page 🔻 Safety	• Tools • 🔞 •
File 📓 🖳 Save and Close					@ <u>H</u> elp (ALT+H) ▼
32 New Information				Working on solut	ion: New Solution
▲ Related	General Primary Field				
Information h	Entity Definition				<b>^</b>
Forms View Info	rmation Name *		Plural Name *		
Charts	Ownershin*	ser or Team	Name *	6	
Fields	Description		Name		
1:N Relationships	beschpaon				
N:1 Relationships					
	The entity can be defined as a	n activity only when it is created.			
	E Define as an activity entity				
	Display in Activity I	Menus			
	Offline Availability				
	F Show in Microsoft Dynami	ics CRM for Microsoft Office Outlook when	offline		
	Mail Merge and Duplicate De	tection			
	🔽 Enable mail merge	🔽 Enabl	e duplicate detection		
	Enable E-mail				
	To enable e-mail, the entity m	ust have at least one e-mail attribute. You c	annot disable e-mail for the e	ntity after you have enabled it here.	
	🖵 Enable e-mail				
	Relationships				
	These relationships cannot be	removed after they are enabled.			
	✓ Note (includes attachment	3)	Activities		•
nttp://2008r2-demo:5555/360Cen	nc/tools/systemcustomization/e	nuuesimanageentity	🛛 📲 Local intranet   Pr	rotected Mode: Off 🛛 🖓 🖣	·   •4,100% • //

- **3.** Follow the instructions in the next section, "General entity settings and the primary field."
- **4.** When you have completed entering your settings, click the Save button. You can continue to customize the entity.

# General entity settings and the primary field

The first thing you need to do when creating an entity is to enter some general settings. Many of these settings can be changed later, but some can only be made when you initially create the entity, and others can be set after the initial entity creation but cannot be changed again after that. Before creating an entity, you should understand these limitations so you can plan an entity that will meet your long-term needs. This section describes each of the settings and your ability to modify the setting. Table 17.2 provides an overview of the various settings and when you can/cannot change them.

### **TABLE 17.2**

	U	•		
	Must Be Set When Entity Is	Cannot Be Changed After	Can Be Enabled Only Once and	Can Be Changed
Setting	Created	Entity Creation	Never Disabled	Any Time
General Tab				
Display Name	Х			Х
Plural Name	Х			Х
Name	Х	Х		
Description				Х
Ownership	Х	Х		
Define as an activity entity	Х	Х		
Display in activity menus	Х	Х		
Areas that display this entity				Х
Notes (includes attachments)			Х	
Activities	Х	Х		
Sending e-mail			Х	
Queues			Х	
Offline capability in Outlook				Х
Reading pane in Outlook				Х
Mail merge				Х
Duplicate detection				Х
Connections			X	

**General Settings and Primary Field for Entities** 

continued

TABLE 17.2         (continued)				
Setting	Must Be Set When Entity Is Created	Cannot Be Changed After Entity Creation	Can Be Enabled Only Once and Never Disabled	Can Be Changed Any Time
Document management				Х
Mobile Express				Х
Auditing				Х
Primary Field Tab				
Note that some of these items c. However, many of them can be primary field. Items have been r Field tab or from the list of field	annot be changed fr changed by navigat narked below based s in Dynamics CRM	om the Primary Field ing to the list of fields upon being able to c	tab after the entity is cr for the entity and editi hange them in either th	eated. ng the ne Primary
Display Name	Х			Х
Name	Х			Х
Requirement Level	Х			Х
Туре	Х	Х		
Format	Х	Х		
Maximum Length	Х			Х
Description	Х			Х

### **Entity definition**

The entity definition area includes a number of different important settings as follows:

- **Display Name / Plural Name.** These two fields represent the name of the entity as it will appear in Dynamics CRM. In some contexts the plural name will be used, and in others the display name will be used. These values can be changed later if desired.
- **Name.** This field is the name that the entity will be referred to if it is referenced within custom code including custom reports, JScript, or other programming code. This field cannot be changed after the entity has been saved for the first time.
- **Description.** This field is an optional field with more information on how the entity will be used within Dynamics CRM. It is a best practice to enter text into description fields that documents how the entity will be used. By entering this documentation, you will make it easier to support your instance of Dynamics CRM in the future.
- **Ownership.** This field determines who will own each record in the entity. Another way to think about ownership is to ask, "Who will be responsible for maintaining this record in Dynamics CRM?" This field plays an important part in defining security roles and in establishing views and charts of data. After you select a value for this setting and save the entity, you cannot change it. Options for this field are as follows:

- **User or Team:** Select this option if every record in this entity will be "owned" by a user or by a team of users. For example, if you create an entity to track projects, then you will most likely want to use this setting because your projects will be assigned to an owner who is responsible for making sure that his or her projects are managed properly.
- **Organization:** Select this option if records won't be owned by any particular individual or team. For example, if you create an entity to track customer inventory, then you will most likely want to use this setting because this inventory will not be owned by a particular user (or team) in your business.

### **Cross-Reference**

You may notice that a prefix that cannot be edited is automatically added to the name field. This prefix is set in the solution. See Chapter 16 for information on setting the prefix in the solution.

### Activity entity types

An activity entity is a special entity type that appears in the list of activities in Dynamics CRM and in your activities and closed activities for other entities. So, for example, if you have integrated Dynamics CRM with your customer Web portal and you want to track every time someone updates their profile on the portal, you could create an activity entity called Web Portal Update.

Activity entities have a number of unique features. Activity entities include a Customers field (enabling you to link it to one or more account and/or contact records) and a regarding field (enabling you to link it to any entity enabled for tracking activities). Activity entities show up in the activity area of Dynamics CRM and cannot be included in other areas. Activity entities can be included in reports and dashboards that include other activities. When creating an activity entity, many of the other settings are automatically set and locked from changing.

When creating an activity entity, you also have the option of displaying it in the list of activities that users can create when they selected to create a new activity. If this is an activity you want users to be able to create, you should select this option. If this is an activity you only want to be created on an automated basis (such as the "Web Portal Update" mentioned above), then you should not select this option. Note that this option cannot be changed once the entity has been created.

# Tip

Custom activity entities will not synchronize with Microsoft Outlook.

# Caution

If you create a custom activity entity and you uncheck the option "Display in Activity Menus," then the activity will not be visible in views for open activities. For example, if you create a custom activity type called Request for Quote and you only want to create new records of this type from workflow, but you also want users to see all open requests under their Opportunities, then you will need to manually update the default views to add this activity type to the list.

### **On the Web Site**

We have created a solution using an activity entity on the CD for you. This solution, called Approvals, uses an activity entity to request and track approvals associated with processes you may want to automate in Dynamics CRM.

### Notes

Notes (and attachments) allow you to track a date and time-stamped list of either individual notes or attached documents on the entity (such as the illustration in Figure 17.9). You can leave this option blank when you initially create a new entity, but once you check it and save the entity, you can no longer remove the option. Keep in mind that you can also track related documents in SharePoint, which is a much more powerful document management tool than Dynamics CRM. In addition, tracking notes for an entity is often counterproductive because they are not easy to search and may conflict with notes that you are tracking on associated activities.

### FIGURE 17.9

A list of notes and attachments associated with an entity

@Opportunity: 6 orders of Prod	uct SKU JJ	202 (sample	) - Microsoft Dyr	namics CRM - Wind	lows Internet Explore	ər		_ 8 ×
💮 💿 📈 http://2008r2-demo:	5555/360Cent	ric/main.aspxi	'etn=opportunity&	extraqs=_gridType%3d	3%26etc%3d3%26 💌 🍫	🗙 💽 Bing		- 2
🚔 Favorites 🛛 🚂 Opportunities: N	/ly Ope	👍 Opportun	ity: 6 order 🗙			å • s · ⊡ ⊕ •	Page 🔻 Safety 🔻	Tools 🔻 🔞 🕶
File Opportunity Create Rela	ated Cust	omize						C5 Admin 🙆 360 Centric 🔥
Save and New Save Record 1	Nanagement	Mark as Ma Won L	• • rk as Reopen ost Opportunity	Recalculate Opportunity Actions	l⊒ Sharing ↓ Saring ↓	Print Preview Run Report - E-mail a Link	Run Start Process Dialog	Advanced Find
32 Opportunity: 6 order	rs of Prod	uct SKU J	J202 (sample)	1			Onnortunities	v ⊕ ₽
			(sampie,				opportunities	
Information F	ilter on: All	Fields			<u> </u>		at the second se	
- Product Line Item Details	Changed	Date	Changed By	Action	Changed Field	Old Value	New Value	3
- Opportunity Products	8/4/2	2010 4:25 PM	C5 Admin	Update	Est. Revenue	11000.0000	15000.0000	
- Opportunity Quotes					Est. Close Date	8/31/2010 9:42 PM	9/15/2010 12:	00 AM
- Administration					timezoneruleversionn	. 0	0	214
- Notes					Modified Pu	0/4/2010 4:10 PM	0/4/2010 4:25	PM
⊿ Related					Modified By (Delegate)	Co Admin	Co Autori	
Activities					Est. Revenue (Base)	11000.0000	15000.0000	
Closed Activities	8/4/2	2010 4:23 PM	C5 Admin	Audit Enabled	isauditenabled			_
Selationships	~ ~ ~		cornanni	riddie Endered	in a data contractica			
Connections								
16 Audit History								
[] Hadie History								
⊿ Sales								
Orders								
Competitors								
4 Processes								
TE Dialog Sessions								
[iii] brandy sessions								
	4							<b>)</b>
L	1 - 2 of 2 (1 s	elected)					H	4 Page 1 ▶
Status OpenPipeline Phase 3-Closin	ng							
Done					🔹 Local intra	anet   Protected Mode: Off	4 -	🔍 100% 👻 🅖

# Best Practice: Be Strategic About Related Activities

Many system customizers assume that it is safe to enable tracking activities for new entities just in case users might ask for this in the future. However, enabling this type of tracking on too many entities can make it confusing for users to wade through a large list of different related entities every time they want to track something from Outlook or set the regarding field on an activity. Having such a long list of options can create a time-consuming process for users. The best practice is to be strategic about selecting entities that can have related activities.

### Activities

Activities enable you to track activities associated with this entity by selecting a record from this entity in the activity's regarding field. You will need to decide if you want to track activities for this entity before you save it. After a new entity has been saved, you can no longer enable or disable activity tracking for it, so you will need to be careful to make the correct choice during your initial design.

### Sending E-mail

If this entity will have any e-mail addresses in it, then you can enable it for e-mailing. You do not have to enable this option when you initially create an entity, but once enabled you can no longer disable it. This option allows you to send and track e-mails to the addresses tracked on these records. You can use this option, for example, if you are creating an entity to track competitors' contacts.

### Queues

Select this option if you want to be able to add records in this entity to a queue. You can leave this blank when you initially create a new entity, but once you check it and save the entity, you can no longer remove the option. The option to move records automatically to the owner's default queue can be a helpful way to streamline processes.

### **Cross-Reference**

For more information on working with queues, see Chapter 10.

### Auditing

Auditing allows you to track the change history for an entity. This feature allows you to track fields that have been updated on a selected entity. For example, if you want to track whenever someone changes a date field on an entity that you are designing, you can activate auditing for the entity using this option. Once you have activated auditing for the entity, you should then activate it for the individual fields that you want to audit. Figure 17.10 is an image of audit records on the opportunity entity.

#### **FIGURE 17.10**

#### Audit history on an opportunity record



### Note

Before auditing becomes active in Dynamics CRM, you need to activate it for your organization. To do this, navigate to Settings Auditing and click on Audit Global Settings. From the popup form select Start Auditing and then click OK.

### Other settings on the general tab

The general tab contains a number of other settings that you can also work with to configure your entity exactly the way that you like. These remaining settings, which can be changed at any time, are summarized below:

• **Offline capability in Outlook:** Enable this option if you want users to be able to access data in this entity from Outlook even when they are offline and away from the office.

- **Reading pane in Outlook:** If you want to allow users to set up Outlook to show a preview of records in their Outlook reading pane, select this option. In most cases you can leave this option selected and allow users to individually choose if they will use their reading pane or not.
- **Mail merge:** If you want to use this entity to generate a mail merge document in Microsoft Word, then select this option.
- **Duplicate detection:** If you want to use automated duplicate detection to find potential duplicate records entered into this entity, then select this option. For more information on duplicate detection, see Chapter 8.
- **Connections:** This setting allows you to connect records in this entity to records in other entities using the connections functionality in Dynamics CRM. For information on using connections, see Chapter 10. For information on configuring connections, see Chapter 19. Once enabled, the connections option can no longer be disabled.
- **Document management:** This setting enables SharePoint document management for the entity. For information on configuring and using SharePoint document management, see Chapters 4 and 15.
- **Mobile Express:** If you want users to be able to access data in this entity with their mobile device, enable this option. Dynamics CRM includes custom forms for mobile devices, so you can deliver a mobile experience that delivers only the data needed on smaller mobile device screens (for more information, see the section "Customizing forms," later in this chapter).

### **Primary field**

The second tab of the entity settings is used to define the primary field for the entity. Every entity must have a primary field that is used to name the individual records within the entity. You can enter whatever display name that you like and set the requirement level. Primary fields are always a single line of text, but you can change the number of characters in the field.

After you save a newly created entity, the fields on the Primary Field tab cannot be changed from the Primary field tab. However, you can navigate to the list of fields for the entity and open the primary field from that list, where you can then make changes to the display name, length, and requirement level.

# Understanding the default fields

When you create a new entity in Dynamics CRM, a number of fields are automatically created as a part of the entity. The specific list of fields varies depending upon the settings you selected when you initially created the entity. You will be able to see a view of all the fields by navigating to the fields section of the entity designer. Table 17.3 summarizes the fields.

# **TABLE 17.3**

Default Entity Fields							
Display name	Appears when	Description					
[Variable] (primary key)	Always	This field is unique identifier for each record.					
[Variable] (Single Line of Text)	Always	This is the Primary Field that was created in the general settings area when the entity was initially created.					
Activity Type	Activity entities	The type of activity that this is (i.e., e-mail, phone call, etc.)					
Actual End	Activity entities	The date that the activity was marked as completed.					
Actual Start	Activity entities	The date selected as the start date of the activity by the user.					
Created By	Always	See detailed description, below.					
Created By (Delegate)	Always	See detailed description, below.					
Created On	Always	See detailed description, below.					
Currency	Activity entities	The financial currency associated with the activity (if any).					
Description	Activity entities	The description of the activity.					
Due Date	Activity entities	The scheduled end date for the activity.					
Exchange Rate	Activity entities	The exchange rate for the currency (used for multi-currency implementations).					
Import Sequence Number	Always	This field is used behind the scenes by Dynamics CRM. Whenever records are imported, the import job is assigned a unique number, which is stored in this field.					
Is Billed	Activity entities	Indicates if the activity was billed as part of closing a case.					
Is Regular Activity	Activity entities	Indicates if this is a standard type of activity if it is exclusively arranged with events.					
Is Workflow Created	Activity entities	Indicates if this activity was created by a workflow rule or not (i.e., by a user).					
Modified By	Always	See detailed description, below.					
Modified By (Delegate)	Always	See detailed description, below.					
Modified On (or Last Updated)	Always	See detailed description, below.					
Organization ID	Organization owned entities	The ID of the organization that owns this record. This is tracked by Dynamics CRM and cannot be updated by the user.					

Display name	Appears when	Description
Organizer, Customers, Resources, Outsource Vendors, Optional Attendees, From, BCC, CC, To	Activity entities	These fields can all be used to track optional "party lists" which contain one or more customer or other records.
Owner	User or team owned entities	See detailed description, below.
Owning Business Unit	User or team owned entities	See detailed description, below.
Owning Team	User or team owned entities	See detailed description, below.
Owning User	User or team owned entities	See detailed description, below.
Priority	Activity entities	The priority of this activity for completion.
Record Created On	Always	Can be used to track a separate created on date based on the date the record was migrated into Dynamics CRM.
Recurring Instance Type	Activity entities	Used for recurring activities.
Regarding	Activity entities	The record that this activity is regarding (i.e., a link to a record that supports activity relationships).
Scheduled Duration	Activity entities	The scheduled duration of the activity.
Series ID	Activity entities	Used for recurring events.
Service	Activity entities	ID of an associated service record.
Start Date	Activity entities	The scheduled start date of the activity as defined by the user.
Status (or Activity Status)	Always	See detailed description, below.
Status Reason	Always	See detailed description, below.
Subject	Activity entities	The subject of the activity.
Tome Zone Rule Version Number	Always	Used internally by Dynamics CRM for time zone calculations.
UTC Conversion Time Zone	Always	Time zone code that was in use when the record was created. Used to convert to local times.
Version Number	Always	Used to track the version of the record.

### Status (or activity status) and status reason

Every entity in Dynamics CRM has a status field and a status reason field. These two fields operate in combination with each other. You can think of the status field as answering the question, "What is the status of this record?" The status reason field answers the question, "Why is this the status of the record?"

Other than changing the display name, you cannot customize the status field on any entity in Dynamics CRM. Custom entities all have only two choices for status: active and inactive. System records in Dynamics CRM often have other available values in their status field

depending upon the usage of the entity. Active records are available when using the quick find (search bar) to find records. Inactive records (also referred to as deactivated records) are not available when using quick find but they can still be located using advanced find. Records should be deactivated if they are no longer needed for day-to-day operations but are still useful for reporting purposes. Deactivated records can be reactivated if necessary.

### Note

Deactivating records is often the preferable best practice rather than deleting records. Because Dynamics CRM does not have a recycle bin, it can be difficult to recover deleted records. Deactivated records, on the other hand, are only hidden from view and can fairly easily be found and reactivated if needed.

The values available in the status reason field vary depending upon the value in the status field. This is what is also called a dependent picklist (the values available in one picklist change depending upon the currently selected value in another picklist). You can edit the status reason field and change the available values in the field by selecting a status and then editing the values for the status reason for that particular item. Figure 17.11 illustrates editing the status reasons for inactive records. See Chapter 10 for more information on activating and deactivating records.

### FIGURE 17.11

Editing the status reason values for records that have an inactive status

Favorites Microso	oft Dynamics CRM 🗐 📰 Solu Close 📓   백양Show Depen	tion: Default - Micr   🚚 Field: S dencies   🚺 Managed Properties	Status Reaso 🗙 🔰 🛅 🤉	- D - C -	Page      Safety	Tools 🔻 🔞 Help (ALT+H
32 Status Reaso	n of Lead				oning on solution be	
Related	General					
Information	Schema					
	Display Name *	Status Reason	Requirement Level *	No Constraint		•
	Name *	statuscode				-
			🖉 Add List Value Webpage Di	alog		_
	Field Security	C Enable C Disable	Add List Value	I		
	Auditing *	🗭 Enable 📿 Disable	Add a new value to this list.			
	Description	Reason for the status of the lea	Label * Too small to work wit	th us		
		inclusion for the status of the real	Value 100,000,000			
	Туре					
	Type *	Status Reason (status)	ок	Cancel		
	Status	Disqualified	Local intranet   Protected Mode: Of	r		•
	Lost				Move Up	
	Cannot Contact				Move Down	
	Canceled				Edit	
					Add	
					Delete	
					Sort Ascending	
					Sort Descending	
	Default Value			Lost	Controlocontailing	•
				Front		<u> </u>

### **Created and modified fields**

Dynamics CRM automatically tracks a number of fields to keep up with who has created and modified records, and at what times that they did this. These fields can be useful to use in reports, workflows, and personalized e-mails. None of these fields can be updated directly by users — they are updated only by Dynamics CRM on an automated basis. These fields include:

- **Created By / Created On:** The individual who created the record and the date that they created it.
- **Modified By / Modified On:** The individual who last modified the record and the date that they modified it.
- **Created By (Delegate) / Modified By (Delegate):** This field is used behind the scenes by Dynamics CRM to track when the system automatically makes updates to records.

### **Owner, Owning Team**

If you selected to have records owned by users or teams, then the entity will have an owner field. The owner field can be changed if the record is ever reassigned.

# Other default elements

After saving an entity, you can begin customizing the elements of the entity. The elements include the fields, views, charts, forms, and relationships. More information on customizing the entity is found in the "Customizing Entities" section of this chapter. When you initially create a new entity, Dynamics CRM automatically creates a number of default elements outlined in Table 17.4.

Element Type	Element Name	Description
Form	Information 🕏 Main	This is the main form that will be used for data entry by users.
Form	Information 与 Mobile	This is the form that will be visible on a mobile device (assuming you have made this entity available for mobile access).
Form	Information 🖒 Preview	This is the preview form that will appear when users click the triangle next to a record in a grid.
View	All [Entity name]	This view shows all records.

**Default Elements on New Entities** 

### **TABLE 17.4**

continued

TABLE	(continued)	
Element Type	Element Name	Description
View	[Entity name] Advanced Find View	This view is the default view that is used when a user creates an advanced find.
View	[Entity name] Associated View	This is the default view that is used for related lists. For example, when you are on accounts and you click the contacts link in the navigation pane, you will see the Contacts Associated View.
View	[Entity name] Lookup View	This is the default view that is used when the user is completing a lookup field that references this entity. A number of other options are available for this functionality from the form.
View	Closed [Entity name]	This view returns all records in the entity with a status of inactive.
View	My Open [Entity name]	This view is only created for user or team-owned records. It returns all records owned by the individual currently using the view.
View	Quick Find Active [Entity name]	This is the view that is returned when the user enters a value into the search box to search for a record in the entity.

# **Updating icons**

Custom entities are automatically assigned a default icon. Creating a custom icon for each entity can improve the overall quality of your customizations while also giving users an easy-to-recognize symbol to help them remember the associated functionality and reduce their learning curve. There are a number of paid and free icon libraries available for download on the Internet.

# Note

You cannot update system entity icons.

Because Dynamics CRM uses icons of different sizes for different parts of the application, you will need to prepare and load three different sized icons to update the icons. Specifically, you need to prepare icons in the following formats and sizes (none of the icons can be over 10KB):

- Web application icon: 16x16 pixel icon
- Microsoft Outlook icon: 32x32 pixel icon
- Entity form icon: 66x48 pixel icon

# On the Web Site

Microsoft has developed an application that can convert a single icon into all three sizes and then load it as the icon for a selected Dynamics CRM entity. At the time of this writing, the application is only available for Dynamics CRM 4.0, but it will likely be rolled out for Dynamics CRM 2011 as well. We provide a link to download this tool on the Web site.

After you have prepared your three icons, use the steps below to load them into Dynamics CRM:

- **1.** Navigate to the entity customization area of Dynamics CRM, within the appropriate solution.
- **2.** Click the entity that you want to modify the icon for. Ensure that you are on the name of the entity in the navigation bar (clicking on the sub-items in the navigation bar will change which buttons are available in the menu).
- 3. Click the Update Icons button in the menu.
- 4. Follow the prompts in the dialog box (see Figure 17.12) to upload your custom icons.
- 5. Publish the entity for icons to become available.

### **FIGURE 17.12**

The update icons dialog box

🔊 Update Icons -	- Webpage Dialog	×
Select New Icons	5	
Select new icons for	r this custom entity. For best results, the icons should have transparency.	
Icon in Web applicat	ion	
The Web application	icon should be 16x16 pixels in size and no larger than 10 kilobytes.	
Published Icon	Da la	
New Icon		Q
Shortcut icon in Mic	roroft Dynamics CBM for Microroft Office Outlank	
The shortcut icon sh	ould be 32v32 nivels in size and no larger than 10 kilohytes	
The shoreacteon sh	ma	
Published Icon		
New Icon		Q
Icon in Entity forms		
The entity form icon	should be 66x48 pixels in size and no larger than 10 kilobytes.	
Published Icon		
New Icon		Q
Help	ОК	Cancel
http://2008r2-demo:	5555/360Centric/tools/s' 🔩 Local intranet   Protected Mode: Off	1

# **Customizing Entities**

You can customize any entity that you have created as well as the customizable system entities that are included with Dynamics CRM. This section describes the customizations you can make using the Dynamics CRM user interface without requiring any programming knowledge. Deeper customizations can also be made using custom code and are referenced in other sections of this book.

### **Cross-Reference**

The previous section included some general settings that you can modify when creating a new entity. Many of these settings can be changed when you are modifying entities as well. For more information about working with the general settings for an entity, see the earlier section "General entity settings and the primary field."

Use the steps below to customize existing entities:

- 1. Navigate to Settings ➡ Solutions and select the solution you want to make your changes to. See Chapter 16 for information on working with solutions.
- **2.** Navigate to the entity that you want to update. You can do this by either doubleclicking the entity in the grid or by expanding the list of entities in the navigation pane and clicking on the entity that you want to customize.
- **3.** Use the navigation pane to move to the various different components of the selected entity. Figure 17.13 shows the navigation pane with the fields area selected.
- **4.** Using the instructions in this section, make whatever customizations you like to the entity.
- **5.** If your customizations included changes to fields or to the form, preview the changes before publishing them.
- **6.** When you are satisfied with your customizations, publish them. See the preceding section of this chapter for instructions on publishing customizations.

### **FIGURE 17.14**

Entity customization area navigation pane with Fields selected

SMS Message
Solution: SMS Message
2 Information
Components
D Project
A Dia SM2 Anno Anno Anno Anno Anno Anno Anno Ann
E Forms
Views
Charts
Fields
1:N Relationships
N:1 Relationships
🙀 N:N Relationships
Doption Sets
💮 Security Roles
🖉 Processes
Reports
E-mail Templates
💽 Contract Templates
Article Templates
📴 Mail Merge Templates
🖆 Client Extensions
Or Dashboards
Web Resources
Connection Roles
16 Field Security Profiles
Plug-in Assemblies
🔄 Sdk Message Processin
Service Endpoints
Status: Existing

# **Customizing fields**

You can add and update fields for an entity by clicking on the Fields item in the Navigation pane under an entity. Click the new button to create new fields or double-click existing fields to make changes. Figure 17.14 is the data entry form that is used to create or customize fields. The sections below the figure provide details on the available options.

### **Display name**

This is the name that will be displayed on forms, views, and reports by default. You can change this field later, if desired.

### Name

This is the name that the field is given in the Dynamics CRM database. After you enter the display name, Dynamics CRM auto-fills the name field for you. You can change the name that Dynamics CRM creates if you would prefer something else. This name refers to this field in programming code and custom reports. After you save the form, the name field can no longer be changed.

### FIGURE 17.14

#### The field customization form

					-	
y 💬 ⊂ 🖾 ht	tp://2008r2-dem/	s:5555/360Centric/tools/s	ystem customization/attributes/manageAttribute.	aspx?appSolul 🛨 🄸 🗶 🖡	Bing	٩
Favorites	Microsoft Dyn:	amics CRM 🕍 Solut	ion: SMSMessag 🛛 🛺 Field: New for Pro	ject 🗙 🛛 🟠 🔻	🔊 🕆 🖃 🖶 🔻 Pag	e 🔻 Safety 🔻 Tools 👻 🔞
ile 🖬 🖳 S	Save and Close	6				😨 <u>H</u> elp (ALT+H)
Field New for	r Project				Worki	ng on solution: SMS Messag
Related		General				
Information		Schema				
		Display Name *	l.	Requirement Level *	No Constraint	•
		Name *	۵_	Searchable	Yes	
		Field Security	C Enable 🗭 Disable			
		Auditing *	← Enable ← Disable			
			A The field will not be audited until you en	able auditing on the entity.		
		Description				
		Туре	,			
		Type *	Single Line of Text (nvarchar)			
		Format *	Text			•
		Maximum Length $^{*}$	100			
		IME Mode *	auto			•
			R			
				A Local Sector		

# **Cross-Reference**

You may notice that a prefix that cannot be edited is automatically added to the name field. This prefix is set in the list of solution publishers. See Chapter 16 for information on setting the prefix for a publisher.

## Note

You may want to develop some naming conventions for your Dynamics CRM application. Naming conventions improve the ease-of-use of the application as well as the ease-of-maintenance. In addition, if you have a large number of fields with similar names, using a consistent naming convention for both the display name and for the database name is even more important.

### **Field security**

Field level security enables you to define privileges for users to view or update individual fields. If all users will have the same access to this field, then leave this value as "Disable." If different users will have different levels of access to this field, then set the value to "Enable." See Chapter 6 to understand the other settings that control field level security.

### Auditing

If you want Dynamics CRM to automatically track every time a change is made to this field, then select Enable for this option, otherwise select Disable. For more information on auditing, see the Auditing heading of the previous section of this chapter.

### **Requirement level**

This setting enables you to determine how important a field is and controls some of the behavior for how the field is presented on forms. Settings are:

- **Business Required:** The field has a red asterisk next to it on the form. The form cannot be saved if the field has not been populated. The field cannot be removed from the form.
- **Business Recommended:** The field has a blue plus sign next to it on the form. The field does not need to be populated to save the record and does not need to be on the form.
- No Constraint: The field is optional and is not flagged with any special symbol.

### Searchable

Set this value to "Yes" if you want this field to appear in the list of available fields for advanced find, quick find views and lookup views. Otherwise select "No." This can be a useful feature for controlling user access to fields and for simplifying the interface for users by hiding irrelevant fields from view.

### Description

Enter a description for how the field should be used here. It is always a best practice to enter a description in this area. By taking the time to carefully track this kind of information, you will make maintaining Dynamics CRM easier in the future.

### Type and format

The type and format settings allow you to determine what kind of data will be accepted in the field, as well as the formatting options for the field data. Options for these two fields are in Table 17.5.

### **TABLE 17.5**

Type and Format Options				
Туре	Format	Notes		
Single Line of Text (nvarchar)	E-mail	Ensures that the field will only allow a properly formatted e-mail address as input. Once populated, clicking on the field will open an e-mail to the specified address.		
	Text	Allows the entry of any text in the field. Allows up to 4,000 characters of text.		
	Text Area	Similar to text, but allows you to set up the field to accept multiple lines of text on the form.		
	URL	Ensures that the field will only allow a properly formatted Web URL as input. Once populated, clicking on the field will automatically open the underlying Web site.		
	Ticker Symbol	Converts the value entered into a hyperlink. Clicking the hyperlink opens Microsoft money central with details on the value of the stock and latest news.		
Option Set (picklist)		See below for more information on working with option sets.		
Two Options (bit)		This allows you to create a simple yes/no type field. On the form, it can be displayed as a check box, a picklist, or as radio buttons.		
Whole Number (int)	None	Accepts a whole integer number within the specified range.		
	Duration	Accepts duration in the field using a pick list.		
	Time Zone	Accepts a time zone in the field. Uses a pick list to present a user-friendly format for the time zone.		
	Language	Accepts a language in the field. Uses a picklist to present a user-friendly format for this field. Only lan- guages that have been installed with Dynamics CRM will appear in the picklist.		
Floating Point Number (float)		Accepts a floating-point number in the selected precision (up to five digits) and range.		
Decimal Number (decimal)		Accepts a floating point number in the selected precision (up to ten digits) and range.		

continued

<b>TABLE 17.5</b> (continued)		
Туре	Format	Notes
Currency (money)		Accepts a money field (with optional levels of preci- sion) within the specified range. NOTE: When adding currency fields, a second field is automatically added with the same name and a prefix of "(Base)" which is used for tracking multi-currency configurations.
Multiple Lines of Text (ntext)		Allows up to 100,000 characters of text.
Date and Time (datetime)	Date Only	Accepts a date value.
	Date and Time	Accepts a date and time value.
Lookup		Looks up a record from another entity. Using this field creates a relationship to the other entity. You can use this field type to create a simple relationship to another entity. For more information and advanced relationship settings, see the "Viewing, creating, and customizing relationships" section.

# **Cross-Reference**

Type and format aid with getting data entered into Dynamics CRM in the right format. There are a number of other methods for validating that data is being entered correctly. See the forms section (below) for some other validation concepts. See Chapter 21 for some advanced validation methods (such as auto-formatting phone numbers) that use JScript code.

### Creating new option sets (picklists)

Option sets are fields that allow the user select from a predefined range of values (also known as a picklist) to populate the field. You can create option sets that are related to only one entity, or you can create option sets that can be used in any entities in Dynamics CRM.

# Caution

The instructions below are for creating an option set that will be used on a single entity. If there is any likelihood that you will want to reuse the same option set on multiple entities, then you should select Yes for the option to use an existing option set. For information on using options sets that can be reused across multiple entities, see Chapter 19.

To create an option set that is associated with only one entity, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose a type of Option Set (picklist).
- **2.** Select No next to Use Existing Option Set. You are presented with the option set data entry form in Figure 17.15.
- 3. Click the "+" button in the button bar to add a new option to the list.
- **4.** Change the label for the option.

- **5.** If desired, you can also change the value. The value is a unique numeric ID assigned to each option in an option set. For the most part, this value is only used in programming code. Optionally, enter a description.
- 6. Repeat Steps 3 through 7 until you have completed your list.
- **7.** If you want to make changes to an item, click on the item in the list and change the fields to the right of the list.

### **FIGURE 17.15**

The option set area of the field data entry form

Туре			
Type *	Option Set (picklist)		
Use Existing Option Set	C Yes 🗭 No	<i>₽</i>	
Default Value	Unassigned Value		
Options			
	-∲ ြ≥ d- 9- 24 X4	Label * Value * Description	

### IME mode

IME (Input Method Editor) allows Dynamics CRM to work with Japanese, Korean, and Chinese characters. If you do not plan to use any of these character sets in your Dynamics CRM solution, then you can safely leave the default option selected. Because these writing systems have more characters than other keyboards, IME allows a sequence of characters to represent a single character in these languages. Using the IME mode, you can enter these characters into text boxes. Options for this value include:

- Auto: The IME mode is not changed.
- Active: All characters are entered in IME mode, but the mode can be deactivated.
- Inactive: Characters are entered without IME mode, but the mode can be activated.
- **Disabled:** IME mode is disabled and cannot be activated.

# Working with relationships

One of the more important steps in planning and setting up a custom entity (or customizing an existing entity) is to determine how the entity relates to the other entities in Dynamics CRM. Relationships define the connection between entities. For example, you may create a custom entity called Customer Inventory, and you may want it related to cases so that for every case, you can see the inventory item that it was related to. In this section, we will cover an overview of the types of relationships available in Dynamics CRM, how to setup relationship behaviors and how to map fields from a parent entity to its children. If the concept of relational databases is new to you, then we recommend that you review the section "Understanding relational databases," earlier in this chapter.

### Understanding relationship types

Dynamics CRM supports two basic relationships between entities. These two relationships can be configured in a variety of ways in order to relate almost any two entities to each other. Figure 17.16 represents the available relationship types and how they can be configured. We will refer to it throughout this section.

### FIGURE 17.16

All available relationship types



### One-to-many (1:N) and many-to-one (N:1) relationships

Figure 17.16 includes a number of 1:N and N:1 relationships. These are the types of relationships that you will be creating most frequently in Dynamics CRM. Some of the options when creating these relationships, as illustrated in the figure, are:

- **1:N:** In Figure 17.16, the relationship between Contact and Asset is a typical 1:N relationship. Each contact may have many different assets associated to them.
- N:1: If viewing the same relationship from the Asset entity, then the relationship back to Contacts can be said to be N:1. In other words, many assets are related back to a single contact.
- **1:N Self-Referencing:** Note that the asset entity has a 1:N relationship back to itself. An organization may want to set this up if one asset could be the parent to one or more child assets. This type of relationship is very helpful, for example, if an organization tracks a piece of equipment and, within that, they also track all the subcomponents of that individual piece of equipment. Another example is a company organization chart making the contact entity self-referencing enables a limitless range of parent/child relationships between managers and their subordinates.

### Many-to-many (N:N) relationships

Many-to-many relationships enable you to link many records in one entity to many records in another entity. There are two ways to create many-to-many relationships in Dynamics CRM:

- N:N Direct: In Figure 17.16, the relationship between contact and association is an N:N direct relationship. This means that from an individual contact, you can see the multiple associations that the contact belongs to; and that from an individual association, you can see the multiple contacts who are members of the association.
- N:N Connector Entity: In the figure, the relationship between contact and certificate is an N:N relationship but it is actually created by first creating a custom entity (called Contact\_Certificate) and using it as a "connector" entity (also often referred to as a cross-reference entity or intersection entity). A connector entity has an N:1 relationship back to the two parent entities thus creating an N:N relationship between them. The connector entity can also be used to track additional information about each relationship. In our example, the connector entity tracks the effective date, expiration date, and testing score for each certificate held by each contact. Connector entities can create a powerful way to manage data but they can also create some drawbacks for the ease-of-use of your solution, because users will be required to use three different forms for data entry.

### Unsupported relationships

There are some relationships types that are not supported by Dynamics CRM at this time. The listing below includes unsupported relationship types and some concepts for workarounds:

- **Composite Customer Relationships:** Some system entities (such as accounts, contacts, opportunities, and cases) are associated with a parent customer. The parent customer can be either an account or a contact. The idea of a customer in Dynamics CRM is called a composite customer entity, that is, it is a "virtual" entity called customer that can be either an account or a contact (but not both at the same time). This concept enables organizations to easily handle business-to-business relationships or direct-to-consumer relationships within Dynamics CRM. However, new relationships to the composite customer entity cannot be created by the user. In other words, you cannot create a new entity called asset and have it related to a parent customer. In most cases, this is not necessary. In situations where you do need to define this relationship, you can either link an entity to both the account and contact (creating two relationships); you can use the Connection entity type (see nearby sidebar) to link to either of these, or you may be able to use a custom activity entity if it suits your purposes.
- Any-to-Any Relationships: In some cases, you may want to allow a user to establish a relationship between a custom entity and any other entity in Dynamics CRM. This is not supported. You can, however, use the Connection entity type (see nearby sidebar) to support a similar behavior. Depending on exactly what you want to accomplish, you may also be able to create a custom activity type entity and use the regarding field to link to any entity that allows relationships to activities.

• **1:1 Relationships:** A one-to-one relationship allows tables to have one (and only one) record linked to another table. These are not supported in Dynamics CRM at this time.

### **Cross-Reference**

If you think the Connection entity may be suitable for a relationship that you are trying to define, you can learn more about it in Chapter 19.

### Understanding relationship behavior

In addition to defining relationships between entities, you will also need to define how those relationships will behave. Relationship behaviors have to do with how changes made to a parent record will "cascade" to child records. As such, relationship behaviors only apply to 1:N and N:1 relationships and do not apply to N:N relationships at all.

Relationship behaviors are triggered based on six different behavior actions that can be taken by a user. For each of those six actions, a cascading behavior rule can be assigned to determine how this action will be cascaded to child records. In addition, Dynamics CRM predefined behavior types that can be applied to a relationship to automatically select appropriate rules for each action. The diagram in Figure 17.17 explains the relationship between behavior actions, cascading behavior rules, and behavior types. Below the diagram is a more detailed discussion of these items.

### **FIGURE 17.17**

Understanding behavior actions, cascading behavior rules, and behavior types



### **Behavior** actions

Behavior actions are the six different actions that are taken on related (child) records after those same actions are taken on a parent (primary) record. Table 17.6 summarizes the six available behavior actions.

### **TABLE 17.6**

Action	Description
Assign	When the record in the parent (primary) entity is reassigned to a different owner, how will this affect the ownership of records in the child (related) entity?
Share	When the parent record is shared with other users, how will this affect sharing in the child records?
Unshare	When sharing is removed from the parent record, how will this affect sharing in the child records?
Reparent	When the parent record is re-parented, how will this affect the child records?
Delete	When the parent record is deleted, should child records also be deleted?
Merge	When the parent record is merged with another record, should child records be re-parented to the surviving parent record?

### **Behavior actions**

### Cascading behavior rules

Different cascading behavior rules can be applied to each of the above behavior actions. Cascading behavior rules answer the question in the description column of Table 17.6. The available rules change depending upon the action taken and the type of relationship. Table 17.7 provides an overview of the different behavior rules and which behavior actions they can be set to work with.

### **TABLE 17.7**

### **Cascading Behavior Rules**

		Works with					
Rule	Description	Assign	Share	Unshare	Reparent	Delete	Merge
Cascade All	Cascade the change made to the parent record to all child records.	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Cascade Active	Cascade the change made to the parent record to active child records. This can be useful, for example, for reassigning active opportunities to a new owner while retaining the owner of inactive opportunities for historical reporting purposes.	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Cascade User-Owned	Cascade the change made to the parent records to all child records that have the same original owner as the parent.	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Cascade None	Do not cascade the changes to any of the child records.	Х	Х	Х	Х		

continued

#### TABLE 17.7 (continued)

		Works with					
Rule	Description	Assign	Share	Unshare	Reparent	Delete	Merge
Remove Link	When the parent record is deleted, do not delete the child records, but remove the link to the parent record from the child.					Х	
Restrict	Do not allow the parent record to be deleted if it contains any associated child records.					Х	

### Type of behavior

When defining the relationship behavior between entities, Dynamics CRM includes a picklist of types of behavior. The function of this list is to automatically set a cascading behavior rule for each of the six behavior actions. Using the type of behavior picklist simplifies the process of defining behaviors. Table 17.8 describes each of the four types of behaviors.

7				
Type of Behavior	Description			
Parental	This setting cascades all changes from the parent entity to child records.			
Referential	This is the default behavior for new relationships created between entities. It does not cascade any changes from the parent entity to child entities.			
Referential, Restrict Delete	This setting does not cascade any changes from the parent entity to child records. However, it does prohibit parent records from being deleted if there are associated child records.			
Configurable Cascading	This setting enables the administrator to manually set a behavior rule for each of the six behavior actions.			

**Types of Behavior** 

### **TABLE 17.8**

### Viewing, creating, and customizing relationships

To view, update, or create relationships, you will need to navigate to the customizations area of Dynamics CRM and then to the entity that you want to use. Relationships are available as a series of three items in the navigation pane. Follow the procedure below to navigate to this area:

- 1. Navigate to Settings  $\Rightarrow$  Solutions and select the solution that you want to view relationships for.
- **2.** Within the solution, navigate to the desired entity in the Navigation pane and click the triangle next to the entity name to expand the list of items for that entity.
**3.** In the Navigation pane, click on the type of relationships that you want to work with (1:N Relationships, N:1 Relationships, or N:N Relationships as illustrated in Figure 17.18).

### FIGURE 17.18

Relationships area of an entity



- 4. From here, you have several options as follows:
  - Create a relationship. You can click the New button in the menu bar to create a new relationship.
  - Edit a relationship. Double-click any relationship to open it and make changes (this includes changing relationship behavior or mappings).
  - Delete a relationship: If you want to remove a relationship, you can click on the relationship and click the X button in the button bar. Note that many relationships that are set up out of the box in Dynamics CRM cannot be deleted.

Dynamics CRM provides a relationship form (Figure 17.19) for creating or updating relationships. Important fields and sections on this form include:

- **Primary Entity:** This is the name of the parent entity in the relationship. If you created a new 1:N relationship, then this field is populated with the name of the current entity. If you created an N:1 relationship, then this field is a drop-down from which you should choose the desired primary entity.
- **Related Entity:** This is the name of the child entity in the relationship. If you created a new N:1 relationship, then this field is populated with the name of the current entity. If you created a 1:N relationship, then this field is a picklist from which you should choose the desired child entity.
- **Name:** This field is a unique name that describes the relationship. Dynamics CRM auto-populates this field, but you can change it to a more descriptive name if you like.
- **Display Name:** This is the name of the lookup field that appears on child records that link the record to a parent. For example, if you create a 1:N relationship between account and inventory, this value could be set to Account or Parent Account as the field that will show up on the inventory form to link back to the account record.

- **Requirement Level:** This determines if the link to a parent record will be required on the child record form or not.
- Name: This unique name is assigned to the lookup field on the child record.
- Navigation Pane Item for Primary Entity Section: This section enables you to define where (or if) a link to the list of child records will be displayed on the parent entity and, if displayed, what the label on the list should be.
- **Relationship Behavior Section:** This section contains the settings that define the relationship actions, rules, and behaviors. For more information on the settings in this section, see the earlier section in this chapter, "Understanding relationship behavior."

#### **FIGURE 17.19**

The relationship form

@Relationship: Account	to Inventory - Windows Inte	ernet Explorer			<u>_ 8</u> 2
💬 🖸 📈 http://2008r	2-demo:5555/360Centric/tools/sys	temcustomization/relationships/	manageRelationship	o.aspx?at 🕶 🎸 🗶 💽	Bing 🖉 -
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🚂 Microsof	ft Dynamics CRM 📠 Solutio	n: Default - Micr 📈 Relat	ionship: Accou	× 🖞 🖓 🕶 🗄	🖞 👻 📑 👻 Page 🔻 Safety 🕶 Tools 👻 🔞
File 🔄 🛃 Save and O	Close   🖷 Show Dependencies	16 Managed Properties 🐁	≜ctions ▼		🕼 Help (ALT+H) •
32 Relationship Account to In	iventory				Working on solution: Default Solution
⊿ Related	General				
Carl Information	<b>Relationship Definition</b>				
τġ Mappings	Primary Entity*	Account	Ψ.	Related Entity*	Inventory
	Name *	new_account_c5_contractli	neinventory		
	Lookup Field				
	Display Name *	Current Account		Name *	new_currentaccountid
	Requirement Level *	No Constraint	•		
	Description	Unique identifier for Accou	int associated with :	inventory.	
	Navigation Pane Rem fo	r Primary Entity			
	Display Option *	Use Plural Name	•	Custom Label *	
	Display Area *	Details	•	Display Order *	10,000
	Rela sonship Behavior				
	Type of Behavior *	Referential			
	Assign *	Cascade None	Ψ.	Reparent*	Cascade None 💌
	Share *	Cascade None	Ψ.	Delete *	Remove Link 👻
	Unshare *	Cascade None	Ψ.	Merge *	Cascade All
Done				👊 Local intranet   Prot	lected Mode: Off 🛛 🖓 👻 🔍 100% 👻

### Note

The relationship form for an N:N entity looks a bit different from a 1:N or N:1 entity and the setup for N:N entities is simpler (not requiring setting up behaviors or mappings).

### Mapping fields between relationships

Mapping fields between related entities allows you to save users time by automatically copying certain information from a parent record to a child record whenever a new child record is created. An example of this is the information, such as address and phone number that is copied from an account to a contact whenever a new contact is added to an existing account. Follow these steps to map a field from a parent record to a child:

- 1. Create fields on both the parent and child entities that should be mapped. Ensure that these fields are formatted in exactly the same manner.
- **2.** Create the relationship between the parent and child entities (follow the instructions earlier in this chapter if you need assistance with this).
- **3.** Click the mappings link in the Navigation pane of the relationship form. You are presented with a listing of all existing mappings between the parent and child entities.
- **4.** Click the new button in the button bar to create a new mapping. You are presented with the Create mapping dialog (Figure 17.20).
- **5.** In the left portion of the dialog, click the field from the parent entity that you want to map. On the right portion, click the field to which you want to map. When you have selected both fields, click the OK button.
- 6. Repeat Steps 4 and 5 for each field that you want to map.

### Tip

If there are a number of fields that you want to map, you can click on More Actions  $\Rightarrow$  Generate Mappings to auto-create mappings between fields with similar names and formats. However, you should only do this on new relationships because this will reset any existing mappings that you have already set up (including deleting mappings that may not have similar names or formats).

### **FIGURE 17.20**

#### Field mapping dialog box

Cre			Create Field Mapping From Account to Inventory Webpage Dialog 🔀							
crea	Create Field Mapping From Account to Inventory									
Sour	ce Entity Fields				т	arg	et Entity Fields			
	Name 🔺	Display Name	Type (Size)		1	1	Name 🔺	Display Name	Type (Size)	
~	accountcategorycode	Category	Option Set	-	- I	7	c5_contractline	Contract Line	Lookup	
	accountclassification code	Classification	Option Set	_	-		c5_itemname	Item Name	Single Line of Text(100)	
	accountid	Account	primarykey				c5_primarycontact	Primary Contact	Lookup	
	accountnumber	Account Number	Single Line of Text(20)				importsequencenumber	Import Sequenc	Whole Number	
	accountratingcode	Account Rating	Option Set				new_securefield	Secure Field	Single Line of Text(100)	
	address1_addressid	Address 1: ID	primarykey				new_version	Version	Single Line of Text(100)	
	address1_addresstypecode	Address 1: Addr	Option Set				overriddencreatedon	Record Created	Date and Time	
	address1_city	Address 1: City	Single Line of Text(50)				statuscode	Status Reason	Status Reason	
	address1_country	Address 1: Cou	Single Line of Text(50)				timezoneruleversionnum	Time Zone Rule	Whole Number	
	address1_county	Address 1: Cou	Single Line of Text(50)		•		utcconversiontimezonec	UTC Conversion	Whole Number	
4				F	_					
1-	134 of 134 (1 selected)					1-	10 of 10 (1 selected)			
http://	Help OK Cancel									

# Working with forms

Forms are a central portion of the interface that users will access daily to enter and find information in Dynamics CRM. As a result, forms are also an area where users most frequently request changes. To successfully administer Dynamics CRM, it is important to understand the options and best practices for form management.

To navigate to the list of forms for an entity, use the process below:

- 1. Navigate to Settings 

  → Solutions and select the solution that contains the form you want to view.
- **2.** Within the solution, navigate to the desired entity in the Navigation pane and click the triangle next to the entity name to expand the list of items for that entity.
- **3.** Click the Forms link in the Navigation pane. You are presented with a list of all of the forms available for the entity.

### **Understanding form types**

Dynamics CRM 2011 includes three different types of forms which are used in the application for different purposes:

- **Main:** The main form type is the data entry form that is used in the application (Outlook or the Web). Each entity has one form of this type by default, but more can be created if needed. Creating more than one main form enables *role-based forms*, which are discussed later in this section.
- **Mobile:** The mobile form is used when accessing dynamics CRM using a mobile device. Having a separate form for mobile devices makes it easy to manage a custom view of data on the limited screen space of mobile devices. Only one form of this type can be created for each entity.

For the remainder of this section, we will focus on the form types of "main." However, the process for managing mobile and preview forms is the same as it is for main forms (though there are fewer options for mobile and preview forms).

### Understanding form layout

Dynamics CRM includes a flexible framework for laying out forms. This allows you to deliver an experience to the user that is efficient in terms of both data entry and presenting the information that they are looking for. Figure 17.21 is an illustration of a Dynamics CRM form. Below the figure is a description of each of the components of the form.

- Fields: Fields are added to the header, body, and footer of forms.
- **Controls:** Controls can also be added to forms in the header, body, footer, and navigation areas. These include navigation links, Web resources, Iframes, and spacers.
- **Navigation Pane:** The Navigation pane is on the left-hand side of the form. This area can be customized by moving and renaming sections, by moving navigation links between sections, and by creating custom navigation links.

#### **FIGURE 17.21**

Layout of a Dynamics CRM form as seen in the form designer

@Form: Inventory - Wir	ndows Internet Explorer	_ 8 ×
🗇 💬 🗢 🚂 http://2008	3r2-demo:5555/360Centric/main.aspx7appSolutionId=%7b1A046DF3-2C9C-DF11-955A-00155D10( 🗾 🍫 🗙 🛅 Bing	- ٩
Favorites Microso	oft Dynamics CRM 加 Solution: ContractCust 加 Form: Inventory 🗙 🛛 🏠 🔻 🖾 👻 🖃 🕷	🔹 🕶 Page 🕶 Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶
File Home Insert		C5 Admin @ 360 Centric 🔒
Save As     Save and Close     Publish     Save	Change Remove Form Projecties Change Of Change Chan	
	Solution: Contract Customizations	Field Explorer [16]
- Q	Form: Inventory	Filter Unused Fields 💌
▲ Information	🕍 Header	Created By
Tab 2		Created By (Delegate)
		Created On
4 Dalahadi	* Tab 1	Modified By
Accounts	Section 1 Section 2	Modified By (Delegate)
A Sales:	Tem Name * Item Na Account Number Account	Modified On
	Owner* Owner Spacer	Primary Contact
▲ Service:		Status
*****	Contract Line Contrag Secure Field Secure	Status Reason
▲ Marketing:		Version
Categories	*Tab 2	
▲ Processes:	Section 3	
W Processes		
16 Audit History	·····	
[16] Dialog Sessions		
	Section 4	
	Current Account	
		New Field
	W Footer	New/Field
D		
Done	Local Intranet   Protected Mode	. OII  48 +  47 TOD% +

- Header and Footer: The header and footer are available on every form. These areas can be customized with fields and components that are always visible on the form regardless of which tab or related list is being shown.
- **Body:** The body of a form is where all of the data entry is performed. Fields and components can be added to the body. The body of the form can configured to be further subdivided as follows:
  - **Tabs:** Tabs enable users to rapidly navigate within a form. For every tab that is added to a form, a link is added to the Navigation pane to allow users to rapidly navigate to the tab. Note that Figure 17.21 contains two tabs and that, for each tab, a navigation link appears in the information section of the Navigation pane.
  - **Sections:** Tabs are made up of one or more sections. If a tab has two columns, then sections can be placed in each of the two columns. Sections can have from one to four columns to further control how information is presented on the form.

In Figure 17.21, the form is made up of two tabs. Tab 1 has two columns, each column containing one section. Section 1 has two columns. Tab 2 has a single column with two sections.

### Using the form designer

To access the form designer, navigate to the list of forms for a selected entity and click the name of the form that you want to open. The form designer enables you to add new tabs, sections, navigation links, and components to forms. The designer provides a drag-and-drop interface, making it easy to move items around on a form to try out different layouts quickly. In addition, you can quickly create new fields and relationships without having to leave the form designer — saving time on rapidly creating new forms in Dynamics CRM.

### Moving around the form

Forms are composed of four areas (the body, header, footer, and navigation as outlined in the preceding section). To make changes to any of these areas, go to the Home tab of the Ribbon menu and then click on the area that you want to update in the Select portion of the Ribbon menu.

### Changing the form layout

Changing the layout of a form can include adding, deleting, moving, or updating tabs and sections on a form. The form designer provides several tools to make this process fast and flexible.

- Adding tabs and sections: Click the Insert tab in the Ribbon menu. Click the appropriate button in either the Section or Tab area of the Ribbon to insert an item with the selected number of columns into the form.
- **Moving tabs and sections:** Tabs and sections can be moved using drag-and-drop. Click and hold on the item you want to move and drag it to a new location. A red bar will highlight the place that the item will be dropped as you move around the screen. Release the mouse button and the item will be dropped into the selected area of the form.
- **Updating tab and section settings:** Tabs and sections have a number of formatting settings that you can change to alter how they look to the end user. To make changes to these settings, double-click on the name of the tab or section. You are presented with a dialog box of settings. Look at the Display and Formatting tabs for options on what can be controlled.
- **Deleting tabs and sections:** To delete a tab or a section, click on the item that you want to delete so that it is outlined with a green box. In the Ribbon menu, on the Home tab, click the Remove button. Select OK on the confirmation dialog box to delete the selected item.

### Working with fields

Most of your work on forms will focus on setting up fields for viewing and for data entry. The form designer includes drag-and-drop features and in-place editing that speeds and simplifies the process of working with fields on your forms. Use the processes described below to work with fields on your forms:

- Adding fields: On the right-hand side of the form designer is the Field Explorer pane. Fields can be dragged directly off of this pane onto your form. You can change the filter of the Field Explorer to view only fields that are not already on the form, only custom fields, or all available fields. Note that the same field can be added to the form in multiple locations if desired.
- **Creating new fields:** If, while working on a form, you realize that a field needs to be created, you can click the New Field button at the bottom of the Field Explorer. Using the dialog box, you can create a new field for the entity on the fly and add it to the form.
- **Moving fields:** Fields can be moved within a form by clicking on them and dragging them to their new location, and releasing the mouse button to drop them there.
- **Updating field properties:** Double-click a field to update properties about the display and formatting of the field. Use the tabs in the dialog box to make changes. Note that lookup fields contain special record filtering properties (see the nearby sidebar).
- **Removing fields:** Field can be removed from a form by clicking on the form and then clicking the Remove button on the Home tab of the Ribbon menu. Note that this action removes the field from the form but does not delete the field from the entity.

### Working with form controls

In addition to fields, there are a variety of other components that can be added to forms, called controls. To add a control to a form, click the Insert tab in the Ribbon menu and click the button for the appropriate control in the Control section of the Ribbon menu. To change the properties for a control after you add it to your form, double-click on it. To remove a control, click the control on the form and then click the Remove button on the Home tab of the Ribbon menu.

Using additional form controls, you can provide deep customization to your forms that deliver an unlimited range of functional enhancements to make your users productive. Figure 17.22 illustrates some of the customizations that can be available using form controls. The following controls are available to add to forms:

- Iframe: An Iframe control allows you to insert a "window" into another Web site or Web application directly within your page. Information can be passed into an Iframe from Dynamics CRM and back to Dynamics CRM from the Iframe. Using Iframes you can integrate with mapping and other applications by creating "mash-ups" with Dynamics CRM. Iframes are described in more detail in Chapter 21.
- **Navigation Link:** Navigation links are available only for use within the Navigation pane of the form. Adding a navigation link enables you to add a new item to the Navigation pane. This item can be a Web resource or an external URL (similar to an Iframe). This enables you to quickly enhance Dynamics CRM with integration to other systems, Web reports, or sites. See the Iframe and Web Resource bullet points in this list for more information.

- Notes: If your entity uses notes and attachments, you can add the notes control to provide an interface for this functionality to your form.
- **Spacer:** Spacers are used to provide extra space between fields and controls on your form. They do not provide any functionality other than to create gaps on the form where needed.
- **Sub-Grid:** A sub-grid control allows you to place a grid for a child entity on the parent form. For example, you can add a grid of related activities to a case. Sub-grids also provide you with control over how the grid works, including chart and view settings.
- Web Resource: Web resources are Web files (HTML files, images, Silverlight applications, etc.) that are managed on the Dynamics CRM server. You can think of them as similar to Iframes, except that the content within a Web resource is hosted in Dynamics CRM. Using Web resources you can create highly customized functionality embedded directly within your Dynamics CRM forms. See Chapter 21 for more information on Web resources.

### **FIGURE 17.22**

A form with a number of additional controls



# Working with Lookup Field Properties\_

Lookup fields allow users to look up a value from a related parent table. Properties for lookup fields can be set to save users time finding the appropriate parent record — or to restrict users to selecting from among a subset of records in the parent entity. To bring up the properties for a lookup field, double-click on the field in the form designer. The figure illustrates the properties available for a lookup field.

Field Properties Webpage Dialog	
eld Properties	
odify this field's properties.	
Display Formatting Details Events	
Disable most recently used items for this field	-
Locking	
Specify whether to lock this field on the form.	
Lock the field on the form	
	_
Visibility	
Specify the default visibility of this control.	
Visible by default	
Accounts (Inventory Item) Accounts (Inventory Item) Contrast (Inventory Item) Contrast (Inventory) Created By (Delegate) (Inventory) Created By (Inventory) Add Modified By (Inventory) Modified By (Inventory) Modified By (Inventory) Primary Contast (Inventory) Primary Contast (Inventory) Fase (Inventory) Primary Contast (Inventory) Fase (Inventory) Primary Contast (Inventory) Fase (Inventory) Fa	]
Accounts Accounts My Active Accounts My Active Accounts My Connections	
Help OK Can	el
20000-0 down 555552 🕰 To a children of Distance in Marchael Marchael Off	

Properties for a lookup field.

Special properties for lookup fields include the following:

- **Turn off automatic resolutions in this field**. When entering values into lookup fields, Dynamics CRM will auto-populate fields if a user enters a partial value and then tabs away. This can be a helpful time-saver, but there may be cases where you do not want this functionality. Check this option to turn this functionality off.
- Disable most recently used items for this field. Lookup fields also provide a list of recently selected values for end users to choose from another potential time-saver that may not always be desirable. Select this option to deactivate this function.

continued

continued

- Only show records where. This option provides a way to limit the list of records that the user can choose from. When combined with the Allow users to turn off filter option, this option can either be a guideline or a rule for which records should be used in this field. This can be useful for setting up a "sub-lookup." For example, one lookup field can be titled Law Firm to capture the name of the firm that provides legal services to this account (see "Additional Properties" section). In that case, a second field called Primary Attorney could limit the list of contacts to only individuals who work for the selected law firm.
- Additional properties. This gives you control over how much search flexibility the end user will have in terms of typing in search terms and using views to find records. You can also use this area to restrict the user to a predefined view when selecting a record. For example, you can setup a lookup field for Law Firm that uses an account view which restricts the user to only accounts where "Category=Law Firm."

Using these functions, you can have tight granular control over exactly how individual lookup fields function on a given form.

### Previewing your form

Dynamics CRM includes the ability to preview and test your form prior to publishing it for end users. It is a best practice to always preview changes to a form prior to publishing them in order to mitigate the risk that changes you publish will cause problems on the form for users.

To preview the form, select the Home tab on the Ribbon menu and click the Preview button. There are options for previewing the form when a record is created, updated, or read only. While in preview mode, interact with the form by filling out fields to ensure that all works as expected. Click the "Simulate Form Save" button to see if desired actions during the save are taken.

### Saving and publishing customizations

Changes to your form are not saved until you explicitly save them. Once you are satisfied with your changes to a form (or if you're leaving your computer for a while), click one of the Save buttons in the Ribbon menu to save your changes. In the event that you make changes to a form and you want to discard them, you can close the form without saving it.

Saved changes to forms are not published until you explicitly publish them. This allows you to make all of your desired changes to a form without publishing them until you have had an opportunity to notify users of the changes (and/or provide training if necessary). Once you are ready to publish your changes to a form, you can click the Publish button in the Ribbon menu.

### **Cross-Reference**

In addition to the properties described in this chapter, there are a number of advanced customizations that can be made to forms to expand their functionality even further. These are covered in Section VI and include form events, field events, Web resources, Iframes, client-side scripting, and related concepts. Using these tools you can streamline data validation and formatting (for example, consistently format phone numbers), integrate with other Web sites (for example, show a map of a client location), provide user shortcuts (for example, display custom buttons to trigger workflows or dialogs), and integrate with your other internal systems (display reports or screens with information from other related internal systems).

### Working with role-based forms

Dynamics CRM 2011 includes the capability to develop multiple different forms for the same entity. These different forms can then be assigned to be the default form for users based on their role within the organization. This can be very useful functionality for showing users only the data that they need to see for their job function. For example, a service technician may want to see a very different view of a case than would a sales representative. Use these pointers and best practices to configure multiple role-based forms for a specific entity:

- **Creating forms:** Create as many forms as you want to handle the different roles that need to interact with an entity. Keep in mind that the more forms you create, the more difficult it will be to manage changes to the entity in the future. For example, if you add a new field that should be visible on all forms, you will need to manually add it to all forms.
- Assigning roles: To assign roles to specific forms, navigate to the form view for the desired entity, select the desired form from the grid, and click the Assign Roles button in the menu bar. Select the desired roles from the assign roles dialog box (Figure 17.23) for the selected form and click the OK button. Individuals with the selected role will see the selected form by default.

### FIGURE 17.23

Assign roles dialog box

<b>Assign Roles:</b> Select the roles for which this form will be displayed.		
Display to everyone		
Display only to these selected roles	Business Unit: All	2
Name 🔺	Business Unit	4
CEO-Business Manager	360 Centric	
S CSR Manager	360 Centric	
Scustomer Service Representative	360 Centric	
🕼 Delegate	360 Centric	
Marketing Manager	360 Centric	
S Marketing Professional	360 Centric	
🕼 Sales Manager	360 Centric	
Salesperson	360 Centric	
🕼 Schedule Manager	360 Centric	
Scheduler	360 Centric	
System Administrator	360 Centric	
🕼 System Customizer	360 Centric	-
•		•
1 - 14 of 14 (3 selected)		
Fallback		
🗁 Enabled for fallback		
This form will be displayed to users with roles	that don't have any forms explicitly assigned.	
Help	OK	Cancel

• Form order and multiple forms: Some users may have permission to view multiple different forms. In those cases, the default form will be the first form on the list of forms for the entity. To change the default form, use the Form Order button on the menu bar above the list of forms. If a user has permission to see multiple forms, they will see a drop-down indicator at the top of the form navigation pane. By clicking the indicator (Figure 17.24), they can choose which form they would like to view.

### **Cross-Reference**

Note that-role based forms are not the same as field level security. Role-based forms are designed to improve the design and efficiency of the application for users, but they are not designed to hide secure fields from specific users. Chapter 6 provides more information on security roles and field security.

# **Deleting fields**

In some cases, you may find that you create a field that you later want to delete. This can happen when business processes change or you realize that a field on a Dynamics CRM form is no longer capturing valuable information. Use the steps below to delete an unwanted field.

- 1. Remove dependencies on this field. The field you want to delete needs to be removed from items that depend upon it. This may include forms, views, workflows, and reports. Use the steps below to find the dependencies and then remove the field:

  - **2.** Within the solution, navigate to the entity containing the field you want to delete and then to the list of fields.
  - **3.** Click on the field you want to delete.
  - **4.** Note that this step is optional but is a recommended best practice. By following this step, you can temporarily hide fields until a later date to be absolutely certain that fields can be deleted prior to removing them from the Dynamics CRM database. Double-click to open the field configuration form. At the beginning of the Display Name, add the prefix "DEL\_" and add the following text to the Description, "This field may be removed as of xx/xx/xx" (replacing "xx" with the date on which the field can be deleted). Save and close the form.
  - 5. You should now be back on the list of fields for the entity. Make sure you have clicked on the field you want to delete and then select More Actions ⇔ Show Dependencies. This list (Figure 17.25) shows you the views, forms, workflows, and other areas where the field is currently being used.
  - **6.** Double-click on each item in the list to open the underlying item. Remove the field from the dependent item and save your changes. Repeat this step for each item in the list of dependencies.
  - **7.** Publish all customizations for the entity. See Chapter 16 for more information on publishing customizations.

### **FIGURE 17.24**

Form toggle drop-down list

Drop down indicator and two alternate forms that this user has permission to view

Inventory: 100 schillings - M	licrosoft Dynam	ics CRM - Window	s Internet Explo	rer					_ 8 >
🗩 🗢 加 http://2008r2-dem	o:5555/360Centric	/main.aspx?etn=c5_con	tractlineinventory&	&extraqs=_gr	idType%3d1000	• + >	K 🖸 Bing		<del>،</del> م
Favorites Inventory: Acti	ive Invent	Inventory: 100 schil	li <b>x</b>			台	- 🛛 - 🗆 🖶	) ▼ Page ▼ Safety	🔹 Tools 👻 🔞 🗣
File Inventory Create Relat	ted Customize	-			-				C5 Admin @ 360 Centric 🔥
Save and Close	• ete Deactivate .	Assign	Run Report - RE-m	it Preview by a Link ail a Link	Run Start Process Dialog	Advanced Find			
Save Recon	d Management	Actions	Data		Process	Query			
Inventory: 100	0 schillings							Inventory	▼ ☆ ₽
information +									
Information	▼ Tab 1								
Ton Secret Form	Section 1						Section 2		
	Item Name *	100 schilling	Account	Number	1234567	_	Charter Account	te By Tamitoriae	- 0
Categories	Oumar*	CE Admi	n 🗔		1		4	is by remones	
Dioresses	Contrel	S Co Maini							
() Processes	Contract Line	E Eine 2	Col Secure P	ield∓	dfdekf				
16 Audit History									
16 Dialog Sessions	▼ Tab 2								
	Section 3								
									-
	6	The webpage	e cannot be	found					
									HTTP 4
		Most likely cause	es:						
		<ul> <li>There mig</li> <li>If you clid</li> </ul>	ht be a typing e ked on a link, it	error in the may be ou	address. t of date.				
		What you can tr	y:						-
	-								
Status ActiveOwner 🕱 C5 Adm	nin								
			[			dinaum 7au	e ddiaeth I Destaste	ul Madal Off	A 100% -

- **2.** Delete the field. If you followed all of the steps above, then the field should now be completely removed from the view of your users. You may now either delete the field immediately (Step 2, below) or wait until an appropriate time in the future to clean up any extraneous fields (start with Step 1, below).
  - 1. Navigate to the list of fields of the entity containing one or more fields that you want to delete and click the column heading labeled "Display Name" to sort the list by name. Scroll down the fields that have a prefix of "DEL\_."
  - **2.** Select each field that you want to delete and then click the delete button (this is the button that appears to be a handwritten X above the list of fields).
  - **3.** You are prompted to confirm prior to proceeding. After you click the OK button, the field (and all data within it) will be deleted from the database and will not be able to be recovered. Click the OK button to proceed.

### Caution

Deleting a field is permanent. All data contained within the field will also be deleted. Use extreme caution when deleting fields. Note that the above process includes some best practice precautions to help you avoid deleting data that you may need at a later time.

### FIGURE 17.25

The dependencies list for a field

Actual End: De	ependencies	- Windows Internet Ex	plorer				-	- 10
)⊙	http://2008r2-dei	mo:5555/360Centric/tools/de	ependency/depende	encyviewdialog.aspx?appS	olutionId=%7bF 🔽 🍫	X Bing		1
Favorites	/ Microsoft Dv	namics CRM	on: Default - Micr	. Actual End: Dep	pend 🗙 🕺	🗿 🕶 🔝 👻 🖃 🖶 💌 Page 🖣	<ul> <li>Safety ▼ Tools</li> </ul>	•
ual End: Dep	cendencies							
endent compor	nents							
cannot delete t	this component	while the following compor	nents depend on it.					
Display Nar	me 🔺 🔰	Name/Id	Component Type	Parent Entity	Managed Solution	Dependency Type		4
Closed Act	tivities	Closed Activities	View	Activity	System Solution	Published		
Closed Act	tivities	Closed Activities	View	Activity	System Solution	Published		
Closed Act	tivity Associat	Closed Activity Associat	View	Activity	System Solution	Published		
My Closed	Activities	My Closed Activities	View	Activity	System Solution	Published		
My Closed	Activities	My Closed Activities	View	Activity	System Solution	Published		
- 5 of 5 (1 selecte	ed)							
5 of 5 (1 selecte uired componer en you import a ponents becaus	ed) nts i solution, the re se this compone	equired components must al	iready be present or	) the target system or inclu	uded within the solution be	eing imported. You cannot delete	the following	
- 5 of 5 (1 selecte auired componer en you import a iponents becaus Display Nan	ed) nts i solution, the re se this compone me 🔺 🛛	equired components must al ent requires them. Name/Id	ready be present on Component Type	the target system or inclu Parent Entity	uded within the solution be	sing imported. You cannot delete	the following	
- 5 of 5 (1 select) quired componer hen you import a mponents becaus   Display Nan	ted) nts solution, the re se this component me ▲	squired components must a nrt requires them. Name/Id	ready be present on Component Type   No r	n the target system or inclu Parent Entity ecords are available in thi	uded within the solution be   Managed Solution s view.	sing Imported. You cannot delete   Dependency Type	the following	
- 5 of 5 (1 select) quired component on you import a nponents becaus Display Nan Display Nan	ed) nts a solution, the re this component me =   kd]	squired components must al nt requires them. Name/Id	ready be present or Component Type   No r	n the target system or inclu Parent Entity ecords are available in thi	uded within the solution be   Managed Solution s view.	sing imported. You cannot delete	the following	1
- 5 of 5 (1 select uired componen en you import a ponents becaus Display Nan Display Nan	ed) nts solution, the re se this component me A   ed)	rquired components must al ent requires them. Name/Id	ready be present on Component Type   No r	the target system or inclu Parent Entity ecords are available in thi	uded within the solution be Managed Solution	ing Imported. You cannot delete	the following	

### Tip

Do not delete system fields that are included with Dynamics CRM. Most of these fields were created by Microsoft with a specific purpose in mind. Although you may not initially use the fields, it is possible that you may find them helpful in the future. Also, system fields are kept in separate tables from user-created fields, so these fields do not reduce the total number of fields that you can create. You can safely remove the fields from forms and views without also deleting them.

# **Customizing views**

Views are a predefined set of filters, sorting sequence, and columns that can be applied to data grids (or lists). Users can select the desired view for a given entity by clicking the drop-down above the grid. For every entity, you should maintain a list of the most useful views for all users to access.

### **Cross-Reference**

Users can create their own "personal views" by using advanced find, filters, and personal view functionality. A general overview of views is covered in Chapter 10. The process for configuring personal views and public views is identical in most respects.

### Understanding view types

Six types of views are available for each entity in Dynamics CRM. Any number of public views can be created for an entity. Only one of each of the remaining types of views is allowed, and each of these types of views is required. Table 17.9 explains the various types of views.

#### **TABLE 17.9**

	71	
View Type	Usage	Number Required
Public View	Available to all users. The filter, columns, and sorting for these views can all be customized.	0-unlimited
Default Public View	This is a public view that is the default for all users when they initially navigate to the entity. Any public view can be made the default public view by selecting it in the entity customization area and then navigating to More Actions $\Rightarrow$ Set Default.	1
Advanced Find View	This is the view used by default when creating a new advanced find. A filter cannot be created for this view, but default columns and sorting can be selected.	1
Associated View	This is the view that is used on related lists when a sub-grid of items from this entity is visible on a parent entity (or on the navigation pane). Because the parent entity automati- cally sets the filtering, this view does not allow customiza- tion of the filter. You can, however, manage the columns and the sorting for this view.	1
Lookup View	This is the default view that is used on lookup fields on enti- ties that are children of this entity. The filter for this entity cannot be edited, but the columns and sorting can be edited. Note that the filter can be edited from the form of the child entity.	1
Quick Find View	This view controls the quick find settings for the entity (when a search is conducted using the quick find bar above a grid). The view includes the columns that are displayed as well as the fields that are searched.	1

### **View Types**

### Creating and modifying views

To create a new view, navigate to the list of views for the desired entity and click the new button on the menu bar. To update an existing view, navigate to the list of views for the desired entity and double-click on the view that you want to update. Whether you are creating a new view or modifying an existing view, you will see the view designer (Figure 17.26) with the following options:

• View Properties: This option allows you to change the name and description for the view.

- Edit Filter Criteria: This option is available only on public views. Using this option, you can configure exactly which records are visible in this view. A more detailed discussion on configuring filter criteria is in the next section of this chapter.
- **Configure Sorting:** This option allows you to sort the view by one or two columns.
- Add Columns: This option allows you to add columns to the grid returned by the view. On the quick find view, this option reads, "Add View Columns." Note that your columns can include columns from other entities that are parents of the entity that you are creating the view for (for example, you can display the parent customer in an opportunity view).
- Add Find Columns: This option is available only on the quick find view and allows you to select which columns will be searched when a user conducts a quick find or when a user populates a lookup field.
- **Change Properties:** This option allows you to select the width of the selected column. You must first click on a column before selecting this option.
- **Remove:** This option allows you to remove the selected column from the view. You must first click on a column before selecting this option.

### **Editing filter criteria**

Filter criteria is used throughout the Dynamics CRM application including public views, personal views, advanced find, reports, and processes. Filter criteria delivers quite a bit of precision and control over what users can see and do. Figure 17.27 is an example of a view that uses advanced filter criteria.

#### Filter criteria basics

Filter criteria contains one or more rows of filter conditions. Each row consists of three columns that define an individual filter. The first column is the name of a field for a filter (such as the last name of a contact). The second column is the operator (such as "equals" or "contains"); note that the available operators change depending upon the selected field. The third column is the filtering criteria. Depending upon the type of field, you may be able to select the third column from a picklist, a lookup, or you may need to key it in manually.

#### Grouping with and/or

When a filter contains multiple lines, it is assumed that all of the criteria must be true for the record to be selected. For example, in the filter in Figure 17.27, the owner must be the current user *and* the date the record was created must be within the past three months.

If you want to select a record if any of multiple criteria are true, then you should use the "group or" function. To select multiple rows that can be true, select each of the targeted rows (use the drop-down to the left of each row and choose "select row") and then click the "Group OR" button in the Ribbon menu. In figure 17.27, selected records can be from the state of NC, WA, CA, or MA.

### **FIGURE 17.26**

	s - Windows Internet Expl	orer				
) - 🌆 http://2	2008r2-demo:5555/360Centric/t	ools/vieweditor/viewMan	ager.aspx?appSolutionId=%7bF	D140AAF-4[ - 47 🗙	🔁 Bing	1
vorites Micr	rosoft Dynamics CRM 🛄	Solution: Default - Micr	View: All Activities	×	- 🖾 - 🖃 🖶 🕶 Pa	ge ▼ Safety ▼ Tools ▼ i
🖌 🕞 Save /	As 🛃 Save and Close 🐁 🗛	tions <del>-</del>				😨 <u>H</u> elp (ALT+H)
View: All Ac	tivities				Working o	n solution: Default Solutior
bject	Regarding	Activity Type	Activity Status Owner	Priority	Start Date	Common Tasks
		View results are	displayed here.	]	Þ	View Properties Edit Filter Criteria Configure Sorting Add Columns Change Properties Change Properties
) Note: When ther	e are too many columns to fit o	in a page, the view will be	shortened and scrollbars will b	be added.		In the second seco

Within your "or" criteria, you may sometimes want to set some subcriteria to be "and." In figure 17.27 we want to select records in any of four states, but within the state of NC we want to also limit the list to only businesses with over \$500 million annual revenue. Setting up an "and" group is accomplished in exactly the same way that we set up the "or" in the previous paragraph.

### Referencing other entities

Your filters can also reference other entities that are related to the primary entity used for your view. A simple example is a contact filter that requires that the parent account have an industry of financial services. A more complex example appears in Figure 17.27, which requires that the individual have responded to a specific event campaign by registering for an event.

#### Limitations of filter criteria

With all of the flexibility included in the filter criteria function, there are also some limitations. Workarounds for these limitations can include adding new fields to entities to capture this information, using reports rather than views, and writing code to generate calculated fields. Table 17.10 lists some of the limitations and suggested workarounds.

### **FIGURE 17.27**

Edit filter criteria dialog box with an advanced filter

2	Edit F	Filter Cr	iteria Webpage	e Dialog				×
	Edit Fil	ter Crit	eria					
L	Define t	he filter a	and search criteria for	this view to	use.			
	🗂 Clea	r i El i	Group AND 🛛 ]•[] Grou	ip OR				
	▼ <u>Cre</u>	eated On	Last	X Months		3		
	• <u>Ow</u>	vner	Equ	als Current I	<u>Jser</u>		(Hic	iden)
			<ul> <li><u>State/Province</u></li> </ul>		<u>Equals</u>		<u>NC</u>	(Hidden)
		• 20140	<ul> <li>Annual Revenu</li> </ul>	<u>e</u>	Is Greate	r Than or Equal To	<u>500,000,000.00</u>	(Hidden)
	▼ OR	▼ <u>Sta</u>	te/Province	<u>Equals</u>		WA		(Hidden)
		▼ <u>Sta</u>	te/Province	Equals		CA		(Hidden)
		▼ <u>Sta</u>	te/Province	Equals		▼ MA		(Hidden)
	<u>Sel</u>	ect						
	•	Activity P	arties (Party)					
		<u>Select</u>						
	L	★ Activ	ty (Campaign Respor	<u>158)</u>				
		▼ <u>Res</u>	oonse Code	<u>Equals</u>		Interest	ed.	(Hidden)
		▼ Pare	nt Campaign	Equals		Event ca	impaign template (s	<u>.</u>
		Sele	<u>at</u>					
							0	K Cancel
h	to:#200	8r2-dem	o:5555/360Centric/	Fools/V 🚳	Local intr	anet I Protected M	ode: Off	
								1

### TABLE 17.10

### Limitations of Filter Criteria

Limitation	Example	Suggested Workaround
Process filters do not allow the "group and" and "group or" options.	When developing a process (such as a workflow or a dialog), you want to develop a filter that includes multiple and/or criteria, but this option is not available.	You can create conditional branches in your process to check all conditions. For example, Step 1 can check if value 1 is true, and, if not, it can run a conditional branch to check to see if an alternative value is true.
Related tables do not allow aggregation.	You want to develop a filter to show all accounts with no associated activities that are open (in other words, there are no future activities scheduled for them). Or you want to create a filter showing all accounts where the total value of won opportunities is greater than \$250,000. Neither of these is possible.	Calculated fields can be created on entities to automatically aggregate targeted values for filtering (search for "CRM Solution Accelerators" on www.codeplex.com for a free workflow add-on to handle this task). Alternatively, you can create reports with complex filtering criteria to meet this need.

Limitation	Example	Suggested Workaround
Relative field values are not flexible enough — dates are particularly problematic.	You want to create a filter of "aging leads" that were created between 15 and 45 days ago without having to "hard code" specific dates into the filter that need to be updated daily.	You can create a report for this purpose. If having a view is critical, you can write code to store the number of days on the lead entity or to return a custom view.
Lists are not supported in some field types.	You want to develop a filter that returns all leads with a rating of hot or warm and within the states of VA, MD, DC, NC, SC. You have been able to create a list of the selected ratings in a single line of your filter, but when you try to create a list of states, the filter does not work.	You can create a separate list row for each item in your list (using the "group or" function). You can create a field to summarize multiple values (such as using a "region" field to cluster multiple states together).

# **Customizing charts**

Entities in Dynamics CRM can also have associated public charts. To create a public chart, navigate to the settings area and select the solution and the entity that you want to add a chart for. Under the entity, click the Charts link in the navigation pane and then click the New button above the charts grid. Design your chart and publish it to make it available to users.

### **Cross-Reference**

For detailed information on chart design, see Chapter 24.

# **Renaming entities**

Any customizable entity in Dynamics CRM can be renamed (this includes customizable entities that are included with Dynamics CRM such as accounts, contacts, and opportunities). Renaming entities can be helpful if you are fine-tuning entities that you created internally or if you want to rename entities that shipped with Dynamics CRM to align better with your internal. Table 17.11 includes the step-by-step process for renaming an entity and some of the considerations you should make before you begin the process.

# Quick Tips for Managing Views\_

Creating and managing views can be a tedious and time-consuming process. Here are four quick tips on how to get the most out of views and how to manage them efficiently.

1. **Copying views:** You can quickly copy an existing view to use as a starting point for a new view. This can be a big time-saver if you have a complex view that you need to create a small variation of. To do this, just navigate to the list of views for an entity, open the view you want to copy, and click the Save As button in the menu bar. Enter a new name for the view and it will be saved as a copy of the original.

continued

#### continued

- 2. Sharing views: Use this tip if you want only a small group of users to have access to a view, or a user has created a personal view that other users may find helpful (and you don't want to re-create it as a public view). Assign the view to yourself (you can do this by logging in as the user who created the view, opening the view in advanced find, selecting Saved Views in the Ribbon menu, selecting the view, and then clicking Assign Saved Views in the Ribbon menu. Once the view is assigned to you, you can navigate back to the Saved Views area and use the share button to share it with targeted users.
- **3.** Creating view templates: Sometimes your users will have a need for a view that can be altered in small ways to suit their needs. For example, they may need a view of individuals who have responded to a campaign but the name of the campaign may need to be changed. You can create a "template view" that contains all of the needed filters, but leave the specific campaign name blank and save it (using a prefix of "TEMPLATE" in the view name to make it clear that it is a template). Users can then modify this view using advanced find to plug in the last bits of information that they need. You can even use the "hide in simple mode" option to hide fields that the user should not be able to change to keep the filter simple for them to update.
- **4.** Hiding unused views without deleting them: Dynamics CRM includes a number of views out of the box that your users may not want to use initially. You can remove these from the list of views, while leaving them available to use later, by deactivating them. Navigate to the list of views for an entity in the configuration area, select the view you want to hide, and then choose More Actions ⇒ Deactivate.

### Caution

You should carefully consider the pros and cons of renaming existing entities before continuing. Retaining original naming conventions can reduce user learning curve because new employees are more likely to already be familiar with conventional CRM terminology. In addition, the name of an entity cannot be changed in every place, and some areas where the name is used may require ongoing updates to keep the new name in sync. We've noted some of these considerations in the table below.

### TABLE 17.11

### Instructions for Renaming an Entity

Step	Instructions	Considerations
Alert users	If you are going to change the name of an entity that is already in production within your organization, be sure to let your users know about the upcoming change.	If users have created personal views, charts, reports, or dashboards, then they may want to update these to reflect the new name.

Step	Instructions	Considerations
Change the entity name	Navigate to the entity that you want to change the name of in the customizations area. Change the display name and the plural name to the desired value.	Note that you cannot change the name field. This field is used when writing code and developing some reports.
Change entity field display names	Navigate down to the list of fields for the entity. If the display name for any field uses the old entity name, then update those.	This will change how field names appear in a number of other places throughout the application.
Change form information	Navigate to the forms list for the entity in the customizations area and open each form. If the form name or description includes the entity name, then edit the form properties to change those. If any fields have a label on the form that uses the old entity name, then change those (in most cases this will not be necessary, but it is possible to use a different label on the form than the display name in the field list). Change any tabs or section headers that use the old name.	Names on some system forms and dialog boxes cannot be changed.
Change entity view names	Navigate to the list of views for the entity and update the names of each view with the new name for the entity.	Users may have personal views that they also want to update.
Change entity chart names	Navigate to the list of charts for the entity. If any of the charts use the entity name in their name, then rename these accordingly.	Users may have personal charts that they also want to update.
Change system messages	If this is a built-in entity (not an entity that was cre- ated by your organization or a third party) then there are some built-in messages that need to be updated.	Some error messages and messages tracked in log files cannot be changed.
In the customization area for the entity, click on the Messages link in the navigation pane. Update each message, changing out the old entity name with the new.		Note that messages can include substitution parameters (think of these as mail merge fields). When updating messages, the new message must include the same number of these fields as the original message did.
Publish changes	Publish all of the changes that you have made to the entity.	
Change dashboards	Navigate to the dashboards area and change the names of any dashboards that include the entity name.	
Change reports	Edit report names and formatting to update with the new entity name.	In some cases, this may mean manually editing reports in Excel, SQL Server Reporting Services, or other report writing tools.

continued

TABLE 17.11	(continued)	
Step	Instructions	Considerations
Change help content	Edit help files to replace the name of the entity within these.	Consult the Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 software development kit (SDK) for more information. The SDK can be downloaded freely from the Microsoft Web site.
		NOTE: Microsoft updates the help files from time to time, so your changes may be overwritten.
Change user documentation	If you have any online or offline user documentation or training materials, be sure to update those with the revised naming as well.	

# Summary

Customizing entities, creating new entities, and managing all of the associated components are some of the areas that CRM administrators can expect to spend most of their time. Leveraging this functionality enables organizations to initially configure Dynamics CRM to work the way they do (rather than forcing them to change their processes to work with the software). The easy-to-use framework for configuring entities also enables businesses to rapidly adapt to the ever-changing needs of their customers and other stakeholders.

Custom entities and customizing existing entities can be used to extend the functionality available in Dynamics CRM. In fact, a growing number of businesses have found that Dynamics CRM is a development framework that can be used to create entirely new applications through entity creation and customization. The chapter included details on the many components of entities that can be customized.



# Automating Your Organization with Processes

rganizations constantly struggle with streamlining, standardizing, and automating their processes. Although organizational leaders understand that process automation results in lowering costs, improving service, and accelerating workplace productivity, they lack the appropriate tools to make this a reality. This is particularly true of large enterprises with many employees and complex processes. As a result, processes are often managed in Excel spreadsheets, documents shared through e-mail, sticky notes, or, in some cases, are passed along only through word-of-mouth. Process automation is a struggle because it typically involves writing computer code. Because processes are complex and change frequently, computer code can become time-consuming and expensive to maintain.

Dynamics CRM includes a flexible set of process automation tools and an engine to constantly monitor and run processes in the background. Dynamics CRM processes support the concept of "programming without coding." As you work with processes in Dynamics CRM, you'll be surprised at the rules, alerts, scripts, and other automation that can be created by nondevelopers. On those occasions where the available process tools do not fully support your needs, you still have the option of using computer code for just the steps of the process that require this extra flexibility.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Designing processes Working with workflows

Working with dialogs

# **Understanding Processes in Dynamics CRM**

Customizing software applications is partly about capturing and presenting data and partly about automating processes. As you have seen in preceding chapters, Dynamics CRM includes a customizable approach to gathering and visualizing data that even non-programmers can work with. This chapter focuses on the tools available within Dynamics CRM for automating processes. Tools for automating processes in Dynamics CRM are so powerful that many organizations are beginning to use it as a business process automation (BPA) tool that streamlines and standardizes tasks across their entire organization (not just customer relationship-oriented processes).

# Programming without coding

If you have ever created a macro in Microsoft Excel, then you are familiar with the concept of developing a computer program without writing code. Processes in Dynamics CRM can be thought of in a similar manner. From the user interface, you can create a series of steps that include decision rules, user interaction, database updates, and automated e-mails. These steps can automate routine business processes, ensure a greater level of standardization, aid in training new employees, and ensure that enterprise policies are followed.

If you have never developed code, created a macro, or written a script, then workflows may take some getting used to. Plan to carefully work through this chapter and experiment with different processes to get the hang of it.

# Understanding business process automation

Business process automation (or BPA) is a growing segment of the software marketplace. BPA applications are built to automate rules, processes, policies, and human interactions within an organization. Business processes evolve quickly, making it costly and time-consuming to use custom code to automate them. As a result, BPA applications have evolved with a focus on interfaces that can be quickly customized without requiring development (similar to Dynamics CRM). The advantages of BPA are clear: leaner businesses, following more consistent processes, leading to greater efficiency, higher quality, and improved customer satisfaction.

The primary disadvantage of BPA is not quite as easy to identify. BPA systems have evolved largely as "siloed" systems. This means that these systems operate separately from other business systems (such as accounting, project management, human resources, customer relationship management, document management, and other systems). Integrating BPA systems with other systems can be just as costly as writing custom code to automate processes. With Dynamics CRM, Microsoft has addressed this issue with a three-step approach:

1. The Microsoft Windows Workflow Foundation (WWF) is a pair of tools built into the .NET development platform. The first tool is the workflow designer, which can be used to create processes using a visual design environment. The second tool is a workflow engine that can be used to run processes either interactively with a user or in the background. Applications developed using the .NET platform can tap into WWF to deliver BPA.

- 2. Dynamics CRM processes use the WWF tools to aid in the design and execution of processes. Because Dynamics CRM also includes the ability to easily extend the database with new business functions, many organizations are finding that it is the only platform that they need for most of their BPA projects.
- **3.** SharePoint also uses the WWF as its foundation for managing workflows. Because both SharePoint and Dynamics CRM share the same foundational layer for managing workflows, the two applications can share workflow processes and data. SharePoint functionality is complementary to CRM (see Chapter 1, Chapter 15, and Appendix A for more information). So combining these two tools delivers the only platform that most businesses need for complete business process automation.

Okay, so that was a lot of TLAs (three-letter acronyms) to get through. Simply put, Dynamics CRM brings the power of business process automation within easy reach of customer relationship management processes. When combined with the ability to customize entities and reports — and when further combined with SharePoint — organizations are finding that they can automate, monitor, and improve on all of their processes within a fraction of the time and effort that this type of automation required in the past.

# **Designing and diagramming processes**

With all of this talk about how easy it is to create processes in Dynamics CRM, you're probably tempted to jump right in and start automating some of your organization's processes right away. Like anything else, however, creating *useful* processes takes thoughtful planning on the front end. Think of creating processes as something like giving a speech. It is easy to stand up and start speaking — almost everyone has the necessary "tools" to do this (a voice). But if the goal is to deliver a memorable and engaging speech, then time needs to be invested up front on structuring, planning, and rehearsing. To prepare for process automation, you need to do the following:

- Determine which processes you are trying to automate. This step sounds simple, but if you ask three different people how something is done around your business, you are likely to receive three different responses. Take the time to fully understand what is needed and work with the subject matter experts within your business to validate that what you are designing is what they want.
- Create a workflow diagram of your process. A picture is worth a thousand words, and taking some extra time up front to diagram your process almost always saves a tremendous amount of time later. Figure 18.1 is an example of a swim lane diagram that maps out not only the process steps, but also the stages that the record goes through as the steps are executed. You can use a tool like Visio or you can handwrite your process. After you define an initial process, you should focus on breaking it down into smaller steps that translate into individual steps in your Dynamics CRM process. Whatever you do, don't make the first step of designing your process be to click the New button in the processes area of Dynamics CRM.

#### FIGURE 18.1

An example swim lane diagram



• Plan up front to take the time to test and tweak your process. Although processes are fairly easy to develop in Dynamics CRM, it is still possible to introduce bugs. Your testing plan should include a checklist that ensures you execute every single step of the process at least once during testing to see if it works as expected. If you have to make changes to the process, you should start from the top of your checklist again and work through every possible outcome before putting it into production. Doing this may seem like a tedious exercise — but taking this step now is less painful than it is to deal with angry users and data that has been transformed into garbage by bad processes. See the section "Monitoring processes" later in this chapter for information on looking at processes as they are running for testing purposes.

# **Process Brainstorming**

Are you anxious to put processes to work, but not sure where to get started with your business? Here are some questions you can ask yourself or others in your business to begin the brainstorming process.

- How do we know who to assign leads to?
- How do we know if we want to do business with a prospective client? How do we qualify and prioritize them?

- What are the steps of our sales process? What actions need to be taken during each step?
- What steps are taken to resolve issues that customers raise? How are these tracked?

Ask others in the organization to think up four or five ways to end each of the following statements:

- We waste a lot of time on
- I would like to know whenever
- Whenever someone changes . . ., we need to make sure that . . .
- I would like to have a magic button that . . .

These questions come from a much larger list of questions that we frequently use as part of our assessment process on new projects. Use it as a starting point to develop your own list of questions.

### On the Web Site

Check the Web site for the Process Planning Worksheet to aid you in defining your processes.

# **Processes and solutions**

Processes developed in Dynamics CRM can be incorporated into solutions. This capability allows you to bundle together the data elements, reports, and automated processes required to deliver a complete solution and transfer them to other instances of Dynamics CRM. Perhaps more importantly, it means that third parties can develop solutions and provide them to you as a package that you can then install into your instance of Dynamics CRM. For more information on working with solutions, see Chapter 16.

# **Working with Workflows**

Workflows are a predefined set of rules and steps that can be used to update records, send e-mail alerts, assign tasks, and perform other automation. They can be triggered to run automatically when a value on a form is changed, on demand by a user, or from another workflow. Workflows run in the background so their actions are not immediately visible to users. Once workflow rules are created, they continuously run — but they do not update existing records until a trigger event occurs. Workflows can be used to automate an unlimited range of activities; some examples include:

- Sending an e-mail alert to a manager when a sales opportunity for over \$100,000 is created
- Escalating a case to a senior service rep queue when it is not resolved within 24 hours (see Chapter 14 for information on cases; see Chapter 10 for information on queues)

- Auto-assigning a lead to a user based on the product interest entered into the lead form, scheduling a follow-up phone call from the assigned user, and reassigning the phone call to another user if it is not completed within 30 minutes
- Inserting contact information into the description field of phone call activities so that the information will be available to reps on their mobile devices when they are away from the office

## Tip

Workflows run in the background. After a workflow is executed, it may take anywhere from a few seconds to a few minutes to complete. Plan to use workflows for actions that can take a few minutes to complete (such as sending an e-mail to a user). Avoid using workflows for actions that need to be completed immediately (such as updating data on a form).

There are seven basic steps to creating a workflow in Dynamics CRM. Figure 18.2 provides an overview of the steps with a summary of each step below the diagram. The remainder of this section provides the details for each step of the process. Here are the steps:

### FIGURE 18.2

The seven-step process for creating workflows



- 1. **Choose an entity:** Workflows are applied to records within an entity. When you make a selection, choose the entity that will trigger the workflow and the primary entity that the workflow will act on. For example, if you want to send an e-mail when a large opportunity is created, then use the opportunity entity.
- **2. Select a template:** If you are using a template to develop your workflow, then select one from the list. See the section on creating and using process templates later in this chapter for more information.
- **3. Set scope**: The scope of a workflow governs the records that the workflow is allowed to take action on.
- **4. Identify triggers:** Triggers are used to determine which actions can cause the workflow to execute. Workflows can start automatically when a field is changed, can be run by users on demand, or can be started by other workflows.
- **5. Add steps:** Workflows contain a set of logical steps including conditions and actions. Workflows can contain just a few steps or dozens of steps.

- **6. Activate:** When you are satisfied that your workflow is complete, activate it to put it into production.
- 7. Test and refine: Remember that workflows are computer programs that are developed without code. This means that they are capable of automating processes and saving time; but they are also capable of creating some unintended consequences such as updating the wrong records. Take the time to carefully and fully test each step of your workflow prior to putting it into production.

# **Creating workflows**

To begin creating a workflow, navigate to the Settings area of Dynamics CRM and click on Processes. Click the New button to create a new workflow. The dialog box in Figure 18.3 opens. Give your workflow a name in the Process name field, select an entity, and be sure to select a category of Workflow.

### FIGURE 18.3

New process dialog box

🖉 Process: New Webpage	Dialog		2	<
Create Process				
Create a new process definiti you can create, dialogs and v	on or a process based o vorkflows.	on an existing template. There	are two categories of processes	
Process name: *		Entity:	Account 🗸	ī
		Category:	Workflow 🔹	i
Туре:				
New process				
C New process from an existing	g template (select from l	list):		
Template Name 🔺		Primary Entity	Owner	
		No process temp	late records are available in t	
0 - 0 of 0 (0 selected)			H ◀ Page 1 ▶	
Properties				
		Г		
			OK Cancel	
http://2008r2-demo:5555/360Cer	tric/sfa/w 🞕 Local inf	tranet   Protected Mode: Off		-//.

When choosing an entity, be sure to select the correct entity. Workflows are triggered by, and act upon, individual records. If, for example, you want to create a phone call activity whenever a case is more than 24 hours old, you choose the case entity.

Click the OK button to proceed to the next step of creating your workflow. You are presented with the process data entry form in Figure 18.4. Follow the instructions in the remainder of this section to complete the workflow form.

#### FIGURE 18.4

The process data entry form for a workflow

Processes     Processe     Pro	🖗 Process: My Workflow - Wi	indows Internet Explorer			_ 🗆 ×
Processe:       My Process:	🗩 🗢 加 http://2008r2-den	mo:5555/360Centric/sfa/workflow/edit.aspx?id=c93e136f-aeb5-4776-b7a2-c	id841 💌 🐓	X Bing	- ٩
Bare and Close     Sove	Favorites 📈 Processes: N	My Proces 🔎 Process: My Workflow 🗙	Č	🕯 🕶 🔂 👻 🖃 🖶 💌 Page 🔻	Safety 🔻 Tools 🔻 🔞 🕶
Process: My Workflow	File 🛃 🛃 Save and Close	🎒   🎚   💿 Activate   🥰 Show Dependencies 🐁 Actions 🕶			@ <u>H</u> elp (ALT+H) ▼
General       Administration       Notes	Process: My Workfl	low		Working on so	lution: Default Solution
	Related	General Administration Notes			
Process Name *       My Workflow       Entity       Account         Cit Processes       Activate As       Process       Category       Workflow         Available to Run       Options for Automatic Processes       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes         If On demand       Scope       User       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes         If As a child process       Start when:       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes         If As a child process       Start when:       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes         If Record is a child process       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes         If Record is a child process       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes         Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes         Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes         Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes         Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       Image: Compar	<ul> <li>Information</li> <li>Audit History</li> </ul>	Hide Process Properties			
Cigit Processes     Activate As     Process     Category     Workflow       Available to Run     Options for Automatic Processes       If on demand     Scope     User     Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       If As a child process     Start when:     Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       If As a child process     Start when:     Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       If As a child process     Start when:     Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       If Record is assigned     Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       If Record is assigned     Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes       If Record is addited     Image: Comparison of the Automatic Processes	Processes	Process Name * My Workflow	Entity	Account	_
Available to Run     Options for Automatic Processes <ul> <li>On demand</li> <li>Scope</li> <li>User</li> <li>F Record is created</li> <li>Record is training</li> <li>Record is adjusted</li> <li>Record fields, change</li> <li>Select</li> <li>Record is deleted</li> <li>Record is deleted</li></ul>	G Processes	Activate As Process 🔹	Category	Workflow	
□ On demand       Scope       User          □ As a child process       Start when:       □ Record is created       □         □ Record is datus changes       □       Record is assigned       □         □ Record fields change       □       Select       □         □ Record is deleted       □       Record is deleted       □		Available to Run	Options for A	uto matic Processes	
T As a child process     Start when:		🖵 On demand	Scope	User	•
☐ Record status changes ☐ Record is assigned ☐ Record fields change Solect ☐ Record is deleted		As a child process	Start when:	🔽 Record is created	
☐ Record is assigned ☐ Record fields change Select ☐ Record is deleted				🔲 Record status changes	
☐ Record fields change Select. ☐ Record is deleted				Record is assigned	
☐ Record is deleted				🗌 Record fields change	Select
				Record is deleted	
		G Add Step -   3-inset - X Decke this step. Select this row and click Add Step.			
atus Draft	atus: Draft				
ne 🛛 👘 Local intranet   Protected Mode: Off 🖉 🗸 100%	ine		🛍 Local intran	et   Protected Mode: Off	

### Workflow scope

The workflow scope determines which records your workflow will be allowed to act upon. The scope of a workflow is limited based upon the permissions and security roles assigned to the owner of the workflow and based on the workflow scope that is selected. The options for workflow scope are the same options available for security role privileges:

- **User:** The workflow only acts upon records owned by the user that owns the workflow.
- **Business unit:** The workflow acts upon records owned by the user or by anyone else in the user's business unit.
- **Parent-child business units:** The workflow acts upon records owned by the user, by anyone else in the user's business unit, or sub-units.
- Organization: The workflow acts upon all records for the entire organization.

For small companies, the scope setting is usually either User for personal workflows (workflows designed by a user and intended to be used only by that user) or Organization for company-wide workflows. Larger enterprises use the other categories to support variations on business processes for different business units.

### Workflow triggers

Workflow triggers are the actions that can cause a workflow to begin to execute. The various triggers are listed under the sections titled Available to Run and Options for Automatic Processes on the form. Options for workflow triggers include:

- **On demand:** The workflow can be manually started by a user. If this option is selected, the user can navigate to a record for the selected entity type and manually start the workflow by clicking the Run Workflow button on the Ribbon menu. See the section "Running on demand processes" later in this chapter for more information.
- As a child process: Select this option if you want to be able to launch this workflow from another workflow or from a dialog.
- **Start when:** Select from among these options to automatically trigger the workflow based on a change to a record. This section gives you a great deal of flexibility in choosing how your workflow will be triggered.

### **Cross-Reference**

Workflows can also be started from JScript Web resources. For more information on JScript and Web resources, see Chapter 21.

# Trigger Troubles: Avoiding Problems with Automatic Triggers

Automatic workflow triggers deliver a great deal of control over how and when workflows are executed. However, care should be taken in how you select from among the options in this list and in how you structure the steps of your workflow. Here are some examples of the issues that can arise:

- Sales reps want to be alerted whenever an opportunity is assigned to them. The administrator creates a workflow with an automatic trigger to start when the record is assigned. Sales reps soon start to complain that they are not receiving alerts on some of their opportunities. This is because the alerts are only being sent when the record is reassigned not when it is initially being created. The administrator should have selected both the Record is created and the Record is assigned options.
- The service group wants to receive an e-mail alert 90 days before maintenance agreements are due to expire so they can renew them if the customer has not already submitted a renewal. The administrator sets up a workflow that starts when a maintenance agreement is created and waits until 90 days before the agreement (a custom entity) is set to renew to send the service rep an alert. Service reps complain that they receive alerts on agreements that customers have already renewed, and they don't receive alerts after the first renewal. The administrator should have set up the workflow to run on creation of a maintenance agreement or a change in the maintenance agreement expiration date. The administrator should have also inserted a conditional check prior to sending the alert to see if the agreement was still due within 90 days or if the customer had already renewed it.

continued

continued

• Marketing sets up one workflow to send campaign responders an e-mail reminding them of an event one week in advance; the workflow also updates their attendance status to Confirmed after the e-mail is sent. They set up a second workflow to send the customer an e-mail if their attendance status changes to acknowledge the change in status. Customers complain that they consistently receive two e-mails in one day. This is because the first workflow is triggering the second workflow.

These are just a few examples of how even simple workflow triggers and associated logic can lead to problems. Although Dynamics CRM processes enable you to develop without coding, they still require careful design and testing to avoid these potential pitfalls.

## Caution

Workflows can trigger themselves. For example, you may set a workflow to start when the status changes. One of the workflow actions may be to change the status again — which would trigger the workflow to start again. In programming, this is what is called an endless loop, and it can cause significant problems. Dynamics CRM will stop workflows that call themselves a number of times within a short period — but you should still take precautions to avoid this situation.

# Adding workflow steps

To add steps to a workflow, click the Add Steps button in the menu bar about halfway down the workflow data entry form and select the step you want to add. Figure 18.5 is an illustration of the add steps menu with the different types of steps available.

### Workflow conditions

Conditions are used to control the flow of a workflow. They can include an initial condition, conditional branches, and default actions. For example, conditions can be used to take one action for high-priority cases (check condition) and a different action for normal cases (conditional branch) and yet another action for low-priority cases (default action). Figure 18.6 shows how this might look in a flowchart diagram, and Figure 18.7 shows how it would look in a Dynamics CRM workflow.

Workflow conditions can be used throughout a workflow. For example, the first step in a workflow may test to see if an opportunity has a value of more than \$100,000. Later in the workflow, another condition may test to see if the opportunity still has a status of open 90 days after it was created.

#### FIGURE 18.5

The Add Step menu on the workflow process data entry form

### Workflow conditions Stage



#### FIGURE 18.6

Flowchart for a workflow condition



### **Cross-Reference**

Conditions in workflows are similar to advanced find filters or views. Chapter 17 contains detailed information on how to work with filters.

#### FIGURE 18.7

The workflow steps that match Figure 18.6

🕞 Add Step 👻 🖂 Insert 👻 🗙 Delete this step.	
v Reassign based on priority	
If Case:Priority equals (High), then:	
Call these right away!	
Create: Phone Call  Set Properties	
Assign these to a queue for follow up	
Create: Queue Item _ Set Properties	
Otherwise:	
We don't follow up on low priority cases!	
Change record status to: Case 💽 Canceled 💌	

### Wait conditions

The wait condition and parallel wait branch steps can be used in combination with one another. These steps cause a workflow to pause and wait for a condition to be met before proceeding. They can also wait for a certain amount of time to pass (called a timeout) before continuing with the workflow. Parallel wait branch steps allow you to monitor several possible conditions at once and branch to the appropriate sequence of steps when any one of the conditions is met. These wait conditions can be used in a variety of ways as described below.

- A workflow could begin by assigning a follow-up phone call to a new lead. An initial wait condition will wait until the phone call is completed and assign a task to the sales rep to qualify the lead. A parallel wait condition will wait until the lead status is changed to Qualified.
- Another example is a workflow that waits 24 hours after a case is created (using a timeout). It then tests to see if the case is still open and, if so, sends an e-mail alert to the case owner. Figure 18.8 illustrates this example.

#### FIGURE 18.8

A workflow with a wait condition that uses a timeout

} Add Step +   ∃== Insert + 🗙 Delete this step.
✓ Wait a day after the case was created
Timeout until 1 Day After Process-Execution Time then
If Case:Status equals (Active), then:
Send an e-mail to the case owner
Send e-mail: Create New Message 🚽 Set Properties

• Wait conditions are often used in combination with stages to automate a sales process (see the "Workflow stages" section). For example, in the first stage of a sales process the workflow may assign three tasks to the owner of an opportunity. A wait

condition then monitors those tasks. After all three tasks are complete, the workflow then advances to the next stage of the sales process where a number of additional conditions may need to be met before proceeding.

### **On the Web Site**

It takes a little more time to understand and work with timeouts in workflows. To help you along, we have included a sample lead follow-up workflow on the site that you can use to better understand timeouts.

### Workflow actions

Workflow actions are steps that update the Dynamics CRM database or otherwise automate steps that a user may typically perform manually. Actions include sending e-mails, creating activities, updating existing records, and starting additional workflows. Workflow actions include:

- **Create Record:** This action creates new records in Dynamics CRM. This is typically used to create new activity records. For example, when a new lead is entered, the create record action can be used to create a new phone call activity and assign it to a user for follow-up. Another example may be to create an opportunity whenever a contract is within 90 days of expiration.
- **Update Record:** This action updates records that already exist. This may include simple updates, such as changing the probability of an opportunity when it reaches a certain stage. Any record related to the record that triggered the workflow can be updated. For example, when an opportunity is changed to "won" you can switch a field on the parent account from "prospect" to "customer."
- Assign Record: This action allows you to reassign a record to another team or user. For example, after an initial evaluation of a case it may be set to have a category of "bug report." A workflow can then reassign all cases of this type to the development team for follow-up.
- **Send E-mail:** The e-mail sent by this action can be directed to any address that is associated with the record that triggered the workflow. For example, if the workflow is triggered by creating a new lead, then the e-mail can be sent to the e-mail address for the lead, or it can be sent to the owner of the lead. This step can be used to automate routine communications with prospects and customers. It is also frequently used to send alerts to Dynamics CRM users when certain conditions are met.
- **Start Child Process:** Complex workflows may trigger other workflows when certain conditions are met. This action allows you to start another workflow that has been defined for the same entity and that is set to be available to run as a child process. Child workflows can be very helpful when you have some steps that need to get executed by multiple different workflows.
- **Change Status:** This action changes the status (and status reason) for a record associated with the workflow. Figure 18.9 is an example of updating the status of a case using a workflow.
- **Stop Workflow:** This action can be used to stop a workflow from running when certain conditions are met. This can be helpful if there is a reason why a workflow should stop running rather than continuing to wait or process other steps. An example

may be a workflow running on a case that waits 24 hours before escalating; a parallel wait branch can be set up to stop the workflow if the status is set to resolved or canceled before the 24 hours have elapsed.

#### FIGURE 18.9

Changing a case status using a workflow

Type a step description he	ere.		
Change record status to:	Case	• In Progress •	
		Active In Progress On Hold Waiting for Details Researching <b>Resolved</b> Problem Solved Canceled Canceled	

### Working with dynamic values

Most workflow conditions and actions can include dynamic values. These values bring a great deal of flexibility to your workflows. Using dynamic values, you can insert variables directly into your conditions and into records created or modified by Dynamics CRM. Use the form assistant to create and insert dynamic values into your workflows. Figure 18.10 is an example of setting dynamic values for an e-mail.

Organizations use dynamic values in a number of ways in their workflows. Some examples include:

- **Mail/merge:** When creating activities or sending e-mails, dynamic values can be used to incorporate mail/merge like functionality into the workflow. Figure 18.10 is an example of using dynamic values to control not only who an e-mail is sent to, but also the content of the e-mail.
- **Record updates:** Field can be updated with values generated by the workflow. For example, an opportunity can be reassigned to the user listed as the sales support specialist on the account once the opportunity reaches a specific stage.
- **Calculated fields:** Simple calculations can be made to fields. For example, a field called Counter can be incremented by a value of 1 whenever the workflow runs so subsequent workflows will be aware that other workflows have already run on this record (see the nearby sidebar "Getting Loopy: Creating Recursive Workflows" for more information on using counters).
- **Timeouts:** A timeout workflow is a workflow that uses a wait condition to pause for a specified amount of time prior to resuming. Dynamic values can be used to set the duration of the timeout for these workflows. (Figure 18.8 is an illustration of this type of wait condition.)
- **Relative conditions:** Dynamic values can be used in conditions, too. For example, if the creator of an opportunity is not equal to the owner of the parent account, you may want to send the account owner an alert about the opportunity.
#### FIGURE 18.10

The form assistant with dynamic values for an e-mail

	Close				@ Help I
Process: Case W Send E-m	ait ail				_
E-mail					Form Assistant
rom		Cc		Q	Dynamic Values
0	{Owner(Case)}	Bcc			Dynamic Values
ubject	*** ALERT **** A case for {Customer(Case)} j	s past due!			Operator:
よ���	B / U ■ ■ ■ 目目 律・	≡ 41 · A · A ·	🛛 🗟 Add Image 🛛 🥷 Add Hyperlink	Insert Ar	Look for:
This is an auto A case for {Cu agreement, pl	omated email alert. ustomer(Case)} was opened over 24 hours ease prioritize this case for resolution with	ago and is still unres in the next 2 hours.	solved. To meet our service lev	əl 🗌	Actual Service Units Add X   Move Up Move Dow
This is an auto A case for {Cu agreement, pl Case #: {Case Priority: {Prior Subject: {Sub	wated email alert. ustomer(Case)): was opened over 24 hours ease prioritze this case for resolution with a Number(Case)): [ett(Case)]:	s ago and is still unres in the next 2 hours.	solved. To meet our service lev	9	Actual Service Units Add X   Move Up Move Dow
This is an auto A case for {Ou agreement, pl Case #: {Case Priority: {Prior Subject: {Sub	Imated email alert. ustomer(Case)} was opened over 24 hours ease prioritize this case for resolution with a Number(Case)} per(Case)} per(Case)}	s ago and is still unres in the next 2 hours.	solved. To meet our service lew	91	Actual Service Units Actual Service Units Actual Ac
This is an auto A case for {Cu agreement, pl Case #: {Case Priority: {Prior Subject: {Sub Regarding	Invated email alert. ustomer(Case)): was opened over 24 hours ease prioritize this case for resolution with a Number(Case)): pect(Case)): [(Case(Case)]:	ago and is still unres in the next 2 hours.	solved. To meet our service lew		Actual Service Units Add X Move Up Move Dow Default value: OK
This is an auto A case for {O, agreement, pl Case #: {Cas Priority: {Prior Subject: {Sub Regarding Dwner	Invated email alert. Ustomer(Case)): was opened over 24 hours ease prioritize this case for resolution with a Number(Case)): pect(Case)): [(Case(Case)]: [(Case(Case)): [(Case(Case)]:	ago and is still unres in the next 2 hours.	solved. To meet our service lew		Actual Service Units Add X   Move Up Move Dow Default value: OK
This is an auto A case for {Ct agreement, pl Case #: {Case Priority: {Prior Subject: {Sub Regarding Durner Duration Due	Interest email alert. Ustomer(Case)): was opened over 24 hours ease prioritize this case for resolution with a Number(Case)): pect(Case)): [(Case(Case)):	ago and is still unres in the next 2 hours.	solved. To meet our service lew	el	Actual Service Units Add X Move Up Move Dow Default value: OK
This is an auto A case for {Ci agreement, pl Case #: {Case Priority: {Prior Subject: {Sub Regarding Dwner Duration Due Eategory	Invated email alert. Ustomer(Case)): was opened over 24 hours ease prioritize this case for resolution with a Number(Case)): ject(Case)): [(Case(Case)):	ago and is still unres in the next 2 hours.	solved. To meet our service lew		Actual Service Units Add X Move Up Move Dow Default value: OK

#### Workflow stages

Stages are a way of grouping sets of steps in a workflow together. Stages can be very useful for managing complex workflow processes. Workflows can contain any number of stages. If you decide to use stages in your workflow, then every step in your workflow must fall within a stage. Stages should only be used in workflows that will run over a period of time and that will involve wait conditions. For example, if you have a case management process or an opportunity process that involves waiting until certain actions have been completed before proceeding to a next step, these are good candidates for using stages.

As you design your staged workflows, you will usually insert a wait condition at the conclusion of each stage. This wait condition monitors the requirements for completing a stage prior to advancing to the next stage. Completion requirements may include completing tasks created during the stage, updating fields on the entity, or a certain period of time passing. Wait conditions on tasks do not necessarily need to have action steps below them. (See Figure 18.11 for an example of a wait condition at the conclusion of a stage.)

In general, you want to use stages if you create a sales process using workflow (as illustrated in Figure 18.11). This is particularly true if you plan to use built-in sales pipeline reporting. The built-in sales pipeline report allows users to group reports by sales processes. Sales process stages for this report are directly tied to the stages defined in workflows. This report is powerful because it supports reporting on multiple different processes. So, for example, if you have a large account sales process and a rapid sales process, you can view the report grouped by each of the different sales processes.

#### **FIGURE 18.11**

A sales process using stages



### Getting Loopy: Creating Recursive Workflows.

For those of you familiar with development, you may have noticed that workflows do not include the ability to "loop" — that is, workflows run from the top down and cannot circle back and rerun earlier steps. Someone might want to have a loop in their workflow if they are developing a sales process that has to roll back to an earlier stage if certain conditions are met. Another example may be that a case must be iteratively escalated to higher levels of management if it is not resolved in a timely manner. In both cases, you may want to go back to a prior step of your workflow to reuse some of the same steps. Without looping, this is not possible.

Fortunately, child processes can be used for this purpose. If a workflow is set to be available to run as a child process, then it can be set up to call itself as that child process. In development, creating a process that calls itself is referred to as recursion. The figure is an illustration of a simple workflow process that calls itself.

File	🎒   🔋   🔘 Activate	ାଙ୍କି Show Dependencies 🐁	Actions -	
32 Process: Recursion ③ Information				Working on solution: Default Solution
Related     Of Information     Information     Information	General Administration	on Notes		
▲ Processes Gg Processes	Process Name <sup>+</sup> Activate As Available to Run I♥ On demand I♥ As a child proce	Recursion Process	Entity Category Options for A Scope Start when:	Case Workflow Utomatic Processes Organization Record is created Record status changes Record status change Record is deleted
Statue Draft	Add Step + 34	Insert • X Delete this step. ng a workflow from itself ss: Case •	Recursion	<b>a</b>

A recursive workflow process

Using recursive workflows, you can effectively rerun portions of your workflow multiple times. There are, however, some risks and techniques you'll need to be aware of to effectively use recursion in your workflows.

The primary risk is that you can create workflows that endlessly call themselves again and again. This can result in incorrect updates to the database or an avalanche of e-mails. Dynamics CRM includes automated workflow monitoring that causes workflows to fail if they appear to be running in an infinite loop to help to reduce this risk.

As you design recursive workflows, you need to consider some different techniques than you use in standard workflows because recursive workflows need to respond differently on successive runs.

- For example, if you want to escalate a hot lead to a different sales queue, how will your workflow know that it needs to go to a new queue the next time it runs? One technique that can work is maintaining a "counter" on the record that triggered the workflow. For example, you can have a field called "Follow Up Attempt" that has 1 added to it (using dynamic values) with each successive iteration of the workflow. Your workflow would then start by checking the value of this field and trigger different actions based on the value.
- Another example is an opportunity process with multiple sales stages. The early stages of an opportunity may focus on gathering data about the opportunity. When the workflow initially launches, it can check to see if certain data exists in the opportunity and, if so, it can skip the first stages. Your workflow can also use a custom opportunity field called Restart Stage, which can be set by the workflow before it calls itself when the workflow restarts it can use the value in this field to determine which stage it should jump to.

As you can see, recursive workflows are powerful tools — but they also introduce some risks and complexities. When using recursive workflows, a good process for diagramming your workflow up front and testing your workflow before production is more important than ever.

### Updating existing workflows

To update an existing workflow, navigate to it, deactivate it, make your changes, and then reactivate it. There are a few issues to be aware of when updating existing workflows:

- **Deactivated workflows:** Although workflows are deactivated, they no longer run when trigger conditions are met. If a workflow is used heavily, and you deactivate it for a short period, it will not be executed for any records that are created or modified during that period. For critical workflows, you should either work on them in a "sandbox" instance of Dynamics CRM, wait until off-hours to make updates. or make a copy of them to perform edits on a separate workflow (copies can be made by deactivating the workflow, saving it as a template, and creating a new workflow using the template).
- **Workflows in progress:** Workflow jobs that have already started running prior to making updates will continue to run without change. So, for example, if you edit an e-mail that is being sent by a workflow, all the workflows that were already running before you made the revision will send the same e-mail as before.
- **Moving complex steps:** As you work through testing and refining your workflow, you may find that a complex step should be moved to another location within the workflow. Unfortunately, Dynamics CRM does not include the ability to move steps within a workflow. Options for managing this include careful up-front planning to avoid having to move steps later, updating conditions to leave the step where it is, or completely re-writing the step.

### Working with Dialogs

Dialog processes share many common traits with workflow processes. As a result, we will frequently refer back to the preceding section of this chapter for more information. We recommend that you thoroughly understand the workflows section of this chapter prior to beginning to work with dialogs.

Unlike workflows, dialogs run immediately. Therefore, when you start a dialog, it immediately begins executing the steps of the dialog. Dialogs also have the ability to interact directly with the user (Dynamics CRM is having a "dialog" with the user). Dialogs can ask the user a question, and branch to ask different questions or take different actions depending upon the response. Custom forms, prompts, and scripts can be integrated into dialogs to automate process steps. These features can be linked together to create a series of forms that work like a wizard to prompt a user through a process. Some examples of dialogs include:

- Prompting a call center rep through triaging a service issue so that it can be resolved in the first call or so that it can be promptly and consistently assigned to the appropriate queue for follow-up.
- Setting up a new user on a partner portal by interactively prompting a Dynamics CRM user to choose the level of access, username, and password for the partner. The dialog can launch workflows that e-mail the partner their portal access information.
- Providing a sales discovery script to a sales support rep so that leads can be properly qualified and assigned to the appropriate outside sales rep for additional follow-up.

# Replacing a Dynamics CRM Dialog with a Dialog Process\_\_\_\_\_

We are frequently asked by our clients if dialog boxes built into Dynamics CRM (such as the lead conversion form, case resolution form, or opportunity close form) can be customized with new fields and processes. Until Dynamics CRM 2011 was released, the only way to accomplish this was by developing custom code. Dialog processes, however, can be used to fairly quickly replace many of the dialogs that are built into Dynamics CRM.

### On the Web Site

Many businesses struggle with the lead conversion dialog box because, in many cases, the account already exists in Dynamics CRM and they want to just convert the contact and attach it to the account. These businesses relied on training users to make the conversion and to then update the contact with the account after the conversion — but this training was rarely retained, so many orphan contacts were created. The solution called "Lead Conversion 2" on the site provides a dialog process to address this issue.

Note that most dialogs that are built into Dynamics CRM are activated from a button in the Ribbon menu. To fully replace an existing dialog, you need to remove the existing button and replace it with a new button that calls your dialog. This process is included in the solution on the site and is discussed in Chapter 21.

### **Creating dialogs**

To begin creating a dialog, navigate to the Settings area of Dynamics CRM and click on Processes. Click the new button. Give your dialog a name in the Process name field, select an entity, and be sure to use a category of Dialog.

When choosing an entity, be sure to select the correct entity. Dialogs are run from, and act upon, individual records. If, for example, you want to start a dialog during a phone call, then choose the phone call entity.

Click the OK button to proceed to the next step of creating your dialog. You are presented with the dialog process data entry form in Figure 18.12. Follow the instructions in the remainder of this section to complete the dialog.

#### **FIGURE 18.12**

The dialog process data entry form

File 🛃 🛃 Save and Close	🗃   🞚   🔘 Activate	백읍 Show Dependencies	🗄 Actions 🕶				
32 Process: Dialog						Working on solution: Default Soluti	'n
Related     Mormation     Audit History	General Administrat	on Notes					
A Processes	Process Name * Activate As Available to Run On demand As a child proc Add Step * Add Variables Add Steps Select this roo	Dialog Process ess Insert • X Delete this step w and click Add Step.	-	Entity Category	Account Dialog		
Status: Draft							

#### **Dialog triggers**

Dialogs can be triggered either on demand (the user selects to start the dialog by clicking a button) or they can be launched by other dialogs. Check the appropriate boxes on the process data entry form to indicate how you want your dialog to be available to run.

#### **Cross-Reference**

Note that dialogs can also be called from custom code. This concept is covered in Chapter 21.

#### Input arguments and variables

Before adding steps to a dialog, you may need to create input arguments and/or variables. The process for creating these items is fairly similar: just click the Add link below these sections and you are presented with a dialog box shown in Figure 18.13. You will name the field, choose a data type, and select a default value. Although creating input arguments and variables is similar, they serve different purposes:

- **Input arguments:** If you are creating a child dialog, then you can include input arguments if the child will need to be passed an argument from the parent. For information on passing an input argument to a child dialog, see the "Link child dialog" topic in the "Dialog actions" section.
- Variables: These items allow you to store and pass data within the dialog. Variables can be modified and used anywhere within the dialog. They can be embedded into prompts and e-mails and can be used to update records in Dynamics CRM. Variables can be used to hold calculations that are updated throughout the lifecycle of the dialog. As an example, you can use variables to calculate a lead score. Responses to various questions in the dialog can be assigned different weights which can then be calculated into the score to present a final value at the conclusion of the dialog.

#### FIGURE 18.13

The input argument dialog box

add or M	odify Properties Webpa 🗵
Specify the pr	operties for the input argument.
Name *	
Data Type	Text 💌
Default Value *	
	OK Cancel
🞕 Local intra	net   Protected Mode: Off

### **Adding dialog steps**

To add steps to a dialog, click the Add Steps button in the menu bar about halfway down the dialog data entry form and select the step you wish to add. Figure 18.14 is an illustration of the add steps menu with the different types of steps available.

#### Stages, conditions, and dynamic values

These steps work in exactly the same manner as they do with workflow processes. For more information on working with these types of steps, see the section earlier in this chapter, "Working with Workflows."

#### **FIGURE 18.14**

The Add Step menu on the dialog process data entry form



#### Pages, prompts, and responses

Pages are the tool used by dialogs to interact with the users. Pages can include any number of prompts and responses. Prompts are used to share information with users, and responses are used to gather information from users. Responses can be used to update records, look up Dynamics CRM records to use in the dialog, branch to different pages, or customize the prompts presented on subsequent pages.

To add a page to a dialog, click the Add Step button and select Page. Be sure to enter a descriptive name for your page. A page only serves as a container to hold one or more prompts and responses. So as soon as you add a page, you should add a prompt and response to it by selecting Add Step again and clicking Prompt and Response. You can add as many Prompts and Responses to a page as you like.

To configure a prompt and response step, click the Set Properties button next to it. You will be presented with the properties form for the prompt and response (Figure 18.15 is an example of the properties for a prompt and response that queries CRM data to get the name of an account from the user). Use the guidelines below to set the properties for the prompt and response:

- **General:** This is not displayed to the user. It is used only to describe the prompt and response within the dialog. Use a good descriptive name that identifies the purpose of the prompt and response.
- **Prompt Details:** This section contains the information that will be shared with the user and is required.
  - **Prompt Text:** This is the text that the user will see for this prompt. You can think of this as the name of a field. Prompt text can also be used to simply share information with a user. It could be a welcome message that requires no input

from the user, for example. Prompt text can include dynamic values, so you can prompt users with information such as "Thank you for your call today [Contact Name]. What kind of issue are you experiencing?"

- **Tip Text:** This text is used to provide additional help to the user. This can include more detailed information about the prompt. As the user moves from one prompt to another on the same page, the tip text changes accordingly. Tip text can also include dynamic values.
- **Response Details:** This section contains the response that the user will be required to enter to the prompt. Note that this section is not required some prompts will only share information with the user and will not require a response.
  - **Response Type:** Choose the type of field that the user will see on the form. If you want to allow the user to pick a value that is in a Dynamics CRM entity, then choose Picklist here. For more information on using values from Dynamics CRM, see the "Query CRM Data" topic under the section "Dialog actions."
  - **Data Type:** This field provides some validation of the data entered by the user and determines how the data will be represented in subsequent steps.

For example, you may define a prompt of "Case Type," with a response type of radio button containing values for Problem, Suggestion, Request. You may then define the data type as integer (if you want to map it to a CRM option set) or text (if you are mapping to a CRM text field or if you are only using the field for branching later in the dialog). Note that if you map a dialog field to a CRM option set, then you must ensure that the integer values for the dialog exactly match the values for the option set.

- **Log Response:** Choose yes if you want the response to be captured into the history log for this dialog; choose no if the response does not need to be retained. In general, it is a good idea to retain responses. However, for privacy reasons, it is sometimes desirable to omit some responses from the log.
- **Default Value:** If you want to assign a default value to this response, then enter it here.
- **Provide Values:** If you selected radio or picklist as your response type, then this field and others in this section will be available for input. Choose Define Values if you want to manually create a set of radio options or a picklist for this field. Choose Query CRM Data if you want to allow the user to look up a record from a Dynamics CRM entity. (See Figure 18.15 and the section, "Dialog actions" for information on creating a CRM query.)
- **Response Values, Value, and Label:** If you choose to build your own radio list or picklist, then you will need to click the green "plus" button above the response values list to add values to the list. For each value, you will need to set a value and a label. The label is what the user will see. The value is the numeric representation of the label that is stored in the database.

Each prompt and response can collect only one field of data from the user. So repeat the above process for every response that you need to gather from the user on a single page. After you are done with the page, you can add steps to update records or that ask the user for more pages of input, depending upon what they entered on the first page.

#### FIGURE 18.15

Prompt and response properties using Dynamics CRM data as the response

🛃 Save an	d Close					@ <u>H</u> elp	(ALT+H
ieral							
ementLabel * S	bedify Account					_	
rompt Details							4
Prompt Text *							
	Which account should th	e contact be assigned to?					
Tip Text							
	Select the existing account will be attached to.	nt from the list. When the	lead is converted to a	contact, this is the accou	int that the contact		
esponse Details				<b>C</b> *	C .:	_	
Response type	] Pickilst	<u> </u>	Log Response	(• 16)	( NO		
Data Type	Text	•	Default Value			-	
Provide Values	C Define Values	Query CRM Data					
Query Variables	Active Accounts	-	Columns	Account Name			
Separator				Address 1: City			
	Account Name			Primary Contact			
Preview	procouncidance			□ Account			
Preview							

Note that pages can only contain prompts and responses. They cannot hold steps of any other kind. While you are adding steps "inside" of a page, you can only add new prompts and responses. To add other steps (such as conditions and record updates, for example) make sure to click on a step outside of the page step.

#### **Dialog actions**

Dialog actions are steps that update the Dynamics CRM database or automate steps that a user may otherwise have to perform manually. Actions include retrieving data from CRM, sending e-mails, creating activities, updating existing records, and starting additional processes. Dialog actions include:

• Query CRM Data: Add this action as a step if you want to make Dynamics CRM data available for a lookup within a dialog page. Click the Set Properties button after adding this step to configure the lookup. The lookup can be configured like any other view or advanced find (see Chapter 17 for details). Advanced users can click on the "Define fetch XML query text" tab to create custom filters (including parameters) that are not possible with the standard advanced find features available in Dynamics CRM.

#### Tip

The functionality behind the "Define fetch XML query text" tab can be a bit intimidating, but it is powerful and worth taking the time to experiment with so you can use it in your dialogs. When you initially click the tab,

Fetch XML code will be generated based on what you have entered into the Design New tab. So begin by using the "Design New" tab to take your query as far as you can without writing code. You can then click the "Define fetch XML query text" tab to add parameters to your query. Parameters are available using the Form Assistant (on the right-hand side of the screen); all of the responses from preceding steps of the dialog are available as parameters for your query. At the end of your query, add "QueryStep.Records != 0" to ensure that the query returns a record. One example of using this feature is to look up a contact based on their phone number and present detailed contact information in the next step of the dialog.

- **Assign Value:** Use this action to assign a value to a variable or input argument that you added at the top of the list of steps. This field can use dynamic values that include fields from the entity that the dialog is based on, entities related to the dialog entity, responses to dialog prompts, and custom fields used by the process.
- **Start Child Workflow:** Use this action to start a workflow. Keep in mind that workflows do not run immediately, so the workflow will not interact directly with the dialog.
- Link Child Dialog: Use this action to start another dialog linked to this one. After adding this step, you can choose which entity it should be related to (it must be the same entity as the parent dialog, or an entity that has a relationship to the parent dialog), and then choose the specific dialog (only dialogs that are available to run as child processes will be available). After making these selections, click the Set Properties button. You will be presented with a list of input variables for the child dialog. You can dynamically pass values from the parent dialog to the child by placing them into the value fields. Figure 18.16 is an example of the input properties for a child dialog.

#### FIGURE 18.16

Input properties for a child dialog

Р	rocess: Custom Lead Conversion	n Albard		Working on solution: Def	ault Soluti
	Property Name	Data Type	Value	Form Arristant	
ച	UIScript Input InputVar	nvarchar	{Web Site(Lead)}		
				Dynamic Values	
				Dynamic Values	
				Operator:	
				<u> </u>	
				Look for:	
				Lead	•
					<u> </u>
				Add	
				X Move Up Move	Down
				Default value:	
					-
				OK	

- Create Record, Update Record, Assign Record, Send E-mail, Change Status: Each of these actions works in the same manner as the actions by the same name in workflow processes. See the "Working with Workflows" section of this chapter for more information on these actions.
- **Stop Dialog:** This action can be used to stop a dialog from running when certain conditions are met. This can be helpful if there is a reason why a dialog should stop running rather than continuing to process subsequent steps. An example may be when a user has an option to provide a response that either continues the dialog or completes it. If they choose the response that completes it, then a stop dialog action can be inserted based on meeting that condition.

### **Understanding Other Process Concepts**

Processes include a broad range of functions that can be used to streamline the process of creating processes, improve process management, assist users in accessing processes, and to extend processes. This section describes some of the other features, including some advanced process options, available to you in Dynamics CRM.

### **Running on demand processes**

To run an on demand process, navigate to the record that you wish to run the process on and select it from a grid view. In the Ribbon menu, you will see buttons for Run Workflow and Start Dialog. Click the appropriate button depending on which type of process that you want to run, and the process will run. Note that you can select multiple records and run a workflow against all of them at once. Dialogs, on the other hand, can only be run against a single record at a time.

### Administration, notes, and attachments

Dynamics CRM includes some helpful tools for documenting your processes and for "cleaning up" your processes after they complete. When creating or updating a process, these items are available in the Administration and Notes tabs.

#### **Documenting your processes**

It is always a best practice to maintain a description and any ongoing notes about your processes. This becomes more important over time as your Dynamics CRM implementation becomes increasingly complex and handles a broader range of processes. Use the Administration and Notes tabs on the process data entry form to provide a detailed description of your processes and to record ongoing notes about the changes you make on various dates. You can also attach documents to a process — so if you took the time to diagram your process using Visio or a similar tool, then attach the document to the process so you can refer back to it in the future.

#### **Deleting completed workflow jobs**

Each time a workflow runs, Dynamics CRM creates a "workflow job" to track the progress of the workflow. This can be a useful tool for monitoring the status of your workflows and for

debugging. Each of these saved workflow jobs, however, consumes disk space and can slow down the performance of Dynamics CRM. To avoid this issue, you can click on the Administration tab while creating or editing a workflow, and select the check box titled, "Automatically delete completed workflow jobs." You can also manually delete older workflow jobs manually if you prefer.

### Creating and using process templates

Process templates allow you to create a process, save it as a template, and then reuse it to create similar processes. To create a template follow the steps for creating a process, but on the process data entry form, change the Activate As field to Process Template and then activate the process. The next time you create a new process for the same entity, you can select the template as a starting point and modify it from there.

Process templates can also be a handy way to make a copy of existing processes. Just deactivate the process, switch it to a process template, and activate it. Now you can create a new process that is an exact copy of the original. You can also use this method to create a "version" of a process to save while you make modifications. If you ever need to revert back to the earlier version, you can just go back to the template.

### **Monitoring processes**

When a process is applied to records, it creates an individual process job for each record. Each of these jobs performs the actions specified in the steps. Each job can be monitored to see which step is currently running if there are any problems with the process. There are a number of places you can go to monitor processes:

- From the process: You can open the process and click the Processes link (for workflows) or the Dialog Sessions link (for dialogs) in the navigation pane. This brings up a list of all the jobs that have been run for this process.
- From the targeted record: If a process has been run against an individual record (such as a lead or contact) you can open that record in Dynamics CRM and click the appropriate link in the navigation pane to bring up a list of processes.
- From the system jobs list: In the settings area, there is a link in the navigation pane to System Jobs. Clicking this link will bring up a list of all workflow jobs (as well as other types of jobs) that you can work with.

Once you are viewing the list of processes, you can click on the name of any of them to open it and see the specific details (including any error messages) associated with that job. You can also cancel, resume, postpone, or pause a job if desired. Completed or canceled jobs can be deleted.

### Tip

Keeping a record of each completed workflow job can take quite a bit of storage space and slow down system performance. To minimize this issue, you can automatically delete completed workflow jobs. See the section "Administration, notes, and attachments" for more information.

### **Running processes using JScript**

You can run processes by calling them from JScript. This means that you can trigger processes (both dialogs and workflows) directly from your forms. This can be done by adding buttons to the Ribbon menu, adding custom Web resources with buttons, or by calling them when a field value changes. This adds more control over how and when processes are executed — delivering more standardization and automation to your business. For more information on JScript, see Chapter 21.

### **Process extensions**

Process extensions allow you to add more actions to the list of steps available for a process. For example, process extensions can aggregate values from subentities (so when you run a workflow on an account, it can return the total value of all active opportunities). Process extensions use custom code, usually developed in .NET, to extend the functionality available in processes. For more information on process extensions, see Chapter 22.

Custom workflow actions can be created by using programming code or can be acquired from third parties. Custom workflows can perform actions such as calculating fields, making complex related record updates, or capturing the URL of Dynamics CRM records that can be used to provide a link directly to the record to an end user (for example, a link to a record can be embedded in an e-mail to make it easier for the user to navigate to the record). For more information on custom workflows, see Chapter 22.

## Using .NET and the Windows Workflow Foundation to extend your processes

The Dynamics CRM process engine is built using the Microsoft Windows Workflow Foundation. This is the same toolset that is used to manage processes in SharePoint and to build processes using the .NET development platform. Because processes use this foundation, you can export them into a file (called a XAML file) and import them into .NET. See Chapter 21 for more information.

## Plug-ins: Using custom code for added process flexibility

Plug-ins are similar to workflows, but they are developed using custom code. Plug-ins allows an even broader range of possibilities for process automation. For more information on developing plug-ins, see Chapter 22.

### **Process examples**

We have included several sample processes on the CD that you can use as a starting point to learn more about processes. Here is a summary of each:

- **Big deal alert:** This is a very simple workflow process that sends an alert to a user's manager whenever the user creates or updates an opportunity with an estimated value of greater than \$100,000. You can edit the workflow to use whatever value you like.
- **Case triage:** Large organizations often have to triage a case before they can assign it to a user or a group for resolution. The case triage dialog process is an example of a process that identifies the needs associated with an issue and assigns it to different users based on feedback gathered from the customer.
- Lead conversion replacement: See the section "Replacing a Dialog" earlier in the chapter for more information on this dialog process.

### Summary

Processes are one of the most powerful and useful customization features available in Dynamics CRM. Using processes, organizations of all sizes can automate customer-facing processes immediately. When combined with the other customization features available in Dynamics CRM, processes can deliver a complete business process automation platform to streamline and standardize practices across any organization.

Although processes are easy to use and enable you to develop computer programs without writing code, you should resist the temptation to create complex processes without a well thought-out plan. Take the time to map out your processes and think through the implications. In your project plans, include adequate time for testing.

Workflows are processes that run in the background. They can be triggered automatically or can be run on demand by users. Workflows can be used to update records, schedule activities, send e-mails, and ensure consistent actions are taken by users. Because workflows run in the background, however, they do not interact with users and may take a few minutes to run.

Dialogs are processes that run in the foreground. They include forms, prompts, and responses that can interact with users. Dialogs can include complex decision rules and branching so they can change how they interact with users based on user input and based on data stored in Dynamics CRM.

# Part VI

# Customizing Dynamics CRM with Custom Code

Though this book is not aimed at developers, every administrator should have a thorough understanding of the terminology, concepts, and methods that can be used to customize Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.

Indeed, there are many customization methods described in this next part of the book that a non-developer can begin implementing. We've included a lot of practical examples to get you started. Who knows? By the end of this part of the book, you may decide you want to dive deeper into the development arena for Dynamics CRM!

With that in mind, we start this part of the book off by providing an overview of the options available to you and to developers.

### **IN THIS PART**

**Chapter 19** Understanding the Other Customization Options

#### Chapter 20

Understanding the Development Options

**Chapter 21** Working with Client-Side Customizations

**Chapter 22** Working with Server-Side Customizations

### CHAPTER ] O

# Understanding the Other Customization Options

s you have seen in preceding chapters, Dynamics CRM 2011 provides a broad range of options for customizing the application without having to write any code. In addition to the concepts presented in other chapters of this section, a number of other options are available for customization from the user interface. This chapter covers these additional customization options.

### **Customizing Option Sets**

In Chapter 17, we briefly covered using option sets when customizing fields and forms within entities. Option sets are picklists that can be reused across multiple entities in Dynamics CRM. Use option sets if you expect to use the same picklist on multiple forms.

Creating new option sets and customizing existing option sets can be performed within the customizations area.

Use the steps below to create or customize an option set.

- 1. In Dynamics CRM, navigate to the Settings area.
- 2. Select which solution you want to add option sets to:
  - For the default solution, navigate to Customizations and select Customize the System.
  - For a custom solution, navigate to Solutions and then open the solution that you wish to modify.
- **3.** In the list of solution components, choose the Option Sets item.
- **4.** Click New to add a new option set (or click an existing option set if you wish to make changes).

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

**Customizing option sets** 

Setting up queues

**Customizing Mobile Express** 

Managing connections and relationships

Working with CRM extensions

- 5. Complete the form, illustrated in Figure 19.1, using the information below:
  - **Display Name:** Enter the name that will appear on the Dynamics CRM form.
  - **Name:** This name will be used to refer to the field in code. This is auto-populated for you, but you can change it if you wish.
  - **Description:** It is always a good idea to include a detailed description of your option set so you will know exactly what it should be used for when you reference it later.
  - **Options:** This is the area you use to create and update the list of options that appear in the option set. Use the buttons above the list to add, delete, or sort items.
  - Label: This is the label that is presented to the user within the picklist.
  - Value: A numeric value must be assigned to each label. This number is auto-assigned based on settings that have been made in Dynamics CRM, and it generally does not need to be changed.
  - **Description:** This field is optional.
- **6.** Once complete, click the appropriate option in the menu bar to either save your changes or publish your changes so that they will be immediately available on forms (assuming you were modifying an existing option set).

#### FIGURE 19.1

The option set data entry form

Facility Type - V	Windows Internet	Explorer						_ 8
	p://2008r2-demo:5555/	SuccessAccelerators/tools/system	customization/option	set/optionset.asp	x? Create	▼ + ×  Bing		٩
Eavorites	Microsoft Dynamics	CPM 🕅 SharePoint 🖉 Penor	t Manager					
	ration Microcoff	A Solution: Dofoult Micros	- Facility Type	v	1	A + B + B A + B	ige ▼ Safety ▼ T	ools <b>v @v</b>
	2ation - microson	an Solution. Delaut- micros	And Locality Lybe	<u>^</u>				
File Save	Save and Close	Dublish   🖷 🗄 Show Depend	lencies   🎢 Manag	ged Properties				@ Help
Option Set						Wor	king on solution: D	efault Solution
Facility	Туре							
ichema			temcustomization/optionset/optionset.aspx sport Manager sendencies Managed Properties Properties Name * clifty at this location. Most of our clients have matically, see the <u>Microsoft Dynamics CRM S</u> Label * Value * Description					
isplay Name	Facility type			Name "	Je	ol_raciitytype		
ptions		+ 🗅	ŵ ⊕ Â↓ Ž↓					
Textile								
Paper Products				Label *				
Hazardous Materia Iron Production	als			Value *	nsetaspa?_Creati			
				Description				_
					1			
				]				
								_
18					- 🗸 Tr	usted sites   Protected Mode: Off	1 in the second	₫ 100% ▼

After you have completed setting up option sets, you can add them as fields on an entity just like any other field.

### **Setting Up Queues**

*Queues* are containers that hold actions that need to be completed by an individual or a team. Think of a queue as an inbox containing work that needs to be processed. Almost any record can be shared with a queue. Some examples of queues include:

- During the sales process, a prospective customer needs to undergo credit approval. To accomplish this, Dynamics CRM assigns accounts to a queue named Credit Approval The accounting department monitors this queue and processes items as they are added.
- The HR department is using Dynamics CRM for their hiring process. After initial interviews, if the business wants to extend an offer, the candidate must go through a background check and a reference check. These contacts are assigned to two different queues at the same time (one called Background Check and the other called Reference Check). Two different business units monitor the two queues and process items as they come in.

Queues can also be associated with e-mail addresses. This can be useful for sending and receiving e-mails associated with a work process. For example, you may set up an e-mail address for service with the address service@yourcompany.com. Whenever an e-mail comes into that address, it can automatically be added to a service queue for processing. Similarly, outbound e-mails can come from the same address in order to provide customers with assistance in resolving issues (when users respond to these e-mails, the response can automatically be tracked to the queue). By using this single address, the e-mail can be "worked" by the first available person who checks the queue.

### **Cross-Reference**

This chapter deals with setting up queues. To learn more about using queues, see Chapter 10.

### Creating and customizing a queue

To create a new queue, or customize an existing queue, navigate to the Settings area, click on Business Management in the Navigation pane, and then select Queues in the main window. You will be presented with a grid listing queues. Click New to create a new queue or click on the name of the queue that you want to modify. You are presented with the form illustrated in Figure 19.2. Complete the form as follows:

- **Queue Name:** Give the queue a descriptive name.
- **E-mail:** If your queue will receive and/or send e-mails, then enter the e-mail address assigned to the queue. This e-mail address should be unique to the queue.
- **Owner:** Assign the queue to an individual or a team. Security roles work with queues in the same manner as other records.

- **Convert to e-mail activities:** Use this setting to determine which e-mails will get added to the queue.
- E-mail Access Configuration: Configure this section based on the settings you have made in your e-mail router (see Chapter 4 for more information). If you plan to send outgoing e-mails from the queue, then you may also want to check the box for "Allow credentials for the E-mail Router" and fill in the username and password.

#### FIGURE 19.2

The queue data entry form

@Queue: Plant Shutdown	n Management - Micros	oft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer	_ 8 ×
🕞 💬 🗢 🚂 http://2008r2	-demo:5555/SuccessAccelera	cors/tools/queuingmanager/edit.aspx?id=%7b11437088-03C6-DF 🚽 🌆 🗙 🔽 Bing	- 2
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🍰 📠 Micros	oft Dynamics CRM 🔢 Shan	Point 🔊 Report Manager	
88 🗸 🛄 Queues: My Active	Queue 漏 Queue: Plar	it Shutdow 🗙 🔤 🖛 Page 🔻 Safety 🖛	Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶 🂙
File 🛃 🛃 Save and Cl	lose 🔓 🎒 🛃 Approve	E-mail 🔜 Reject E-mail 🐁 Actions 👻	@ <u>H</u> elp ▼
32 Queue: Plant Sh	utdown Manageme	nt	
Information	▼ General		
- General	Queue Name *	Plant Shutdown Management	
Related	E-mail	shutdowns@successaccelerators.com Owner* S C5 Admin	Q
▲ Common 16 Audit History	Description	This queue is used to manage the maintenance process that should be implemented whenever a scheduled shutdor The Plant Maintenance team monitors this queue.	wn occurs.
▲ Processes	Incoming E-mail		
	Convert to e-mail activities: *	E-mail messages in response to CRM e-mail	•
	E-mail Access Cor	figuration	
	E-mail access type - Incoming: *	E-mail Router	•
	E-mail access type - Outgoing: *	E-mail Router	•
	Configure Creden	tials for E-mail Router	
	Allow credentials for the E-mail Router*	<u>भ</u>	
	User name	shutdowns	
	Password	·····	••••
	Retype Password		••••
Statuce Acting			
Done		Tructed sites   Protected Mode: Off	▼ ® 100% ▼ /
0.0110		V Hasted sites if hotested Mude. On	1.0000

### **Automating queues**

Using processes, you can create routing rules to automatically assign records to queues and route records into escalation queues. By combining queues with processes, you can create complex business processes that can assign records to different queues throughout the lifecycle of a process. For example a new lead may be assigned to a Pre-Qualification queue where one of several Sales Support personnel may process leads. Once a lead has been prequalified, the Sales Support employee working it may then convert it and create an opportunity. From there a Sales Rep may make contact and, eventually, develop a quote. The quote may then be added to a queue for approval by a manager before it can be delivered to the customer. If the quote is not approved within four hours, it may be escalated to a senior manager queue for rapid approval. Once approved, it may then be added to a credit check queue, and so on.

Because e-mail addresses can be assigned to queues, your queue automation processes can send and receive e-mails. For example, a customer may send an e-mail to a general e-mail address your company has created and assigned to a queue (support@yourcompany.com). Incoming e-mails to this address can automatically be assigned to the queue. When an employee selects to work on an item in the queue, a workflow can send a message from the assigned e-mail address (support@yourcompany.com in this example) to the customer that submitted the case, informing them that their case is being reviewed. E-mail communications can continue to be sent as the case status is updated in order to keep the customer informed about the status of their case.

Queue automation makes it possible to improve the efficiency, quality, and consistency of business processes. Perhaps more importantly, it also enables multiple individuals to collaborate throughout the lifecycle of a lead, opportunity, case, project, or any other type of record that you may be tracking in Dynamics CRM.

### Caution

The term "assign to a queue" is a bit misleading. In Dynamics CRM, the term "assign" usually refers to record ownership. If you assign an account to a queue, you won't see that the name of the owner has been changed to the name of the queue. Rather, when you assign a record to a queue, it means that you are creating a new record in the queue that is linked to the record that has been assigned to it.

### Caution

Assigning a record to a queue allows all users who have access to the queue to see the record in the queue. However, if any of those users do not have a security role that allows them to view the linked record, then they won't be able to open the record form. For example, a user may see an item in the support queue, but the user may not have permission to see cases unless they own them. Take care when assigning records to queues to ensure that users with access to the queue will be able to work with the underlying records.

### Approving queue e-mail

If you create a queue that uses an e-mail address, then e-mails can be sent directly into the queue as long as the e-mail address has been configured in the router. You can activate a security model for queues by navigating to Settings Administration System Settings Remail Tab and checking the Process e-mails only for approved queues. Once the security model is active, you will need to click the Approve E-mail button on the queue data entry form before the queue can send and receive e-mails. If you deactivate the security model, then queues will be able to send and receive e-mails without requiring approvals.

### Caution

If you have activated the security model for queues, then only users with the appropriate privileges can approve a queue e-mail address. To set the appropriate privilege, navigate to Settings Administration Security Roles Select the role you want to update Business Management Tab Under "Miscellaneous Privileges," select "Approve E-mail Addresses for Users or Queues."

### **Customizing Mobile Express**

Mobile Express is a "light" version of Dynamics CRM that can be accessed from any mobile device that has an Internet connection and does not require any additional licensing fees. With Mobile Express, you can give your users access to virtually any of the data in Dynamics CRM from their mobile phone. You can also tailor exactly which data is visible in Mobile Express — making the most of the limited real estate available on the screen of mobile devices. Figure 19.3 illustrates the opening menu of Mobile Express and a form in Mobile Express.

#### FIGURE 19.3

Mobile Express menu and a Mobile Express form

@Mobile Express - Microsoft <u>■□</u> ×	@Mobile Express - Microsoft Dy <u>-□×</u>
🚱 🗢 加 http://2008r2-demo: 💌 🚱 [	🚱 🗢 加 http://2008r2-demo: 💌 🊱 🗙
😭 Favorites 🛛 🚔 漏 Microsoft Dynamics CRN	🚔 Favorites 🛛 🚔 🚈 Microsoft Dynamics CRM
🏄 Mobile Express - Micro 🛛 🖄 🔻	🏄 Mobile Express - Micro 🛛 🟠 🔻
Microsoft Dynamics CRM	Success Accelerators
Success Accelerators	$\underline{Cases} > \underline{Average order shipment time (s}$
Accounts	Save Cancel
Cases	Account
Contacts	Advanced Components (sample)
Leads	Average order shipment time (sample)
Opportunities	Subject Subject
	Query
	Product
	Product
· · ·	
🗸 Trusted sites   Pri 🖓 🔻 🍕 100% 👻 🏑	Trusted sites   Protec 🖓 🕶 🔍 100% 👻

Microsoft Outlook synchronizes with some of the most frequently used data in Dynamics CRM (such as contacts, tasks, and appointments). Outlook, in turn, synchronizes with most mobile devices. For many organizations, this is all of the information that users will need to access from their mobile device. There are many cases, however, where your users will want to access data that is not available in Outlook while they are away from the office (such as leads, accounts, opportunities, and cases). In those cases, you will find that Mobile Express is an excellent option.

### Caution

Mobile Express does not support all of the functionality that is found in the desktop version of Dynamics CRM. For example, if you are using script (such as JScript) on a form to format phone numbers, this functionality will not be available in Mobile Express.

Mobile Express is automatically installed with Dynamics CRM. To access Mobile Express, go to the same URL that you use to access Dynamics CRM, but add "/m" to the end (for example:

http://yourcompany.crm.dynamics.com/m). If your Dynamics CRM is installed onpremise, then you will need to either set it up to be accessible from the Internet or you will need to install VPN software on your mobile devices in order to use Mobile Express (see Chapter 7 for more information).

Use the following steps to customize Mobile Express. These instructions assume you are customizing the Campaign entity — but you can apply these to almost any entity in Dynamics CRM.

- In the settings area, either open the default solution (Settings 

   Customizations 

   Customize the System) or select the solution you wish to modify (Settings 

   Customizations 

   Solutions 

   select the appropriate solution).
- **2.** In the navigation bar, open the list of Entities and then click on the Campaign entity (or whichever entity that you want to customize).
- **3.** On the General tab for the entity, scroll down to the check box for Mobile Express for Microsoft Dynamics CRM and ensure that it is checked. Save the change.
- **4.** Click on the Forms component under the entity in the navigation pane. Click on the name of the mobile form. You are presented with the mobile form editor (see Figure 19.4).

#### FIGURE 19.4

The mobile form editor

Add/Remove attributes - Windows Internet Explorer							Ð×
COC v Mttp://2008r2-demo:5555/SuccessAccelerators/m/Console/EntityCont	fig.aspx?etn=c5i_plant&f	formid=%7b17 💌	😽 🗙 💽 Bing				<b>-</b> 0
	er						
			A-8-84	w Dama w Cad			_ »
Customization - Microsoft Solution: Default - Micros	vRemove attributes 🗙		a . M . m 🕾	r Fage - Sai	ety - 1	0005 - 🐨	
File 🛃 🛃 Save and Close 🔚 Save As 1 Assign Roles 😭 Form Proper	ties					@ <u>H</u> e	elp •
Mobile Entity: Plants Select the attributes from the Available Attributes list that you would like displayed on the f	orm. Set the order in which	h they are displayed t	by moving them up and d	own in the selected	list.		
Available Attributes		Selected Attributes					_
City		Plant Name *					
Country		Status *					
Created By		Plant Manager					
Created By (Delegate)		Parent Account*					
Created On							
Import Sequence Number							
Main Phone							
Modified By	Add >						
Modified By (Delegate)							
Modified On	Add All 22						
Next Shutdown							
Production Start Date	< <u>R</u> emove						
State/Province	<< Remove All						
Status Reason							
Street 1	Move Up						
Street 2	Mave Down						
Zip/Postal Code							
	Read Only						
Done		Trusted	sites   Protected Mod	le: Off	<b>1</b>	100%	•

- **5.** Change the form as appropriate. Note that you can have multiple forms for Mobile Express just like you can for the desktop. See Chapter 17 for more information on working with multiple forms.
- 6. When you are satisfied with your changes to the form, save them.
- **7.** Note that you may want to create a custom view with just a few columns of information at this time and name it something like "Mobile View."
- 8. Publish the entity.

The next time you open Mobile Express, the changes that you have made will be published and available. If you added an entity to Mobile Express, it will appear on the home page. The form will be configured according to your specifications.

#### **On the Web Site**

Mobile Express provides inexpensive and flexible access to most of the data in Dynamics CRM. However, it does include some limitations (such as the inability to access data offline and lack of integration with the telephony components of your mobile device). Fortunately CWR Solutions, a third-party developer, has developed a very robust mobile access add-on for Dynamics CRM that fills these gaps. See the Web site for a link to learn more about CWR Mobility from CWR Solutions.

### Managing Connection Roles and Relationship Roles

As you learned in Chapter 17, relationships are *formalized* links between entities. You can use the connections or relationships entities to set up informal or ad-hoc relationships between records. Here is a quick rundown of the options for using the connections and relationships entities to link records in Dynamics CRM:

- Connections Entity: The connections entity, new in Dynamics CRM 2011, allows you to make a connection between any two entities for any purpose. Each connection is assigned a "role" for that connection. A few examples include:
  - For organizations that use distributors to sell products, a connection can be created between two accounts. The distributor would have a role of "Distributor" and the buyer would have a role of "Buyer." When viewing either account, the connection between these two accounts will be very clear.
  - For organizations that work directly with consumers, a connection can be created between two contacts. The first contact may be assigned a role of "Parent" and the other contact may be assigned a role of "Child." The parent may have multiple children assigned. Furthermore, the children can all have connections to the other children, both having a role of "Sibling." Although the organization may have different relationships with each family member, they can also see all the other family members during every interaction. This can help organizations to understand the full extent of the relationship when servicing their customers.

- Some businesses work with very complex relationships. For example, business brokerage firms buy and sell businesses. Frequently, they buy and sell businesses that are held by private equity firms. These private equity firms own a number of businesses — sometimes they may be a buyer, other times they may be a seller. The business brokerage firms may wish to see every business that these private equity firms are connected to as either a potential buyer, a current owner, or an active seller. Connections can make this type of complex relationship possible to track.
- Relationships Entity: The relationships entity is still available in Dynamics CRM 2011 to remain compatible with prior versions. However, this has been replaced with the functionality of the connections entity and should no longer be used. In addition, the relationships entity should not be confused with creating a formal relationship between two entities (for example a 1:N, N:1, or N:N relationship as discussed in Chapter 17).

### Adding connections to entities

Before using connections with an entity, you need to first make sure that connections have been enabled for that entity. To do this, navigate to the customization area (go to Settings and then choose either Customizations or Solutions, depending on which solution you wish to customize). Use the Navigation pane and click on the entity you want to enable connections for. On the General tab, scroll down and make sure that the check box next to Connections has been selected. Save and publish the update.

### **Configuring connection roles**

A Connection Role is the type of relationship that exists between two records. Or, put another way, it is the role that each record plays in that connection. Dynamics CRM includes a number of potential roles out of the box. You can also create your own roles using the procedure below:

- Navigate to Settings → Business Management and click on Connection Roles in the main window. Note that this will create new roles in the default solution. If you wish to create roles in another solution then navigate to Settings → Solutions, choose the solution you wish to customize, and then navigate to Connection Roles in the navigation pane.
- **2.** Click the New button to create a new role. You are presented with the connection role data entry form (see Figure 19.5).
- **3.** Complete each area of the form as follows:
  - Step 1: Enter the name of the role (such as Partner, Manufacturer, Developer, Vendor, and so on), the category of the connection (note that new categories can be created by editing the option set), and a brief description.
  - Step 2: Choose which record types this connection role will be available for. It may be tempting to choose All but by carefully selecting only the relevant record types, you will save users some data entry time.
  - Step 3: List the roles that are available to match to this role. In other words, if you created a role named, "Parent" then the only matching role may be "Child." Although this step is optional, it is worth taking the time to do. Matching connection roles will improve the efficiency and quality of data entry by limiting the available options.

FIGURE 19.5

The connection	n role data e	entry form			
Connection Role: Plant -	Microsoft Dynamics	CRM - Windows Internet Explore	•		<u>X</u>
Intro//2009/2-demo.5555/Juces AAcedemo.5555/Juces AAcedemo.55	P -				
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🍰 🏄 Microsof	ft Dynamics CRM 🔢 Sha	rePoint 🖉 Report Manager			
88 - Connection Roles:	All Acti 📶 Connection	n Role: Pla 🗙		🟠 🕶 🔝 👻 🖃 🖶 💌 Page 🕶	Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶 🎽
File 🛃 🌄 Save and Clo	se 🔓 🎒 🐀 Actions	•			@ Help •
32 Connection Role:	Plant			Working on s	solution: Default Solution
Information	▼ General				<b>^</b>
General Matching Connection R	Step 1: Describe	the connection role		Step 2: Select record types	
	Name *	Plant		C All	
Related	Connection Role	Business	•	Only these record types:	
4 Common	Category			Account	<b></b>
( Deserves	Description	One or more individuals can be auth procure equipment and submit servio	orized to te tickets for	Appointment	
A Processes		each plant.		Campaign	
Dialog Sessions				Case	
				Competitor	
				□ Contact	
				Contract	
				Dialog Session	
				E-mail	-
	* Matching Conn	action Roles			
	Matching com	eccon notes			
	step 3: List mate	ning connection roles (optional)			
	S New S Add	Existing   🎒 📓 🛛 🍪 Run Workflo	w 🔹 Start Dialog 📗	More Actions +	
	🗖   Name		Connection Role	Category Status	S
	S Authorized	Procurement Agent	Business	Active	
Status: Active					
D					() - ( <b>A</b> 4000/ -

### **Working with CRM Extensions**

In Chapters 16 through 19, we have focused on how to customize and extend Dynamics CRM without writing code. In the next section of the book, we will focus on the tools that developers can use to further extend Dynamics CRM. It is important to point out, however, that Dynamics CRM makes it possible for non-coders to collaborate with developers to tap into advanced extensions. Non-coders can develop portions of the Dynamics CRM customizations, while developers create the portions that require custom coding. This approach maximizes the value that each individual contributes to the final deliverable.

In this section, we briefly discuss some of the possibilities that are available when using code to create extensions to Dynamics CRM. In the next group of chapters, we dive deeper into how to create some of these extensions.

### **Extending forms**

Figure 19.6 illustrates a form in Dynamics CRM that has been customized using both non-code and code-driven changes. After the figure is a description of the code-driven customizations that are included in the form.

#### FIGURE 19.6

		3	24!	62	1
8_			Windows Internet Explore	oft Dynamics CRM	akota Mills - Micros
9	X 🖸 Bing	qs=_gridType%3d10000%26e 💌 🐓	ators/main.aspx?etn=cSi_plant&e:	o:5555/SuccessAccelera	http://2008r2-der
▼ Page ▼ Safety ▼ Tools ▼ 🔞 ▼	• 🗟 • 🖃 🖶 •	Plant: Dakota Mills 🗙 🛛 🚹	Solution: PlantTracking	Active Plants - Mi	88 - Plants
C5 Admin Success Accelerators				Customize	fant Create Related
			Ink Run Start Ru Workflow Dialog Repo	Connect	A Save & New Save & New A Deactvate Save
Plants 💌 🛊 🕸			Mills	Plant Dakota I	1
	C			▼ General	
	Certifications		In a company	General Into	
			Dakota Milis	Prancivanie	rities ed Activities
			Prive Accelerators	Parent Manager	nections
17	# Other Certs 17		1/7040 555 1212	Main Phone	it History
		Plant Shutdown	1000 555-2222	Site Photo	er Certs
History	Shutdown Hi	Next Shutdown			al
Year Score			Sec. 1	and the second	
2010 9.1		Chuddharan Managarana	- Martinet	11	ктюws og Sessions
2009 🖋 9.3	-	anacaowa Management	I terrise	I. B. h.	
2008 🗸 9.6		Schedule Shutdown	LEL ANICH		
2007 💥 7.9		Execute Shutdown	The local day in the local day		
2006 1 8.6	-	Follow Up	load Image	Upla	
-	-				
	Actina	Chatur Dearon	Active	Status	

A form in Dynamics CRA4 that has been systemized using system code

- 1. **Custom entity:** The system customizer created a custom entity called "Plant." This entity is used to manage a list of manufacturing plants that their service team provides support to. As described in earlier chapters, the entity, form, views, and charts were all created without writing code.
- 2. Auto formatted phone number: The phone number field on the form is automatically formatted for the user. The user can simply type in the numeric for the phone number and, when they tab out of the field, the phone is formatted automatically. This is managed through a JScript Web resource. The system customizer did not have to write this code, they only had to install a custom solution that contained the code and then add it to the form and to the field. See the nearby "On the Site" note for information on how to try this on your own.
- **3. Calculated field:** This field is automatically calculated by counting the number of active certifications from the Other Certifications entity. There are a number of ways to calculate fields in Dynamics CRM; several are described below.
  - **Plug-in assembly:** Plug-in assemblies are code that can be run automatically when certain events take place in Dynamics CRM (such as when a record is

updated). These are powerful because they are written in .NET and can perform an almost unlimited array of functions — but they do not interact directly with the user (for example, they cannot update forms). Think of plug-in assemblies as a more powerful version of a workflow.

- **JScript:** JScript can also be used to calculate fields. The advantage of using Jscript to calculate fields is that the calculated values can be immediately visible to the end user. The disadvantage is that these calculations only run when the form is being displayed. In the case of our example form, Jscript would not be a useful choice because the calculation needs to be changed whenever a case is closed.
- Workflow: Workflows have the ability to perform simple calculations. For example, a workflow can increment a counter field by 1 every time a case is closed. Workflow calculations, however, are fairly limited unless they are extended using workflow extensions (more on that later).
- **4. HTML Web resource:** The site photo is presented using an HTML Web resource. The HTML page includes a button to upload an image and an area to display the image. When the system customizer created this form, she created a placeholder for this item and then asked a developer to write the HTML code for her. Once the code was written, she could easily insert it into the form.
- **5. Custom buttons:** Manufacturing plants typically shut down once a year for maintenance. There are certain procedures that must be followed by support during this time. The system customizer was able to create dialogs for these actions, but she wanted the dialogs to be available via a button embedded directly into the form rather than relying on users remembering to click the Start Dialog button in the Ribbon menu. Another HTML Web resource was used for this purpose that contained the necessary buttons. Note that the Ribbon menu itself can also be customized This is covered Chapter 21.
- **6. Custom navigation items:** The system customizer also created a navigation link to a map of the facility and another link to a custom application used to track internal SharePoint social media and external social media related to the plant. These applications were developed outside of Dynamics CRM and are linked to using the Navigation pane links.

As you can see, the form was created and designed without writing any code at all. The form components that required custom code were developed separately. The coded elements were then added to the form and manipulated by a nondeveloper. This approach enables a system customizer to do much of the design work on the application and rely on a developer only for the components that require custom coding. Custom add-ons can also be downloaded from the Dynamics Marketplace.

### On the Web Site

The CRM Bible site includes a custom solution for phone number formatting as well as a description of how to install and set up the solution to format phone numbers in Dynamics CRM.

### **Extending dashboards**

Dashboards can be customized in a similar manner to forms. Using Web resources and Iframes, dashboards can be enriched with additional information and can interact directly with end users. Figure 19.7 is an example of a dashboard that has been extended using custom code (note that the Navigation pane and Ribbon menu have both been minimized to show more of the dashboard). After the figure is a description of how it has been extended.

- 1. HTML Web resource: The Facebook integration uses an HTML Web resource. This could be used to display updates posted to a public Facebook page. You could also use this area to display a search of a Twitter account or a search of social media sites for manufacturing plants that your organization does business with.
- 2. Iframe: This frame displays a search of the SharePoint site for the term "CRM 2011" (it could just as easily have displayed a search for the term "manufacturing plants"). The result is a set of all documents, discussions, or other information that has been tagged with the selected search term. The search was converted into an RSS feed and displayed in an Iframe. RSS feeds can also be read by Silverlight applications and displayed in a dashboard.
- **3. HTML Web resource:** The map displayed in the dashboard is an HTML Web resource. An HTML page was written to post CRM data to a Bing map representing each plant as a pushpin.

### **Extending processes**

Dynamics CRM processes (workflows and dialogs) can also be extended using custom code. These extensions appear as new steps available in the list of steps when creating or modifying a process. Examples of workflow extensions may include:

- Record sharing: To automatically share records with other users when certain criteria are met
- Add to campaign: To automatically add records to specified campaigns when defined criteria are met
- Team alerts: To notify the members of a team (for records that are team-owned)
- Advanced assignment and escalation rules: To apply advanced filtering rules to the assignment or escalation of records

### Caution

At the time of this writing, workflow extensions can only be used in Dynamics CRM On-Premise (they cannot be used in Dynamics CRM Online).

#### FIGURE 19.7



### Summary

The customization options we cover in this chapter provide the ability to manage picklists (or option sets) that appear on multiple forms, create queues for managing and distributing workload, provide visibility into Dynamics CRM on mobile devices, and create ad-hoc connections between records.

Also covered was the concept of further extending Dynamics CRM using components that are coded by a developer. The flexible customization framework included with Dynamics CRM means that nondevelopers can install and utilize custom-coded components as part of their customization responsibilities.

# CHAPTER 20

## Understanding the Development Options

**U** p until this point in the book, we have focused on customizing Dynamics CRM without coding. You have learned about the broad range of customization options that are available to you through the user interface. These options can be combined with "coding" options that range from simple to very sophisticated. This chapter introduces you to the development options without yet getting into writing code (which comes in later chapters). Later in the chapter we discuss the options for deploying a development environment — an important topic that is often overlooked.

Our goal in this chapter is to provide content to three audiences. First, for the system customizer who has no intention of writing code, our goal is to aid you in understanding the options so you can better partner with a developer when needed. Secondly, for administrators who want to do a bit of coding, we want to lay a foundation to prepare you to begin writing code yourself. Lastly, for the experienced developer, our objective is to familiarize you with the development options as well as some of the best practices for drawing the line between using the built-in tools and writing code.

A recurring theme you will hear in this chapter is the idea of "leveraging the framework." The idea is that most customization needs can be addressed through the user interface rather than writing code. Writing unnecessary code can result in customizations that are costly to implement and maintain. If you flipped directly to this chapter of the book without first understanding the customization framework available within Dynamics CRM, we strongly encourage you to first read through the preceding section of the book.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

- Understanding development terminology
- **Envisioning custom solutions**
- Selecting the best development tools for your project
- Setting up a development environment

### **Understanding Development Options**

As you have discovered in preceding chapters, there are a wide variety of ways available to extend the application without writing code. As you discover in this and subsequent chapters, a dizzying variety of options are available for extending Dynamics CRM by writing code (or by updating "code-like" files, such as XML). The concept of extending the functionality of Dynamics CRM is referred to as extensibility. Figure 20.1 illustrates the extensibility options.

As illustrated in the above diagram, there is a hierarchy of customization options available to organizations that use Dynamics CRM. A best practice is to leverage this hierarchy as you consider how you will plan to customize the application. If a simple option is available to achieve your desired ends, then this should typically be the approach that you take. This is commonly referred to as leveraging the framework, meaning that you should write as little code as possible when customizing Dynamics CRM. This approach has a number of benefits:

#### FIGURE 20.1

Extensibility options available in Dynamics CRM



- It keeps developers focused on their core competencies. Skilled developers are in demand. By enabling developers to focus on discrete areas of coding that specifically require their skills, they can deliver value on a larger number of projects.
- It lowers costs and speeds deployment. Customizing the application through the user interface is faster and easier to maintain than writing custom code.
- It is easier to upgrade or transport. Customizations made through the user interface will be supported in future versions of Dynamics CRM. These customizations are also compatible with both the Online and On-Premise versions.

### **Envisioning the possibilities**

Virtually anything can be accomplished using the supported methods for extending Dynamics CRM. In fact, the limitations have more to do with "how" things can and should be done rather than "what" can be done. This section provides a walk-through of some of the more advanced customizations available by writing code. Figure 20.2 is an illustration of a highly customized Dynamics CRM form using both custom code and user-interface-based customizations.

#### FIGURE 20.2

A Dynamics CRM form using a custom entity, customized Ribbon menu, Silverlight Web resource, HTML Web resource, a custom navigation bar item, plug-in for calculating aggregate values, and custom chart



This form includes the following customizations:

- **Custom entity.** The form is for a custom entity called Equipment. This is used for a manufacturer of custom equipment that needs to track each piece of equipment in Dynamics CRM from the time that it is ordered, through installation at the user site, through service incidents, and through final decommissioning.
- **Custom chart.** Users indicated a preference for a 3-D chart to show the service history for this type of product. The initial chart was developed as a stacked bar chart in Dynamics CRM and exported as an XML file. The XML was then edited using a standard text editor, and options were sent to render it as a 3-D chart. The XML was then reimported as a new chart.
- **HTML Web resource.** A custom flag was developed to show as red if the number of cases for this piece of equipment in the last 90 days is more than ten; yellow if the number is three to nine; and green if it is two or fewer. This Web resource uses a combination of HTML, FetchXML, and Jquery to interact with the user presenting the ability to zoom in for a recent list of parts that were installed on the piece of equipment.
- **Silverlight Web resource.** Data from the parent Account that this piece of equipment is related to is presented within a Silverlight form. This can also be been presented as an HTML Web resource or in an Iframe to a custom application.
- **Plug-in.** A custom plug-in was created to aggregate values from the parts entity. The add-in, a .dll file, is loaded into Dynamics CRM using the plug-in registration tool. This is custom .NET code that was registered to run whenever a new part is added with a status of "replacement."
- **Customized context sensitive ribbon.** A custom section was added to the ribbon that appears only when the Equipment form is being viewed. Buttons can be added to or removed from any ribbon menus. The buttons on this custom ribbon perform as follows:
  - Configurator: Launches a custom application, hosted on the Azure platform, that interacts with Dynamics CRM. Custom applications can be integrated within Dynamics CRM (such as the Silverlight component described above) or can be launched in separate windows with the Ribbon menu.
  - Production Report: Loads the production report for the organization by calling the URL for the report.
  - Schedule Installation and Schedule Training: This button open a new service activity form automatically populating the fields with the appropriate information about the customer, subject, and service type. This is accomplished by calling a JScript Web resource when the button is clicked. The JScript can use an Odata REST endpoint to populate the relevant fields with data.
  - Annual Maintenance Checklist: This uses a URL to open a dialog process. The dialog is customized based on the type of equipment. This is used by field service representatives to perform annual maintenance services on equipment.

This organization uses a SharePoint Wiki site to maintain documentation for the equipment that they manufacture. A separate Wiki library is maintained for each type of equipment. A link in the Navigation pane automatically links to the correct library by passing the equipment type as part of the URL (see Figure 20.3).

The above images and narratives provide some context for understanding the variety of ways in which you can customize Dynamics CRM. Combine this with what you have already learned in the book and you have an idea of the range of customizations that are possible when blending customizations available with and without writing code. This should also give you a sense that some customizations that require code are more difficult to develop than others. Even nondevelopers can usually learn enough about JScript and XML to handle many of these customizations without the assistance of a professional developer. On the other hand, developing custom applications using C#, Silverlight, and other professional development technologies usually requires the expertise of an experienced developer. With Dynamics CRM, however, a nondeveloper can lay much of the foundation first, and a developer can focus only on the "spot development" that is required to finish out a solution.

#### FIGURE 20.3

A custom Navigation pane link to a SharePoint Wiki site



### Understanding the fundamentals

If the concept of developing computer code is new to you, be warned that it brings with it a large, new vocabulary. Microsoft and other development companies are also constantly rolling out innovative new development systems and standards — so the vocabulary continues to expand. In this section, we will take a look at the fundamental items that you should understand as a Dynamics CRM administrator — even if you never intend to write a line of code. We also provide a glossary of a broad range of the terminology as a reference point.

#### Client-side and server-side customization

Customizations (or extensions) made to Dynamics CRM fall into one of two categories for the most part: client-side or server-side customizations. In Web applications, the term client refers to the computer (and, more specifically, the browser) that is being used to access a Web site, whereas server refers the computer that is hosting the Web site.

Client-side customizations are items that "run on the client." What this means is that computer code is passed to your Web browser (in the case of Dynamics CRM, the browser will always be Internet Explorer) and the browser executes the code. By running in the browser, client-side code allows Dynamics CRM to interact directly with the user. A simple example is adding the values in two fields together and storing the value in a third field (as illustrated in Figure 20.4). The value is calculated when the user tabs out of the second field and is instantly available in the third field. This code was written in a language called JScript. Client-side customizations run only when the user is interacting with the application. In our example of a calculated field, if the values in the first two fields were updated by a workflow, the value in the third field would not be updated because a user did not interact with Dynamics CRM to update the first two fields. Client-side customizations refer to any items that are sent to the browser for processing. Chapter 21 focuses on client-side customizations.

### Tip

In general, client-side customizations are a much easier starting point for new developers to work with than are server-side customizations.

#### FIGURE 20.4

A client-side customization that calculates the value in field 3 by adding the values in fields 1 and 2

 ► Tab
 Image: Constraint of the second second

When either of these fields are changed, and the user exits the field...

...the value of this field is automatically recalculated using Jscript.
In contrast, server-side customizations run only when the user submits a request to the server (that is, when a user submits a form or clicks a button) or when a condition on the server is met (for example, when a record in the database is updated). Server-side customizations can generally leverage a greater breadth and depth of development tools and options, but they are limited in that they cannot interact directly with the end user in real time. In our example from the previous paragraph, a server-side customization could run whenever a record is updated in the table; the customization would add the values in field 1 and field 2 and store the result in field 3. This server-side customization, however, would not run until the updated record is saved to the database — so users would not see the number calculated in real time as they interact with the form. Chapter 22 focuses on server-side customizations.

In recent years, the line between client-side and server-side has become increasingly blurred. For example, programming languages such as Silverlight include components that run on both the client and the server side. The Silverlight code that is running client-side can interact with the server, which then runs server-side code and sends updated data to the client.

## Caution

The terms client-side and server-side can appear with different suffixes that have different meanings. In general, the suffixes of customization or extensions (that is, client-side extensions) broadly refer to any customizations (even those that do not require code) that are run on the client. The suffixes programming, coding or development (meaning server-side development) specifically refer to computer code that runs either on the client or the server.

#### **Dynamics CRM development terminology**

Table 20.1 is a reference guide to the terminology you are likely to hear in relation to writing custom code to extend Dynamics CRM. This is intended to be a reference for nondevelopers or a starting point for developers who may be new to the Dynamics CRM extensibility framework. Keep in mind that entire books have been written on some of the terms in the list below, so the brief definitions only scratch the surface.

	Bynamics citri Bereiophient fermiology
Term	Definition
.NET Framework	This is a software framework developed by Microsoft. It allows applications to be developed in multiple languages and deployed to the Web, computers, mobile phones, and other devices.
AJAX	Asynchronous JavaScript and XML (AJAX) is a set of client-side Web development methods that enable applications to interact with users. It allows data to be exchanged between a browser and a server, which allows Web applications to run faster.
Application Ribbons	Ribbon menus seen at the top of the Dynamics CRM interface. Also known as Ribbon menus, these were introduced with Microsoft Office 2007

Dynamics CRM Development Terminology

#### **TABLE 20.1**

continued

<b>TABLE 20.1</b> (c	continued)		
Term	Definition		
Asynchronous	In the case of Dynamics CRM, this refers to processes (such as workflows) that run independently of other processes. A Dynamics CRM process that runs asynchronously waits for system resources to become available — as a result it does not interact directly with the user and may take a period of time to begin and complete running.		
Client Extensions	In Dynamics CRM, the client extensions components refer to the site map (the navigation structure) and the application Ribbons (menu ribbon) that can be customized by exporting the components, editing their XML, and reimporting them.		
Client-Side	This term generally refers to programs that run "in the browser." All of the information needed for the program (such as HTML and JScript code) is sent to the "client" browser by a server and the browser runs the code, displaying the results in the browser window.		
Cascading Style Sheets (CSS)	CSS is a language that describes the look and feel of a Web page. The CSS Web resource in Dynamics CRM is intended to support the Web page (HTML) Web resources. You can create an HTML Web resource that references a CSS resource to derive its formatting settings.		
DHTML	Dynamic HTML refers to a set of technologies and browser features that make Web sites more interactive, so that a Web page can be dynamically updated after it is loaded (without having to load a new page).		
FetchXML	FetchXML (or "Fetch") is a querying language that was developed specifically for Dynamics CRM. FetchXML is used behind the scenes for some components of Dynamics CRM (such as charts and reports). It can also be embedded into JScript code to return query results.		
HTML	Hypertext Markup Language is the language of the Internet. Although the familiar ".htm" or ".html" suffix on Web pages has become less common as Web developers have switched to more dynamic Web content systems, HTML is still the language that pages are rendered in when they display in your browser window. Dynamics CRM enables you to load HTML as a Web resource that can then be displayed in forms or dashboards.		
Image Resources	Image resources are a customization component of Dynamics CRM. They include images in PNG, GIF, ICO, JPG format. Image resources can be displayed as icons in the navigation pane, on forms or in dashboards. They can also be included in HTML Web resources.		
ISV	Independent Software Vendor refers to third parties that develop and sell applications. In the case of Dynamics CRM, ISVs sell add-on components that extend the core functionality. Dynamics CRM On-Premise includes an "ISV folder" that allows third-party applications to be installed on the Dynamics CRM Web server. However, this option is not available for Dynamics CRM Online implementations and is expected to be deprecated in future versions of Dynamics CRM On-Premise. We recommend the use of Azure to manage applications.		
Jquery	Jquery is a library that extends JavaScript (or JScript) with user interaction and animation capabilities.		
JScript / JavaScript	JScript is the client-side coding language supported in Dynamics CRM. Many other programming languages and methods can be integrated with or accessed from JScript such as Jquery, AJAX, and FetchXML. JScript and JavaScript were developed by two different organizations (Microsoft and Netscape); over time they have converged and are almost synonymous.		

Term	Definition		
JSON	JavaScript Object Notation is based on the JavaScript programming language and is typically used to transfer data from a server to a browser — similar to XML.		
LINQ	Language Integrated Query is a Microsoft method for including queries in code. LINQ queries can be embedded in computer programs (such as C#) and can be run against data in SQL — including Dynamics CRM or SharePoint data.		
OData	Open data protocol is an open-source standard for reading and updating databases using only parameters appended to a URL.		
Plug-In	In Dynamics CRM a plug-in is a compiled computer program (with a .dll extension) that is started when an event is triggered. This event, for example, can be the creation of a record, or updating a field. The event is not "fired" until the database is updated — so plug-ins do not interact directly with the user.		
REST	Representational State Transfer is an approach to developing Web services (see definition below). It was developed more recently than SOAP (see definition below) and focuses on using protocols that are simpler and more established than SOAP. REST can simplify application development and speed network traffic, but in some cases SOAP may be a better approach for reasons of security or detailed data transmission.		
REST endpoint	This is a "point" at which a REST service is available to communicate with other services across the Internet. It is generally expressed as a URL.		
Sandbox	In development, a sandbox is often another name for an environment in which developers can write and test code that is isolated from the production environment.		
Sandbox Service	In Dynamics CRM 2011, the sandbox service was introduced. This is a service that runs on the Dynamics CRM Server (Online or On-Premise) that enables custom plug-ins to be registered and to run on the server.		
SDK	The software development kit (SDK) is a collection of tools, documents, and code samples used as a guide for developers to learn how to develop extensions for Dynamics CRM.		
Server-Side	This term refers to processes or code that run on the server-side of a Web application. In contrast to client-side, this code is never loaded into the browser and runs exclusively on the server. As such, this code does not interact directly with the user.		
Silverlight	Silverlight is a development platform included in Visual Studio. It includes a plug-in the works with multiple browsers. It is similar to Adobe Flash in that it provides a strong set of interactive capabilities the enables interaction with users on Web sites.		
Site Map	In Dynamics CRM, the site map is an XML file that contains the navigation system for the Dynamics CRM Web site. The site map appears in the list of solution components under the heading Client Extensions. The site map can be customized by exporting it, modifying the XML, and reimporting it.		
SOAP	Simple Object Access Protocol is a way for computer programs to communicate with one another over the Internet.		
SSIS	SQL Server Integration Services is an application that enables data to be extracted (exported) from one system, transformed (values can be aggregated, subtotaled, and so on), and loaded (imported) into another system.		

continued

<b>TABLE 20.1</b> (c	continued)
Term	Definition
SSRS	SQL Server Reporting Services is report generation software included with SQL Server. SSRS reports are rendered as Web pages. This is the reporting tool that is used to render reports for Dynamics CRM.
Synchronous	In the case of Dynamics CRM, this refers to processes (such as dialogs) that run immediately and/or interactively with other processes. A Dynamics CRM process that runs synchronously executes immediately without waiting for system resources to become available. As a result, it can immediately calculate fields or interact with the user.
URI	A uniform resource identifier (URI) identifies the name of a resource on the Internet. This enables the resource to be accessed over the Internet and, potentially, to be integrated with other resources.
VBScript	VBScript is a client-side language for Web sites that was developed by Microsoft. It is not supported in Dynamics CRM.
Visual Studio	Microsoft Visual Studio is a suite of programming languages and tools. Visual Studio and its extensions can be used to develop Web applications, windows programs, SQL Server reports, and Web services in a variety of programming languages.
Web Resource	Web resources are components that can be uploaded to the Dynamics CRM server to extend the application. This includes image resources, script, HTML, Silverlight, and other resources. All Web resources are assigned a URL. Web resources are only available to licensed CRM users.
Web Services	Web services methods allow computer programs to share information over the Internet. For example, an accounting application may use Web Services to update data in Dynamics CRM. SOAP and REST are different approaches to developing Web services.
Windows Azure	The Windows Azure platform provides a way to build and run applications, including underlying data, in the cloud. Included is SQL Azure, a cloud-hosted version of SQL Server.
Windows Azure AppFabric	This cloud-based technology enables applications to authenticate, connect, and exchange data across the Internet regardless of where they are hosted. It includes the Windows Azure AppFabric Service Bus.
Windows Communication Foundation (WCF)	WCF is a framework used to send messages from one service endpoint to another. It is included in many of the technologies associated with Dynamics CRM including WF, Silverlight, and Windows Azure.
Windows Workflow Foundation (WF)	WF is a technology from Microsoft for managing workflows. It is included with the .NET framework. Workflows can be designed in Visual Studio. WF is used to run workflows built in Dynamics CRM.
Workflow Extension	A workflow extension is server-side code used to extend the functionality of workflows in Dynamics CRM by making more steps available that can be added to workflows.
WSDL	Web Services Definition Language is a language for describing Web services. It is based on XML.
XAML	XAML is a language derived from XML. In the case of Dynamics CRM, it is used to describe workflows.

Term	Definition
XSL	XSL is a style sheet similar to CSS (see definition) that describes how an XML document should be styled.
XML	Extensible markup language (XML) is a language used to exchange data. It has been the foundation of many related languages (such as XAML, XSL, WSDL, and others). XML is a hierarchical language that is well suited to organizing information. The language can be thought of as an outline, with each topic and subtopic in the outline having a beginning and ending tag. XML is available as a Web resource in Dynamics CRM solutions. Using XML as a Web resource is not a good option for data that changes frequently. However, it can be a helpful way to store data that changes only periodically.

#### Using the Software Development Kit (SDK)

The Software Development Kit (SDK) is a set of documentation provided by Microsoft that explains how to extend the application using programming and other available tools. It includes code examples, references, tutorials, and other information to aid you as you learn to extend the interface. In general, the SDK is designed for developers to aid in learning to extend Dynamics CRM and to serve as a reference. However, many examples included in the SDK are good learning tools for non-developers. The SDK is an important part of your Dynamics CRM administrator's library.

The SDK can be downloaded from Microsoft at no cost. To find the SDK, go to www. microsoft.com/downloads and search for CRM 2011 SDK. You can also check the Web site for the book, where we will maintain a link to the SDK: www.dynamicscrmbible.com.

# Making smart development decisions

With such a diverse array of customization options available to you, it can be difficult to select the right tools for any given project. As we have pointed out several times in this chapter, the first rule when deciding how to approach your project is to "leverage the platform" — that is, do as much as you can without writing custom code.

Once you have come to the conclusion that custom code is required for your project, your next decision is to decide what kind of coding technologies should be used. In large part, this will be dictated based on user requirements. You should also, however, consider the strengths of the team (or individual) that will be delivering the code. If the individual is strong in JScript and Jquery, but has no experience with Silverlight, then that should play a role in your decision making. While it is optimal to extend Dynamics CRM by using other Microsoft technologies, it is also an option to use other development platforms too. With that said, if Dynamics CRM is a mission critical application, we strongly urge you to consider adopting the Microsoft suite of development tools to manage your customizations.

In short, you should first leverage the strengths of the platform. Then, once you move into code-based customizations, you should seek to leverage the strengths of the team performing the customizations.

#### Avoiding unsupported customizations

Dynamics CRM does not support some methods for customization that are familiar to a number of developers. It is important to understand what the unsupported methods are in order to avoid making customizations that could cause Dynamics CRM to become unstable or that could cause incompatibilities with future versions of Dynamics CRM (making upgrades time-consuming and expensive).

SQL Server is the database engine used by Dynamics CRM. Developers who are familiar with SQL Server may be tempted to make direct updates to the tables and other information in the Dynamics CRM database. However, making updates of any kind directly to the SQL Server database (including simply updating data) is unsupported. Rather than directly writing to the SQL Database, you should use the methods outlined in the SDK to make updates. These methods are outlined in Chapters 20 through 22 of this book. Making changes directly to the SQL Server tables can result in serious issues with your instance of Dynamics CRM.

#### Tip

There are a few supported instances in which making changes to SQL Server tables is permissible. These are outlined in the Microsoft Knowledge Base (an online repository of articles for resolving issues with Microsoft software). Authorized Microsoft support personnel may also ask you to make changes to tables in certain cases. Other than that, you should refrain from making any changes directly to tables in SQL Server.

You also should not update the ASPX pages or other application files in the Web root folder of the Dynamics CRM application. These changes can cause issues with the performance of the application and can make upgrades difficult. Moreover, when Microsoft occasionally releases updates, the changes made to these files may be overwritten.

In general, the fundamental user interface for Dynamics CRM cannot be changed at this time. This includes the basic look and feel of the Ribbon menu, Navigation pane, usage of grids throughout the application, and the overall layout of forms. While some tweaking of the interface is possible through JScript or other means, these are not generally supported or recommended. Keep in mind that while the "skin" cannot be changed for these items, the "content" can be changed.

There are many opportunities to customize the user experience using JScript. Not all of these, however, are supported. Chapter 21 provides an introduction to JScript and other client-side customizations. However, if you will be spending significant time customizing Dynamics CRM with JScript, we urge you to familiarize yourself with the Dynamics CRM SDK (referenced earlier in this chapter) after you use this book to get up to speed with the basics. In general, directly accessing and manipulating the DOM using JScript is not supported.

#### **Developing for CRM Online usage**

Dynamics CRM On-Premise allows developers access to some customization methods that are not available when using Dynamics CRM Online. As a best practice, we recommend that businesses customize Dynamics CRM so that it can be used either online or on-premise. Technology industry analysts are predicting that a substantial portion of IT applications will be migrated to the cloud in the coming decade, so investing in an architecture that can be easily migrated to the cloud is a wise move. Customization methods available for CRM On-Premise that should be avoided because they are not supported in CRM Online include:

- Using SQL Filtered Views for Reports: Dynamics CRM includes the ability to develop custom reports. When using Dynamics CRM On-Premise, it is permissible to directly read the certain views in SQL Server in order to develop reports. In Dynamics CRM Online, however, the SQL Server database is not available for this kind of direct access. For this reason, we recommend using FetchXML queries to manage your report querying.
- Uploading Custom Workflow XAML Files: Workflows can be exported from Dynamics CRM and edited in Visual Studio. This approach can allow you to visually make changes to your workflow that you can't make through the Dynamics CRM user interface. The exported XAML file can then be loaded back into Dynamics CRM where it will run like any other workflow (although it can no longer be edited within Dynamics CRM). While this can deliver more options for customizing your workflows, it also is not supported in Dynamics CRM Online. We recommend creating custom workflow extensions that will run in either Dynamics CRM Online or On-Premise.

# Setting Up Development and Testing Environments

Most organizations that implement Dynamics CRM (or any new CRM solution) begin with an initial period of heavy customization prior to the time that any users are actively updating records. During this initial phase of customization, it is perfectly acceptable to have only a single instance of Dynamics CRM available.

Most organizations tend to continue to customize Dynamics CRM after the initial rollout. During this process of continuous improvement, it is important to establish an environment (and procedures) for development and testing that mitigate the risk that your production environment is disrupted with unexpected changes.

In this section, we look at the technologies, processes, and procedures for ensuring a safe and efficient development and testing strategy. Figure 20.5 illustrates a simplified view of the multiple instances of Dynamics CRM that are required for a robust development and testing environment. Some of the terminology in the diagram and that you may hear as you discuss this with your team is outlined below the diagram.

• **Development:** The development environment is sometimes shortened to DEV (in both verbal and written communications). The development instance of Dynamics CRM is where initial customizations are made by both systems customizers (nondevelopers) and by experienced developers. The environment includes the tools required for development (such as Visual Studio). Users do not access the development environment for day-to-day operations. It is not critical that the development environment exactly mirror the production environment — this is the job of the test environment.

#### FIGURE 20.5

A simplified view of development, test, and production instances of Dynamics CRM



- **Test:** The test environment is where all customizations are tested prior to putting them into production. Changes are migrated from the development environment to the test environment and are tested there. It is important that the test environment very closely mirror the production environment so that customizations can be tested in exactly the same manner as they will work in production. The test environment is constantly refreshed to mirror the data and environmental settings of the production environment. No customizations should be made directly to the test environment; they should only be migrated from the development environment.
- **Production:** The production environment is sometimes shortened to PROD (in both verbal and written communications). The production environment is where actual work is getting done with Dynamics CRM. As a result, it is a highly dynamic environment with records constantly being updated, created, and deleted. Once testing of customizations is completed in the test environment, they can be migrated to the production environment. No changes should ever be made directly to the production environment.

Setting up development and test environments is a bit like making sure that your computers are backed up regularly. Businesses don't tend to budget the time and expense for it until they experience a failure. The need for this type of environment is even more important when more than one individual will be making customizations to Dynamics CRM.

# **Paved with Good Intentions**.

Examples of the need for not only a development environment but also process and governance around managing changings to Dynamics CRM are easy to find. In one recent case, a business completed customizing an XRM application that significantly extended the capabilities of Dynamics CRM for global users. One of the key users of the new XRM application was a technically inclined individual who requested an administrator account so he could make some of his own customizations. The well-intended manager of the project granted him this access level. Within a short time, most of the customizations had been supplanted with poorly designed forms that no longer met the long-term needs of the organization. As a result, much of the value that the business had invested in was lost.

Development teams long ago learned the importance of setting up processes and environments to avoid exactly these kinds of issues. Extensible frameworks like Dynamics CRM (and others, such as SharePoint) suffer from this issue regularly because they are so easy for "the business" to customize that they often end up being managed by individuals unfamiliar with the risks. Learn a lesson at the expense of the businesses above and take the time to configure your development environment correctly, and establish processes, before there is a meltdown.

# Establishing processes, procedures, and governance

Few organizations want to think about processes, procedures, and governance at the beginning of their CRM projects. In the excitement to quickly set up and become productive with a new piece of technology, these steps seem to be a distraction. Sadly, this issue is often amplified by organizations that are anxious to sell software licenses (choose your partner carefully).

Establishing policies for rolling out customizations does not need to be a laborious and overly complex undertaking. You should establish a leadership team that reviews and prioritizes all customizations before work is begun (this can be a team of just a few individuals for small businesses). Documentation should be drawn up that includes a "pre-flight checklist" prior to rolling out any new customizations (and each individual should be held accountable to their part in working through the list — not just the project manager). You should include a decision about how your development environment will be set up and what the rules will be related to making customizations as a part of this process. You should also determine how your customizations will be rolled out (see the discussion of managed solutions in Chapter 16 for some thoughts on this).

#### On the Web Site

Check the book Web site (www.dynamicscrmbible.com) for an example "pre-flight checklist" that can be used to aid you in rolling out customizations for your Dynamics CRM implementation.

# Testing: Plan Your Work and Work Your Plan.

Large organizations are familiar with the concepts related to testing computer software. Smaller organizations that are unfamiliar with best practices for testing can often run into bad surprises that don't appear until days, weeks, or even months after a change has been rolled out. Organizations that adopt Dynamics CRM may think that an environment that can be customized without writing code will protect them from making mistakes, but this is not true.

Take, for instance, a workflow that is developed by a savvy administrator. Without realizing it, the administrator may create a workflow that calls itself repetitively. This can potentially result in mistakenly sending out e-mails or updating records. Or, the workflow may simply stop working (Dynamics CRM includes safeguards that stop workflows that loop endlessly) without the user knowing.

A full discussion of a testing plan is beyond the scope of this book. But one helpful rule of thumb is to carefully think through two areas: (1) What is every conceivable way that a customization can be used, and what is every conceivable path that it can take; (2) What could possibly go wrong with a customization. If you start with those items in mind and develop a checklist to test every possible outcome, you'll be on your way to a thorough approach to testing that will mitigate the risk of unforeseen consequences.

# Using the right development tools

As you may expect, Dynamics CRM has strong ties to the Microsoft development toolset. If you plan extend Dynamics CRM by writing code, we strongly encourage you to invest in Visual Studio and related tools. Here are some suggestions for a development toolbox that are based directly on your budget and how deep you plan to go with customization:

- **Client-Side Only:** If you plan to customize XML files and update JScript, but you're not planning on developing any compiled code, then some free resources should work just fine for you. You will need a good text editor as the most important tool. You can start with something as simple as Notepad (the free text editor that comes with Windows). However, we recommend a text editor that can format your code for you (making writing and debugging code much easier) and that can work with XSD files to help you with intellisense for your code. Free text editors with these capabilities include Notepad++, XML Notepad, and Visual Web Developer Express. This latter option is our recommended free option and is downloadable from Microsoft.
- Server-Side Coding: If you plan to write code that can be compiled and executed on the server (server-side code) or if you plan to develop significant Web resources (such as Silverlight, HTML, or JScript resources) then you should consider an investment in a professional development environment. This includes the most recent version of Visual Studio and may also include a development version of SQL Server.
- Enterprise Development: Enterprises with multiple developers that will work on code at the same time should consider a team development environment and the appropriate tools. We discuss this in more detail in the section "Configuring an enterprise class development environment."

# Planning and configuring your environment

The best approach to configuring a development and testing environment will vary depending upon the size and complexity of your organization and your goals. In this section, we will break recommendations down based on three different levels of complexity, as illustrated in Figure 20.6. The costs for a simple environment are relatively low, but it carries a higher risk of downtime.

#### FIGURE 20.6



Time and risks associated with various development environment configurations

When most organizations plan their development environment, they assume that the level of sophistication should be in alignment with the number of users. In reality, your development environment will have more to do with the complexity and criticality of your Dynamics CRM implementation. We have worked with relatively small CRM projects with fewer than 100 users that have a mission critical role and a complex set of customizations that required a sophisticated development environment. Conversely, we have also worked with some organizations with thousands of users, but that are leveraging a very simple setup that can suffice with a mid-tier environment. Keep that thought in mind as you review the recommendations. We have also included a fourth variation for organizations that are using Dynamics CRM Online.

#### **On the Web Site**

This section provides some high-level recommendations for setting up and automating development and testing environments. A complete how-to guide for setting up these environments is beyond the scope of this book. We will, however, post helpful links and information on the Web site: www.dynamicscrmbible.com.

#### Configuring an entry level development environment

An entry level development environment is generally best for organizations that have a simple Dynamics CRM deployment (very few code-based customizations) and has one one or two individuals who are permitted to make any customizations to the system. In general, this is also a better solution for small businesses with fewer than 50 users of Dynamics CRM because a small amount of downtime across a large group of users can be costly. In general, these organizations will not be using "developers" to regularly update their Dynamics CRM implementation — most updates will be made through the user interface and not by writing code. After you have programmers regularly making updates to your Dynamics CRM implementation, we highly recommend that you move to a mid-tier or enterprise class development environment.

Organizations meeting the above description can set up a virtual environment with a copy of Dynamics CRM Server and all of their customizations installed. A virtual environment can be hosted on a server or on your local PC. Virtual environments also isolate your development environment from the production version of Dynamics CRM — giving you a safe area to test changes. After you are satisfied with your changes, you can export them as a solution and import them into your production environment. If you are working with an outside partner to handle most of your customizations, then they may be able to host a virtual environment of this type for you. This virtual development environment is illustrated in Figure 20.7.

Keep in mind that, although this development environment is simple, process and procedure is still critical — perhaps even more important than in a more sophisticated development environment. Changes should always be made and tested in your development environment and then migrated to production. Configuration changes should never be made directly to your production server. After changes are migrated to your server, they should again be tested immediately after publishing them.

#### FIGURE 20.7

A virtual development environment for simple Dynamics CRM implementations



#### **On the Web Site**

A number of different software options are available to create a virtual environment including VMWare, VirtualBox, and Microsoft Hyper-V Server. We will include links to these options on the site. Another virtual option, Virtual PC, is free from Microsoft and is simple to set up. However, at the time of this writing, Virtual PC is not capable of running a 64-bit operating system (which is required for Dynamics CRM Server), so you will want to go with one of the aforementioned virtual options. We will post links to virtual environments on www.dynamicscrmbible.com.

In the past, Microsoft has made a virtual copy of Dynamics CRM freely available for download for testing and development purposes at no cost. This version often includes some of their "solution accelerators" (free add-ons) that may be interesting for your team to test to see if they might play a role in your Dynamics CRM project. We anticipate that they will continue this practice with Dynamics CRM 2011. If not, they also generally make it available for subscribers to TechNet (a service from Microsoft that permits customers to download software for development purposes at a very low cost). Although the configuration of this virtual copy may not exactly mirror your production environment, it will be far easier for a small business to configure and install than performing a full installation in a virtual environment.

Some organizations of this size manage to get by with no "true" development environment. They test their customizations out as thoroughly as possible before publishing them, and immediately retest them in production. While this may suffice in some cases, it is not optimal and runs a high risk of unanticipated problems.

#### Configuring a mid-tier development environment

This configuration suits the purposes of the vast majority of businesses that have implemented Dynamics CRM. It is designed for businesses that have more than one system customizer, with one or two developers regularly deploying new code, and a fairly complex configuration supporting 50 users or more. For those organizations that will have multiple developers working on complex customizations as a team, we recommend moving up to the enterprise class environment. For most others, the mid-tier environment will suffice.

#### **On the Web Site**

Check www.dynamicscrmbible.com for links to Web articles with detailed information on how to set up this type of environment.

As with the entry level environment, this environment can also be run using a single virtual server. Unlike the entry level environment, however, you should set up this environment to closely mirror your production environment and to allow multiple users to access the development environment concurrently. Specifically, we recommend the following configuration:

- Microsoft Hyper-V Server: You need to install this on a server at your location or hosted by a partner.
- Server OS: You should install the same version of Windows Server in your development environment as you are using to host Dynamics CRM Server this includes the same patches and software.
- Server Software: You should install Dynamics CRM Server, SQL Server (including SQL Reporting Services and SQL Server Integration Services if you are using that), SharePoint, and any other software that you are running in your production environment. Server software should be installed manually (rather than downloading a preconfigured server as with the entry level environment). All of these should be running the same versions and updates as you are running in production. You may install all of this software on the same virtual server. In this sense, it will not be an exact mirror of your production environment, but this balances the costs and benefits associated with a mid-tier environment.
- Development Software: Development software should also be installed in the development environment. This includes Visual Studio, the Dynamics CRM SDK and Azure development extensions (such as the Azure SDK, Azure AppFabric SDK, and Azure Tools for Visual Studio), and any other development tools that your team wishes to use. Again, this means your development environment will not precisely mirror production, but it will provide a close approximation at a reasonable cost.
- Testing Software: You may want to install other software required to fully test your customizations. This may include Microsoft Office (including Outlook) and the Dynamics CRM Outlook client. Once again, this is not an exact mirror of your production environment, but it will be very similar.

When configuring your development environment, you can set up two separate instances of Dynamics CRM (because Dynamics CRM is multitenant, it is possible to run two instances on

the same server). The first instance can be used for development and the second can be used for testing. The test instance can be removed and refreshed with production data periodically. This ensures that your DEV/TEST environment closely mirrors your PROD environment.

From a process standpoint, you should follow the same basic steps as defined in the entry level environment. Customizations should be made only to the development environment, and after testing, be migrated into production (or first to testing if you choose to set up a TEST instance on your DEV virtual server). Figure 20.8 illustrates this environment. Keep in mind that your development environment will not exactly mirror your production environment — so retesting in production is still critical.

#### FIGURE 20.8

A mid-tier development environment with a single virtual server



If you have multiple individuals who may be making customizations concurrently, then it will be important that you have proper controls in place to avoid potential conflicts. You can manage work by clearly communicating which portions of the application each customizer or developer is working on at any given time. Keep in mind, however, that there can still be conflicts. Clear communication, disciplined processes, and an understanding of the solution architecture included with Dynamics CRM 2011 (Chapter 16) will help to mitigate the risks of conflict.

#### Configuring an enterprise class development environment

This configuration is focused on organizations with complex configurations that must support multiple concurrent developers. The first priority for an enterprise development and testing environment is to mitigate the risks of any problems with the production environment. In these situations, Dynamics CRM is a mission critical application supporting a large proportion of the individuals across the organization. A short period of downtime can result in lost profits, dissatisfied customers, or even legal risks such as exposing confidential data.

An enterprise class development environment will use at least three different environments — development, testing, and production. The development environment is optimized for rapidly developing new customizations, with relatively little effort focused on mirroring the production environment. The testing environment is designed to very closely match the production environment so that testing will result in near certainty of the quality of customizations prior to migrating them to production.

The largest enterprises often include a fourth development environment called the staging area. Changes are migrated from the test environment to the staging area as a final testing step so that the migration can be replayed into production to reduce the risk of unexpected issues. As a result, the staging area should mirror the production environment as precisely as possible.

Environments of this complexity can be configured in any of a number of different ways. Figure 20.9 depicts one potential approach. As with the other environments, all customizations should be made to the development environment only. If customizations fail in the testing environment, then they should be revised in development and remigrated to testing. The development and testing environments should be configured as follows:

- Development. In general, this should be configured similarly to the mid-tier development environment. However, you should also provide access to source control and team development tools (such as the Microsoft Team Foundation Server) to better support concurrent development and proper version management for code-driven customizations. Alternatively, development tools may be installed on individual developer machines and on a developer server (for team tools), as illustrated in Figure 20.9.
- Test. The test environment should be configured as close to the production environment as possible. This includes setting up individual servers for related server software (such as SQL Server) that reflects the setup of the production environment. Data and systems configurations from the production environment should regularly be used to refresh the test environment so the environment will very closely mirror the production environment to ensure that testing produces the same results that will be experienced in production.

In the case of enterprise class development environments, governance and process are critical. Procedures should be developed, documented, and followed carefully. Specifically, a plan for migrating customizations from development to test should be documented and verified with each iterative update. Processes for testing should be documented and also verified prior to migration to production. In addition, processes for updating the test environment to properly mirror the production environment should also be documented and followed. In complex enterprises, frustrations more often have to do with a lack of discipline around documenting and following processes than they do with technology failures — avoiding these issues requires strong technology project leadership.



An enterprise class development environment



Large enterprises often take additional steps to automate their development and testing environments. Custom automation can be developed around rebuilding the test environment from production to ensure that it is always an accurate representation of production. This process can either be fully automated or partially automated using available tools and documenting appropriate supporting procedures. Continuous integration software can also be employed to speed the testing process. Continuous integration is the process of regularly integrating changes made by multiple developers into a single test environment. This can aid in identifying potential errors prior to entering a formalized testing phase. If your organization is already using continuous integration software, or if you are experiencing bottlenecks during software testing, then you may want to consider using a continuous integration approach in your development environment.

#### On the Web Site

Microsoft and third-party vendors have released a number of tools that improve the speed and quality of development in Dynamics CRM 4.0. Dynamics CRM 2011 includes improvements that will remove the need for many of these tools. However, we expect to see improvements to existing tools and new tools become available to aid with development in Dynamics CRM 2011. Check the site for links to these tools: www.dynamicscrmbible.com.

#### Configuring a CRM Online development environment

At the time of this writing, Dynamics CRM Online does not yet include a method to rapidly deploy a robust development or testing environment. We expect to see this emerge in future versions of Dynamics CRM (or perhaps even in updates made to Dynamics CRM 2011 Online). In the meantime, for businesses using Dynamics CRM Online, this section is designed to offer some helpful suggestions.

Your organization can deploy a development environment similar to the one described in the three preceding scenarios. Because this development environment would be an On-Premise deployment of Dynamics CRM, there would be some significant variances between the development and production environments. As such, your organization will want to take measures to make sure that customizations are tested for Dynamics CRM Online prior to migrating them. Keep in mind if you set up a DEV/TEST environment on-premise (either on physical on virtual servers) and you are using CRM Online, then some methods of customization will be available to you that are not available in CRM Online — so you will not be able to fully test your customizations until they have been installed in a CRM Online environment

To fully test customizations, some organizations may choose to purchase a second copy of Dynamics CRM Online specifically for testing purposes (perhaps using fewer user licenses than the production environment). Changes can be migrated from DEV to TEST to ensure that they are compatible with Dynamics CRM Online before being migrated into production.

Once Microsoft provides a way to rapidly "mirror" a Dynamics CRM Online production environment into an exact image for development and testing purposes, it will save significant time for businesses that require this kind of environment. This will present another compelling reason to migrate applications to the cloud using Dynamics CRM Online — maintenance of these environments will be significantly simplified.

# **Summary**

The idea of "leveraging the framework" has been a recurring theme throughout this chapter. Another way to put this is, "if you're a hammer, everything looks like a nail." If you're approaching Dynamics CRM as a developer, then it may not be readily apparent to you that many problems that have traditionally required code to solve can now be solved without writing any code at all. Before diving deep into learning how to write customizations that extend Dynamics CRM, make sure you understand what can be accomplished without writing code. This knowledge will be a tremendous boost to accelerating the speed and success of your Dynamics CRM project. As you begin to explore extending Dynamics CRM using programming tools, take the time to get clarity on your desired outcomes. Use some of the methods described in earlier chapters of the book to document your requirements. Once the "blueprint" has been written, determine which members of the team will provide which skills and customizations. As a model driven development framework, much of the "design" work can be done by an individual who does not have any development skills at all. Development work can then be plugged into the design.

Take the time to understand which customizations are not supported. People naturally gravitate to familiar work habits. In the case of development, this can mean making customizations to Dynamics CRM or to the underlying SQL Server database that can result in causing the system to become unstable. If working with Dynamics CRM On-Premise, assume that you are developing for Dynamics CRM Online. This will not only make your code more portable but will result in customizations that are supported by Microsoft (since it is relatively difficult to make unsupported changes to Dynamics CRM Online).

After you begin to make the investment in "deep" customizations to Dynamics CRM, it is important that you set up a development environment that can handle the complexity of your needs. Programming code can sometimes deliver unexpected results, so having an environment that is isolated from your production environment is important. In addition to a development environment, you should invest the time to document and follow disciplined development processes that mitigate the risk of costly downtime to your Dynamics CRM users.

# CHAPTER

# Working with Client-Side Customizations

n this chapter, we take a look at how to write client-side code and work with other customizations on the client-side of Dynamics CRM. We provide some examples for the newcomer to coding and we offer some ideas for experienced programmers to get them moving along with client-side customizations in Dynamics CRM.

For Web applications, the term client refers to the user computer that is viewing the Web application, and the term server refers to the computer that hosts the Web application.

In Dynamics CRM, the term client-side refers to information that is sent to your browser for processing. Customizations that are made to the client-side include any items that are processed by the browser. This may include Web pages or it may include computer code. Computer code that runs client-side (it is run by the browser) can interact directly with the user. For example, it can pop up a message when a user enters an incorrect value into a field. Server-side, on the other hand, refers to code that only runs on the server and is never loaded to your browser.

The line between server-side and client-side is becoming increasingly blurred. For example, client-side code can send a request to the server that causes server-side code to execute, which, in turn, sends more information to the client to display in a popup window without opening a new Web page.

For purposes of this chapter, we will focus on customizations that can be made to Dynamics CRM without having to use a development environment (like Visual Studio). We leave those more traditional computer programming concepts to Chapter 22.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Getting	started	with	coding
---------	---------	------	--------

Using code without writing code

Working with other client-side customizations

If you're a CRM administrator with little or no experience with coding, but you'd like to dive in and work with some code, then spend plenty of time reading this chapter and working through the code samples. If your focus is on learning what the possibilities are and how to communicate your requirements to a professional developer, then preview this chapter and the next one to gain an understanding of the concepts.

### Tip

Much of the content in this chapter is covered extensively in the SDK. The SDK, however, is focused on a technical audience. In this chapter, we focus on simple examples focusing on common tasks to get you started. Use this chapter to form a foundation. After you are ready to go deeper with developing client-side customizations, use the Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 SDK (freely downloadable from Microsoft) to take the next step.

# **Getting Started with Coding in CRM**

In this section, we're going to dive right into writing JScript code and HTML code. We present some simple examples that serve no purpose other than to ground you in the fundamentals, and we'll share some practical examples that you can use in your Dynamics CRM implementation to make users more productive.

This is by no means a comprehensive reference on client-side coding, but it is a good starting point for the newcomer. If you want to go deeper, we recommend working through the SDK (see Appendix B or the site www.dynamicscrmbible.com). You can also invest in books on HTML, JScript, and related topics — and a few Web searches will produce dozens of good tutorials and sample code sites on the Internet.

# **Understanding Web resources**

Web resources are components that you use to add client-side code to Dynamics CRM. Web resources are available within the customizations area of Dynamics CRM as illustrated in Figure 21.1. When you add a Web resource file, it is hosted on the server with Dynamics CRM, so there is no need to host the code on a separate server. Web resources can include HTML files, CSS files (that are usually used in combination with HTML files), JScript libraries, image files, and Silverlight (discussed in the next chapter). We provide examples of creating Web resources throughout this chapter.

One significant benefit of Web resources is that you can load them once, and they can be reused many times in your Dynamics CRM system. For example, you may load a Web resource that formats phone numbers. You can load this Web resource only once and use it across the Lead, Account, Contact, and any other entities that use phone numbers.

# **Understanding events**

To understand how code-based customizations work in Dynamics CRM, it is important to first understand the idea of events. Events are "triggers" that can cause code to be launched.

If you worked through the chapter on processes in Dynamics CRM, then you're familiar with the idea of events. With processes, an event is something that happens with a record (for example, a new record is created, or a field is changed) or something a user intentionally triggers (an on-demand workflow). When writing client-side code, you work with a different set of events, so it's time to take a bit deeper dive into events.

Once you've read about the different events, you can check out the "Hello world" example in the "Writing JScript" section of this chapter for some examples you can quickly run to understand exactly how events work.

#### Form onLoad and onSave events

Form events are triggered based on the status of a form. In Dynamics CRM, you can set up code that runs immediately after a form is loaded or immediately after the user clicks the save button (or save and close button) on a form. To run code when a form is loaded, you call it from the onLoad event. Similarly, the onSave event is used to execute code after clicking one of the save buttons. Some practical uses of form events include:

#### FIGURE 21.1

Favorites 😁 🔹 🚄 Custo	mization - Microsoft   🎿 Solution: Default : 🎯   🖏 Export Solution   🐉 Import Tr	- Micr 🗙 🔤	slations   👔 Publish All Cu	▼ 🖃 🖶 ▼ Page ▼ S Istomizations 🐁 Actions ▼	afety▼ Tools▼ ♥♥▼
Solution: Default	es				
lution: Default Solution	Component Type Web Resource		View Customizable		
🕈 Information	Rear Delete APublish	Show Dependencies	Managed Properties More A	ctions *	
Components	Display Name A	Name	Type	Customizable	Description
Contion Sets	Copyconito	Col_copyconizo	on tormat orima	nagca nac	
Client Extensions	CopyIcon32	cSi_CopyIcon32	PNG format Unma	naged True	
Web Resources	Dialog Launcher	new_DialogLauncher	Script (JScript) Unma	naged True	This script will laur
足, Processes	experiogixLauncher	c5i_experlogixLauncher	Script (JScript) Unma	naged True	js
+ Plug-in Assemblies	Format Phone Number	cSi_FormatPhone	Script (JScript) Unma	naged True	Pass this routine a
📃 Sdk Message Processin	Functions for querying the CRM d	new_CRMQuery	Script (JScript) Unma	naged True	Use this library to (
Service Endpoints	📓 Hello World	new_HelloWorld	Script (/Script) Unma	naged True	This is my first Jscri
22 Dashboards	Hello World HTML page	new_HTMLHelloWorld	Web Page (HTML) Unma	naged True	
Reports	Image Uploader	c5i_ImageLoader	Web Page (HTML) Unma	naged True	This HTML process
Article Templater	Map Icon - 16×16	c5i_MapIcon16	GIF format Unma	naged True	Used for mapping
Contract Templates	Mileage	new_Mileage	Script (JScript) Unma	naged True	Calculate the cost
E-mail Templates	Picture of a manufacturing plant	cSi_PlantPic	PNG format Unma	naged True	
🔄 Mail Merge Templates	Plant Management Getting Started	. c5i PlantGetStartedPane	Web Page (HTML) Unma	naged True	This is the aettina
🗑 Security Roles	Ouick Account	new OuickAcct	Script (JScript) Unma	naged True	Ouick fundtions to
[16] Field Security Profiles	Shutdown Planner	cSi ShutdownPlanner	Web Page (HTML) Linma	naged True	The buttons on th
	a Shutdown Score	c5i_ShutdownScore	PNG format Linma	naged True	ine buccono on an
	Situation Score	c5i_SilverLightBSS	Silverlight (XAP) Linma	naged True	
	a Social Icon	cSi SocialIcon	GIE format Unma	naged True	This icon is used to
	CD Count	Si_SUGalcon	Olic formation United	rageu True	Chara Daint Casada
	SP search	CSI_SPSearch	PNGTURNat Unita	rageu rrue	sharePoint search
	witterreeuniML	col_nwitterneed	vveo Page (HIML) Unma	nageo irue	This uses HTML to
	4	Chi PiliPasdarVAD	Suberlight IVAD Linna	haned line	•
	1 20 of 20 (1 calacted)				Id. d. Page 1

The Web resources list in the customizations area of Dynamics CRM

- When a user initially loads a form for an Account record, you may wish to check the credit status for the customer and show a warning if they are on credit hold. The onLoad event is the perfect time to do this. When the form is loaded the code runs, and if the credit status is "on hold," then an alert dialog box can be programmed to pop up, letting the user know about the status.
- Before a Lead record is saved, you may want to check to ensure that the user has entered all of the correct information. While you can set some fields to be required without writing code, you cannot create complex business rules. For example, you may want to ensure that at least one contact method has been entered for a Lead, either phone number, e-mail address, or mailing address. Code that executes onSave can check to ensure that at least one of these pieces of information exists before it allows the user to save the record.

#### Field onChange event

The onChange event occurs whenever the value in a field is changed and the field loses focus (for example, after a user updates a field and then either tabs out of the field or clicks on another field). The onChange event is often used to format data (for example, to apply standard formatting to a phone number) or trigger a change on a form based on the value entered in a field (for example, to hide a tab on the form when a certain value is selected in a picklist).

#### Tab TabStateChange event

This event occurs whenever a tab display changes (a tab is expanded or collapsed). This can be used to refresh the content of an Iframe contained within the tab.

#### Iframe OnReadyStateComplete Event

This event occurs when the content of an Iframe has finished loading. This can be used to wait for the content of an Iframe to finish loading, and to then run script against the content of the Iframe.

#### **Ribbon control events**

Ribbon controls include a number of events. Each of these events can be used to execute code associated with actions that the user performs on a ribbon. We take a closer look at how to modify a ribbon later in this chapter.

#### **Database events**

Database events happen on the server side rather than on the client side. This includes record updates and other changes made to the data within the database. Database events can trigger workflows (discussed in Chapter 18) and plug-ins (discussed in Chapter 22).

# Writing JScript

JScript is the client-side programming language for Dynamics CRM (you may also hear it referred to as JavaScript — the two are not exactly the same, but close enough that you can consider them to be synonymous for purposes of this book). JScript is a common programming language used behind many Web sites and Web applications. JScript code can be as short as a few lines long or many thousands of lines long.

#### **Understanding JScript libraries**

Dynamics CRM 2011 enables developers to write libraries of JScript code and to load these as Web resources. These libraries contain functions that can be called from within forms, Ribbon menus, and from other JScript functions. Multiple functions can be included in a single library. For example, a JScript library called Field Formatting might contain two functions: the first reformats telephone numbers so users don't have to type in punctuation when entering a phone number; the second reformats postal code fields.

#### **On the Web Site**

We have included some free JScript libraries on the Web site www.dynamicscrmbible.com that you can use as learning tools and to enhance your Dynamics CRM implementation.

#### Hello world

A "Hello World" program is a simple way to take a first step into a new programming paradigm. It doesn't serve any function other than to help someone new to an area of coding to grasp the fundamental concepts quickly. We use the hello world approach to look at a few different client-side customizations throughout this chapter. We also provide some real-world applications.

#### Caution

When following along with the examples in this chapter, we suggest that you do this work in a development environment (see Chapter 20 for information on setting up a development environment) to avoid any risk of disrupting the users of your Dynamics CRM system. Many client-side customizations cannot be tested without first publishing them — which could risk causing some frustration to your users if you are working in a production environment.

In this particular case, we use a hello world application to demonstrate not only the fundamentals of JScript, but also to help you understand the events that can trigger your JScript to run. Use the steps below to create and run your first JScript code:

- 1. Navigate to the customizations area of Dynamics CRM (Settings ↔ Customizations ↔ Customize the System).
- **2.** In the navigation pane, click on Web Resources, then click on the New button above the grid.
- **3.** You are presented with the Web resources data entry form. Fill the form out as illustrated in Figure 21.2 (you won't be able to fill in the URL field; Dynamics CRM can do that for you when you save the record).
- **4.** When you are done filling out the form, click the button labeled Text Editor. You are presented with a blank form for entering code.
- **5.** Enter the code illustrated in Figure 21.3 and click the OK button. Remember that JScript is case sensitive, so enter everything exactly as you see it in the image.
- **6.** Save and close the form. Congratulations you've just written your first JScript code for Dynamics CRM! Now all you have to do is tell Dynamics where you want the code to run.

The Web resource data entry form

<b>C</b> 11						C5 Admin 🖉
File	Vieb Resi	ource				Success Accelerators
Н		$\boldsymbol{\times}$	<ul> <li></li> </ul>	2		
Save	Save and Close	Delete	Preview Show Dependencies	Publish Publish All Customizations		
Sa	ave	Record Management	Acti	ons		
	Solution: I	Default Solution				
32	Web I	Resource: He	llo World			
Gono	wal					
Mare		new	Hellojô(orid			
Dian	ic Jacobla and	Uput awards	prenorrona			
Disp	rintion	(manoixatorite				
Conte	ent					
Type	*	Script (JScript)		- Text Edi	tor	
Lang	guage	English			<u> </u>	
Uplo	oad File			Bro	wse	
URL						
URL		http://2008r2-	demo:5555/SuccessAccele	rators/WebResources/ne	w HelloWorld	
Done				🗸 Trusted sites   F	Protected Mode: Off	

#### FIGURE 21.3

The text editor for entering JScript code

🔊 Edit Content Webpage Dialog	<u>_×</u>
Edit Content	
Edit Web Resource Content.	
Source	
function HelloWorld() { aler("Hello World"): }	
For information about how to interact with entities and fields programmatically, see the Microsoft Dyn	amics CRM SDK
	OK Cancel
http://2008r2-demo:5555/SuccessAccelerators/tools/web 🗸 Trusted sites   Protected Mode: Off	1.

- 7. Still in the customization area, use the navigation pane to navigate to the list of forms for the Account entity. Open the main form and then click the Form Properties button in the Ribbon menu. You will be presented with a list of form libraries as illustrated in Figure 21.4 (note that your list may not contain any libraries ours contains some libraries used for the book).
- **8.** Click the Add button above the list. From the list, choose the Hello World Web resource that you just created and click the OK button.
- **9.** Back in the Form Properties dialog (Figure 21.4) scroll down a bit to the section titled Event Handlers. Click the Add button for this section. You are presented with the Handler Properties dialog box.

The list of form libraries for the Account form

vents Display Parameter Event List	Non-Event Dependencies	
Event List		
* Form Libraries		
Manage libraries that will be a	vailable in the form.	
🖶 Add 🛛 🔛 Remove 🗎 🚖	Up   🖶 Down   🛅 Edit	
Name	Display Name	Description
c5i_FormatPhone	Format Phone Number	Pass this routine a
new_DialogLauncher	Dialog Launcher	This script will laun
<ul> <li>Event Handlers</li> </ul>		
Manage functions that will be Control   Form Event   OnLoad Add   Remove	called for form or field events.	у]

**10.** Fill out the form as it is illustrated in Figure 21.5. You have just told Dynamics that your JScript should run whenever the form is initially loaded. Click OK to return to the Form Properties dialog box.

#### FIGURE 21.5

The Handler Properties dialog box

orm Pi	operties	- Webpage I	Dialog		
m Prop	perties form's pro	perties.			
/ents	Display	Parameters	Non-Event Dependencies		
Hand	ller Pron	erties Mehr	ano Dialon	D	×
Jandk	r Proport	tion	lage blang		
lanan					
Libert					
Librar	y .	I new_nellow			
Funct	ion *	HelloWorld			
$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	Enabled				
Param	eters				
_	Dace every	tion contact ac	livet envernmenter		
Comm	Pass execu	d list of parama	nst parameter		
Comm	ia separate	a list or parame	ers that will be passed to the function		
				ОК Са	ancel
ttp://200	18r2-demo	:5555/Success	Acce 🗸 Trusted sites   Protected Mode: Off		
				ок	Cancel
200022	.domo:66/	56/QueeneeAce	elerate // Trusted sites   Protected Mode: Off		
200812	-uem0.555	JORAGELESSACE	elerati V Trusteu sites i Protecteu mode. Oli		

- **11.** On the Form Properties dialog, click the Event picklist (it is likely set to OnLoad). Change it to OnSave.
- **12.** Click the Add button again and fill out the form in the same manner as Figure 21.5 again. Click OK when you have finished completing the form.
- **13.** Click OK again to close the Form Properties dialog box. You should now be on the form designer.
- **14.** Click on the Account Name field and then click on the Change Properties button in the Ribbon menu.
- **15.** You are presented with the Field Properties dialog box. Click on the Events tab (Figure 21.6).
- **16.** In the Event Handlers section, click the Add button. Once again, you are presented with the Handler Properties dialog box. Once again, fill it out as you did in Figure 21.5 and click the OK button. You have just told CRM to run your JScript when the user changes the Account Name field and then moves to another field.
- **17.** Save and Close the form.
- **18.** Click the Publish All Customizations button.

The Field Properties dialog box with the Events tab selected

Field Properties Wel	opage Dialog	
eld Properties		
dify this field's properties.		
isplay Formatting D	etails Events	
Event List		
Form Libraries		
<ul> <li>Event Handlers</li> </ul>		
Manage functions that wil	be called for form or field event:	5.
Control   Account Name	<u></u>	
Event   Unchange	<u> </u>	
Add 🛛 🔡 Remove	👚 Up   🤑 Down   🦙 Edit	t   [[]] Edit Library
Library	Function	Enabled
Help		OK Cancel
//2008r2-demo:5555/	Trusted sites   Protected Mode	: Off

Your code has now been published! Let's go have a look at what it does.

Close the customizations area of CRM. Navigate to the Accounts list (Workplace  $\Rightarrow$  Accounts). Open any account in the list. If your code is written and working correctly, you will immediately see the dialog in Figure 21.7. This is the JScript that you wrote in Step 6, executing in the onLoad event that you set up in Step 8.

#### FIGURE 21.7

A dialog box that was created by JScript code



Click OK to close the dialog box. Change the account name (you can just add a single letter to it). Tab to the next field. Up comes the dialog box again. This is using the onChange event for the Account Name field that you set up in Step 16.

Click the OK button to close the dialog box. Click Save and Close. The dialog box comes up one more time. This is the onSave event that you set up in Step 12.

#### How the JScript code works

The code (in Figure 21.3) begins with the word "function." This tells the code that the next word is the name of a function (in this case, "HelloWorld"). The name provided here is the name that will be used in events (such as onChange) to call the code. The function can also be called by name in other JScript code. Immediately after the function is a pair of parentheses. If you were to "pass" a value to this function, then you would insert a variable here to capture what you are passing (you'll see samples of this a bit later).

Next is an opening curly bracket. JScript uses curly brackets to indicate segments of code that belong together. In this case, the opening curly bracket after the function statement is saying, "everything between here and the closing curly bracket belongs to this function." This is useful because a single JScript Web resource may have multiple functions, so you need a way to delineate which code goes with which function and where one function ends and another begins.

The next line, with the "alert" statement, is the main portion of our code. An alert statement tells JScript that whatever comes next should be placed into a dialog box so that the user can see it. The statement ends with a semicolon, which is how most lines of JScript code should end.

#### **On the Web Site**

JScript is a programming language used in millions of Web pages. It includes a diverse range of statements for writing code. A full tutorial cannot be covered in this book. However, we will post links to some recommended online tutorials on www.dynamicscrmbible.com. If you are interested in going deep with JScript, then the Dynamics CRM SDK is another document that you should take the time to read through.

#### **Options for loading your JScript code**

You may have noticed that on Step 5 (Figure 21.3), you could have clicked the browse button to load a JScript file from your computer rather than using the text editor to create your JScript. If you're just writing a few lines of JScript code, using the text editor built into Dynamics CRM is a convenient way to quickly enter the code. But if you're developing JScript that will be hundreds of lines long, you will want to use a different editor to create your code. Options for editing code are outlined in Chapter 20.

#### Additional JScript code examples

In this section, we quickly cover a number of additional JScript code examples. We go over a number of functions that are useful for Dynamics CRM applications and will explain a few other features of the JScript language in the process. We won't take the time to explain the code line-by-line, so if you'd like to learn exactly how the code works, then spend a bit of time researching it on the Internet. Use the instructions from creating the "hello world" script if you need a little help with remembering how to add the JScript to Dynamics CRM.

#### **On the Web Site**

The code examples in this section can all be found on the www.dynamicscrmbible.com Web site. From the site, you can download solutions and import them directly into Dynamics CRM to eliminate the need to type in all of the code below.

#### Format a phone number

We've referenced the idea of using JScript to format phone number fields a number of times throughout this book; now it's finally time to show you how to make this happen. Use the procedure below to create the required JScript and call it from the Account form.

- 1. Create a JScript Web resource named Format Phone.
- 2. Insert the following JScript into the resource:

```
function FormatPhone(context) {
    // The above "context" parameter is being passed the context
    // of this function from the onChange event.
    // This means we can call the same function from multiple
    // different phone number fields - each phone number field
    // will pass in information about itself. Remember to check
    // the "Pass execution context as first parameter" box in
    // order to pass in the context.
    // This line extracts the value from the field that was passed
    // in the context parameter. In other words, the value
```

```
// "strPhone" now contains whatever the user typed into the
// phone number field.
var strPhone = context.getEventSource().getValue();
// If the field is null, then there is no reason to try to
// format it. Exit the function without doing any more
// work and return to processing other input from the user.
if (strPhone == null)
return;
// This code segment tests to see if the phone number has
// an "x" within it. If so, this is interpreted to
// be an extension. The code places everything to the right
// of the "x" into a new variable called strExt.
// Everything to the left of the "x" is kept in the
// strPhone variable.
var booExt = false;
 if (strPhone.indexOf("x") > 0) {
var strExt = strPhone.split("x");
booExt = true;
 strPhone = strExt[0];
 }
// Next, we will remove any characters that are not numbers
// from the phone number. We store the result in a new field
// called strCleanPhone. The ".replace" is a function that is
// called on the string "strPhone". In effect, this removes
// all non-numeric characters from the strong by replacing
// them with "". See online Jscript tutorials to learn more
// about the replace function.
var strCleanPhone = strPhone.replace(/[^0-9]/g, "");
var strNewPhone;
// The switch statement executes the case statement that
// matches the result of the switch. In this code, the
// switch statement checks the length of the phone number
// with everything except for the numbers removed from it.
// It then executes the case statement that returns the
// same length. The subsequent three case statements execute
// to format the phone according to the number of digits
// entered by the user.
 switch (strCleanPhone.length)
 {
 case "17048952500".length:
 strNewPhone = "1(" + strCleanPhone.substr(1, 3) + ")" +
   strCleanPhone.substr(4, 3) + "-" + strCleanPhone.substr(7, 4);
 break:
 case "7048952500".length:
```

```
strNewPhone = "(" + strCleanPhone.substr(0, 3) + ")" +
      strCleanPhone.substr(3, 3) + "-" + strCleanPhone.substr(6, 4);
     break;
    case "8952500".length:
     strNewPhone = strCleanPhone.substr(0, 3) + "-" + strCleanPhone.
      substr(3, 4);
    break;
    }
   // If the original phone number had an extension, then this
   // code segment will add the extension to the end of the
   // newly formatted phone number.
   if (strNewPhone != null) {
    if (booExt) {
    strNewPhone = strNewPhone + " x" + strExt[1];
    } }
    else {
    strNewPhone = strPhone;
   }
   // This line of code uses the original context that was passed
   // in when the code was called to update the phone number field
   // to the formatted value.
   context.getEventSource().setValue(strNewPhone);
   }
3. Save and publish the Jscript Web resource.
```

- **4.** Customize the main form on the Account entity.
- 5. On the Ribbon menu, click the Form Properties button.
- 6. Add the Web resource to the form libraries according to Figures 21.8.
- 7. Double-click on the Main Phone field on the form. Under the events tab, add the FormatPhone function to the OnChange event according to Figure 21.9. Note that you should check the Enabled box and the "Pass execution context as first parameter" (this second check box tells the function which field you were on when the function was called see the comments in the code for more information).
- 8. Repeat Step 7 for each phone field on your form.
- 9. Save and Close the form.
- **10.** Publish the customizations.

Open an account record and change some phone numbers by typing in just a string of numbers (with either no punctuation, or just an x to delineate the extension). Notice how the JScript automatically reformats the phone numbers when you tab out of each field.

Adding the Format Phone Web resource to a form

ts Diplay Parameters Non-Event Dependencies ent List Form Libraies anage libraies that will be available in the form. Add  Remove  Up  Ouv  Down Display Name Description Format Phone Number Pass this routine a Event Handlers  revert Handlers  revert Contoad  Add Up Add Up Ouv Edit Contoad  Conto	y ans room's properties.		
ent List Form Libraries anage libraries that will be available in the form. Add	nts Display Parameters	Non-Event Dependencies	
Form Libraries         anage libraries that will be available in the form.         Add          Renove          Up          Down          Detata          ane          Display Name          Description           Description          Bit_FormatPhone          FormatPhone Number          Pass this routine a           Description          Bit_FormatPhone          Dialog Launcher          Dialog Launcher          This script will laun.          ew_DialogUsuncher          Dialog Launcher          This script will scri          Event Handlers           Event Handlers          anage functions that will be called for form or field events.           Library          http://prom          Z           Euclinin          Add          Renove          Up          Down         P Add          Renove          Up          Down         Intro          Euclinin           Endt Library	vent List		
anage libraries that will be available in the form.  Add  Display Name Display Name Display Name Display Name Description Display Launcher Display Launcher Display Launcher Display Launcher Display Launcher Event Handlers anage functions that will be called for form or field events. Introl Form Internet Add Description Descripti	Form Libraries		
Add      Add     Add      Add      Add      Add      Add	lanage libraries that will be av	illable in the form.	
ame Display Name Description E, Format Phone Number Pass this routine a E, Pormat Phone Number Pass this routine a eve, Dialogiauncher Dialogiauncher This script will lawn, we HelloWorld Hello World This is my first Jscri  Event Handlers anage functions that will be called for form or field events. Introl Form ent Onload  Add   @ Remove   @ Up   @ Down   @ Edit   [] Edit Library branc Function. Enabled	🕆 Add 📔 🖹 Remove 🗎 🏠	Up   🖶 Down   🛅 Edit	
Bi_Format Phone Number Pass this routine a ew_DialogLauncher Dialog Launcher This script will laun. ew_HelloWorld Hello World This is my first Jscri Event Handlers anage functions that will be called for form or field events. Introl Form v ent OnLoad v P Add   @ Remove @ Up @ Down @ Edit   @ Edit Library bnav Eucrino. Enabled	lame	Display Name	Description
ew_Dialoglauncher Dialog launcher This script will laun. ew_HelloWorld Hello World This is my first iscri Event Handlers  Event Handlers  anage functions that will be called for form or field events.  introl Form  ent   OnLoad  p Add   @ Remove   @ Up   @ Down   @ Edit Library bnav  Function  Fonbled	5i_FormatPhone	Format Phone Number	Pass this routine a
ewc.HelloWorld     Hello World     This is my first is river.       Event Handless     Image functions that will be called for form or field events.     Image functions       inbol     Form     Image functions       # Add     Image Remove     Image Down       Image Functions     Edit     Image functionary       Image Functions     Findminn     Findminn	ew_DialogLauncher	Dialog Launcher	This script will laun
Event Handlers anage functions that will be called for form or field events. introl Form i	ew_HelloWorld	Hello World	This is my first Jscri
anage functions that will be called for form or field events. ontrol Form   ent Fontoad  form   b Add   B Remove   D Up   D Down   D Edit   D Edit Library  have Finchion Finchion			
ntrol Form  rent   Onload rent	Event Handlers		
ent OnLosd   P Add   @ Remove   @ Up   @ Down   @ Edit   3 Edit Library hranx Eunction Enabled	anage functions that will be o	alled for form or field events.	
Add   📷 Remove   🍙 Up   🖶 Down   🎲 Edit   🛅 Edit Library  pranv Examina Enabled	event Handlers anage functions that will be o ontrol Form	alled for form or field events.	
hran: Function Enabled	event Handlers anage functions that will be o ontrol Form rent OnLoad	alled for form or field events.	
	event Handlers anage functions that will be o ontrol Form ent OnLoad Add   @Remove   @	alled for form or field events.	ry

#### FIGURE 21.9

Adding the FormatPhone function to the OnChange event

🖉 Handler Prope	rties Webpage Dialog		×
Handler Propert	es		
Library	c5i_FormatPhone		
Function *	FormatPhone		
🔽 Enabled			
Parameters			
Pass execut	ion context as first parameter		
Comma separateo	list of parameters that will be passed to the function		
		OK Cancel	7
http://2000.c2.domou	5555/Duesses floor		_
nup.#2008r2-demo:	sooovauccessacce v Trusted sites   Protected Mode: Utt		//,

#### Tip

See the double slash in the code above? In JScript, that means that the remainder of the text on the line is a comment. This enables you to document your code so that when you look at it six months later, you will remember what you were trying to accomplish. Doing a good job of documenting your code is an important part of developing a solution so that it will be easy to maintain.

#### Calculate a field

When working with data on forms, it is frequently desirable to calculate a field. Use the process below to calculate the mileage reimbursement rate when entering the mileage into a custom field called "Miles" (an integer field) that has been added to the task entity. You need to add the Miles field to the Task entity before you start (see Chapter 17 if you need help adding a field to a form).

1. Create a Web resource called "Mileage" and paste the following code into it.

```
function CalculateMileageCost(intMiles, curRate) {
// This function multiplies intMiles by curRate and
// creates a pop up alert displaying the product. It
// could also store the rate in a field on the form
// if desired.
// This illustrates how to do math functions using
// JScript. It also illustrates how to pass
// additional arguments into a Jscript function
// from a Dynamics CRM event.
// This line multiplies the two values that were passed
// into the function.
   var curTotalAmount = intMiles * curRate;
// This line displays the product in a pop-up alert.
// Replace this with a line that writes the product back
// to a field on the form if you prefer.
   alert ('Total reimbursement amount: ', curTotalAmount);
}
```

- **2.** Add the Web resource to your Task form as a form library (see Step 6 in the preceding section if you need help remembering how to do this).
- **3.** Add a call to the function "CalculateMileageCost" to the OnChange event of the Miles filed according to Figure 21.10 (note that we are passing in the value from the Miles field here as well as the cost per mile). Wondering where the term "Xrm.Page.data. entity.attributes.get("new\_miles").getValue()" came from? You can learn more about it in the section "The XRM page model."
- 4. Save and close the form and publish all customizations.

Open a task and enter a value into the mileage field, then tab out of the field. The popup alert tells you the total cost for the mileage. If you wanted to get fancy, you could create a custom solution with a configuration page in which the mileage rate is entered. Using this approach, an administrative user could update the mileage rate periodically without having to edit the function call. Of course, you can also put the calculate field into another field rather than a popup box (which may be quite a bit more useful for reporting purposes).

Calling the CalculateMileageCost function from the OnChange event for the Miles field

Handler Prop	erties Webpage Dialog		
landler Proper	ties		
Library	new_Mileage		
Function *	CalculateMileageCost		
🔽 Enabled			
Parameters			
Pass execu Comma separate	tion context as first parameter d list of parameters that will be passed to the function		
Xrm.Page.data.e	ntity.attributes.get("new_miles").getValue(),0.63		
			1
		ок	Cancel
p://2008r2-demo	:5555/SuccessAcce 🗸 Trusted sites   Protected Mode: Off		

#### Even more JScript code

Sometimes finding that "one line of code" can be a frustrating and time-consuming process. To help you get started with some of the more common JScript statements for Dynamics CRM, we've listed a number of them below. These were all written and tested using the Account entity and the default form — you may need to adjust them a bit to work with your forms.

```
// Determine the entity that the currently displayed
// form is related to. You can use this to setup different
// behaviors depending on which entity the function is
// called from.
Xrm.Page.context.getValue();
// Read the value in the field named "name"
Xrm.Page.data.entity.attributes.get("name").getValue());
// Hide a field
Xrm.Page.ui.controls.get("accountnumber").setVisible(false);
// Hide one item in a picklist.
Xrm.Page.ui.controls.get("new_quickpick").removeOption(10000000);
// Set a field to required.
Xrm.Page.data.entity.attributes.get("accountnumber").
setRequiredLevel("required");
```

```
// Change the color of a field.
// CAUTION: This code is unsupported - meaning that it works at
// the time of this writing, but may not work in future versions
// Dynamics CRM.
crmForm.all.name.style.backgroundColor = "#FFB6C1";
// Hide a section
Xrm.Page.ui.tabs.get("general").sections.get("address").
setVisible(false);
// Hide a navigation item
Xrm.Page.ui.navigation.items.get(0).setVisible(false);
// Switch to another form
Xrm.Page.ui.formSelector.items.get(0).navigate();
```

# How to Calculate a Field\_

When calculating a field (or updating any data in Dynamics CRM) a number of options are open to you. Each has its pros and cons.

- JScript code: You can do some very helpful things with JScript code. But remember that this code only executes when a user is interacting with Dynamics CRM. If you want to calculate a field every time a record is changed, and if those records can change without user input (for example, if a workflow changes the record), then the JScript that calculates the field will not run resulting in an inaccurate calculation stored in the database. This in turn may produce inaccurate information in reports, charts, and views.
- Workflow: You can use workflows to calculate fields as well. The built-in capabilities are limited, but you can perform basic calculations. The benefit to this approach is that you can be certain that the calculation will run whenever the record is updated (assuming you set the workflow triggers properly and assuming that workflow remains published). The downside is that the value is not updated immediately, so users may be confused if they don't see the right value while editing the record.
- Workflow Extensions: Workflow extensions can be written that provide more advanced calculation capabilities in workflows. The downsides for this approach are the same as mentioned for workflows.
- **Plug-Ins:** Plug-ins can be written and added to Dynamics CRM that run immediately when values are changed in the database. These also have a tremendous amount of flexibility and can generally calculate anything you like. The downside is that plug-ins require the skills of a professional developer, and they still do not interact directly with the end user (a record needs to be saved before the calculations can be run).

Determining how you calculate a field in Dynamics CRM is based on a number of factors. Consider how you want to interact with the user, how complex the calculation is, how else your database is being updated, and what level of expertise your Dynamics CRM customizations team has.
A nearly limitless list of statements is available in JScript, so the list is by no means comprehensive. Other sources you can turn to for help include (the below referenced sites are linked to on the book site: www.dynamicscrmbible.com):

- The Dynamics CRM 2011 software development kit (SDK). This is freely downloadable from the Microsoft Web site. It contains an enormous volume of reference materials and code samples.
- The Microsoft Dynamics CRM forums. This is an online discussion group that you can use to ask questions and search to see if others have experienced the same issues.
- Dynamics CRM blogs. There are many individuals and companies that publish blogs specifically on writing code for Dynamics CRM. These can be great references. Search for terms like "Dynamics CRM JScript" and you'll see what I mean.
- JScript blogs. Because JScript is a language used on millions of Web pages, there are also thousands of other examples of JScript that are not specifically written for Dynamics CRM but that can be integrated into your own Dynamics CRM customizations. Spend a bit of time searching the Internet when you're trying to solve a problem with JScript and you'll be surprised at how much information you can find.

#### The XRM page model

JScript statements that retrieve data from Dynamics CRM forms or that interact with the user or with form design are based on something called the XRM page model. This is a hierarchical way that Microsoft describes the structure of forms (pages) in Dynamics CRM. When you're trying to solve a problem with JScript and you're not sure how to formulate a statement, the XRM page model (illustrated in Figure 21.11) is a good place to start.

You can use the page model to formulate the first parts of a JScript statement and look up the last portion of the statement in the SDK. As an example, if you wanted to hide a tab from the user view, you would work from the top of the XRM page model down to come up with something like Xrm.Page.ui.tabs. You may then search the SDK for specific "methods" you can use to complete your statement. For additional examples of how the XRM page model is used to develop JScript statements, check the previous section, "Even more JScript code."

#### **Testing your JScript code**

While developing your JScript code, you are likely to go through many iterations before your code is complete and ready for production. Here are a few things that we recommend to simplify the process a bit.

• Develop your form first. Although it is possible to edit your JScript from directly within your form, this can be a bit time-consuming and frustrating. Work on developing your form first. Create any libraries that you might need, and insert event handlers wherever necessary (including function calls), but leave the functions empty while you are designing your form. After you have completed your form design, save, and publish the form.



The XRM page model



- Work on your code one library at a time. As you modify the code, save and publish it and then try it out in production. You can keep both the Web resource page and the grid page for the entity that you're working on open at the same time so you can quickly toggle back-and-forth between modifying and publishing your code, and opening a form to test it.
- Remember that your published JScript code will not go into effect with any forms that are already open for data entry because the JScript is loaded when the page is initially loaded. So after you make changes to your JScript and publish it, you'll have to open a new form to test your code.
- Remember that (at the time of this writing) the only straightforward way to test your JScript in Dynamics CRM will be to publish it so it will be in production. This could cause a lot of complaints from your users if you make any mistakes. We highly recommend a development environment to mitigate this potential problem.

#### **Converting your Dynamics CRM 4.0 JScript**

If you have worked with JScript in Dynamics CRM 4.0, then you've probably noticed some pretty big changes in how it works in 2011 — both in terms of how your code is managed and in terms of how the code is now written. The good news is that most of your code from

4.0 will still work in 2011 with relatively little modification. However, some items that you are used to using (such as the crmForm statement) have been deprecated. This means that they still work, but Microsoft has said that they do not plan to continue to support them in the future.

If you upgrade from 4.0 to 2011 following the normal process, then much of your code (assuming it was supported) should upgrade without a problem. A free tool has been published on www.codeplex.com called Infusion JavaScript converter that should help with code that doesn't convert. If you wrote unsupported code, then you may have to work through a manual process to upgrade it — the good news is that most of the code that will no longer work in 2011 can be replaced with UI based tools.

#### Supported and unsupported JScript

It is important to note that, although you may be able to get some things to work in JScript, it does not necessarily mean that your code is "supported." Unsupported code, in essence, means that Microsoft does not intend to make sure that the code will update to future versions and will not provide support on the code. There was some outstanding code available for Dynamics CRM 4.0 that, while not supported, provided some excellent new functionality. Some of that code won't upgrade to 2011, but for the most part there are ways to replace it that are improvements over the unsupported code. Expect the same to be true in 2011. You will likely come across code that you can download from blogs that works well in 2011, but it may be unsupported and may not upgrade to future versions properly. You'll need to decide if this is an acceptable risk to take.

### Working with Web pages

Web pages can be integrated into your Dynamics CRM solution as Web resources (selfcontained HTML or Silverlight files hosted on the Dynamics CRM server) or as Iframes (Web pages that are not hosted on your server but that appear in a "window" within CRM). These pages can appear in a variety of locations throughout your application including within forms, in dashboards, as part of the main navigation structure of the application, or as related navigation items in data entry forms.

#### **Using HTML Web resources**

HTML Web resources are created and managed in the Web resources list just like JScript. HTML Web resources enable you to create HTML Web pages that can be embedded directly within a form, into the site navigation, or that can be called from JScript on a form. The HTML is stored on the Dynamics CRM server so it is easy to export with a solution and import into another instance of Dynamics CRM. Because the code is on the server, it executes only Dynamics CRM security context (only users can access the sites). HTML Web resources are also available offline. This section provides an outline of these resources, using a similar approach to the previous section.

HTML Web resources can be coupled with CSS or the various image Web resources (PNG, GIF, or JPG) items in order to format the content delivered in the HTML resource.

#### Hello world

If you're unfamiliar with HTML code, then let's start by creating our "hello world" program again — this time to be displayed in an HTML Web resource within the form. Use the steps below to create this program:

- 1. In the customize area, navigate to the Web resources list and choose to add a new Web resource.
- **2.** Fill out the Web resource as in Figure 21.12.
- **3.** Click the text editor and enter "Hello World" in to the rich text tab of the editor. Click the Source tab to see how it looks. Click OK when you are done.
- 4. Save the form, publish it and then close it.
- **5.** Edit the main form for the Account entity.
- **6.** In the Ribbon menu, select the Insert tab and then select Web Resource. Browse to the resource you just created and fill out the rest of the form as shown in Figure 21.13. Click OK when you are done.
- 7. Place the HTML Web resource wherever you like on your form.
- 8. When you are done, save and close the form and then publish your customizations.

You're done! Now open the form to check out your handiwork.

#### FIGURE 21.12

Configuring an HTML Web resource

		@
File Web Resour	rce	C5 Admin U Success Accelerators
Save Save and Close	Delete	
Save Rev	cord Management Actions	
32 Solution: Def Web Re General	auit solution ssource: Hello World HTML page	
Name *	newHTMLHelloWorld	
Display Name	Hello World HTML page	
Content		
Content	Web Page (HTML)	
Content Type* Language	Web Page (HTML) - Text Edi English	
Content Type * Language Upload File URL	Web Page (HTML) Text Ed English Br	tor
Content Type * Language Upload File URL URL	Web Page (HTML)	Ror 

#### **Creating mash-ups with Iframes**

Iframes work in a manner similar to HTML Web resources. The difference is that Iframes are a "window" into a Web application or Web site that is running elsewhere. This, for example, could include a SharePoint Web site, a mapping application (such as Bing maps), or a distributor portal run by a manufacturer that your organization partners with.

#### FIGURE 21.13

The Add Web Resource dialog box

	Formatting Dependencies
Web i	esource * 🕑 <u>new HTMLHelloWorld</u>
Field	Name and Properties
Name	* WebResource_HelloWorld
Label	* Hello World
□ Di	splay label on the Form
Custo	m Parameter(data)
•	Restrict cross-frame scripting
Г	Pass record object-type code and unique identifier as parameters.

Data from Dynamics CRM can be passed into an application within an Iframe. For example, if you place an Iframe onto the Account form, the account number could be used when loading the page within the Iframe. This enables you to create a type of integration called a "mash-up" where your Dynamics CRM application is "mashed up" against another application. The data between the applications is not synchronized, but a small amount of data is exchanged (via the URL) at the time that the Web page is displayed that enables the application inside of the Iframe to respond by displaying relevant information.

A popular mash-up is to integrate Dynamics CRM with a mapping application. The address from an Account record is passed in to the Iframe and the address is mapped on Microsoft Bing maps in the Iframe. Figure 21.14 demonstrates this type of Iframe integration. Below the figure are the steps required to integrate this with the Account entity in Dynamics CRM. This same approach can be used to integrate with your accounting application (assuming it is Web-based), produce information about a company from a Web search, and pass information into SharePoint.

#### FIGURE 21.14

#http://2008r2-demo:5555/?etn=account&extraqs\_\_gridType%3d1%26etc%3d1%26id%3d%257b9B5D7BA6-8ABE- - Windows Internet Explorer \_ 8 × CS Admin @ File Account Create Related Customize Copy a Link Save & New 4 Ø Add to Marketing Connect Assign Run Start Collections Save Close X Delete Run Report • Save Collaborate Process Data Account Distributor Accounts ▼ ☆ 尋 C5 Insight Bing Map . Related General Address 4 Common Account Name 8701 Mallard Creek Rd C5 Insight Street 1 Addresses Activities Business Type Default Value City Charlotte Accounts Category Preferred Customer -NC State/Province S Contacts Classification Default Value ZIP/Postal Code 28262 强 Customer Relationships Sonnections 16 Documents 16 Audit History Bing Map More | MSN Hotmail 👍 Plants 4 Sales 8701 Mallard Creek Rd. Charlotte NC 2826 bir A Opportunities Quotes Maps Weh Mans Orders Harris 4 Service 5 Gases R Contracts CNC Marketing 🗬 Campaign 🗃 Marketing Lists A Processes 🕼 Workflows 🔄 Dialog Sessions Trusted sites | Protected Mode: Off 🖓 🕶 🔍 100% 💌

An Iframe mash-up to produce a Bing Map for the Account entity

#### 1. Create a JScript Web resource using the code below.

function BingMap (strStreet, strCity, strState, strZip)
// This function will map the address that is passed
// to it to an Iframe containing a Bing Map that is
// on the same page as the form and is named:
// IFRAME\_BingMap
//
// You may want to add to this code a test to ensure that
// the tab the map is displayed in is expanded, and on
// the form you can collapse the tab by default and
// remove this code from the OnLoad event. This will

```
// result in only loading the map when the tab is
// expanded.
{
    var IFrame = Xrm.Page.ui.controls.get("IFRAME_BingMap");
    strURL = "http://www.bing.com/maps/?v=2&where1=" + strStreet +
        "%20" + strCity + "%20" + strState + "%20" + strZip +
        "&encType=1";
    IFrame.setSrc(strURL);
}
```

- **2.** Edit one of the forms on the Account entity. In our case, we want the map on the form called "Distributor" for the Account entity, so this is the form that we will edit.
- **3.** Add a tab to the form that will hold the map. Set this tab to be visible and give it a descriptive title such as "Bing Map." Note that, after you initially follow this process, you may want to set the tab to be invisible by default and require the user to expand the tab before the map is refreshed.
- 4. Add an Iframe to the tab on the form. Use the settings in Figure 21.15.

#### **FIGURE 21.15**

The Iframe Properties dialog box

RAME Properties         odify this IFRAME's properties.         General       Formatting       Dependencies       Events         Name         Specify a unique name.         Name *       IFRAME_BingMap         URL *       jaboutblank         Pass record object-type code and unique identifier as parameters.         Label         Specify the label for this field in forms.         Label *       Bing Map         Display label on the Form         Security         Select whether to restrict cross-frame scripting.         Restrict cross-frame scripting         Visibility         Specify the default visibility of this control.         Ivalue to be default	IFRAME	Properties Webpage Dialog	×
Odify this JFRAME's properties.         General       Formatting       Dependencies       Events         Name       Specify a unique name.       Name *       IFRAME_BingMap         URL *       Jabout:blank       Pass record object-type code and unique identifier as parameters.         Label       Specify the label for this field in forms.         Label *       Bing Map       Display label on the Form         Security       Select whether to restrict cross-frame scripting.       Restrict cross-frame scripting         Visibility       Specify the default visibility of this control.       Visibility of this control.	RAME Pr	operties	
General       Formatting       Dependencies       Events         Name       Specify a unique name.       Name *       IFRAME_BingMap         Name *       IFRAME_BingMap       URL *       Jaboutblank         Pass record object-type code and unique identifier as parameters.       Iabel         Label       Specify the label for this field in forms.       Iabel*         Bing Map       Display label on the Form         Security       Select whether to restrict cross-frame scripting.         Visibility       Specify the default visibility of this control.         Ivisible by default       Visible by default	odify this I	FRAME's properties.	
Name         Specify a unique name.         Name *       [FRAME_BingMap         URL *       jaboutblank         Pass record object-type code and unique identifier as parameters.         Label         Specify the label for this field in forms.         Label *       Bing Map         □       Display label on the Form         Security       Select whether to restrict cross-frame scripting.         □       Restrict cross-frame scripting.         Visibility       Specify the default visibility of this control.         [v]       Visibile by default	General	Formatting Dependencies Events	
Specify a unique name. Name *  FRAME_BingMap URL *  aboutblank - Pass record object-type code and unique identifier as parameters. Label - Specify the label for this field in forms. Label *  Bing Map - Display label on the Form Security Select whether to restrict cross-frame scripting. - Restrict cross-frame scripting Visibility Specify the default visibility of this control. - Visibile by default	Name -		
Name *       JFRAME_BingMap         URL *       aboutblank         Pass record object-type code and unique identifier as parameters.         Label *       Specify the label for this field in forms.         Label *       Bing Map         □       Display label on the Form         Security       Select whether to restrict cross-frame scripting.         □       Restrict cross-frame scripting.         Visibility       Specify the default visibility of this control.         □       Visible by default	Specify	a unique name.	
URL*   Booutblank Pass record object-type code and unique identifier as parameters. Label Specify the label for this field in forms. Label * Bing Map C Display label on the Form Security Select whether to restrict cross-frame scripting. Restrict cross-frame scripting Visibility Specify the default visibility of this control. Visible by default	Name *	IFRAME_BingMap	
Pass record object-type code and unique identifier as parameters.      Label     Specify the label for this field in forms.     Label     Bing Map     Diplay label on the Form     Security     Security     Settict cross-frame scripting.     Restrict cross-frame scripting     Visibility     Specify the default visibility of this control.      Visible by default	URL*	about:blank	
Label	☐ Pass	record object-type code and unique identifier as parameters.	
Specify the label for this field in forms. Label * Bing Map Display label on the Form Security Select whether to restrict cross-frame scripting. Restrict cross-frame scripting Visibility Specify the default visibility of this control. Visible by default	⊤Label —		
Label * Bing Map Display label on the Form Security Select whether to restrict cross-frame scripting. Restrict cross-frame scripting Visibility Specify the default visibility of this control. Visible by default	Specify	the label for this field in forms.	
☐ Display label on the Form      Security Select whether to restrict cross-frame scripting.     Restrict cross-frame scripting      Visibility Specify the default visibility of this control.     ✓ Visible by default	Label *	Bing Map	
Security Select whether to restrict cross-frame scripting. Restrict cross-frame scripting Visibility Specify the default visibility of this control. Visible by default	🔲 Disp	olay label on the Form	
Visible by default	Visibilit	y	
	Specify 1	the default visibility of this control.	
	AI21	Die by derault	
		OK Cancel	
OK Cancel	//20081	/ Trusted sites   Protected Mode: Off	
OK Cancel	1.1		

- **Name:** This is a unique name of your choice. You are referencing this in a JScript resource, so make a note of it.
- **URL:** You can use "about:blank" to start with in this case. We will use JScript code to update this when a mailing address is present on the form.
- **Pass record object-type code and unique identifier as parameters:** We will leave this unchecked in this case. This can be a useful feature if you want to pass context information to the Iframe that can be used to render data properly. This can also be useful if the application in your Iframe uses the Dynamics CRM Web service to retrieve information about the Account (or related records) directly from Dynamics CRM.
- **Restrict cross-frame scripting:** This restricts scripts interacting with the site in the Iframe. If your Iframe will contain a link to a site that is outside of your firewall and does not need to interact with your Dynamics CRM form, then it is wise to leave this box checked to avoid potential security issues.
- **Dependencies tab:** It is a best practice to add any fields from your form that the Iframe is dependent upon. This will prevent these fields (in this case the address fields) from being deleted from the form if the Iframe is still on it.
- **Events tab:** This contains an event for Iframes called OnReadyStateComplete. This event fires when the site within the Iframe finishes loading. You can use this to call JScript functions when a page loads within the Iframe.
- **5.** In the Ribbon menu, click the Form Properties button. Add the JScript Web resource that you created in the first step to the form as a Form Library. Add the same JScript Web resource to the Event Handler for the form OnLoad event as well, using the settings in Figure 21.16.
- **6.** On the tab that contains the Bing Map, add the same event handler to the TabStateChange event as you did for the form OnLoad event (including passing in the same four fields). You could have added this function to the OnChange event to each address field, but this may result in distracting reloads of the map as the user is entering data. By attaching the JScript to the TabStateChange event, the user can collapse and then re-expand the tab and the map will be refreshed with any new address data that was entered after the form was opened.
- 7. Save and publish the form and the Web resource. Open an Account to view the map.

A number of options are available for further customizing this type of mash-up. The tab containing the map can be hidden until enough address information exists to show it. Rather than embedding the map into the form, it can be behind a custom navigation link or behind a button in the ribbon menu. The map can be set up as a dashboard that maps out multiple addresses. When setting up Iframe integration, it is important to understand the needs of your users and to then design it to work the way that your team works.

#### FIGURE 21.16

The Event Handler settings for the form OnLoad event

orm Propertie	s Webpage Dialog	
rm Properties		
dify this form's pr	operties.	
Events Display	Parameters Non-Event Dependencies	
Handler Pro	nerties Mehnane Dialon	*     ،
Handler Prope	rties	-
ranaler Prope		
Library	new_BingMapping	
Function *	BingMap	
Enabled		
,		
Parameters		
E Davis aver	ation contact as first parameter	
Commo comoved	ad list of parameters that will be passed to the function	
Xrm.Page.data	entity.attributes.get("address1_line1").getValue(),	•
Xrm.Page.data	entity.attributes.get("address1_city").getValue(),	
Xrm.Page.data	entity.attributes.get("address1_stateorprovince").getValue() entity.attributes.get("address1_postalcode").getValue()	-
		OK Cancel
tp://2008r2-dem	o:5555/SuccessAcc 🗸 Trusted sites   Protected Mode: Off	
		OK Capcel
		Carloer

# **Other Customizations**

A variety of other client-side customizations can be made to Dynamics CRM that have not been discussed in-depth elsewhere in the book. Some of these require some level of coding, and others can be accessed as simply as calling a URL. This section outlines some of these other useful customization options.

### **Calling CRM functions with URLs**

Because Dynamics CRM is a Web application, almost everything in it can be accessed by calling a URL. This can be a very useful and simple way to quickly execute functions without having to write code. Below are a few examples of items you can access with URLs and some concepts for where this might make a valuable contribution to your Dynamics CRM setup.

#### Copying or sending a URL link

To copy or send a link from Dynamics CRM, navigate to the view or record that you want to send the link to. Look for the buttons labeled "Copy a Link" and "E-mail a Link" in the Ribbon menu as illustrated in Figure 21.17. Click on either of these according to your preference.

Every record and view in Dynamics CRM has a unique ID (called a GUID). This ID is embedded into the URL. When a URL is passed in, it can decipher which specific record (or view) that you are requesting and can display it properly.

#### **FIGURE 21.17**

Using the Ribbon menu to share a link



#### Launching dialog processes with a URL

The process for launching a dialog process with a URL is a bit more complex. That's because Dynamics CRM needs to know not only which dialog you want to launch but also which record in Dynamics CRM you will be launching it for.

If you want to send an e-mail that contains a link to launch a specific dialog for a specific record in Dynamics CRM, you can copy the URL right out of the address bar in Internet Explorer. To do this, start by navigating to the record in Dynamics CRM that you want to run the dialog for. Click the Start Dialog button in the ribbon menu and then click the name of the dialog you want to run. When the dialog starts, copy the URL out of the address bar. Close the dialog without running it. Now you can paste the link to this dialog into an e-mail. Remember that this will run the dialog for the specific record that you were on and will only work when clicked by users licensed for your instance of Dynamics CRM.

#### **Creating links in JScript or processes**

When customizing Dynamics CRM, you will often encounter a need to send a link to a record, or to launch a process, as part of a workflow or dialog process. You may also want to launch a dialog directly from the Ribbon menu or even when a user makes a change to a field on a form.

Use the following JScript to dynamically create a link that can launch a dialog (note that we reuse this JScript when talking about modifying the Ribbon menu a little later in this chapter).

- **1.** Create a new JScript Web resource.
- 2. Insert the JScript code, below, into the resource:

```
function LaunchDialog (context,strDialogGUID)
// This function will launch a dialog for the
// record that is currently being viewed in
// Dynamics CRM. The GUID for the desired
// dialog should be passed in as the
// strDialogGUID parameter. Note that the
// dialog must be associated with the proper
// record type or this procedure will throw
// an error.
{
// These initial lines of code are used to
// get the information required in order
// to formulate the complete URL for
```

```
// the selected dialog.
strOrgURL = Xrm.Page.context.getServerUrl();
strEntityName = Xrm.Page.data.entity.getEntityName();
strRecordID = Xrm.Page.data.entity.getId();
// This concatenates all of the above into a
// single URL
strDialogURL = strOrgURL + "/cs/dialog/rundialog.
    aspx?DialogID=%7b" + strDialogGUID + "%7d&EntityName=" +
    strEntityName + "&ObjectID=" + strRecordID;
// This opens the dialog in a new window.
window.open(strDialogURL,'Dialog')
}
```

- **3.** In the form designer, click the Form Properties button in the Ribbon menu. Add the JScript Web resource you created above as a Form Library.
- 4. You can now call this function from an OnChange event or from the Ribbon menu.

When working with a workflow or dialog process, you may also want to dynamically generate a link. In this case, the link may be embedded in an e-mail and may link to a either a record (such as a Case) or to a dialog. Retrieving the required GUID fields is not directly supported when designing workflow and dialog processes. However, a workflow plug-in can be created that can retrieve the GUID for you and can make it available as a "data slug" that you can use in e-mails or other records generated by a process. See the next chapter for information on creating workflow plug-ins.

### **Modifying XML files**

Dynamics CRM generates a number of XML files to manage configuration settings. To change these settings, you export the XML file, make changes to the file, and then reimport it. When editing XML files, we highly recommend the usage of a text editor that can format XML files (such as Notepad++). A better option is to use a text editor that also includes schema validation using an XSD file, which will provide intellisense to help you edit the code in the files. These options are discussed in detail in Chapter 20.

#### Caution

Editing the XML files often requires certain files from the SDK. If you have not yet downloaded the Dynamics SDK from Microsoft, we strongly encourage you to do so now. A link to download the SDK will be published on the site for the book (www.dynamicscrmbible.com).

#### Modifying the site map

The site map that appears in the left Navigation pane throughout the application can be customized. Items can be added, moved, or removed. In addition, you can set items to appear only in the Outlook or Web interface, or to be restricted based on security settings. Two factors to consider before updating the site navigation are:

- 1. Many items in site navigation can be modified using security roles or entity settings. For example, custom entities can be moved between areas by changing the entity settings. These settings are much easier to maintain than are customizations made directly to the sitemap.xml file, so you should use these when possible.
- **2.** Updating sitemap.xml only relates to the main site map. It does not affect the navigation menu that appears on forms. The form navigation menu can be updated directly while editing the form (see Chapter 17).

Two updates that organizations often want to make to the site navigation are to move unused functions out of the Workplace group and to create a new item that exposes SharePoint functionality through the Dynamics CRM user interface. We will be moving the Imports navigation link out of the My Work area, and we will create a new area called Admin for it. We will also be adding a new link called CRM SharePoint where users can share tips and tricks for working with CRM with each other. Use the following steps to move the first navigation item (creating a new group in the process) and to create a new navigation link.

#### Tip

If you want to add another Web site to your Dynamics CRM site map without having to update any XML files at all, you can create a dashboard with only an Iframe. In the Iframe, you can display any Web site you want to. This may not provide the exact user experience you are looking for, but it is a quick way to deliver some functionality without any coding know-how at all.

- 1. You need to create a Web resource to handle the icon for your new SharePoint menu item. This should be a 16x16 image in GIF, PNG, or JPG format. Make a note of the URL to the Web resource. We will be using a company logo and our file will be named: c5i\_c5logo.
- 2. Export a solution that contains the site map. The site map can be found in the list of system configuration components under the heading Client Extensions. Under this heading, you add the Site Map to the solution that you will export. You can export any solution that contains the Site Map, but to make your job of editing the file simpler, we recommend you create a custom solution that contains only the Site Map. Check Chapter 16 if you need some insight on exporting solutions.
- **3.** The solution is exported in a ZIP file containing three files. Make a copy of the original file in case you make changes that you wish to reverse. Extract the ZIP file to a separate directory. You will be working on the file named customizations.xml.
- **4.** Open the file for editing. As mentioned above, we highly recommend a text editor that supports both formatted XML and XSD validation.
- **5.** Begin by creating a new group to use for administrative functions. This group is a part of the Workplace area. To do this, enter the code in Figure 21.18. In the figure, I have collapsed some of the sections of XML to make finding the correct place to insert the code a bit easier (this is using Visual Web Developer). Below the figure is a description of the various settings that I have entered.

#### FIGURE 21.18

Adding a new group called "Admin" to the Workplace area

	<templates></templates>
ė	<sitemap></sitemap>
ė	<sitemap></sitemap>
ė	<pre><area descriptionresourceid="My_Work_Descrip" icon="/_imgs/workplace_24x24.gif" id="Workplace" mywork"="" resourceid="Group MyWork" showgroups="true"/></pre>
E.	<group descriptionresourceid="Customers_Descr" id="Customers" resourceid="Group_Customers"></group>
œ.	<pre><group descriptionresourceid="Sales_Descripti" id="SFA" isprofile="true" resourceid="Area_Sales"></group></pre>
œ.	<pre><group descriptionresourceid="Marketing_Descr" id="MA" isprofile="true" resourceid="Area_Marketing"></group></pre>
œ.	<pre><group descriptionresourceid="Customer_Servic" id="CS" isprofile="true" resourceid="Area_Service"></group></pre>
E.	<pre><group descriptionresourceid="Scheduling_Grou" id="SM" isprofile="true" resourceid="Area_Scheduling"></group></pre>
Ē	<pre><group id="Extensions" resourceid="Group Extension"></group></pre>
ė	<group id="Admin" isprofile="true" title="Admin"></group>
	k/Group>
é	<pre><area descriptionresourceid="Sales_Description" icon="/_imgs/sales_24x24.gif" id="SFA" resourceid="Area_Sales"/></pre>

- **Group:** Each group in the navigation pane (such as My Work and Customers) is defined by a group tag in the XML.
- Id: Each group must be assigned a unique ID. When creating a new group, ensure that the ID you use is not already used elsewhere.
- **Title:** This is the title that shows up in the user view. Existing groups do not use a title. If you want to change the title for an existing group, add the Title value to the XML code and give it whatever title you like.
- **IsProfile:** Setting this value to true will enable the user to use a check box in their profile to determine if this group will be visible to them or not. This is only valid for the Workplace area.
- 6. Now we move the Imports navigation from the My Work area down to the Admin area that you just created. Using the illustration in Figure 21.18, uncollapse the My Work section. Highlight everything beginning with '<SubArea Id="nav\_import" icon' and the matching '</SubArea>' at the end of it. Cut this text. Scroll down to the section you just created and paste just below the line that begins, 'Group Id="Admin" Title'. Your code should now appear as below.

```
<Group Id="Admin" Title="Admin" IsProfile="true" >
<SubArea Id="nav_import" Icon="/_imgs/area/18_import.gif"
Entity="importfile" ResourceId="Homepage_Import"
DescriptionResourceId="Imports_Description"
AvailableOffline="false" GetStartedPanePath="Imports_Web_User_
Visor.html" GetStartedPanePathAdmin="Imports_Web_Admin_Visor.
html" GetStartedPanePathOutlook="Imports_Outlook_User_Visor.
html" GetStartedPanePathAdminOutlook="Imports_Outlook_Admin_
Visor.html">
<Privilege Entity="import" Privilege="Read" />
</SubArea>
</Group>
```

7. You can now create a new navigation link (in the XML file, these are tagged as SubAreas) for our SharePoint site dedicated to supporting Dynamics CRM 2011. In the XML file, make sure that the Group ID "MyWork" is expanded so you can see all of the sub-areas below it. The last sub-area ID should be nav\_news. Insert a blank line under this and enter the following code (this should be a single line of code, and you should update the URL to match a site you can access):

```
<SubArea Id="nav_spcrm" Url="https://sp.c5insight.com/it/default.
aspx?isdlg=1" Title="SharePoint CRM" Icon="$webresource:c5i_
c5logo"/>
```

- Id: This is the unique ID value that you are assigning to this sub-area.
- **Url:** This URL points to a Web site. If this were a Web resource (such as an HTML page or a Silverlight application), you would prefix the address with \$webresource. In this case, we are calling a SharePoint site on our Internet, and we're directing it to show up as a dialog (stripping the normal SharePoint navigation elements from it).
- Title: This is what will show up in the Navigation pane as the name for our link.
- Icon: This is the icon that you loaded as a Web resource in Step 1. If you do not assign an icon, then a default icon will be assigned. Working with a default icon while in the design and development cycle is a good practice. However, before you put your changes into production, you should consider a custom icon to deliver a professional touch to the user experience.

#### Tip

When adding to the Site Map, or any XML file, a helpful starting point can be to copy and paste a section of XML that is similar to what you are trying to create. If you do this, keep in mind that ID elements must be unique and not all elements from the system navigation items are required for custom items.

- **8.** Save your changes to the customizations.xml file. Copy the file into the original ZIP file that you exported from Dynamics CRM (this overwrites the original file, so make sure you keep your backup file available in case there are any problems).
- **9.** Back in the Dynamics CRM interface, import your solution (see Chapter 16 if you need pointers on importing a solution). Be sure to publish all of your changes after you have completed the import.

To see all of the changes to the Site Map, you may need to click the refresh button in Dynamics CRM and then go to File ↔ Options and select to show the new Admin group. Figure 21.19 shows the new site map with the SharePoint page visible inside of Dynamics CRM.

#### Tip

When making multiple changes to an XML file (such as a site map or a Ribbon menu) we recommend making a single change at a time and uploading the file. This will aid you in troubleshooting any mistakes that you make in modifying the XML.

#### Customizing the getting started pane

The getting started pane, the "helper" area that you see at the top of most CRM pages that can be minimized, can be customized to show a custom pane for a navigation item. This can be a helpful way to add training information related to a custom entity that you develop. The getting started pane can use HTML or Silverlight Web resources to display content. You also have the option of setting up different getting started panes for the Web client and for the Outlook client. In addition, you can have a different pane available for administrators if desired (for example, you could set up a pane that allows administrators to add more links to the getting started pane).

Note that a getting started pane cannot be added to items on the site map that use a URL (such as an outside Web site or an HTML Web resource). You can, however, create your own getting started area with those resources prior to integrating them into the Dynamics CRM site map.

Changing the getting started area is done in the same manner, and on the same file, as modifying the site map. You can embed one or more of the four attributes in the example below into the appropriate sub-area of the site map to customize the getting started area. For purposes of the sample code, we have created a custom getting started pane for the custom Plant entity that we created in Dynamics CRM. These attributes point to a Silverlight or HTML Web resource — so remember to create those resources and include the path to them along with the attribute.

<SubArea Id="c5i\_plant" Entity="c5i\_plant" GetStartedPanePath="\$webre source:c5i\_PlantGetStartedPane" GetStartedPanePathAdmin="\$webreso urce:c5i\_PlantGetStartedPane" GetStartedPanePathOutlook="\$webreso urce:c5i\_PlantGetStartedPane" GetStartedPanePathAdminOutlook="\$we bresource:c5i\_PlantGetStartedPane"/>

#### FIGURE 21.19

Updated Dynamics CRM navigation with embedded SharePoint site visible



As you can see, we made four entries for the pane that all point to the same Web resource. If you want to present a different view to administrators, or to users of Outlook, you can change the Web resources accordingly. Using this approach, you can provide administrative access to revise the pane, and you can provide a different set of instructions to Outlook users and Web users.

#### Modifying the Ribbon menu

The Ribbon menus that appear throughout the application can be customized in a manner similar to the site map. Ribbon menus allow a large range of flexibility, but be forewarned that this flexibility carries with it some additional complexity in understanding the XML files. We will cover a couple of examples here, and you can also consult the SDK for a comprehensive overview. The basic options for extending Ribbon menus include:

- Adding new buttons or hiding existing buttons
- Adding custom groups (buttons within a section of a tab) to menus
- Updating ribbons at the entity, or application level
- Adding custom tabs to menus

#### Caution

Although it is possible to hide buttons from the ribbon menu, directly updating the menu is not always the appropriate option. For example, if you want to prohibit a user from sharing Account records with other users, you can set this up with the correct usage of security roles. Be sure to fully understand the requirements and the capabilities of Dynamics CRM before modifying the ribbon through the use of XML files.

The Ribbon menu is maintained in an XML file. To modify the Ribbon menu, you export the XML file, modify it using a text editor, and then reimport it into Dynamics CRM. In the procedure below, we add a custom button to the Account tab that will automatically launch a dialog. For purposes of this exercise, we will be adding a button to the ribbon for both the Account grid and the Account form. We will be adding it to the processes group to the right of the Dialog button.

1. There are a number of settings you will need to have on hand before you begin making edits to the menu. These settings will tell the menu where you want your button displayed, how it will behave, and what action you want it to perform. You'll need to gather this information from a file in the SDK directory:

```
SDK\SampleCode\CS\Client\Ribbon\ExportRibbonXml\ExportedRibbonXml.
For this exercise, we will be looking at the accountribbon.xml
file. Open this file (ideally in an XML editor).
```

**2.** In the above referenced file, we will be looking for the IDs in the process section (which, although it is named process in the user interface, is actually named workflow in the XML file). When you initially open the XML file to peruse it for the proper IDs, it may look a little intimidating. You can, however, expand and collapse sections on the left-hand side of the screen (assuming you are using the Visual Studio or similar editor) to find just the section that you're looking for. In Figure 21.20 I have found the appropriate sections and left them expanded so you can see them. The IDs that we are looking for are:

- Template attribute value for the form and homepage workflow group: Mscrm. Templates.Flexible
- Workflow Control ID in the homepage: Mscrm.HomepageGrid.account.MainTab. Workflow.Controls (you will add .\_children to this)
- Workflow Control ID in the form page: Mscrm.Form.account.MainTab.Workflow. Controls(you will add .\_children to this)

#### FIGURE 21.20

The accountribbon.xml file in Visual Studio / Visual Web Developer Express

E	<pre><group command="Mscrm.Enabled" id="Mscrm.Homepage6" im<="" pre="" sequence="20" template="Mscrm.Templates" title="\$Resources:Ribb"></group></pre>
÷.	<pre><group <="" command="Mscrm.Enabled" id="Mscrm.Homepage6" image32by32popup="/_imgs/ribb" pre="" sequence="30" title="\$Resources:Ribb"></group></pre>
Ė.	<pre><group command="Mscrm.Enabled" id="Mscrm.HomepageGrid.account.MainTab.Workflow" mscrm.homepagegrid.account.maintab.workflow.controls"="" sequence="40" title="\$Resources:Ribbon.&lt;/pre&gt;&lt;/th&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;th&gt;Ė.&lt;/th&gt;&lt;th&gt;&lt;Controls Id="></group></pre>
	<button command="Mscrm.OutlookHe" id="Mscrm.HomepageGrid.account.RunWorkflow" image32by32popup="/_imgs/ribb&lt;/pre&gt;&lt;/th&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;th&gt;Ē.&lt;/th&gt;&lt;th&gt;&lt;pre&gt;&lt;Group Id=" mscrm.homepage6"="" mscrm.homepagegrid.account.runscript"="" sequence="70" template="Mscrm.Templates" title="\$Resources:Ribb" tooltiptitle="\$Resources:Ribbon.HomepageGrid.Data.InteractiveWork&lt;/th&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;th&gt;&lt;/th&gt;&lt;th&gt;&lt;/Controls&gt;&lt;/th&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;th&gt;[&lt;/th&gt;&lt;th&gt;&lt;/Group&gt;&lt;/th&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;th&gt;×.&lt;/th&gt;&lt;th&gt;&lt;pre&gt;&lt;Group Id="></button>

- **3.** For our project, we want to place our button to the right of the Dialog button (called RunScript in the XML) that is in the workflow group of the ribbon menu. So you will need to find the sequence number for that button. Still in the accountribbon.xml file, you'll need to search for button sequence number. It's in the same section that you found the IDs in, just a bit farther down.
  - The sequence number for the homepage: 50
  - The sequence number for the form: 25
- **4.** Also still in the accountribbon.xml file, you should take note of the TemplateAlias value for other controls in the group. This is on the same line as the sequence numbers that you found in Step 6. Note that different sizes of buttons use different templates. Large buttons use template "o1" and small buttons use template "o2." Note that the leading character is a lowercase letter O (not a zero). You are done with the accountribbon.xml file now you can safely close it.
- **5.** Now you need to create the Web resources required for your button. In the previous section, we created a JScript Web resource that we will use. You'll also need to create a 16x16 and 32x32 image to use in the button (these can be in any of the graphics formats supported in the Web resources area). Make a note of the URL for your image files and for the JScript resource that you created (replacing the full path with the \$webresource attribute). Our files are as follows (yours will vary depending on what you named them):
  - JScript: \$webresource:c5i\_CollectionsDialog (note that we made changes to the code to include the Dialog GUID so we don't have to pass it in from the ribbon menu)
  - Small (16x16) Icon: \$webresource:c5i\_BrokenHeartSmall
  - Large (32x32) Icon: \$webresource:c5i\_BrokenHeartLarge

- **6.** The next step is to export a solution that contains the Account entity (or whichever entity you want to customize the ribbon for). You can export any solution that contains the Account entity, but to make your job of editing the file simpler, we recommend you create a custom solution that contains only the Account entity. Check Chapter 16 if you need some insight on exporting solutions.
- **7.** The solution will be exported in a ZIP file containing three files. Extract the ZIP file to a separate directory. You will be working on the file named customizations.xml.
- **8.** Open the file for editing. As mentioned above, we highly recommend a text editor that supports both formatted XML and XSD validation. For more information on how to configure Visual Web Developer Express, see the SDK (search for the topic Exporting, Preparing to Edit, and Importing the Ribbon).
- 9. Locate the node called RibbonDiffXml. All of your edits will be made to this node.
- **10.** The finalized RibbonDiffXml node will contain quite a bit of additional code (a full copy of the code can be found on the Website www.dynamicscrmbible.com). Creating the code requires modifying the following four sections of the XML file:
  - The RuleDefinitions node defines when the buttons will be displayed and any rules related to disabling the buttons under certain circumstances. The rules we set here ensure that the button does not appear on a new record until it has been saved, that the buttons only appear in the Web version of Dynamics CRM (not Outlook), and that only one record can have the button applied to it at a time.
  - The LocLabels node defines how the buttons will be labeled and what tooltip will be presented when the user hovers over the button. If you are using a multilingual configuration, then you can set up labels for each installed language.
  - The CommandDefinitions node groups together and enables multiple RuleDefinitions. It also points to the action (our JScript file) that should be performed.
  - The CustomActions node defines the icons, location, and sequence of the buttons. You use the values you obtained in earlier steps of this procedure to plug into this node.

The above instructions are for updating a ribbon for an entity. You can follow a similar procedure to update an application ribbon. For application ribbons, you will export a solution that contains the Application Ribbon under the Client Extensions component. Again, the SDK offers a comprehensive reference guide to the Ribbon menus that you should use when making any modifications.

#### **Updating chart XML**

In other chapters, we discussed designing charts by using the controls built into the user interface in Dynamics CRM. You can also export the chart XML and make changes to charts beyond what can be accomplished in the user interface. Once completed, you can reimport your charts to display the new functionality. Charts can be created (or modified) to add a second axis to a chart, create a new chart type (such as a doughnut), or change the formatting and coloring of a chart.

To export the XML for a chart, begin by navigating to the entity with the chart you wish to update. Be sure that the chart is displayed next to the grid. Next, click the view tab in the ribbon menu and click the Export Chart button. Save the XML to your desktop and open it in an XML editor. Figure 21.21 illustrates a pie chart that was created in Dynamics CRM that was then exported and transformed into a doughnut chart.

### Tip

Some of the charts included with Dynamics CRM include functionality that cannot be re-created directly through the user interface. You can export these charts and review the XML to get an idea of the possibilities.

### Tip

Charts in Dynamics CRM use the ASP.NET charting controls included in the .NET framework. You can download or view the documentation for this online to give you some ideas of how you can further customize the charts.

#### FIGURE 21.21

A doughnut chart created by updating the chart XML file



#### **Updating process XAML**

The Dynamics CRM process engine is built using the Microsoft Windows Workflow Foundation. This is the same toolset that is used to manage processes in SharePoint and to build processes using the .NET development platform. Because processes use this foundation, you can export them into a file (called a XAML file) and import them into .NET. Once they have been imported into .NET, you can make additional customizations to them that cannot be made directly within the Dynamics CRM user interface. This opens up additional functions for use within your processes. Figure 21.22 is an example of a workflow that was exported from Dynamics CRM and opened in .NET.

#### Caution

Processes that have been modified in .NET cannot be imported into Dynamics CRM Online at the time of this writing.

#### **FIGURE 21.22**

Modifying a process using Visual Studio .NET



# Summary

In this chapter, we have presented an overview of the possibilities available to you through client-side customizations. With all of the example code provided, we have only just scratched the surface of the possibilities. If you want to go deeper with coding, then once you are comfortable with the concepts in this chapter, spend some time reviewing the SDK. You will also benefit from doing some Web searches on "Dynamics CRM JScript" and similar terms.

If, on the other hand, your preference is to steer clear of writing code, then you should at least be familiar with the concepts presented in this chapter. As a system customizer, you can align yourself with qualified developers and have them write code for you while you focus on the design components of the Dynamics CRM user interface. By understanding this chapter (and the next) you will know what kind of development options are available and the kind of code to suggest to your developer.

When using all of the different client-side customization options available, there is literally a limitless range of functions that you can configure Dynamics CRM to deliver. When combined with other extension possibilities through server-side customization (covered in the next chapter) and SharePoint integration, organizations can meet virtually all of their data management and business process automation needs.

# CHAPTER

# Working with Server-Side Customizations

s previous chapters show, Microsoft has released an incredibly powerful and extensible platform that can be tailored to an endless variety of business processes through GUI-based configuration tools and client-side techniques familiar to many Web technologists. The company has also incorporated a robust and flexible server-side programming architecture, enabling developers to tap into the power of the Dynamics CRM platform in order to supplement the system's functionality or build entirely new functionality in a supportable and scalable manner. The goal of this chapter is to introduce you to the concepts and techniques used to extend the functionality of the Dynamics CRM platform with server-side technologies.

As far back as version 3.0, Dynamics CRM started to emerge as a compelling platform for applications that had little to do with traditional customer relationship management. Still, many developers were stymied by some of the quirks of developing with Dynamics CRM. For example, some of the system's custom data types didn't behave the same way as their standard .NET counterparts. The many little quirks compounded together sometimes made for a steep and unpredictable learning curve.

With version 4.0 the idea of XRM really took hold. The application programming interface (API) and the Software Development Kit (SDK) had matured significantly. New and improved features, such as an improved plug-in model, a new Asynchronous Service, and advances in leveraging the .NET Framework, among other improvements, made it possible to build custom line-of-business applications with advanced functionality in a fraction of the time that it would take to develop them from scratch.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Custom Development Architecture

The Dynamics CRM API

Using plug-ins to extend the platform

**REST/OData interface** 

Extending to the cloud with Azure

Custom workflow rules

#### **Cross-Reference**

An exploration of XRM — also known as eXtended Relationship Management — is covered in Chapter 27, including some example scenarios that combine many of the customization techniques described in this and other chapters.

With the release of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, Microsoft has made tremendous strides toward providing a standards-based development experience on a world-class, powerful platform. Microsoft refers to the platform architecture and capabilities in Dynamics CRM as the XRM platform to distinguish it from the customer relationship management functionality that has been the hallmark of the application. This distinction provides an important insight into the development model for Dynamics CRM.

In addition to expanding upon its ability to leverage newer versions of the underlying technologies such as Visual Studio 2010, the .NET 4.0 Framework, Silverlight, LINQ, and the Windows Workflow Foundation, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 has also been significantly re-architected to use newly emerging technologies such as OData and Azure cloud services. Microsoft's aim with this redesign of the platform was to make it possible to maintain parity between the application's codebase regardless of where it is installed. Whether hosted in the cloud (Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online or partner-hosted) or installed on your company's servers, this version of Dynamics CRM was built to provide programmers with as similar a development experience as possible across all deployment models.

With these improvements to the development experience, ISVs (Integrated Software Vendors), Microsoft partners, and .NET developers can use their existing development skills to quickly begin extending Dynamics CRM.

### Note

To successfully create and deploy server-side customizations requires an understanding of .NET development languages such as Visual C#, as well as familiarity with common Microsoft server technologies, tools, and development practices. In addition to this chapter, read the Microsoft Dynamics CRM SDK, a free download, to understand how these technologies can be used in the context of Dynamics CRM. The SDK contains many useful tools, resources, samples, and guides for developing server-side customizations.

# **Becoming Familiar with Dynamics CRM's Architecture and Development Model**

Dynamics CRM is built on Microsoft's .NET development framework, which provides base classes, utilities, and a common language runtime. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 runs on version 4 of the .NET Framework, leveraging many of the improvements in its core components such as the Windows Communication Foundation and Windows Workflow Foundation, and data services. The .NET Framework 4 includes improved support for the latest technologies for rich Web applications like RESTful data operations, improved performance, and enhanced developer experiences.

### **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 20 contains a comprehensive introduction to the SDK, as well as instructions for setting up a development environment. You can also find a lot of useful information, extensions, and code samples by visiting the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Developer Forum, Codeplex (Microsoft's open-source project site), and the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Team Blog. See Appendix B for links to these and other developer resources.

Some of the changes that will be immediately apparent to developers who have worked with previous versions of Dynamics CRM are:

- The Metadata and CRMService Web services interfaces have been combined into one Web service, the IOrganizationService. This enables a simpler and more streamlined interface to speed development, simplify troubleshooting, and improve performance.
- A new assembly that you can reference in your solutions, Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk.dll, provides the main access to the IOrganizationService. Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk provides the primary classes that developers will use to leverage the security, metadata, data, and services operations within Dynamics CRM.
- Where possible, Dynamics CRM data types have been replaced with native .NET data types (see the "New data types in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011" sidebar).

### **Exploring the Extensibility Architecture**

In addition to making use of the improved .NET framework components, Dynamics CRM's own extensibility has been redesigned to provide a more standards-based development experience, relying heavily on the Windows Communication Foundation (see the "What is WCF?" sidebar). The system uses a state-of-the-art service-oriented application (SOA) architecture, shown in Figure 22.1, with a synchronous and asynchronous services platform at its core, accessed via a Web services API.

Dynamics CRM's extensible architecture consists of the following components:

- Web Services API. The Web services interface includes three distinct APIs: the Deployment Web service, the Discovery Web service and the IOrganization Web service.
- **Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk and the CrmSvcUtil.exe.** The Xrm.Sdk assembly provides the platform classes for custom code, and the CRM Service Utility is used to generate classes specific to customized metadata.
- **Event Framework.** An event pipeline framework where messages sent through the API can be sent to custom plug-ins, including the Azure Service Bus, or custom workflow assemblies.
- **Platform Services.** The platform provides synchronous and asynchronous processes; a sandbox service that provides isolation and the ability to run custom plugins on Dynamics CRM Online.

#### FIGURE 22.1

Dynamics CRM's architecture provides a robust development model that leverages a Web services API to enable developers to extend the platform's functionality and integrate with custom applications.



### New Data Types in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011\_

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 has updated attribute data types, replacing custom CRM types with native .NET data types where possible. Removing this layer of abstraction makes it easier for .NET developers new to Dynamics CRM to begin programming, as well as provides a minor performance improvement. Additionally, changes in the API such as the new Entity class have resulted in several updated data types that are specific to Dynamics CRM.

4.0 Data Type	2011 Data Type
CrmBoolean	System.Boolean or bool
CrmDateTime	System.DateTime
CrmDecimal	System.Decimal or decimal
CrmFloat	System.Double or double
CrmNumber	System.Integer or int
Key or Uniqueldentifier	System.Guid

#### Dynamics CRM 4.0 Data Types Replaced by Native .NET Data Types

Updated Data Types						
4.0 data type	2011 Data Type					
DynamicEntity	EntityCollection					
activityparty	EntityCollection or ActivityParty					
Customer, Lookup, and Owner	EntityReference					
CrmMoney	Money					
Picklist	OptionSetValue					
Status	OptionSetValue or int					

In addition to the changes to data types, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 also introduces new, separate formatted values for some attribute types. For example, an int attribute such as the duration field in a contract might contain a value of 1000. The formatted value — which could be addressed like this in custom code: (contractEntity.FormattedValues["duration"]) — would return the value with the comma: 1,000.

Numerous options are available for tapping into these pieces of the platform, either as part of the platform operations or from custom client applications:

- **SOAP.** SOAP calls are the primary method that the application layer and clients interact with the platform layer. SOAP stands for Simple Object Access Protocol and is the standard protocol for interacting with Web services.
- **REST.** In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 there is a new REST endpoint that uses the OData protocol to interact with data and platform operations. OData is an emerging open standard syntax for working with data via strings passed in a URL to the REST endpoint.
- **Plug-ins.** Plug-ins are custom assemblies (DLL files) that are registered with the Dynamics CRM platform, and which essentially act as part of the platform. Plug-ins can be fired on a wide variety of messages. As the message traverses the event pipeline, the custom logic is fired.
- Azure AppFabric. Azure, Microsoft's cloud-based computing platform, provides application hosting and storage, SQL database services, and a processing platform that can be used to host highly scalable applications. Dynamics CRM has built-in support for interacting with Azure via Azure's AppFabric, the service that provides access control and messaging between applications.
- **Custom workflow extensions.** Developers can create custom assemblies to extend the functionality of the built-in process and workflow tools, and register these with the Dynamics CRM platform. Custom workflow assemblies are not supported in Dynamics CRM Online.

### What Is WCF?

The Windows Communication Foundation was released with version 3.0 of the .NET Framework. Its purpose was to simplify the connection between Web services endpoints by providing a standard set of components to handle the binding between clients and services. WCF is the key element in Microsoft's framework for building service-oriented applications.

Put simply, a service-oriented application (SOA) is designed to take advantage of the processing, logic and data from one or more services, whether on the Web, a server, or a client device. Service-oriented applications typically use the channels, protocols, and languages of the Web. In other words, they use Web services to exchange information.

In order for these sometimes disparate services to work together, the client and service components need to know three things: 1) where to find one another; 2) how to talk to one another; and 3) what type of communication is desired and allowed. These three items are often referred to as the ABCs of service-oriented applications: the Address, the Binding, and the Contract.

SOA architecture design is intended to enable interoperability between different systems, including different operating systems, different programming languages, and different protocols. This approach to application design provides many benefits, but it can also present developers with incredible complexity. WCF helps to overcome this complexity by providing developers with an extensible library of .NET classes that enable interoperable Web services, messaging communications, and data access — essentially wrapping up the underlying .NET technologies.

In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, the contract that WCF accesses is the IOrganizationService, the new Web service that combines the metadata and data in the organization deployment.

See Appendix B for links to more information about WCF.

# **Developing Server-Side Extensions for Different Deployment Scenarios**

There are a number of different options for adding server-side code to your Dynamics CRM system, depending on where your code will be deployed, when it will be triggered, and what its intended function is. Custom code can be stored in the Dynamics CRM database, on the server disk, as part of the server's global assembly cache (GAC), or even in the cloud. In some cases, server-side extensions can be configured to work even when a user is using the Outlook client in offline mode. And, with Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, server-side code can now be used with Microsoft's hosted Dynamics CRM Online. This section explores these deployment options in detail.

### Deciding where to store your custom server-side code

Microsoft has provided a great deal of flexibility to developers on where custom server-side plug-ins can be stored. When registering plug-ins to the platform, developers are provided with three options for storing the plug-in assemblies:

- **Database:** This is the preferred and default location for plug-in assemblies. When a plug-in is stored in the database, the platform can synchronize the code to client applications, and the plug-in will be replicated across all the SQL Servers in the deployment. This is the only option for Dynamics CRM Online.
- **The server disk:** This option is generally used during development to simplify debugging. Deploying custom assemblies to the disk means that the assemblies will not be copied to other servers in the deployment automatically.
- The server's global assembly cache (GAC): Typically, plug-in assemblies are not registered to the GAC. However, if your custom code has dependencies on other assemblies, the other assemblies must be copied to the GAC (located at C: \ Windows\assembly).

### Deploying code for offline use

Because plug-ins can be registered to the database, they can also synchronize to the Outlook client and perform their functions even when the Outlook client is offline. Plug-ins can be registered to run online, offline, or both. However, care must be taken when creating a plug-in that will be registered to run offline to ensure that it does not get triggered a second time when the client synchronizes with the server. When the Outlook client is brought back online, the synchronization process plays back the changes that were made offline, potentially causing plug-ins to fire on the server that have already fired on the offline client. To avoid this, your code can check two properties:

- IsExecutingOffline: This is a property of the ExecutionContext method which can be used to see if the code is being called while offline.
- IsOfflinePlayback: This property can be used to check if code has already run offline to avoid running it again during playback.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 has simplified the process of adding custom code that will run on the client by incorporating Web resources that can be called from events on the application's forms. However, these Web resources are limited to client technologies like HTML and JavaScript, and cannot be used to store server-side code like ASPX pages. Version 4.0 introduced the ISV folder in the Dynamics CRM Web site root on both the server and the offline client. The ISV folder is a convenient place to store application files and resources so they can run in the context of Dynamics CRM's security and processes.

The ISV folder is still available in the latest version of Dynamics CRM, though it is being deprecated. However, it is still a favorite option for developers who wish to deploy server technologies to offline clients. The ISV folder on the offline client is not automatically synchronized with its server counterpart, so developers must create an installation or updating process to place application files in offline clients. The default location of the folder for offline clients is <drive>:\Program Files\Microsoft Dynamics CRM \Client\ res\web\ISV. Custom assemblies can be placed in the bin folder on the client, located at <drive>:\Program Files\Microsoft Dynamics CRM\Client\res\web\bin.

One of the reasons that the ISV folder is being deprecated is that Microsoft is encouraging greater use of new technologies such as Azure cloud services. Azure is Microsoft's cloud computing platform. Using Azure to host ISV applications allows Microsoft to maintain parity between codebases for the different deployment models, since both on-premise and hosted deployments can leverage Azure-hosted applications. For offline use, Azure has recently introduced a client synchronization framework, Azure Data Sync, that incorporates the Sync Framework to provide an experience with Azure databases and applications that is similar to working with Outlook in offline cached mode. Potentially, developers could use Azure Data Sync to create cloud-based, integrated applications that work both online and offline, and therefore can interact with Dynamics CRM clients while offline.

### Comparing the sandbox service to non-isolated mode

As Microsoft has moved to make their hosted Dynamics CRM Online offering more extensible, and in keeping with the goal of maintaining parity between the codebase for different deployment models, the company has incorporated a new, isolated processing service called the sandbox service.

The sandbox service enables custom server-side plug-ins to be deployed to Dynamics CRM Online, essentially allowing custom code to become part of the platform, without the risk of interfering with other organizations' deployments. Partners who offer hosted Dynamics CRM may also limit their customers to the isolated sandbox service in order to offer server-side extensibility in a multitenant environment.

When a plug-in is registered in the sandbox service it runs in an isolated mode, its access to system files, network resources, and machine registries is restricted. Additionally, interactions with external services, such as an application or database, rely on using the Azure AppFabric Service Bus to handle communication between the isolated plug-in and the external service.

The isolation of custom code in the sandbox service also means that custom plug-ins cannot write to log files. Therefore, the platform handles the recording of each execution of a plug-in (whether sandboxed or non-isolated) in a table in the database called PluginTypeStatistic Base. There are also views (PluginTypeStatistic and FilteredPluginTypeStatistic) provided that can be read with code (for Dynamics CRM Online) or in a report (for on-premises deployments). A summary of the plug-in's outcome, failure rate, and other statistics is recorded in the statistic record.

#### Tip

The sandbox service is only used for running plug-ins in isolation. For on-premises deployments of Dynamics CRM, if you do not wish to run custom code in an isolated fashion, you can disable the sandbox service on the Dynamics CRM server. The service can be disabled from the Services snap-in.

#### Creating plug-ins for the sandbox

Because the sandbox service was created to enable server-side code to run in Dynamics CRM Online, there are certain requirements for how sandbox plug-ins must be designed as compared to non-isolated plug-ins:

- They must use the current API. Sandboxed plug-ins can only use the 2011 version of the Dynamics CRM interface. The older APIs which are included in Dynamics CRM to support backwards compatibility are not supported in assemblies running in the sandbox service.
- Strong-naming. Any assemblies that will be registered in the sandbox must be strong-named. Strong-naming an assembly ensures that the assembly contains a unique name made up of the assembly's name, version number, and a public key. Microsoft will maintain a list of untrusted publishers for Dynamics CRM Online and check the strong-name of a custom assembly against this list. If the public key is on this list, the assembly cannot be registered to Dynamics CRM Online.

#### Setting up users to deploy plug-ins

Certain privileges are required in order to register plug-ins with Dynamics CRM. These privileges vary slightly depending on whether the plug-in will be registered in the isolated sandbox service or in a non-isolated mode.

To register a plug-in in either mode, users must have create privileges on the entities in the following list (see Figure 22.2). The System Administrator and System Customizer roles contain these privileges by default.

- Plug-in Assembly
- Plug-in Type
- Sdk Message Processing Step
- Sdk Message Processing Step Image
- Sdk Message Processing Step Secure Configuration

In order to register a plug-in to run in non-isolated mode, the user must also be a Deployment Administrator. The user account that was used to install Dynamics CRM is automatically created as a Deployment Administrator and can therefore run the Deployment Manager in order to add other Deployment Administrator users. (There is no way to set up a user as a Deployment Administrator within the Dynamics CRM interface.)

If a user who is not a Deployment Administrator attempts to register a non-isolated plug-in, an error is thrown stating that the user does not have the privileges required to complete a create operation on an SDK entity.

Users registering sandboxed plug-ins do not need to be Deployment Administrators, because this would obviate the purpose of the sandbox service, which is to enable server-side code to be deployed to Dynamics CRM Online. However, they must have the privileges listed above.

#### FIGURE 22.2

In order to register a plug-in, a user's security role must have certain privileges.

💮 🗢 加 http://2008r2-demo:555	5/SuccessAc	celerators/b	oiz/roles/edit.asj	ox?id=%7b9	5303B68-909A-	DF11-A732-	00155 🛨 🐓	X 🖲 Bing		
avorites 🏼 🐊 Security Roles: All	Rol	Security	Role: Syst	×			ł	🕯 <b>-</b> 🗟 -	🖃 🖶 🔻 Page 🔻	Safety 👻 Tools 👻
📕 🛃 Save and Close 🔓	Actions	•								@ <u>H</u> elp (ALT+ ⊢
Security Role: System A	dminist	rator							Working on solu	tion: Default Soluti
etails Core Records Marketing	Sales	Service	Business Man	agement	Service Manag	gement	Customization	Documents	Missing Entities	Custom Entities
ntitv	Create	Read	Write	Delete	Append	Append	To Assian	Share		-
ttribute Map	•	٠	•	•						
ustomizations	•	•	•	•						
ialog Session	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		
ntity	•	•	•	•						
ntity Map	•	•	•	•		•				
ield	•	•	•	•						
orm	•	•	•	•						
nportJob		•	•	•						
nportLog	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		
ption Set	•	•	•	•						
lug-in Assembly	•	•	•	•						
lug-in Type	•	•	•	•						
rocess	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		
ublisher	•	•	•	•	•	•				
elationship	•	•	•	•						
dk Message	•	•	•	•						
dk Message Processing Step	•	•	•	•						
dk Message Processing Step Image	•	•	•	•						
dk Message Processing Step Secure onfiguration	•	•	•	٠						
ervice Endpoint	•	•	•	•						
olution	•	•	•	•	•	•				
	-									
Key										
None Selected	User	Busin	iess Unit		Parent: Child	Business U	Inits		Organizat	ion

## **Interfacing with Dynamics CRM**

The primary means of interfacing with the Dynamics CRM platform is through SOAP messages passed from the client application to the Web services. However, unlike previous versions that used a dynamically generated WSDL as the endpoint, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 incorporates a new development model. The WSDL endpoint is still available for backwards compatibility and for use from non-.NET applications, but applications using this endpoint will not be able to leverage new functionality.

### Understanding the Web services

There are three main Web services that developers can use to extend the Dynamics CRM platform:

• **Deployment Web service:** The deployment Web service provides an interface to the services and operations that Deployment Administrators can use to create or import organizations, enable and disable organizations, add deployment administrators, configure internet-facing deployment and claims-based authentication, and other operations.

- **Discovery Web service:** The discovery Web service helps to identify the organization that a developer's custom code will be working with. The discovery service identifies the organizations that are available in a deployment.
- **IOrganizationService:** The main interface in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is the IOrganizationService. This is the new, combined Web service endpoint that includes both the data and metadata that in previous versions were accessed through the CrmService and the CrmMetadataService, respectively. The combined interface provides a more streamlined development experience and faster response when the service is instantiated.

In addition to using SOAP messages against these Web services, the new WCF interface also enables a REST interface, making it easier to create AJAX or Silverlight client applications that interact with the Dynamics CRM Web services.

### Accessing the Web services

The primary API under the new development model is a WCF interface that introduces the concepts of late-bound and early-bound programming. Late-bound programming is loosely typed and is an approach that can be used for plug-ins and extensions that do not depend on the specifics of an organization's data model. For example, a plug-in may be developed that performs certain business logic on the create event of any entity against which it is registered. Early-bound programming, on the other hand, means that the developer knows the entity and attribute names within an organization, and the code references these specifically.

For late-bound development, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 provides the Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk and the Microsoft.Crm.Sdk assemblies. Adding references to these assemblies in your custom code provides access to all the classes needed to work with the Dynamics CRM platform in a late-bound fashion.

To create an organization-specific endpoint that includes the details of customizations for early-bound development, Microsoft has provided the CRM Service Utility, which is used to generate an output file that can be referenced in custom code. Referencing this output file enables IntelliSense and creates a class for each system and custom entity in the organization. The utility is run from a command line with parameters specifying the organization name and the desired name of the output file.

To run the CRM Service Utility for an on-premises deployment, follow the steps below. For a Dynamics CRM Online organization or an IFD organization, refer to the SDK for the correct URL format for Step 3.

- 1. The CrmSvcUtil.exe and the Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk.dll files must be in the same folder. They are available with the Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 SDK. The CrmSvcUtil.exe file is in the /Tools/CodeGen folder in the folder where you installed the SDK. Copy the Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk.dll from the SDK's Bin folder to the same folder.
- **2.** Open a command prompt and navigate to the folder where the two files are located.

**3.** Run this command, replacing the items in brackets with values appropriate for your deployment:

```
CrmSvcUtil.exe /url:http://[crmserver]/[OrgName]/XrmServices/2011/
Organization.svc /org:[OrgName] /out:[ClassFileName].cs /
username:[user] /password:[password] /domain:[domain]
```

- **4.** Depending on the amount of customization in your organization, the utility may take several minutes to run. When it is finished, a message will appear confirming that the code was written to the file specified.
- 5. To use the classes in a solution, copy the output file to the project folder, and launch Visual Studio. In Visual Studio, right-click the solution name in the Solution Explorer panel and choose Add ⇔ Existing Item. Select the class file and click Add.

# **Plugging-in to the Platform**

Plug-ins are one of the primary ways the platform is extended. They are deep custom extensions that essentially run as part of the Dynamics CRM platform. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 introduces a number of improvements to plug-in architecture:

- **Sandbox service.** As discussed earlier in this chapter, because plug-ins run in the same process context as the platform and, prior to the release of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, there was no separation between the custom code and the core operations of the platform, they were unable to run on Dynamics CRM Online. The new sandbox service resolves this dilemma, opening the potential for platform extension to a far greater audience.
- **Transaction participation.** In previous versions, plug-ins could not participate in database transactions, meaning that if the custom code failed at some point, operations that had already been performed were committed and the entire transaction could not be rolled back. Now, developers can group operations to take advantage of transaction rollback in case of a failure. The concepts of the Parent and Child Pipelines are also deprecated.
- **Query enhancements.** Query operations have been enhanced in Dynamics CRM. Developers can now query both an entity and records related to it, returning attributes from both entities. The resulting records can be sorted by columns from the related entities.
- Entity class replaces DynamicEntity. The DynamicEntity class is being deprecated and replaced with the new Entity class. Custom classes inherit from the Entity class, making it possible to have greater uniformity across your code.
- Enhanced LINQ provider. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 includes an improved and expanded version of the LINQ provider that was introduced in an update to the version 4.0 SDK. LINQ queries are automatically converted by the platform into Dynamics CRM-specific query expressions. This means that developers can create LINQ queries with standard types in their custom code, accessing WCF Data Services.

• **Tracing.** Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 now includes a diagnostic tracing functionality (the ITracingService interface) that can be incorporated into plug-in code to provide exception detail.

### Looking at how Dynamics CRM incorporates plug-ins

Plug-ins participate in the platform operations of Dynamics CRM. The pipeline is organization specific. Plug-in operations follow this general pattern:

- 1. A client application sends a message to the Dynamics CRM Web services interface.
- **2.** The message raises an event such as Create, Assign, or Retrieve.
- 3. This message creates an event pipeline, which consists of four stages.
- **4.** Plug-in code is registered to fire on one of these stages. It can run synchronously or asynchronously.
- **5.** The plug-in uses the IPlugin interface in the Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk assembly to access the Dynamics CRM API.

#### Message support for plug-ins

Dynamics CRM's API supports a large number of messages. Messages that are frequently used in plug-ins include:

- Assign
- Create
- Delete
- Execute
- Retrieve
- RetrieveMultiple
- Send
- SetState
- Update

The complete list of messages that can raise the event pipeline is included in an Excel file that comes with the SDK. Each entity has its own implementation of the messages, so, for example, a plug-in might be registered on the Update of the Contact entity. Update messages for other entities would not trigger the plug-in.

#### **Event pipeline stages**

There are four stages in the event pipeline:

- Pre-Stage (Outside Transaction)
- Pre-Stage (Inside Transaction)

- Post-Stage (Inside Transaction)
- Post-Stage (Outside Transaction)

These stages allow plug-in operations to occur either before or after the transaction, or as part of the transaction. Pre-Stage events trigger the plug-in code before the operation hits the platform, and Post-Stage plug-ins are fired after the operation. For example, a Pre-Stage plug-in that is fired on the Create message of an Account entity would carry out its custom business logic before the Account record is actually created in the platform.

#### Synchronous and asynchronous execution modes

Plug-ins that are registered to run synchronously will execute along with the core platform operation. The operation will not be considered complete until the synchronous plug-in is completed. Plug-ins that are registered for asynchronous execution are queued and processed by the Asynchronous Service. The platform operation completes regardless of the state of the plug-in operation.

### Walking through a sample plug-in

The SDK contains many code samples and a few plug-in examples. The following section walks through the steps involved in creating a simple plug-in using code snippets and examples based on examples from the SDK. The code in this section will create a plug-in that will be registered to fire when an account is created. When that happens, a task is created to remind the user to follow up with the account. (The sample code for this plug-in is available in the Dynamics CRM SDK.)

#### **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 20 provides instructions for acquiring the SDK and setting up a development environment, including the tools needed to follow the steps in this section.

- **1.** Launch Visual Studio 2010.
- 2. On the Start Page, click the link to create a new project. In the New Project dialog (see Figure 22.3), select Visual C# and click on the Class Library project template. Make sure the project template is set to use the .NET Framework 4. Name the project CRMBiblePlugin and set a location for it to be stored. Click OK.
- **3.** Add a reference to the required assemblies (Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk, System. ServiceModel, and System.Runtime.Serialization). In the Solution Explorer in Visual Studio, right-click on References and select the Add Reference... option.
- **4.** In the Add Reference dialog box, click on the Browse tab and navigate to the bin folder under the SDK installation path (see Figure 22.4). Select the Microsoft.Xrm. Sdk.dll application extension and click OK. Repeat this step to add a reference to the System.ServiceModel and System.Runtime.Serialization assemblies, which are part of the .NET Framework 4 and are responsible for implementing WCF classes.
Use the project templates in Visual Studio to start building a plug-in for Dynamics CRM. This example starts with a C# Class Library project template.

New Project									<u>?</u> ×
Recent Templates		.NET Fran	nework 4	<ul> <li>Sort by: Defau</li> </ul>	It	_		Search Installe	d Templates 🔎
Installed Templates		- cf	Windows Forms	Application	Vicual C#	-	Type: Visual	.*	
<ul> <li>Visual Basic</li> <li>Visual C#</li> <li>Windows</li> </ul>			WPF Application	Application	Visual C#		A project for c	reating a C# cla	iss library (.dll)
Web  Office Cloud		Eef	Console Applicat	tion	Visual C#				
Reporting		ECH	ASP.NET Web Ap	plication	Visual C#				
Silverlight		nc≇	Class Library		Visual C#				
WCF Workflow		C	ASP.NET MVC 2 V	Veb Application	Visual C#				
Visual F#     Other Project Types		C#	Silverlight Applic	ation	Visual C#				
<ul> <li>Database</li> <li>Test Projects</li> </ul>		C	Silverlight Class	Library	Visual C#	_			
Online Templates		c⊭	WCF Service App	lication	Visual C#				
		CH I	ASP.NET Dynami	c Data Entities We.	Visual C#				
			Windows Azure	Cloud Service	Visual C#				
		c≇ੈ	Excel 2010 Work	book	Visual C#	•			
Name:	CRMBiblePlugin								
Location:	c:\users\c5admin	document	s\visual studio 20	10\projects	•		Browse		
Solution name:	CRMBiblePlugin					V	Create directory	for solution	
						Г	Add to source o	ontrol	
								ОК	Cancel

# FIGURE 22.4

Adding a reference to the Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk.dll assembly, located in the bin folder of the SDK, and the .NET assembly System.ServiceModel

Add Reference				? ×
.NET COM Projects Browse Recent				
Look in: 👔 64bit	- G 🖻 🖻	▼		
Name 🔺 🗸 🔻	Date modified 🔻	Туре	▼ Size	
Microsoft.Crm.Outlook.Sdk.dll	7/8/2010 4:31 AM	Application	exte	17 KB
🚳 Microsoft.Crm.Sdk.Proxy.dll	7/8/2010 4:34 AM	Application	exte	188 KB
Microsoft.Xrm.DeploymentService.SdkP	7/8/2010 4:37 AM	Application	exte	47 KB
🗟 Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk.dll	7/8/2010 4:34 AM	Application	exte	282 KB
🚳 Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk.Workflow.dll	7/8/2010 4:34 AM	Application	exte	41 KB
<li>1</li>				1.1
File name: Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk.dll				-
Files or type: [Component Files [".dli;".tib;".olb;".	ocx;".exe;".manifestj			-
			ж	Cancel

- **5.** In the Class1.cs file, add a using directive for the System.ServiceModel and the Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk.
- **6.** Next, call the IPlugin interface by adding ": IPlugin" after Class1 public class. The Class1.cs file should look like this after you have completed this step:

```
using System;
using System.Collections.Generic;
using System.Linq;
using System.Text;
using System.ServiceModel;
using Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk;
namespace CRMBiblePlugin
{
    public class Class1: IPlugin
    {
    }
}
```

**7.** We are now ready to add our custom business logic from the SDK sample. Inside the IPlugin interface, type the following code:

```
public void Execute(IServiceProvider serviceProvider)
        {
            IPluginExecutionContext context =
   (IPluginExecutionContext) serviceProvider.GetService(typeof(IPlu
   ginExecutionContext));
            IOrganizationServiceFactory factory =
   (IOrganizationServiceFactory)serviceProvider.GetService(typeof(
   IOrganizationServiceFactory));
            ITracingService tracer = (ITracingService)
   serviceProvider.GetService(typeof(ITracingService));
            tracer.Trace("START: IPlugin.Execute");
            Entity entity = null;
            if (context.InputParameters.Contains("Target") &&
   context.InputParameters["Target"] is Entity)
            {
                entity = (Entity)context.
   InputParameters["Target"];
                if (entity.LogicalName != "account")
{
return;
}
            }
            else
            {
                return;
            }
            try
            {
                Entity followup = new Entity("task");
```

```
followup["subject"] = "Follow-up with new
account";
             followup["description"] = "Introduce company to
the new account.";
             followup["scheduledstart"] = DateTime.Now.
AddHours(72);
             followup["scheduledend"] = DateTime.Now.
AddHours(72);
            if (context.OutputParameters.Contains("id"))
                 Guid regardingobjectid = new Guid(context.
OutputParameters["id"].ToString());
                 string regardingobjectidType = "account";
                 followup["regardingobjectid"] = new EntityRefe
rence(regardingobjectidType, regardingobjectid);
            IOrganizationService service = factory.CreateOrgan
izationService(context.UserId);
            service.Create(followup, null);
         }
        catch (FaultException<OrganizationServiceFault> ex)
             throw new InvalidPluginExecutionException("An
error occurred in the AccountCreateHandler plug-in", ex);
        tracer.Trace("END: IPlugin.Execute");
         if (entity["name"].ToString().ToUpper().
Contains("THROW"))
             throw new InvalidPluginExecutionException("THROW
ING AN EXCEPTION THAT IS VISIBLE IN THE TRACE FILE IF TRACING
HAS BEEN ENABLED.");
         }
     }
```

- **8.** You must now sign the code before building the assembly. To sign the assembly, right-click on the solution name and choose Properties.
- **9.** In the Properties page for the plug-in, click the Signing tab (see Figure 22.5). Select the Sign the assembly option and from the drop-down menu choose <New...> to create a new strong name key file. The Create Strong Name Key dialog box opens.
- **10.** Provide a name and password that you wish to use to sign your assembly (see Figure 22.6). Then save and close the Properties page. You are now ready to build the plug-in to create the DLL file that you will register against the Dynamics CRM platform.
- **11.** In the Solution Explorer panel, right-click the project name and select "Build" from the context menu. The code will be compiled and the DLL file will be placed in the Debug folder of the project's bin.

Sign the assembly in Visual Studio before building the project.

	Class1.cs			<ul> <li>Solution Explorer</li> </ul>
				B 2 2 &
Application	Configuration: N/A	▼ Platform: N/A	-	CRMBiblePlugin
Build				References
Build Events	□ F Sign the ClickOnce manifests			- Microsoft, CSharp - Microsoft, Xrm, Sdk
	Certificate:			- System
Debug	Issued To (none) Issued By (none)		Select from Store	- System.Core - System.Data
Resources	Intended Purpose (none) Expiration Date (none)		Select from File	- System.Data.DataSetEx
Services			Country To the Country and	- System.Xml
Settings			Create lest Certificate	- System.Xml.Ling
secongs		More Details		
Reference Paths	Timestamp server URL:			
Signing*				
Code Analysis	✓ Sign the assembly			
	Choose a strong name key file:	-	Change Bacquard	Solution Explorer 🚮 Team Exp
	<new></new>	<u></u>	change ressoran	Properties
	< Brokse> When delay signed, the project will no	t run or be debuggable.		
		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		
				Total to a limit

#### FIGURE 22.6

Provide a name and password to create a strong name key for your plug-in assembly.

Create Strong Name Key	N	<u>? ×</u>
Key file name:	2	
CRMBiblePlugin		
🔽 Protect my key file with a password		
Enter password:		
•••••		
Confirm password:		
•••••		
	ок	Cancel

# Deploying a plug-in

After your custom code has been compiled and the DLL has been created, you can proceed to registering the plug-in with the Dynamics CRM platform. To register the plug-in you must use the Plug-In Registration Tool, which is available as part of the Dynamics CRM SDK. The Plug-in Registration Tool must be compiled before it can be run. (Microsoft provides the

Plug-in Registration Tool as a Visual Studio project so you can investigate and learn from the code behind the tool, which uses completely supported SDK methods.) Follow the instructions in the SDK to build the tool. Then, follow these steps to register your custom plug-in assembly:

- 1. Open the Plug-in Registration Tool by double-clicking the executable file in the SDK\ Tools\PluginRegistrationTool\bin\Debug folder.
- 2. When the tool launches, click the Create New Connection button (Figure 22.7).

# FIGURE 22.7

You must first create a new connection in the Plug-in Registration Tool.

💀 Plugin Registration Tool	
File View Help	
🗣 Create New Connection 🧭 Reload Organizations	Kemove Connection
Connection Information Connection Information Lebel Discovery URL: http://2008/2.demo.5555 User Name: Use Saved Credentials Connect Save Cancel	
Done	

- **3.** Enter a convenient label for the connection, and the address of the discovery service server. If you are running the registration tool on the Dynamics CRM server, you can enter a username and select Use saved credentials to automatically use Windows authentication to connect to the discovery service. Otherwise, leave these options blank. Click the Connect button.
- **4.** After connecting to the discovery service, the Plug-in Registration Tool displays the organizations available. Select an organization from the list and click the Connect button again to connect to the organization's Web service API. The tool now displays the registration panel (see Figure 22.8).
- **5.** To register the assembly, click the Register button and choose Register New Assembly or press Ctrl + A. The Register New Plugin dialog box opens, as shown in Figure 22.9.

The Plug-in Registration Tool, displaying a connection to a selected organization, and the registration panel

Connections	x  Dynamics CRM 2011: Success Accelerators	
Connectoriansis CRM 2011     Connectoriansis CRM 2011     Connectoriansis CRM 2011     Connectoriansis     Success Accelerators     Success Accelerators	Register - € Import / Export - ₩ View - □ - Registered Plugins 2 Custom Workflow Activities H → Kassenbly Microsoft Cm ServiceBus (Assembly) Microsoft Cm ServiceBus	Y Update ➤ Unregister   ➢ Refresh     Description     Description     Information     AssemblyId     StatemblyId     StatemblyId     StatemblyId     StatemblyId     StatemblyId     Statembly     Statembly     Statembly     Name     Name
Organization URLs CrmService URL: [http://2006i2.demo.5555/Succe You only need to change these if the incorrect value is being displayed. Connect Save Cancel	Assembly ModifiedOn Microsoft Crm. DijectModel 7/28/2010 9:39:54 PM Microsoft Crm. DijectModel 7/28/2010 9:39:54 PM	Save

- **6.** Click the Load Assembly button to navigate to the location of the DLL file for your plug-in. Select the isolation mode and the location that the plug-in should be stored. Then click the Register Selected Plugins button. When the plug-in has been registered, an information dialog box will appear. Click OK to close the information box.
- **7.** Next, you must specify on which entity message the plug-in will fire. Expand the assembly in the registration panel and right-click on the plug-in. Select Register New Step, shown in Figure 22.10.
- **8.** In the Register New Step dialog box (see Figure 22.11) set the following options. Note that the message and entity names are case-sensitive. Leave the defaults for the remaining options and click the Register New Step button.
  - Message: Create
  - Primary Entity: account
- **9.** The plug-in is now registered. To test this plug-in, create a new account record and check to see if a task is created as specified.

The "Register New Plugin" dialog box allows you to select the assembly, specify the isolation mode, and select the storage location for a plug-in.

	_ [ ]
- Step #1: Specify the Location of the Assembly to Analyze	
C:\Users\C5Admin\Documents\Visual Studio 2010\Projects\CRMBiblePlugin\I	CRMBiblePlugin\bin\Debug\CRMBiblePl
	Load Assembly
Step #2: Select the Plugins & Workflow Activities to Register	<b>E</b>
	I♥ Select All / Deselect All
□ □ □ □ (Assembly) CRMBiblePlugin □ □ □ □ □ □ (Plugin) CRMBiblePlugin. Class1 - Isolatable	
Step #3: Specify the Isolation Mode <b>Standbox</b> <b>Sandbox</b> All code in this assembly will be run in a secure sandbox (reduced functionality)	
(* None	
- Step #4: Specify the Location where the Assembly should be stored	
O Database	
Assembly is stored and loaded from the database. For debugging purporses, the \Server\bin\assembly of the main installation folder for each server that needs to	Symbols (.PDB files) must be in be debugged
in a second gradient and a second sec	
C Disk	
C Disk Assembly is stored and loaded from \Server\assembly\bin in the main installation purposes, the Symbols (.PDB files) must be located the same place as the assem	directory for each server. For debugging nbly.
Disk Assembly is stored and loaded from \Server\assembly\bin in the main installation purposes, the Symbols (PDB files) must be located the same place as the assen File Name on Server:     CRMBiblePlugin dll	n directory for each server. For debugging hbly.
Disk Assembly is stored and loaded from \Server\assembly\bin in the main installation purposes, the Symbols (PDB files) must be located the same place as the assem File Name on Server: CRMBiblePlugin dli     GAC	ı directory for each server. For debugging hbly.
C Disk Assembly is stored and loaded from \Server\assembly\bin in the main installation purposes, the Symbols (PDB files) must be located the same place as the assen File Name on Server: [CEMBblePlugin dl] C GAC File is placed in the GAC of each server where it will used.	directory for each server. For debugging hbly.
Disk Assembly\bin in the main installation purposes, the Symbols (PDB files) must be located the same place as the assen File Name on Server:     CRMBbblePlugin.dl     GAC File is placed in the GAC of each server where it will used. Loa	directory for each server. For debugging hbly.
Disk Assembly\bin in the main installation purposes, the Symbols (PDB files) must be located the same place as the assen File Name on Server:     [CRMBblePlugin.dl]     GAC File is placed in the GAC of each server where it will used. Log	directory for each server. For debugging
Disk Assembly/bin in the main installation purposes, the Symbols (PDB files) must be located the same place as the assen File Name on Server: CRMBiblePlugin dll     GAC File is placed in the GAC of each server where it will used. Log	directory for each server. For debugging
Disk Assembly/bin in the main installation purposes, the Symbols (PDB files) must be located the same place as the assen File Name on Server: CRMBiblePlugin dll     GAC File is placed in the GAC of each server where it will used. Log	directory for each server. For debugging
Disk Assembly\bin in the main installation purposes, the Symbols (PDB files) must be located the same place as the assen File Name on Server:     CEMBIblePlugin.dl     C     GAC File is placed in the GAC of each server where it will used.  Log	directory for each server. For debugging

Custom plug-ins that are registered with an organization can also be viewed and managed within a solution in the Dynamics CRM web client interface, where the steps for each plug-in can be deactivated and reactivated. To view the plug-ins that have been registered as part of a solution, in the Dynamics CRM Web client, navigate to the Settings area and open the Solution. The left-hand list of solution components includes a link to view the Plug-in Assemblies and the Sdk Message Processing Steps.

Select the plug-in and register a new step to specify which entity message the plug-in will be fired on.

Plugin Registration Tool		_ 🗆 ×
Create New Connection 🖉 Reload Organizations	X Remove Connection	
Connections	Dynamics CRM 2011: Success Accelerators	×
Oynamics CRM 2011     A 360 Centric     A, 360 Centric     A, construction     Success Accelerators     Success Accelerators	Register - ♥, Import / Export - ♥ Yew - ■ Edit Label × Unregister       Register New Assembly CitHble + Export - ■ Entable     Provide Assembly New Assembly CitH+A     None © SaBoc     CitH+T     Register New Step     CitH+T     Register New Step     CitH+T     Register New Issembly CitH+A     None © SaBoc     CitH+T     Register New Issembly CitH+A     None © Register New Issembly CitH+A     Register New Issembly CitH+A     None © Register New Issembly CitH+A     Register New Issembl	Refresh .92-999b-4 blePlugin.C 8c-f1ad 4975 blPlugin 10 4:13 AM
Organization URLs     CmGervice URL: [http://2009/2.demo.5555/Succer You only need to change these if the incorrect value is     being displayed.     ConnectSaveCancel	Name CreatedOn ModifiedOn Message PrimaryEnity Se	condaryEntity

# FIGURE 22.11

Specifying the message and entity for the plug-in.

Register New Step		<u>x</u>
General Configuration In Message:	nformation Create	Description
Primary Entity:	account	
Secondary Entity:		
Filtering Attributes:	Message does not support Filtered Attributes	Unsecure Configuration
Plugin:	(Plugin) CRMBiblePlugin.Class1 · Isolatable	<u>ـ</u>
Name:	Create account in Parent Pipeline	
Run in User's Context:	Calling User	
Execution Order:	1	<u> </u>
ServiceBus Configld:	Select	Secure Configuration
Eventing Pipeline Stage Pre Stage - Outside Pre Stage - Inside Tr	e of Execution Transaction C Asynchronous F Oeployment Transaction Server	
<ul> <li>Post Stage - Inside T</li> </ul>	ransaction Triggering Pipeline	
C Post Stage - Outside	Transaction       Parent Pipeline	-
	C Child Pipeline	
Delete AsyncOperatio	m if StatusCode = Successful	Register New Step Cancel

# **RESTing with Dynamics CRM**

REST is a major addition to the methods that can be used to interface with Dynamics CRM. REST, an acronym for Representational State Transfer, is a way of making CRUD operations possible through HTTP by simply appending querystring parameters to the URI of the REST endpoint. Because of its ease-of-use and flexibility, REST is poised to become a ubiquitous feature in many business and consumer applications. A RESTful API was one of the significant improvements in SharePoint 2010, and popular consumer Web sites like Netflix and Flickr. Microsoft SQL Azure and SQL Server 2008 R2 Reporting Services also have RESTful interfaces.

A RESTful endpoint enables developers to connect Web-based systems together using a variety of Web technologies like AJAX (Asynchronous JavaScript and XML), JSON (JavaScript Object Notation), or Silverlight.

REST can be implemented using a variety of technologies and protocols. Depending on the protocols used, RESTful endpoints can also be incorporated in server-side applications.

Microsoft has used the OData protocol to implement a RESTful API for Dynamics CRM. OData, short for the Open Data Protocol, is an open-source implementation of Microsoft's data services architecture that provides a standard syntax for querying and updating structured data. WCF Data Services enables .NET Framework 4 applications to use the OData protocol. OData returns data that is requested in an atom feed format (just like an RSS feed — in fact, your Web browser interprets the results as an RSS feed). When querying Dynamics CRM using the OData service, the platform interprets the request as a standard Dynamics CRM query expression.

# Querying Dynamics CRM's OData service

The REST endpoint for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is available at a URI in the following format:

http://<crmserver>/<orgname>/xrmservices/2011/organizationdata.svc

In Dynamics CRM, browsing to the endpoint above returns a list of data collections (see Figure 22.12).

# Tip

By default, Internet Explorer displays this data as a nicely formatted RSS feed. To see the underlying XML, disable the feed reading view from the Internet Options dialog. Click the Content tab and, in the Feeds and Web Slices section, click the Settings button. Deselect the Turn on feed reading view option.

Appending the name of one of the collections, or sets, to the endpoint URI will return a feed of the first 50 records in that collection. For example, adding /AccountSet will show the XML for the first 50 accounts in the organization's database. If there are more than 50 records, the end of the XML will contain a link reference with a special querystring parameter that can be used to skip to the next 50 records in the set:

Browsing to the organizationdata.svc endpoint returns the list of data sets in Dynamics CRM's REST API.



To access the metadata for an organization, append the metadata token to the endpoint URI:

http://<crmserver>/<orgname>/xrmservices/2011/organizationdata.svc/\$metadata

Query operations are performed by addressing a set and appending the querystring parameters to the end of the URI in the format \$parameter. Microsoft has implemented a subset of the OData query operations. The SDK includes a list of all of the support query operations, such as select, filter, and top, that can be used together to return data.

To return the properties for an account named Advanced Components, use query similar to the following:

http://<crmserver>/<orgname>/xrmservices/2011/organizationdata.svc/ AccountSet?\$filter=Name eq 'Advanced Components'

To specify the properties you wish returned, use the \$select parameter. When combining the \$select and \$filter operations, place the \$select parameter first. Figure 22.13 shows the results of this query:

```
http://<crmserver>/<orgname>/xrmservices/2011/organizationdata.svc/AccountSet?$s elect=AccountNumber,Address1_City&$filter=Name eq 'Advanced Components'
```

You can combine query operations to return only the desired properties of a specific record.



# Note

In addition to query operations, client applications built with technologies like JavaScript or Silverlight that can send HTTP messages (GET, POST, PUT, and DELETE) can use the OData service to create, update, and delete records in Dynamics CRM. While not as robust as the SOAP interface, the OData interface is lightweight and easy to implement, and therefore lends itself to client-side extensions. The SDK contains comprehensive documentation on using the OData service from client extensions and Web resources.

# Using the OData endpoint in Visual Studio

The OData service in Dynamics CRM does not permit authentication from external applications. (An exception to this is if the external application uses the Azure AppFabric Service Bus to pass messages between it and Dynamics CRM's OData service.) However, a Web resource such as a Silverlight XAP file or a JavaScript file that is hosted in a Dynamics CRM solution can use the OData service as a data source.

To use the OData endpoint in a Silverlight Web resource, follow these steps:

1. Open your project in Visual Studio. In the Solution Explorer, right-click on Service Reference and select "Add Service Reference..."

2. In the Add Service Reference dialog box (Figure 22.14) navigate to the metadata collection service endpoint for your organization. (This will be in the format of http://<crmserver>/<orgname>/xrmservices/2011/organizationdata.svc/\$metadata.)

# FIGURE 22.14

Adding the data service endpoint as a service reference in a Visual Studio project

Add Service Refere	nce	<u>? ×</u>
To see a list of availab for available services,	le services on a specific server, enter a service URL click Discover.	and click Go. To browse
Address:		
ccessAccelerators/xrms	services/2011/organizationdata.svc/\$metadata 👻	Go Discover 🗸
Services:	Operations:	
الله المراجع ال المراجع المراجع	WCF Data Service: No c	operations found.
1 service(s) found at a 'http://2008r2-demo:5 '.	ddress i555/SuccessAccelerators/xrmservices/2011/organi	zationdata.svc/\$metadata
Namespace:		
CrmOdata		
Advanced		OK Cancel

3. Provide a namespace for the reference and click OK.

After adding the service reference to the OData service, you will also need to add a reference to the System.Data.Services.Client if it is not already referenced by your project. This assembly contains classes that allow use of WCF Data Services classes in .NET applications.

In your code, add a using statement in the form of ProjectName.ODataReferenceName (where ProjectName is the name of your Visual Studio solution, and ODataReferenceName is the name you gave to the service reference). This will enable Intellisense when referencing your organization's metadata.

# **Connecting to the Cloud with Azure**

Azure is Microsoft's cloud-based computing platform, consisting of service hosting, storage, SQL database services, access control, and other components. It provides all the components needed for an n-tier application as a highly scalable and inexpensive service. In industry parlance, Azure is known as a PaaS application: Platform-as-a-Service. The same n-tier approach to systems architecture that is at the heart of Dynamics CRM is available as a

service. Integrating Azure, Dynamics CRM, and other platforms like SharePoint can provide powerful solutions to enterprises and organizations of all sizes.

One of the main components of Azure is AppFabric. Azure AppFabric handles the access and communications between cloud-enabled applications like Dynamics CRM. The two core components of AppFabric are the Service Bus and Access Control:

• Service Bus. The Service Bus is the messaging bus that transports messages between two systems. The systems sending messages across the AppFabric Service Bus can be anywhere — they don't need to be in Azure. The Service Bus helps applications negotiate network boundaries in a secure manner. Even if an application is behind a NAT'ed firewall, as long as it has internet access, the Service Bus can be used to connect it to other applications in public or private clouds.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 includes built-in support for the AppFabric Service Bus via a Service Bus plug-in that has been incorporated into the platform (Figure 22.15).

# FIGURE 22.15

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 includes a built-in Service Bus plug-in to integrate with Azure services.



• Access Control. Access Control Services provides a way to manage and federate identity providers across cloud-enabled applications. Using Access Control enables Dynamics CRM to pass messages on the Service Bus to other systems.

In relation to Dynamics CRM, Microsoft Azure services support for core scenarios:

- Dynamics CRM On-premise SExternal/Cloud-hosted system
- On-Premise Line-of-Business system S Dynamics CRM Online
- Dynamics CRM (On-premise or Online) 🕫 Dynamics CRM (On-premise or Online)

# Note

The SDK contains detailed instructions for using Azure integration with Dynamics CRM. The focus of this section is to provide complementary guidance to assist administrators and beginner developers with understanding and implementing Azure integration.

The basic steps of preparing to use Azure integration with Dynamics CRM are:

- 1. Sign up for the Azure services your organization needs.
- 2. Set up the Azure project and namespace on the AppFabric Web site.
- 3. Configure your development environment to work with Azure (see Chapter 20).

The SDK provides guidance and examples for completing these steps:

- 1. Set up a certificate and install it in the Dynamics CRM database.
- **2.** Create a custom application that prepares a message for the Azure AppFabric Service Bus and register it with the Dynamics CRM platform.
- **3.** Configure the Service Bus to listen for and accept the messages sent by your custom application.

# Signing up for Azure services

For people who are new to Microsoft's Azure service offerings, it can be a little confusing as to what services are needed for a particular application, how much they cost, and how to sign up for them. The Azure platform consists of three primary components that can be purchased and used independently or in combination with one another:

- Windows Azure: Storage, computing, and application hosting
- SQL Azure: A relational database service based on SQL Server
- AppFabric: Communications and access control service

Dynamics CRM integrates directly with AppFabric via the Service Bus plug-in. There are no other direct or inherent integrations with Windows Azure or SQL Azure. If your organization wishes to host a database-driven .NET application in the cloud, Azure is worth investigating. However, for the purposes of a Dynamics CRM administrator, it is primarily important to understand AppFabric.

Microsoft offers Azure services through a variety of payment models, including a pay-per-use plan and bundled packages. The pay-per-use plans are typically less economical than the bundled services, but they are helpful in beginning to understand the costs involved. As of this writing, the pricing for AppFabric is as follows:

- Access Control: \$1.99 per 100,000 transactions
- Service Bus: \$3.99 per connection on a "pay-as-you-go" basis
  - Pack of 5 connections \$9.95
  - Pack of 25 connections \$49.75
  - Pack of 100 connections \$199.00
  - Pack of 500 connections \$995.00

The pricing for the other Azure services is based on factors such as bandwidth, database size, and CPU usage. For more information, refer to the Microsoft Azure Web site.

Once you have decided which services to subscribe to, you can initiate the purchase process directly from the Azure Web site. You will need a Windows Live ID in order to complete the subscription process. When signing up for AppFabric services, you will need to provide a project name that is used in provisioning your service. Once you have completed the subscription process, the services are provisioned immediately.

# Setting up your AppFabric services

After completing the sign-up process for Azure AppFabric, log in to the Azure Web site (https://appfabric.azure.com). Follow these steps to prepare AppFabric for use:

- 1. On the AppFabric summary page, click the project name that you created during the sign-up process. This opens the Project page (see Figure 22.16).
- **2.** On the Project page, click the Add Service Namespace link. You must create a namespace that will be referenced by the Access Control and Service Bus configurations. This is a global namespace and must be validated as unique.
- **3.** Select a region that is close to your current location. (If you have an application that makes use of multiple pieces of the Azure platform, configuring them all to use the same region helps Microsoft provide optimal performance as they work together.)
- **4.** Select a connection pack. Connection packs specify the number of simultaneous connections your application can have on the Service Bus.
- **5.** After the namespace has been created, go to the namespace management page and copy the management key. This key is needed when you configure access for the Service Bus application.

Your AppFabric service is now set up and ready to be configured for use with Dynamics CRM.

	Services - Windows Internet Exp	lorer			
voriter	A Dikle Amore Conjectiview.aspx:Projection			n w Daga w Cafabuw Toolda	. 6
Windows Azure	Platform Windows Azure	SOL Azure AppFabric Marketpla			
AppFabric	<b>s</b> ʿAZUſҼ <sup>°</sup> platform		Search MSDN		
	Summ	ary	Help and Res	sources	]
Windows Azure					
SQL Azure	Project: CRM Bible /	vzure Services			
AppFabric	Information				
Marketplace	Project ID: Subscription ID: Created On: Status:	Wed, 25 Aug 2010 01:31:5 Active	7 GMT		
		You have not created any Service Na Click 'Add Service Namepace	imespaces for this Project. a' above to begin.	Add Service Namespace	
	1				

# **Cross-Reference**

Developing solutions that integrate with Azure can be quite complex and require that you have the correct tools and SDKs installed. In addition to the Dynamics CRM SDK, you will need the Azure SDK, the Azure AppFabric SDK, and Azure tools for Visual Studio. Detailed guidance for setting up your development environment is included in Chapter 20.

# Getting started with an Azure-enabled solution

Building an Azure-enabled solution requires performing a number of configuration steps before registering the custom plug-in. To understand these configurations, a metaphor of a bus trip can serve as a helpful illustration. If an individual (message) is going to take a bus (service bus) somewhere, he needs to have a place to get on the bus (issuer) and a destination (the other application or system to be interacted with). He also needs a ticket (permissions/ contract) and some official identification (certificate). When he arrives at his destination, a friend (listener) will meet him and take him into town.

In terms of our bus trip metaphor, we have already established the bus company by signing up for Azure AppFabric services and creating a project and a namespace. We must now carry out the remaining configurations to complete the trip: 1. Certificate. The first step is to acquire and install a public key certificate for the Dynamics CRM server. This certificate establishes the identity of the server (see Figure 22.17). Because the messages passed through the Service Bus originate in the context of the platform, the certificate must also be installed in the MSCRM\_CONFIG database. In the case of Dynamics CRM Online, the certificate has already been created.

# FIGURE 22.17

🚔 Console1 - [Console Root\Certificates (I	.ocal Computer)\Trusted Root Certification Authorities\Certificate	es]		- B ×
🖀 File Action View Favorites Windo	w Help			_18 ×
◆ → / m / b × B B M				
Console Boot	Issued To A	Expiration Date	Intended Purnos	Actions
🖃 🛐 Certificates (Local Computer)	2008R2-DEMO.demo.c5insightd 2008R2-DEMO.demo.c5insightdev	8/24/2011	Server Authentic	Contificator
Personal	Class 3 Public Primary Certificati Class 3 Public Primary Certification	8/1/2028	Secure Email, Clie	certificates -
Trusted Root Certification Authorities	Class 3 Public Primary Certificati Class 3 Public Primary Certification	1/7/2004	Secure Email, Clie	More Actions
Enterprise Trust	ertificate 🔀	12/30/1999	Time Stamping	2008R2-DEMO.de 🔺
표 🚞 Intermediate Certification Authoritie	General Details Certification Path	5/25/2019	Server Authentic	More Actions
Trusted Publishers		8/13/2018	Secure Email, Clie	
Untrusted Certification Autho     Third-Party Root Certification Autho	The second secon	12/31/1999	Secure Email, Co	
Trusted People	Ertificate Information	12/31/2020	<all></all>	
🗉 🚞 Remote Desktop	This certificate is intended for the following purpose(s):	5/9/2021	<all></all>	
Certificate Enrollment Requests	Ensures the identity of a remote computer	6/29/2034	Server Authentic:	
Smart Card Trusted Roots	All issuance policies	12/31/2020	Server Authentic	
Trusted Devices		12/31/2020	Time Stamping	
🗉 📰 Windows Live ID Token Issuer		7/13/2020	Server Authentic	
	Issued to: 2008R2-DEMO.demo.cSinsightdev.com			
	Issued by: 2008R2-DEMO.demo.c5insightdev.com			
	Valid from 8/ 25/ 2010 to 8/ 24/ 2011			
	You have a private key that corresponds to this certificate.			
	Town Thebrand 1			
	Issuer Statement			
	Learn more about tertificates			
-				
	ОК			
			•	

Managing a self-signed certificate in the Microsoft Management Console

- **2.** Listener. The next step is to write an event listener using the IRemotePlugin interface that implements a WCF Service Contract. The listener will receive the SAML token created by the Access Control services configuration in order to establish authentication with the Service Bus.
- **3.** Permissions. Use the Access Control services management utility to configure permissions. The utility, acm.exe or ACM, is a tool installed as part of the AppFabric SDK. The permissions take the public key certificate information and unique identifiers from your AppFabric service as inputs to create the "ticket" that the message will need for the Service Bus. In the language of AppFabric, the Dynamics CRM server becomes an "issuer" and the ACM tool sets rules for how the issuer will interact with the Service Bus.

**4.** Service Bus. When a pipeline event is raised, your custom plug-in containing the message must be registered as a step in the Service Bus plug-in on the Dynamics CRM platform in order to send the message on the Service Bus (see Figure 22.18).

#### FIGURE 22.18

Registering a step in the Service Bus plug-in using the Plugin Registration Tool, part of the Dynamics CRM SDK, requires entering certain configuration details.

au Plugin Registration Tool	_ 8 ×
File View Help	
🔮 Create New Connection 🧭 Reload Organizations 🗡 Remove Connection	
Connections Dynamics CRM 2011: Success Accelerators	×
📄 🖶 Dynamics CRM 2011 🗄 🗋 Register 🔹 🎕 Import / Export 📲 View 🗝 🛋 Edit Label 🗡 Unregister   🦉 Refresh 🕫 Sea	arch
98 360 Centric Registered Plugine & Duston Workflow Activities	
PWC Accelerators	<b>^</b>
Success Accelerators Description Friendlands	erviceBusPlugin
(Plugn) servicesushugn n Name M	icrosoft.Crm.Ser
Register New Step	
General Configuration Information Description	30b185-d19d-428c
Message:	crosoft.Crm.Service 28/2010 9:39 PM
Primary Entity:	
Secondary Entity:	nknown ue
Filtering Attributes Unsecure Configuration	28/2010 9:39 PM
Plugin: (Plugin) ServiceBusPlugin 💽	ugin
Name:	crosoft.Crm.Service 👻
Run in User's Context: Caling User	
Execution Order:	
ServiceBus Configld: Select Secure Configuration	Save
Eventing Pipeline Stage of Execution _ Execution Mode _ Deployment _	
C Pre Stage - Outside Transaction C Asynchronous 🔽 Server	
C Pre Stage - Inside Transaction C Synchronous C Offline	peName   Hiterin
Post Stage - Inside Transaction Triggering Pipeline	
C Post Stage - Outside Transaction	
C Child Roeline	
Delete AsyncOperation if StatusCode = Successful <u>Register New Step</u> <u>Cancel</u>	
	Ŀ
Done Organization: Success Accelerators / User: C5 Admin (DEMO\C5Admin) / I	Build: 5.0.9523.17

Enter Service Bus configuration details by clicking the select button in the step registration dialog

# **Creating an Azure project**

In addition to using the AppFabric Service Bus to handle communication between Dynamics CRM and other applications, you may decide to use Azure to host cloud-based solutions that integrate with your system in other ways. Follow the instructions included here to set up the Azure tools in Visual Studio and start a new cloud-based project.

To install the Azure tools for Visual Studio 2010, if you haven't already done so, follow these steps:

1. Open Visual Studio and start a new project.

- 2. From the New Project window, select the Cloud template under Visual C#. If the Azure tools are not already installed, you see an option, Enable Windows Azure Tools. Select this option and click OK.
- **3.** Visual Studio takes you to a page with a link to download the tools. Click the link to go to the Microsoft Downloads site and begin the download.
- **4.** When the download completes, close Visual Studio and click Run to launch the Windows Azure Tools for Microsoft Visual Studio Installation Wizard.

When creating a new cloud project, the first task that Visual Studio will require is that a Web role for the application be selected. A Web role is a designation of what role the application will be playing. Will it be a Web site that people will visit and interact with? Will it be a data service? Or will it provide computing power as a worker role? To create a simple Web page hosted in Azure, choose the ASP.NET Web Role.

To host a Web site in Azure, you must subscribe to the Windows Azure service. If your Web application requires a database, you can use the SQL Azure service. Azure applications can be deployed directly from Visual Studio or by logging into the Azure Web site and uploading the packaged application.

# **Extending Dynamics CRM Workflow**

Dynamics CRM includes powerful tools called workflows and dialogs to automate business processes. These processes run on the platform's Asynchronous Service using the Windows Workflow Foundation (WWF), which is part of the .NET Framework 4.

The workflow tools have flexible and user-friendly graphical interfaces in the Web client that enable administrators and users to create workflow rules that can be triggered manually, on certain events, or as subroutines nested in other processes.

Out of the box, workflow rules can create or update records, send e-mail, assign record ownership, start other workflows, or change the status of records (see Figure 22.19).

# **Cross-Reference**

In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, workflows have been complemented by dialogs, synchronous wizard-like interactions that can automate and streamline business processes. Collectively, workflows and dialogs are referred to as processes. Chapter 18 includes detailed instructions for working with workflow and dialog processes in the Dynamics CRM Web client process designer interface.

Developers have two basic options for extending workflow functionality in Dynamics CRM:

- Add custom logic that can be used in the Web client's workflow rule designer.
- Create or modify complete workflow rules and import them into the solution.

The main distinction between custom workflow activities and plug-ins is that workflows run asynchronously, whereas plugins can be registered to execute synchronously with an operation.

The Web client provides a rich interface for building workflow processes. Workflows can perform a wide variety of functions without any custom code.

File 🛃 🛃 Save and Clo	se 🎒 📔 🗍 🔘 Activate 🛛 🍕 Show Deper	ndencies 🐁 Actions 🕶			
32 Process: Create fo	bllow-up task			Working on solution: Default Solution	
▲ Related ③ Information ■ Audit History ▲ Processes ④ Processes	General Administration Notes  Hide Process Properties  Process Name * Create follow-up Activate As Process  Available to Rum  C On demand  As a child process	e task	Entity Categony Options for Autor Scope Start when: [ [ ]	Account Workflow utomatic Processes Organization V Record Is created Record Is assigned Record I fields change Record I is deleted	
	Add Step	e Unis step:			
Status: Draft			- Level Intern	at I Destanted Marker Of	
Done			📲 Local intran	et   Protected Mode: Uff 🛛 🖓 👻 🔍 100% 👻	

# Creating custom steps for use in building workflow rules

Because these tools are built using WWF, they can be extended with custom steps. Using the Visual Studio Workflow Designer, developers can use visual tools to create custom workflow extensions without writing any code. The custom XAML files can be compiled and registered to the platform using the Plugin Registration Tool. Once a workflow assembly has been registered, it will appear on the list of available workflow steps in the client interface.

# Note

Custom workflow extensions cannot be run in the isolated Sandbox mode. Therefore they are not supported in Dynamics CRM Online.

Workflow steps accept input parameters, and then result in output parameters. Custom assemblies use this same paradigm, taking inputs from the context of the triggering event in the execution pipeline (the event that triggered the workflow), processing it with your custom business logic, and then creating output parameters that can be used in subsequent

steps of the workflow process. For example, a custom workflow step might be able to multiply two integers. If a workflow is running against an Opportunity record, the custom step can take the Opportunity's Estimated Value and Probability as inputs, multiply the two numbers, and provide the result as an output.

To create a custom workflow activity to extend the built-in Dynamics CRM functionality, follow these steps:

- **1.** Open Visual Studio 2010 and start a new project by selecting the Activity Library template.
- **2.** Add references to the Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk.dll and the Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk.Workflow. dll. These DLLs are available in the bin folder where you have installed the SDK.
- **3.** Remove the Activity1.xaml file and replace it with a class file (.cs) to hold your custom code.
- **4.** Add using directives that reference the assemblies from Step 2, as well as the System. Activities assembly from the .NET Framework 4. Your custom code should inherit from the CodeActivity class and use the Execute method.
- 5. When you are finished designing the custom logic, build the solution.
- **6.** Register the DLL file by using the Plugin Registration Tool. There is no need to register any steps for the custom assembly.
- **7.** In the process designer interface in the Dynamics CRM client, create a new workflow rule. Click the Add Steps button to add your custom activity (see Figure 22.20).

# Tip

The SDK includes instructions for adding the built-in Dynamics CRM workflow steps to the Visual Studio toolbox, enabling you to incorporate them in the visual activity designer. In the toolbox's general category, right-click and select "Choose Items. . .". From the System.Activities tab, browse to the location of the Microsoft.Xrm.Sdk.Workflow.dll assembly and select it. This will enable you to add the activities to the toolbox.

# Creating or modifying a complete workflow rule

In addition to adding custom steps to the workflow rule designer, developers can also create complete workflow rules or modify rules that were created in the Dynamics CRM Web client.

The process for creating a custom workflow rule is similar to the process of creating custom steps for workflows. Instead of replacing the XAML file with a .cs class file and compiling the project, however, the developer will create the custom workflow rule in the XAML file (see Figure 22.21). The XAML file will then be imported either as part of a solution or via an SDK import tool.

Workflow rules customized or created in Visual Studio can use built-in Dynamics CRM workflow activities or the entire range of Windows Workflow Foundation activities. They can also reference external resources and data, making them a powerful point of extensibility.

Custom workflow activities that are properly registered will be available in the built-in workflow rule designer in the Dynamics CRM Web client. In this figure, a custom workflow called "Share Record" has been added to the list of steps under the Utilities submenu.

32 Process: SendContactMail © Information G Information G Information G Information G Information G Information G Information G Information	al Administratic						Working on solution: Default Solution
▲ Related Gener ⓒ Information 16 Audit History ⓒ H	al Administratio						
▲ Processes F	General     Administration     Notes       Hide Process Properties     Process Name *     New Customer Alert       Activate As     Process     -       Available to Run     On demand     -       As a child process     -					Entity Category <b>Options for At</b> Scope Start when:	Contact Workflow utomatic Processes Organization TRecord is created Record is tatus changes Record is assigned Record fields change Record is deleted
	Add Step 👻 📑 💷 Ii	nsert 🕶 🗙 De	lete thi:	s step.			
	stage Check Condition Conditional Bran Default Action Wait Condition Parallel Wait Bran Create Record Update Record Sasign Record Send E-mail Start Child Proces Change Status Stop Workflow Utilities	ch .ch	sage	a	Set Properties		
A DECEMBER OF A			-	and the R			

To export a rule that was created in Dynamics CRM, export the solution that contains it. Unzip the exported solution and locate the Workflows folder. Each workflow rule will be in a subfolder named with the workflow rule name and its GUID. Inside this folder will be the actual XAML file that can be edited in Visual Studio.

After making the desired modifications, the XAML file must be reimported into Dynamics CRM. In order to import a modified workflow rule, it must be saved as an XAML file and a user with Deployment Administrator privileges must perform the import process. The file can then be placed back into the folder and zipped back up with the solution for reimport. To simplify this process, Microsoft has released a tool with the SDK that can be used to import XAML files directly into the system. The tool must first be built and is operated from a command prompt. See the SDK for more information.

After importing a workflow rule, it must be published and activated before it will be executed.

This workflow rule was exported from a Dynamics CRM solution. The XAML file was added to an Activity Library project so it could be edited in Visual Studio. The SDK contains instructions for modifying existing workflow rules.

🕫 ActivityLibrary1 - Micro	soft Visual Studio				_ 8 ×
File Edit View Project	Build Debug Team Data Test	Tools Analyze Window Help			
101 • H H   X • h C.	*) - (* -   ▶   Debug	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Toolbox 👻 🖣 🗙	SendContactMail.xaml 🗙			Solution Explorer	- ů ×
Control Flow	XrmWorkflow417589		Expand All Collapse All		1 18
Flowchart	Anno 101101127 50511		Expand Air Compact Air	ActivityLibrary 1	
Messaging			-	🖃 🗁 Properties	
Runtime     Figure 1				🖆 Assemblyli	nfo.cs
Transaction		U WORKHOW		References	an aith da il sun an l
				SDKSendCont	activiali.xami
I Error Handling		$\bigtriangledown$			
		SendEmailStep1: Send an email ·			
🖂 General					
Pointer		$\nabla$			
ActivityReference			_		
AssignEntity		ArB Assign <entity></entity>			
CreateEntity					
🌲 Postpone		~ 			
â Workflow		GetEntityProperty			
GetEntityProperty					
🌐 GetPrimaryEntity		~			
ReferenceLiteral<		EvaluateExpression			
RetrieveEntity					
â SendEmail		~			
SendEmailFromTe		SetEntityProperty		🖏 Solution Ex 🗔	Team Explorer
â SetEntityProperty				Properties	- # X
🌐 SetState		~		System Activities Stateme	ents.Assign<
StartChildWorkflow		EvaluateExpression		De Al Carata	Class
UpdateEntity		$\bigtriangledown$		©≣ Z↓ Search:	Clear
					Accion «Entitur
		SetEntityProperty		DisplayName	Assign Chiny.
		$\bigtriangledown$		10	Createdo
			-	Value	New Enti?
	Variables Arguments Imports	Confinate Events scient	9. 100%		
	Tananes Tagamenta Importa				
📽 Error List					
Ready					

# Caution

Workflow rules that are created in Visual Studio, or which are exported from Dynamics CRM and modified in Visual Studio, cannot be viewed or edited in the Web client workflow rule designer interface. However, you can still manage the execution of instances of customized workflow rules by pausing, canceling, or resuming them.

# Summary

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 provides a mature platform for custom development with well-defined APIs, and a robust architecture supports a variety of deployment models, extension methods, and technologies.

With this version of Dynamics CRM, the application has taken a significant step toward providing a true development platform that can be tailored well beyond traditional customer relationship management functionality to support an infinite variety of business processes.

This chapter reviewed the architecture and technologies that make this level of customization possible, including the new WCF services framework, the OData endpoint, plug-in architecture, and the basics of Azure integration.

Considered as a whole, Microsoft has delivered in Dynamics CRM a flexible deployment model and an open architecture, providing programmers with a powerful platform for developing custom line-of-business applications.

# Part VII

# Visualizing Your Dynamics CRM Data with Charts, Reports, and Dashboards

Recent survey of IT managers and other businesspeople responsible for making software purchases found that one of their top priorities was to add business intelligence (BI) and analytics capabilities to their stable of tools. Businesses of every stripe are finding that the challenges of collecting and storing data quickly yield to the greater challenge of making sense of these vast stockpiles of information. And beyond making sense of the data, they want the data to inform intelligent decisions to guide their organizations' tactical and strategic direction.

Microsoft's response to this trend in its latest Dynamics CRM offering is to incorporate an arsenal of BI and analytics weapons, surfacing a bevy of reports, charts, dashboards, and analytical tools for users of every skill level.

# IN THIS PART

#### Chapter 23

Using the Built-in Reporting Tools

**Chapter 24** Working with Visualizations: Charts and Dashboards

**Chapter 25** Custom Reporting for Dynamics CRM

# CHAPTER

# Using the Built-in Reporting Tools

Business intelligence (BI) is an increasingly important facet of any business application, and Dynamics CRM is no exception. BI is a general term that describes reporting and analyzing business data in a way that enables the organization to make smart decisions. Of course, in order for BI efforts to be successful, the data going into the business application needs to be accurate and relevant, a subject we discuss in other chapters dealing with data management and using the Dynamics CRM application.

Microsoft has built several tools right into Dynamics CRM to simplify reporting and analysis:

- Views
- Visualizations
- Dashboards
- Report Wizard
- Export to Excel

In addition to tools built into the application, there are a variety of external BI tools that can be used to develop and deliver compelling intelligence to users of Dynamics CRM. Chief among these tools is the Business Intelligence Development Studio (BIDS), which uses the Visual Studio interface and SQL Server Reporting Services to enable developers to create rich custom reports.

For a more user-friendly, Office-like experience, Microsoft offers a free report application called SQL Server Reporting Services Report Builder 2.0 (Report Builder). Report Builder is a happy medium between the advanced toolset available in BIDS and the built-in Report Wizard.

# **IN THIS CHAPTER**

The Advanced Find tool

Using the reports that come with Dynamics CRM

The Report Wizard

**Reporting with Excel** 

Microsoft SharePoint also delivers a rich BI experience that can tap into Dynamics CRM data to display KPIs (key performance indicators) and other intelligence.

# **Cross-Reference**

This chapter focuses on the built-in tools that require little to no development expertise and that enable a rich self-service reporting experience for administrators and users. Chapter 24 provides greater detail about dashboards and visualizations, and Chapter 25 provides comprehensive guidance on advanced reporting with Microsoft Business Intelligence Development Studio.

Because Dynamics CRM uses Microsoft SQL Server for its database, you can also use many other enterprise reporting tools like Crystal Reports or Cognos to develop custom reports.

# Note

The built-in reporting tools discussed in this chapter all respect the Dynamics CRM security model, meaning that users will see only the data in these reports that they would otherwise see in the application.

# Leveraging Dynamics CRM's Business Intelligence Capabilities

Before we go further, it will be helpful to define what a report is in the context of Dynamics CRM. A report is a way to query and display data. Many people who are new to using Dynamics CRM are surprised to learn how easy it is to gather and present information in a useful way. In fact, what many people consider reports can often be accomplished with simple list views of records using system views or the Advanced Find tool.

# Using Advanced Find as a reporting tool

Dynamics CRM is designed with the goal of giving users tools to consume data how and when they want. Advanced Find is a powerful querying tool that can be used to modify system views or create new personal views that users can save and share.

Views, whether systemwide or saved as personal views from the Advanced Find tool, provide up-to-date lists of records that can include columns from related record types. Views can be printed, and links to views can be E-mailed to other Dynamics CRM users. In short, for organizations moving to Dynamics CRM from less-capable systems, views can often replace hosts of spreadsheet "reports" that might have previously required a great deal of manual effort.

Let's look at a typical scenario where Advanced Find can be used as a reporting tool, and walk through an example of creating Advanced Find views.

# **Example 1: Creating a view of important customers in a salesperson's territory**

In our first example, a salesperson is planning a trip to Dallas to visit a customer and wants an up-to-date report showing all his customers who are also located in Dallas. He already has a view called "My Active Accounts" that he could filter to show only those in Dallas, but he also wants to view the mobile phone number of each accounts' primary contact. He can accomplish this by using the Advanced Find tool.

- 1. From the Accounts list, select the "My Active Accounts" view.
- 2. On the Ribbon menu, click the Advanced Find icon to launch the Advanced Find tool.
- **3.** If the button at the top of the query says "Show Details," click it to expose the detailed view of the query rows. (Users can set this to default to show or hide details in their personal options settings.) If the button says "Hide Details" skip this step. The screen should now resemble the screen shown in Figure 23.1.
- **4.** In the third row of the query, click the Select link to reveal the available fields. Select the "Address 1: City" field. Note that the operator next to the selected field automatically defaults to "Equals" which is the desired option for this example.
- 5. Click on the "Enter Value" link and type Dallas.

# FIGURE 23.1

The Advanced Find tool is context-aware.

ØA	dvan	ced Find - Wind	dows Internet Explorer					_181 ×
G	$\odot$		5555/Contoso3/AdvancedFind/AdvFind	.aspx?Data	aProvider= Microsoft	Crm.Application.P	latform. 💽 🍫 🔀 Bing	<u>- م</u>
∰ F	avorit	es 88 - 44	Accounts: My Active Accoun	anced Find	×	1	🏠 • 🖾 - 🗆 🖶 • Page	• Safety• Tools• 🕢• »
P	1)							⊕ Help +
F	ind	Saved Views						
		B	a lanca Demo					
Ľ	2 291	re ų <u>m</u> save As ∟g	Minem       Ealt Columns _@Ealt P	operties	_			
I.	Look	for: Accounts		•	Use Saved View:	My Active Accou	nts	<u> </u>
	Hic	de Details 🕴 🛅 Cl	lear 🕴 💽 Group AND 📄 Group OR					
	-	Owner	Equals Current User					
	Ľ	Status	Equals	Active				
		Select						
н.								
Ш								
н.								
н.								
н.								
н.								
н.								
н.								
н.								
н.								
14								
								Find
_							- Local intranet   Protected Mode: Off	

- **6.** Add another row to the query by selecting the "Relationship Type" field and clicking the ellipsis button to look up the available options. In the Select Values dialog, double-click "Customer" to add it to the Selected Values box and click OK to set this value for the query.
- 7. You can test the results of the query by clicking the Find button on the bottom right. (Remember that your system may not have data that matches this query.) After previewing the query, click the "Back to Query" button on the bottom right of the results screen.
- **8.** Because the salesperson wants to see columns from a related entity (Contacts) we will add these to our results screen. On the query screen, click the "Edit Columns" button to open the Edit Columns window.
- **9.** Click Add Columns. At the top of the Add Columns dialog, select "Primary Contact (Contact)" from the Record Type picklist.
- **10.** Place a check mark next to Mobile Phone and click OK.
- 11. Click OK to close the Edit Columns dialog.
- **12.** Click the Find button on the Advanced Find query page to see the results (Figure 23.2).
- **13.** To print the results, click the printer icon to open a Print Preview screen. From the Print Preview screen you can print the view.
- **14.** To save the results of this Advanced Find, go back to the query screen and click the "Save As" button. In the Save As dialog, enter a name for the view and click OK.

# Tip

By default, Advanced Find treats each row in a query as an AND condition, unless you group two rows using an OR condition. If you do not specify the OR condition, only records that meet all of the query criteria will be returned.

# Example 2: An advanced Advanced Find view

Advanced Find is also capable of querying the values on related entities and grouping queries in complex ways. For this scenario, a senior vice president wishes to make some spot calls to large customers to see how satisfied they are with the recent sales they've participated in. He's particularly interested in the performance of the salespeople who report to a recently hired sales manager. The SVP is going to want to see:

- Active customer Account records
- Where an opportunity has either closed this month OR is scheduled to close this month
- Where the opportunities' values were greater than \$100,000
- And where the opportunity owner's manager is the recently hired sales manager

Here's how he would build this Advanced Find:

- **1.** Navigate to the Active Accounts list view and click the Advanced Find icon.
- **2.** Click the button to Show Details if necessary.

## FIGURE 23.2

The Advanced Find tool can be used to modify existing views or build new views. Views can also show columns from related records.

Advanced Find - Windows Internet Explorer					
) 🕞 🗢 🏄 https://c5insight.crm3.dynamics.com/Advanced	Find/AdvFind.aspx?	DataProvider=Microso	ft.Crm. 🔻 🔒 🗟 🍫	× Bing	م
Favorites 🍰					
Accounts: Active Account Advanced Find	×		台、	- 🖾 - 🖃 🖶 - Page -	Safety 🕶 Tools 💌 🔞 🕶
m					@ Help
2					
🕒 New 📑 🗷 📴 📴 - 😓 🗙 🛱 🗓 🌆 Ad	ld Connection   🐇	Create Quick Campa	ign 👻 🎸 Run Workflow.	More Actions +	
Account Name 🔺	Main Phone	Address 1: City	Primary Contact	Mobile Phone (	3
Diving Bikes	555-0135	Dallas	Robert Finley	(999) 455-9999	
Exemplary Cycles	555-0198	Dallas	Josh Holter	(999) 555-1234	
The Cracker Box	555-0138	Dallas	Ansleigh Wooster	(999) 555-4321	
1 - 3 of 3 (1 selected)					H ≪ Page 1 ►
					Eack to Query
		123	Internet I Pro	tected Mode: On	🖓 🗸 🔍 100% -

- **3.** Click the Select link to reveal the list of fields you can query, and scroll down to the "Related" entities (see Figure 23.3). Select "Opportunities (Potential Customer)."
- **4.** Select the Actual Revenue and Actual Close Date fields with the criteria shown in Figure 4, and click the triangle to the left of each row to select it. With both rows selected, click the "Group AND" button at the top of the query to group the two criteria. Repeat this step for the Est. Revenue and Est. Closed Date fields.
- **5.** Once both groups have been made, you can click the triangle next to each group to select it, and then click the "Group OR" button to group both groups together as illustrated.
- **6.** Next, click the Select link under the Opportunities groupings, and select the "Owning User (User)" option from the related items.
- **7.** Under the Owning User, select the Manager, with an operator of Equals, and look up a user record for a manager. See Figure 23.4 to build the Advanced Find criteria.
- 8. Click the Find button to preview your results.

# FIGURE 23.3

In addition to building queries using an entity's fields, the Advanced Find tool can query against related entities.



As these examples show, the Advanced Find tool is very powerful and can help properly trained users locate the precise records they need in order to make meaningful business decisions — all without using any external reporting tools.

# Note

Some queries are not possible using Advanced Find, which uses FetchXML, an XML-based query language Microsoft developed for an earlier version of Dynamics CRM. FetchXML, though powerful, is unable to form certain query structures, such as a query that returns records that are NOT IN a defined set. For example, you cannot use Advanced Find to build a view of accounts with no associated opportunities. For this type of query, you will need to use a reporting tool capable of more advanced SQL queries.

# Getting the most from the included reports

When views and Advanced Finds are insufficient, more advanced reports may be necessary. Dynamics CRM includes two dozen built-in reports that cover many traditional CRM reporting needs. Additionally, many of these canned reports include subreports, filtering, and parameter selection capabilities that allow users to "slice and dice" the data in numerous ways, multiplying the power of these 24 reports several times over. The reports are grouped according to the default reporting categories of Administrative, Marketing, Sales. and Service. Some of the reports are associated with more than one category. The embedded subreports allow users to drill into the first page of the canned reports, which often include informative charts, to view the underlying data.

The built-in reports are available in the Workplace area, by clicking on the Reports link. Many of them are also available from the Ribbon menu above the entity lists with which they are associated, and from individual records.

# Note

Installing a new language pack on the Dynamics CRM server also installs a new set of canned reports in the new language. Users will see the list of included reports in the language they have set in their personal options.

# **Administrative reports**

There is one built-in report, the User Summary report, that is categorized as Administrative. Another report, called Activities, is not categorized by default but is often used administratively to gauge user adoption.

# FIGURE 23.4

To select a row in order to add it to an AND or OR group, click the triangle to the left of the row.

🖉 Advanced Find - Windows Internet Explorer	, ¢ 🗶
💭 🖓 🖉 加 https://c5insight.cm3.dynamics.com/AdvancedFind/AdvFind.aspx?DataProvider=Microsoft.Crm. 👻 🔒 😒 😽 🗙 🗔 Bina	<del>،</del> م
☆ Favorites 🔓	
🔀 🔹 🚛 Accounts: Active Account 🛄 Advanced Find 🛛 🗙 👘 🔹 📾 💌 Page 💌 Safety 🕶 Tools	• @• <sup>»</sup>
	@ <u>H</u> elp +
Find Saved Views	
🚽 Søre 🔓 Søve As 🗔 New   🏢 Edit Columns 🐻 Edit Properties	
Look for: Accounts • Use Saved View: Active Accounts	-
🔐 Hide Details   📩 Clear   💽 Group AND 📴 Group OR	
Tatus Equals Active	
Stett	
Opportunities (Potential Customer)	
OR     Cose Date This Month	
AND Est. Revenue Is Greater Than 100,000.00	
Est. Close Date This Month	
Select	
Owning User (User)	
Manager Equals Geoff Ables LOU	
Select	
	ind
Done 😥 🖓 Internet   Protected Mode: On 🆓 🗸 🔍	.00% -

## **User Summary**

The User Summary report is a quick way to see which users are grouped in which Business Unit, and which security role each has been assigned. This is extremely helpful when conducting a review of your business unit structure and consumed licenses.

# Activities

The Activities report shows counts of activities that users have completed in Dynamics CRM. The chart it renders can be grouped by user, activity type, and other options. Clicking on parts of the chart reveals lists of the underlying activities. This report is frequently used by managers to see how actively their employees are using the system.

# **Marketing reports**

The built-in marketing reports provide insight into the effectiveness of campaigns and lead sources, as well as existing accounts.

# Account Distribution

The Account Distribution report, which also appears under the Sales category, displays the top accounts that have driven revenue, and can be grouped by parameters like the account's industry, territory, or size. This report helps marketers understand which customer segments are most likely to become customers.

#### Account Overview

The Account Overview report is designed to be run from within an individual account record, though you can also run it from the reports area, setting the account to report on in the filter. This report is a one-page overview of an account including an account profile, all recent activity for the selected account, including recent and upcoming sales opportunities, service cases, communications, planned meetings, and notes. This report is an excellent one for salespeople preparing for a client meeting.

#### Account Summary

The Account Summary pulls roll-up information from accounts and sub-accounts to reflect sales opportunities, activities and notes in a chronological order. This report is helpful to users trying to familiarize themselves with the history of an organization's relationship with an account.

# Campaign Activity Status

This report gives marketers a view of the status of recent campaign activities, special types of activities that are generated during marketing campaigns. This is a good tool for marketing managers wishing to get an overview of the progress of the execution of multiple campaigns.

# **Cross-Reference**

In order for the built-in marketing reports to provide relevant business intelligence, it's important to understand Dynamics CRM's marketing functionality, including campaigns, quick campaigns, campaign responses, and marketing lists. Chapter 13 covers Dynamics CRM's marketing functionality in great detail.

# Campaign Comparison

Comparative reports are among the most powerful BI tools that marketers can use when planning future marketing efforts. The Campaign Comparison report enables the user to view the impact of two campaigns side-by-side. When running this report, select two campaigns in the report filter, and then, in the report view, select one of the campaigns for the Campaign A column, and the other for the Campaign B column, and click the View Report button.

# Campaign Performance

When the built-in marketing functionality is fully utilized, the Campaign Performance report is a gold mine for marketing professionals. It is a comprehensive report that details the effort and expense that have gone into a campaign as well as the response rate, cost per response, and the return on investment (ROI). This report serves to bridge the gap between marketing and sales, and is a powerful tool to help marketers analyze their work.

# Lead Source Effectiveness

Another tool to help marketers gauge the impact of their marketing investments is the Lead Source Effectiveness report. This report shows opportunities that have resulted from each of your system's lead sources (as indicated on the lead records). Marketers can run this report to determine where their lead-generation efforts are best focused.

# Tip

Scheduling reports: If you have installed Dynamics CRM on-premises, and properly configured the SRS Data Connector and SQL Reporting Services, you will be able to schedule reports from the report list Ribbon menu. This feature is not available for Dynamics CRM Online.

# **Sales reports**

Some sales reports are also in the marketing category and have been described above. The following reports are only in the sales category by default.

#### **Competitor Win Loss**

This report displays how your sales team stacks up against the competition. In order for this report to provide useful intelligence, competitors should be tracked on each opportunity, and, when an opportunity is lost to a competitor, it should be recorded in the opportunity close activity.

#### **Neglected Accounts**

This report will show accounts that have not had any activities logged against them during a specified time period. When running the Neglected Accounts report you can set the parameter for the minimum days an account has been neglected. The results can be grouped by the length of neglect, owner and category. The report also allows the user to select whether to include sub-contacts and sub-accounts. This report helps sales users to ensure that they are maintaining communication with existing customers.

# Neglected Leads

Similar to the Neglected Accounts report, this report shows Leads with no activities during a set time period.

## **Products By Account**

If your organization uses the product catalog built into Dynamics CRM, this report will show the products that have been associated with accounts' orders or opportunities. This is helpful to determine which products a customer has already ordered in order to identify upsell or cross-sell opportunities, and product trends.

#### **Products By Contact**

Similar to the above report, if your organization sells to contacts (as opposed to accounts), this report will show you the products your customers have purchased.

#### Sales History

Sales History shows both earned and lost opportunity revenue, grouped by owner, month, territory, or customer category or industry. This is a rearward looking report that helps sales users and managers gauge performance and evaluate how accurately they have recorded estimated revenues and probabilities.

# Sales Pipeline

Perhaps the most powerful and useful report that is included with Dynamics CRM, the Sales Pipeline report (see Figure 23.5) is commonly used by sales manager and salespeople alike to view anticipated sales that have been logged as opportunities. In order for the Sales Pipeline report to function, a sales process workflow must be designed and applied to opportunities. The sales process workflow must use workflow stages, waiting for certain tasks or conditions before advancing to the next stage. Each stage in the sales workflow is then available in the Sales Pipeline report as a step in the pipeline.

# **Cross-Reference**

Quotes, orders, and invoices are tightly related to one another in Dynamics CRM, both in terms of functionality and business processes. Many organizations that use these entities will integrate them with an ERP system which may be better-suited for processing transactions, using the Dynamics CRM records to display the transactions in account histories. More detail about using quotes, orders, and invoices is in Chapter 12.

#### Quote, Order, and Invoice reports

The Quote, Order, and Invoice reports are all nicely formatted reports meant to be customerfacing documents. Users who use the sales functionality to assemble a quote with products, quantities, taxes, and so on can run this report and export it as a PDF or Word document to send to the customer for approval. The user can select which columns to display in the report, such as quantity, discount, and price. When the quote is accepted, it can be converted to an order in Dynamics CRM, and then to an invoice, with each corresponding report serving as a customer-facing document. Many organizations will modify these reports to include a company logo and other formatting.
With a properly designed sales process workflow, the Sales Pipeline report becomes a powerful way to visualize anticipated sales figures.



#### **Invoice Status**

This report is used to display the payment status of invoices and can be grouped by time period. Drilling into the chart reveals details for the underlying invoices for each status visible, and clicking on these details will open the relevant invoice record.

#### **Service reports**

The service reports that are not included in the sales and marketing categories deliver insight into the status of service cases, service activities, and the most frequently used knowledge base articles. Dynamics CRM has robust service functionality: cases are commonly used to track support requests and the resolutions; service activities can be used to schedule resources like people and equipment; and knowledge base articles are a handy means of capturing institutional knowledge and sharing it in a structure format.

#### Case Summary Table

The Case Summary Table is a multidimensional report that service managers can use to analyze the performance of service workers, trends in support requests, customer satisfaction, and case volume. To fully utilize this report, cases should have appropriate subjects and/or

products associated with them, and customer satisfaction should be recorded before a case is resolved. Users can select from a variety of groupings when running this report in order to analyze the data from multiple perspectives.

#### Neglected Cases

This report is often used by service managers to determine which support requests have been overlooked or have gone unresolved over a period of time. When running this report, enter a period of days in the "Minimum Days Neglected" parameter to view cases with no associated activities during that time period.

#### Service Activity Volume

This report displays the number and duration of service activities, grouped by time period, resource, or customer. For those organizations that use the service scheduling tools in Dynamics CRM, this report is helpful in gauging utilization of resources such as personnel and equipment.

#### Top Knowledge Base Articles

Knowledge base (KB) articles can be attached to cases as a means of documenting the steps used to resolve a customer issue. Dynamics CRM keeps track of how frequently a KB article is used, and this report displays the top number of articles specified by the user. This report helps to identify recurring problems with product or subject categories, and is also useful when compiling an FAQ for customers to assist with self-service.

# **Using the Report Wizard**

In keeping with Microsoft's emphasis on empowering users to consume data how and when they want it, Dynamics CRM has a simple, yet powerful, Report Wizard built in. The Report Wizard enables users to quickly create professionally formatted reports with charts, tables, and drill-through capabilities in just a few minutes and fully supports custom entities and fields.

The reports are generated as RDL files, the native format of Dynamics CRM's reporting engine, SQL Server Reporting Services. They can be shared with the entire organization and made context-sensitive so they can be run from the lists and forms of the underlying entities. Report Wizard reports can also be downloaded for further editing and customization in advanced reporting tools like Microsoft's Business Intelligence Development Studio.

# Creating your first report with the wizard

In this example, we will build a report using the Report Wizard that displays the top ten accounts in our pipeline based on the size of the estimated revenue for open opportunities. Users with appropriate permissions may create this report using the Report Wizard by navigating to the Reports list in the Workplace area, clicking the New button, and following these steps:

- **1.** By default the Report Type field is set to Report Wizard Report and the Report Wizard button is enabled. Click the button to launch the wizard.
- **2.** On the Get Started screen, accept the default option to start a new report and choose the Language for which the report should be rendered (if multiple language packs are installed). Click Next.
- 3. On the Report Properties screen, enter the following values:
  - Report name: Top 10 Accounts in Pipeline
  - Report description: Top accounts currently in the pipeline
  - Primary record type: Accounts
  - Related record type: Opportunities (Potential Customer)
- 4. Click Next.
- 5. The next screen allows you to specify filtering criteria for the report. Filtering criteria narrow the scope of the report, reducing the number of records returned. Clear the criteria under the Accounts heading to run the report against all available accounts. Set the Opportunities filtering criteria to show only those opportunities with a Status that equals Open. Click Next.

#### **Cross-Reference**

The filter screen uses query criteria in a similar way as the Advanced Find tool, covered earlier in this chapter. Refer to the Advanced Find section to learn more about how to create complex queries.

- **6.** On the Lay Out Fields screen, click the box at the top-left labeled Click here to add a grouping.
- 7. In the Add Grouping dialog set the following selections:

Record type:

AccountsColumn:

Account NameSort order:

AscendingColumn width:

100 pixels

Summary type: None

- 8. Click OK to close the Add Grouping dialog.
- **9.** Next click the box labeled "Click here to add columns" and add the Opportunity's Topic column. Set the column width as 200 pixels.
- **10.** Add another column with the Opportunity's Est. Close Date column. Set the column width to 75 pixels.
- **11.** Add a third column with the Opportunity's Probability field. For the Summary type, choose Average, as shown in Figure 23.6.
- **12.** Add a fourth column for the Opportunity's Est. Revenue. For the Summary type setting, choose Sum.

When adding columns to a report in the Report Wizard, you can summarize certain types of fields. Here we are calculating the average probability for an account's opportunities.

🔊 Add Column W	febpage Dialog 🛛 📑	x
https://c5insight.crr	n 3. <b>dynamics.com</b> /CRMReports/AdHocWizard/PropertyPageDialog. a	1
Add Column Select the source of da type.	ta for this column. To display summary information, select a summary	
Record type: *	Opportunities •	•
Column: *	Probability	•
Data type:	int	
Name:	closeprobability	
Column width: *	100 pixels	•
Summary type:	Average	•
	None	d
	Maximum	Ъ
	Minimum	
	Percent of Total Sum	
	OK Cancel	
https://c5insight. 🛞 In	ternet   Protected Mode: On	9

**13.** Still working on the Lay Out Fields screen, select the Set Top or Bottom Number... option. In the dialog that opens, set the number of groups to display as the top ten based on the Sum of Est. Revenue, as shown in Figure 23.7.

#### FIGURE 23.7

Setting the number of groups to display based on a calculated field in a Report Wizard report

🧟 Set Number of Groups to Display W	/ebpage Dialo	ng 🔀					
https://c5insight.crm3.dynamics.com/CRMRe	ports/AdHocWiz	ard/FilterDialog 🔒					
Set Number of Groups to Display Focus the report by displaying only the top or bottom groups.							
Select how to limit the groups to the top or bot groups to display.	tom values, and	the number of					
Summary value:	Top or bottom:	Number of groups:					
Sum of Est. Revenue 👻	Тор 👻	10					
Average of Probability							
Sum of Est. Revenue							
ок	Cancel	Clear					
https://c 🚭 Internet   Protected Mode: On		<b>A</b> .					

- **14.** After laying out the fields, click the Next button to move to the Format Report screen. Format the report to display both a chart and a table, and select the option that reads Show chart. To view data for a chart region, click the chart region. Click Next.
- 15. Choose the Pie Chart option on the Select Chart Type screen and click Next.
- **16.** Accept the defaults for the chart format. The slices data should come from the Account Name field, and the values from the Sum of Est. Revenue. Leave the check marks next to the labels and legend options and click Next. A Report Summary is displayed. Click Next again, and then Finish to complete the wizard.
- **17.** The main report form will now be updated to reflect the values you entered in the Report Wizard. Set the categories option to Sales, and add Opportunities to the related record types. Click the Run Report button to preview the report (Figure 23.8).

#### **On the Web Site**

The RDL for this report is included on the companion Web site, in the file entitled Top 10 Accounts in Pipeline. rdl. If you are using Dynamics CRM on-premise or through a hosting provider that allows custom reports to be uploaded, you can create a new report using an existing file, and upload this file. Once uploaded you can edit it in the Report Wizard.

#### FIGURE 23.8

The custom report "Top 10 Accounts in Pipeline" created with the Report Wizard. Follow the steps in this section to create this report.



#### Tip

You can also create a report from an existing report that was created using the Report Wizard. This is a good practice if you want to experiment with a new version of a report you created using the wizard without altering the original. Once you are satisfied with your changes, you can unpublish the original by reverting it to a personal report. Trying to use the Report Wizard to modify the built-in reports or other custom reports not made with the wizard is likely to cause errors as the underlying query and data structure is not likely to be compatible with the wizard.

# Setting default filters and report options

After creating a report with the Report Wizard or uploading a custom report, it will be set as a personal report by default. To make the report available to your organization's users:

- 1. Select the report in the reports list view and click the Edit button on the Ribbon.
- **2.** Click the Actions menu item on the report property form and click Make Report Available to Organization. You can also use this menu to revert the report to personal.

You can edit the other properties of existing reports to tailor them to your organization. For example, if your organization will not be using the product catalog, follow these steps to hide the product reports from your organization:

- **1.** Select the Products by Account report and click the Edit button to open its properties form.
- **2.** Click the ellipsis next to the Categories field and remove the Sales Report category option. Click OK.
- **3.** In the Display In field, remove all of the options so this field is empty. Save and close the report properties form.

Repeat these steps for the Products by Contact report. The reports will still be visible in the "All Reports, Including Sub-Reports" view, should you wish to make them available to your users again.

# Using Excel as a BI Tool

One of the great advantages of Dynamics CRM is its tight integration with other Microsoft products, especially the ubiquitous Office program, Excel. Excel is, in fact, the world's most popular business intelligence and analysis tool, and, combined with Dynamics CRM, it can provide an incredibly powerful reporting platform.

# **Exporting data to Excel**

The Export to Excel icon shows up at the top of nearly every list view in Dynamics CRM, including those for custom entities. There are several options for how the export should be formatted:

- **Static worksheet with records from this page.** This option exports the current page of the selected view to Excel with no link back to the live Dynamics CRM data. (Static worksheets can also be used to update and reimport data back into Dynamics CRM.)
- Static worksheet with records from all pages in the current view. This option is available only if there is more than one page of records in the currently selected view.
- **Dynamic PivotTable.** This option opens Excel with a preformatted pivot table and a dynamic query back to Dynamics CRM that can be refreshed. Users can select which columns will be available to use in the Excel pivot table.
- **Dynamic worksheet.** This option creates an Excel spreadsheet with a list of live data. If the data in Dynamics CRM is updated, refreshing the worksheet in Excel will reflect the updated records.

#### Caution

Some organizations may not want to allow data to be exported to Excel since this provides a simple way for large datasets to be copied to a common file format. The ability to export data to Excel can be restricted by a simple setting in users' security roles.

The Dynamic PivotTable option is the most commonly used for ad hoc reporting of Dynamics CRM data with Excel and will be the focus of this section. It provides a powerful example of combining these two Microsoft tools for business intelligence and analysis.

When exporting Dynamics CRM data to Excel, users can select the columns they wish to include in the export. Columns available for selection are not simply those of the presently viewed entity, but also those of entities that have an N:1 relationship with the present entity. An N:1 relationship means there is a lookup from the present entity to a "parent" entity. Columns from these parent entities are available for export.

When exporting to a Dynamic PivotTable, Dynamics CRM launches Excel and preformats an empty pivot table in the Excel 97-2003 Worksheet file format. which is compatible with nearly all versions of Excel in use today.

#### Note

Pivot tables are a way to view summaries of related data in a cross-tab format that is queried from the SQL Server database. While users can sometimes be intimidated by pivot tables, Dynamics CRM makes them very easy to create. Exporting to a pivot table can help users quickly summarize Dynamics CRM data, with automatically calculated counts or totals, nested and selectable groups, and compelling charts.

# **Creating useful reports with Excel**

In order to create useful pivot tables to analyze your Dynamics CRM data, it is essential to select columns that make sense in a cross-tab format. Because pivot tables automatically summarize data, it often makes sense to select columns that have numerical values, as well as columns that represent logical groupings like categories or record owners.

In the following example, you can use the steps to create a pivot table and chart that display the estimated revenue of open opportunities by salesperson and by relationship type.

- **1.** Navigate to the Opportunities list view in the Sales area and select the Open Opportunities view.
- **2.** Click the Export to Excel button on the Ribbon menu.
- **3.** Select the Dynamic PivotTable option (see Figure 23.9) and click the Select Columns button.

#### FIGURE 23.9

In this dialog, select the Dynamic PivotTable option to create a dynamic data link between Excel and Dynamics CRM and set up a pivot table in Excel.

🔊 Export Data to Excel Webpage Dialog	×
Export Data to Excel	
Select the type of worksheet to export.	
Use this type of worksheet:	
C Static worksheet with records from this page	
Dynamic PivotTable	Select Columns
C Dynamic worksheet	Edit Columns
	Lone Social III IS
Make this data available for re-importing by including	a required column headings
, high and a standbir for the importanty by measure	
	Export Cancel
http://crm:5555/C 육 Local intranet   Protected Mode: Of	r //

- **4.** In the Select PivotTable Columns dialog, with the Opportunity set as the Record Type, place check marks next to the following fields: Est. Revenue, Owner, and Probability. Remove check marks from other Opportunity fields. Do not close the column selection dialog.
- **5.** Change the Record Type to Potential Customer (Account) and select the Relationship Type column as shown in Figure 23.10. Click OK.
- **6.** Back on the Export Data to Excel dialog, click the Export button.
- 7. You will receive a File Download prompt asking if you want to open or save the Excel file. Save the file to your desktop, and then open it. Excel will prompt you with a warning that the file is in a different format than specified by the file extension. This is normal. Click Yes to open the file.

You can select columns from related record types when exporting data to Excel.

	r clear columns for the Ploot able.		
ecord T	ype Potential Cu	stomer (Account)	
	risplay Name 🔺 rreterred User	Name preterreasystemuseria	Туре Іоокир
E F	Price List	defaultpricelevelid	lookup
F	rimary Contact	primarycontactid	lookup
F	Record Created On	overriddencreatedon	datetime
<b>~</b>	Relationship Type	customertypecode	picklist
2	cale	new_scale	decimal
2	end Marketing Materials	donotsendmm	boolean
2	hares Outstanding	sharesoutstanding	integer
2	hipping Method	shippingmethodcode	picklist
2	IC Code	sic	text
2	itatus	statecode	state
2	itatus Reason	statuscode	status
2	itock Exchange	stockexchange	text
T	elephone 3	telephone3	text
T	erritory	territoryid	lookup

**8.** Click the Enable Content button to disable the security warning and permit the dynamic connection to the database. (This step may vary depending on the version of Excel you are using and your computer's security settings.) The file opens with an empty pivot table, and the Excel pivot table field list (see Figure 23.11).

When the Dynamics CRM for Outlook client is not installed, you cannot see this data.

- 1. Click on the Owner field in the field list and drag it to the box in column A, where it says Drop Row Fields Here.
- 2. Drag the Probability field next to the Owner field to create a nested grouping.
- 3. Drag the Est. Value field to the box labeled Drop Value Fields Here.
- 4. Drag the Relationship Type field to the box labeled Drop Report Filter Fields Here.
- **5.** Your pivot table should now have data with automated summaries as shown in Figure 23.12.
- **6.** To add a chart, place your cursor in one of the data cells in the pivot table, and click the Insert menu in Excel. Select a pie chart of your choosing. The results should look similar to Figure 23.12.
- 7. Save the Excel file and close it.

The export process includes commands which set up an empty pivot table in Excel and open the Excel PivotTable Field List panel. You may need to enable the content if you receive a security warning.



# Making the pivot table available to other users

The pivot table and chart created in the previous exercise contains a dynamic link to the data in Dynamics CRM. If you reopen the pivot table, it will automatically refresh with the latest data in the system. The dynamic link uses a data query in Excel that uses special views in Dynamics CRM to maintain data security. Users will only be able to see data in pivot tables that they would otherwise be able to see in Dynamics CRM. This makes pivot tables a great way to quickly build interesting reports that can be shared with other users.

To share the pivot table with other users:

- 1. Navigate to the reports area in the Workplace and click the New button.
- **2.** In the report properties form, highlight the picklist drop-down for the Report Type field and select Existing File.
- **3.** In the File Location box that appears, browse to the location where you saved the pivot table Excel file.

The completed pivot table report includes a chart.

🔣   🛃 🗳 🕶 🖓 🕶 🖓 🕶 🖉 🖉 Open (	Opportunities 2010-07	06 22_53_16Z.xls -	Microsoft Excel	PivolC	hart Tools	- @ X
File Home Insert Pa	ge Layout Formulas	Data Review	View Team	Design Layout	Format Ana	lyze 🛆 🖓 🗆 🗊 🖾
Change Save As Chart Type Template Row/Column Type	Select Data	t Layouts		Chart Styles		Move Draft Chart - Location Mode
Chart 4	Jx		-	0		
A E 1 Relationship Type (All) 2	3 C	DE	F	GH	JF	PivotTable Field List
3         Sum of Est. Revenue           4         Owner         ▼           5         ■ Matt Wittemann           6         7	ility Total 10 93250 15 45000 50 14500					(opportunityid)     E-mail (Potential Customer) <b>VEst. Revenue</b> name
8 Matt Wittemann Total 9 EApril Meyer 10 April Meyer Total	152750 25 72515 72515					☑ Owner ☑ Probability ☑ Relationship Type
12 13 14 15 16 17 40	▼ nue	otal			=	
18 19 20 21 22 23 24 23 24			Owner Probability Matt Wittemann 1 Matt Wittemann 1	• • 0 5		Drag fields between areas below: ▼ Report Filter Шegend Fields Relationship ▼
26 27 28 29 30			■ Matt Wittemann 5 ■ April Meyer 25	.0		Axis Fields (Ca Σ Values       Owner ▼       Probability ▼
31 32 II I I Dpen Opportunities	/@/					Defer Layout Update Update
Ready						

- **4.** The report name will be pre-populated based on the filename. You may modify this if you wish.
- **5.** Set the category, related record types, and the areas of Dynamics CRM where you wish the report to appear, and click the Save button. Do not close the report properties form.
- **6.** On the Actions menu at the top of the report properties form, select Make Report Available to Organization.
- 7. Let your users know about the new report and where they can find it. When they run the report, Dynamics CRM will launch Excel (and may give them similar security prompts as you received when you designed the pivot table), and automatically update with the latest data their security roles permit them to view.

# Summary

This chapter introduced the concept of Business Intelligence (BI) and the variety of ways that Dynamics CRM makes BI easy for users, lessening their reliance on busy IT departments or costly consultants.

#### Part VII: Visualizing Your CRM Data with Charts, Reports, and Dashboards

Dynamics CRM is designed to make it easy for users to consume and analyze data when and how they want, with built-in tools that are both powerful and intuitive. Some of the quickest ways that users can begin to create their own reports are through the Advanced Find tool, the Report Wizard, and by using Excel for analysis. There are also a couple dozen reports included with Dynamics CRM for analysis of traditional customer relationship management functions.

Often what users call reports can be provided via system views. Some users may also avail themselves of the Advanced Find tool, which can create very complex queries to locate precise sets of data and display them dynamically in views that can be saved and shared among users.

The built-in reports deliver great value if your organization uses Dynamics CRM for traditional sales, service, and marketing. The 24 reports include many subreports and can be sliced and diced to display data in dozens more ways, multiplying the reports to effectively provide 75 or more ways to analyze your organizations data and performance.

The Report Wizard is easy to use and provides nicely formatted, professional looking reports with charts, pre-filtering and drill-through capabilities. Users can create reports in under five minutes and save them for reuse and sharing.

Finally, the power of Excel is brought to bear on Dynamics CRM as demonstrated through powerful pivot tables. Pivot tables automatically summarize data, and Dynamics CRM sets up live data links between itself and Excel so data is automatically refreshed when the pivot table file is opened.

### CHAPTER

24

# Working with Visualizations: Charts and Dashboards

ne of the most significant features introduced with Dynamics CRM 2011 is visualizations. Visualizations (charts and dashboards) enable users to quickly summarize information from thousands of records into snapshots. But visualizations go beyond static graphical pictures — they also enable users to interact with them. This interactive experience with visualizations means that users can move from summary data to detailed actionable information in a few clicks.

Visualizations can be created by users for personal use, or by administrators for distribution systemwide. Users can share their user visualizations with others. Charts and dashboards presented by visualizations honor each user's security settings to ensure that data is protected.

The visualization framework can also be expanded if desired. Organizations can create their own visualizations or Microsoft and third parties can offer new visualizations over time. Some visualization expansions may include new chart types, geographic mapping, SharePoint and social media integration, Gantt charts, gauges for tracking goals, and advanced data analysis through statistical modeling.

#### **Cross-Reference**

In addition to the visualizations discussed in this chapter, you can also use Excel and SQL Server Reporting Services (SSRS) to create and publish other types of visualizations. For more information, see Chapters 23 and 25.

#### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Using and creating charts

Advanced charting with the SDK

Using and creating dashboards

# **Working with Charts**

Charts are a way to visualize information that is in Dynamics CRM views. Charts enable you and others in your business to quickly summarize information that may be contained in hundreds, thousands, or millions of records in Dynamics CRM.

If you think of a Dynamics CRM view as an Excel spreadsheet (with rows and columns), then you can think of a chart as an Excel chart that summarizes data from the spreadsheet. As you find out later, charts share many other characteristics with views.

#### **Cross-Reference**

To work with charts, you should have a good understanding of views and advanced find. For more information about working with views, see Chapter 10. For information about using advanced find and creating custom views, see Chapter 17.

# **Using charts**

Dynamics CRM includes a number of charts out of the box. You can quickly display and interact with these charts to analyze the information within Dynamics CRM.

#### **Viewing charts**

Wherever you see a grid in Dynamics CRM you can view a chart to visualize the data in the grid. This includes areas such as accounts, opportunities, and cases. Figure 24.1 is an example of the opportunity grid with a funnel chart displayed next to it.

The steps for viewing charts are the same in the Outlook and Web versions of Dynamics CRM. Note, however, that the screens will look a bit different depending upon which version you are using. Use this process to view a chart:

- 1. Navigate to the grid that you would like to visualize as a chart. For example, to view a chart of opportunities, navigate to Sales  $\Rightarrow$  Opportunities.
- **2.** If you do not already see a chart near the grid, then in the Ribbon menu select the View option and click on Charts (see Figure 24.2).
- **3.** Select Right or Top depending on where you want the chart to be displayed (to the right of the grid or above the grid). The chart is displayed in the selected position.
- **4.** Above the chart is a picklist containing all of the charts available for this Dynamics CRM entity. Click the picklist to choose the desired chart.

#### Tip

You can also view charts in sub-grids by following the same instructions as above. There are some differences and limitations with using charts on sub-grids. For more information see the section later in this chapter, "Using charts on forms."

#### FIGURE 24.1

#### Opportunity grid with a funnel chart

Bit       Home       Send / Receive       Folder       Chart       Opportunities       Create Related       Customize       View         Change View *       Save Filters as New View       Image: Arrange By * - Expand/Collapse *       Image: New Settings       Image: New Set Setings       Image: New Seting	© ©
Change View * Save Filters as New View View Settings Create Personal View View Settings Current View Customize Preview Pane Current View Arrangement Arrangement Layout Chatts: Sales Pipeline Chatts: Sales	No up
	l ≺ mou
Save Filters to Current View Customize Preview Pane Current View Arrangement Current View Curre	Vo up
Current View     Arrangement     Layout     Data       # 360 Centric     # My Open Opportunities     # My Open Opportunities     # Charts:     Sales Pipeline     ? * ? * ?       b ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	No up
360 Centric     4 My Open Opportunities     A My Open Opportunities     Beach My Open Opportunities     Charts: Sales Pipeline	· No uj
My Open Opportunities     Amount of the second	Vo uj
P Marketing b Resource Center Search My Open Opportunities P Charts: Sales Pipeline	Nout
	Noup
Potential Customer Est. Close Date	
Sales     forders of Product SKU JJ202 (sample)     Basic Company (sample)     Tue 8/31/2010 9x     Sales Pipeline	ğ
Leads Needs to restock their supply of Product SKU AX305; will Best o' Things (sample) Thu 10/28/2010 9	, E
Opportunities     Iney sell many or the same items that we do - need to blue Company (sample) Mon U32/011.91     Very likely will order tail Product Skul U202 this very fam., Elemental Goods (sample) Tue 11/30/2019      175.000.00	de Di
Accounts     Will be ordering about 110 items of all types (sample) Litware Inc. (sample) Tue 2/1/2011 9:4:	poi
Contacts Will expand their offerings to include some of our prod Variety Store (sample) Sat 8/14/2010 9:4	Ť
Marketing List Will order some items soon (sample) Variety Store (sample) Sun 8/15/2010 9: 585,000.00	ents
Competitors \$36,000.00	
Products	Y
Sales Literatur 3-Closing	7
	day
Orders B1-7 Bane 1 Click on the chart to part on Dill.	
Divide Cannal	- sks
Opportunity: 6 orders of Product SKU JJ202 (sample)	
Mail Ganad	
General	-
360 Centric Topic is orders of Product Sky J202 (sample)	_
Protectial Customer Basic Company (Sample) Currency OS Donar	
Calendar Price Do	
See Contacts	
neverue C System Calculated C User Prov	•
Filter applied	

#### FIGURE 24.2

Clicking the Charts button on the view tab of the Ribbon menu

The Charts button with options for chart placement

File	Home	Send / Receive	Folder	Chart	Opportunities	Create Related	Customize	View	View					2	0
🕼 Change	e View *	Save Fi	ilters as New	View	📕 Arrange By 🔻		📰 Navig	ation Pane 🔻		Charts +	晶	${\bf Y}$			
🕼 View Se	ettings	Create	Personal Vie	w	†↓ Reverse Sort		🔲 Readir	ng Pane 🔹		Right	۳.	•			
🔛 Save Fil	lters to Curre	nt View Customize	Preview Pan	e	🐀 Add Columns		To-Do	Bar -		Тор	*	0			
		Current View			Arra	ingement		Layout		Off		Data			

#### Interacting with charts

After a chart is displayed next to a grid, there are a variety of ways that you can interact with it. We describe some of the basic methods first, and then we spend a little more time discussing how you can use the drill-down feature to go deeper when analyzing data in Dynamics CRM.

#### **Basic chart interactions**

This section summarizes some simple methods for interacting with your charts to get a quick understanding of the data in Dynamics CRM.

- **Change the chart type.** You can use the picklist just above the chart to view different charts.
- **Changing the view.** You can change the view for the grid and the chart will be refreshed to summarize the data in the current view. For example, you can switch from the My Open Opportunities view to the Open Opportunities view and the data will be refreshed to reflect the new view.
- **Changing the chart layout.** You can move the layout of the chart by clicking the Chart button in the Ribbon menu and selecting a new location for the chart.
- **Collapsing and expanding the chart.** If you would like to see more of the data in the grid, but still have easy access to the chart, you can click the collapse button. You can click the button again to expand the chart.
- **Hiding the chart.** If you decide that you would prefer not to display a chart for a grid at all, you can navigate to the View tab in the ribbon Ribbon menu, click the Charts button, and select Off. Clicking this button again will allow you to redisplay the chart. Note that at the time of this writing, charts can be turned off completely in Outlook, but not in the Web version of Dynamics CRM.

#### Drilling down

In addition to the above options, you can also drill-down into the data in your charts. Drilling down lets you select a portion of a chart to create another chart with more details about the selected section of a chart and also update the view grid to display only the selected records. The drill-down functionality works in a similar manner for all chart types. Use the procedure below to drill down into a chart:

- 1. Navigate to the chart that you wish to drill down into.
- **2.** Using the mouse pointer, click on the section of the chart that you want to drill into. For example, this can be an individual bar in a bar graph, a section of a funnel (as illustrated in Figure 24.3), or a slice in a pie chart.
- **3.** You will be presented with a popup dialog box asking for information on how you want to drill into the data. Fill in the dialog box and click the OK button.
  - In the View By box, select the field that you wish to use for the chart in your drill down.
  - In the Chart Type box, select the type of chart that you wish to use to present the data. The chart and the grid are refreshed to show only the records you selected for your drill down.

You can repeat this process to drill farther and farther down into your data for increasing levels of detail. As you drill deeper into your data, you can use the breadcrumbs to back up through earlier steps in your drill-down iterations if you like.

#### FIGURE 24.3

Drilling into a funnel chart

Charts:	Sales Pipeline 💽 🔮 »
	Sales Pipeline
	\$175,000.00
	1-Prospect: Sum (Est. Revenue) (\$)           View By :
	I-Prospet 2-Qualify 3-Closing
<ol> <li>Click</li> </ol>	c on the chart to perform Drill Down

# **Managing charts**

In addition to using the included charts, you also have the option of creating new charts or modifying existing charts. The Dynamics CRM user interface makes it fast and easy to create new charts. If you need even more options to customize your charts then you can export an existing chart, modify it externally, and import it back into Dynamics CRM.

#### **Creating charts**

Users can create new charts whenever they wish. These charts are available to the user for personal use or to selectively share with other users. Follow the steps below to create a new chart:

- 1. Navigate to the grid that you wish to create a chart for. For example, if you would like to create a chart of opportunities, navigate to Sales ↔ Opportunities.
- **2.** If charts are not displayed for this entity, then follow the instructions under Viewing Charts (covered earlier in this chapter) to display a chart.
- **3.** Click the View tab in the Ribbon menu and then click the New Chart button. The chart you were viewing will be replaced with the chart designer (see Figure 24.4) and some new options will become available in the Ribbon menu.
- **4.** Back in the Ribbon menu, make sure you are now on the Design tab and choose the type of chart you wish to display from the Charts area.

🖗 Campaigns: My Campaign	s - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Intern	et Explorer	_ 8 >
🔄 🕞 🗢 🏒 http://2008r2-de	mo:5555/360Centric/main.aspx#	• • • × • Bing	ρ.
Favorites	Dynamics CRM 🕅 Home - Central Administra 🕅 S	harePoint 🖉 Report Manager 🖉 Tags and Note Board	
A Campaigns: My Campaigns	- Microsoft Dyn	Arrow The Ar	v • Tools • 🚇 •
an campagne, mj campagne	Chart Tools		er talain @
File Campaigns View	Customize Chart		360 Centric 🔥
New Edit Delete Save	Save and Close     Save As     Save As     Save As	Import Export Column Bar Line Pie Other Charts	
Chart Management	Save Actions Options	Import/Export Charts Close	
Leads     Accounts     Contacts	Campaigns: My Campaigns - Enter chart name here	Search for records	<u>م</u> ۸
출 Campaigns De Products 김 Sales Literature 숲 Quick Campaigns	States	Legend Entries (Series ) Select Field Fortzontal (Category) Avis Labels Select Field Description	×
🕜 Workplace	Category		
🗐 Sales	Start by picking a series and category for the cha	rt.	
S Marketing	Name 🔺	Template Status Reason Created On	2
	T > 20 and supportion to markets (second a)	No Proposed 7/30/2010 10:26	
a Service	Ad campaign template [sample]	No Proposed 1050/2010 10:2010	
Service	Charity event(sample)	No Proposed 7/30/2010 10:26	-

- 5. Using the chart designer, fill in the fields to design your chart. Options include:
  - **Chart Name:** Fill in the box above the chart with a descriptive name for your chart. If you leave this field blank, it will be auto-populated based on what you enter into remaining fields.
  - Legend Entries (Series): These two fields determine the field that will be used as the "scale" on the chart and the operator that will be applied to this value. For example, your chart can display the sum of all estimated revenues or the average of all estimated revenues. Alternatively you can display a count of the number of records by category (if you wish to display only a count, then you can select any field for the first value and then choose count).
  - Horizontal (Category) Axis Labels: This is the category that will be used to subdivide the chart into individual bars, slices, or sections of a funnel. Depending on what you enter in this field, you may also be presented with an option for how to group your data. For example, if you enter a date field here, you will have the option to group dates by month, day, and so on.
  - **Description:** Optionally, you can enter a description here that provides more information about the purpose and usage of your chart.

- Advanced Options: Clicking the Show link next to Advanced Options allows you to display only the top or bottom records based on the selected legend. This can be useful for charts that display the top ten customers, for example.
- **6.** When you are satisfied with the design of your chart, go to the Design tab in the Ribbon menu and click Save and Close. The chart designer closes and your chart is updated.
- **7.** Your saved chart is added to the picklist of charts for the entity in Dynamics CRM under the heading of My Charts (see Figure 24.5).

#### FIGURE 24.5

Campaigns: My Campaigns ρ Charts: Estimated Revenue by Campaign Type 34 System Charts Campaign Budget vs. Actual Costs (By Fiscal) Campaign Budget vs. Actual Costs (by Month) Campaign Type Mix My Charts by Campaign Type \$1,104,560.00 My Charts Estimated Revenue by Campaign Type \$379,001.00 \$225,000.00 Estimated Revenue by Campaign Type 200.000.00 -0.00 Campaign Type Click on the chart to perform Drill Down Name 4 Template Status Reason Created On 🔽 🕨 🚰 🛛 Ad campaign template (sample) No Proposed 7/30/2010 10:26... 🕨 🚰 Charity event(sample) 7/30/2010 10:26... No Proposed Co-branding with large retailer (sample) No Proposed 7/30/2010 10:26.. Direct marketing template (sample) No Proposed 7/30/2010 10:26.. Event campaign template (sample) No Proposed 7/30/2010 10:26.. New ad campaign(sample) No Proposed 7/30/2010 10:26.. New customer loyalty program (sample) No Proposed 7/30/2010 10:26.. 1 - 8 of 8 (1 selected) I ≤ Page 1 | M N 0 All # A B С D E F I 1 К 1 R 11 V. W х H

The My Charts" area of the charts picklist

## Everyday use of Drill Down.

There are a number of ways that the drill-down functionality can enhance how you make decisions and how quickly you can respond to customers and prospects. Here is one example:

Lauren is the Director of Customer Service. Using Dynamics CRM, she has a view of all cases that her team is actively working. Her department promises a follow-up date after each customer call, and they are measured by how well they meet those expectations. So Lauren has set up a view of past due cases and (1) a chart that shows the day that they were due for follow-up. This gives her an at-a-glance perspective on the number of past due follow-ups and how far past due they are. She then drills into the past due items with (2) a pie chart based on the priority of the items. From here, she (3) can drill deeper into the high-priority items by customer. Using the list in her grid, she can then assign relevant items to senior support technicians for follow-up.

continued



Three drill-downs for case follow-up planning

Lauren could also use drill down to analyze which service reps have the largest backlog of items for follow-up, customer satisfaction with completed cases, and so on.

Now that you have designed a chart, there are some other options that you may want to use in the Chart area of the View tab of the Ribbon menu while the chart is being displayed:

- Edit, Save As, Delete Chart: You can edit the current chart, or delete the chart. Note that you cannot edit system charts from here, but you can click the Save As button and save a copy of a system chart and you can then edit the saved copy.
- Assign: You can assign the chart to a different user as the owner. This can be a helpful feature if a colleague asks you to design a chart. Note that if you do not first share the chart with yourself, then the chart will no longer be visible to you after you assign it to someone else.
- **Share this Chart:** Similar to assign, this allows you to share a chart with a colleague while also enabling you to determine if the colleague can edit the chart or only view it. Sharing charts is very similar to sharing other records in Dynamics CRM. For more information on sharing records, see Chapter 10.
- **Import/Export Chart:** Your chart can be exported to a file that can then be updated externally with some features that are not available in the chart designer.

# System Charts versus User Charts \_\_\_\_

Charts can be created as either system charts (charts that are available for everyone in your organization) or as user charts (charts created by an individual user and that can be shared selectively with other users). System charts are created in the Settings area and user charts are created next to the grid that the chart will be associated with. For purposes of this section, we are creating user charts. For more information on creating system charts, see Chapters 16 and 17.

#### Using charts on forms

As mentioned earlier in this chapter, charts can be presented within your Dynamics CRM forms. Viewing and interacting charts within forms is done, for the most part, in the same manner as has been described earlier. However, there are a few items to be aware of:

- Charts can only be made visible where there are grids or sub-grids. When viewing a form, grids are visible where you see related items in the navigation pane. Sub-grids can be embedded directly into forms without using the Navigation pane and these, too, can have charts associated with them.
- The form designer can restrict how sub-grids work with charts. Depending on how a form was designed will determine if you can use charts with sub-grids. Figure 24.6 illustrates a sub-grid that has been configured to allow charts and sub-grids to be displayed.

#### Importing and exporting charts

As mentioned earlier, charts can be exported into an XML format. Once it is exported it can be modified and reimported into Dynamics CRM. Exporting and importing charts can also be handy if you want to move a chart from one instance of Dynamics CRM to another or convert a user chart into an organization chart.

To export a chart:

- 1. Navigate to the page containing the chart you wish to export.
- **2.** Select the chart that you want to export from the picklist above the currently displayed chart.
- 3. In the Ribbon menu, select the View tab and then click Export Chart.
- **4.** Save the file to a convenient location.

Use the same process to import a chart, clicking on the Import Chart button in the Ribbon menu rather than Export Chart. If the chart appears to be a duplicate, you will have the opportunity to either overwrite the duplicate chart or create a new one.

#### FIGURE 24.6

A chart displayed as part of a form by using a sub-grid

Case: CAS.01001.Y5V500.	Microsoft Dynamics CRM	Windows Internet Evalorer

,	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	and the second s							
File Case Create R	telated Customize						3	C <b>5 Ad</b> 60 Cer	nin @ tric ^
Save and Close	Delete Record Management	e Cancel Assign Add Connection -	Run Report	<ul> <li>Print Preview</li> <li>Copy a Link</li> <li>E-mail a Link</li> <li>Data</li> </ul>	Run Start Process Dialog	Advanced Find			
32 Case: CAS-010	001-Y5V5Q0						Cases	•	⊕ ₽
Information – General	Overview							_	٠
Notes and Article	Title *	Average order shipment time (sample)	6						1
A Related	Customer*	Advanced Components (sample)					4	ī	
Closed Activities	Subject	Uery Query	Q	Case Type	Question			]	
Sonnections 6 Audit History	Case Origin	Web	•	Satisfaction	[		•	I	
▲ Processes Gá. Processes	Assignment In	ormation		Time Summ	ary			_	
16 Dialog Sessions	Owner*	S C5 Admin	Q	» Charts:	Time Summ	ary	- 2 »		
	Follow Up By	8/1/2010	<b>•</b>	ies	Time	Cummon			
	Status Reason	In Progress	+	tivit	Time	Summary			
	Priority	Normal	-	ed Ac			\		
	Contract and P	roduct Information		lose	180				
	Contract		Q	ies:					
	Contract Line		Q	ctivil					
	Service Level		-	4		30			
	Serial Number								
	Product		Q			-			
					Phone Cal	Taak			
								•	
Status Active									
one				🔹 Local intr	anet   Protected M	ode: Off	4 - 6	Q 1009	6 🕶

#### Modifying charts with the software development kit (SDK)

Exported charts can be edited to add options not available from the chart designer in Dynamics CRM. Editing an exported chart requires some understanding of XML (specifically FetchXML), which is documented in the Dynamics CRM software development kit (SDK).

#### **Cross-Reference**

The software development kit (SDK) is a set of documentation that provides instructions on methods for extending Dynamics CRM. The SDK can be freely downloaded from Microsoft. For more information on the SDK and on extending Dynamics CRM, see Chapter 20.

If you would like to experiment with updating the FetchXML for a chart, then export the chart that you wish to update. Open the chart in a text editing tool (such as Windows Notepad) to view the code. Here are a few simple changes you can make to the chart by editing the FetchXML:

• Change the chart type: Charts support some chart types that you cannot access from the Dynamics CRM user interface. Replace the text after "Chart Type=" with values such as Doughnut, StackedColumn and Pyramid.

- Change fonts and colors: Wherever you see a font or color, you can customize it to your liking. Colors can be standard colors such as "blue" or can be RGB colors.
- Imitate other charts: Dynamics CRM includes a number of charts that contain formatting that is not available for charts created through the user interface. Export these charts and review the FetchXML for them to understand how to change these settings in your charts.

Once you have completed making your changes, import them back into Dynamics CRM to see how they look. Keep in mind that editing FetchXML requires precision — if there is anything that you revised that Dynamics CRM does not understand, then it will not allow you to import the chart.

#### **Cross-Reference**

Writing code in FetchXML is covered in more detail in Chapters 20 and 21.

#### On the Web Site

Check the Web site (www.dynamicscrmbible.com) for a few examples of charts that you can develop by editing the FetchXML. Use them as a starting point to learn how to update the XML to create your own custom charts.

# Working with Dashboards

A dashboard combines multiple grids, charts, Iframes, and Web resources into a single page in Dynamics CRM. In addition, using the Iframe, Dynamics CRM reports can also be incorporated into dashboards. These different types of visualizations can be grouped into sections, and sections can be grouped into tabs to organize all of the elements of a dashboard. Figure 24.7 illustrates the elements that can be combined to create dashboards.

#### Note

At the time of this writing, you cannot control the sections and tabs on dashboards. However, control for these elements may be included in future updates to Dynamics CRM 2011.

Dashboards are powerful because they combine multiple elements into a single screen. Dashboard elements can be set up for users so that most of the information that they need to organize their day, be responsive to customers, and track their work can be available in just a few screens. Because they're interactive, users can get work done directly from their dashboards.

Multiple dashboards can be accessed in the dashboards area of Dynamics CRM. Like charts, dashboards can be delivered to all users systemwide, or they can be developed by a single user for personal use. Also like charts, user dashboards can be shared among different users.

#### FIGURE 24.7

The structure of a Dynamics CRM dashboard



# Using dashboards

Dynamics CRM includes a number of dashboards for immediate use out of the box. You may find that the visualizations included in these dashboards are sufficient to handle the needs of many of the individuals within your organization.

#### Viewing dashboards

Dashboards are found in the Workplace area of Dynamics CRM as the first available link in the Navigation pane. Navigating to the dashboards area will bring up your default dashboard. Use the functions described below to set up and manage your dashboard view:

- **Change dashboards:** There is a picklist located just above the dashboards and below the Ribbon menu. Use this to navigate to different dashboards.
- Set as Default: Click this option in the Ribbon menu to set the dashboard that you are currently viewing to be your default. The next time you return to the dashboards area, the selected dashboard will be the first one that you see.

• **Refresh All:** Click this option in the Ribbon menu if you want to see updated information in the dashboard. This enables you to see up-to-the-minute information in the dashboard without having to navigate away from the page and then back again. This can be helpful if you tend to monitor a dashboard without otherwise interacting with Dynamics CRM.

#### Interacting with dashboards

FIGURE 24.8

Dashboards can be made up of four different types of components or visualizations. How you interact with each component varies depending upon the component itself.

• **Charts:** If you are comfortable interacting with charts, then you already know the fundamentals of interacting with charts in dashboards. In addition to drill downs (see the section "Interacting with charts") charts presented within dashboards also allow you to zoom in, view the grid behind the chart, or refresh the chart. These options become visible as icons when you move the mouse pointer over the chart area. Figure 24.8 is an example of interaction icons on a dashboard.



Interaction icons in a chart on a dashboard

- **Grids:** Grids presented in charts behave in almost exactly the same manner as grids presented in other areas of Dynamics CRM. You can open records from within the grid, search and sort the grid; you can even display a chart of the grid data to the right of the grid if the dashboard creator has included this functionality.
- **Iframes and Web Resources:** Iframes and Web resources display information from other Web sites or customizations you have installed for Dynamics CRM. How you interact with these items will vary depending upon the nature of the site or application. See Chapter 21 for more information on iframes and Web resources.

# Managing dashboards

Dynamics CRM allows users to create their own dashboards and allows system administrators to create dashboards that can be distributed across the organization. The process for creating either type of dashboard is identical with the exception of where you go to start the process of creating a dashboard.

- User dashboards are created in Workplace 

  → Dashboards.
- Systemwide dashboards (also called organization owned dashboards) are created in Settings +> Customizations.

Instructions are provided for creating user dashboards in this chapter. For information on how to make systemwide customizations, see Chapters 16 and 17.

#### **Creating dashboards**

Follow these instructions to design a dashboard in Dynamics CRM:

- 1. Create the necessary views and charts. Dashboards in Dynamics CRM are made up mostly of charts and views. Prior to creating a dashboard, you must prepare the charts and views required for your dashboard. For information on creating charts, see the appropriate section earlier in this chapter. For information on creating views, see Chapter 10 for the basics and Chapter 17 for information on using advanced find.
- 2. Navigate to the dashboards area of Dynamics CRM by going to Workplace ↔ Dashboards.
- 3. Click the New button in the Ribbon menu.
- **4.** You will be presented with the Dashboard Layouts dialog box (see Figure 24.9). Select the layout closest to your desired design.
- **5.** Each component on the dashboard page has four icons in it. You can click on the desired icon to add a chart, grid, Iframe, or Web resource. For your initial charts, select either a chart or a grid for each component (for more information on Iframes and Web resources, see the next section).
  - If you choose to add a chart, you then need to select the record type, view, and chart for this component of the dashboard. Figure 24.10 is an example of the dialog box for setting up a chart in a dashboard.
  - If you choose a grid, you will then be asked for the record type and view for your grid. After adding a grid to a dashboard, you can double-click it to open the sub-grid properties dialog box and make changes to the settings for the grid.
- **6.** You can insert new components into the dashboard or change the layout of the dashboard by using the options in the Ribbon menu.
- 7. Click Dashboard Properties in the Ribbon menu and give your dashboard a name.
- 8. When you have completed designing your dashboard, click Save and Close.

#### FIGURE 24.9

#### Dashboard Layouts dialog box



#### FIGURE 24.10

Chart setup dialog box



#### **Understanding iframes and Web resources**

Dashboards can be extended by using Iframes and Web resources to embed additional functionality into them. Iframes stand for internet frames. They frame up information from

other Web sites and make it available inside a window of another Web application (such as Dynamics CRM). Web resources are stored directly on the Dynamics CRM server and are assigned a URL and can include HTML pages, Silverlight applications, images, JScript code, and other files.

Any number of extensions can be added to Dynamics CRM using these tools including:

- Mapping applications to visualize data geographically
- Social media connectors to display social interactions within the dashboard
- Integration with other systems within your organization
- SharePoint integration to share announcements and other information from SharePoint inside of Dynamics CRM

#### **Cross-Reference**

For more information on Iframes and Web resources, see Chapter 21.

# Summary

Visualizations in Dynamics CRM present a snapshot of your data in a quick and easy-tounderstand format. The included design tools can be used by either end users to develop personal visualizations or by system administrators to develop organization-wide charts and dashboards. Charts and dashboards can be extended programmatically with custom functions if desired.

Microsoft designed visualizations in Dynamics CRM to be interactive. Users can work with charts and dashboards to move from analysis to action in fewer steps because they don't have to navigate to one part of the application to see charts and another part to see detailed records. Through the use of grids, charts, and interactivity, many users can manage their work directly from a few dashboards rather than having to navigate to other areas of Dynamics CRM for routine tasks.

# CHAPTER

# **Custom Reporting for Dynamics CRM**

n spite of the tremendous improvements to the built-in reporting tools in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, there may still arise a need for more complex or customized reports. When custom views or visualizations, dashboards, Excel pivot tables, and Report Wizard reports do not provide the flexibility your organization requires, it is time to turn to custom report development.

The goal of this chapter is to provide you with the knowledge you will need to begin creating custom reports for Dynamics CRM, beginning with an introduction to the architecture of Dynamics CRM's reporting engine. We then provide an overview of the tools you can use to develop custom reports for both on-premises and online deployments, recommendations for creating professional, useful reports that meet your users' needs, and a walk-through of the report development process.

In the most general sense, a report can take many forms. A report can be any organized view of data, including lists, charts, and tables. Reports can be rendered as dynamic views, printed lists, spreadsheets, or any number of formats. The focus of this chapter, however, is on the concepts and technologies used to create reports that are powered by SQL Server Reporting Services. These custom reports are launched from the reports list view in the Dynamics CRM Workplace area or from the report icon on view and record toolbars.

#### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

- The anatomy of Dynamics CRM reports
- **Reporting tools**
- **Designing custom reports**
- Publishing and sharing reports

# Examining the Anatomy of Dynamics CRM Reporting

Dynamics CRM uses Microsoft's SQL Server Reporting Services (SSRS) as the engine that delivers a rich and interactive report experience. SSRS is a component that is included in most versions of SQL Server, and should be installed and configured prior to installing Dynamics CRM.

SSRS is an n-tier Web application, with a browser-based user interface, a Web services API, a processing platform, and a data layer housed in SQL Server. The SSRS application can be installed from the SQL Server installation media on the same server as the SQL Server databases, or on a separate server.

Depending on the underlying query and the amount of data to be returned, running an SSRS report can be a resource-intensive operation that can cause high memory and CPU utilization. Therefore, organizations that expect high demand for custom reports may wish to install SSRS on its own server.

#### **Cross-Reference**

Custom reports built using SQL Server Reporting Services are only one of the ways to create reports. More information on the built-in tools that can be used for business intelligence and data analysis is included in other chapters of this book. Chapter 23 includes details on using Dynamics CRM's dashboards and inline visualizations. Chapter 24 covers the other built-in reporting tools, including the Report Wizard and Excel.

# Taking a look at how Dynamics CRM interacts with the report server

The Report Manager Web site and the Report Server Web site are the two primary Web interfaces for SSRS. The Report Manager Web site , shown in Figure 25.1, is the main Web interface for SSRS, designed to provide administrators with an interface that can be used to manage reports and report server settings. The Report Manager Web site's address by default is http://<servername>/Reports.

As shown in Figure 25.1, when Dynamics CRM is installed, a folder is created in the SSRS Web site using the name of the organization database. In a multitenant deployment, each organization has its own folder within the SSRS Report Manager Web site.

The Report Server Web site is the root URI of the SSRS Web services API and is primarily used by applications that use the SSRS reporting engine. You must specify the Report Server address (http://server/reportserver by default) when installing Dynamics CRM. Installing Dynamics CRM or creating a new organization creates a folder for the organization within the Report Server. The folders for each Dynamics CRM organization are represented as text links in the Report Server Web site (see Figure 25.2).

#### FIGURE 25.1

The SSRS Report Manager Web site is used to manage reports for Dynamics CRM organizations as well as SSRS settings.

Home - Report Manager - Windows Intern	net Explorer		_ <u>8</u> ×
🚱 🕞 🗢 🙋 http://2008r2-demo/Reports/Pages	/Folder.aspx	💌 🔩 🗶 💽 Bing	<u>-</u> ۹
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🏾 🏾 🏾 Ø Home - Report Manager		🛅 🕶 🖾 👻 🗁 🖷 💌 Pa	ge 🔻 Safety 🔻 Tools 👻 🔞 👻
		Home   My Subscripti	ons   Site Settings   Help 🔺
Hollie		Search	Q
🖆 New Folder 🔋 🧕 New Data Source 🛛	📓 Report Builder 🛛 🖄 Folder Settings	🎕 Upload File	Details View
360Centric_MSCRM	C5Insight_MSCRM	PWCAccelerators_MSCRM	
SharedReports	SuccessAccelerators_MSCRM		
			-
Done		🔹 🕼 Local intranet   Protected Mode: Off	⊕ 100% ▼     ///     //     ///     //     //     //     //     //     //

The installation or organization creation process also creates the data sources that SSRS needs to connect to the Dynamics CRM organization databases and publishes the included reports to a Shared Reports folder in the SSRS Report Manager. Two data sources are created for each organization: a SQL Server data source and a Fetch data source. The SQL Server data source enables reports to use a standard SQL connection string to query the tables and views within an organization database. The Fetch data source is a special data source that was developed to enable custom reports to be developed for Dynamics CRM Online, since direct access to the SQL Server tables and views in Microsoft's data centers is not permitted. When an SSRS report is run through Dynamics CRM, it uses the appropriate data source, ignoring the data source that was used during report development.

# Serving a report through Dynamics CRM

When a client requests a report from Dynamics CRM, the request is passed to the Dynamics CRM application layer (the Dynamics CRM Web site), and then to the SQL Server Reporting Services application. The report server passes the query to the SQL Server database for the organization and then processes the results of the report request (see Figure 25.3).

#### Part VII: Visualizing Your CRM Data with Charts, Reports, and Dashboards

#### FIGURE 25.2

The SSRS Report Server Web site, with links to each organization's reports

2008r2-de	mo/ReportServer - / - Windows Internet Ex	plorer								-	8>
<b>)</b> - (	http://2008r2-demo/reportserver				• 47 ×	🕒 Bing					<del>-</del> م
Favorites	@ 2008r2-demo/ReportServer - /				合	• 🖾 •	- 🖶 🕇	Page 🔻	Safety 🔻	Tools 🔻	•
2008	r2-demo/ReportSer	ver - /									*
	•										-
SI	Friday, July 30, 2010 5:52 PM inday. August 01, 2010 1:45 AM	<dir> <dir></dir></dir>	360Centric MS	CRH RH							
Thu	arsday, July 29, 2010 11:24 AM	<dir></dir>	PWCAccelerato	rs_MSCRM							
Wed	inesday, July 28, 2010 5:48 PM	<dir></dir>	SuccessAccele	rators_MSCRM							
											_
Microsoft S	QL Server Reporting Services Version 10.5	50.1600.1									-
											-
one					Local intranet	Protected	Mode: Off			🔍 100%	۰,

The report is then rendered in Dynamics CRM using a report viewer control. The report viewer control displays the report to the requesting user inside the Dynamics CRM interface.

Authentication needs to traverse all of these layers as well — from the client to the Dynamics CRM application to the report server. Normally, when a client makes a request of an application that uses SSRS as its report engine, SSRS authenticates to the database to retrieve the data. Because the data returned in a Dynamics CRM report is dependent on the security role privileges of the user, the credentials of the user must be used by SSRS to retrieve the data. This is known as a double-hop, and might be a point of failure if the credentials are not handed off between the applications. In order to overcome this inherent challenge, Microsoft provides an application extension called the Reporting Extension for SSRS. (See Chapter 4 for more information on this extension and how to install and configure it.)

#### **Report file format**

SSRS reports can be created by any tool that can generate XML that complies with Microsoft's Report Definition Language (RDL). Report files have the .rdl file extension. RDL files are uploaded into the Dynamics CRM report entity, where they are stored in the organization database and synchronized to the report server. Because the code in the RDL file is stored in the Dynamics CRM database, reports are transported with the organization database if it is

redeployed, and they can be run by users with the Outlook client while offline. They can also be exported as part of a solution along with other customizations.

#### FIGURE 25.3

The Dynamics CRM application passes report requests to the SQL Server Reporting Services service, which retrieves the data from SQL Server and handles the layout and report rendering, which is delivered to the Dynamics CRM report viewer control.



# Working with the report

Designing useful reports for Dynamics CRM requires an understanding of more than report design. Reports interact with the Dynamics CRM interface in a variety of ways that make them more contextual and useful for users. We recommend that you review some of the key elements in the user's report experience in the Dynamics CRM interface in order to help your users get the most out of the system's robust reporting functionality.

#### Selecting the records to report on

Users can run a report from three places in Dynamics CRM: the report list view in the Workplace, the ribbon at the top of an entity list view, and from a record form. Running a report from each of these areas has slightly different implications:

- Report list view. Typically if a built-in or custom report is run from the report list view, the user will need to supply parameters so the report server knows which record or records to include in the query.
- Ribbon on entity list views. Running a report from the list view of an entity requires the user to select a record or records to be used by the report server as parameters in the report.

• Ribbon on a record form. Running a report from a record's form typically means the report will be run against only the currently viewed record.

#### **Filtering a report**

Many reports include filtering options that enable users to run a report on a specific set of records that is relevant to them (see Figure 25.4). A report can include default filters, and users can use an Advanced Find-like interface to modify the filter before running the report. Filtering also helps to improve report performance by limiting the amount of data that is returned.

#### Using report controls

In addition to prefiltering a report, many reports include textboxes, picklists, or calendar controls that enable users to set parameters within a report (see Figure 25.5). (Reports often contain hidden parameters as well, a topic that is discussed later in this chapter.) Parameters can allow users to change the way the report is displayed by changing groupings or further filtering data.

The report viewer control also includes a toolbar with navigation, search, export, and print controls. Reports can be exported to a variety of formats including PDF files, Word, and Excel.

#### FIGURE 25.4

The default filter on the built-in Case Summary Table report. Users can adjust the filter to suit their needs before running the report. In this case, the default filter also limits the data to those active cases created in the last month, helping to make sure the result of the report query is not too large.

@Re	po	rt Vi	ewer: Case Summary	Table -	Windows Intern	et Explorer											_	8 ×
G	Ð	) - (	/// http://2008r2-demo:555	5/Succes	sAccelerators/crmre	ports/viewer/vie	wer.asp>	action?	filter&	helpID	Case%: 🔻 🐓	×	Bing					P -
🚖 Fa	vor	ites	湖 Reports: Available	Rep	漏 Report Viewe	er: Case 🗙						<u>ن</u> - ا	a - 🗆	-	Page 🔻	Safety 🔻	Tools 🔻	0-
File					Report Viewer: C: http://2008r2-dem	ase Summary T Io:5555/Succes	able sAccele	erators/	rmrep	orts/vie	wer/viewer.asp	c?action=	filter&hel	pID=Ca	se%20Si	mmarv%	20Table.rd	Il&id
					Indext action													
Re	:po	rt Fil	tering Criteria															
	Case	es																
1	'n	Clear	[•] Group AND ]•[ Gro	oup OR														
		•	itatus	<u>Equals</u>		Active												
		• 0	Ireated On	<u>Last X M</u>	tonths	1												
		•	ubject	<u>Equals</u>		null												
		• •	Product	<u>Equals</u>		null												
		• (	lustomer	<u>Equals</u>		null												
		• (	Dwner	<u>Equals</u>		null												
		2	ielect															
																1.0		_
															Run R	sport	Close	
											🗣 Local intra	anet   Pro	tected Mc	de: Off		- @	🔍 100%	• //

#### FIGURE 25.5

The report viewer control in Dynamics CRM can be used to provide interactivity to users, including custom parameters, navigation, search, and the ability to export reports into various formats.

Or Mittp://2008r2-demo:5555/SuccessAccelerators/ormeports/Adewer/Mewer/Application=filter@htelpD=CaseK.	8×
Favorites     Accounts: My Active A     Report Viewer: Casex     Page Safety Tools       Et     Edit Filter       First Horizontal Group     Owmer     First Vertical Group     Safety Flore      View Report      Second Horizontal Group     Inone     Second Vertical Group     Second Vertical Group     Inone     Second Vertical Group     Second Vertica	ρ-
First Horizontal Group     Owner     First Vertical Group     Status Resion       First Horizontal Group     Owner     First Vertical Group     Image: Status Resion       Second Horizontal Group     Image: Status Resion     Image: Status Resion     Image: Status Resion       Id     1     or 1     D     Image: Status Resion     Image: Status Resion       Id     1     or 1     D     Image: Status Resion     Image: Status Resion       Case Summary Table     Xolt, file with report data     CSV (comma delimited)       AcrobacitOp/ file     Xolt Status Resion     Image: Status Resion	0-
Est Filer  First Horizontal Group Owner  First Vertical Group Status Resson  Second Horizontal Group [none]  Second Vertical G	+ H) 🔻
First Horizontal Group       Owner <ul> <li>First Horizontal Group</li> <li>Second Horizontal Group</li> <li>(none)</li> <li>Second Vertical Group</li> <li>(none)</li> <li>If 4</li> <li>(none)</li> <li>Find   Nett</li> <li>(Nett Horizontal Group</li> <li>(Net Hori</li></ul>	
Second Horizontal Group [mone]  Second Vertical Group [mone]	1
III of 1 ▷ ▷I	
Case Summary Table	
I I I T I I A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	1
Status Data Matt C5 Admin Total Excel	
In Progress Count 1 9 10 TEFFile	
Total % 7.14% 64.29% 71.43%	
Canceled Count 0 4 4	
Total % 0.00 % 28.57 % 28.57 %	
Total Count 1 13 14	
Total % 7.14 % 92.86 % 100.00 %	
8/31/2010 1:56 PM Prepared by: C5 Admin Page 1 of 1	
ingenericitus/d/0)	-

# **Selecting the Right Report Development Tools**

A number of development tools that can be used to create custom SSRS reports in the RDL format. In this section, we take a look at two that are freely available from Microsoft: the Business Intelligence Development Studio and SQL Server 2008 Report Builder 3.0.

# **Business Intelligence Development Studio (BIDS)**

In spite of its name, Business Intelligence Development Studio, or BIDS, is not a stand-alone product. It is actually the Visual Studio 2008 development environment, but is installed as an option when installing SQL Server 2008. BIDS includes project templates for use with SSRS, as well as for creating SQL Server Analysis Services (SSAS) and SQL Server Integration Services (SSIS) solutions (see Figure 25.6).

#### Note

Visual Studio 2010 is not currently supported for the Business Intelligence Development Studio, which is part of the SQL Server 2008 and SQL Server 2008 R2 products. Visual Studio 2010 can be installed on the same computer with Visual Studio 2008/BIDS.

You can use BIDS to create a new, empty report server project or choose to use the Report Server Project Wizard to create the project. The Report Server Project Wizard walks through the steps to set up a data source and a query, and select the layout for the initial report.

After a report project is created, BIDS allows a report project to be set up with a default target report server as the deployment target so you can publish reports without leaving the development environment. However, when creating reports for Dynamics CRM, it is not necessary to use this feature since reports must be uploaded through the Dynamics CRM interface. For this reason, you should not publish reports from BIDS directly to the organization's folder on the report server. You can use this feature to publish reports to a test report server or a test folder on the report server.

#### FIGURE 25.6

The Business Intelligence Development Studio project templates enable report development using the Visual Studio 2008 shell.

35	uccessAcceleratorsRep	orts - Microsoft \	∕isual Studio					_ 8 ×
File	e Edit View Project I	Build Debug T	ools Window H	felp				
: @	• 🖬 🕼   X 🖻 🖺 !	9 - (° -   •	Debug 🔹 🖬	ふ 見 図 文 郎 り・				Tec. 21
Xy	Start Page				• ×	Solution Explor	rer	- 4 ×
Tool					▲			
box	Microsoft					SuccessAc	celeratorsReports	
	VISU	New Project				<u>? ×</u>	Datasets	
		Deale at the second		Tourstates	NET Framework 3.5	- 88 55	5	
	Recent Projects	Business Inte	Iligence Projects	Visual Studio installed templates	procession and a second s		er summary-test.rdi	
	SuccessAccelerator	<ul> <li>Other Project</li> </ul>	t Types		59			
				Integration Services Connections.	Integration Services Project	lase		
				Report Server Project Wizard	Report Model Project			+ 4 ×
				Report Server Project				-
				My Templates				
				🗊 Search Online Templates				
	Open: Pro Create: Pro							
	Getting Started	Create a new An	alysis Services projec	t				
	Introducing Business	Name:	Analysis Services	Project1				
	SQL Server (How Do I)	Location:	C:\Users\C5Admir	\Documents\Visual Studio 2008\projec	t: 👻	Browse		
		Solution:	Create new Soluti	on 🔹 🔽	Create directory for solution			
		Solution Name:	Analysis Services I	Project1				
					ок	Cancel		
	· ·						1	
	Visual Studio Headlines							
					<u> </u>			
	遇 Error List							
Visual Studio, and, by extension, BIDS, stores projects and related files in the user's Documents library by default, setting up a convenient path to locate them. A report project may contain multiple separate RDL files which can be uploaded individually to Dynamics CRM. To locate an RDL file stored in the default project folder, navigate to the appropriate folder in your Documents\Visual Studio 2008\Projects directory.

The Visual Studio/BIDS interface provides the following:

- A report design and preview area
- A toolbox panel with common report objects like tables, matrixes, charts, and lists
- The Report Data panel with datasets, parameters, and fields
- The Solution Explorer and Properties panels

Using BIDS, you can also reference custom Visual Basic code or assembly references that you have embedded in the report properties (see Figure 25.7).

## FIGURE 25.7

You can embed custom code in a report's properties, and reference the code in expressions.

SuccessAcceleratorsReports - Microsoft Visual Studio
File Edit View Project Build Debug Format Report Tools Window Help
□・ 🖬 🖗 👃 🐃 🛝   ヴ・ペ・ ▶ Debug 🔹 -   🤤 雪 次 🗐 🖸 ,
::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::
Report Dats 👻 🕂 Report Lidl [Design] <sup>1</sup> Start Page 🗸 Solution Explorer 🖉 🕂
New + Edit X 🕫 🔯 Design 🕅 Design
Beport Properties
Parameters a Sources active ac
Data Sources Original Origin
Datasets Lrdl
Fuelences Fuelin ReplaceAbbr(By/Val a As String) As String
To ad Variables Dim strb1dr As New System Text.StringBuilder(a) If a Constaint/CRM Then
stBidt, Replace("CRM", "Customer Relationship Management")
Eise: Return a
End function
//Call this code in a textbox expression
//by using = Code.ReplaceAbbitHeidsistateorprovince.Value) Black
None
No Color
6.5in.2in
Help OK Cancel
🖬 Row Groups 🗸
BackgroundColor Specifies the background color of the item.
a Report Data Tradition
C Error List
Ready

## SQL Server 2008 R2 Report Builder 3.0

Microsoft SQL Server 2008 R2 Report Builder 3.0 (Report Builder) is a very user-friendly report design environment, with an interface that is similar to an Office application (Figure 25.8). It includes most of the same tools and capabilities as BIDS, and is available as a free download from the Microsoft Downloads Web site.

### FIGURE 25.8

Microsoft SQL Server 2008 R2 Report Builder 3.0 offers a familiar Office-like interface with most of the same powerful report development tools as BIDS.



## The Fetch Provider for Dynamics CRM Online

Prior to Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, it was not possible to upload custom reports to Dynamics CRM Online. This limitation was due to the fact that Microsoft did not allow direct connections to the SQL Server databases. This restriction from directly querying the views and tables in Dynamics CRM Online's databases is still in effect. To overcome this and enable custom RDL report files to be uploaded to Dynamics CRM Online, Microsoft has made available the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Fetch Extension.

Fetch XML is an XML query language developed by Microsoft for Dynamics CRM, and is the native query language that tools like Advanced Find and the Report Wizard use.

The Fetch Extension is a tool that plugs into the Visual Studio/BIDS environment that allows BIDS to connect to and consume the Fetch data source, which is exposed in Dynamics CRM Online and created in on-premises deployments during installation. When creating a report in BIDS, select the data source type "Microsoft Dynamics CRM Fetch" and enter your logon credentials when prompted.

The Fetch Extension makes it possible to use all of the report design features in BIDS to create professional reports and upload them to Dynamics CRM where they can be accessed by your organization's users. It creates standard RDL files that contain a custom Fetch data source and your FetchXML query.

The extension handles authentication against Dynamics CRM Online and enables you to query metadata and data during the report development process. You can even preview live data in the BIDS environment.

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Fetch Extension does not help report designers to create the Fetch XML query. However, there are several ways to start writing custom fetch queries:

- Using the Advanced Find tool, you can build a query and test it. Then use the Download Fetch XML button on the Advanced Find's ribbon to download a copy of the query XML.
- Extracting the FetchXML that is embedded in chart definitions.
- Creating a report in the Report Wizard, downloading it, and copying the FetchXML query from the RDL file, then hand-editing it.

An example of a Fetch query that returns a list of open opportunities for customers in the state of North Carolina with an estimated value that is greater than ten thousand dollars:

```
<fetch version="1.0" output-format="xml-platform" mapping="logical"</pre>
   distinct="false">
  <entity name="opportunity" enableprefiltering="1">
    <attribute name="name" />
    <attribute name="estimatedvalue" />
    <attribute name="estimatedclosedate" />
    <attribute name="customerid" />
    <attribute name="opportunityratingcode" />
    <attribute name="closeprobability" />
    <attribute name="opportunityid" />
    <order attribute="name" descending="false" />
    <filter type="and">
      <condition attribute="statecode" operator="eq" value="0" />
      <condition attribute="estimatedvalue" operator="gt" value="10000" />
    </filter>
    <link-entity name="account" from="accountid" to="customerid"</pre>
   alias="ab">
      <filter type="and">
        <condition attribute="address1_stateorprovince" operator="eq"</pre>
   value="NC" />
      </filter>
    </link-entity>
  </entity>
</fetch>
```

continued

#### continued

## Tip

Empower the users to use the built-in filtering mechanism on reports by enabling prefiltering in your Fetch-based custom reports. To enable prefiltering for Accounts, use <entity name="account" enableprefiltering="1">- in your Fetch XML query.

The FetchXML query language has some limitations and is not as powerful as T-SQL. Many of the language's limitations can be overcome by using the tools available in BIDS. For example, FetchXML has predefined date groupings such as week, year, fiscal period, and so on. If these groupings are not sufficient for your report, rather than attempting to group the data in the query, use the grouping options in the report designer to create a custom grouping.

To learn more about the FetchXML query language, refer to the links for this chapter in Appendix B.

With SQL Server 2008 R2, the Report Builder is also available as a one-click installation directly from the Report Manager Web site (see Figure 25.9).

### FIGURE 25.9

Users can install the Report Builder directly from the SQL Server 2008 R2 Report Manager Web site.

@Home - Report Manager - Windows Interne	et Explorer			_ 8 ×
😋 🕞 🗢 🙋 http://2008r2-demo/Reports/Pages/F	older.aspx	T 😽 🗙 🖸 Bing		- م
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🕍 Accounts: Active Acco 🛛 🖉	Home - Report Man 🗙		🖃 🖶 🔻 Page 🔻 Sa	fety 🔻 Tools 👻 🔞 🕶
		Home	My Subscriptions   Sit	e Settings   Help
SQL Server Reporting Services				
Home			Search	Q
🖼 New Folder 🧯 🖳 New Data Source 🧯	📓 Report Builder 🛛 🖾 Folder Settin	ngs 🛛 🕆 Upload File	I	Details View
360Centric_MSCRM	Consight_MSCRM	PWCAccelerator	s_MSCRM	
SharedReports	SuccessAccelerators_M	SCRM		
				<u> </u>
nttp://2008r2-demo/ReportServer/ReportBuilder/Rep	ortBuilder_3_0_0_0.application	Local intranet   Protected	Mode: Off 4	a ▼  ¶ 100% ▼ /

## **Designing Professional Reports**

BIDS and the Report Builder make it easy to create powerful reports. But creating reports that are useful and easily understood by users takes some practice. Follow the best practices recommendations in this section when creating custom reports for Dynamics CRM.

## Starting at the beginning

Good report design starts before you ever open the report development tool. You must begin with a clear understanding of the end user's needs. When gathering requirements for a report, ask users to provide examples of existing reports that will be replaced by the Dynamics CRM report. If there are no existing reports, ask users to mock up the report they need in Excel or PowerPoint. Find out what types of summaries and calculations are required.

Keep in mind that the reporting tools in Dynamics CRM are designed to allow users to provide self-service, so reports should be designed with that goal in mind. Find out what entities and processes they are going to want to report on, and plan the report design to be as broad as possible with the goal of allowing the user to modify the scope and slice and dice the data at runtime.

## **Using filtered views**

Dynamics CRM provides automatically generated "filtered" views for all entities (system and custom). Filtered views enforce users' security role permissions when running reports against Dynamics CRM data. When using the SQL Server data source type, it is recommended to always use the filtered views in your report queries, rather than the tables or nonfiltered views to ensure that users are not accidentally granted access to restricted data. Filtered views also provide an easier structure to query against since they incorporate the attributes from the underlying tables into one view.

The Fetch XML query language automatically translates queries to enforce security by using the filtered views.

## **Empowering users**

When designing a report, do as little grouping and filtering in the query as possible. Instead, incorporate prefiltering and user-selectable parameters in the report:

## **Enabling prefiltering**

Configuring prefiltering in a report enables users to change the scope of the dataset before running a report, and it also allows the report to be published as context-sensitive, meaning it can be run against one or more selected records in a list view or from a record form.

To enable prefiltering when using the SQL Server data source type, specify an alias for the filtered view in your query with a prefix of "CRMAF\_", a special prefix that the Dynamics CRM platform will interpret:

SELECT ,

FROM FilteredOpportunity AS CRMAF\_FilteredOpportunity

For reports that use the Fetch data source type, enable prefiltering as follows:

<entity name="opportunity" enableprefiltering="1">

In order to avoid a performance impact, be sure to specify the default filters for the report after uploading it to Dynamics CRM.

When using prefiltering, you should also include the filter options on the rendered report so users can see what filtering options they chose. To display the prefiltering options, you must use a special hidden string parameter called CRM\_FilterText. The parameter should allow null values. Place a textbox in the header of the report with the value set to following expression:

=Parameters!CRM\_FilterText.Value

### **Creating user-selectable parameters**

After a user narrows the query with prefiltering, they might also wish to change the view of the report data by changing groupings or selecting a subset of the returned records. The following steps show an example of adding a parameter to allow users to change the grouping on an opportunity report to be grouped by either the customer or the owner:

- **1.** Create a report with a table that contains opportunities. Make sure your query includes the customerid and ownerid fields.
- **2.** In the Report Data panel in the report designer, right-click on Parameters and add a new parameter called GroupBy.
- **3.** In the Report Parameter Properties, click the Available Values tab and specify the following values:
  - Label: Customer; Value: customerid
  - Label: Owner; Value: ownerid
- **4.** Right-click the table in the report and select Properties. In the group properties for the table, enter the following group expression:

=Fields(Parameters!GroupBy.Value).Value

When the user runs the report, they will be presented with a "Group By" drop-down menu. They can select either Customer or Owner. When the report is refreshed the results will be grouped based on the selection.

### **Configuring dynamic sorting**

Users often want to change the order in which records are sorted. SSRS enables columns in a table to be interactively sorted. To enable interactive sorting, right-click the text box at the top of a column to open the text box properties dialog. Click the Interactive Sorting section (see Figure 25.10) and select the Enable interactive sorting on this text box option. You can also select which parts of the table should be sorted, and if you'd like to sort based on a different attribute from your query.

## Localizing a report

Many values in the Dynamics CRM database are displayed to end users with formatting options that are set in the application. To use these formatting options in your reports, create a separate dataset in the report with the following query:

```
SELECT * FROM dbo.fn_GetFormatStrings()
```

This returns format settings for dates, time, languages, numbers, and currency. To use the format values that are returned, reference them in a report text box's format settings as an expression. For example, use the following expression as a custom number format in a currency value:

=First(Fields!CurrencyFormat\_2\_Precision.Value, "FormatDataset")

### FIGURE 25.10

Setting interactive sorting on a column in an SSRS report table

Text Box Proper	ties	×
General	Change interactive sort options for the text box.	
Alignment	✓ Enable interactive sorting on this text box	
Font	Choose what to sort:	
Border	Groups	
Fill	<u></u>	
Visibility	Sort by:	
Action	<u> </u>	
	Apply this sorting to all groups and data regions in:	
	DataSet1 💌	
Help	OK Cance	1

## Using global values

Since reports might end up being printed or exported to PDF, it's always a good practice to include helpful information in the report footer about when the report was run, and by whom. These values are automatically available in SSRS as built-in fields. Built-in fields include the execution time (which can be formatted according to the Dynamics CRM format settings as shown above), the report language, page numbers, and user ID. These values can be dragged into the report footer from the Report Data panel.

## Formatting for print layout

Controlling print layout can be problematic in BIDS and Report Builder. While the page orientation and page size can be set in the Report Properties dialog, any part of a table that extends beyond the margins will be printed on separate pages. Test your reports by exporting them to PDF and Word, and by printing them out. Adjust the contents of the report so the layout fits the standard paper size.

## **Refer to the SDK**

Microsoft includes a an extensive reporting section as part of the Dynamics CRM SDK. The SDK makes a number of recommendations on report performance and navigation that are helpful when designing a custom report. This includes instructions for adding drill-through links and other helpful report features for your users. The SDK also includes a reporting best practices page that you should refer to when working with Dynamics CRM custom reports.

## **Developing Your First Custom Report**

The following section is a walk-through to create a custom report for Dynamics CRM that displays all of the Field Security Profiles that belong to each user. This example uses the BIDS report environment to introduce the core concepts needed for connecting to Dynamics CRM, building a query, and laying out the report.

- 1. Open Business Intelligence Development Studio. If you installed this as part of your SQL Server installation, this is available at Start → All Programs → Microsoft SQL Server 2008 R2 → SQL Server Business Intelligence Development Studio.
- **2.** Create a new report project. In the New Project dialog, click on the Business Intelligence Projects and select the Report Server Project template. Give your project a name and click OK.
- **3.** In the Solution Explorer, right-click the Reports folder and select Add New Report. The Report Wizard opens.
- 4. Select the Data Source. Specify a data source name. (Do not use a shared data source. Dynamics CRM reports do not support shared data sources since the data source connection will be over-ridden during report publishing.) You can select either the Microsoft SQL Server or Microsoft Dynamics CRM Fetch data source type (see Figure 25.11). If you select the Fetch data source type you will be prompted for the login credentials and URL. For this example, select the Microsoft SQL Server data source type.
- **5.** Enter the connection string, or click the Edit button to open the Connection Properties dialog. For the SQL Server connection, you will select the SQL Server name and the organization database (orgname\_MSCRM), and use Windows authentication. Your connection string will look like this:

Data Source=SQLSERVERNAME; Initial Catalog=OrgName\_MSCRM

6. Click Next to proceed to the query design screen.

7. In the query design screen, enter a T-SQL or FetchXML query, or, for SQL Server data source connections, use the Query Builder to design a query. For this example, paste the following query into the query string box and then click Next:

```
SELECT CRMAF_FilteredSystemUser.businessunitidname, CRMAF_
FilteredSystemUser.fullname, CRMAF_
FilteredFieldSecurityProfile.name, CAST(CRMAF_
FilteredSystemUser.systemuserid AS char(36)) AS UserId
FROM FilteredFieldSecurityProfile AS CRMAF_
FilteredFieldSecurityProfile INNER JOIN
FilteredSystemUserProfiles ON CRMAF_
FilteredFieldSecurityProfile.fieldsecurityprofileid =
FilteredSystemUserProfiles.fieldsecurityprofileid INNER JOIN
FilteredSystemUserProfiles.fieldsecurityprofileid INNER JOIN
FilteredSystemUser AS CRMAF_FilteredSystemUser ON
FilteredSystemUserProfiles.systemuserid = CRMAF_
FilteredSystemUser.systemuserid
```

- 8. On the Select the Report Type screen, select the Tabular report and click Next.
- **9.** On the Design the Table screen, add the businessunitidname to the Group box, and the fullname and name fields to the Details box (see Figure 25.12) and click Next.

### **FIGURE 25.11**

Select either the Microsoft SQL Server or Microsoft Dynamics CRM Fetch data source type.

🗟 Report Wiz	ard				_ 🗆 🗙
Select the I Select a da data sourc	<b>Data Source</b> ita source from w :e.	hich to obtain da	ta for this re;	oort or create a ni	IW
C Shared da	ta source		<u></u>		
New data Name:	source				
DataSour	ce1				
Type:					
Microsoft	SQL Server		-		
Connecti	on string:				
				Edit	
				Creden	tials
🗌 Make	this a shared data	a source			
Help		- Back	Next ≻	Finish >>	Cancel

Use the Report Wizard to help design the table groupings and details.

Report Project3 - Microsoft \	risual Studio	
File Edit View Project Buil	d Debug Tools Window Help	
10-10 / X h h / 1	- C - ト Debug	
Toolbox → ╀ ×	Start Page	▼ × Solution Explorer
General	Report Wizard	
General     There are no usable controls in     this group. Dreg an item orbits     this text to add it to the     toolbox.	Select connection Properties       ? ×         Select connection       Change         Select connection          Oper       Connect to a database name:         Connect to a database file:          Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect to a database file:         Inition       Connect	
		Specifies the name of the folder.
Brror List		
Creating project 'Report Project3'	project creation successful.	

- **10.** On the Choose the Table Layout screen, leave the Stepped option selected, and click Next.
- **11.** Select a table style and click Next.
- **12.** Enter a name for the report, leave the checkmark in the "Preview report" checkbox, and click the Finish button to complete the wizard. The report is displayed in preview mode, as shown in Figure 25.13.
- 13. In the report design area, click the Design tab to leave the preview.
- **14.** Take a few minutes to refine the report layout. Rename the column headings and change the width of columns to use the space better. Add interactive sorting to columns to enable users to change the sort order at runtime. Remove the systemuserid column from the table. Use the preview tab to see how the report looks.
- **15.** Add the parameters needed to make this report useful to a Dynamics CRM user. In this example, add the parameter needed to display the prefiltering values that are used when the report is run from Dynamics CRM. Allow this parameter to accept null values so you can preview the report in the development environment:

CRM\_FilterText — a hidden parameter

#### The result of the Report Wizard

SuccessAcceleratorsReports	- Microsoft Vi	sual Studio				
File Edit View Project Buil	d Debug For	mat Report Tool	s Window Help			
10-10 0 X h h 1 19	- (* -   )   D	ebug 🔹 💀	曾父回回•,			
[E] ] <sup>aa</sup> 100%		Solid 👻	Tahoma	희 [ 李 ] 🚆 🕌	송 쉐   파 《 止	日日田寺  中井井井
Report Data 🔷 👻 부 🗙	User Field Sec	urifiles.rdl [Design]	Start Page	_	• >	Solution Explorer 🚽 두 🗴
New - Edit 🗙 🏚 🗣	🗐 Design [	Preview				
Built-in Fields	4 4 1	of 1 ▶ ▶   +		II	•	SuccessAcceleratorsReports
[]] Images	Llear Ei	ald Coourit	Drafiles			Shared Datasets
Data Sources     Datasets	USER FI	eia securic	y Profiles			E- B Reports
	businessur	fullname	name			Report1.rdl
	Success					User Field Security Profiles.rdl
	Accelerators			l		
		C5 Admin	System Admin Profile			
	Success					
	Products Group					
		Matt Wittemann	Products Group Security Profile			
		Matt Wittemann	System Admin Profile			Properties 👻 🕂 🗙
						· ·
						<b>2</b> ↓ □
IT Report Data RP Toolbox						
B Error List	. <u> </u>					J
Ready						

- **16.** Add a header to the report. With the design tab open, click on Report in the BIDS/ Visual Studio menu and select Add Page Header. Drag the text box containing the report title into the header. Drag the CRM\_FilterText parameter into the header as well.
- **17.** Add a new dataset so you can refer to the formatting from the Dynamics CRM organization in the report design. Right-click on the Datasets folder in the Report Data panel and choose Add Dataset. In the Dataset Properties dialog, select the Use a dataset embedded in my report option. Select the data source that you created in Step 4. In the query box, paste the following:

```
SELECT * FROM dbo.fn_GetFormatStrings()
```

18. Add a footer to the report and drag the built-in Execution Time and UserID fields into it. You can also put the page number in the footer. Right-click the Execution Time text box and open its properties dialog. On the number section of the Text Box Properties dialog, select the Custom category (see Figure 25.14). In the Custom format use the following expression (where "CRMFormats" is the dataset name created in the previous step:

```
=First(Fields!DateFormat.Value, "CRMFormats")
```

ext Box Properties				×
General	Set number and date formatting ontions			
Number	Section ber and date formatting options.			
Alignment	Category: Default Sample			
Font	Number			
Border	Date Custom format:			
Fill	Percentage «Expr»		f <sub>x</sub>	
Visibility	Custom			
Interactive Sorting				
Action				
	Current regional settings: English (United States)			
Help		ок	Cancel	

Setting a custom format for the Execution Time text box

**19.** Set up drill-through to the user records. In the text box properties for the fullname field, click on the Action area and select the Go to URL option. Add the following expression, replacing the server address and organization name for your own:

="http://crmserver/orgname/CRMReports/viewer/drillopen. aspx?OTC=8&ID=%7B" & Fields!UserId.Value & "%7D"

- **20.** Test the report by running it in the preview. You should be able to click on a username and open the user's record in the Dynamics CRM Web client from the preview pane.
- **21.** When you are satisfied with the layout, design, and function of your report, save your work and close Visual Studio.

## Tip

To jump-start your report development you can create a report in Dynamic CRM using the Report Wizard or make a copy of a built-in report, then download it and edit it in BIDS or Report Builder. To download a report from Dynamics CRM, select the report in the Reports list view, and click the Edit button on the ribbon menu. In the report edit window, click the Actions menu item and select Download Report. Save the RDL file to your local machine, then open the RDL file in Report Builder or open a report project in BIDS and add the report to the project by right-clicking the report folder and selecting Add 🕁 Existing Item.

When editing a report downloaded from Dynamics CRM, before previewing it, you may need to change the data source. In the Report Data panel, expand the Data Sources folder and right-click the CRM data source and

open the properties dialog. In the connection string, change the data source to your Dynamics CRM SQL Server and the initial catalog to the organization database you are working with. By default, reports that are included with Dynamics CRM have a data source of localhost and are set to use the AdventureWorksCycle\_MSCRM database as the initial catalog.

Once you have changed the data source, you should be able to preview the report and then begin making modifications to it. Of course, make sure to change the name of the report so when you upload it to Dynamics CRM you do not overwrite the original report.

## **Sharing Custom Reports**

After completing the development of a custom report, you must share it with the users by publishing it to Dynamics CRM. In addition to being able to upload RDL files, you can also upload other existing files, such as Excel files to the reports list or link to a Web page. If your organization uses a reporting tool other than SQL Server Reporting Services, you can experiment with uploading its report files to Dynamics CRM. Essentially you are creating a link to the report for your users, so they must have the tools needed to render the report.

## Publishing a report to Dynamics CRM

Reports are a full-fledged entity in Dynamics CRM, meaning they have privileges and permissions associated with them. In order to publish a SQL Reporting Services report to Dynamics CRM, users must have a security role with the appropriate permissions, as shown in Figure 25.15:

- Publish Reports (prvPublishRSReport)
- Report Create (prvCreateReport)
- Report Append (prvAppendReport)
- Report Append to (prvAppendToReport)

The System Administrator and System Customizer security roles have these privileges by default.

To upload a report to Dynamics CRM and make it available to the organization's users, follow these steps:

- 1. In the Workplace, navigate to the Reports list view and click the New button on the Ribbon menu.
- **2.** In the new report form (Figure 25.16) from the Report Type drop-down menu, select Existing File.
- **3.** Browse to the location of the RDL file and enter the path in the report form. The report's name will be automatically populated. You can change it if you wish, add a description, and then save the report by clicking the Save icon.

Uses who wish to publish an SSRS report must have a security role with the relevant privileges.

uplicate Detection Rule O	Details Core Records Marketin	g Sales	Service	Business Mar	agement	Service Manag	ement	Customization	Documents	Missing Entities	Custom Entities
small Template       0	Duplicate Detection Rule	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
mport Data       0	E-mail Template	Ō	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
nport Source File       0	nport Data	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
ead       O       O       O       O       O       O       O         fail Marge Template       O       O       O       O       O       O       O         fail Marge Template       O       O       O       O       O       O       O       O         fail Marge Template       O <t< td=""><td>nport Source File</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td></td><td></td></t<>	nport Source File	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
fail Merge Template       0	ead	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
inde     O     O     O     O     O     O       ipportunitly     O     O     O     O	fail Merge Template	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
apportunity       a       a       b       a <td< td=""><td>lote</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td></td><td></td></td<>	lote	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
yapantung Relationship       O <td>pportunity</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td></td>	pportunity	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
ueue       0	pportunity Relationship	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
ekidonalip Role epot epot epot epot epot epot epot epo	ueue	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
epot       e	elationship Role	0	0	0	0	0	0				
wed New       O       O       O       O       O       O         Jajact       O       O       O       O       O       O         ser Cash Doard       O       O       O       O       O       O         ser Dash Doard       O       O       O       O       O       O       O         ser Dash Doard       O       O       O       O       O       O       O       O         ser Dash Doard       O       O       O       O       O       O       O       O       O         set Ward       O       O       O       O       O       O       O       O       O       O         ktard Page       O	eport	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		
abject       O </td <td>aved View</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td></td>	aved View	0	0	0	0			0	0		
ser Chart O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	ubject	0	0	0	0	0	0				
iser Dashboard O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	ser Chart	0	0	0	0			0	0		
Veb Wizard Access Privilege Veb Wizard Access Privilege Veb Wizard Access Privilege O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	lser Dashboard	0	0	0	0			0	0		
Veb Wrazid Access Privilege     O     O     O       Vizzid Page     O     O     O       Istellaneous Privileges     Status     Status       Lieleta Audit Partitions     Bulk Delete     O       Ublish Duplicate Detection Rules     Publish E-mail Templates     O       Ublish Mul Merge Templates to     O     Publish Reports     O       Tew Audit Partitions     View Audit Partitions     O     O	Veb Wizard	0	0	0	0						
Vizard Page O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	Veb Wizard Access Privilege	0	0	0	0						
Idscelaneous Privileges     Buik Delete     O       idd Reporting Senices Reports     Buik Delete     O       Velete Audit Partitions     Manage User Synchronization Filters     O       ublish Duplicate Detection Nulles     O     Publish Reports       ublish Mid Merge Templates to     O     Publish Reports       rew Audit History     O     View Audit Partitions	Vizard Page	0	0	0	0						
Idd Reporting Senices Reports     Bulk Delete     O       Delete Audit Partitions     Manage User Synchronization Filters     O       Dublish Dublicate Detection Nulles     O     Publish Email Templates       Ublish Multifact Partitions     O     Publish Reports       Tew Audit History     O     View Audit Partitions	Aiscellaneous Privileges										
Velete Audit Partitions     Mnage User Synchronization Filters       Vublish Duplicits Detection Rules     Publish E-mail Templates       Vublish Multidarge Templates to Vublish Reports     Publish Reports       Velete Audit History     View Audit Partitions	dd Reporting Services Reports	•			Bulk D	elete		0			
ubilish Duplicate Detection Rules     O     Publish E-mail Templates     O       ubilish Mil Merge Templates to riganization     Publish Reports     Image: Complex Comple	elete Audit Partitions	0			Manag	ge User Synchron	ization Fil	iters 🔿			
Ublish Mail Merge Templates to         Publish Reports           rew Audit History         View Audit Partitions	ublish Duplicate Detection Rules	0			Publis	h E-mail Template	s	0			
riew Audit History O View Audit Partitions O	Publish Mail Merge Templates to Organization	0		Publish Reports			٠				
	/iew Audit History	0			View A	Audit Partitions		0			
	<ul> <li>None Selected</li> </ul>	User	😑 Busir	ness Unit		Parent: Child	Business	Units		Organizat	tion

## Note

If your report contains one or more subreports, upload the parent report first. Then upload the subreports. When uploading the subreports, Dynamics CRM should automatically detect the parent report and set its link in the report form.

By default, a newly uploaded report is not visible to other users. It is considered a personal report until it has been share with the organization. To share the report with other users:

- 1. In the report edit form, click the Administration tab, as shown in Figure 25.17.
- **2.** In the Viewable By radio button control, select Organization. Save and close the report.

## Setting other report options

After publishing a report to Dynamics CRM and making it viewable to the organization, there are several other settings that you can configure to make the report easy to access for your users.

The report form. Specify an existing file and provide a report name and then click the Save icon.

Contraction in the state	008r2-demo:5555/SuccessAccelerators/CRMReports/reportproperty.aspx?id=%7bA6EC443A-33B6-Df 🚽 🚱 🐹 📘 Bing	
Favorites 📈 Repo	rts: Available Rep 🔟 Report: User Field S 🗙 👘 🔻 Pag	ge 🔻 Safety 👻 Tools 👻 🔞
le 🔄 🛃 Save a	nd Close 📓 🖹 Run Report 🐁 Actions 🕶	@ Help (ALT+H) ▼
2 Report: User	Field Security Profiles Working on	solution: Default Solution
General Administra	lion	
Source	r	
Report Type	Existing File	<u> </u>
	File Location	
		Browse
Details		
Name *	User Field Security Profiles	
Description	This report shows each business unit and the users within it. Each user's Field Security Profiles are listed.	
Parent Report		
Parent Report Parent Report		
Parent Report Parent Report Categorization		
Parent Report Parent Report Categorization Categories	Administrative Reports	
Parent Report Parent Report Categorization Categories Related Record Types	Administrative Reports	
Parent Report Parent Report Categorization Categories Related Record Types Display In	Administrative Reports Users Reports area	

## **Adding report categories**

The report record includes a Categories field where you can look up and select from the available categories. This is especially helpful if your organization has a large number of custom reports. Default categories include:

- Administrative Reports
- Marketing Reports
- Sales Reports
- Service Reports

Additional categories can be added in the settings area by navigating to Settings  $\Rightarrow$ Administration and clicking on the System Settings link. The System Settings dialog contains a Reporting tab where you can add, edit, and reorder the report categories.

Reports are only viewable by the user who uploaded them until they are shared with the organization.

@Report: User Field	d Security Profiles - Windows Internet Ex	plorer				_ 8
💬 🗢 🔟 http:/	//2008r2-demo:5555/SuccessAccelerators/CRMRepo	rts/reportproperty.asp	x7id=%7bA6EC443A-33	886-DF 🕶 🐓 🗙 💽	D Bing	٩
🚔 Favorites 🔟 Re	ports: Available Rep 📈 Report: User Fie	ld S 🗙		습 -	🔝 👻 🖃 🖶 🔻 Page 🔻 Safet	/ 🕶 Tools 👻 🔞
File	e and Close 📓 🖹 Run Report 🐁 Actions 🗸				e	Help (ALT+H) +
32 Report: Use	er Field Security Profiles				Working on solution: [	refault Solution
Owmer*	S C5 Admin					
Viewable By*	Organization C Individual	~				
Created By	S C5 Admin	<b>a</b>	Created On	9/1/2010	9:41 PM	m
Last Modified By	S C5 Admin	Q	Last Modified On	9/1/2010	10:48 PM	M
Status: Existing				🗣 Local intranet I Pro	stected Mode: Off	• @ 100% •

## **Cross-Reference**

After adding a report category, it is a good idea to create a view for reports that is filtered on that category. Custom views can be added in the solution that contains the report. See Part V for information on customizing views and working with solutions.

## Making reports context-sensitive

Earlier in this chapter we walked through the use of a special prefix (CRMAF\_) in report queries, and, in the case of reports that use the Fetch extension, the element needed in the XML (enablefiltering = "1"), to enable prefiltering in a report. Setting this special configuration in the query of a report also enables the report to be made context-sensitive. A contextsensitive report can be run from a list view when one or more records are selected, or from a related record's form. The Dynamics CRM platform handles passing the record's ID to the report as an internal parameter.

The report form contains a "Related Record Types" field where you can specify the entities to which the report relates (see Figure 25.18). While you can technically add any entity you wish to this field, the SSRS report will only be able to receive the IDs for entities that are enabled for prefiltering in the underlying report query.

You must also specify where the report should be displayed. Options include:

- Reports area. This is the default setting. A report with this display option is available in the reports list view.
- Lists for related record types. Selecting this option makes the report available from the Reports Ribbon menu item on the list views for related record types.
- Forms for related record types. This option makes the report available from the related record types' Ribbon menu Reports item.

## FIGURE 25.18

Setting the related record types and the areas for the report to be displayed in will make the report context-sensitive. If the report's query is configured for prefiltering, the platform will automatically pass the record ID to the report as a parameter so it is run against only the selected report.

Related Record Types	Users	
Display In	Forms for related record types;Lists for related record types;Reports area	

## **Summary**

This chapter covered the concepts and techniques necessary to begin creating custom reports for Dynamics CRM:

- The architecture of SQL Server 2008 Reporting Services (SSRS) SSRS, like Dynamics CRM itself, is an n-tier application, with a presentation layer, a processing platform, and a data layer. Dynamics CRM uses SSRS as its reporting engine.
- In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, a shared folder is created in the report server Web site for the standard Dynamics CRM reports. When installing Dynamics CRM or adding an organization through the Deployment Manager, a new folder is created for the organization within the report server. Custom and customized reports are placed in the organization's folder.
- The Dynamics CRM platform is designed to empower users to access, consume, and analyze data when and how they need to. There are many ways that the platform supports custom report developers to build reports that enable self-service. Reports can be designed to be context-sensitive, to enable prefiltering, and custom slicing and dicing. This chapter introduced some of these techniques.
- There are two tools available from Microsoft that can be used to create custom SSRS reports: the Business Intelligence Development Studio (BIDS) and the SQL Server 2008 R2 Report Builder 3.0 (Report Builder). This chapter presented the features of these tools and instructions for accessing and using them.
- Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 introduces a new extension for BIDS to enable developers to create custom reports that use FetchXML queries. SSRS reports that use the FetchXML provider can be developed for Dynamics CRM Online.

# Part VIII

# Extending and Integrating Dynamics CRM

mong the most compelling factors that probably influenced your decision to tackle Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is its ability to integrate with a wide range of other systems, and to support an endless variety of business processes.

Entire books, veritable tomes, have been written about integrating Dynamics CRM with other systems and extending its functionality into other corners of your business. Big topics indeed! In this final part of the book we attempt to cover everything an administrator needs to know about these two complex topics.

## **IN THIS PART**

### Chapter 26

Connecting to Other Systems: Migration and Integration with Dynamics CRM

### Chapter 27

XRM: Going Beyond Traditional CRM

## CHAPTER 26

## Connecting to Other Systems: Migration and Integration with Dynamics CRM

ur goal with this chapter is to provide an administrative overview of the types of integrations that are frequently implemented with Dynamics CRM, as well as a summary of various integration techniques, best practices, and useful integration technologies.

Whether you implement Dynamics CRM for traditional customer relationship management or as a platform for a line-of-business application, it will undoubtedly play a central role in your organization's daily operations. As a sales, marketing, and service application, Dynamics CRM is the primary tool for facilitating interactions between your organization and your customers. As a LOB platform, it may be used to track the key functions of your organization's core competencies.

Because of this central role, it is often necessary to integrate Dynamics CRM with other business systems. Integration typically refers to sharing data between systems, such as an accounting system and your CRM system. Increasingly, however, as services-oriented applications have become more prevalent, and with the advent of distributed platforms such as cloud-based services, integration needs include not just sharing data between systems but also leveraging the services of one application from another.

Dynamics CRM is frequently integrated with the data and services of systems such as:

- ERP and accounting systems like Dynamics GP, NAV, and AX, as well as third-party systems like SAP, QuickBooks, and many others
- CTI/Telephone systems like Cisco and Avaya
- Line-of-business applications, such as manufacturing process management systems and shipping systems

## **IN THIS CHAPTER**

Planning for migration and integration

Handling different integration scenarios

Selecting the right tools

Independent Software Vendors (ISVs)

- Internal and external-facing Web sites, from simple contact or help request forms through full portal and e-commerce integration
- File and data repositories and directories
- External data sources used for lead generation and market research, such as Dun & Bradstreet, Hoover's, or Dodge Reports

Recognizing the need for these kinds of integrations, Microsoft has designed Dynamics CRM to be an incredibly flexible and extensible system with many points for integration. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is itself an integrated system, each tier of the system having multiple integration points, as shown in Figure 26.1, and natively integrating with other systems, such as SQL Server Reporting Services, Active Directory, Microsoft Office (primarily Outlook, but also Word and Excel), Exchange Server, SharePoint, and AD FS 2. It is built to enable an endless variety of integration options.

### FIGURE 26.1

Dynamics CRM provides numerous points for integrating data and services.



Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 provides the fundamental architecture needed to develop scalable and secure data and services integration with external systems, including:

- Web services and WCF APIs
- Messaging and event pipeline
- Service Bus plug-in
- Platform services
- Database views

## Note

It is typically not recommended to use data layer integration approaches (other than reading from the database views), since this would bypass the application layer's business logic and security — as well as placing your Dynamics CRM implementation into an unsupported state.

Most data exchange typically takes place using the Web services API, but as this list shows, there are numerous ways to interact with Dynamics CRM's data and services.

## **Preparing for Integration**

You should begin preparing for integration early in your implementation planning for Dynamics CRM. When defining the objectives your organization has in using Dynamics CRM, capture the goals for bringing data into Dynamics CRM on a one-time basis (migrating data), such as when replacing an older system, as well as when data and/or services need to be shared at regular intervals or on a near real-time basis (integrating data).

Due to the complexity of data migration and integration, we recommend getting the basics of your Dynamics CRM implementation done right. Capture your migration and integration requirements and incorporate them into your implementation planning for Dynamics CRM, but make sure that the priority of your implementation plan is a focus on designing optimal business processes and configuring Dynamics CRM to support them. Consider starting with "swivel-chair" integration — that is, integration that relies on users to manually input data from one system into another. This approach can help to make sure the business process is properly designed before you set about automating it. If the business process itself is flawed, automating it will only make your organization more efficient at making mistakes.

Developing an integration solution for Dynamics CRM is likely to require some or all of the following skills:

- Familiarity with the Dynamics CRM data model
- Web services and SDK knowledge
- .NET programming skills
- SQL Server administration and operation skills

## Looking at the benefits of integration

With the above caveats in place, if your organization's goals have been well understood and Dynamics CRM has been carefully customized to support them, it may well be time to begin integration. Integrating data and services can provide many significant benefits to your organization. Integration can:

- Tremendously simplify the use of Dynamics CRM by providing timely and relevant access to pertinent information and functionality
- Increase user adoption by reducing repetitive actions and data entry
- Increase the accuracy of information, improving forecasting and responsiveness to a changing marketplace
- Assist your organization in responding to scenarios more intelligently, providing a better picture of customer relationships and business processes

The value of Dynamics CRM hinges on the quality and relevance of its data. Tying Dynamics CRM data into other business systems can have a multiplying effect on that value to your organization.

## Considering the challenges of integration

Integration is often the most complex part of any technology project and can therefore be time-consuming and costly. Interdependencies and unknowns about existing data can create tremendous challenges for integrators. When developing an integration with Dynamics CRM and other systems, prioritize the data that must be integrated and start simple, incorporating additional data and services integration in steps.

Be sure to have a thorough understanding of your organization's business processes. Eliminate any gray areas and maintain clear documentation of the processes. Your documentation should include complete descriptions of each system that supports the business processes, the inputs and outputs for each step of the processes, and a data model definition.

Figure 26.2 shows an example of a business process that requires Dynamics CRM to be integrated with an accounting system. In this illustration, Dynamics CRM supports the sales process by keeping track of the customer's Account record, the Opportunity, and the Quote. When the Quote is accepted, the integration solution creates an Order in the accounting system. When the order is invoiced, a cumulative sales total field on the Dynamics CRM Account record is updated.

Implement the data model within Dynamics CRM first, and test the processes manually first before proceeding to integration. Create any entities and fields that will be needed to support data that will be coming in from integrated systems. Also, because records in Dynamics CRM can be user- or team-owned, make sure to have appropriate user and team records created beforehand so that ownership of integrated data can be appropriately assigned.

### FIGURE 26.2

An example of a process that relies on integrating Dynamics CRM with an accounting system



## Caution

The Dynamics CRM Web services API does not enforce validation of data formatting. For example, if you have included a client-side script (as a Web resource) to format phone numbers, passing a phone number through the Web services API will not trigger this validation. You must design this type of formatting and validation into your integration process.

## **Defining Migration and Integration Scenarios**

As we noted above, there are two broad categories of integration: data and services. Although there are occasions where these two categories may both be involved in an integration project, they are the core ingredients that can be shared between Dynamics CRM and other systems. *Process integration* is another term that is frequently used to describe integration categories when the objective of the integration is to provide a comprehensive solution to accomplish certain tasks. In the context of this chapter, we are focusing on the ways that data and service integration can help accomplish this type of process integration.

## Integrating data

Integrating data is the most common category of integration that most people think of when considering integration. For example, it is often helpful to have customer information such as account numbers, credit limits, and order histories shared between Dynamics CRM and an accounting system, as shown in Figure 26.3.

This example also underscores the concept of master data as opposed to transactional data. Master data is data that changes infrequently, and to which other types of data are related. In this illustration, the customer account record is treated as master data. Transactional data represents the more frequent or regular interactions between systems, such as orders or invoices.

## FIGURE 26.3

An account's account number and credit limit are examples of non-transactional or "master" data, whereas orders and invoices are examples of transactional data.



Another consideration when designing a data integration solution is to consider which system will be the *system of record* for a given piece of master or transactional data. For example, an accounting system may generate the account number and also be the system of record for customer credit limit amounts, in which case these fields might be set to read-only in the Dynamics CRM forms.

## Note

ETL is an acronym commonly used when discussing data migration and integration. It stands for extract, transform, and load. These basic steps are involved in any process that moves data from one system to another.

## **Integrating services**

SOA systems like Dynamics CRM provide many opportunities to incorporate the services or functionality of external systems, or to share Dynamics CRM services with an external application. Authentication is a good example of how Dynamics CRM natively integrates the

services of another system, such as Active Directory or a federated authentication provider, in order to control access to data and resources.

Another example of integrating an external service into Dynamics CRM is using a cloud-based address validation service. Dynamics CRM does not have a built-in ability to verify a contact's street address, but there are third-party providers that will compare an address against the postal service's database and validate or reject the address (see Figure 26.4). In this scenario, a custom add-on can be developed to incorporate this cloud-based service into the Dynamics CRM application to provide new functionality to users that is not native to the platform.

## FIGURE 26.4

An example of using an integrated external service to validate an address for a Dynamics CRM contact record



## Migration and integration techniques

The following key data integration techniques are available:

- Migrating data
- Application/presentation layer integration
- Batch integration
- Real-time or near real-time integration

In the following sections, we cover these techniques in greater detail.

## **Migrating data**

Loading data into Dynamics CRM on a one-time or occasional basis is a common scenario. Integrating data in this manner is referred to as data migration. Dynamics CRM provides a powerful import API, as well as the Import Data Wizard, that can be used for these types of ETL operations. (Previous versions of Dynamics CRM included a free Data Migration Manager utility that has been replaced by the enhanced functionality of the Import Data Wizard.) The API and the wizard support the migration of single files as well as multiple related source files (see Figure 26.5). There are also a number of third-party tools that use the Web services API for data migration.

### FIGURE 26.5

The import process in Dynamics CRM can support importing multiple source files at a time.



Regardless of what type of data you are migrating into Dynamics CRM, the migration process follows several common steps:

- 1. Clean and normalize the data in the source system. When possible, clean the data in the source system by removing duplicate or irrelevant records, and standardizing data formats.
- 2. Export data from the source system. Many data systems provide a way to export data, often into a comma-separated format (.csv) or other delimited format. Make sure to include unique identifiers, record owner names, and relational information, when available.
- **3.** Prepare data for import. Often, you will need to perform further data cleansing and manipulation in order to prepare it for import into Dynamics CRM. Microsoft Office Excel is often one of the most powerful and simple tools that can be used for data preparation.
- **4.** Perform test imports. Using a small number of representative records, perform test migrations. This will help you format the source data and refine the data map.

## **Presentation-layer integration**

The simplest and most common integration technique is implemented on the presentation layer, or user interface. As a Web application, Dynamics CRM can incorporate external data and services as mash-ups to display the external system in an integrated fashion. With presentation-layer integrations, the data or service is accessed during a user session and typically does not persist beyond the session.

Typically, presentation-layer integrations rely on passing parameters as query strings in the external system's URL. Because much of the Dynamics CRM application is URL-addressable, it also lends itself to this form of integration into other systems.

Examples of presentation layer integration that incorporate external systems into the Dynamics CRM interface include:

- Sitemap links to other web applications
- Dashboards and forms that incorporate i-framed Web applications, such as maps, social media sites, or other information
- ISV buttons linking to external resources

Examples of presentation layer integration that incorporates Dynamics CRM into other applications:

- Displaying Dynamics CRM list views in a frame, such as a webpage viewer Web part on a SharePoint page
- Adding links to create new Dynamics CRM records, such as cases, to an intranet

One disadvantage of presentation-layer integration is that, since it typically does not transfer data between systems, users cannot leverage some of the built-in functionality in Dynamics CRM to act on the external system's data, such as the Advanced Find tool, Report Wizard, or workflow rules.

The following code sample illustrates embedding a map in an Iframe on a contact form (see Figure 26.6). This code would be saved in a Web resource and called on the OnLoad event of a contact form with an Iframe called 'IFRAME\_contact'.

## **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 21 includes details on incorporating client-side customizations to extend the Ribbon menu and site map to incorporate external Web applications into the Dynamics CRM user interface.

## **Batch integration**

Batch integration is when ETL processes are automated and run on a schedule or regular interval (see Figure 26.7). Batch integrations can include the insert, update, or delete operations going one-way — from an external source to Dynamics CRM, or vice versa — or two-way.

### FIGURE 26.6

Embedding maps in Iframes is a common use of presentation-layer integration.

@Contact: Ludwig von Mises	- Microsoft Dynamics	CRM - Windows Interne	et Explorer		_ 8 ×
💬 🗢 加 http://2008r2-den	no:5555/PW/CAccelerators/r	main.aspx?etn=contact&extra	aqs=_gridType%3d2%2	6etc%3d2%: 🔹 🍫 🗙 🔽 Bing	- Q
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🍰 加 Microsoft 🛙	Dynamics CRM 🔝 ShareP	oint 🔊 Report Manager			
🔠 🔹 🎿 Contacts: My Active Co	inta 📶 Contact: Ludw	vig von M 🗙			🛊 🕶 Page 🕶 Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🔞 🖛 🎽
File Contact Create Relat	ed Customize				C5 Admin @ PWC Accelerators &
Save & New Save & Close & Close & Xew Save & Save & Xew Save & Xew Save & Xew	Add to Marketing Conne List Coll:	ect Assign Bernard Link	Run Workflow Dialog Process	Run Report - Data	
Contact Map 👻	Contact Ludwig vo	on Mises			Contacts 💌 🛊 🕸
Related	Full Name	Ludwig von Mises	Parent Custom	r 🕒 Advanced Compc Rela	tionship Type Default Value
A Common     (ii) Addresses     iii Addresses     iii Addresses     iii Addresses     iiii Addresses     iiii Addresses     Cutance Relations     iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii	Tab     First Name *     Last Name *     Last Name *     Address 1: Street 1     Address 1: City     Address 1: City     Address 1: StateProvince     Address 1: ZIP/Postal     Code	Jacowie Ivon Mises 518 W. Magnolia Aire. Auburn Jak 36632		W That Ave	RAFIC MAP SATELLIT Wolen Ave Bart Bart Stranger Bart Bart Stranger N Thack Cir Dormitary Dr Jordan-Hare Datat - Bestions 2010 NAVTEO, Intermo. Torms
▲ Processes					
Done				Trusted sites   Protected Mo	de: Off 🛛 🖓 👻 🔍 100% 👻 //

### FIGURE 26.7

Batch integrations automate the process of extracting, transforming, and loading data, and typically run on a scheduled interval.



Setting up a batch integration requires many of the same steps as a data migration, though the process of cleansing and preparing data must be automated. After the extraction and transformation of the data is automated, the loading must be scheduled. This requires that source data is accessible at a predictable location and in a standard format at the right time.

Batch integration techniques are well suited for keeping master data such as account names and numbers synchronized between systems. (Master data is defined as data that does not change frequently, and which does not represent transactions.) Batch integration jobs may also be well suited for integrating large data sets, since they can be scheduled to run during off-peak hours.

Using scheduled batch jobs for integration also typically requires less complex infrastructure and error-handling mechanisms than real-time integrations, which can often require robust failover and rollback capabilities.

## Real-time or near real-time integration

Real-time, or near real-time, integration techniques are typically employed for integrating data and services that change frequently or are transactional in nature. Like batch integration, real-time integration can go one way or two ways, and requires an automated ETL process. Unlike batch integration, however, real-time integration is usually event-driven. This type of integration often incorporates a message queuing function, which is why it is sometimes referred to as "near real-time" integration because data exchanges may occur asynchronously.

Real-time integrations can be more complex and difficult to maintain since business critical processes require a method to handle failover and transaction rollback capabilities. Failover is necessary in case one piece of the integration solution suffers an outage, and rollback functionality is needed in case there is an error in a piece of the integrated data.

The events that trigger the integration process can be either platform-level events or user-initiated events. Some examples of common implementations of real-time integration include order and invoice processing that is triggered by an opportunity being closed, and Web-to-lead arrangements that take data submitted on Web site contact forms and pump it into Dynamics CRM to create lead records. The Azure Service Bus plug-in is a good example of a real-time service integration that leverages the services of an external system to augment Dynamics CRM functionality.

## Selecting an integration model

Depending on your organization's requirements, there are three basic approaches to consider when designing an integration solution: point-to-point, the data hub model, and the enterprise service bus. A variety of tools and technologies (discussed later in this chapter) can be used to implement these models.

## **Cross-Reference**

See Appendix B for links to informative articles and resources that can help you select an appropriate integration approach.

## **Point-to-point**

Point-to-point integration is usually the simplest to develop, integrating one system with one other system. This method is the quickest integration model to implement, but it can become overly complex as additional systems are added to the integrated environment, as shown in

Figure 26.8. Each successive integration creates new interdependencies that can cause unexpected behavior between systems.

### FIGURE 26.8

Point-to-point integrations can be the simplest and quickest to develop (A), but can become unwieldy as new systems are added to the mix (B).



Another challenge with point-to-point integration is that each system's interface may differ, meaning that as additional systems are added to the integration, and existing systems are replaced or upgraded, the connections must often be redesigned and reimplemented. Point-to-point integration is typically a tightly coupled integration, meaning that the integrated systems become dependent on one another in order to operate.

## Data hub

A hub and spoke approach to integration overcomes some of the limitations of the point-topoint integration by creating a central point to which all systems are integrated, minimizing the complexity and providing a standard interface for systems to interact with one another. Using a data hub for integration can help to avoid the interdependencies of a point-to-point integration when multiple systems are integrated.

This approach requires more design and planning up front, but provides less interdependency, more scalability and maintainability in the long run. If your organization will only be integrating Dynamics CRM with one other system, this is probably not a cost-effective solution.

The hub model, which can be illustrated as a central hub with source and target systems comprising the spokes (see Figure 26.9), is implemented by extracting common data from all the relevant systems and federating the data in the hub in the formats needed for the target systems. The hub then serves the data to the requesting applications. May not be as efficient or timely, because a lot of processing may need to take place in order to extract and transform data from multiple systems.

### FIGURE 26.9

A hub and spoke integration model, where Dynamics CRM is connected to other business systems through a central data hub



## **Enterprise service bus**

An enterprise service bus (ESB) integration provides a platform for a services-oriented architecture with each system receiving (subscribing) and transmitting (publishing) one or more messages via a messaging pipeline, or service bus (Figure 26.10). ESB has many advantages over other methods of integration, including presenting a standard layer of abstraction for systems to plug into in a loosely coupled fashion as well as a scalable architecture. Unlike a hub and spoke integration, an ESB model does not have a single point of failure, making it a more stable architecture in a large enterprise environment.

The ESB model enables each application's interfaces to be completely independent of the others, as long as they can support the messaging system. ESB integration demands a more modern architecture and a unified messaging model, and relies on well-defined and well-managed processes with known inputs and outputs at each stage.

This can be the most complex and advanced integration model, but for large enterprises with business systems that operate on different platforms, this can be the most effective way to integration operational data and services.

## FIGURE 26.10

The enterprise service bus model relies on a common messaging protocol to standardize integration of disparate systems.



# Adhering to Best Practices for Migration and Integration

Migration and integration projects focus on the very heart of your business: the intersection between processes, data, and services applications, and user interactions like inputting data and conducting analysis through reports or other BI tools. Because of this critically important juncture of people, processes, and technology, it is incumbent on the integration implementer to carefully adhere to best practices while designing, developing, testing, and deploying an integration solution. Forthwith are some key recommendations to consider as you develop your integration solution:

- Weigh cost versus need. When gathering requirements from the business users, it is easy for each requirement to be given "top priority." However, you must carefully evaluate the criticality of each requirement, focusing on developing integrations that can provide a clear return on investment, and where the costs, risks, and benefits are clearly understood.
- Keep it simple. Use the simplest techniques where appropriate, mixing and matching approaches to fit the scenario and the type of data or service that is being integrated. For example when integrating both master data and transactional data, consider synchronizing master data using a batch integration technique, but implement a UI mash-up for transactional data. In the simplest scenario, opt for swivel chair integrations at first, automating them later after the process has been proved out.

- Keep it stable. Avoid single points of failure and complex interdependencies by using a loosely-coupled integration model when possible.
- Maintain data quality. Data is one of your organization's most valuable assets. The goal of data quality in your Dynamics CRM implementation should include ensuring that the data is accurate, relevant, timely, complete, and consistent. Inevitably, data will be imperfect especially in a sales environment where prospect and opportunity information is constantly changing but imperfect data is not necessarily poor quality data. The data's quality is acceptable if it meets the aggregate needs of the organization and the specific needs of users. For example, a particular opportunity record's estimated value may not be precisely accurate to the penny, but as a means of tracking a sales pipeline and adjusting forecasts, imperfect data may be sufficient. Poor data quality, on the other hand, can impede your organization's use of Dynamics CRM as well as significantly reduce its effectiveness. If your users don't trust the data, they will stop using Dynamics CRM. To avoid this, engineer your integrations to have quality built into the process.

Some tips for maintaining high-quality data:

- Define your organization's data quality standards. Data quality is an important metric for gauging the success of your Dynamics CRM implementation. Develop the definitions for your organization of what constitutes the timeliness, accuracy, relevance, and completeness of your data.
- Provide users with ways to measure the accuracy and quality of your data using reporting and analytics tools. (For example, help to surface duplicates or neglected records and assign owners to merge, update, or deactivate the records.)
- Design data entry to minimize the margin of error. This applies to all points of entry whether users or integrated systems. Define standards for formatting data (US or U.S.A.?), and implement validation techniques to ensure formats are enforced.
- Minimize the repetition of data. For example, use links to other records instead of having a value repeated. Use picklists and lookups where appropriate to minimize manual entry. Augment data that is input by users with data retrieved from reliable external system and resources, such as address validation or postal code lookup services.
- Control bulk imports/migrations. Use security roles in Dynamics CRM to restrict which users can import data. For those users who are authorized to import data, provide regular training on preparing data for import and using the import tools.
- Practice good data management. Use tools like the Duplicate Detection jobs and record merging to eliminate poor data.

## Tip

When external parties (such as customers or partners) have an incentive to keep their data up to date, it may be valuable to give them the ability to modify their data through the use of an external-facing portal, for example. With Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011's built-in auditing feature, your users can monitor changes to customer data.

- Monitor performance. Integrations that involve a large amount of data may require additional optimization tuning. Where possible, only transfer net changed data between systems to maximize performance. Include integration performance monitoring in your regular maintenance and administration tasks.
- Plan for problems. Make sure your integration solution includes a way to identify and handle failures or exceptions.

# Selecting Tools for Migration and Integration

After deciding on an integration model and the techniques you will use to implement the integration, you must evaluate and select the tools you will use to develop the integration. In some cases, the Import Data Wizard may be sufficient. In situations that require automated data extraction, cleansing, validation, transformation and loading, a custom SDK solution or third-party tools may be required. This section provides an overview of the different tools that are available for migration and integration. Figure 26.11 presents a summary of the integration scenarios and the tools discussed in this chapter that are best suited for each scenario.

## FIGURE 26.11

	• • •		1 4 44 1	C .1	•	• • •	•	1. 1	•		
Ir	o intogration	toolc	boot cuutod	tor tho	Various	intogration	cconarioc	discussed	in t	hic	chantor
	משלא	10,015	Destautieu	IOT THE	vantuus	ILICELATION	SUCHARIOS	unseusseu		1115 1	CHADLEL
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·										

	Presentation		Scheduled Batch/Real-time Integrations					
	Layer/UI Mashups	Migrations	Point-to-point	Hub and spoke	Enterprise Services Bus			
Import Data Wizard		~						
SDK/Custom Code	~	~	~					
Scribe Insight		~	~					
Pervasive Data Integrator		~	~	~				
Microsoft BizTalk Server					~			

## **Developing a custom SDK import solution**

The Dynamics CRM SDK provides complete methods and code samples for using the Web services API to develop custom migration and integration solutions. Using the SDK can have many benefits, but it also requires a deep technical skillset to develop and maintain a robust solution. Custom code can also be difficult to scale and support over time.
The Web services API can be used to perform data imports that can't be done with the Import Data Wizard. If your organization or partner has the right skillset, consider using the SDK to develop custom import processes when you need to:

- Include transformations in custom data maps
- Automate imports from the command line or via scripts
- Incorporate customized user mapping to set record ownership
- Perform on-the-fly data validation during import

Using the SDK, you can import one or more files at a time, parsing the data and transforming it with a map. You can use the SDK or the Import Data Wizard to create data maps. Keep in mind that the default maximum size for a data import using the Web services API is 32 MB. This can be modified by changing the maxRequestLength attribute in the web.config. The SDK provides complete documentation on parsing source data files, creating data maps, configuring lookup, and picklist mappings, and transforming data.

Dynamics CRM includes XML data maps for use with the Import Data Wizard. These maps can also be copied and modified to meet your precise needs, and leveraged via the API when creating a custom migration solution. The data maps included with Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 are:

- BCM 2010. A map for importing data from Microsoft Business Contact Manager 2010.
- Generic Map for Contact and Account. This map can be used if you are importing a flat file that contains both account and contact data. For example, if you have a CSV file that lists contacts with company names, such as you might export from Outlook or another e-mail application, use this map.
- Salesforce.com maps. Dynamics CRM includes three maps specifically formatted to simplify importing data that has been exported from Salesforce.com:
  - For Full Data Export. A map for data exported using the Salesforce.com Data Export utility.
  - For Account and Contact Report Export. If you run a Salesforce.com Account and Contact Report and export the data, this map can be used to import the data into Dynamics CRM.
  - For Report Export. This map can be used for records exported using the Report Export in Salesforce.com.

To edit a map, export it from the Dynamics CRM by navigating to the Data Management page and clicking on Data Maps. Select the map from the list and click the Export button. The maps are stored as XML. The map XML includes entity and attribute (field) elements that define the name values for the source and target fields. You can also specify mapping values for picklists and other field types in the XML. The SDK provides a complete guide for the data map schema. When using the Import Data Wizard or leveraging the API's import method with custom code or a third-party tool, you can monitor the import job's progress in the Dynamics CRM user interface. The import process is an asynchronous process, and the Imports list view shows the status of the import jobs as well as successes and failures.

### **Cross-Reference**

The Import Data Wizard is well suited for one-time or ad hoc data loads. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 the wizard's ability to import related data, update existing records, and save and reuse data maps make it very powerful. Chapter 8 includes details on using the Import Data Wizard to import data, create, and modify data maps and import relational data from multiple files.

### **Microsoft integration tools**

Microsoft provides a variety of tools and functionality that can be used in migration and integration projects. Two SQL Server components that are sometimes used in Dynamics CRM integrations are SQL Server Integration Services (SSIS) and SQL Server replication. Microsoft also sells BizTalk Server. Microsoft also provides a limited number of prebuilt connectors for Dynamics products.

### **SQL Server Integration Services**

SSIS is part of the Standard and Enterprise versions of SQL Server 2008. SSIS is the evolution of Data Transformation Services from previous versions of SQL Server. SSIS is part of the Business Intelligence Development Studio (BIDS) that is used in the Visual Studio 2008 interface. Using BIDS, you can create SSIS projects that connect to a data source, perform embedded logic, and load data in the target database. SSIS can connect to Web services APIs as a data source by using script components, as shown in Figure 26.12.

To use SSIS to connect to a Web services API like Dynamics CRM's, add a script component to the SSIS project. Edit the script component by adding a Web reference to the Dynamics CRM organization endpoint, and then add a using statement to the script component's CS file (see Figure 26.13). Refer to the SSIS documentation for instructions on consuming a Web service in an integration solution.

### **SQL Server replication**

Many factors make SQL Server replication a complex solution not well suited to most integration scenarios. In some cases where the schema of the data in both the source and the targets are closely aligned and transformation is not required, SQL Server replication techniques can be used for data integration between Dynamics CRM organizations and/or external systems. Microsoft's Enterprise Engineering team released a whitepaper and build guide with information about using replication to integrate multiple Dynamics CRM Version 4.0 organizations. (See Appendix B for links to download these resources.) Using replication does not typically allow for transformation of data. Instead, subscribing databases typically receive data from the publishing database as is.

#### FIGURE 26.12

A script component in the SSIS designer interface in Business Intelligence Development Studio

Sintegration Services Project1	- Microsoft Visual Studio			_ 8 ×
File Edit View Project Build	Debug Data SSIS Tools Window Help			
10-10 × 10 18 19 -	🟱 - 🕨 Development - 喝 🕾 🎘 🔝 🖸 - 🖕			
Toolbox 👻 🕂 🗙	Package.dtsx [Design]* Start Page	<b>▼</b> ×	Solution Explorer	<b>-</b> ₽ ×
FuzzyLookup	Control Flow Data Flow			
Import Column			📙 Integration Service	es Project1
3 Lookup	Data Flow Task: 🛛 🖓 Data Flow Task	•	🗁 Data Sources	
' ™erge			Data Source Vi	ews
III Merge Join			R Packages	sx
C Multicast			🗁 🗁 Miscellaneous	
Parcentage Sampling				
B Direct	Component			
Baw Count				
Row Sampling				
Script Component				
Va Slowly Changing Dimension				
If sort				
Term Extraction				
式 Term Lookup				
ST Union All				
🖼 Unpivot			Properties	<b>-</b> 4 ×
Data Flow Destinations			Script Component Data	Flow Component +
R Pointer				
🛃 ADO NET Destination				
冽 Data Mining Model Training			<ul> <li>Common Properties</li> </ul>	<u> </u>
🛃 DataReader Destination			ComponentClassID	{2E42D45B-F83C-400F
🛃 Dimension Processing			Description	Executes a custom sci
🖏 Excel Destination			ID	1
Flat File Destination			IdentificationString	component "Script Co
OLE DB Destination			IsDefaultLocale	True
Partition Processing	Connection Managers		LocaleID	English (United State
Raw File Destination			Name	Script Component 👻
Recordset Destination	Diable-click here to add a new connection manager to the SSIS package		Name	
SQL Server Compact Destin	Right-click nore to data a new connection indirager to the 55t5 patrage.		Specifies the name of t	he component.
SQL Server Destination				
R Error List				
ATStart 🙀 🏈 🕫 🚺	省 Integration Servic		*  P	🗓 🕼 5:59 PM 🔳

#### Microsoft BizTalk Server

Microsoft BizTalk Server is Microsoft's flagship enterprise integration solution, with deep functionality that supports a variety of integration techniques and models. BizTalk enables an enterprise service bus (ESB) integration model, supporting connectivity, data integration, and services integration with a robust toolset and messaging platform.

Microsoft releases connectors for BizTalk that enable standard connectivity to other applications. A connector for Dynamics CRM 4.0 was released in 2009 for BizTalk 2006 and 2009. At the time of this writing, a connector for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is planned.

BizTalk is an enterprise-level server product that uses the Visual Studio IDE to develop integrations. It includes a rules processing engine to automate processes, as well as a message broker to handle communications between systems.

It is designed to allow business analysts to define the integrated processes using visual tools, which developers can then implement in code. BizTalk also includes power business activity monitoring (BAM) capabilities that can capture data from integrated processes and systems and make it available for analysis and reporting. BizTalk also allows for reliable message routing in case of transmission failures or disruptions, providing a high level of continuity in critical integrations.

### FIGURE 26.13

The script component's CS file will need a Web reference pointing to the Dynamics CRM Web services endpoint and a using statement for the reference.



### **Dynamics CRM Adapter for Dynamics GP**

Microsoft's business products include Dynamics GP, a popular accounting and ERP system aimed at mid-market businesses. Microsoft has released integration adapters for several versions of Dynamics CRM and Dynamics GP which automate the synchronization of business data between the two systems.

The adapter, which is a complete integration solution, enables the synchronization of Dynamics GP's customer records, sales items, invoices, orders, and other entities with corresponding Dynamics CRM entities. The Dynamics CRM Adapter for Dynamics GP consists of a Windows service to process integrations, a client used to configure and customize the integration maps, a database that stores the integration configurations, map templates, and a transformation engine.

The adapter is available through your Microsoft Dynamics partner.

### **Scribe Insight**

Scribe Software provides Scribe Insight, one of the most widely used third-party integration toolsets for Dynamics CRM. Scribe Insight lends itself to point-to-point integrations and complex migrations. Scribe Insight includes a strong GUI-based solution for migration and integration, and works with both on-premises and online implementations of Dynamics CRM. The Enterprise licensing for Scribe also uses Windows clustering to enable integration failover support.

Scribe Insight has connects natively to a variety of data sources including ODBC, MySQL, Oracle, and, of course, SQL Server. Integration implementers can use it to perform extraction, transformation, updates, inserts, and deletes as part of either batch or real-time integration jobs. Scribe can also monitor for files being dropped in a directory or modified, and use them as the data source.

### Scribe Insight architecture

Scribe Insight is composed of three primary components: the integration server, a workbench, and a console.

- Scribe Integration Server. The Scribe Integration Server can be installed as a stand-alone server for high-volume integrations, or installed on an existing application server to share resources. The Integration Server is the software component where the orchestrations take place and are processed.
- Workbench. The Workbench is the user interface component used to design mappings and transformations between the source and target. Scribe makes use of adapters to connect to the API of a large number of systems, including an adapter that is certified by Microsoft for use with the Dynamics CRM Web services API. They also provide adapters for other Dynamics products including GP and NAV.

After using adapters in the Workbench to connect to the source and target systems, you can begin designing the mappings and transformations in the easy-to-use interface.

After the mappings and transformations have been designed they can be saved as templates for reuse and portability. Predesigned templates are available from Scribe's Web site to speed up your integration development, including templates for ACT!, QuickBooks, and GoldMine. The Scribe Workbench also has these characteristics:

- It can be used to do data cleansing to prepare the source data, incorporate custom logic and design formulas to transform data. For example, using the Workbench you can create validation parameters to ensure consistent data formatting.
- The Workbench allows you to perform lookups and preview Dynamics CRM picklist values, as well as work with entity relationships.
- The Workbench can be used to design the integration process flow in a series of steps that can branch into subprocesses based on the output of each step. This is enabled in a graphical, drag-and-drop process design area of the Workbench.

- Using the Workbench, you can create custom functions using a variety of common programming languages.
- The Workbench also lets you preview the integration for testing purposes so you can develop in an iterative manner and deploy the solution quickly.
- Scribe Console: The console is used to control the triggers and/or schedules used to initiate integration processes. It also provides monitoring capabilities and can send alerts based on business activity or system conditions. For example, the console can be configured to send an e-mail alert with a summary of the number of daily order records processed by the integration solution. The console is also responsible for monitoring directories for file drops. The Scribe Console provides error tracking and displays the history of integration jobs.

### **Pervasive Data Integrator**

Pervasive Software is a long-time player in the data integration market, and an up-and-comer in the Dynamics CRM space. Pervasive's solution, Data Integrator, is certified for Microsoft Dynamics CRM and works with on-premises as well as cloud integrations. Pervasive delivers Data Integrator as traditional installable software or as an on-demand service.

Pervasive Data Integrator has a strong graphical user interface, but tends to be more complex than Scribe, with a somewhat steeper learning curve, but this is perhaps offset by the software's ability to handle more complex integration scenarios. Pervasive Data Integrator can be used to create robust point-to-point integrations and to perform one-time or ad hoc migrations. Coupled with the Pervasive Integration Hub, the Pervasive Data Integrator is an ideal solution for hub and spoke integration models.

Pervasive does an excellent job of extracting data from multiple sources with connectors to hundreds of data sources including Oracle, Sybase, SQL Server, DB2, and many others. The software includes connectors for a variety of ERP and business applications, including Dynamics CRM. Pervasive also provides an advanced scripting language (RIFL) that can handle complex transformations.

Given the importance of data quality to an integration solution, one of the most powerful features of the Pervasive offering is the Data Profiler, which helps to maintain data quality by identifying problematic or erroneous data.

### Pervasive Data Integrator architecture

There are several core components to the Pervasive Data Integrator:

• The Pervasive IDE (Integrated Development Environment). The IDE includes tools to configure connections, design integration processes, create mappings, and develop transformations. The Pervasive IDE provides a graphical interface to lay out the integration's flow of steps and branches, and also has a map designer with drag-and-drop mapping. The Join Designer utility in the IDE allows you to connect multiple data sources together to act as a single source for data mapping.

- Repository Manager. The Repository Manager is used to package up integration solutions and reusable components and to store them for access and deployment. Pervasive stores all metadata about integrations as XML files, making them easy to edit and reuse.
- Data Profiler. The Data Profiler component assists in analyzing data for errors and inconsistencies, helping to ensure high-quality data. It can be used to identify data that violates business rules or contains null values.
- Pervasive Integration Engine. The Integration Engine is a lightweight processing and transformation engine designed for high throughput. It can be executed via event triggers, scheduling, or scripting, and handles batch and transaction integration processing. The Integration Engine can be controlled through COM and Java APIs, command line instructions, or via the Integration Services API.
- Integration Services. Integration Services is a Web services API for the Pervasive integration system enabling the entire platform to be leveraged as a service by SOA systems.

## Integrating Dynamics CRM with a Web Site

Many scenarios require organizations to integrate Dynamics CRM with one or more Web sites or Web applications. Among the most common scenarios are simple contact forms, interactive portals, and intranet. There are numerous Web technologies that can be integrated with Dynamics CRM including custom ASP.NET Web sites, Azure applications, SharePoint, and, of course, many non-Microsoft technologies.

### Web site form integration

Web-to-lead forms and similar integrations are Contact Us type forms found on most Web sites. Organizations frequently want the data that a visitor submits through these forms to create a new lead or contact record in Dynamics CRM. These types of forms can be used to submit lead info, create a case, or for a variety of other reasons. This simple integration can be very powerful when combined with workflows for automated responses, assigning leads, or routing cases.

Creating simple Web-to-lead type integrations between a Web site form and Dynamics CRM can be achieved in a number of ways:

• Synchronously via direct input through the Dynamics CRM Web services create and/ or update methods (Figure 26.14). Direct Web form integration requires that the external Web site can access the Dynamics CRM server, whether it is hosted or deployed on-premises, in order to post the submitted information to the API. On-premises installations must therefore have an exposure to the Internet, either through IFD or some other means. This type of direct integration has the benefit of being straightforward and simple to implement. However, it may pose security risks depending on the configuration, and the Dynamics CRM server's performance could be impacted if the submissions from the website form are sufficiently numerous.

### FIGURE 26.14

A simple Web-to-lead integration uses a direct synchronous connection to the Dynamics CRM Web services API.

Web Services API
Microsoft Dynamics CRM

• Asynchronous indirect input via a service (Figure 26.15). In this scenario, the Web form's output is temporarily stored in a drop file or intermediate database, where it is later retrieved asynchronously by a service, such as an integration application or custom code, transformed, and input into the Dynamics CRM system. This method typically requires additional architectural considerations and custom components, but it has the advantage of mitigating security concerns and potential performance impacts.

### Web portals

Portals are often made available for customers or partners so an organization can more easily share information with them in a relevant way. A portal, or extranet, typically requires visitors to log in to the Web site, where they can update their profiles, view records, submit requests for information or support, and so on. In some cases, administration of the portal users' access is simplified by allowing Dynamics CRM users to initiate invitations and grant access levels directly from within Dynamics CRM. Portals that are integrated with Dynamics CRM might also be used to display knowledge base articles, sales literature, or lists of any other type of record.

#### FIGURE 26.15

A service can be developed that monitors an intermediate file drop location or database, retrieves the submitted data, and loads into Dynamics CRM via the Web services API, creating a lead record.



Microsoft periodically releases free, open-source CRM Accelerators that serve as functional examples of ways to extend Dynamics CRM functionality using supported development methods and technologies. They typically include customized solutions that can be imported into your Dynamics CRM instance, custom code, and installation and use instructions. Accelerators are available for download from within the Marketplace.

One such accelerator is Microsoft's Portal Accelerator. The Portal Accelerator is designed to be hosted on your own servers or in the cloud with Azure. The accelerator installs a custom solution that integrates with the portal Web site, enabling Dynamics CRM to be used to control the portal, including content management and portal user administration. The Portal Accelerator provides the foundation for customer and partner portals, and can be further customized for your business scenario.

### Note

When implementing a Web portal that is integrated with Dynamics CRM, Microsoft may require an External Connector License if nonemployees are accessing live Dynamics CRM data. Please refer to your licensing agreements and related documentation to be sure that your organization remains in compliance.

### **Cross-Reference**

In addition to external-facing portals, many organizations wish to share information and extend processes within the organization but beyond the group of Dynamics CRM users. In these cases, it is often helpful to integrate the system with an intranet system such as SharePoint.

SharePoint and Dynamics CRM are natural partners, complementing one another's functionality to provide a comprehensive platform for managing the artifacts and activities of tailored business processes. Dynamics CRM includes built-in integration with SharePoint document libraries, creating them on-the-fly and linking to them in hierarchical fashion. There are lots of ways to use SharePoint and Dynamics CRM together: displaying Dynamics CRM list views in SharePoint pages, for example, or using metadata from Dynamics CRM entities to create the column headers on SharePoint lists. Appendix A includes a few more examples and walk-throughs for using these two technologies together.

# Adding Functionality with Integrated ISV Solutions

The acronym ISV stands for Independent Software Vendor and is a term that Microsoft uses to refer to software developers and partner organizations that make custom applications to extend the functionality of Dynamics CRM. Microsoft relies on the special skills and industry expertise of ISVs to deliver niche solutions and functionality that are not native to the Dynamics CRM platform.

The reason that ISV solutions are pertinent to the present discussion of integration is twofold: First, many ISV solutions — especially those that are certified for Microsoft Dynamics CRM are excellent examples of the types of applications that can be integrated into Dynamics CRM using the supported SDK methods. Second, there are many ISV solutions available that provide specific data and service integration with minimal customization in order to support many common business processes like sales, marketing, and customer service. For example, there are ISV solutions that provide e-mail and postal address validation, graphical data imports, and complete line-of-business functionality.

### **Finding ISV solutions**

Microsoft has introduced a new, centralized app store for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 called the Marketplace. The Marketplace is accessible directly within the system from the Settings area. ISVs and other Microsoft partners have posted in the Marketplace many prebuilt solutions that you can download, install and evaluate, and new apps are being posted regularly. This is the primary place for an administrator to visit to locate an ISV solution. Solutions that marked as being Certified for Microsoft Dynamics have passed a rigorous set of tests and reviews to ensure not only that they work as advertised, but that they conform to supported methods for extensibility and security.

### Some notable examples of ISV solutions

Microsoft has long cultivated a diverse ecosystem of partners for many of its software titles, and Dynamics CRM is no exception. There are many ISVs that have been working with Dynamics CRM since its earliest versions, and new ISVs are emerging every day. It would be difficult to list all of the ISV solutions, or even to list all of the *best-of-breed* ISV solutions available. However, in our experience, the following ISV solutions do a great job of fulfilling some of the most common functional requirement gaps for organizations implementing Dynamics CRM.

### Data2CRM from CRM Innovation

CRM Innovation's Data2CRM is a great example of a state-of-the-art extension for Dynamics CRM. It allows subscribers to easily import data via the API using a graphical, drag-and-drop interface that takes just minutes to learn (see Figure 26.16). Data2CRM is also a great example of a cloud-based solution that incorporates a Silverlight interface.

### FIGURE 26.16

The Data2CRM interface provides an easy-to-use graphical way to map, transform, and import data to Dynamics CRM.

Save Data Mag Inver Data Source Import All     Ocntact        • Yew Printed Docume * Support - Screen Sh • Updicate Detection • Prefindit • Prefindit • Prefindit • Prefindit • Coldux Values • Coldux Values	Data2	CRM - dev.	crminn	ovation	i.com												
Actions       Target CRM Entities       Help       Login         antity Form - Contact       Import Actions       Import Actions       Import Actions         Import Actions       General       Name       Solutation       Business Phone       555-0156         Prelight Only Bad       First Name       Elizabeth       Hone Phone       Import Actions       Middle Name       Mobile Phone         Find:       Find       Rows:       Fax       Import Count:       19         Find:       Find       Rows:       Prelight       Bound Data Paths:       4         Color       Bad       Allowed       Prelight Bad       Total Record Count:       19         Ender       Color       Bad       Allowed       Transformation Caching:0.0%       Import         Find and Replace       First Name       First Name       Last Name       Prelight Bad       Stats       Log         Stations       Stats       Log       Transformation Caching:0.0%       Import       SomeCompany       Allowed       Import         Color       Bad       Olo %       First Name       Last Name       Prelight Name       Last Name       Log         Stations       Stations       SomeCompany       First Name       Last Name </td <td>Val Val</td> <td>Sav Net Im</td> <td>ve Data w Data S port All</td> <td>Map Source</td> <td>Contact</td> <td></td> <td colspan="3">View Printed Documt • Support - Screen Sh Watch Instructional Videos Ouplicate Detection • Preview Function • Preflight • Picklist Mapping • Save/Load Data Map • Default Values</td> <td>Master / CRM Log Organiz URL</td> <td>Account gin ation</td> <td>https://</td> <td></td> <td>ı .crn</td> <td>n.dynamics.com/</td>	Val Val	Sav Net Im	ve Data w Data S port All	Map Source	Contact		View Printed Documt • Support - Screen Sh Watch Instructional Videos Ouplicate Detection • Preview Function • Preflight • Picklist Mapping • Save/Load Data Map • Default Values			Master / CRM Log Organiz URL	Account gin ation	https://		ı .crn	n.dynamics.com/		
Actions     Target CRM Entities     Help     Login       antity Form - Contact <ul> <li>General</li> <li>Import</li> <li>Mane</li> <li>Salutation</li> <li>Business Phone</li> <li>Site and Replace</li> </ul> <ul> <li>Find and Replace</li> </ul> <ul> <li>Find and Replace</li> <li>Site Site Site Site Site Site Site Site</li></ul>	c 11				Entity Se	election	•				F	Change	CRM Login	Logout			
Import Actions		Actions Target CRM Entities Help				lp					Login						
Import       Name         Duplicate Detection       First Name         Preflight       First Name         Inport       Mame         Salutation       Business Phone         Ignore Required Fields       First Name         Primary Key       Mobile Phone         Middle Name       Mobile Phone         Middle Name       Mobile Phone         Find:       Find         Replace       Replace         Replace       Columns:         Show All       Preflight         Find and Replace       E-mail         Business Phone       0.0 %         E-mail       First Name         Last Name       Last Name         Data Actions       Stats         Lug       E-mail         O       S55-0156         reinemacher@example.com       Elizabeth         Hopkins       SomeCompany         Gotzball@example.com       Alexandr         Sterling       Advanced Components (seriing         Advanced Components (seriing       Advanced Components (seriing         Move Back       Move Next	Entity Fo	rm - Conta	ct											100			
Duplicate Detection Prefight I gnore Required Field Primary Key       Salutation       Business Phone       SSS-0156         First Name       Bizabeth       Home Phone       Home Phone         Middle Name       Mobile Phone       Home Phone         I gnore Required Field Primary Key       Home Phone       Home Phone         I ast Name       Replace       Replace       Solow Only Unmapped         Clear       Show Only Mapped       Show Only Unmapped       Data Actions       Stats         I ast Name       E-mail       First Name       Last Name       Prefight Bad         I asto-0.0 %       E-mail       First Name       Last Name       Prefight Bad         I asto-1155       fortabil@example.com       Elizabeth       Hopkins       SomeCompany       Advanced Components (sample.com)         I asto-1155       peacelovehappiness@example.com       Sofia       Advanced Components (sample.com)       Advanced Components (sample.com)         Move Back       Move Next       Move Next       Move Next       Move Next	Import Import	Actions	~	🕳 Ger Name	eral												_^
Preflight Only Bad I gnore Required Field Primary Key Find: Find: Replace Repl	Duplicat Preflight	e Detection		Saluta	tion			В	usiness	Phone	555	-0156					
Ignore Required Fields       Middle Name       Mobile Phone         Primary Key       Ist Name       Hopkins       Fax         Find       Find       Rows:       Fax         Find:       Find       Replace       Bound Data Paths: 4       Total Record Count: 19         Clear       Bad       Allowed       Preflight Bad       Fordal Record Count: 19         Clear       Columns:       Show Only Unmapped       Data Actions       Stats       Log         Find and Replace       Fried and Replace       First Name       Last Name       Parent Customer         Business Phone       E-mail       First Name       Last Name       On %       Image: State       Log         1       555-0135       football@example.com       Elizabeth       Hopkins       SomeCompany       Advanced Components (san         2       555-0135       peaclowhappiness@example.com       Sofia       Wicks       Affordable Equipment (san       *         Move Back       Move Next       Move Next       Move Next       *       *	Preflight	Only Bad		First N	ame	E	lizabeth	He	ome Ph	ione							
Primary Key     Last Name     Hopkins     Fax       Find:     Find     Replace     Bound Data Paths: 4 Total Record Count: 19 Error Count: 0 Transformation Caching:0.0%       Find and Replace     Show Only Mapped     Show Only Unmapped       Find and Replace     E-mail       Business Phone     E-mail       First Name     Last Name       0     555-0156       1     555-0135       0     555-0135       2     555-0135       0     pacelovehappiness@example.com       Alexandr     Sterring       Advanced Components (sar       Move Back     Move Next	Ignor	e Required	Fields	Middle	Name			M	obile Pl	hone							
Find:     Find     Rows:     Preflight     Bound Data Paths:     4       Replace     Replace     Good     All     Preflight Bad     Ford Recond Count:     19       Find and Replace     Clear     Oshow Only Mapped     Show Only Unmapped     Data Actions     Stats     Log       Find and Replace     E-mail     First Name     Last Name     Pereflight Bad     Log       Index *     Business Phone     E-mail     First Name     Last Name     O.0 %     Components (can be company)       0     555-0156     reinemacher@example.com     Elizabeth     Hopkins     SomeCompany       1     555-0178     peecelovehappiness@example.com     Sofia     Wicks     Affordable Equipment (sam some company)       4     Move Back     Move Next     Move Next     Move Next	Primar	y Key	*	Last N	ame	F	lopkins	Fa	x								-
Find and Replace     Filtering     Data Actions     Stats     Log       Business Phone     E-mail     First Name     Last Name     Parent Customer       Index     Business Phone     0.0 %     E-mail     First Name     Last Name     0.0 %       0     555-0156     reinemacher@example.com     Elizabeth     Hopkins     SomeCompany       1     555-0135     peacelovehappiness@example.com     Aleksandr     Sterling     Advanced Components (sam       2     555-0178     peacelovehappiness@example.com     Sofia     Wicks     Affordable Equipment (sam	Find: Replace:		R	Find eplace Clear	Rows: Good Bad Columns: Show Onl	у Марре	○ Allo ● All d ○ Sho	owed ow Only Ur	nmapp	Preflight Preflight Bad	Boi Tot Err Tra	und Data tal Recon or Count ansformal	Paths: d Count: :: tion Caching	4 19 0 1:0.0%			
Business Phone         E-mail         First Name         Last Name         Parent Customer           Index         Business Phone         0.0 %         E-mail         First Name         0.0 %         Last Name         0.0 %         Image: Strain Strai		Find and Re	eplace		C SHOW AI	Fi	Itering			Data Actions			Stats			Log	
Index     Business Phone     0.0 %     E-mail     0.0 %     First Name     0.0 %     Last Name     0.0 %       0     555-0156     reinemacher@example.com     Elizabeth     Hopkins     SomeCompany       1     555-0135     football@example.com     Aleksandr     Sterling     Advanced Components (sar       2     555-0178     peacelovehappiness@example.com     Sofia     Wicks     Affordable Equipment (sam       4     Move Back     Move Next     Move Next		Business P	hone		E-r	nail				First Name			Last Nam	ie		Parent Custo	omer
0 555-0156 reinemacher@example.com Elizabeth Hopkins SomeCompany 1 555-0135 football@example.com Aleksandr Sterling Advanced Components (san 2 555-0178 peacelovehappiness@example.com Sofia Wicks Affordable Equipment (san 4 Move Back Move Next Affordable Equipment (san 4 Move Next Nove Ne	Index 🔺	Business P	hone	0.0 %	• E	mail	0.0 %			First Name 0.	0 %		Last Nan	ne 0.0 «	×		
1 555-0135 football@example.com Aleksandr Sterling Advanced Components (san 2 555-0178 peacelovehappiness@example.com Sofia Wicks Affordable Equipment (san 4 Move Back Move Next Affordable Equipment (san Affordable Equipment (	0	555-0156			reir	nemache	r@exam	ple.com		Elizabeth			Hopkins		and the	SomeCompan	y A
2 555-0178 peacelovehappiness@example.com Sofia Wicks Affordable Equipment (sam +	1	555-0135 football@		tball@ex	ample.c	om		Aleksandr			Sterling			Advanced Cor	nponents (san		
Move Back Move Next	2	555-0178			pea	celoveh	appiness	@example	e.com	Sofia			Wicks			Affordable Eq	uipment (sam 🖡
hata2020/Contacts.cs/	•		_	_	Move Back					Ĩ	-			Move Ne	xt		•
	Data2CBA	Contacto co			. love buch			_		1	-	_		1010 140			

Users can upload CSV files, graphically edit the mappings, apply a variety of transformations, and import data into Dynamics CRM. The Silverlight interface mimics the layout of the target entity's form, and provides the user with a preview before executing the import. Its real-time pre-flight checks the data for potential errors and allows users to fix them directly in the interface. Data2CRM also enables users to create new picklist values on the fly, set default values, and maintain relationships between imported files, such as accounts and contacts.

### **CWR Mobility**

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 includes a mobile client interface, Mobile Express, that is highly configurable and browser-neutral. With an IFD deployment, it fits the bill for mobile access for many organizations. However, it does have some limitations, chiefly the fact that the Mobile Express interface is only available online — meaning the mobile device must have an internet connection to access it.

CWR Mobility is an ISV that develops mobile client applications exclusively for Dynamics CRM. Currently, their stable of mobile clients include apps for the iPhone, many BlackBerry models, and the Microsoft mobile platforms Windows Mobile and Windows Phone 7.

CWR's mobile clients for Dynamics CRM provide complete functionality offline, as well as an enterprise-class administrative interface directly within the Dynamics CRM Web client (see Figure 26.17). The administrative interface allows organizations to define security parameters, profiles, form layout, and site maps for the mobile clients. It also enables Dynamics CRM data to be wiped from mobile devices remotely in the event of loss or theft.

CWR Mobility's ISV solutions are certified for Microsoft Dynamics, and the company has won numerous prestigious industry awards and recognition from Microsoft.

### Experlogix

Many organizations face the challenge of needing to quickly develop quotes and orders for customers using their own products list and business logic. Dynamics CRM does an excellent job of enabling salespeople to create and manage quotes, but it is well suited only for organizations with a small number of SKUs and low volume of quotes. Dynamics CRM does not provide any product configuration rules either.

### **FIGURE 26.17**

E Settings: CWR Mobile CRM - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer \_ 🛛 🗡 • + × 🕞 Bing P -🚱 🕞 🗢 🏒 http://2008r2-demo:5555/PW/CAccelerators/main.aspx 🚖 Favorites 🛛 🙀 Settings: CWR Mobile CRM - Microsoft Dynamic.. 🟠 🔻 🖾 👻 🖃 🚔 👻 Page 👻 Safety 👻 Tools 👻 🚳 💌 C5 Admin File Home Ď . - Mil New New Import Advanced Activity - Record - Data Find New Tools Settings 10 12 What would you like to configure? 4 Business Ra Business Management Customization Templates Create Profiles for different user groups in your organization. Manage which entities are included in a profile and specify Mob Client settings. Profiles Entities ₄ System Select Entities that you want to mobilize E Administration System Jobs Views Forms 16 Document Managem. Manage Views for navigating through the local data on the Mobile Client. Manage Forms for data entry on the Mobile Client 16 Auditing ▲ Customization Customizations Synchronization Filters Customization Files Manage Filters to define what data will be synchronized to the Mobile Client. Manage files for customizations (Windows Mobile only). 🖞 Dynamics Marketplace CWR Mobile CRM 4 Process Center Mobile User Devices Workplace Manage Mobile Users: add/remove devices, (de)activate users, manage user profiles. Manage mobile devices: (re)initializing, (de)activating, wiping, a 📑 Sales Client Sync Issues Reports Manage Client Synchronization Issues: View synchronization is from the Mobile Client and perform follow-up actions (Windows only) A Service Show Synchronization statistics and error reporting E Settings St Resource Center Location: CWR Mobile CRM Trusted sites | Protected Mode: Off 4 - 100%

The administrative interface for the CWR Mobile CRM extension

To fill this gap and provide a powerful, intuitive product configurator experience for developing quotes and orders, an ISV called Experlogix has developed a sophisticated and easy-to-use configurator that is certified for Dynamics CRM. It incorporates your organization's custom business logic, as well as system and custom attributes, in order to formalize product rules.

The Experlogix Configurator is launched from a custom button on the Quote entity's Ribbon (see Figure 26.18). Another button allows quotes and the configured products to be copied automatically.

Experiogix's configurator makes liberal use of images and color coding to aid users in visually assembling the products for a quote or order, and provides seamless integration with the Dynamics CRM system. Its interface (see Figure 26.19) provides users with a simple, guided method to quickly configure professional quotes.

#### FIGURE 26.18

The Experlogix Configurator is tightly integrated with the user interface and the functionality of Dynamics CRM.

@Quote: Test - Microsoft Dy	namics CRM - Windows	s Internet Explorer							_ 8 ×
💬 🗢 加 http://2008r2-de	mo:5555/SuccessAccelerator	s/main.aspx?etn=quot	e&extraqs=etc	%3d1084&pag	etype=ent 💌 🔮	🕈 🗙 💽 Bing			- م
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🔹 📊 Quoti	es: My Quotes - Micr 🗾	Quote: Test - Micros	oft 🗙			👌 • 🗟 • 🗆	🖶 🔻 Page 🔻	Safety 🔻 To	ols 🕶 🔞 🕶 🎽
File Quote Create Relati	ed Customize							( Success Ac	C5 Admin 🙆
Save & New Save & Close Save	Look Up Recalculate G Address	Print Quote for Customer Actions	Create Activat	e Revise Cl	ose tote Experi	Copy Copy Ogix Copy Quote	Assign aborate	Process Process Date	n rt -
Information - General	Quote Test						Q	iotes	* 4 4
- Addresses - Administration - Notes	▼ General Quote ID *	QUO-01000-Q7V8Z7			Revision ID *	0			
Related	• Potential Customer*	Eourth Coffee			Currency*	💐 LIS D	ollar		
Common     Contacts     Other Contacts     Other Contacts     Activities     Consed Activities     Connections     Documents     Audit History     Processes     Dialog Sessions	Price List * Totals Detail Amount Quote Discount (%) Quote Discount Pre-Freight Amount Freight Amount Total Tax Total Amount • Shipping	Barbon         Default Retail Pri           § 0.00         [5]           [6]         [6]           [7]         [8]           [8]         [8]           [8]         [8]           [9]         [0.00]           [8]         [8]           [9]         [0.00]           [9]         [0.00]	<u>ce List</u>						
	Dates								
iavascrint.	Status	Draft	(57)		. / Trusted	cites   Protected M	ode: Off	<b>Sa v f</b>	100% •
141.400.000			1 1983		√ nusteu	Sires Li Torested M	000.01	1.00	

#### FIGURE 26.19

The Experlogix Configurator incorporates product images and business rules to guide salespeople through the process of building quotes.

Select Model to Configure	
Bike - Custom Bike (Pro and Standard Edition Demo) 💌	
Available Models for Series Bike	
Mountain - Mountain	
Road · Road	
Tourny Tourny 's	
<u> </u>	

### Summary

This chapter provided an overview of common integration scenarios, the techniques, strategies, and tools that can be used to accomplish them, and a look at some of the solutions available from Independent Software Vendors on Microsoft's Marketplace.

Many organizations implement Dynamics CRM with the goal of integrating it with their accounting systems, VoIP/CTI systems, Web sites, and a variety of other data and services.

Dynamics CRM has been designed to accommodate these types of integration needs, providing numerous integration points for user-interface mash-ups, data, and service integration.

Integrating LOB systems and Web applications with Dynamics CRM can simplify users' jobs and automate end-to-end business processes. It can improve user adoption and boost the return on your investment in Dynamics CRM.

Depending on the type of integration you are trying to achieve, there are a number of tools and methods you can use. There are built-in tools, like the Import Data Wizard, that can be used to quickly migrate data. There are also custom applications and third-party solutions that can be used to perform more complex batch and real-time integrations. And there are many partner organizations and ISVs with powerful prebuilt solutions that can extend the functionality of Dynamics CRM.

# CHAPTER 27

# XRM: Going Beyond Traditional CRM

RM — it's a buzzword in the Dynamics CRM market that has been gaining ground for a few years now. Although the buzzword may be occasionally overused, the concept is unlocking incredible value and power for businesses in every industry across the globe.

This chapter defines XRM and its place in your business, explains some of the principal advantages that Dynamics CRM lends to XRM projects, and walks through a complete XRM solution from beginning to end, illustrating some of the ways that the concept can be applied.

## **Exploring XRM**

XRM is not the name of a software product or even the exclusive domain of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. But it is primarily Microsoft's Dynamics CRM product that is the driving force behind the XRM phenomenon.

What does XRM mean, and why is Dynamics CRM at its core? How will it benefit your organization? These are some of the questions we will address before jumping in to an example of XRM in action.

### **Defining XRM**

The acronym itself has been variously described as the abbreviation for "eXtensible Relationship Management," "eXtended Relationship Management," or simply "Anything Relationship Management" with the X being represented with a small x indicating the reader can substitute anything for the first letter.

### **IN THIS CHAPTER**

What is XRM?

- Why you should consider Dynamics CRM for your next LOB application
- A walk-through of a complete XRM solution

Dynamics CRM for your next LOB application

So what is XRM? Simply put, it is the practice of developing a custom line-of-business application using Dynamics CRM as a foundation.

Over the years since Microsoft first released its Customer Relationship Management product, the software has evolved. This evolution has seen improvements in both the system's native functionality and its programmability. From its inception, Dynamics CRM was designed to be a market leader in traditional CRM functionality, with powerful sales, marketing, and customer service functionality. The software was also designed to be extensible.

As it began to take hold in the marketplace, creative customers and partners began expanding this highly customizable software to address other business needs. Because Dynamics CRM provides the tools needed to formalize and automate business processes with a great deal of flexibility, it very quickly became evident that it could do more than track leads, customers, cases, and marketing campaigns.

The software began to emerge as a platform, a foundation upon which an endless variety of business applications could be built. This idea started to blossom with Version 3.0, and by the time Version 4.0 hit the market, it was an increasingly common part of Dynamics CRM implementations to include non-CRM processes and functionality.

Partners started to build solutions on Dynamics CRM to track vehicle fleets for large corporations, machines for manufacturers, citizen relationships and service requests for municipalities, research projects and materials for laboratories, and much more. A small sampling of XRM solutions include:

- Employee management
- Event management
- Asset management
- Compliance management
- Vendor and partner management
- Property management

With the introduction of Microsoft's hosted Dynamics CRM Online, suddenly this powerful platform was available in the cloud for a low cost of entry. Microsoft had entered the Platform-as-a-Service (PaaS) market. Instead of simply delivering a nicely packaged, albeit functional, application as a service (Software as a Service, or SaaS), the extensible nature of Dynamics CRM translated into a full-on PaaS play in this emerging market.

### Understanding why Dynamics CRM is a good platform

Dynamics CRM isn't always the best platform for custom line-of-business applications. There are certainly trade-offs when it comes to developing on a platform as compared to creating a custom application from scratch in which every detail can be (and must be) custom developed. However, Dynamics CRM lends itself to XRM development for many reasons:

- It has an open architecture. Dynamics CRM's n-tier architecture provides developers and implementers with many ways to tap into its functionality. The application programming interfaces are built using technologies that are widely adopted and widely understood, with a large pool of existing partners, developers, and customers already employing the skills needed to extend it. Using graphical customization tools, workflow rules, custom reports, ISV add-ons, Web resources, plug-ins, and other methods, Dynamics CRM's component functionalities can be tapped into in countless ways.
- It enables declarative design. Because of the simplicity of adding custom entities, fields, views, workflows, and other elements directly within the user interface, Dynamics CRM allows a declarative or model-driven design approach. It's not necessary to manually create a table in a database, specifying SQL column types and table relationships, and business logic. Instead, a user or implementer can use a few clicks and drag-and-drop functionality to quickly build an interface that has business logic and functionality behind it inherently.
- It is familiar to end users. As a Microsoft product, XRM applications can leverage the familiar Microsoft look and feel, taking advantage of the user-experience design and know-how of the world's largest software maker.

### Understanding the value of platform development

With the variety of development technologies and tools available today, why should a business opt for a platform — why build a line-of-business application on top of Dynamics CRM?

Among the most compelling reasons that businesses are opting for platform-based solution development are the incredible time and cost savings (see Figure 27.1). In today's fast-paced and constantly changing business environment, it's increasingly important to get a solution into users' hands quickly and at as low a cost as possible. And once the solution has been delivered, it must be flexible enough to adapt to new factors in the environment. A platform solution like Dynamics CRM becomes a competitive advantage.

What are these foundational elements that Dynamics CRM provides and which otherwise would have to be coded up from scratch in order to deliver a functional business application?

- Access and authentication: Built-in Active Directory, Live ID and claims-based authentication provide flexible and standards-based sign-on capabilities out-of-the-box.
- A robust and flexible security model: A mixed record ownership model with organizational, team and user ownership enables incredibly granular fine-tuning of the XRM solution's security implementation. Add to that the concepts of business units and field-level security, and Dynamics CRM's security model can be fit to nearly any requirements.
- Offline capability. With native Outlook synchronization of system and custom entities, offline reporting, and full offline application functionality, Dynamics CRM provides XRM solutions with functionality that most LOB applications would never achieve otherwise.

Developing an application from scratch means a lot of time and effort must be spent in building the foundational architecture of the application, as well as on creating custom code to support business processes.

GO LIVE	-
Business Process Coding 40%	
Application Foundation 60%	GO LIVE Business Process Customizing 35% Application Foundation 10%
Traditional Development	Platform Development

- Calendar, schedule, and task management. Both natively to Dynamics CRM and integrated with Outlook, these functions are core components to most business applications and are immediately available to an XRM solution.
- Business and contact management. Most business applications have some relation to customers, whether businesses or individuals. Dynamics CRM of course has built-in support for these types of records, including address tracking, leads management, and more.
- Activity tracking. Dynamics CRM does an excellent job of organizing and tracking activities, such as e-mails, phone calls, and even custom activity types. Activities can be "regarded" to system and custom entities, adding a powerful dimension to XRM solutions.
- Service management. Whether it's help desk type inquiries, user support, knowledge base articles, or scheduling service, the service management functionality of Dynamics CRM is complementary to a variety of LOB processes.
- Built-in maintainability. One of the biggest challenges with homegrown applications is that they tend to be difficult to maintain and upgrade. Often, the inner workings of the application are known to only a few individuals whom the business rapidly becomes dependent on to keep the system updated. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011

incorporates the Windows Update mechanisms that are common to the Windows operating system and Office applications, meaning that your XRM solution will also benefit from this continual maintenance and level of supportability.

- Localization. Dynamics CRM supports localization to support multilingual and multi-currency organizations. Language packs can be downloaded and installed freely, and customizations can include translated labels, allowing users to select their preferred languages for the user interface. For XRM solutions that will record money values, Dynamics CRM's multi-currency support will be indispensible.
- Simple customization. Another advantage that Dynamics CRM has over homegrown solutions for LOB applications is that Dynamics CRM is built for customization and extensibility whereas homegrown applications typically are built to fit a fixed set of requirements. Dynamics CRM's customizability means that as your business needs change, your XRM solution can keep pace.
- Office integration. Many business users rely on the ubiquitous Microsoft Office applications to get their work done. Whether it is Outlook, Word, or Excel, your XRM solution built on Dynamics CRM can immediately take advantage of this tightly integrated suite of applications.
- SharePoint document management. Many LOB applications require document management capabilities. Quotes, proposals, bills of lading, and countless other documents are key elements of LOB processes. An XRM solution can take advantage of the built-in SharePoint document management integration.
- BI/Analytics. Process automation and data management are only two of the many facets of a mature LOB application. Business intelligence and analytics are also integral to most such applications. The native reporting functionality with the Report Wizard and SQL Server Reporting Services, Advanced Find, and inline visualizations provide a complete set of BI tools for your XRM solution.
- Community contributions. There is a mature and extensive ecosystem of partners, developers, ISVs, and others who share their knowledge about Dynamics CRM on blogs, forums, user groups, and many other venues. A custom-coded LOB application can't compete with this global product knowledge.
- Processes. Built-in workflow design and automation, and interactive dialogs are powerful enablers of tailored business processes. Dynamics CRM includes these tools and surfaces them in a way that doesn't require a developer or system administrator to configure. Processes work with custom entities, can be saved as templates, and create a viewable history for users.
- Mobile access. It goes without saying that today's workforce is more mobile and more dependent on mobile devices than ever before. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 includes configurable mobile functionality out-of-the-box.
- Data management. Even line-of-business applications need data, and Dynamics CRM's data management tools the Import Data Wizard, and duplicate detection rules and jobs are yet another piece of the foundation that can speed an XRM application's time-to-value.

The list above presents many important functional areas that make Dynamics CRM a compelling platform for custom business applications. Add to this mix the extensible architecture and SDK, and the advantages of XRM compared to a custom-coded LOB applications are clear.

## Walking Through a Typical XRM Scenario

To illustrate the capabilities of Dynamics CRM to deliver a line-of-business application in a shorter time and with a fraction of the custom code needed for a custom application, let's take a look at a common business process that has little to do with the functional areas of traditional customer relationship management software: Human Resources management.

As we walk through the implementation of this scenario for a fictitious company, PWC Accelerators, we will illustrate the configuration, customization, extension, and implementation of the Dynamics CRM platform.

### Setting up the scenario

PWC Accelerators manufactures and sells personal watercraft through a network of national retail outlets. PWC's Human Resources department is responsible for a wide range of services for job applicants, employees, and management. Many of the HR department's processes currently rely on manual data entry, spreadsheets, and paper forms. The department wants to improve its efficiency and its ability to track, manage, and measure the way it delivers its services. Due to the confidential nature of HR data, the department also must comply with certain corporate privacy and security requirements.

PWC Accelerators has evaluated off-the-shelf Human Resources applications, but has been unable to find one that fits the company's requirements for supporting a complete end-toend employee lifecycle, and which can easily integrate with existing systems. They also considered developing an application from scratch, but ruled that out due to cost and complexity. As a result, they have turned to Dynamics CRM as a development platform.

### The original process for managing the employee lifecycle

In order to understand the needs that PWC has for a new HR solution, let's briefly examine the current processes the company follows to support its employees, as shown in Figure 27.2.

PWC Accelerators has retail outlets across the country that employ sales and service associates. During the busy summer months, they must often increase their sales team quickly. Regional managers, who each oversee from five to ten stores, independently advertise job openings. Currently, when someone responds to a help wanted ad, or inquires at a retail outlet about openings, the stores have been using a combination of paper applications and e-mail to handle the application process.

This chapter explores the business processes of a hypothetical company's HR department, and how an XRM application can be built on the Dynamics CRM platform to support them.



When an application is received, a regional manager is required to do the initial screening while the corporate HR department lends support by background checks and validating application details. Much of the communication for this process is handled via email and telephone, and a regional manager who is hiring sales associates for multiple retail outlets can often be overwhelmed trying to keep up with the status of an application.

HR notifies the regional manager when the reference checks and other details have been verified, and the manager schedules and conducts an interview with the candidate.

When the interview has been completed the regional manager may decide to extend an offer to the applicant. This is currently handled by requesting the HR department to send an offer letter to the candidate.

Candidates who accept the job offer are supposed to complete a packet of new hire paperwork and an orientation session, but in practice, this process is not always carried out. The HR department would like to be able to ensure that this process is followed at each retail outlet.

During the course of an individual's employment with PWC Accelerators, the HR department is responsible for maintaining a file with the employee's information, and recording events like leaves-of-absence, paid time-off, promotions, incidents, and termination of employment. Currently, the department relies on regional managers and store managers to fax in documentation for these types of events. The faxes are received electronically and stored on a shared drive.

This process presents the HR department with a number of challenges. Many of the steps require manual data entry and filing, and there is no shared visibility for managers or HR personnel into the process, and as a result there is often confusion about who is responsible for the next step of the process, or indeed what the next step is for a given candidate. As the company has grown, this manual process has become burdensome and a hindrance to the company's growth.

### The XRM solution

PWC Accelerators engaged an experienced Dynamics CRM partner to help redesign this process and to implement a streamlined XRM solution to overcome these challenges and shortcomings. The XRM solution described here performs all of the steps required by the HR department and adds a number of significant improvements.

By incorporating many of the methods described in this book, Dynamics CRM was used as a platform to create a unique, line-of-business application that closely fit the requirements of the PWC Accelerators' HR department. Let's examine the elements that were brought together to deliver this solution.

### The solution interface

PWC Accelerators chose Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 as the foundation for their XRM solution partly because of the familiar interface that the system provides. Leveraging this familiarity in the Web and Outlook clients, the solution interface makes use of the following techniques:

- Sitemap customization
- Custom dashboard
- Custom charts
- Web resources

The main navigation has been tailored to display only the elements that are of interest to the Human Resources department by modifying the site map (see Figure 27.3). The sales, marketing, and customer service areas were removed from the left-hand navigation and replaced with a single Human Resources area. A link to the payroll system was added to the Workplace, using a Web resource for the icon. A custom group was created to display employee records.

### FIGURE 27.3

An XRM solution, built on Dynamics CRM, streamlines and automates PWC Accelerators' hiring and human resources management processes.



A custom dashboard was built to display some of the key metrics for the HR department, such as high-priority employee incidents, the performance of various job advertising channels, and a list of active job requisitions.

### The Job Requisition process

In the manual process that regional managers had to follow in the past, when a position opened up in one of their stores, they had to write up a help wanted ad and find places to advertise. They were left to their own devices, and results were inconsistent across the company. The managers also had difficulty in keeping track of which job openings had received applications.

The job requisition process implemented as part of the XRM solution uses a combination of the following customization options and methods:

- Custom entities
- Workflow rule
- Queue
- Solution Accelerator from Microsoft
- Security Roles
- Field Security Profiles
- Custom SDK code

The XRM solution has incorporated a new entity called the Job Requisition as shown in Figure 27.4. Regional managers need only submit a new job requisition through the XRM solution. The job requisition contains a lookup to a library of job descriptions (housed in the Position entity), a lookup to the Site where the job is available, and several radio buttons that allow an authorized HR approver to post the job automatically to the company's Web site and social media sites.

The Position entity contains information about the types of jobs that are performed at PWC Accelerators, including the position title, a job description, a pay band to indicate the compensation level for the position, and the type of location at which the position is typically located (see Figure 27.5).

The job requisition form. A regional manager submits the form to the HR queue, from where it is reviewed and automatically published to the company Web site and social media.

Ø Job Requisition: Sales Ass	sociate - watercraft - Micro	osoft Dynamics CRM	- Windows Interne	et Explorer		
🔾 🗢 🏒 http://192.168.1	6.35:5555/PW/CAccelerators/mai	n.aspx?etn=c5_jobrequisit	tion&extraqs=_gridTy	pe%3d1000 🕶 🐓 🗙	6 Bing	- م
😭 Favorites 🛛 😸 🔹 加 Queu	e Items: Items I am w 加 Jo	b Requisition: Sales A 3	x	谷 -	🔊 🔻 🖃 🖶 🔻 Page 🕶 :	Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶 🦈
File Job Requisition Crea	te Related Customize					Matt Wittemann @ PW/C Accelerators 🔈
Save & Close & Save & New	Add to Queue Copy a Li Collaborate	nk ink Workflow Dialog Process	Run Report <del>-</del> Data			
Information General	Job Requisition Sales Associa	te - watercraft			Job R	equisitions 💌 🛊 🛡
Related  Common  Activities  Cosed Activities  Activities  Activities  Activities  Applicants  Processes  Workflows  Dialog Sessions	General     Name *     Softon *     Desired Start Date *     Job Posting 1     Publish Job Posting 1     Publish to Corp Careers?     T     Publish on     Monster.com?	es Associates watercraft Sales Associate 1/2011 C No C Yes C No C Yes	53 • 880)	Created By Created On Site * Owner *	S <u>SSAdmin</u> 9/27/2010 West Shore Lake S <u>SSAdmin</u>	(2) 10:05 PM m (2) (2)
	Publish to Linkedin?¥ Job Posting Expiry ▶ Notes	© No C Yes				
	Status Acti	/e				
http://192.168.16.35:5555/PWCAco	elerators/userdefined/edit.as	px?_gridType=1000		linternet   Protect	ted Mode: Off	

When the job requisition is created, it is automatically routed by workflow rules to the HR queue, where an HR Specialist reviews it. If the requisition is approved, the HR Specialist can select where the job should be posted. Using the example provided by the Portal Accelerator (see Chapter 26), the job posting is published to the company's Web site. If selected, it is also posted to social media sites (see Figure 27.6) using custom code that leverages the SDK.

As applications are received for the requisition, the regional manager can view the list called My Active Job Requisitions to monitor the applications received for each position.

The position record contains standard job titles and descriptions. Users of the XRM solution can also views applicants who have applied for the position, as well as employees who currently hold the position.

Position: Sales Associate	Microsoft Dynamics C	RM - Windows Interne	et Explorer			- ē ×
🔾 🗢 🏒 http://192.168.14	5.35:5555/PWCAccelerators/	main.aspx?etn=c5_positior	a&extraqs=etc%3d1000	0%26id%3d% 🕶 👍 🗙	b Bing	- م
😭 Favorites 🛛 🔀 💌 加 Positi	ons: Active Positions 🏼	Position: Sales Associat	. x	Å • Б	🔻 🖃 🖶 🔻 Page	▼ Safety▼ Tools▼ 🔞▼ '
File Position Create Relat	ed Customize					Matt Wittemann @ PWC Accelerators 🚕
Save & New Save & Deactivate Close X Delete Save	Connect Connect Collaborate	Run Start Workflow Dialog Re Process E	Run port - Data			
Information	Position	iste			P	ositions 💌 🛊 🕸
General	Name	Sales Associate	Modified By	8 Matt Wittema	nn Modified On	9/28/2010 8:18 AM
Connections           I6         Audit History           Applicants         International Statements           Image: Employees         Viewer	Name * Position Description *	Sales Associate Responsible for meeting : inquiries, and presenting	sales goals, assisting pr PWC Accelerators prod	ospects and customers with ucts to potential buyers.	product selection, answ	ering customer
Dialog Sessions	Pay Band	Band 4		<ul> <li>Position Location Type</li> </ul>	Retail Locations	•
	Status d	Active				
tp://192.168.16.35:5555/PWCAco	elerators/userdefined/edi	aspx?etc=10000&id=9		lnternet   Protecter	Mode: Off	√a + € 100% +

#### The application process

PWC Accelerators has relied on a paper application process that is growing unwieldy as the company expands. Paper applications had to be mailed or faxed to the corporate office for review, leaving the regional managers awaiting a response and unsure if the applications had been received or were being reviewed.

The XRM solution developed to streamline this process incorporates a number of key elements and builds on the job requisition process:

- Microsoft InfoPath form
- Web-to-lead type form
- Renamed system entity
- Integration of external Web service
- Built-in "lead" conversion functionality

The job requisition process incorporates custom entities, workflow processes, queues, field security profiles, and custom code based on Microsoft's portal accelerator.



To make it easier to apply for a job, and to capture the application information directly in the XRM system, PWC Accelerators has installed kiosks in their stores that provide access to an electronic application. Applications are also available on the company's Web site.

When using the in-store kiosks, interested individuals can select the position they wish to apply for from the list of available jobs. This list is pulled from Dynamics CRM's list of approved job requisitions, which is populated into SharePoint using Business Connectivity Services (BCS). Because SharePoint BCS enables CRUD operations on connected data, they've opted to use an InfoPath form hosted in SharePoint to allow the data entry for the application, as shown in Figure 27.7. When the application is saved, the BCS connection creates the application record in Dynamics CRM.

An InfoPath form on the company's SharePoint site is used as an electronic application. The applications can be filled out at kiosks in the PWC Accelerators stores.

Edit			
	K Copy		
Save Save Close Past	e Print Print		
Commit C	lipboard Views		
			A
	DMC Accelerators		
	Application for Employment		
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	Personal Information		
	Name and Age		
	First Name:	Wathalee	
	Last Name:	Steuber	
	Date of Birth:	12/04/1979	=
	SSN:	***_**	
	Address		
	Street 1:	797 Roosevelt äve NF	
	Street 2:		
	(ib:		
	Cheker	saint Louis	
	state.	MO	
	21p:	83385	
	Qualifications		
	Besisien Annheing Enn		
	Position Applying For		-
		😡 🚭 Internet   Protected Mode: Off	√a • € 100% •

### **Cross-Reference**

See Appendix A for more on using BCS to allow create, read, update, and delete operations on Dynamics CRM data from within SharePoint.

The electronic application submits data to the Applicant entity in Dynamics CRM, which is simply the renamed Lead system entity.

Repurposing system entities in Dynamics CRM by changing their names and modifying other entity features can be a quick way to leverage the platform's built-in functionality. This strategy should be carefully evaluated to make sure it will support your current and anticipated requirements. Repurposing system entities was more common in earlier versions of Dynamics CRM that were less flexible in their customization options. With Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, the extensibility of the platform makes it possible to duplicate many of the built-in features. Still, there are some advantages to repurposing system entities and functionality, such as the native integration between Outlook contacts and activities and Dynamics CRM contacts and activities, and a quicker development process. In this instance, it made sense to reuse the Lead entity since new applicants follow a similar qualification process as Leads. The HR department also wished to keep applicants separate from the employee lists.

The default view of applicants is set to All Applicants and shows the status reason of applicants for positions at PWC Accelerators. It also shows another key metric that the HR department is concerned with: the number of applicants per position (see Figure 27.8).

Figure 27.9 shows the repurposed Lead form, now called the Applicant. Custom buttons on the ribbon menu allow HR Specialists to submit applicant information to one of two Webbased background verification services. Clicking the buttons passes the pertinent applicant data to a custom ASPX page, which connects to the Web services APIs of the verification services. The results are displayed and accepted by the HR Specialist in order to complete the background check process.

### FIGURE 27.8

Using inline charts, Dynamics CRM can present users with key metrics alongside the records they are viewing.

🖉 Applicants: All Applicant	s - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Window	s Internet Explorer			9 (X
🚱 🔾 🗢 🏒 http://192.168.	16.35:5555/PW/CAccelerators/main.aspx#		🔻 47 🗙 💽 Bind	2	<del>،</del> م
Applicants:	All Applicants - Microsoft Dynamics	]	â • a • =	🖶 💌 Page 🕶 Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 (	<b>0</b> • "
File Applicants View	Create Related Customize			Matt Wittemai PWC Accelerato	nn Ø
Human Resou   🕼   🖳	Applicants: All Applicants -			Search for records	٩
Applicants	Name	Position Applied For	Applicant Source   Status Reaso 🖉	Applicants by Position -	3>
Bill Employees	Vanda Flingalner	Store Manager	Social Media New Applicant		~
Positions	anselm Kiefer	Store Manager	Company Caree New Applicant	5.	
L Job Requisitions	Stronne McKay	Store Manager	Advertisement New Applicant		
HR Incidents	Wathalee Steuber	Sales Associate	Dice.com Hired	54	
Goals	🖏 Teresa Atkinson	Receptionist	TheLadders.com New Applicant	E -	
[16] Goal Metrics	Stephanie Conroy	Assistant Store Manager	Advertisement New Applicant	10 3	
Rollup Queries	🖏 Sidney Higa	Store Manager	Dice.com New Applicant		
	Scott Konersmann	Vice President of Sales	TheLadders.com New Applicant	150 2 2	
	Nobert Ahlering	Receptionist	Advertisement New Applicant	N N	
	aul Alcorn	Sales Associate	TheLadders.com New Applicant	Ë 1 1 1	
	🖏 Oscar Alpuerto	Receptionist	Dice.com New Applicant	3 1	
	🖏 Orlando Gee	Watercraft Technician	TheLadders.com New Applicant		
				pulsepid and second approach approach 	
Workplace					
in numan resources	•		•		
E Settings	1 - 12 of 12 (1 selected)		M € Page 1 ►		
Sg Resource Center	All # A B C D E F G H I	JKLMNOP	Q R S T U V W X Y Z	Click on the chart to perform Drill	Down
		2	Internet   Protected Mode:	Off 🛛 🖓 👻 🔍 100%	-

Custom external services can be integrated seamlessly into the Dynamics CRM interface using the Ribbon menus.

🤗 Applicant: Wathalee Steu	ber - Microsoft Dynami	cs CRM - Windows I	nternet Explorer				- ¢ X
00 - 📈 http://192.168.10	6.35:5555/PWCAccelerators/	main.aspx?etn=lead&ext	raqs=_gridType%3d4%26etc	%3d4%26 🕶 🐓 🗙	Bing		p.
😭 Favorites 🛛 😸 💌 🚂 Appli	cants: All Applicants 🗾	Applicant: Wathalee St	x	<u>۵</u> -	S • 🗆 🖶	▼ Page ▼ Safety ▼ Too	ols 🕶 🔞 🕶
File Applicant Create Rela	ated Customize					Matt Wi PWC Acc	ittemann 🧐 elerators 🚕
Save & New Save & Save & New Close Save	Qualify Criminal Check Actions Background Che	Credit History Check	Assign Copy a Link	Run Workflow Start Process	Run Report + Data		
Information – General	Applicant Wathalee S	teuber				Applicants	• • •
- Details - Administration	Status	Open	Status Reason	New Applicant			
Notes	▼ General						-
Related	Position Applied For	Sales Associate					Q
∡ Common	First Name +	Wathalee		Job Requisition	🙇 Sales Assi	ciate - watercraft	
Activities	Last Name *	Steuber		Salutation	Ms.		
Sonnections	Contact Informatio	n					
16 Documents 16 Audit History	Home Phone	555-0127		Pager			
4 Marketing	Other Phone			E-mail	someonel2@e	xample.com	
😤 List Groups	Mobile Phone	555-0123		Web Site			
▲ Processes	Source Informatio	n					
Workflows	Applicant Source	Dice.com	•	Source Ad	🚰 <u>Watercrat</u>	t Sales Associate - West Lak	
	Employment Histo	ry					
	Account Executive Broadband Advertisin 1998-2003 - Responsible for sell - Consistently among - Achieved five straigh	ig ng advertising on compa the top earners for the o it years of sales growth	iny-owned web properties ompany				-
	Status	Open					
avascript:			a	A Internet   Protec	ted Mode: Off	<i>€</i> , <b>•</b> €	100% -

In addition to the custom functionality that has been layered on to this renamed system entity, we've leveraged some of the built-in functionality that the Lead entity supports for scheduling interview appointments and converting the applicant to an employee using the conversion dialog.

HR Specialists contact the applicants to arrange interviews and create appointment activities within Dynamics CRM, setting the applicant and the regional manager as required attendees. Dynamics CRM automatically sends out meeting requests by e-mail to the attendees.

The conversion dialog will allow the HR Specialist to deactivate the lead and either create a new Employee record if the applicant is hired or mark the applicant as disqualified and indicate the reason (see Figure 27.10).

By repurposing the lead entity, PWC Accelerators' XRM solution can take advantage of some built-in functionality like this conversion dialog box.

e Com	vert Appli	cant Webpage	e Dialog	X				
🏄 http:	/// http://192.168.16.35:5555/PWCAccelerators/SFA/Leads/Dialogs/conv_lead.aspx							
Conve Specify	Convert Applicant Specify whether to convert this applicant into an employee or to disqualify it.							
	)ualify and	convert into the fol	lowing records					
	Status	Hired		•				
	Comp	any yee rtunity						
	Poter	itial Customer		Q				
	Curre	ncy	📲 US Dollar	Q				
	Open	newly created recor	ds					
0	Zestus	Declined Offer						
		beamed one		-				
			OK	Cancel				
http 🛞 I	nternet   Pr	otected Mode: Off						

### The on-boarding process

PWC Accelerators' previous process for bringing on new employees involved a standardized checklist of tax forms, employee agreements, a handbook, an orientation video, and other paperwork that had to be completed. These elements are still required, but several components of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 lend themselves to facilitating a more automated and standardized process. The XRM solution for the on-boarding of newly hired employees includes:

- A custom plug-in
- Workflow automation
- Outlook integration
- SharePoint integration

When a new employee is hired, the first thing that the HR department must do is assign a unique employee number that can be used by the payroll system and other integrated systems to track information related to the employee. A custom plug-in was used in the PWC Accelerators XRM solution to generate a new Employee ID number when a new Employee record is created (Figure 27.11). (The plug-in that generates the employee ID is based on the account number plug-in example in the SDK.)

A plug-in is used to create an employee number each time a new employee record is created.

Employee: Forrest Chand	<ul> <li>Microsoft Dynamics</li> </ul>	CRM - Windows In	ternet Explorer			(		of	
→ → × //192.168.1	6.35:5555/PWCAccelerato	s/main.aspx?etn=conta	ct&extraqs=etc%3d29	626id%3d%25	1767AI 🔻 🐓 🗙	🖻 Bing			Q
🔆 Favorites 🛛 😸 🔹 🚂 Emplo	oyees: Active Employ	🚛 Employee: Forrest C	iha X		🖄 • 6	) • 🖻 🖶 • 1	Page ▼ Safety ▼	Tools 🔻 🌘	)-
File Employee Create Rela	ated Customize						Ma PV/0	tt Wittemanr Accelerator	3 6
Save & New Save & Close X Deactivate Save & Save & Xew Close X Delete Save	Add to List Connect As Group Collab	Sharing - Sign B Copy a Link Sign B E-mail a Link orate	Run Workflow Start Process	Run Report - Data					
nformation 👻	Employee Forrest C	hand					Employees	* 1	÷
- Details - Administration - Notes	Employee ID Position	909091 Sales Associate	Site	iii ⊻	Vest Shore Lake	Manager Date of Hire	6/14/2011		_
Related	<ul> <li>▼ General</li> <li>Salutation</li> <li>First Name *</li> </ul>	Forrest		E	-mail Iobile Phone	forrest.chand@pw	caccelerators.com		-
Activities Closed Activities	Last Name * <b>Employee Info</b>	Chand		H	lome Phone				
16 Documents	Employee ID 90	9091	Site	West West	Shore Lake	Manager		Q	
16 Audit History 🚂 Managed Employees 😤 Marketing Lists	Position	Sales Associate			Q	Date of Hire	6/14/2011		
Investigations	Street 1	7230 Berrellesa Stree	t	s	tate/Province	WA			
HR Incidents	Street 2			z	IP/Postal Code	78800			
Processes	City	Snohomish		0	ountry/Region	U.S.			
United Sessions	▼ Details								•
	Status Date of Hire Date of Termination	Active 6/14/2011							
				6	Internet   Protecte	d Mode: Off	@ •	<b>a</b> 100%	÷

When the new employee record is created, in addition to generating an employee ID, the XRM solution uses a workflow rule to generate a number of tasks that the HR Specialist must complete to ensure the on-boarding process is completed. The tasks are displayed in the Activities list, synchronized to the HR Specialist's Outlook task list, and are visible from the new employee's open activities related list (see Figure 27.12).

A workflow process automatically creates tasks to guide the HR Specialist through the new employee on-boarding process.



Employee photographs can be added using the native functionality of Outlook contacts (see Figure 27.13). Synchronization and integration with Outlook is another built-in feature that the PWC Accelerators HR solution leverages automatically.

The Outlook client for Dynamics CRM provides a view of an employee's record as well as a photo and the Outlook people pane.

0 급 기 =		outlook://PWC%	20Accelerators/W	orkplace/Empl	loyees/Employees	<ul> <li>Microsoft Outlook</li> </ul>			_	e X
File Contacts Vie	ew	Create Related Customize							6	~ 7
I New I Deactivate I Edit Delete → Activate Merge		Send Direct E-mail	Assign Share Convia Link *	E-mail a Link ¥	🔗 Run Workflow	Run Report * Y Filte	r H	ielp		
Records	Acti	ons Co	llaborate		Process	Data	F	ielp		
<ul> <li>Favorites</li> <li>Inbox</li> <li>Sent Items</li> <li>Deleted Items</li> </ul>	•	Active Employees     Search Active Employees	Filter V	General	rest Chand				-	< 🔲 No 1
matt.wittemann@succes     Inbox     Drafts     Sent Items		Full Name Adrian Dumitrascu Cat Francis Cathan Cook Darren Parker	Employee I 980123 998011 899055 908990	Salutation First Name Last Name	Forrest Chand	E-mail Mobile Pho Home Phor	forre ne 1e	st.chand@pw	:a	upcoming appoint
Deleted Items     Junk E-mail     Junk E-mail     Goutbox     SS Feeds     Search Folders     BWC Asceleratory	=	Forrest Chand Gabriele Cannata George Sullivan Ludwig von Mises Marco Tanara	909091 098809 888109 778011 908155	Home Add Street 1 Street 2 City	ress 7230 Berrelle Snohomish	sa Street State/Provin ZIP/Postal ( Country/Re	nce WA Code 7880 gion U.S.	0		nents. 🄌 Today
PWC Accelerators     Work Accelerators     With Human Resources     Workplace     Workplace     MyWork     Employees     Applicants		Oliver Hardy         98903           Patrick Steiner         877875           Susan Burk         224675           Thomas Axen         777345           Wathalee Steuber         887944		Personal In Gender Marital Statu	formation	Birthday Anniversary	Birthday Anniversary			: 24 Tasks
		Yvonne McKay	Forrest Chand (forrest.chand@pwcaccelerators.com)				2	×		
Calendar				Lan		There are no items to s	how in this vie	w.	*	
S Contacts		▲	Page 1	⊕ Add ~	Ð				-1	
Eilter applied	•	La. 19010	. ugo i		1		<b>F</b> 69 1009	6 (E)		
									×.	-0

All of the documents that are gathered during the on-boarding process used to be filed on a shared network directory, or as paper documents in old filing cabinets. With the new XRM solution built on Dynamics CRM, the on-boarding documents are stored using the SharePoint document management integration (see Figure 27.14). Documents can be uploaded directly to SharePoint by the regional manager or to the Employee record in Dynamics CRM by the HR Specialist.

#### **Employee management process**

One of the main responsibilities of the HR department is to keep accurate records for each employee, recording the details around a variety of different types of events and activities, such as promotions and disciplinary actions. The process that PWC Accelerators followed for this prior to implementing Dynamics CRM involved recording events on paper forms and storing them in files, and in some cases, storing electronic documents in a shared directory.

To handle the HR department's documents, PWC has implemented SharePoint integration for storage and version control.

C Employee: Forrest Chand - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer	
💭 💭 🗢 😰 http://192.168.16.35:5555/PWCAccelerators/main.aspx?etn=contact&extrags=_gridType%3d2%26etc%3d2% 🔻 🐓 🗙 🗔 matthew wittemann	<del>،</del> م
👷 Favorites 😢 🔹 🍘 Employees: Active Employ 🍘 Employee: Forrest Cha 🗙 🍈 👻 🖾 🐨 🖾 👘 👻 Page 👻 Safety 🕶 Tools 🤋	• • •
File Documents PWC Acceler	nann Ø ators ⊳
Add on Edit Location Location Decument Locations	
Information  Forrest Chand Employee Employee Employees	÷ ÷
Details Employee ID 900091 Site West Shore Lake Manager     Administration Position Sales Associate Date of Hire 6/14/2011	
Lie Document Locations: Documents on Default Site 2 -	
Related	2
4 Common	Ø
More Addresses     H 1099     9/29/2010 12:03 AM     Matt Wittemann	
Closed Activities // employeeagnnt 9/28/2010 11:57 PM Matt Wittemann	
Connections employeeagmnt Jul 12:02 AM Max Wittemann	
16 Documents	
In August History	
🗃 Marketing Lists	
A Investigations	
I HR Incidents	
Contracts	
4 Processes	
G Workflows	
Liof 3 selected.	e 1 ▶
Status Active Date of Hire 6/4/2011 Date of Termination	
Done 🔗 🐻 🚱 Internet   Protected Mode: Off 🆓 🗣 📆	J% <b>•</b>

The challenge with this process is that it took some time to assemble all of the documentation that was needed to review an individual's employment history. If a regional manager was planning on conducting an annual review of the employees at a given store, it was often too difficult to get the pertinent information.

Similarly, recording these events was not done in a standard way, resulting in oversights and mistakes in documenting important human resources issues. Regional managers typically spend much of their work lives on the road, visiting the stores in their regions and performing other duties. As a result, they often called in issues to the HR department, which was a distraction to the duties of the HR Specialists. More often than not, many employment related matters did not get recorded in employees' files.

To overcome these challenges, the XRM solution implements the following Dynamics CRM components:

- Custom activity
- Mobile Express
- Report Wizard
- Auditing

A custom activity called an HR Event (see Figure 27.15) was created in the XRM solution to be used for recording events, inquiries, and other types of interactions that should be recorded in an employee's record. The HR Event records capture the date, time and type of event, as well as a description. A custom option set allows users to select the type of event to record:

- Absent without leave
- Annual Review
- Assault
- Employment Agreement Violation
- General Inquiry
- Harassment
- Hired
- Illegal Activity
- Insubordination
- Leave of Absence/FMLA
- Pay Dispute
- Payroll Inquiry
- Promoted
- Recognized
- Rehired
- Suspended
- Tardy
- Terminated
- Theft
- Transferred
- Verbal Warning
- Written Warning
Dynamics CRM allows workflow rules to be triggered when custom activities are created. Based on the type of HR Event, workflow rules route the activity to the appropriate HR Specialist for follow-up. In some cases, the events are simply for record-keeping and the workflow automatically closes the custom activity, marking it as complete.

#### FIGURE 27.15

The XRM solution incorporates a custom activity called the HR Event which captures significant events in an employee's record.

🥖 HR Event: Illegal Activity:	S. Burk - suspected	of cutting tag off mattress durin	g work hours Win	dows Internet Exp	lorer	o ¢ X		
🔾 🗢 🏒 http://192.168.1	6.35:5555/PW/CAccelerato	rs/main.aspx?etn=c5_hrevent&extraqs	=_CreateFromId%3d%25	7E 🕶 🖅 🗙 💽	Binq	<del>،</del> م		
🔆 Favorites 🛛 😸 🔹 🚂 Empl	oyees: Active Emp 🎿	Employee: Susan Burk 📈 HR E	vent: Illegal Act 🗙	<u>∆</u> • ⊡ •	🖃 🖶 🔻 Page 🕶 Safety	▼ Tools ▼ 🔞 ▼ '		
File HR Event Customize					P	Matt Wittemann WC Accelerators ⇔		
Mark complete Save Save & Save Save Save	re & New lete Close HR Event Actions	To HR Incident To pportunity Convert Activity	Connect Add to Asso Connect Collab	Sharing - ign B Copy a Link ign B E-mail a Link porate	Run Workflow Dialog Process Data	<ul> <li>▼</li> </ul>		
Information	HR Event				Activities	• ± +		
- General	🔍 Illegal Ad	tivity: S. Burk - suspecte	d of cutting tag	off mattress	during w			
L Notes	Filed By	🜡 <u>Matt Wittemann</u> 🛛	ate Created 9/29/	2010 11:44 AM	Activity Status Open			
Related	▼ General							
Common	Subject *	Subject* Illegal Activities S. Burk - suspected of cutting tag off mattress during work hourd						
🛃 Connections	HD Exect Ture *	The well is about a	Drie	with:	(USA)			
16 Documents	HK Event Type	Jiegai Activity		лиў Н	ign			
16 Audit History	Regarding	Susan Burk				Q.		
Processes			Ow	mer*	Matt Wittemann	Q		
G Workflows	Description	Susan dropped a mattress tag out room. She had no explanation for her back, and it appeared the tag	of her pocket when retri the tag, but I noticed tha was missing. This is clearl	eving a pocketful of cl at she was trying to hi ly illegal, and puts the	nange for the honor snack bar de a California king-sized matti company at risk of being raide	in the break ress behind d by federal 👻		
	Start Date		Due Due	e Date		[Dec]		
	Actual Stant and	End	(unit)					
	Actual Start and							
	Actual Start	9/30/2011 L 12:0	IO AM 🖌 Acti	ual End		M		
	' Notes							
	Activity Status	Open						
				an at I Destaute ( Ma	(a) 00	- @ 100% -		
			e In	ternet   Protected Mod	ie. Uli 🦷	* ~ T0030 *		

In addition to being able to file these HR Events through the Web or Outlook interface, the Employee form and activities have been published through Mobile Express, Dynamics CRM's built-in mobile client (see Figure 27.16). Now the highly mobile regional managers can record changes to employee records and HR Events from their mobile devices.

The Mobile Express mobile Employee form allows regional managers to access important records while traveling.

AT&T 3G VEN 9:27 AM		* 🛥
PWC Accelerators		
Employees > Forrest Chand		
Save	Can	cel
Last Name*		
Chand		
First Name+		
Forrest		
Job Title		
Manager		
Role		
Mobile Phone		
(		)
Business Phone		
555-0198		)
E-mail		
(forrest.chand@pwcaccelerators.con	n	
Fax		
(		
Address 1: Street 1		
7230 Berrellesa Street		
<ul><li></li><li></li></ul>	са П	2

Regional managers are responsible for conducting annual reviews with each employee. The XRM solution makes pulling together each employee's information simple. Using the Report Wizard, one regional manager created and shared a report that he uses to conduct annual reviews. He likes to conduct the reviews for all employees at a given store on the same day, so he runs the report by opening the site record for the store and navigating to the associated list of employees. He selects all the employees and runs the report directly in context against the selected records (see Figure 27.17).

Contextual reports enable users to quickly get precisely the information they need. Reports created with the Report Wizard are automatically added to the Reports menu for related entities.

🥖 Site: West Shore Lake - Mi	rosoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer	- ¢ ×
OO ~ // http://192.168.16.	15:5555/PWCAccelerators/main.aspx?etn=site&extraqs=etc%3d4009%26id%3d%257b69E 🔻 49 🗙 🗔 Bing	+ م
😭 Favorites 🛛 😸 💌 🚚 Sites: A	I Sites 🎿 Employee: Susa 🎿 HR Event: Illega 🎿 Site: West Sh 🗙 🏠 👻 🗟 👻 🖃 🖶 💌	Page 🕶 Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶
File Site Create Related	Customize Employees	Matt Wittemann 🖗 PW/C Accelerators 😞
Add New Add Existing Edit X	Send Direct Add to Lift Companying. Send Direct Add to Lift Companying. Filter Reference Companying. Filter Reference Companying. Filter Reference Companying.	Run Report -
Records	Collaborate Current View Process	Run on Selected Records
Information General Address	Site West Shore Lake	Annual Review Information
	Employees: Contact Associated View -	for records $ ho$
Related	🔽   Full Name 🛎   Business Phone	3
⊿ Common	Forrest Chand 555-0198	
Resources	🔽 🔝 Gabriele Cannata 555-0168	
[16] Audit History	George Sullivan 555-0142	
Job Requisitions	Vathalee Steuber	
▲ Processes Workflows Dialog Sessions		
	1-4 of 4 (4 selected)	€ € Page 1 ▶
	All # A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O P Q R S	TUVWXYZ
a constante		=
Mascript,	gan Witemet Protected Wode. Of	4 . 4 100% ·

Since regional managers are frequently on the road, the HR Specialists sometimes assist them in preparing for annual reviews by running the report for them, exporting it to PDF and e-mailing it to them (see Figure 27.18).

Dynamics CRM's reporting capabilities allow for flexible delivery of reports.

🖾 Ar	inual Review Info	- West Lake store.p	df - Adobe Reade	r				
File	Edit View Docum	ent Tools Window	Help					×
9	9 B	🕆 🧄 1 / 2	🖲 🖲 100% ·	• 🖬 🖾 🗉	nd 🔸			
<b>B</b>								<u>^</u>
_								
	Annual R	eview Info	rmation					=
	Filter Cum							
	Filter Sum	mary						
		Full Name	Employee ID	Site	Actual End	Activity Type	Subject	Priority
		Forrest Chand						
			909091					
				West Shore Lake				
						task	On-board: Collect 1099 tax form from	High
						task	On-board: File signed Employee Agreement for	Normal
						task	On-board: Get photocopy of signed drivers license for	Normal
						task	On-board: Upload photo of Forrest Chand	Normal
					6/14/2011 4:00 AM	c5_hrevent	Hired	Normal
					10/21/2011 4:00 AM	c5_hrevent	Inquiry: PTO available?	Normal
		Gabriele Cannata						
			098809					
				West Shore Lake				
					9/30/2010 4:00 AM	c5_hrevent	Award for sales achievements	High
-		George Sullivan						
7¢			888109					
Ø				West Shore Lake				-
~	11.00 x 8.25 in	•						+

An important function of any HR system is being able to track over time what changes have been made to employee records. The XRM solution for PWC Accelerators makes use of the built-in auditing features in Dynamics CRM in order to capture and display these changes. Any change to an employee record is automatically tracked (see Figure 27.19). Dynamics CRM's security roles and field-level security are used to restrict visibility of these sensitive records to only those users who are authorized.

#### **Employee HR Incident process**

Occasionally, the HR department is called upon to investigate serious incidents involving the company's employees. These investigations often involve highly confidential information and legal matters.

The audit functionality in Dynamics CRM lends itself to the employee management process at PWC Accelerators.

🥔 Employee: Susan Burk - Micr	osoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Intern	et Explorer		
OO - M http://192.168.16.35	:5555/PWCAccelerators/main.aspx?etn=contact	t&extraqs=etc%3d2%26	5id%3d%257b84( 🔻 👍 🗙 🗔 Bing	+ م
😭 Favorites 🛛 😸 👻 🚂 Sites: All :	Sites - Microso 漏 Employee: Susan Bu 🗄	🗙 🚂 HR Event: Illega	al Activit 👌 🔹 🗟 🔹 🖷 🔹	Page 🕶 Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🔞 🖛 ≫
File Employee Create Related	1 Customize			Matt Wittemann @ PWC Accelerators 🚕
Save & New X Activate Close Save Save	Delete Add to List Connect Assign Group Collaborate	aring + py a Link mail a Link Proc	Start Run Dialog Report - ess Data	
Information - General	Employee Susan Burk			Employees 👻 🖈
- Details - Administration - Notes	Employee ID 224675 Position M <u>Watercraft Techn</u>	Site i <u>cian</u>	Inland Sea Manager Date of H	Patrick Steiner ire 7/17/2003
Fi	Iter on: All Fields	Action	Changed Field     Old Value	New Value C
Related  Common  More Addresses	- 9/29/2010 11:36 AM <u>C5 Admin</u>	Update	Mobile Phone Modified By (Delegate)	555-3265
Activities Closed Activities Connections Connections Connections	9/29/2010 11:34 AM C5 Admin	Update	Gender Birthday Time Zone Rule Versi 0 Modified By (Delegate)	Female 2/6/1968 12:00 AM 0
16 Audit History     Sa Managed Employees	9/29/2010 11:33 AM C5 Admin	Update	On-boarded Modified By (Delegate)	Yes
HR Incidents Marketing Lists Investigations HR Incidents	9/29/2010 11:31 AM C5 Admin	Update	Salutation Managing Employee Date of Hire Time Zone Rule Versi Modified By (Delegate)	Ms. Patrick Steiner 7/17/2003 12:00 AM 0
▲ Processes	9/29/2010 11:28 AM C5 Admin 4  1 - 5 of 5 (0 selected)	Audit Enabled		▼ N 4 Page 1 ▶
Dialog Sessions S Dialog Sessions	tatus Active Vate of Hire 7/17/2003 Vate of Termination			
Done		J.	linternet   Protected Mode: Off	🖓 🔹 🔍 100% 👻 .

Without a system for handling these issues, PWC Accelerators relied on a manual process to track these types of issues. The manual process increased the company's risk of legal repercussions since it was easy for details to be overlooked or investigations neglected. The company was in need of an enforceable, standardized process.

The XRM solution made use of the following platform elements in order to help the company deal with these sensitive employee issues:

- Built-in conversion of custom activity
- Renamed system entity
- Dialog process

Once again, a system entity was repurposed to support this critical process. The Case entity was renamed to HR Incident (see Figure 27.20). One of the benefits of using the Case entity is that it has three state codes, whereas most entities can only have two: Active and Inactive. The case entity's three states are: Active, Resolved, and Canceled. This maps well to PWC's processes, where HR Incidents can be active investigations, resolved, or canceled for various reasons. Each state can have its own list of status reasons:

- Status: Active
  - In Progress
  - Referred to Legal
- Status: Resolved
  - Disciplinary Action
  - No Action
- Canceled
  - Misreported Incident
  - Insufficient Information

Using the Case entity also enables the HR Department to take advantage of other built-in features, such as the Neglected Case report, the resolution activity that records the time and status reason of a resolution, and the ability to associate and embed knowledge base articles directly into the form for reference.

Investigations of employee incidents typically start with the reporting of an issue using the HR Event custom activity. For this reason, the process that the HR Specialists follow takes advantage of the built-in ability to convert an activity into an HR Incident (see Figure 27.21). When an HR Specialist determines that an issue must be escalated to an investigation, he can convert it to an HR Incident manually. This process closes the HR Event custom activity and stores it in the history of the HR Incident record for reference.

In order to make sure that details of the incident are captured properly during the investigation, the XRM solution uses the new Dialogs feature of Dynamics CRM to guide HR Specialists through the process of conducting the initial phone interview to start the investigation (see Figure 27.22). This ensures that all of the legally required information is covered in a uniform manner during the initial investigation of the incident.

The Case entity was renamed to HR Incident and is used in the XRM solution to track investigations into serious employee issues.

HR Incident: CAS-01014-T9	9Q8L3 - Microsoft Dyna	mics CRM - Windows Internet	Explorer			-0	e ×
OO v // http://192.168.10	6.35:5555/PWCAccelerators/	main.aspx?etn=incident&extraqs=_ <u>c</u>	ridType%3d11	2%26etc%3 🕈 🐓 💥	Bing		<del>،</del> م
😭 Favorites 🛛 😸 💌 🛺 HR In	cidents: My Active C 🚽	HR Incident: CAS-0101 🗙		<u>۵</u> -	🗟 🔻 🖃 🖶 🔻 Pag	e ▼ Safety ▼ Tools	• @• "
File HR Incident Create R	elated Customize					Matt Witte PWC Accele	mann 🙆 rators 🔈
Save & New Save & Save & New Close Save	Resolve Case Connect Case Actions	t Add to Queue Assign Collaborate Sharing - t Badd to Assign €-mail a Link	Run Workflow Proces	Start Dialog s Data			
Information	HR Incident	I-T9Q8L3			[	HR Incidents 🔹	<b>* *</b>
Notes and Article	Status	Active St	atus Reason	In Progress	Owner	🜡 Matt Witt	emann
Related	▼ General						<
Activities	Title *	Illegal Activity: S. Burk - suspected o	of cutting ta	Site	inland Sea	لم	ī
Connections 16 Documents	Subject	E Sucan Burk		Report Origin	Phone Phone Misso	•	
16 Audit History	Incident Type	Geg Susan Durk		Reported On	12/4/2011	✓ 12:00 AM	1
Workflows	Assignment Information						
Dialog Sessions	Owner*	S Matt Wittemann	Q	Status Reason	In Progress		
	Follow Up By			Priority	Normal	-	
	Outcome						
	Disciplinary Action Recommended	✓ Date of I Action	Disciplinary		Refer to Legal?		
	Status .	Active					
Done				🛞 Internet   Protec	ted Mode: Off	(a) ▼ €, 10	0% -

#### FIGURE 27.21

Converting a custom activity into an HR Incident. This process allows issues to be escalated and tracked using the built-in service case management functionality of Dynamics CRM.

🖉 Convert HR Event to HR In	cident Webpage Dialog 🛛 🔛
http://192.168.16.35:5555/PW/CA	Accelerators/Activities/act_dlgs/convert_to_
Convert HR Event to HR Incid Specify the details of the new HR I	<b>Jent</b> Incident.
Customer *	🧝 Susan Burk
Subject	
🔽 Open the new HR Inci	ident
Change the HR Event form	status to Completed and close the
	OK Cancel
🛞 Internet   Protected Mode: Off	

A dialog process is used to guide the investigating HR Specialist through the initial information-gathering for an HR Incident.

@ Investigation Start-up - Windows Internet Explorer	
http://192.168.16.35:5555/PW/CAccelerators/cs/dialog/rundialog.aspx?DialogI	d=%7b6BAF8978-DE87-444E-868: 🖄
Investigation Start-up	
Hello. This is Matt Wittemann from the HR department at PWC Accelerators' headquarters. I am beginning an investigation of a reported employee incident. Do I have your permission to record this call?	Τιρ
Permission Granted	
O Permission Declined	
prompt1of1	
Click to add comments	
Help Summary	Next Cancel
Done 😜 Internet   Protected Mode: Off	🖓 🔻 🔍 100% 🔻 🖉

One of the nice features of the dialog process in Dynamics CRM is that it records each instance, or session, that the dialog is used (see Figure 27.23). This is perfect for managers in the HR department to ensure that the HR Specialists are complying with procedure, and also to be able to re-create what happened during an investigative call should questions later arise.

#### Localization

PWC Accelerators is experiencing tremendous growth and has recently opened stores throughout Latin America. Fortunately, the custom solution developed for the HR department was built on the Dynamics CRM platform, meaning the company can take advantage of the localization features of the system:

- A MUI (multilingual user interface) pack
- Translated labels

The "history" of a dialog process session is viewable during and after the session so it can be referenced later, a critical auditing component of a compliant HR system.

🥖 Dialog Session: Invest	igation Start-up - Mic	osoft Dynamics	CRM - Windows Interne	et Explorer		
// http://192.168.16.35:5555/P	WCAccelerators/sfa/workf	owsession/edit.asp>	?_CreateFromId=%7bA7025	D91-07CC-DF11-A011-00155	5D100C1C%7d&_CreateFromType=:	112&id=%7bFBC4EA58-0F
File 🗶 Close 🖨 🐀	Actions +					@ <u>H</u> elp -
og Session:	Investigation Star n	t-up				
Information - General - Summary - Comments - Linked Sessions - Details	⁺ General ▼ Summary					
Related		alt of call - permissi ssion to record call i interview start-Resp age: First question se, if Phone Interview age: End call	on to record s granted oonse Value equals [1], then w start-Response Value equ	: als [2], then:		
	<ul> <li>Comments</li> <li>Linked Session</li> <li>Details</li> </ul>	IS				
	Started On	9/29/2010	5:20 PM	Started By	S Matt Wittemann	a.
	Completed On	9/29/2010	SIZI PM	Completed By	Matt Wittemann	4
	Canceled Un	1		Canceled By		ب م
Status: Complete						
				😔 Internet   P	rotected Mode: Off	√a ▼ 100% ▼

The Spanish language MUI pack was downloaded, installed, and activated for the PWC Accelerators' XRM organization. After adding the language pack, custom labels were translated, and the system's site map were updated to accommodate the new language settings.

HR Specialists at the company's offices in Latin America were then able to select the Spanish language option in their personal settings in order to use the system in their native tongue (see Figure 27.24).

The employee form with the Spanish language MUI pack installed and selected

Contacto: Gabriele Cannat	a - Microsoft Dynami	ics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer		[	
)	35:5555/PWCAccelerator	s/main.aspx?etn=contact&extraqs=_gridType%3d;	1%26etc%3d29 🔻 😽 🗙	🖻 Bing	ړ
Favorites 🔠 🔹 加 Contac	tos: Contactos acti	🚜 Contacto: Gabriele Can 🗙	Å • Б	) • 🗆 🌐 •	Page 🔻 Safety 👻 Tools 👻 🔞
Archivo Contacto Crear rel	aciones Personalizar				Matt Wittemann PW/C Accelerators
uardar Guardar y Guardar y Guardar y Guardar	Agregar a lista de marketing	Agregar conexion - Asignar Collaborate	rreo electrónico Proce	Iniciar diálogo eso Datos	
	Contacto				
formación 👻	Gabriele	Cannata			Contactos 💌 🛣 🖣
- Detalles - Administración - Notas	Employee ID Position	098809 Site	🏙 West Shore Lake	Managing Employee Date of Hir	😡 <u>George Sullivan</u> e
alacionado	▼ General				
omún	Saludo		Correo electrónico	gabriele.cannata@	Dpwcaccelerators.com
Más direcciones	Nombre *	Gabriele	Teléfono móvil		
Actividades	Apellidos *	Cannata	Teléfono particular		
Actividades cerradas     Si Conexiones	Employee Info				
16 Documentos	Employee ID 196	Site	West Shore Lake	Managing	Secorae Sullivan
Bal Contactos				Employee	
Gasos	Position	Senior Assistant Store Manager	Q	Date of Hire	
🖀 Listas de marketing	Dirección				
Servicio	Calle 1	7723 Firestone Drive	Estado o provincia	java.	
Contratos	Calle 2		Código postal Esta	ado o provincia	
Procesos	Ciudad	Redmond	País o región	U.S.	
🚱 Workflows					
🔄 Sesión de diálogo	▼ Detalles	Astino			
	Date of Hire Date of Termination	ALUVO			
		<b>F</b> 1	🔄 🖨 Internet I Protector	d Modo: Off	<b>●</b> 100%

#### Maintenance and extensibility

PWC Accelerators is a fast-growing company undergoing lots of changes. Its processes and systems are continuously undergoing changes and refinements. To accommodate these changes, the XRM solution incorporates:

- Windows Updates
- Role-based forms
- Solutions

After deploying the tailored Dynamics CRM system for managing the company's HR processes, PWC Accelerators' small IT team wants to make sure the system remains stable and secure. When installing the Outlook clients, the users opted in to automatically download Windows Updates for Dynamics CRM (see Figure 27.25).

Windows Updates are a new feature for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, and another compelling factor when considering the platform for XRM solution development.



As the company grows, the responsibilities of the HR department change and grow as well. The company has decided to begin using the XRM solution to track employee benefit enrollment as well. A benefits administrator has joined the team, and a new form will be added to the Employee entity that is tailored to the benefits administrator's responsibilities (see Figure 27.26). A security role was created for the HR Benefits Administrator and the form was associated with this role.

Associating a form with a custom security role allows flexibility in designing a role-based interface for an XRM solution.

Assign Security Roles: Benefits Administr http://192.168.16.35:5555/PW/CAccelerators/Tools/	r <mark>ator Form Webpage Dialog</mark> FormEditor/Dialogs/FormRoleAssignment.aspx?appSolutionIc	1=%7b8
Assign Security Roles: Benefits Administrato elect the security roles for which this form will be di	pr Form splayed.	
Display to everyone Display only to these selected security roles		
Name	Business Unit	
🔓 Delegate	PWC Accelerators	-
🔓 Demo	PWC Accelerators	
🐨 HR Benefits Administrator	PWC Accelerators	
HR Manager	PWC Accelerators	
The record is selected.	PWC Accelerators	
S Marketing Professional	PWC Accelerators	
🕼 Sales Manager	PWC Accelerators	
Salesperson	PWC Accelerators	
🕼 Schedule Manager	PWC Accelerators	
Scheduler 5	PWC Accelerators	
System Administrator	PWC Accelerators	
System Customizer	PWC Accelerators	
Sice President of Marketing	PWC Accelerators	
		•
1 - 17 of 17 (3 selected)		
Fallback Enabled for fallback		
Help	OK Car	ncel
p://192.168.16.35:5555/PWCAccelerators. 🛞 Inte	ernet   Protected Mode: Off	

As PWC Accelerators grows, they may modify their infrastructure by adding new, more powerful servers — or even by migrating to the cloud. Fortunately, Dynamics CRM offers XRM developers with great flexibility to handle these types of migrations and redeployments. By packaging the Human Resources XRM customizations, extensions, and other components into a solution (see Figure 27.27), the entire system becomes easy to deploy between environments.

#### Imagining the possibilities: Other XRM scenarios

The walk-through of the human resources XRM solution provided a large number of illustrations of how the Dynamics CRM platform can be tailored to address a number of nontraditional, non-customer-centric business processes. The ISV community and other Microsoft partners are assisting organizations across the globe to develop a wide variety of XRM solutions to support the line-of-business needs for industry, government, and educational institutions.

Here are a few ideas of the types of XRM solutions that Dynamics CRM makes possible:

• Asset Management. Dynamics CRM can be tailored to track company assets like furniture, projectors, and office equipment. The assets can be tracked in a custom entity that is associated with a site to indicate its physical location. Responsible individuals can be indicated as the asset "owner" and information like purchase dates and usage history can also be tracked.

- Expense Management. Either as an add-on to a traditional customer relationship management implementation, or as a stand-alone implementation for a large organization, Dynamics CRM provides all the tools needed to track expense reporting, receipt storage in integrated SharePoint document libraries, workflows to support approval and payment processes, and the ability to enforce business rules and security.
- Customer Loyalty Programs. For organizations that use loyalty cards or points systems to track customers' purchases and reward them for repeat business, Dynamics CRM could be customized to catalog purchase histories or points awarded, and use the built-in automation and marketing tools to notify loyal customers of their status. Portal integration would enable allowing customers to log in and review their loyalty points balances or purchase history. If the organization has a large number of retail stores, the different stores could transmit data to a cloud-based application hosted in Azure, which would act as a federated database, aggregating the data and transferring it to the XRM solution periodically.

The list of potential XRM scenarios really is as endless and varied as the needs of businesses and other organizations.

#### **FIGURE 27.27**

The PWC Accelerators XRM system was designed to be packaged up as a solution that contains all of the components needed to easily deploy it to a new environment if necessary.

Solution martin - micros	oft Dyn	amics CRM - Windows Intern	et Explorer				
) 🔘 🗢 🏄 http://192.168.1	6.35:555	5/PWCAccelerators/tools/solution/e	dit.aspx?id=%7b86F25647-E2C8-D	OF11-A0 ▼ 🗟 🍫 🗙	💽 Bing		ρ.
Favorites 88 • 🚚 Solut	ions: All	Solutions 📶 Solution: HRX	RM - Mic ×	<u>6</u> • 6	• 🖃 🖶 •	Page ▼ Safety ▼	Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶
ile 🔄 🛃 Save and Close	8	Export Solution   🔊 Import	Translations   🐺 Export Transl	lations   👔 Publish All Cus	tomizations 🐁	≜ctions <del>-</del>	@ <u>H</u> elp •
Solution: HRXRM							
ution: HR XRM	Comp	opent Type All		•			
Information	275.00						
Components 0	1 Ne	sw 🕶   📑 Add Existing 🕶   🗙 D	elete   🗮 Remove   🏠 Publis	sh   백열 Show Dependencie	s Add Requ	uired Components	
Entities	Car Ma	anaged Properties	1	-		1	1
Applicant Compone	ents	Display Name A	Name	Туре	State	Customizable	Audit Statug
Campaign		Annual Review Information	Annual Review Information	Report (Reporting Service	Unmanaged		Non Applic
s Employee	9	Applicant	lead	Entity	Managed	True	Enabled
III HR Event		Application Ribbons		Client Extensions			Non Appli
HR Incident		c5_C5InsightLauncher	c5_C5InsightLauncher	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
🙇 Job Requisition	0	c5_CreditIcon16	c5_CreditIcon16	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
😤 List Group	9	c5_CreditIcon32	c5_CreditIcon32	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
Opportunity	٢	c5_CriminalIcon16	c5_CriminalIcon16	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
Position	<u></u>	c5_CriminalIcon32	c5_CriminalIcon32	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
Price List		c5_hrevent32	c5_hrevent32	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
D III Oueue Item	٢	c5_hreventicon16	c5_hreventicon16	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
Service	9	c5_mattphoto	c5_mattphoto	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
🔄 📠 Site	٢	c5_payrollicon	c5_payrollicon	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
Option Sets	٢	c5_Position16	c5_Position16	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
Client Extensions		c5_Position32	c5_Position32	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
Web Resources		c5_requisition16	c5_requisition16	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
F. Processes		c5_requisition32	c5_requisition32	Web Resource	Unmanaged	True	Non Appli
Sdk Message Proces	3	Campaign	campaign	Entity	Managed	True	Disabled
R. Service Endpoints	2	Contract Line	contractdetail	Entity	Managed	True	Disabled
Dashboards	8	Employee	contact	Entity	Managed	True	Enabled 🔻
P Reports	1						+
							Id. d. Dans 1. h.

## Summary

In this chapter, we defined the buzzword XRM and discussed its evolution in the CRM industry. The chapter also presented a number of reasons why Dynamics CRM makes such a compelling platform for line-of-business application development, and why platform development makes sense compared to traditional custom development.

We walked through a Human Resources XRM solution that served to illustrate how the concepts covered throughout this book can be employed to quickly develop a powerful and highly tailored application.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 includes many features and powerful functionality that take it well beyond the realm of customer relationship management. Its extensibility and model-driven design environment, coupled with a deep API, translate to a system full of limitless possibilities.

# Part IX

# Appendixes

#### **IN THIS PART**

**Appendix A** Advanced Integration with SharePoint 2010

#### **Appendix B**

Accessing and Using Online Resources

#### APPENDIX

## Advanced Integration with SharePoint 2010

#### Written By: Curtis Hughes, www.asksharepoint.com

n this Appendix to the *Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 Administrators Bible*, SharePoint expert Curtis Hughes shares some of the powerful ways you can integrate Dynamics CRM with SharePoint 2010. Microsoft has raised the bar with the latest releases of these two platforms, and they naturally complement each other to deliver a versatile development platform.

## Integrating with SharePoint

If you're ready to jump into the *how* of integrating CRM with SharePoint, then this Appendix is for you. I promise to delve into the how very shortly, showing two real-world examples of value that can be derived from integrating Dynamics CRM 2011 and SharePoint 2010. However, I believe the more important question with which to start is, "Why should you integrate with SharePoint?"

SharePoint 2010 is a large application with many facets to uncover. SharePoint covers the vast areas of: Sites, Communities, Content, Search, Insights, and Composites. Although I certainly won't have time to probe all of these areas, my goal for this Appendix is to get you and your team thinking about the abundance of integration points between Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 and SharePoint 2010. In addition, I hope that this Appendix will point you in the right direction with some practical examples of integration between these two platforms.

#### **IN THIS APPENDIX**

Why integrate with SharePoint?

Areas of integration

Integration examples

Resources

With robust platforms such as Dynamics CRM and SharePoint, there are virtually limitless possibilities for integration. To begin, it helps to understand which version of SharePoint you have within your organization. What many organizations do not realize is that Microsoft Windows Server includes licensing for the basic version of Microsoft SharePoint 2010, aptly named *Microsoft SharePoint Foundation 2010*. Therefore, one obvious reason to integrate with SharePoint is the fact that the basic functionality is free and likely already available within your organization.

Many businesses can benefit from formalizing and automating their business processes, including task-oriented processes and knowledge or collaboration-oriented processes. While there are other document management and collaboration platforms besides SharePoint, there are powerful synergies between Dynamics CRM and SharePoint that make integrating these two systems very appealing to businesses and developers. Here are just a few of the reasons why the integration between these two products makes so much sense:

- Microsoft brand and a large community and support network
- Seamless Microsoft Office integration
- Standards-based platforms (XML, XHTML, REST, SOAP, WCAG)
- Shared skillsets for both platforms (.NET, WCF, REST, SOAP, JavaScript, Workflows)
- Both platforms have native support for cloud technologies (Azure, OData)
- Both platforms utilize the same backend data repository (Microsoft SQL Server)
- Dynamics CRM and SharePoint are very complimentary (think structured data versus unstructured data)

#### Note

This Appendix focuses on Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 and SharePoint 2010. Although there are certainly many levels of integration with previous versions of these tools, my focus is strictly on the latest versions of these products.

#### Areas of integration

Now that you understand the *why* of integrating with SharePoint, take a brief look at a few areas of integration between Dynamics CRM and SharePoint 2010. Although space constraints do not allow me to explore examples for all of these integration possibilities, I hope this section begins to reveal the power and possibilities of integrating these two platforms.

You can use a number of different ways to integrate Dynamics CRM and SharePoint. These methods span from minimalist integrations (such as using an Iframe or Page Viewer Web Part to integrate Dynamics CRM and SharePoint pages) to more elaborate integrations (such as writing custom code to perform detailed actions based on events from one or more systems).

In the preceding chapters, you have certainly seen the power of Dynamics CRM, so approaching this from a SharePoint perspective, the examples in Table A.1 provide a brief listing of some common areas where you can integrate Dynamics CRM with SharePoint. Beginning in the next section, I jump directly into two real-world examples.

#### TABLE A.1

#### **Common Places to Integrate Dynamics CRM with SharePoint 2010**

CRM Integration	Example
Business Connectivity Services	Create external list to CRM entity with read/write capability
SharePoint Client Object Model	Interact with CRM data from an external list
Microsoft Office Client Consume data directly from CRM or a BCS external list	
PerformancePoint Services Run dynamic, analytical, and ad hoc reports on CRM data	
Search Use BCS or Federated Search to include CRM data	
Social Activity Feed Consume and subscribe to events from CRM	
Web Parts	Show CRM data within any SharePoint page
REST / Web Services	Automatically create customer sites/libraries in SharePoint

### **Integration Examples**

Within every organization, no matter the size, there is an inherent need for information workers to access data residing in disparate software systems. Additionally, these systems can range from large, enterprise applications such as ERP and CRM to smaller, less structured systems, such as Microsoft Office, Microsoft SharePoint, custom Internet application, blogs, and social networking sites.

## Accessing Dynamics CRM with Business Connectivity Services

Microsoft Business Connectivity Services (BCS), recently released with Microsoft SharePoint Server (SPS) 2010, provides a set of features and functionality which help streamline the integration of external data into the SharePoint environment. By leveraging tools such as SharePoint Designer, Microsoft Office, and Visual Studio you can create solutions that range from simple to advanced, and span every system in your organization.

#### **External Content Types**

External Content Types are an essential concept to grasp when working with Business Connectivity Services. The functionality of external content types is behind nearly every BCS implementation, and is a critical part of leveraging the full power of BCS in SharePoint 2010. In short, external content types define the connectivity information, data structure, and overall behaviors that you wish to implement for your external data. What makes these gems even more attractive is the fact that external content types are reusable once they have been defined. For example, you may want to work with your Dynamics CRM opportunities in a SharePoint list, offline in Microsoft Outlook, or allow users to select an opportunity as a metadata field within SharePoint. In this case, you would create the opportunity external content type once, and then be able to reuse it for any application or project.

#### Showing external data

As mentioned above, SharePoint is one of the most obvious places to leverage external content types. Besides being an out-of-the-box feature of SharePoint Server 2010, BCS has presentation features which provide a nice interface to your external data. A few areas where external data can be shown in SharePoint 2010 include:

- External list
- External data column
- Business data Web part
- External content type picker
- External item picker
- Profile pages

#### Note

It is important to mention that Business Connectivity Services are included with Microsoft SharePoint Foundation (SPF) 2010. As mentioned above, this version is available as part of the standard Windows Server licensing. Note that although BCS functionality is available with SharePoint Foundation, there are some important feature differences when using BCS in SharePoint Foundation, SharePoint Server Standard, or SharePoint Server Enterprise. To see a listing of these differences, visit http://msdn.microsoft.com/ en-us/library/ee556390.aspx.

#### Creating an external content type from a CRM entity

Many of the external content type examples discussed in the previous section can be created without writing a single line of code. However, certain aspects of Dynamics CRM require a bit of code to accurately define the more complex data structures and entities. Remember that as I stated above, external content types are where the data structures and behaviors are defined. As you can imagine, describing a customer, account, or opportunity in simple terms is virtually impossible. Because of this, you have to write a bit of code to effectively "wrap" the complex structures from Dynamics CRM with simple structures for the Create, Read, Update, and Delete (CRUD) functions.

For this example, I utilize Visual Studio 2010 to assist with the creation of the Business Data Connectivity (BDC) Model based on an Account entity in Dynamics CRM. Although this Appendix is entitled "Advanced Integration with SharePoint." the overall book is focused on the Dynamics CRM administrator, so I won't get too deep into the .NET code. However, this Appendix is provided to show scenarios and provoke ideas for integration between Dynamics CRM and SharePoint 2010. All code samples will be posted on the book's Web site at www.dynamicscrmbible.com.

The first step is to create a new BDC Model project in Visual Studio 2010 (Figure A.1).

#### FIGURE A.1

Create new BDC Model project in visual Studio 2010

Besch Lingbles       INET Framework 4 Sort byg Default       Image: Complete Solution Project       Image: Complete	New Project								? ×
Instale Tenplates       Empty SharePoint Project.       Visual Ce         If Visual Basic       Visual Web Part       Visual Ce         Windows       Visual Web Part       Visual Ce         If Ortice       Sequential Workflow       Visual Ce         Cloud       Sequential Workflow       Visual Ce         SharePoint       State Machine Workflow       Visual Ce         SharePoint       Business Data Connectivity Model       Visual Ce         SharePoint       Business Data Connectivity Model       Visual Ce         Visual Fe       Business Data Connectivity Model       Visual Ce         WCF       Business Data Connectivity Model       Visual Ce         Wortflow       Business Data Connectivity Model       Visual Ce         Wortflow       Business Data Connectivity Model       Visual Ce         Business Data Connectivity Model       Visual Ce       Module         Wortflow       Business Data Connectivity Model       Visual Ce         Business Data Connectivity Model       Visual Ce       Import Reusable Workflow         Business Data Connectivity Model       Visual Ce       Import Reusable Workflow       Visual Ce         Insport Reusable Workflow       Visual Ce       Import Reusable Workflow       Visual Ce         Insport Reusable	Recent Templates		.NET Fra	mework 4	Sort by: Det	ault	• •	Search Installe	d Templates 🔎
2019       2019         2019       2007         Silverlight       Event Receiver         Text       Event Receiver         Visual C#         Workflow       Event Receiver         Bisterlight       List Definition         Visual F#       Event Receiver         Dotter Project Types       Event Receiver         Dotter Project Types       Module         Distabase       Event Receiver         Distabase       Event Receiver         Inport Reusable Workflow       Visual C#         Import Reusable Workflow       Visual C#         Import Reusable Workflow       Visual C#         Ext Project       Import Reusable Workflow       Visual C#         Import Reusable Workflow       Visual C#       Event Receiver         Solution name:       CRMBibleBDCModel       Event Receiver       Event Receiver         Solution name:       CRMBibleBDCModel       Event Receiver       Event Receiver	Récent (amp18ts) Installed Temp1ates ♥ Visual Sasic ♥ Visual C# Web ♥ Office Cloud Reporting			Empty Sharef Visual Web F Sequential W State Machin	Point Project Part Vorkflow	Visual C# Visual C# Visual C# Visual C#	Type: Visu: A project fo Data Conne	al C# r creating a Share ctivity Model	Point Business
WCF Workfrow Workfrow       Ist Definition       Visual C#         Winual F#       Ist Definition       Visual C#         B Other Project Types       Ist Original       Visual C#         B Other Project Types       Ist Definition       Visual C#         D Database       Ist Definition       Visual C#         I Text Project S       Ist Definition       Visual C#         I Text Project S       Import Reusable Workflow       Visual C#         Import Reusable Workflow       Visual C#       Import SharePoint Solution Package Visual C#         Name:       CRMBibleBDCModel       Import SharePoint Solution Package Visual C#       Browse         Solution name:       CRMBibleBDCModel       Import Causers/CBadmin/document/sivual studio 2010/projects       Browse	⊟ SharePoint 2010 2007 Silverlight Test			Business Dat Event Receive	a Connectivity Mod er	el Visual C# Visual C#			
Online TempIstes       Site Definition       Visual C#         Import Reuzable Workflow       Visual C#         Import Reuzable Workflow       Visual C#         Import SharePoint Solution Package Visual C#       Import Reuzable Workflow         Location:       CRMBibleBDCModel         Solution name:       CRMBibleBDCModel         CRMBibleBDCModel       Import Reuzable Workflow         Solution name:       CRMBibleBDCModel	WCF Workflow Visual F# Other Project Types Database Test Projects			List Definition Content Type Module	n :	Visual C# Visual C# Visual C#			
Name:         CRMBibleBDCModel           Location:         cluser3(Gsadmin/document3/visual studio 2010/projects         Browse           Solution name:         CRMBibleBDCModel         If Create directory for solution           Add to source control         Add to source control         Create directory for solution	Online Templates			Site Definitio Import Reusa Import Share	n ible Workflow Point Solution Pack	Visual C# Visual C# age Visual C#	_		
Location: C\User\CBadmin\documentS\visual studio 2010\projects I Browse Solution name: CRMBibleBDCModel V Create directory for solution Add to source control	Name:	CRMBibleBDCMc	del						
Solution name: CRMBibleBDCModel  CRMBibleBDCModel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibleBDCMOdel CRMBibl	Location:	c:\users\C\$admin	i\documen	ts\visual studi	o 2010\projects	•	Browse		
	Solution name:	CRMBibleBDCMc	odel				Create direct	ory for solution	
							,		Canaal

After the project has been created, the BDC Model will be shown and you can begin defining the Identifiers, Operations, Filters, and Parameters that you would like for this external content type to have. By default, a single identifier and two methods are created to get you started.

Identifiers are the fields that uniquely define an instance of the external content type. Without such an identifier, the BDC service cannot identify an entity instance.

By default, the ReadList and ReadItem methods are created. In this case, the external content type needs to be able to Create, Read, Update. and Delete from Dynamics CRM. Begin by using the BDC Explorer UI to define each of the methods listed above, as seen in Figure A.2 below.

#### FIGURE A.2

Viewing the BDC Model using the BDC Explorer UI



Note that because this method leverages the Dynamics CRM Web services for connectivity into Dynamics CRM, you need to add a Web reference to these Web services. After this is complete, you will be able to write code against Dynamics CRM-specific methods.

After the Web service reference has been added, it is necessary to define the In, Out, and Return parameters for each CRUD method (Create, Read, Update, Delete). With the Web service added under Web References, you can retrieve these parameters and names from the Web service using the Object Browser.

With the parameters defined, you are now ready to write the code for each individual CRUD method. Below is the Create method that was created for allowing creation of a new Dynamics CRM Account record.

```
public static CRMAccount Create(CRMAccount newCRMAccount)
{
CrmService crmWebService = GetCRMWebService();
    account crmAccount = new account();
    crmAccount.name = newCRMAccount.Name;
    crmAccount.address1_city = newCRMAccount.City;
    Guid id = crmWebService.Create(crmAccount);
    newCRMAccount.AccountID = id.ToString();
    return newCRMAccount;
}
```

With the code written for each CRUD method, you are now ready to deploy the external content type to SharePoint. However, before doing so, ensure that you have completed the following task in Visual Studio:

• Set the Site URL for the BDC Model project properties to the SharePoint site to which you want to deploy the external content type (see Figure A.3).

To deploy the external content type to SharePoint, right-click on the project name and select Deploy as shown in Figure A.4 (you can also select Deploy from the Build menu in Visual Studio).

#### FIGURE A.3

Setting the Site URL property for the external content type

```
Properties
                                                           - II >
CRMBibleBDCModel Project Properties
8 <u>2</u>
SharePoint
  Active Deployment Configuration Default
  Assembly Deployment Target
                                 GlobalAssemblyCache
  Include Assembly In Package
                                 True
  Sandboxed Solution
                                 False
  Site URL
                http://intranet/
  Startup Item
                                 (none)
Site URL
Specifies the URL of the target site for this project.
```

#### FIGURE A.4

Deploying the solution to SharePoint from Visual Studio 2010

Solution Explorer		•	μ×
💼 📄 🖬 🔬			
CRMBibleBDCMo	del		
Build			
Rebuild			
Deploy			
Clean	s		
Run Code Analysis	del		
Package			
Retract	Model.bdcm BDCModel.bdcm.diagram		

When the deployment is complete, you can then navigate to Central Administration on your SharePoint server and view the external content type that you just deployed. To get to the external content types in SharePoint 2010 Central Administration, open Central Administration and navigate to Application Management, select Manage service applications, then select Business Data Connectivity Services, and you will see your external content types as seen in Figure A.5.

#### FIGURE A.5

External content types shown in Central Administration after deployment

Service Application Information				
Name:	Business Data Co	nnectivity Service		
Search	٩			
🗌 Name†	Display Name	Namespace	Versio	
C Account	CRMBible.Integration.Samples.Accourt	t CRMBible.Integration.Samples	1.0.0.4	

With the external content type deployed, you can now create custom actions via Central Administration, as well as manage permissions for which users can execute and modify data via the external content type.

Once created, you can also work with this external content type in SharePoint Designer. SharePoint Designer allows advanced users and developers alike to rapidly create no-code SharePoint solutions that cover a variety of business needs. If you open SharePoint Designer and navigate to the site to which you just deployed the external content type, you will see the new external content type listed as seen in Figure A.6 below.

#### FIGURE A.6

External content type shown in SharePoint Designer

External Content Types				×
🔄 👻 👻 🚰 Gears Project Home 🕨	External Content Types 🕨			۵ 🕲
Name -	External System 🔻	Type	•	Namespace A
CRMBible.Integration.Samples				
Account	CRMBibleBDCModel	.NET Ass	э	CRMBible.Integration.Samples

By double-clicking the Account external content type, you will be able to see the configuration options available within SharePoint Designer. From this screen you can create an external list by clicking the Create Lists and Form menu item on the top Ribbon. Alternatively, now that the external content type is created and configured, you can also create a new external content type directly from SharePoint as you would any other list (Figure A.7).

#### FIGURE A.7

Creating an external list via the SharePoint UI



Finally, with our external content type and external list created, we can now leverage all that SharePoint has to offer to its native lists and libraries. SharePoint now recognizes this external list as a SharePoint list. To be more specific, this means you can now:

- Create custom views and rollups for this list
- Add, edit, and delete list items (external data) directly from this list
- Work with this list data (CRM data) offline in SharePoint Workspace
- Search this list
- Consume RSS feeds from this list
- Subscribe to alerts from this list
- Tag and write notes for these CRM list items (they now become part of your social taxonomy)
- Use native SharePoint Web parts for this list

### Showing CRM data in the Social Activity Feed

One of the most highly anticipated features of SharePoint 2010 is the Social Activity Feed. Social activity feeds can be considered part of SharePoint's new suite of Social features.

A few of these features include:

- My Sites
- Profiles
- Tagging
- Note Board
- Bookmarking
- Ratings

For more information about the social activity feed, visit the following Web sites:

- http://httpcode.com/blogs/PermaLink,guid,b3af80e2-4e6f-41d6-ae93-61950a332a39.aspx
- http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/ff426884.aspx

The goal for this integration example is to get you and your team thinking about the many ways you can surface Dynamics CRM data in other applications. One myth that we hear is that social activity feeds are only good for use within SharePoint. And while this *is* true, part of the power in social activity feeds lies in the fact that all feeds are exposed via universal standard formats, ATOM 1.0 or RSS 2.0. This opens the door for any social activity feed to be consumed by a number of different applications such as Microsoft Outlook, iGoogle, Windows desktop gadgets, Web browsers, and any other RSS or ATOM feed reader.

What we hope to demonstrate over the next few pages is how to leverage SharePoint as a *platform* for pulling together activities that take place across your organization. What better place to start than with Dynamics CRM, which is at the center of many organizations.

As with the previous integration scenario, this example also involves writing a bit of code to complete the integration. However, what we demonstrate can be applied to nearly all systems across any organization, and will be highly repeatable and very powerful. Again, the sample code is posted to the book's Web site at www.dynamicscrmbible.com.

To begin, it is important that you understand the core concepts and components that are behind the Social Activity Feed in SharePoint 2010.

#### **Activity Manager**

The Activity Manager contains a collection of Activity Application and Activity Type objects. Every implementation of an Activity Feed must begin with an Activity Manager.

#### **Activity Application**

The first element that every social activity feed needs is an Activity Application. This simply defines a grouping of Activity Types, which we will discuss in more detail next. An Activity Application can be anything you would like, but it makes sense to think about this logically. For a small organization, you may only have one Activity Application, for example your company name, and all Activity Types could belong to this organization Activity Application. For larger organization with many integration points, you may wish to define an Activity Application per line-of-business system, for example CRM, ERP, and so on.

#### Activity Type

An Activity Type is the first element you will define and see in the SharePoint user interface. This is the activity to which you will subscribe or opt-into via the Newsfeed settings of your SharePoint user profile. As you might imagine, there can be many Activity Types per Activity Application. An Activity Type has various properties which allow you to specify whether or not it can be published, consolidated, and so on. An example of an Activity Type would be New Campaign Response with an Activity Application of Dynamics CRM.

#### **Activity Template**

The Activity Template defines the formatting of the Activity Type. Typically names and templates are stored in a resource file (.resx) under the Resources folder for SharePoint 2010. An example of an Activity Template would be:

{Publisher} has created a new opportunity in CRM: {Link}

By default there are a few template variables available for use. These are:

- {Link}
- {Value}
- {Publisher}
- {Size}

#### **Activity Event**

The Activity Event is the core component of the Social Activity Feed. This is the actual event which is published to the newsfeed. Each Activity Type can create any number of Activity Events. The Activity Event also allows you to set specific properties such as the privacy level of the event (public/private) as well as the publisher, owner, and so on. It is here where you also set the variables mentioned above which are ultimately injected into the predefined Activity Template.

#### **Activity Feed Gatherer**

The final component is the Activity Feed Gatherer. While admittedly not the most intuitive object, the Activity Feed Gatherer contains the functions to write events to newsfeeds. This includes publishing to a colleague's newsfeed, batch updating events, and so on.

#### Step 1: Setting-up an Activity

Please see the sample code on the book's website for the complete example.

As I mentioned, the first step is to define and set up our Activity Application and Activity Type. Since this is typically a one-time setup, to keep the example below simple, the instructions show how to create a console application to set up an Activity. In practice, you would do this via a Feature and Feature Receiver, then package and deploy via a SharePoint Solution (WSP).

In Visual Studio 2010, begin by creating a new console application project. Once created, you will need to add references to the following SharePoint 2010 assemblies which will allow the application to interact with the activity feed object model:

- System.Web.dll
- Microsoft.SharePoint.dll
- Microsoft.Office.Server.dll
- Microsoft.Office.Server.UserProfiles.dll

In addition, you will need to add the following/ Using directives to the top of your code:

```
using Microsoft.SharePoint;
using Microsoft.Office.Server.ActivityFeed;
using Microsoft.Office.Server.UserProfiles;
```

At this point, you are ready to begin coding for the activity setup. The sample used in this integration example is an Activity Type that represents a new Dynamics CRM opportunity. This Activity Type enables users to follow any new opportunities that are added in the Dynamics CRM system.

The code below accesses the context of the SharePoint site, creates a User Profile Manager, then creates the Activity Manager object and finally creates a pointer to the resource file.

```
string mySites = "http://mySites";
using (SPSite aSite = new SPSite(mySites))
{
SPServiceContext context = SPServiceContext.GetContext(aSite);
m_UPM = new UserProfileManager(context);
m_Admin = Environment.UserDomainName + "\\" + Environment.UserName;
UserProfile p = m_UPM.GetUserProfile(m_Admin);
m_ActivityManager = new ActivityManager(p, context);
m_ResourceFile = "CRMBibleActivitySample";
bool hasrights = m_ActivityManager.PrepareToAllowSchemaChanges();
//Activity Application
ActivityApplication app = m_ActivityManager.ActivityApplications["
CRM2011"];
```

```
if (app == null)
{
app = m_ActivityManager.ActivityApplications.Create("CRM2011");
          app.Commit();
          }
//Activity Type
ActivityType activityType = app.ActivityTypes["NewCRMOpportunity"];
if (activityType == null)
         {
activityType = app.ActivityTypes.Create("NewCRMOpportunity");
activityType.ActivityTypeNameLocStringResourceFile = m_ResourceFile;
activityType.ActivityTypeNameLocStringName = "ActivityFeed NewCRMOpp
   Type_Display";
         activityType.IsPublished = true;
         activityType.IsConsolidated = true;
         activityType.Commit();
         }
//Activity Template
ActivityTemplate TemplateSV = createType.ActivityTemplates[ActivityTe
   mplatesCollection.CreateKey(false)];
if (TemplateSV == null)
         £
         TemplateSV = createType.ActivityTemplates.Create(false);
         TemplateSV.TitleFormatLocStringResourceFile = m_
   ResourceFile;
         TemplateSV.TitleFormatLocStringName = "ActivityFeed_
   NewCRMOpp_Template";
         TemplateSV.Commit();
         }
}
```

After this code has been successfully executed, a new activity is available in your newsfeed settings labeled "New CRM Opportunity" as shown in Figure A.8.

#### FIGURE A.8

New Activity Type listed in the user profile newsfeed settings

```
Activities I am following: Vew CRM Opportunity
Status Message
Rating
Note Board post
```

#### Step 2: Gathering Activity Events

The next step after configuring and setting up the activity is to monitor and gather events which meet the criteria of the activity. This example is concerned with new Dynamics CRM opportunities, so the application needs to notify the activity type of any new activity events, in this case new Dynamics CRM opportunities.

While the methods to set up and create the activity type are limited to only a few, the approaches to gather and compile the events are typically numerous, and often depend on the system with which you are integrating.

In this example, SharePoint is integrating with Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, so there are a few options for initiating the gathering process:

- Dynamics CRM event triggered on save of a new opportunity
- Dynamics CRM workflow initiated with the creation of a new opportunity
- Dynamics CRM plug-in
- SharePoint timer job
- Windows service
- A Console or WinForms application scheduled with Windows Task Scheduler

There are likely many more that you can think of, but the idea is that there is more than one way to gather the events, and careful consideration should be taken when selecting an option for gathering activity events. Just a few items you should consider are:

- Performance. How many events might there possibly be in the future? Will the gatherer cause any performance issues for other systems (database locks, file locks, and so on)?
- Reliability: What are the chances that the gatherer becomes unavailable? Do you need high-availability for this activity?
- Maintainability: Is the gatherer code easily maintained with the rest of the system? If there are multiple activity types, should the gatherers for all activities use the same code and gathering method?
- Knowledge: What skillset do you have at your disposal for writing the gatherer? Would one method be easier to implement within your organization?

Once a decision has been made on the method for gathering activity events, the next step is to begin coding the gatherer. The structure for a gatherer is fairly logical and straightforward and from a high level, consists of the following sections:

- Identify the last update date and time for this Activity Type
- Gather all events that have occurred since the last update time
- Create an Activity Event for each event that has occurred
- Publish or broadcast the events to users' newsfeeds
- Write the events to the SharePoint 2010 social database
- Update the last update time for the Activity Type

The code below could be placed in any .NET project and assumes we have successfully queried Dynamics CRM for all new opportunities that have been created since the last update time.

```
//Get the owner and publisher profile.
Entity ownerMP = new MinimalPerson(ownerProfile).
CreateEntity(activityManager);
Entity publisherMP = new MinimalPerson(publisherProfile).
CreateEntity(activityManager);
//Create the activity event and set its properties
ActivityManager am = new ActivityManager();
foreach (Opportunity crmopp in Opportunities)
{
      ActivityEvent activityEvent = ActivityEvent.
CreateActivityEvent(am, activityType.ActivityTypeId, ownerMP,
publisherMP);
      activityEvent.Name = activityType.ActivityTypeName;
      activityEvent.ItemPrivacy = (int)Privacy.Public;
      activityEvent.Owner = ownerMP;
      activityEvent.Publisher = publisherMP;
      //Create the link for the activity.
      Link link = new Link();
      link.Href = CRMOpportunityURL;
      link.Name = CRMOpportunityName;
      activityEvent.Link = link;
      //Save
      activityEvent.Commit();
}
```

```
.
```

Finally, after you have gathered and created the activity events, you need to publish the events to the newsfeed and write the events to the social database in a batch fashion.

```
//Get the colleagues of each publisher so we can publish to their
newsfeed
ActivityFeedGatherer.GetUsersColleaguesAndRights(m_
ActivityManager, publishers, out owners, out colleaguesOfOwners);
//Multicast the events to our colleagues
ActivityFeedGatherer.MulticastActivityEvents(m_ActivityManager,
m_ActivityEvents, colleaguesOfOwners, out eventsPerOwner);
//Create a list of events that need to be written to the
database.
ActivityFeedGatherer.CollectActivityEventsToConsolidate(eventsPer
Owner, out eventsToWrite);
//Batch write events to the database
ActivityFeedGatherer.BatchWriteActivityEvents(eventsToWrite,
startIndex, m_ActivityManager.MaxEventsPerBatch);
```

#### Note

To protect user privacy, you must have administrative permissions for the User Profile Service Application to create activity events and insert them into users' newsfeeds.

Once the gatherer is in place, upon entering a new opportunity, the newsfeed will be updated as shown below in Figure A.9.

#### FIGURE A.9

New activity event shown in Recent Activities on SharePoint 2010

12:23 AM	Working on t	he CRM Bible!			
		eoff Able	s		
(704) 237-0250 Charlotte					
	Geo	off.Ables@C5Ir	isight.com		
Overview	Organization	Content	Tags and Notes	Colleagues	
Recent Activities					
Geoff Ables has created a new opportunity in CRM: New Manufacturing Plant. 9/26/2010					

I hope that these two integration examples give you a good understanding of what is possible. There is no one-size-fits-all approach and every integration idea should fit squarely in your overall business vision and road map for Dynamics CRM and SharePoint.

### Summary

This Appendix aimed to quickly cover the full spectrum of integration between Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 and SharePoint 2010. Although I could not cover every detail in a single Appendix, I certainly hope that I have opened the door for you to begin thinking about how to integrate these two great products within your organization. I believe the true power in both of these platforms is yet to be realized. Organizations with a vision and strategy for increasing value will find that both of these solutions deliver on so many levels, and when combined, allow ordinary products to become extraordinary.

## APPENDIX

B

## Accessing and Using Online Resources

Table B-1 presents these online resources, along with the chapters in which they were referenced, and a brief description.

For more convenient access to these links, visit the companion Web site for the book at www.dynamicscrmbible.com.

#### TABLE B.1

#### **Links to Online Resources**

Chapters	URL	Description
2, 19	www.cwrmobility.com	CWR Mobility: independent software vendor that provides mobile clients for Dynamics CRM for the iPhone, Windows Phones, and BlackBerry
2	www.tendigits.com	Ten Digits: independent software vendor that provides mobile clients for Dynamics CRM for the iPhone, Windows Phones, and BlackBerry
3	www.microsoft.com/downloads/details. aspx?FamilyID=3bf7ecda-7eaf-4f1c-bbfe- cae19bc8bb78&displaylang=en	Suggested hardware for deployments of up to 500 users (Version 4.0)
3	<pre>www.microsoft.com/dynamics/crm/using/ deploy/clusteringssrs.mspx</pre>	SQL cluster configuration for Dynamics CRM
3	http://go.microsoft.com/ fwlink/?LinkID=200050	Dynamics CRM Implementation Guide (Beta)
3, 20, 21, 24	http://go.microsoft.com/ fwlink/?LinkID=200082	Dynamics CRM Software Development Kit (SDK) (Beta)
4	http://technet.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/ff356872(WS.10).aspx	Network load balancing with Forefront Identity Manager
4	http://technet.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/cc732230(WS.10).aspx	Configuring server certificates in IIS 7
4	www.microsoft.com/downloads/details. aspx?FamilyID=118c3588-9070-426a-b655- 6cec0a92c10b&displaylang=en	AD FS 2.0 download
4	http://technet.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/cc772128(WS.10).aspx	Configuring AD FS 2.0 for claims-based authentication
4	http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/cc287610.aspx	Information about Microsoft's federation gateway
4	www.microsoft.com/downloads/details. aspx?FamilyID=e17e7f31-079a-43a9-bff2- 0a110307611e&DisplayLang=en	Download the MAPI client data objects (a prerequisite for the Rule Deployment Wizard)
5	http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/0h88fahh(VS.85).aspx	Locale IDs (LCIDs) to determine the language code associated with multilanguage packs
5, 9	www.microsoft.com/en-us/dynamics/custo- mersource.aspx	CustomerSource: Microsoft Dynamics' portal for customers
9, 21	http://social.microsoft.com/Forums/ en-US/category/dynamics	Microsoft forums location for Dynamics CRM

Chapters	URL	Description
9, 22	http://blogs.msdn.com/b/crm/	Microsoft Dynamics CRM Team Blog
9	www.codeplex.com/crmperftoolkit	Microsoft Dynamics CRM Performance and Scalability Toolkit
9	www.microsoft.com/downloads/details. aspx?FamilyID=ba826cee-eddf-4d6e-842d- 27fd654ed893&DisplayLang=en	Microsoft Dynamics CRM Tuning and Optimization whitepaper
9	http://technet.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/bb496810.aspx	TechNet library for Dynamics CRM
9	http://mscrmtools.blogspot.com/	Troubleshooting and configuration tools from Dynamics CRM MVP Tanguy Touzard
9	http://support.microsoft.com	Microsoft's support Web site
9	http://support.microsoft.com/kb/907490	Knowledgebase article with instructions for enabling tracing in Dynamics CRM
9	www.microsoft.com/downloads/details. aspx?FamilyID=823fa114-5fb1-4fc2-9ea3- 8282ff38964d&displaylang=en	How to use BitLocker drive encryption to secure Dynamics CRM for Outlook
9	http://technet.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/cc771692(WS.10).aspx	Instructions for using Windows Reliability and Performance Monitor
9	www.microsoft.com/downloads/details. aspx?FamilyID=ba826cee-eddf-4d6e-842d- 27fd654ed893&displaylang=en	Whitepaper about optimizing and maintaining Dynamics CRM (Version 4.0)
9	http://rc.crm.dynamics.com/rc/regcont/ en_us/default.aspx	The Dynamics CRM Resource Center
9	<pre>http://blogs.msdn.com/cfs-file.ashx/ key/CommunityServer-Components- PostAttachments/00-09-97-27-69/ CrmDiagTool4.zip</pre>	Dynamics CRM DiagTool download
9	www.fiddler2.com/fiddler2/	Fiddler Web debugger
9	http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/ms156500.aspx	How to enable trace logging for SQL Server Reporting Services
9	<pre>www.stunnware.com/crm2/topic. aspx?id=tracelogviewer</pre>	Stunnware Trace Log Viewer
10, 21	http://blogs.c5insight.com	C5 Insight blogs on Dynamics CRM and SharePoint

continued

TABLE E	(continued)	
Chapters	URL	Description
13, 22	www.codeplex.com	CodePlex: Microsoft's site for open source and community software development
17	http://crm4activities.codeplex.com/	A workflow extension for data manipulation and calculation
20, 21	www.microsoft.com/express/Web/	Visual Web Developer Express download
20	http://notepad-plus-plus.org/download	NotePad++ download
20	www.microsoft.com/downloads/en/details. aspx?familyid=72d6aa49-787d-4118-ba5f- 4f30fe913628&displaylang=en	XML Notepad download
21	<pre>http://crm2011scriptconvert.codeplex. com/</pre>	Dynamics CRM 4.0 to 2011 JavaScript Converter
21	http://jquery.com/	jQuery download and documentation
21	http://w3schools.com/	Online learning resources for HTML, JavaScript, XML, and more
22	http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ dynamics/crm/default.aspx	Microsoft Dynamics CRM Developer Center on MSDN
22	http://social.microsoft.com/Forums/ en-US/crmdevelopment/threads	Microsoft Dynamics CRM Developer forum
22	http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/ee958158.aspx	What is WCF?
22	www.odata.org	Open Data protocol
22	www.microsoft.com/windowsazure/	Microsoft Windows Azure
22	www.microsoft.com/windowsazure/offers/ default.aspx	Microsoft Windows Azure pricing information
25	http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/ms173767.aspx	Business Intelligence Development Studio information
25	http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/bb930489.aspx	FetchXML schema reference
25	<pre>http://blogs.msdn.com/b/dynamics crmonline/archive/2009/06/17/fetch-it- part-2.aspx</pre>	FetchXML query examples
25	www.microsoft.com/downloads/details. aspx?FamilyID=d3173a87-7c0d-40cc-a408- 3d1a43ae4e33&displaylang=en	SQL Server 2008 R2 Report Builder 3.0 download
Chapters	URL	Description
------------	---	---
25	http://technet.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/ee706623.aspx	TechNet Report Builder 3.0 reference
25	http://prologika.com/CS/blogs/blog/ archive/2009/11/23/report-parts.aspx	Instruction for publishing and reusing report parts
25	http://blogs.msdn.com/b/crm/ archive/2008/11/10/reports-for-crm-4-0- using-sql-server-2008-and-report- builder-2-0.aspx	Tutorial on using report builder
25	http://edgewatertech.wordpress. com/2010/06/28/step-by-step-creating- microsoft-dynamics-crm-4-reports-using- silverlight-ria-services-and-visifire/	Silverlight chart report example for Dynamics CRM 4.0
26	<pre>http://blogs.msdn.com/b/crm/ archive/2008/05/07/integrating-crm- using-sql-integration-services-ssis. aspx</pre>	Using SSIS to perform integrations with Dynamics CRM
26	http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/aa480046.aspx	Evaluating integration solutions
26	www.microsoft.com/downloads/en/details. aspx?displaylang=en&FamilyID=584531fe- 796e-4ffe-8881-65c1f94207ae	Sharing Data Between Dynamics CRM Organizations (whitepaper)
26	http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/ Enterprise_application_integration	Overview of Enterprise Application Integration (EAI)
26	www.microsoft.com/biztalk/en/us/ default.aspx	Microsoft BizTalk Server
26	http://crmaccelerators.codeplex.com	Dynamics CRM Accelerators from Microsoft
27	www.xrmshowcase.com/ solutions?view=latest	XRM Showcase
Appendix A	http://sharepoint.microsoft.com	SharePoint 2010
Appendix A	http://office.microsoft.com/en-us/ sharepoint-help/	SharePoint 2010 help and documentation
Appendix A	http://technet.microsoft.com/en-us/ sharepoint/ee263917.aspx#tab=1	SharePoint 2010 Resource Center
Appendix A	http://technet.microsoft.com/en-us/ evalcenter/ee388573.aspx	Download SharePoint 2010
Appendix A	<pre>http://sharepoint.microsoft.com/en-us/ product/related-technologies/pages/ sharepoint-designer.aspx</pre>	SharePoint 2010 Designer

continued

#### **Part IX: Appendixes**

TABLE B.1	(continued)	
Chapters	URL	Description
Appendix A	http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/ee557253.aspx	SharePoint 2010 SDK
Appendix A	http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/ee556826.aspx	SharePoint 2010 Business Connectivity Services documentation
Appendix A	http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/ee557271.aspx	SharePoint 2010 user profiles and social data

#### **Numerics**

1:N (one-to-many) relationship, 426 64-bit operating system, 36, 81

#### A

Account Distribution report, 608 Account Overview report, 608 Account Summary report, 608 accounts, defined, 7 actions behavior, 428-429 dialog, 475-477 workflow, 465-466 activities alerts, 268 campaign, 320-321 completing, 268 creating, 265-266 defined. 7-8 general discussion, 261-263 planning, 320 types of, 263-265 viewing, 266-267 Activities list sub-area. 266-267 Activities report, 608 Activity Application, 744 Activity Event, 744 Activity Feed Gatherer gathering activity events, 746-749 overview, 744 setting-up activity, 745-746 Activity Manager, 743 Activity Monitor, SQL Server, 218-219 Activity Template, 744 Activity Type, 744 administration, Dynamics CRM, 15 administrative reports, 607-608 Advanced Find tool. 602-606

advanced integration, SharePoint 2010 accessing Dynamics CRM with Business Connectivity Services, 737-742 areas of. 736-737 showing CRM data in Social Activity Feed, 743-749 alerts, activity, 268 AppFabric services, 589-590 application process, XRM solution, 708-713 articles. See knowledge base articles asynchronous execution mode, plug-ins, 574 auditing, defined, 45 Auditing field, field customization form, 422 Auditing tab, System Settings dialog, 130 authenticating users, 154-156 automating leads, 303-304 queues, 486-487 synchronization, 296 Auto-Numbering dialog, 134 Azure AppFabric services, 589-590 Azure-enabled solution, 590-593 defined. 39 signing up for, 588-589

#### B

Back End Server, 68 backing up additional server components, 211–212 database maintenance plan, 205–209 Dynamics CRM application, 209–211 backup administrator, 124–125 balanced organization, 141 baseline report, 213–215 batch integration, 675–677 BCS. *See* Business Connectivity Services behavior, relationship behavior actions, 428–429 cascading behavior rules, 429–430 types of, 430

BI capabilities. See business intelligence (BI) capabilities BIDS (Business Intelligence Development Studio), 645-647 BPA (business process automation), 454-455 BU (Business Units), 142, 162-163 built-in reports. See reports Bulk Deletion Wizard, 201-202 business agility, XRM, 19-20 business applications, developing, 23-26 business closures, Dynamics CRM, 343 Business Connectivity Services (BCS) external content types creating from CRM entity, 738-742 defined. 737 showing external data, 738 business intelligence (BI) capabilities Advanced Find tool, 602-606 reports administrative reports, 607-608 marketing reports, 608-609 sales reports, 609-611 service reports, 611-612 Business Intelligence Development Studio (BIDS), 645-647 Business Management page, 134 business process automation (BPA), 454-455 Business Units (BU), 142, 162-163

#### C

calculate field example, JScript, 536-537 Calendar tab, System Settings dialog, 129 Campaign Activity Status report, 608 Campaign Comparison report, 609 Campaign Performance report, 609 campaigns adding products and sales literature to, 324-325 campaign activities, 320-321 campaign responses converting, 323-324 creating, 322-323 overview, 321-322 creating first campaign, 319 defined, 10-11 overview, 318-320 planning activities, 320 quick, 325-326 templates, 320

carriage returns, source files, 193 cascading behavior rules, 429-430 Case Summary Table report, 611-612 cases closing, 333-334 contracts contract lines, 340 contract process, 340-341 defined, 339-340 templates, 338-339 converting Outlook record to, 294-295 creating. 332-333 defined, 10 knowledge base articles creating and approving, 337 templates, 336-337 using, 337-338 overview, 331 subject hierarchy, 334-335 tracking time, 333 categories, Outlook, 287 CBA (claims-based authentication). See claims-based authentication charts basic interactions, 626 creating, 627-631 customizing, 448 defined. 41 drilling down, 626-627 importing and exporting, 631-632 interacting with, 625 modifying with software development kit, 632-633 using on forms, 631 viewing, 624-625 XML, 556-557 claims-based authentication (CBA) configuring, 80, 184 overview, 98 client identifying potential problem areas, 227 implementing recommended changes to improve performance, 227-228 client-side customization. See also [Script calling CRM functions with URLs copying or sending URL link, 547-548 creating links in JScript or processes, 548-549 launching dialog processes, 548

coding events, 524-526 Web pages, 541-547 Web resources, 524 defined, 502-503 modifying XML files customizing getting started pane, 552-554 modifying Ribbon menu, 554-556 modifying site map, 549–552 updating chart XML, 556-557 updating process XAML, 557-558 Closed Activity list, 267 closed organization, 141 closing cases, 333-334 cloud computing Azure-enabled solution, 590-593 extended relationship management, 22-23 overview, 586-588 setting up AppFabric services, 589-590 signing up for Azure services, 588-589 code. See also [Script custom, 479, 566-567 deploying for offline use, 567-568 model driven development, 374-375 coding client-side customizations events. 524-526 Web pages, 541-547 Web resources, 524 programming without, 454 column headings, source files, 192 command line install versus installation media install. 73-74 installing and configuring Outlook Client from, 117-118 company culture, 50-51 Competitor Win Loss report, 609 competitors, adding to opportunities, 307-308 complex customer relationships, 4-5 conditions dialogs, 472-473 workflow, 462-464 configurations, server roles multiple server deployment Dynamics CRM to SQL cluster, 72 setting up Web farm with network load balancing (NLB), 70-72 single-server deployment, 69 small business server, 70

configuring claims-based authentication. 184 connection role, 491-492 CRM Online development environment, 520 development environments, 513-520 dynamic sorting, professional reports, 652 Dynamics CRM for external access claims-based authentication, 98 Internet-Facing Deployment, 98-101 overview, 97-98 E-Mail Router for use with forwarding mailbox, 109-110 enterprise class development environment, 517-519 entry level development environment, 514-515 Internet-Facing Deployment, 138, 184-185 mid-tier development environment, 516-517 Outlook Client, 116-117 profiles for use with POP3 e-mail accounts, 105-107 security roles, 143-145 connecting to other systems adding functionality with integrated ISV solutions CWR Mobility, 693-694 Data2CRM from CRM Innovation, 692-693 Experlogix, 694-696 custom SDK import solution, 682-684 integration batch. 675-677 benefits of. 670 best practices for, 680-682 challenges of, 670-671 data hub, 678-679 enterprise service bus, 679-680 integrating data, 672 integrating services, 672-673 Microsoft Integration tools, 684-686 near real-time, 677 overview, 669 point-to-point, 677-678 presentation-layer, 674-675 real-time, 677 Web portals, 690-691 Web Site form, 689-690 migration best practices for, 680-682 data, 673-674 Pervasive Data Integrator, 688–689 Scribe Insight, 687 connection role, 491-492

Connections functionality defined, 46 overview, 260-261 setting, 294 contacts, defined, 7 contracts contract lines, 340 contract process, 340-341 defined, 339-340 templates, 338-339 controls form, 437-439 report, 644-645 converting Outlook record, 294-295 auotes. 314 counters, monitoring, 215-217 created fields, entity, 417 CRM (customer relationship management) complex customer relationships, 4-5 customizing Dynamics CRM, 14-15 enterprise resource plan, 5-6 extended relationship management business agility, 19-20 cloud computing, 22-23 customer centricity, 19 developing business applications, 23-26 development foundation, 19 Microsoft ecosystem, 20 .NET development platform, 22 SharePoint, 20-21 SQL Server, 22 Visual Studio, 22 hosting choice, 16 leveraging Microsoft connection, 17 managing customers with, 3-6 planning successful project avoiding common mistakes, 32-33 develop plan, 28-31 implement, 31 manage change, 32 select team, 27-28 validate, 32 scaling to different organizations, 16 supporting Dynamics CRM administration, 15 Dynamics CRM server management, 15 system requirements, 52-54

terminology basic. 7-9 marketing, 10-12 service and call center, 9-10 user choice, 16 using with Microsoft Office, 12-14 additional Microsoft product integration, 13-14 Excel. 13 Outlook, 12-13 Word, 13 CRM Online development environment acquiring license, 152 configuring, 520 development options for, 508-509 currencies, 135-136 custom activities. 45 custom code, 479, 566-567 custom reporting designing professional reports configuring dynamic sorting, 652 creating user-selectable parameters, 652 enabling prefiltering, 651-652 filtered views, 651 formatting for print layout, 654 global values, 653 localizing, 653 overview. 651 refer to SDK. 654 developing first report, 654-659 development tools Business Intelligence Development Studio, 645-647 SQL Server 2008 R2 Report Builder 3.0, 648-650 filtering report, 644 how Dynamics CRM interacts with Report Server Web site, 640-641 report controls, 644-645 selecting records to report on, 643-644 serving reports file format, 642-643 overview. 641-642 sharing adding report categories, 661-662 making reports context-sensitive, 662-663 publishing report to Dynamics CRM, 659-660 custom SDK import solution, 682-684 custom sharing rules, 141 customer centricity, 19

customer relationship management (CRM). See CRM (customer relationship management) customers, defined, 7 customization area, CRM, 375-376, 402-404 Customization tab, System Settings dialog, 132-133 customizing accessing customizations area, 375-376 connection role, 490-492 entities accessing customization area, 402-404 additional default elements, 417-418 charts. 448 default fields, 413-417 fields, deleting, 441-444 fields, general discussion, 421-425 forms. 434-441 General Settings tab, 407–413 importing and exporting customization, 404-405 overview, 419-420 Primary field tab, 408, 413 process overview, 400-402 publishing customization, 404 relationships, 425-433 renaming entities, 449-451 updating icons, 418-419 views, 444-448 forms. 44 getting started pane, 552-554 Mobile Express, 488-490 model driven development design and code, 374-375 development environment, 375 documenting and designing, 374 option sets. 483-485 overview, 371 queues approving e-mail, 487 automating, 486-487 overview, 485-486 relationship role, 490-492 solutions adding components to, 384 creating, 382-383 default, 379-380 deleting, 392-393 dependencies, 389-390 exporting, 391–392 importing, 392

layering, 384-386 management, 377-378 marketplace, 393 overview, 376-377 publishers, 380-382 publishers, additional, 382 publishers, creating new, 381-382 publishers, defined, 378-379 publishers, editing default, 381 working with managed properties, 386-389 terminology, 372-373 using CRM Extensions extending dashboards, 495 extending forms, 492-494 extending processes, 495-496 CWR Mobility, 693-694

#### D

dashboards creating, 636-637 defined, 41 extending, 495 Iframes and Web resources, 637-638 interacting with, 635 managing, 636 overview. 633-634 SharePoint, publishing Excel pivot tables as, 368 viewing, 634-635 data. See also managing data exporting to Excel, 352-353 migration, 673-674 data hub, for integration, 678-679 data import templates, 191-192 data management tools, 41 Data2CRM from CRM Innovation, 692-693 database backing up, 205-209 identifying performance problems SQL Server Activity Monitor, 218-219 SQL Server Database Engine Tuning Advisor, 219-220 implementing basic SQL Server optimizations, 220-224 Database Engine Tuning Advisor (DETA), SQL Server, 219-220 database event, 526 decimal precision, source files, 192-193

default fields, entity created, 417 modified, 417 overview, 413-415 owner, 417 status field, 415-416 status reason field, 415-416 default filters, Report Wizard, 616 default organization, Deployment Manager, 180 default publisher, editing, 381 default queue, 159 default solution, 379-380 deleting completed workflow jobs, 477-478 Deployment Manager organizations, 180 form fields. 441-444 records from queues, 272 solutions, 392-393 dependencies, solution, 389-390 Deployment Administration Server, 68 Deployment Administrator, 169-170 Deployment Manager adding Deployment Administrators, 169-170 changing deployment properties, 168-169 configuring, 184–185 deployment product key, 166-168 organizations creating new, 172 deleting, 180 editing, 178-179 importing, 172-178 setting default, 180 server roles, 181-182 servers deleting, 183-184 disabling, 182-183 deployment options Dynamics CRM online, 48 on-premises, 48 overview, 47 partner-hosted, 48-49 suitability and choice of business requirements, 51 company culture and skillsets, 50-51 cost, 50 integration plans, 51–52 long-term strategy, 50 on-demand software, 52

deployment product key, 166-168 Description field, field customization form, 422 designating partner, 126-127 designing model driven development, 374 process automation, 455-457 professional reports configuring dynamic sorting, 652 creating user-selectable parameters, 652 enabling prefiltering, 651-652 filtered views, 651 formatting for print layout, 654 global values, 653 localizing, 653 overview, 651 refer to SDK. 654 DETA (Database Engine Tuning Advisor), SQL Server, 219-220 detecting duplicates Duplicate Detection Settings dialog, 196 Duplicate Detection wizard creating rules, 196-197 defined. 195 scheduling jobs, 197-199 handling duplicate records, 200-201 developer errors (DevErrors), 232-236 developing business applications, 23-26 plan, 29-31 development foundation, XRM, 19 development options avoiding unsupported customizations, 508 client-side customization, 502-503 for CRM Online usage, 508-509 environments CRM Online, 520 development tools, 512 enterprise class, 517-519 entry level, 514-515 governance, establishing, 511-512 mid-tier. 516-517 overview, 509-510 planning and configuring, 513-520 procedures, establishing, 511-512 processes, establishing, 511–512 envisioning possibilities, 499-501 general discussion, 497-499 model driven development, 375

server-side customization, 503 Software Development Kit, 507 terminology, 503-507 development tools Business Intelligence Development Studio, 645-647 SQL Server 2008 R2 Report Builder 3.0, 648-650 DevErrors (developer errors), 232-236 dialogs defined, 45 dialog actions, 475-477 input arguments and variables, 472 overview, 470 pages, 473-475 stages, 472-473 triggers, 471 disabling users, 160-162 Display name field, field customization form, 421 display names, source files, 192 document management for CRM entity, activating, 363-364 documenting model driven development, 374 processes, 477 documents, SharePoint storing, 363-365 working with from within Dynamics CRM, 366-367 domain policies. See network and domain policies double-hop, 90 downloading update rollup, 127 Duplicate Detection Settings dialog, 196 Duplicate Detection wizard creating rules, 196-197 defined, 195 scheduling jobs, 197-199 duplicates detecting, 195-201 merging, 275-276 dynamic marketing list, 327 dynamic values, workflow, 466-467 Dynamics CRM for Outlook choosing data for offline usage, 289-290 extensions e-mail features, 297-298 synchronizing, 295-296 tracking Outlook records, 291–295 going offline and online, 289 navigation pane, 284 troubleshooting, 290

views filtering, 284–285 formatting, 285–286 people pane, 288 reading pane, 288 setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders on Dynamics CRM records, 287 using tabs as, 284 versus Web version of Dynamics CRM, 281–282 Dynamics CRM online deployment option defined, 48 designating partner, 126–127 Internet Explorer, 56 Dynamics GP adapter, 686

#### E

editing default publishers, 381 Deployment Manager organizations, 178-179 view filter criteria basics. 446 grouping with and/or, 446-447 limitations of, 447-448 overview. 445 referencing other entities, 447 e-mail creating new leads and contacts, 298 sending Dynamics CRM templates, articles, and sales literature from Outlook, 297 templates, 272-274 threads, tracking, 292 E-Mail Router associating profiles with deployments, 107-108 configuring for use with forwarding mailbox, 109-110 configuring profiles for use with POP3 e-mail accounts, 105-107 general discussion, 102-105 Rule Deployment Wizard, 110-111 specifying users for deployed profiles, 109 E-mail tab, System Settings dialog, 130–131 enhanced data management tools, 41 enhanced pipeline framework, 36-37 enriching (updating) existing data, 193 enterprise class development environment, 517-519 enterprise resource plan (ERP), 5-6 enterprise service bus (ESB) integration, 679-680

entities adding connections to, 491 customizing accessing customization area, 402-404 additional default elements, 417-418 charts, 448 default fields, 413-417 fields, deleting, 441-444 fields, general discussion, 421-425 forms, 434-441 General tab, 407-413 importing and exporting customization, 404-405 overview, 419-420 Primary field tab, 408, 413 process overview, 400-402 publishing customization, 404 relationships, 425-433 renaming entities, 449-452 updating icons, 418–419 views, 444-448 defined, 396 relational databases, 397-400 types of, 397 entry level development environment, 514-515 environments, development CRM Online development environment, 520 development tools, 512 enterprise class, 517-519 entry level, 514-515 governance, establishing, 511-512 mid-tier, 516-517 overview, 509-510 planning and configuring, 513-520 procedures, establishing, 511-512 processes, establishing, 511-512 ERP (enterprise resource plan), 5-6 ESB (enterprise service bus) integration, 679-680 event logs, 231-232 event pipeline stages, plug-ins, 573-574 events database. 526 Iframe OnReadyStateComplete, 526 onChange, 526 onLoad, 525-526 onSave, 525-526 overview, 524-525 ribbon control, 526 TabStateChange, 526

#### Excel

creating useful reports with, 617-620 exporting data to, 352-353, 616-617 integrating CRM, 13 making pivot table available to other users, 620-621 overview, 351 publishing pivot tables as SharePoint dashboards, 368 updating existing records from, 354-357 Exchange Server, 109 Experlogix, 694-696 exporting charts, 631-632 customization, 404-405 data to Excel, 352-353, 616-617 solutions. 391-392 extended relationship management (XRM). See XRM (extended relationship management) extending workflow, 593-597 extensibility architecture on-boarding process, XRM, 728-730 overview, 563-566 extensions, CRM developing for different deployment scenarios deciding where to store custom server-side code, 566-567 deploying code for offline use, 567-568 non-isolated mode. 568-570 sandbox service. 568-570 extending dashboards, 495 extending forms, 492-494 extending processes, 495-496 process automation, 479 extensions, Outlook e-mail creating new leads and contacts, 298 sending Dynamics CRM templates, articles, and sales literature from Outlook, 297 synchronizing choosing records for automatic synchronization, 296 manual and automatic synchronization, 296 overview, 295-296 updating synchronized records, 296 tracking Outlook records converting Outlook record to Dynamics CRM opportunity, lead or case, 294-295 e-mail threads, 292 navigating to Dynamics CRM records from Outlook, 294

setting connections, 294 setting regarding, 291–292 untracking and re-regarding, 293–294 external access, configuring Dynamics CRM for claims-based authentication, 98 IFD, 98–101 overview, 97–98 external connector licensing, 153–154 external content types, BCS creating from CRM entity, 738–742 defined, 737 showing external data, 738

#### F

facilities/equipment, Dynamics CRM, 342 Field security field, field customization form, 422 field security profile, 145-146 field-level security, 44-45 fields entity Auditing, 422 Description, 422 Display name, 421 Field security, 422 Input Method Editor (IME) mode, 425 Name. 421-422 option sets (picklists), 424-425 Requirement level, 422 Searchable, 422 Type and format, 423–424 form adjusting with form designer, 436-437 deleting, 441-444 mapping between relationships, 433 opportunities, 306-307 source files, 192 updated. 45 file format, serving reports, 642-643 filter criteria, view, 445-448 filterable columns in views. 43 filtered views, reports, 651 filtering reports, 644 views in Dynamics CRM for Outlook, 284-285 fiscal year settings, 134 floats, source files, 192-193 follow-ups, Outlook, 287 forecasting sales, 309-310

form designer changing layout, 436 fields, 436-437 form controls. 437-439 moving around form, 436 previewing, 439 saving and publishing customizations, 440 Format field, field customization form, 423-424 format phone number example, JScript, 532-535 Formats tab, System Settings dialog, 130 formatting fields, source files, 192 reports for print layout, 654 views in Dynamics CRM for Outlook, 285-286 forms customization. 44 extending, 492-494 form designer changing layout, 436 fields, 436-437 form controls, 437-439 moving around form, 436 previewing, 439 saving and publishing customizations, 440 layout, 44, 434-435 role-based, 44, 440-441 types of, 434 using charts on, 631 forwarding mailbox, 109–110 Front End Server, 68 functions, CRM, 547-549

#### G

General tab entities activity entity types, 409–410 additional settings, 412–413 Auditing setting, 411–412 Enable e-mail setting, 411 Entity definition setting, 408–409 Notes setting, 410–411 overview, 407–408 Queues setting, 411 working with CRM Entities, 411 System Settings dialog, 129 Getting Started pane, 40–41, 552–554 global values, reports, 653 governance, establishing, 511–512

#### Η

history, defined, 7–8 hosting choice, 16 HTML Web resources, 541

icons, entity, 418-419 IE. See Internet Explorer IFD (Internet-Facing Deployment), 56, 98-101, 138, 184-185 Iframe OnReadyStateComplete event, 526 Iframes creating mash-ups with, 543-547 dashboards, 637-638 IME (Input Method Editor) mode, 425 Import Contacts Wizard, 195 Import Data Wizard data maps, 189-191 enriching existing data, 193 monitoring import process, 194 from Outlook, 195 preparing source files adding necessary options to picklists, 192 data import templates, 191-192 floats and decimal precision, 192-193 importing lookup references, 192 matching column headings with display names. 192 removing carriage returns and line breaks, 193 validating and formatting fields, 192 importing charts. 631-632 customization. 404-405 data from Excel, 354-357 Deployment Manager organizations logging into, 178 mapping users, 176-178 overview, 172-175 lookup references, source files, 192 solutions, 392 Independent Software Vendor (ISV) solutions CWR Mobility, 693-694 Data2CRM from CRM Innovation, 692-693 Experlogix, 694–696 in-place upgrade, 84-86 input arguments, dialog, 472 Input Method Editor (IME) mode, 425

installation media install, 73-74 installing ancillary server components connecting to SQL reporting services, 90-92 SharePoint Grid integration, 92–97 configuring Dynamics CRM for external access claims-based authentication, 98 configuring IFD, 98-101 overview, 97-98 CRM system additional considerations, 65-66 considering goals, 64-65 deployment that connects to existing database, 86-87 E-Mail Router associating profiles with deployments, 107-108 configuring for use with forwarding mailbox, 109 - 110configuring incoming and outgoing profiles for use with POP3 e-mail accounts, 105-107 general discussion, 102-105 Rule Deployment Wizard, 110-111 specifying users for deployed profiles, 109 language packs, 148-149 **Outlook** Client configuring, 116-117 installing and configuring from command line, 117-118 manually installing, 115-116 overview, 111-112 upgrading, 119 sample data, 147 server completing installation, 80 configuring relying parties for claims-based authentication, 80 installation media versus command line installs, 73-74 overview. 72-73 running setup, 74-79 SRS data connector extensions, 80 update rollup, 127 integration additional Microsoft product integration, 13-14 batch, 675-677 benefits of, 670 best practices for, 680-682 challenges of, 670-671 data hub, 678-679

enterprise service bus, 679-680 factor in determining deployment options, 51-52 integrating data, 672 integrating services, 672-673 Microsoft Excel, 13 Microsoft Integration tools Dynamics CRM Adapter for Dynamics GP, 686 Microsoft BizTalk Server, 685-686 SQL Server Integration Services, 684 SQL Server replication, 684-685 Microsoft Outlook. 12-13 Microsoft Word, 13 overview, 669 point-to-point, 677-678 presentation-layer, 674-675 real-time or near real-time. 677 with SharePoint 2010 accessing Dynamics CRM with Business Connectivity Services, 737-742 areas of integration, 736-737 showing CRM data in Social Activity Feed, 743-749 interfacing with Dynamics CRM, 570-571 Internet Explorer (IE) Dynamics CRM online, 56 Internet Facing Deployment (IFD), 56 network and domain policies, 137-138 on-premises. 56 optimizing settings, 227-228 overview. 55-56 Internet marketing, 328 Internet-Facing Deployment (IFD), 56, 98-101, 138, 184-185 Invoice report, 610-611 Invoice Status report, 611 invoices, 314-316 ISV (Independent Software Vendor) solutions. See Independent Software Vendor (ISV) solutions items releasing back to queue, 271 removing from queue, 272 working in queue, 269-271

#### J

Job Requisition process, XRM solution, 706–708 JScript converting Dynamics CRM 4.0 JScript, 540–541 creating links in, 548–549 examples, 532–539 hello world, 527–531 how code works, 531–532 libraries, 527 options for loading, 532 overview, 526 running processes using, 479 supported and unsupported, 541 testing, 539–540

#### Κ

knowledge base articles (KB) creating and approving, 337 defined, 10, 612 sending from Outlook, 297 templates, 336–337 using, 337–338

#### L

language packs, installing, 148-149 Languages dialog, 134 layering solutions, 384-386 layout, form, 44, 434-435 Lead Source Effectiveness report, 609 leads automation, 303-304 converting Outlook record to, 294-295 creating, 302 defined, 9 qualifying, 304-305 working, 302-303 licensing options, 151-152 line breaks, source files, 193 list members, managing, 326-327 lists charts, 254-255 creating personal views with advanced find, 252-253 filtering, 254 Getting Started pane, 255 marketing, 326-327 overview, 251-252 sales literature, 328 sorting, 254 using search bar, 253 views, 252 localization, XRM on-boarding process, 726-728 localizing professional reports, 653 lookup references, source files, 192

#### Μ

mail merging marketing lists, 327 with Microsoft Word, 357-363 maintaining Dynamics CRM backing up additional server components, 211-212 database maintenance plan, 205-209 Dynamics CRM application, 209-211 monitoring counters, 215-217 creating baseline report in Windows reliability and Performance Monitor, 213-215 simplifying updates, 204-205 managed properties, solutions, 386-389 managing data Bulk Deletion Wizard, 201-202 detecting duplicates, 195-201 Import Data Wizard, 189-195 overview, 187-189 manual synchronization, 296 many-to-many (n:n) relationship, 427 mapping fields between relationships, 433 users, Deployment Manager organizations, 176-178 marketing functions campaigns adding products and sales literature to, 324-325 campaign activities, 320-321 campaign responses, 321-324 creating first campaign, 319 defined, 10-11 overview, 318-320 planning activities, 320 quick, 325-326 templates, 320 Internet marketing, 328 marketing lists defined, 11 managing list members dynamically, 327 managing list members manually, 326-327 using mail merge documents with, 327 overview, 317 sales literature list, 12, 328 third party add-ons, 328-329 marketing reports Account Distribution, 608 Account Overview, 608

Account Summary, 608 Campaign Activity Status, 608 Campaign Comparison, 609 Campaign Performance, 609 Lead Source Effectiveness, 609 Marketing tab, System Settings dialog, 131-132 marketplace, solutions, 393 mash-ups, creating with Iframes, 543-547 MDD (model driven development), 374-375 merging duplicate records, 275-276 Microsoft BizTalk Server, 685-686 Microsoft ecosystem, XRM, 20 Microsoft Excel creating useful reports with, 617-620 exporting data to, 352-353, 616-617 integrating CRM, 13 making pivot table available to other users, 620-621 overview, 351 publishing pivot tables as SharePoint dashboards, 368 updating existing records from, 354-357 Microsoft Integration tools Dynamics CRM Adapter for Dynamics GP, 686 Microsoft BizTalk Server, 685-686 SQL Server Integration Services, 684 SQL Server replication, 684-685 Microsoft Office. See also Microsoft Word Microsoft Excel exporting data to, 352-353 integrating, 13 overview, 351 updating existing records from, 354-357 Microsoft Outlook, 12-13 Microsoft Word integrating CRM, 13 mail merging with creating template, 357-360 using template, 360-363 mid-tier development environment, 516-517 migration best practices for, 680-682 data. 673-674 mobile device Mobile Express, 277 Outlook synchronization, 277 overview, 276 third-party options, 277 Mobile Express, 58-59, 277, 488-490 model driven development (MDD), 374-375

modified fields, entity, 417 monitoring counters, 215–217 creating baseline report in Windows reliability and Performance Monitor, 213–215 import process, 194 processes, 478 multiple server deployment, 70–72

#### Ν

Name field, field customization form, 421-422 navigating interface forms, 255-258 improvements in, 42-43 lists. 252-255 navigation pane, 249-251 Ribbon menu, 247-249 navigation pane areas, 249-251 Dynamics CRM for Outlook, 284 groups, 249-251 homepage, 251 recently visited and favorites, 251 shortcut menus, 251 subareas. 249-251 near real-time integration, 677 Neglected Accounts report, 609 Neglected Cases report, 612 Neglected Leads report, 610 .NET development platform extended relationship management, 22 using to extend processes, 479 network and domain policies configuring Internet-Facing Deployment, 138 Dynamics CRM backup, 139-140 Internet Explorer, 137-138 network load balancing (NLB), 70-72 N:N (many-to-many) relationship, 427 non-isolated mode creating plug-ins for sandbox, 568-569 setting up users to deploy plug-ins, 569-570 notes, SharePoint 2010, 368-369

#### 0

OData service query operations, 583–585 using endpoint in Visual Studio, 585–586

Office integration. See also Microsoft Word Microsoft Excel exporting data to, 352-353 overview, 351 updating existing records from, 354-357 Microsoft Outlook, 12-13 on demand process, running, 477 on-boarding process, XRM employee HR Incident process, 722-726 employee management process, 716-722 general discussion, 713-716 localization, 726-728 maintenance and extensibility, 728-730 onChange event, 526 on-demand software, 52 one-to-many (1:N) relationship, 426 online availability, international, 40 online resources, accessing, 751-756 onLoad event, 525-526 on-premises deployment option, 48, 56 on-premises installation, Registration Wizard, 126 onSave event, 525-526 open organization, 141 opportunities adding competitors to, 307-308 adding products to, 307 closing, 308-309 converting Outlook record to, 294-295 custom opportunity processes, 310 defined, 9 fields, 306-307 forecasting sales, 309-310 overview, 305-306 recalculating, 307 setting goals, 309 optimizing Dynamics CRM client, 227-228 database identifying performance problems in, 218-220 implementing basic SQL Server optimizations, 220-224 overview, 217 platform server identifying potential problems with, 226 making recommended improvements to, 227 Web server identifying potential problem areas, 225 making recommended changes to, 225-226 overview, 224

option sets, 39, 424-425, 483-485 Order report, 610-611 orders closing, 315 overview, 314-316 organization ownership, 258-259 organizational structure **Business Units**, 142 configuring security roles, 143-145 field security profile, 145-146 general discussion, 140-141 security model, 141 teams, 146-147 organizations, Deployment Manager creating new, 172 deleting, 180 editing, 178-179 general discussion, 170-171 importing logging into, 178 mapping users, 176-178 overview, 172-175 setting default, 180 Outlook. See also Dynamics CRM for Outlook configuring, 116-117 Import Contacts Wizard, 195 installing and configuring from command line, 117-118 integrating CRM, 12-13 integration, 47, 56-58 manually installing, 115-116 optimizing settings, 228 overview, 111-112 synchronization on mobile device, 277 upgrading, 119 upgrading server, 82 Outlook tab, System Settings dialog, 133 owner field, entity, 417 ownership of records, 44

#### P

pages, dialog, 473–475 partner-hosted deployment option, 48–49 people pane, Outlook, 288 Pervasive Data Integrator, 688–689 picklists, 39, 192, 424–425, 483–485 pilot phase, developing business applications, 25 pipeline framework, enhanced, 36-37 pivot tables, Excel making available to other users, 620-621 publishing as SharePoint dashboards, 368 plan phase, developing business applications, 24-25 planning activities, 320 development environments, 513-520 platform server identifying potential problems with, 226 making recommended improvements to, 227 plug-ins server-side customization asynchronous execution mode, 574 deploying, 578-582 event pipeline stages, 573-574 message support for, 573 sample, 574-578 synchronous execution mode, 574 using custom code for added process flexibility, 479 point-to-point integration, 677-678 POP3 e-mail account, 105-107 post-installation system settings additional administration settings, 133 Auto-Numbering dialog, 134 Business Management settings, 134 creating backup administrator, 124-125 currencies, 135-136 designating partner, 126-127 fiscal year settings, 134 installing language packs, 148-149 installing sample data, 147 Languages dialog, 134 network and domain policies configuring Internet-Facing Deployment, 138 Dynamics CRM backup, 139-140 Internet Explorer, 137-138 organizational structure **Business Units**, 142 configuring security roles, 143-145 field security profile, 145-146 general discussion, 140-141 security model, 141 teams, 146-147 Privacy preferences, 134 Product updates link, 134 Registration Wizard, 126 sales territories, 135

System Settings dialog Auditing tab, 130 Calendar tab, 129 Customization tab, 132-133 E-mail tab, 130-131 Formats tab, 130 General tab, 129 Marketing tab, 131–132 Outlook tab, 133 overview, 128 Reporting tab, 133 testing user connectivity and security, 149 update rollup, 127 prefiltering, professional reports, 651-652 presentation-layer integration, 674-675 previewing forms, 439 Primary field tab, 408, 413 print layout, formatting reports for, 654 Privacy preferences, 134 procedures, establishing, 511-512 process automation business process automation, 454-455 deleting completed workflow jobs, 477-478 designing and diagramming, 455-457 dialogs conditions, 472-473 dialog actions, 475-477 dynamic values, 472-473 input arguments and variables, 472 overview, 470 pages, 473-475 prompts, 473-475 responses, 473-475 stages, 472-473 triggers, 471 documenting processes, 477 examples, 479-480 extensions. 479 monitoring processes, 478 .NET development platform, 479 plug-ins, 479 programming without coding, 454 running on demand process, 477 running processes using JScript, 479 solutions, 457 templates, 478 Windows Workflow Foundation, 479

workflows actions. 465-466 conditions, 462-464 dynamic values, 466-467 general discussion, 457-460 scope, 460 stages, 467-469 triggers, 461-462 updating existing, 469 wait conditions, 464-465 processes creating links in, 548-549 establishing, 511-512 extending, 495-496 product catalog, 310-311 product key, deployment, 166-168 Product updates link, 134 production phase, developing business applications, 25 - 26products adding to opportunities, 307 to campaigns, 324-325 Products By Account report, 610 Products By Contact report, 610 profiles, E-Mail Router associating with deployments, 107-108 configuring profiles for use with POP3 e-mail account, 105-107 specifying users, 109 programming without coding, 454 publishers additional, 382 creating new, 381-382 defined, 37, 378-379 editing default, 381 publishing customization, 404 form customizations. 440

#### Q

qualifying leads, 304–305 queues customizing approving e-mail, 487 automating, 486–487 overview, 485–486

queues (continued) default, 159 deleting records, 272 overview, 268 releasing items, 271 removing items from, 272 sending records to, 269 updated, 47 viewing, 269 working items in, 269-271 quick campaigns, 325-326 Quote report, 610-611 quotes converting, 314 creating, 313-314 overview. 312-313 revising, 314

#### R

reading pane, Outlook, 288 real-time integration, 677 record ownership organization ownership, 258-259 sharing records, 259-260 user or team ownership, 259 records deleting from queue, 272 duplicate, merging, 275-276 selecting to report, 643-644 sending to queues, 269 sharing, 259-260 team ownership of, 44 user changing manager or business unit, 162-163 disabling users and reassigning records, 160-162 Recurring Appointments activity type, 45 regarding, setting, 291-292 Registration Wizard, 126 relational databases, 397-400 relationship role, customizing, 490-492 relationships behavior behavior actions, 428-429 cascading behavior rules, 429-430 types of, 430 creating, 430-432 customizing, 430-432 mapping fields between, 433

overview, 425-426 types of many-to-many, 427 many-to-one, 426 one-to-many, 426 unsupported, 427-428 viewing, 430-432 reminders, Outlook, 287 renaming entities, 449-451 report controls, 644-645 Report Server Web site, 640-641 Report Wizard creating first report, 612-616 setting default filters and report options, 616 Reporting Extensions for SSRS, 90 Reporting tab, System Settings dialog, 133 reporting tools business intelligence Advanced Find, 602-606 built-in reports, 606-612 Excel creating useful reports with, 617-620 exporting data to, 616-617 making pivot table available to other users, 620-621 overview. 601-602 Report Wizard, 612-616 reports administrative Activities, 608 overview, 607 User Summary, 608 marketing Account Distribution, 608 Account Overview, 608 Account Summary, 608 Campaign Activity Status, 608 Campaign Comparison, 609 Campaign Performance, 609 Lead Source Effectiveness, 609 professional. 651-654 sales Competitor Win Loss, 609 Invoice Status, 611 Neglected Accounts, 609 Neglected Leads, 610 Products By Account, 610 Products By Contact, 610

Quote, Order, and Invoice reports, 610-611 Sales History, 610 Sales Pipeline, 610 service Case Summary Table, 611-612 knowledge base articles, 612 Neglected Cases, 612 Service Activity Volume, 612 Representational State Transfer (REST). See REST (Representational State Transfer) Requirement level field, field customization form, 422 resource groups, Dynamics CRM, 342 resources HTML Web, 541 troubleshooting, 229-230 Web, 37-38, 524, 637-638, 751-756 responses, campaign converting, 323-324 creating, 322-323 overview, 321-324 REST (Representational State Transfer) querying Dynamics CRM's OData service, 583-585 using OData endpoint in Visual Studio, 585-586 ribbon control event. 526 Ribbon menu collapsing, 249 context-sensitive tabs and buttons, 248-249 defined. 41-42 modifying, 554-556 tabs, 247-248 role-based forms, 44, 440-441 Rule Deployment Wizard, 110-111 running on demand process, 477 processes using JScript, 479

#### S

```
sales functions
invoices, 314–316
leads
automation, 303–304
creating, 302
qualifying, 304–305
working, 302–303
lifecycle, 300–301
opportunities
adding competitors to, 307–308
adding products to, 307
```

closing, 308-309 custom opportunity processes, 310 forecasting sales, 309-310 important fields, 306-307 recalculating, 307 setting goals, 309 orders, 314-316 product catalog, 310-311 quotes converting, 314 creating, 313-314 overview, 312-313 revising, 314 Sales History report, 610 sales literature list adding to campaigns, 324-325 defined, 12, 328 sending from Outlook, 297 Sales Pipeline report, 610 sales reports Competitor Win Loss, 609 Invoice, 610-611 Invoice Status, 611 Neglected Accounts, 609 Neglected Leads, 610 Order, 610-611 Products By Account, 610 Products By Contact, 610 Quote, 610-611 Sales History, 610 Sales Pipeline, 610 sales territories, 135 sample data, installing, 147 sandbox service creating plug-ins for sandbox, 568-569 defined, 36 setting up users to deploy plug-ins, 569-570 saving form customizations, 440 scaling CRM to different organizations, 16 scheduling service service activity, 346-348 setting up CRM for service management, 341-345 scope, workflow, 460 Scribe Insight, 687 SDK (Software Development Kit) defined, 507 modifying charts, 632-633 professional reports, 654 Searchable field, field customization form, 422

security field-level, 44-45 testing, 149 security model, 141 security roles, configuring, 143-145 select team, 27-28 server Deployment Manager, 182–184 installing completing installation, 80 configuring relying parties for claims-based authentication, 80 connecting to SQL reporting services, 90-92 installation media versus command line installs, 73-74 overview, 72-73 running setup, 74-79 SharePoint Grid integration, 92–97 SRS data connector extensions, 80 upgrading checking current system, 81 installing deployment that connects to existing database, 86-87 migrating Version 4.0 organization database, 82-84 moving to 64-bit hardware, 81 Outlook clients. 82 overview. 80 performing in-place upgrade, 84-86 testing upgrade, 87-88 virtualization, 81-82 server roles Back End Server, 68 configurations multiple server deployment, 70-72 single-server deployment, 69 small business server, 70 Deployment Administration Server, 68 Deployment Manager, 181-182 Front End Server, 68 general discussion, 66-67 SQL Reporting Services Data Connector, 68 SQL Server, 68 server-side customization architecture and development model, 562-566 cloud computing with Azure Azure-enabled solution, 590–593 overview, 586-588 setting up AppFabric services, 589-590 signing up for Azure services, 588-589

defined. 503 developing extensions for different deployment scenarios deciding where to store custom server-side code, 566-567 deploying code for offline use, 567-568 non-isolated mode, 568-570 sandbox service. 568-570 extending workflow, 593-597 interfacing with Dynamics CRM, 570-571 plug-ins asynchronous execution mode, 574 deploying, 578-582 event pipeline stages, 573-574 message support for, 573 sample, 574-578 synchronous execution mode, 574 **Representational State Transfer** querying Dynamics CRM's OData service, 583–585 using OData endpoint in Visual Studio, 585-586 Service Activity Volume report, 612 service and call center terminology, 9-10 service functions cases closing, 333-334 contracts. 338-341 creating. 332-333 knowledge base articles, 336-338 overview, 331 subject hierarchy, 334-335 tracking time, 333 scheduling service, 341-348 service reports Case Summary Table, 611-612 knowledge base articles, 612 Neglected Cases, 612 Service Activity Volume, 612 serving reports file format. 642-643 overview. 641-642 SharePoint extended relationship management, 20-21 integration documents, 366-367 manually associating location, 365-366 publishing Excel pivot tables as SharePoint dashboards, 368 storing documents, 363-365 tags and notes, 368-369

integration, advanced accessing Dynamics CRM with Business Connectivity Services, 737–742 areas of integration, 736-737 showing CRM data in Social Activity Feed, 743-749 SharePoint Grid, 92-97 sharing records, 259-260 single-server deployment, 69 site map, modifying, 549-552 sites, Dynamics CRM, 342 skillsets factor, deployment options, 50-51 small business server, 70 Social Activity Feed Activity Application, 744 Activity Event, 744 Activity Feed Gatherer, 744-749 Activity Manager, 743 Activity Template, 744 Activity Type, 744 software, on-demand, 52 Software Development Kit (SDK). See SDK (Software Development Kit) solutions adding components to, 384 Azure-enabled, 590-593 creating, 382-383 default. 379-380 defined. 37 deleting, 392-393 dependencies, 389-390 exporting, 391–392 importing, 392 layering, 384-386 management, 377-378 marketplace, 393 overview, 376-377 process automation, 457 publishers, 378-382 working with managed properties, 386-389 XRM application process, 708-713 Job Requisition process, 706–708 solution interface, 705–706 source files adding necessary options to picklists, 192 data import templates, 191-192 floats and decimal precision, 192-193

importing lookup references, 192 matching column headings with display names, 192 removing carriage returns and line breaks, 193 validating and formatting fields, 192 SQL cluster, 72 SQL reporting services, 90–92 SQL Reporting Services (SRS) Data Connector role, 68 SQL Server Activity Monitor, 218-219 Database Engine Tuning Advisor, 219–220 defined. 68 extended relationship management, 22 implementing basic optimizations, 220-224 replication, 684-685 SQL Server 2008 R2 Report Builder 3.0, 648-650 SQL Server Integration Services (SSIS), 684 SRS (SQL Reporting Services) Data Connector role, 68 SSIS (SQL Server Integration Services), 684 stages dialog, 472-473 workflow, 467-469 status field, entity, 415-416 status reason field, entity, 415-416 storing documents, SharePoint activating document management for CRM entity, 363-364 associating SharePoint location to Dynamics CRM record, 364-365 subject hierarchy, cases, 334-335 supported JScript, 541 supporting Dynamics CRM, 15 synchronizing from Dynamics CRM to Outlook, 295-296 on mobile device, 277 synchronous execution mode, plug-ins, 574 System Settings dialog Auditing tab, 130 Calendar tab. 129 Customization tab. 132-133 E-mail tab. 130-131 Formats tab. 130 General tab, 129 Marketing tab, 131-132 Outlook tab, 133 overview, 128 Reporting tab, 133

#### T

TabStateChange event, 526 tags, SharePoint 2010, 368-369 team ownership of records, 44, 259 teams, 146-147, 159 templates campaigns, 320 contracts, 338-339 data import, 191-192 e-mail, 272-274 knowledge base articles, 336-337 mail merge, 357-363 process automation, 478 sending from Outlook, 297 terminology basic, 7-9 customizing CRM, 372-373 development options, 503-507 marketing, 10-12 service and call center, 9-10 testing JScript, 539-540 security, 149 upgrade, 87-88 user connectivity, 149 third-party options marketing functions, 328-329 mobile device, 277 tools development Business Intelligence Development Studio, 645-647 SQL Server 2008 R2 Report Builder 3.0, 648-650 enhanced data management, 41 Microsoft Integration Dynamics CRM Adapter for Dynamics GP, 686 Microsoft BizTalk Server, 685-686 SQL Server Integration Services, 684 SQL Server replication, 684–685 reporting business intelligence, 602-612 Excel, 616-621 overview, 601-602 Report Wizard, 612-616 tracing enabling for Dynamics CRM, 236-238 enabling logging and finding logs for other components, 239-240 enabling logging for E-mail Router, 239

tracking Outlook records converting Outlook record to Dynamics CRM opportunity, lead or case, 294-295 e-mail threads, 292 navigating to Dynamics CRM records from Outlook, 294 setting connections, 294 setting regarding, 291-292 untracking and re-regarding, 293-294 time, cases, 333 triggers dialog, 471 workflow, 461-462 troubleshooting developer errors (DevErrors), 232-236 Dynamics CRM for Outlook, 290 event logs, 231-232 resources, 229-230 tracing, 236-240 Type field, field customization form, 423-424

#### U

units, product, 307 unsupported customizations, 508 unsupported JScript, 541 unsupported relationship, 427-428 untracking, 293-294 update rollup, 127 updated fields, 45 updated queues, 47 updating chart XML, 556-557 entity icons, 418-419 existing data, 193 process XAML, 557-558 records from Microsoft Excel. 354-357 synchronized records, 296 workflows, 469 upgrading server checking current system, 81 installing deployment that connects to existing database, 86-87 migrating Version 4.0 organization database, 82-84 moving to 64-bit hardware, 81 Outlook clients, 82 overview, 80

performing in-place upgrade, 84-86 testing upgrade, 87-88 virtualization, 81-82 URLs, calling CRM functions with, 547-549 user choice, 16 user experience auditing, 45 charts, 41 Connections functionality, 46 custom activities, 45 dashboards, 41 dialogs, 45 enhanced data management tools, 41 field-level security, 44-45 filterable columns in views, 43 form customization and lavout. 44 getting started panes, 40-41 navigational improvements, 42-43 Outlook integration, 47 Recurring Appointments activity type, 45 Ribbon menus, 41–42 role-based forms, 44 SharePoint integration, 46 team ownership of records, 44 testing connectivity, 149 updated fields, 45 updated queues, 47 wider international availability online, 40 user ownership, 259 user records changing manager or business unit, 162-163 disabling users and reassigning records, 160-162 user summary report, 163, 608 users defined, 7 managing authenticating users, 154-156 creating users. 156–159 external connector licensing, 153-154 licensing options, 151–152 user records, 159-163 user summary report, 163 mapping, Deployment Manager organizations, 176-178 user-selectable parameters, professional reports, 652

#### V

validating fields, source files, 192 plan, 32 variables, dialog, 472 Version 4.0 organization database, migrating, 82-84 viewing activities activities list sub-area, 266-267 Closed Activity list, 267 charts, 624-625 dashboards, 634-635 queues, 269 views creating and modifying, 445 Dynamics CRM for Outlook filtering, 284-285 formatting, 285-286 people pane, 288 reading pane, 288 setting up Outlook categories, follow-ups, and reminders, 287 using tabs as, 284 editing filter criteria basics, 446 grouping with and/or, 446-447 limitations of, 447-448 overview, 445 referencing other entities, 447 filterable columns in, 43 types of. 444-445 virtualization. 81-82 Visual Studio extended relationship management, 22 using OData endpoint in, 585-586 visualizations charts basic interactions. 626 creating, 627-631 drilling down, 626-627 importing and exporting, 631-632 interacting with, 625 modifying with software development kit (SDK), 632-633 using on forms, 631 viewing, 624-625 dashboards creating, 636-637 Iframes and Web resources, 637-638 interacting with, 635 managing, 636 overview, 633-634 viewing, 634-635 defined. 623

#### W

wait conditions, workflow, 464-465 WCF (Windows Communication Foundation), 39 Web farm, 70-72 Web pages creating mash-ups with Iframes, 543-547 hello world, 542 using HTML Web resources, 541 Web resources, 37-38, 524, 637-638, 751-756 Web server identifying potential problem areas, 225 making recommended changes to, 225-226 overview, 224 Web services accessing, 571 overview, 570-571 Web Site, integrating Dynamics CRM with, 689-691 Web version of Dynamics CRM, 281-282 Windows Communication Foundation (WCF), 39 Windows Reliability and Performance Monitor, 213-215 Windows Workflow Foundation (WWF), 39, 479 Word integrating CRM, 13 mail merging with creating template, 357-360 using template, 360-363 workflows actions, 465-466 conditions, 462-464 dynamic values, 466-467 extending, 593-597 general discussion, 457-460 scope, 460 stages, 467-469 triggers, 461-462 updating existing, 469 wait conditions, 464-465 write-in products, adding to opportunity, 307 WWF (Windows Workflow Foundation), 39, 479

#### X

XML files customizing getting started pane, 552-554 modifying Ribbon menu, 554-556 site map, 549-552 updating chart XML, 556-557 updating process XAML, 557-558 XRM (extended relationship management) benefits of Dynamics CRM as platform, 698-699 business agility, 19-20 cloud computing, 22-23 customer centricity, 19 defined, 697-698 developing business applications perfection, 26 pilot, 25 plan, 24-25 production, 25-26 development foundation, 19 Microsoft ecosystem, 20 .NET development platform, 22 on-boarding process employee HR Incident process, 722-726 employee management process, 716-722 general discussion, 713-716 localization, 726-728 maintenance and extensibility, 728-730 original process for managing employee lifecycle, 702-704 SharePoint, 20-21 solution application process, 708-713 interface, 705-706 job requisition process, 706-708 SQL Server, 22 value of platform development, 699-702 Visual Studio, 22 XRM page model example, JScript, 539

# The books you read to succeed

Get the most out of the latest software and leading-edge technologies with a Wiley Bible—your one-stop reference.



Available wherever books are sold.

Wiley and the Wiley logo are registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners.





"Every organization that is using Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 needs to have a copy of this book in its library. Geoff and Matt have delivered a book that is useful for anyone from the small business CRM administrator to the enterprise CRM architect."

 $- Steve \ Blazevich, CRM \ Director, North \ America \ Consulting \ Services, Microsoft$ 

### A solid CRM strategy is smart business—here's how you get there

Build customer relationships and CRM strategies that will help grow your business with Microsoft's powerful Dynamics CRM software and this practical book that covers all the bases. You'll learn the nuts and bolts of how to configure the software, automate operations, manage users, and integrate with Office—while you also get the essentials of how to capture customer data, analyze it, engage your customers, and track and report results.

- Get up to speed on Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011
- Master the user interface, including all toolbars, menus, and activity types
- Harness the essential Sales, Marketing, and Service functions you need
- Learn to manage leads, accounts, and contacts
- Issue quotes, then integrate with ERP systems to create orders and invoices
- Customize with visual workflow designer, interactive query builder, or other tools
- Create useful reports with Business Intelligence Studio or Visual Studio<sup>®</sup>

#### Matthew Wittemann

is the director of the customer relationship management (CRM) at C5 Insight (formerly Customer Connect), and a Microsoft CRM Consultant and MVP.

#### **Geoff Ables**

is a CRM, database marketing, and Web 2.0 expert. He is a Managing Partner of C5 Insight.

"Matthew Wittemann and Geoff Ables bring a great resource to the CRM administrator. Their Bible goes into the needed details that give the CRM administrator everything he or she needs to successfully implement and manage a Dynamics CRM 2011 organization. The authors explain both the front and back ends of the CRM story to enable administrators to know and meet their users' needs. A much needed desktop reference!"

> —Julie Yack, Microsoft CRM MVP and Founder, xRMVirtual

www.wiley.com/compbooks



Shelving Category: COMPUTERS / Enterprise Applications / General Reader Level: Beginning to Advanced

\$49.99 USA \$59.99 Canada

